
 
 
 
 
 
 

Rolling Hills 
Community Development District 

 
 

October 12, 2021 



Rolling Hills 
 Community Development District 

475 West Town Place, Suite 114 
Phone: 904-940-5850 - Fax: 904-940-5899 

 
August 4, 2021 
 
Board of Supervisors  
Rolling Hills Community 
Development District 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
The Meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Rolling Hills Community Development District 
will be held Tuesday, October 12, 2021 at 6:00 p.m. at the Rolling Hills Amenity Center, 3212 
Bradley Creek Parkway, Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043. Following is the advance agenda 
for the meeting: 
 
 I. Roll Call 
 II. Audience Comments 
 III. Organizational Matters 
  A. Appointment of New Supervisor to Fill the Unexpired Term of Office (11/22) 
  B. Oath Office for Newly Appointed Supervisor 
  C. Election of New Supervisor, Resolution 2022-01 
 IV. Approval of Minutes of the August 10, 2021 Meeting 
 V. Series 2020 Project: 
  A. Update Regarding Series 2020 Project 
  B. Ratification/Consideration of Requisitions (49-53) (54-56) 
 VI. Series 2021 Project: 
  A. Update Regarding Series 2021 Project 
  B. Consideration of Qualifications for District Engineer Services 
  C. Consideration of Delegated Award Resolution, 2022-02 
  D. Document Transferring Responsibilities from CBCP to Garden Street  
  E. Developer Agreement 
    1. Collateral Assignment Agreement 
    2. True-Up Agreement 
    3. Declaration of Consent 
    4. Acquisition Agreement 
    5. Completion Agreement 
 VII. Ratification of Water Management Agreement with The Lake Doctors 
 VIII. Other Business 
 IX. Staff Reports 
  A. Attorney  
  B. Engineer  
  C. Manager  
  D. Operations / Amenity Manager  
    1. Report 
    2. Monthly Quality Inspection Report 



2 

 X. Supervisor’s Requests 
 XI. Audience Comments 
 XII. Financial Reports 
  A. Balance Sheet & Income Statement 
  B. Assessment Receipt Schedule 
  C. Check Register 
 XIII. Next Scheduled Meeting: December 14, 2021 @ 6:00 p.m. at the Rolling Hills Amenity 

Center 
 XIV. Adjournment 
 
The third order of business is organizational matters.  Enclosed is a copy of two resumes 
received for consideration.  Once appointed, the new supervisor will subscribe to an Oath of 
Office and the Board can consider appointing him or her as an officer of the District by adopting 
Resolution 2021-01, which is enclosed. 
 
Enclosed for your review and approval is a copy of the minutes from the August 10, 2021 
meeting. 
 
The fifth order of business is regarding the Series 2020 project.  Enclosed is a copy of the 
requisitions as outlined above. 
 
The sixth order of business is regarding the Series 2021 project.  Enclosed is a copy of the RFQ’s 
received for District engineer services along with a copy of Resolution 2022-02, the document 
transferring responsibilities from CBCP to Garden Street and copies of the Developer 
Agreements.  Any additional support material will be sent under separate cover. 
 
The seventh order of business is ratification of water management agreement, which is enclosed 
for you review. 
 
Enclosed under the Operations / Amenity Manager’s report are the items as outlined above. 
 
Enclosed are the financials, assessment receipt schedule and the check register. 
 
The balance of the agenda is routine in nature, and any additional support material will be 
presented and discussed at the meeting.  If you have any questions in the meantime, please feel 
free to contact me. 
 
Sincerely, 
Marilee Giles 
Marilee Giles 
Manager  
cc: Katie Buchanan       



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 



 Rolling Hills 
Community Development District 

Agenda 
 
 

Tuesday  Rolling Hills Amenity Center 
October 12, 2021 3212 Bradley Creek Parkway 
6:00 p.m. Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 
 District Website: www.rollinghillscdd.com 
  
  
 
 I. Roll Call 
 
 II. Audience Comments 
 
 III. Organizational Matters 
  A. Appointment of New Supervisor to Fill the Unexpired Term of Office (11/22) 
 
  B. Oath Office for Newly Appointed Supervisor 
 
  C. Election of New Supervisor, Resolution 2022-01 
 
 IV. Approval of Minutes of the August 10, 2021 Meeting 
 
 V. Series 2020 Project: 
  A. Update Regarding Series 2020 Project 
 
  B. Ratification/Consideration of Requisitions (49-53) (54-56) 
 
 VI. Series 2021 Project: 
  A. Update Regarding Series 2021 Project 
 
  B. Consideration of Qualifications for District Engineer Services 
 
  C. Consideration of Delegated Award Resolution, 2022-02 
 
  D. Document Transferring Responsibilities from CBCP to Garden Street  
 
  E. Developer Agreement  
   1. Collateral Assignment Agreement 
 
   2. True-Up Agreement 



 
   3. Declaration of Consent 
 
   4. Acquisition Agreement 
 
   5. Completion Agreement 
 
 VII. Ratification of Water Management Agreement with The Lake Doctors 
 
 VIII. Other Business 
 
 IX. Staff Reports 
  A. Attorney  
   
  B. Engineer  
  
  C. Manager  
 
  D. Operations / Amenity Manager  
   1. Report 
 
   2. Monthly Quality Inspection Report 
 
 X. Supervisor’s Requests 
 
 XI. Audience Comments 
 
 XII. Financial Reports 
  A. Balance Sheet & Income Statement 
 
  B. Assessment Receipt Schedule 
 
  C. Check Register 
 
 XIII. Next Scheduled Meeting: December 14, 2021 @ 6:00 p.m. at the Rolling Hills Amenity 

Center 
 
 XIV. Adjournment 
 
 
Community Interest: 
 A. Amenity Center – Chairperson Jordan 
 B. Security & Technology –Supervisor Miller 
 C. Communications, Programming/Events, Finance & Accounting –  
 D. Landscape & Pond Maintenance – Supervisor Church  
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

A. 



HELANA CORMIER
2839 Woodbridge Crossing Court
Green Cove Springs, Fl 32043
(904) 254-5792
helanajcormier@gmail.com

Objective: Seeking a full/part-time position as an Administrative Assistant or an available position
where my experience would be beneficial.

Skills & Abilities:
● Supervised Students ● Case Management ● Receptionist
● Bookkeeper ● Communication ● Responsible

Experience Highlights:
● Assist in Classrooms (4th 5th 6th grades), with Small Groups, and Individually with Students
● Coordinated and Facilitated Data Busters and Youth in Action Program (Clay County)
● Prepared and Managed Program Event Calendar
● Effectively Worked with Disadvantaged At-risk Youth
● Supervised up to 20 Students in Summer/ Afterschool Youth Programs
● Ability to Communicate Effectively with Parents, Students, Teachers, and Guidance Counselors
● Organized Program Activities with Local Community and other Non-Profit Agencies
● Prepared Case Management Reports, Documents, Correspondence, and Invoices
● Experienced with Copier, Fax, Shredder and Laminator machines
● Payroll for up to 12 Employees and Various Sub-contractors

Employment History:
Administrative Support Assistant    Clay County School Board                 10-2019/ current
Seasonal Attendant/ Deck Monitor  RMS                                                    06-2019/ 09-2019
Substitute Teacher Kelly Services 03-2018/ 09-2019
ESE Assistant Clay County School Board 12-2015/ 07-2016
Substitute Teacher or Assistant Kelly Services 12-2013/ 12/2015
Substitute Teacher’s Assistant          Clay County School Board               08-2010/ 12-2013
Temporary CROP Assistant             SJRState College                               05-2014/ 06-2014
Temporary On-Site Assistant           NFCAA                                             06-2013/ 09-2013
Temporary Tutor/ Assistant SJRState College                               12-2012/ 06-2013
Temporary On-Site Assistant           NFCAA                                             06-2012/ 08-2012
Temporary On-Site Assistant           NFCAA                                             06-2011/ 08-2011
Temporary On-Site Assistant           NFCAA                                             06-2010/ 08-2010
Secretary/Bookkeeper Cormier Construction, Inc                 03-2005/ 03-2010

Education and Professional Skills Test:
SJRState College BAS: Org. Mgmt.-Supervision & Mgmt.   Orange Park, FL
SJRState College                                Associate in Arts Degree                            Orange Park, FL
SJRState College Business Management Certificate              Orange Park, FL
SJRState College Business Operations Certificate                  Orange Park, FL
SJRState College Business Specialist Certificate                    Orange Park, FL
SJRState College Accounting Technology Certificate             Orange Park, FL
Adult and Community Education      Diploma                                                       Orange Park, FL
Clay County School Board C-Para Pro Assessment Green Cove Springs, FL
Clay County School Board                Editing and Proofing-US                             Green Cove Springs, FL
Clay County School Board Microsoft Windows XP                               Green Cove Springs, FL



 

NATE 
RIGGS 
3262 Bradly Creek Pkwy, Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 
904-599-8409 
NateRiggs@kw.com PalmHomeGroup.com 

Skills Summary 

Having lived and worked in Jacksonville for more than 15 years, I understand what makes our 
community and the people who call it home so special. From the beaches of Fernandina to 
St. Augustine to the local bookstores and coffee shops at Five Points to the Independence 
Day fireworks downtown, Jacksonville is a special place that I am proud to call home. I’ve 
lived in Rolling Hills at Lake Asbury since 2015, been an active member of the community, and 
have listed and sold 21% of the market share so far in 2021. 

That's what it takes to truly be a local real estate expert. Not just expertise in negotiation and 
marketing and access to real-time market data, but a love and understanding of our 
community and the people who live here. 

That's just one reason to choose me to stand by your side - and it's the foundation of 
everything I do.  

Education 

Attended UNF before joining the USN 

Experience 

US Navy 
Aviation Search and Rescue Swimmer / May 2010 – Jan 2020 

Flew 1482 hours combined, home guard and two deployments. Ground jobs held included: 

• Operations Department – Day to day scheduling of events as well as management of 
qualifications, flight and fuel allocation, and aircraft maintenance hours 

• Training Department – Weekly, monthly, yearly training outlook 
• Helicopter Door Gunner Instructor – Management of personnel qualifications and 

ammo allocation 
• Three-year instructor tour 2017-2020 – Both ground and flight training to Fleet 

Replacement Aircrewman 



 

2 

Awards and Acknowledgements 

Navy And Marine Corps Achievement Medal 
Received on three separate occasions. Professional achievement that merit award: 

(a) Be noteworthy 
(b) Be sustained so as to demonstrate a high state of development or, if for a specific 
achievement, be of such merit as to earn singular recognition for the act, and 
(c) Reflect most creditably on the efforts of the individual toward the accomplishment of the 
unit mission. 

CEO/Owner of Palm Home Group 
Realtor® / May 2018 – Present 

Originally licensed from 2007-2011, license was ‘frozen’ while serving in the Navy with 
reactivation the final 18 months of service. As a Sales Representative in the state of Florida, 
my team and Palm Home Group have helped dozens of families sell and buy real estate. In 
Rolling Hills at Lake Asbury Palm Home Group has contributed to record breaking sales 
leading me to become a trusted expert in the community. 

Awards and Acknowledgements 

Bronze Award 2020 / Persevering though life’s challenges 
Influencer of the year 2020 / Influence throughout the Market 
Center 
ALC Council 2020 / Member of the Associate Leadership Council 
Growth Award 2020 
 

Currently an active member of the Associate Leadership Council of KW First Coast Realty for 
the second year. To be considered for a position on the council one must be in the top 20% of 
all agents at the Market Center. The position includes decision making about the future of the 
office as well as the responsibility to be available to coach and train fellow agents in the 
Market Center. 

 

Selected as the 2021 Cultural Ambassador for the Market Center. Chosen for the honorary 
position as a representative of the North Florida Region based on my ability to demonstrate 
and live out KW Culture to the fullest, both inside and outside the Market Center. 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

C. 



RESOLUTION 2022-01 
 

A RESOLUTION DESIGNATING OFFICERS OF THE 
ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT  
 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the Rolling Hills Community Development 
District at a regular business meeting held on October 12, 2021 desires to elect the below recited 
persons to the offices specified. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF THE ROLLING HILLS 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
 1.  The following persons were elected to the offices shown, to wit: 
 
  Shannon Jordan  Chairman 

  John Miller  Vice-Chairman  

  James Oliver  Secretary 

  James Oliver  Treasurer 

  Daniel Laughlin  Assistant Treasurer  

  Patti Powers  

  Marilee Giles  

  Ernesto Torres  

  Daniel Laughlin  Assistant Secretary(s) 

  Rich Hans  

  Ernesto Torres  

  Marilee Giles  

  Rose Bock  

  David Church  

    

 PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 12TH DAY OF OCTOBER, 2022. 
 
   
 Chairman / Vice Chairman 
 
   
 Secretary / Assistant Secretary 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



ROLLING HILLS 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 The regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Rolling Hills Community 

Development District was held Tuesday, August 10, 2021 at 6:00 p.m. in the Rolling Hills Amenity 

Center, 3212 Bradley Creek Parkway, Green Cove Springs, Florida. 

 

 Present and constituting a quorum were: 
 
 Shannon Jordan Chairperson 
 John Miller Vice Chairman 
 Rose Bock Supervisor 
 David Church Supervisor 
 
 Also present were: 
 
 Jim Oliver District Manager 
 Michelle Rigoni Hopping Green & Sams 
 Freddie Oca Riverside Management Services 
 Tom Chewning Riverside Management Services 
 Marilee Giles GMS, LLC 
 Sete Zare MBS Capital Markets, LLC by telephone 
 
 
 The following is a summary of the actions taken at the August 10, 2021 meeting.  An audio 

copy of the proceedings can be obtained by contacting the District Manager. 

 
FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS Roll Call 

 Mr. Oliver called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m., called the roll and stated our vice 

chairman Frank Mattera is becoming a resident of Cross Creek, which means he can no longer 

serve on the board.   

 

On MOTION by Mr. Miller seconded by Ms. Jordan with all in favor 
Frank Mattera’s resignation was accepted. 

 

 Mr. Oliver stated later we will talk about the process to fill that vacancy. 

 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS Audience Comments  

 There being none, the next item followed. 



August 10, 2021 Rolling Hills CDD 

2 

 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS Affidavit of Publication 

 A copy of the affidavit of publication of the notice of the meeting and public hearings was 

included in the agenda package. 

 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Approval of the Minutes of the June 8, 2021 
Meeting and the June 23, 2021 Continued 
Meeting 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Jordan seconded by Mr. Miller with all in favor 
the minutes of the June 8, 2021 and June 23, 2021 meetings were 
approved as amended. 

 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Acceptance of the Minutes of the June 8, 2021 
Audit Committee Meeting 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Miller seconded by Ms. Jordan with all in favor 
the minutes of the June 8, 2021 audit committee meeting were 
accepted. 

 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Public Hearing Regarding Series 2021 
Refunding 

 Mr. Oliver stated we set this public hearing when we had the continued meeting on June 

23rd and it is talking about levying assessments on new area, Phases 3B and 3C, that are going to 

be under development in the district.   

 Ms. Rigoni stated as a matter of course if you will confirm on the record that proper notice 

has taken place. 

 Mr. Oliver stated yes it has. 

 Ms. Rigoni stated as you will recall at a previous meeting the board declared its intent to 

levy assessments and adopted a resolution declaring that intent and set the public hearing for 

today’s date.  Today we are going to open the public hearing to receive comments on that, but 

there will be two resolutions that we will consider.  One is to levy a master assessment cap for the 

Phase 3B and 3C area based on the engineer’s report that provided the estimated cost of 

improvements to be installed in those two phases.  It does not affect the debt assessment portion 

of the existing lots.  Another resolution is going to levy the master assessment cap for the refunding 



August 10, 2021 Rolling Hills CDD 

3 

portion of the bond.  That is to refund a portion of the existing 2015 bond and to size down the 

bonds a little bit to the current market rate.   

 

On MOTION by Ms. Bock seconded by Ms. Jordan with all in favor 
the public hearing was opened. 

 

 Mr. Oliver stated this is to validate the construction project in undeveloped areas 3B and 

3C, not the areas where current residents live. Current residents will not be assessed for these 

improvements; the new bond issue will be paid by future residents and initially by the developer.  

There will be a number of improvements constructed with those funds. Residents here tonight have 

the opportunity to come to the public hearing to make comment if you wish to do so.  It is all part 

of the original master plan to eventually have 761 lots in this development and this is another step 

towards completion of that.   

 A resident asked will this voting you do tonight have the same question about saving the  

sales tax like they had done with the area in the 2020 project? 

 Mr. Oliver stated that is called direct purchase of material from the vendor by the district.  

That will likely happen and it results in cost savings and stretches the construction dollars.   

 

On MOTION by Ms. Jordan seconded by Mr. Church with all in 
favor the public hearing was closed. 

 

A. Consideration of Resolution 2021-12 Assessment Resolution 

 Ms. Rigoni reviewed in detail Resolution 2021-12, copy of which is attached and made a 

part hereof.   

 

On MOTION by Ms. Jordan seconded by Ms. Bock with all in favor 
Resolution 2021-12 was approved. 

 

 Resolution 2021-13 

 Ms. Rigoni stated this is the new money portion setting the maximum assessment level for 

Phases 3B and 3C for the new improvements they are getting.   



August 10, 2021 Rolling Hills CDD 

4 

 Ms. Rigoni reviewed in detail Resolution 2021-13, copy of which is attached hereto and 

made a part hereof.   

 

On MOTION by Mr. Miller seconded by Ms. Jordan with all in favor 
Resolution 2021-13 was approved. 

 

 Mr. Oliver asked before we close this item, what is the projected timetable for the bond 

issue?  

 Ms. Zare stated right now it is looking like close to fourth quarter.    

 Ms. Zare left the telephone conference at this time. 

 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Update Regarding Series 2020 Project 

 There being none, the next item followed. 

 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Update Regarding Series 2021 Project 

 Mr. Oliver stated we talked about this under the assessment hearing.  Earlier today, I spoke 

with Scott Blunk of Garden Street Communities about their plan going forward and he is sensitive 

to the construction traffic and wants to do everything he can to use that road that goes alongside 

the district.   

 

NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Acceptance of Fiscal Year 2020 Audit Report 

 Mr. Oliver stated this audit has been provided to the Auditor General of the State of Florida 

in order to meet the statutory deadline.  Noted as a subsequent event was in November 2020 the 

district issued Series 2020A Capital improvement bonds to help finance the cost of the Series 2020 

project and Series 2020A-2 to refund and partially redeem the Series 2015A-3 revenue and 

refunding bonds.  There were no prior year or current year findings or recommendations and it is 

a clean audit. 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Church seconded by Mr. Miller with all in favor 
the fiscal year 2020 audit report was accepted. 

 



August 10, 2021 Rolling Hills CDD 

5 

TENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Audit Engagement Letter 
with Grau & Associates 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Jordan seconded by Mr. Church with all in 
favor the engagement letter with Grau & Associates to perform the 
fiscal year 2021 audit in the amount of $3,200 was approved. 

 

ELEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Public Hearing Adopting the Budget for 
Fiscal Year 2022 

 Mr. Oliver gave an overview of the proposed increases in the fiscal year 2022 budget and 

stated this is the first increase in the O&M assessments in three years. He gave a comparison of 

O&M assessments of other districts of similar size.   

 

On MOTION by Ms. Bock seconded by Ms. Jordan with all in favor 
the public hearing was opened. 

 

 A resident stated I oppose the increase because it seems like the homes in the back have 

been forgotten.  The weeds have taken over the lake back there although they mow it now, they 

are mowing weeds and it is trashy looking.  It wasn’t budgeted a long time ago and you inherited 

the mess that happened before and I understand that but you need to make an attempt to get 

something done back there.  Clean up around the mailboxes and make it look nice.   

 A resident stated we got hit with a $225 assessment for trash for 2019 – 2020 and we didn’t 

live here in 2019, we are getting the increase from you plus the $225 and it is a double hit.  We 

paid off our bond and if there is a refund, do the people who paid it off benefit? 

 Mr. Oliver stated we are refinancing a portion of the 2015A-3 Bonds that were at 6.7% are 

being refinanced at 5% and that only impacts the undeveloped section.  It is not yet time to 

refinance The Series 2015 A-1 Bonds. 

 A resident stated I am not against and I am not for, I’m in limbo with increasing the money.  

I took a fine-tooth comb to these budgets from 2019 to this year and things have increased a little 

here and there in the budget.  The biggest concern is the landscape and we switched from one 

company to another.  Was there a bid process? 

 Mr. Oliver stated yes, there was a bid process. 

 A resident asked who holds the contractor accountable for doing the back lake? 



August 10, 2021 Rolling Hills CDD 

6 

 Mr. Oliver stated the District has contracted with Riverside Management Services to 

provide an operations manager. His job is to oversee all the maintenance contracts. The biggest 

maintenance contract in any district is the landscape maintenance contract. The operations 

manager is to not only oversee what Tree Amigo does on a weekly basis, but at least once a month 

the operations manager is required by contract to ride-along inspection of the entire area with the 

Tree Amigos landscape manager.  A punch list is generated from that inspection and that punch 

list needs to be completed within two or three weeks.  That is what needs to be accomplished 

without fail.  When we received your letter, Freddie contacted you to set up a in-person meeting. 

The community appearance of all areas within Rolling Hills is important. Tom is the current 

operations manager and he is leaving. However, Brian Stephens will replace Tom. Brian is one of 

the senior managers with RMS, is very familiar with Rolling Hills and Tree Amigos, has an 

extensive landscape maintenance background, and is uniquely qualified to improve community 

appearance.  One of the first things I will show him on day one is the detailed letter you sent 

regarding addressing landscape problems in the back of the community..   

 A resident stated I have heard of some districts that get a percentage of income generated 

from classes, etc. 

 Mr. Oliver stated some large districts do that.  We found for the smaller districts that we 

get a better rate for the residents if there is an agreement directly between the vendor and the 

resident.  By doing it that way we can get other vendors to come in and at least try to see if they 

can be successful with their classes without right off the top giving 10% to the district. 

 A resident asked what is website compliance? 

 Mr. Oliver stated if you go on the website you will see a logo that says the site is ADA 

compliant.  Unfortunately, a couple of years ago there were several lawsuits regarding access for 

the visually impaired.  Many private entities, universities, city and county governments were sued, 

some resulting in payment of large settlements.  A group of  insurance companies got together and 

came up with a way to ensure that we weren’t at risk of being sued and that is making the website 

ADA compliant.   

 A resident stated we are over on the telephone bill.  How could that happen? 

 Mr. Oliver stated I would attribute that to COVID because we have used the conference 

call system more frequently.  



August 10, 2021 Rolling Hills CDD 

7 

 A resident asked are we able to see itemized lists of other current charges such as office 

supplies?  It is not a big adjustment, but small increases.   

 Ms. Jordan stated we get an itemized list of everything that has been spent and we do get 

some receipts.  

 A resident stated I’m not against the increase but we have to hold everybody accountable.  

I think that is why a lot of homeowners are frustrated, we are getting this letter in the mail saying 

we are going to increase their dues and everything looks bad.  I’m not against the increase if we 

see the benefit of it. 

 Ms. Jordan stated I have been on this board for 2 ½ years, yours is the first letter that has 

been sent.  We try to address everything but we do not get public records requests.  People go on 

Facebook and says, this looks like this and everybody says yes, yes, yes.  You need to go to the 

CDD website and all five of us are on there and you can send all the mail you want and you can 

get answers to your questions. 

 A resident stated with the number of new additions what is being done to improve the 

traffic situation which is already terrible? 

 A resident stated we have different areas for children to play in and there is not one piece 

of equipment other than up here.   

 A resident stated $100 is minimal but people have questions on how it is going to be spent, 

some going into capital reserve and the pool needs to be resurfaced.  Will it be allocated to do 

anything or will it just stay in reserve? 

 Mr. Oliver stated I certainly encourage the board to preserve those funds for repairs and 

replacement. However, because this is not a use it or lose it budget, any savings realized through 

good management will stay with the District at the end of the fiscal year and  some of those surplus 

funds can be used for projects. 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Jordan seconded by Mr. Church with all in 
favor the public hearing was closed. 

 

A. Consideration of Resolution 2021-09 Relating to the Annual Appropriations and 
Adopting the Budget for Fiscal Year 2022 

 Ms. Rigoni stated the first resolution is the appropriation resolution and formally adopts 

the budget you considered today. 



August 10, 2021 Rolling Hills CDD 

8 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Jordan seconded by Mr. Miller with all in favor 
Resolution 2021-09 was approved. 

 

B. Consideration of Resolution 2021-10 Imposing Special Assessments and 
Certifying an Assessment Roll for Fiscal Year 2022 

 Ms. Rigoni stated next is the assessment resolution.  Now that the board has adopted the 

budget, we are going to levy the assessments.  The platted lots will be on-roll and the unplatted 

lots will be billed directly by the district.   

 

On MOTION by Mr. Miller seconded by Ms. Jordan with all in favor 
Resolution 2021-10 was approved. 

 

TWELFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Ratification of Requisitions (31-48) 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Jordan seconded by Mr. Church with all in 
favor Requisitions 31-48 were ratified. 

 

THIRTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Acceptance of Resignation of Vice Chairman 
Frank Mattera 

FOURTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Discussion of Process to Consider Candidates 
to Fill Seat 3 Vacancy 

 Mr. Oliver stated we took this item earlier in the meeting and I would like to discuss the 

process to consider filling that seat with a qualified elector, a register voters residing in Rolling 

Hills.  With the 2020 election we lost two of the landowner elected board members, Kurt von der 

Osten and Bill Tew.  Rose  Bock is the last supervisor elected through the landowner election 

process and Rose will be stepping down in 2022.  We have two supervisors with terms ending in 

2022, so after the 2022 election we may have only one experienced  board member with 

institutional knowledge remaining. The Board can consider electing an existing board member 

with a 2022 expiration date to fill the current vacancy. If so, you can announce a vacancy for that 

seat, which expires in 2022.  That way you can keep more experience on the board.   

 Mr. Miller stated I recommend it. 

 Mr. Oliver stated let’s discuss the process first, because two things would need to happen.  

If the Board wants to do it, we need to know who that person is going to be because that person 



August 10, 2021 Rolling Hills CDD 

9 

needs to resign before the Board needs to vote to appoint that person to a vacancy.  David and 

Shannon would be eligible to do that.  Do either of you want to? 

 Ms. Jordan stated I would like to.  I resign my current seat and chairmanship. 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Miller seconded by Ms. Bock with all in favor 
Ms. Jordan’s resignation was accepted. 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Miller seconded by Mr. Church with all in favor 
Ms. Jordan was appointed to fill the vacancy in seat 3 with a term 
ending 2024. 

 

 Mr. Oliver administered the oath of office to Ms. Jordan. 

 Mr. Oliver stated let’s talk about filling Shannon’s former seat.  The four members of the 

board will select someone to fill that seat.  In other districts, we have announced the vacancy on 

the website and by e-blast to all the residents, giving them the opportunity to submit their resume 

or letter of interest to serve on the Board.  Before the next meeting, we will circulate those to all 

the Board members so they can review study and  contact the candidates if they wish.  At the 

meeting the Board would discuss the candidates and make a selection.  If that successful candidate 

is at the meeting that night, he or she can be sworn in ands and participate in the meeting.  If you 

would like us to do that, we will make that announcement. 

 It was the consensus of the board for staff to follow that process. 

 

FIFTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Resolution 2021-11 Election 
of Officers 

 Mr. Oliver stated Marilee Giles is a new district manager with our company. She recently 

retired as an active-duty lieutenant colonel with the Florida Army National Guard and I 

recommend she serve as an assistant secretary so she can work with me on this District and also 

execute documents on behalf of the District.  We also knew we were going to have to fill the vice 

chairman’s position because Frank is no longer serving on this board.   

 The board discussed the appointment of chair and vice chair then took the following action. 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Jordan seconded by Ms. Bock with all in favor 
Resolution 2021-11 reflecting the following Shannon Jordan as 



August 10, 2021 Rolling Hills CDD 

10 

chairperson, John Miller vice chairman and Marilee Giles as assistant 
secretary and assistant treasurer was approved. 

 

SIXTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Other Business 

 There being none, the next item followed.   

 

SEVENTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Staff Reports 

 A. Attorney 

 There being none, the next item followed. 

 

 B. Engineer 

 There being none, the next item followed. 

 

 C. Manager – Discussion of Fiscal Year 2022 Meeting Schedule 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Jordan seconded by Mr. Miller with all in favor 
a meeting schedule reflecting meetings for fiscal year 2022 on the 
following dates was approved: October 12, 2021, December 14, 
2021, February 8, 2022, April 12, 2022, June 14, 2022 and August16, 
2022.  

 

 Mr. Oliver stated there was a Facebook post that was shared with me regarding the ability 

for deputies to write tickets in the neighborhood based on the speed signs.  I forwarded a lettertoday 

to the new sheriff, Michelle Cook, and included previous such letters that have been sent to her 

predecessor in 2017 and 2019 requesting them to fix this problem.  We received a response back 

this very day back from the sheriff’s office saying they are going to reach back out to us and work 

on this problem.  I think we have their attention and I am appreciative of that. 

 

 D. Operations/Amenity Manger 

 1. Report 

 A copy of the operations report was included in the agenda package. 

 

EIGHTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Supervisors Requests 



August 10, 2021 Rolling Hills CDD 

11 

 Mr. Miller stated I’m working with both the sheriff and fire department making plans to 

have national night out on October 5th.  I will get with Freddie with more details as they become 

available.  It is a national observance of public safety in accordance with national fire week, 

Halloween which are related to public safety programs in the community.   

 

NINETEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Audience Comments 

 A resident asked where do we stand with night swim? 

 Mr. Oliver stated I have reached out to Mike Lucas, the architect with Basham & Lucas 

and he has no records that any extra lighting was put in to be certified for night swim.    I can find 

no evidence that was ever built to those specifications.  The only other thing if you want a solid 

answer, the board can engage an engineer to do a study, but there is going to be a cost associated 

with that.  We cannot allow night swimming if it is not certified.   

 Ms. Jordan stated I don’t think we should spend the money for that.  When we are able to 

build our reserves we will be able to spend it on a park or an engineer to do a study.   

 Mr. Oliver stated I can get a proposal and you can see what it would cost.  I can also get 

the documents from when Bartram Springs did have that work done and I think you are talking 

about $30,000 to extend the day a couple of hours.   

 Ms. Jordan stated I think a park in the back of the community is more beneficial than night 

swimming.   

 Mr. Oliver stated I will bring a proposal so the board can see what a study would cost.   

 Ms. Jordan stated we are going to have to hire someone for the amenity center to back up 

Freddie.   

 A resident asked what about volunteers in the community who are retired and would be 

willing to come up here and help Freddie out? 

 Mr. Oliver stated that is a good idea. We would need to develop a training program to do 

that and work with the attorney to have all the proper indemnifications. I’d also want input from 

the insurance company to consider potential liability issues. 

 Ms. Jordan stated I think that is great.   

 A resident stated because of me finding out what is going on there is very little information 

that comes to me that I can find out what is going on.  I saw one sign that most people don’t read.  

I have really enjoyed the band and the pool because I was used to going every Sunday someplace 



August 10, 2021 Rolling Hills CDD 

12 

and listening to a band at a park that provided entertainment.  But the information I don’t think 

ever really got out to the whole community.  What systems do we have? 

 Ms. Jordan stated it is posted on the CDD website.  We just approved all of next year’s 

meeting dates.  I go on Facebook and post the board meeting dates.   

 A resident stated you are making the mistake assuming everyone has a computer. 

 

TWENTIETH ORDER OF BUSINESS Financial Reports 

 A. Balance Sheet & Income Statement 

 A copy of the balance sheet and income statement were included in the agenda package. 

 

 B. Assessment Receipt Schedule 

 A copy of the assessment receipt schedule was included in the agenda package. 

 

 C. Check Register 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Jordan seconded by Mr. Church with all in 
favor the check registers were approved. 

 

TWENTYFIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS Next Meeting Scheduled October 12, 2021 @ 
6:00 p.m. at Rolling Hills Amenity Center 

 

 Mr. Oliver stated the next meeting is October 12, 2021 at 6:00 p.m. at this location. 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Jordan seconded by Mr. Church with all in 
favor the meeting adjourned at 7:46 p.m. 

 
 
 
 
 
    
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  Chairman/Vice Chairman 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

B. 























































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

B. 





















































































































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

C. 



RESOLUTION NO. 2022- 02 

A RESOLUTION DELEGATING TO THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT (THE "DISTRICT") THE AUTHORITY TO 
APPROVE THE SALE, ISSUANCE AND TERMS OF SALE OF 
ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2021A-1 AND ROLLING 
HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT REVENUE AND REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 
2021A-2, AS ONE SERIES OF BONDS UNDER THE MASTER TRUST 
INDENTURE (COLLECTIVELY, THE "SERIES 2021 BONDS") IN 
ORDER TO CURRENTLY REFUND AND REDEEM A PORTION OF 
THE OUTSTANDING PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF THE DISTRICT'S 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 
2015A-3 (THE "REFUNDED BONDS") AND FINANCE THE SERIES 
2021 PROJECT; ESTABLISHING THE PARAMETERS FOR THE 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS, MAXIMUM MATURITY DATE, 
REDEMPTION PROVISIONS AND OTHER DETAILS THEREOF; 
APPROVING THE FORM OF AND AUTHORIZING THE CHAIRMAN 
TO ACCEPT THE BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR THE 
SERIES 2021 BONDS; APPROVING A NEGOTIATED SALE OF THE 
SERIES 2021 BONDS TO THE UNDERWRITER; RATIFYING THE 
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE AND APPROVING THE FORM OF 
SIXTH SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE AND AUTHORIZING 
THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY THEREOF BY CERTAIN 
OFFICERS OF THE DISTRICT;  APPOINTING A TRUSTEE, PAYING 
AGENT AND BOND REGISTRAR FOR THE SERIES 2021 BONDS; 
APPROVING THE FORMS OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS; 
APPROVING THE FORM OF AND AUTHORIZING THE USE OF THE 
PRELIMINARY LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM AND LIMITED 
OFFERING MEMORANDUM RELATING TO THE SERIES 2021 
BONDS; APPROVING THE FORM OF THE CONTINUING 
DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT RELATING TO THE SERIES 2021 
BONDS; AUTHORIZING CERTAIN OFFICERS OF THE DISTRICT TO 
TAKE ALL ACTIONS REQUIRED AND TO EXECUTE AND DELIVER 
ALL DOCUMENTS, INSTRUMENTS AND CERTIFICATES 
NECESSARY IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE, SALE AND 
DELIVERY OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS; AUTHORIZING THE VICE 
CHAIRMAN AND ASSISTANT SECRETARIES TO ACT IN THE STEAD 
OF THE CHAIRMAN OR THE SECRETARY, AS THE CASE MAY BE; 
SPECIFYING THE APPLICATION OF THE PROCEEDS OF THE 
SERIES 2021 BONDS; AUTHORIZING CERTAIN OFFICERS OF THE 
DISTRICT TO TAKE ALL ACTIONS AND ENTER INTO ALL 
AGREEMENTS REQUIRED IN CONNECTION WITH THE 



 

 

 
2 

REFUNDING OF THE REFUNDED BONDS AND THE UNDERTAKING 
OF THE SERIES 2021 PROJECT; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE.  

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Rolling Hills Community 
Development District (the "Board" and the "District," respectively) has determined to 
proceed at this time with the sale and issuance of Rolling Hills Community 
Development District Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 and 
Rolling Hills Community Development District Capital Improvement Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2 (collectively, the "Series 2021 Bonds") to be issued 
under and pursuant to a Master Trust Indenture, dated as of November 1, 2006 (the 
"Master Indenture"), from the District to U.S. Bank National Association, Orlando, 
Florida, as trustee (the "Trustee"), as amended and supplemented by a Sixth 
Supplemental Trust Indenture to be dated as of the first day of the first month and 
year in which the Series 2021 Bonds are issued thereunder (the "Supplemental 
Indenture" and together with the Master Indenture, the "Indenture") from the 
District to the Trustee, in order to currently refund and redeem a portion of the 
Outstanding principal amount of the District's Capital Improvement Revenue 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A-3 (such portion hereinafter referred to as the 
"Refunded Bonds") and finance a portion of the Costs of the Series 2021 Project; 

WHEREAS, the Board has received a proposal from MBS Capital Markets, 
LLC (the "Underwriter") for the purchase of the Series 2021 Bonds within parameters 
to be established by the Board and the Board has determined that authorization of 
the Chairman or other designated person to enter into a Bond Purchase Agreement 
(the "Purchase Agreement") in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A 
for the sale of the Series 2021 Bonds to the Underwriter within the Parameters 
(hereinafter defined) herein set forth is in the best interests of the District for the 
reasons hereafter indicated; and  

WHEREAS, in conjunction with the sale and issuance of the Series 2021 
Bonds, it is necessary to approve the form of the Supplemental Indenture, to establish 
the parameters for the delegated award of the Series 2021 Bonds as set forth in 
Schedule I attached hereto (the "Parameters"), to authorize the Chairman to approve 
the use of the Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum relating to the Series 2021 
Bonds and the form of the final Limited Offering Memorandum, to approve the forms 
of the Series 2021 Bonds and to provide for various other matters with respect to the 
Series 2021 Bonds and the refunding and redemption of all of the Refunded Bonds 
and the undertaking of the Series 2021 Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that: 



 

 

 
3 

1. Definitions.  All words and phrases used herein in capitalized form, 
unless otherwise defined herein, shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the 
Indenture. 

2. Award.  The Purchase Agreement in the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit A is hereby approved in substantial form and the sale of the Series 2021 
Bonds to the Underwriter upon the terms and conditions therein set forth, but within 
the Parameters, is hereby approved.  The Chairman is hereby authorized and 
directed to execute and deliver the Purchase Agreement on behalf of the District, with 
such changes, additions, deletions and insertions as shall be approved by the official 
executing such Purchase Agreement, which approval shall be conclusively evidenced 
by the execution and delivery thereof.  In the absence or unavailability of the 
Chairman, the Vice Chairman is authorized and directed to execute the Purchase 
Agreement, and in the absence or unavailability of the Vice Chairman, any other 
member of the Board is authorized and directed to execute the Purchase Agreement.  
The Purchase Agreement, when executed and delivered by the District and the 
Underwriter, shall be the legal, valid and binding obligation of the District, 
enforceable in accordance with its terms.  

3. Negotiated Sale.  The Board hereby determines that a negotiated sale 
of the Series 2021 Bonds to the Underwriter is in the best interests of the District 
because the market for instruments such as the Series 2021 Bonds is limited, because 
of prevailing market conditions and because the delays caused by soliciting 
competitive bids could adversely affect the District's ability to issue and deliver the 
Series 2021 Bonds. 

4. Approval of Form of Supplemental Indenture; Ratification of 
Master Indenture; Appointment of Trustee, Paying Agent and Bond 
Registrar.  Attached hereto as Exhibit B is the form of Supplemental Indenture, 
which is hereby authorized and approved, subject to such changes, additions, 
deletions and insertions as shall be approved by the Chairman, which approval shall 
be conclusively evidenced by the execution thereof.  The Chairman is hereby 
authorized to execute and the Secretary is authorized to attest the Supplemental 
Indenture and the Chairman is hereby authorized to deliver to the Trustee the 
Supplemental Indenture which, when executed and delivered by the Trustee, shall 
constitute a legal, valid and binding obligation of the District, enforceable in 
accordance with its terms.  The Master Indenture as executed and delivered and the 
appointment of U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee, Paying Agent and Bond 
Registrar under the Master Indenture is hereby ratified and confirmed and U.S. Bank 
National Association is hereby appointed as Trustee, Paying Agent and Bond 
Registrar under the Supplemental Indenture.   



 

 

 
4 

5. Description of Series 2021 Bonds.  The Series 2021 Bonds shall be 
dated as of their date of delivery and may be issued in one or more Series having such 
details as shall be set forth in the Purchase Agreement and as reflected in the 
Supplemental Indenture, but within the Parameters.  The Series 2021 Bonds may be 
signed by the manual or facsimile signature of the Chairman and attested by the 
manual or facsimile signature of the Secretary.  The Series 2021 Bonds shall, subject 
to the Parameters, be subject to redemption on the terms, at the times and prices and 
in the manner provided in the Purchase Agreement and in the forms of Series 2021 
Bonds attached to the Supplemental Indenture, which forms are hereby approved, 
subject to such changes, additions, deletions and insertions as shall be approved by 
the Chairman, which approval shall be conclusively evidenced by the execution 
thereof.  The Chairman is hereby authorized to execute and the Secretary is 
authorized to attest and seal the Series 2021 Bonds and the Chairman is hereby 
authorized to deliver to the Trustee for authentication and delivery to the 
Underwriter upon payment by the Underwriter of the purchase price therefor, the 
Series 2021 Bonds which, when authenticated and delivered by the Trustee, shall be 
legal, valid and binding obligations of the District, enforceable in accordance with 
their respective terms.  

6. Approval of Form of Preliminary Limited Offering 
Memorandum and Limited Offering Memorandum; Approval of Form of 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  The Chairman is hereby authorized to 
approve the form and content of the Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum, 
which is attached hereto as Exhibit C (the "Preliminary Limited Offering 
Memorandum") with such changes, additions, deletions and insertions as shall be 
approved by the Chairman prior to its distribution and the final form of which is to 
be dated the date of execution and delivery of the Purchase Agreement (the "Limited 
Offering Memorandum") relating to the Series 2021 Bonds.  The Chairman is hereby 
authorized to execute on behalf of the District such Limited Offering Memorandum 
with such changes, additions, deletions and insertions as the Chairman may approve 
(such approval to be conclusively evidenced by the execution of the Limited Offering 
Memorandum, if required), and to deliver such Limited Offering Memorandum to the 
Underwriter in sufficient quantities for use by the Underwriter in marketing the 
Series 2021 Bonds.  The Chairman is hereby authorized to deem "final" the 
Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum, as of its date, for the purposes and 
within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(except for information concerning the offering prices, interest rates, selling 
compensation, aggregate principal amount, principal amount per maturity, delivery 
dates, ratings or other terms dependent upon such matters, and except for such 
technical and conforming changes which shall be approved by the Chairman which 
approval shall be evidenced by the execution thereof, if required).   



 

 

 
5 

The Continuing Disclosure Agreement relating to the Series 2021 Bonds in the 
form attached hereto as Exhibit D is hereby approved, subject to such changes, 
additions, deletions and insertions as shall be approved by the Chairman, which 
approval shall be conclusively evidenced by the execution thereof.  The Chairman is 
hereby authorized to execute and the Secretary is authorized to attest the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement which, when executed and delivered by the District, shall be 
the legal, valid and binding obligation of the District, enforceable in accordance with 
its terms. 

7. Open Meetings.  It is hereby found and determined that all official acts 
of this Board concerning and relating to the issuance, sale, and delivery of the 
Series 2021 Bonds, including but not limited to adoption of this Resolution, were 
taken in open meetings of the members of the Board and all deliberations of the 
members of the Board that resulted in such official acts were in meetings open to the 
public, in compliance with all legal requirements including, but not limited to, the 
requirements of Section 286.011, Florida Statutes. 

8. Other Actions.  The Chairman, the Secretary, and all other members, 
officers and employees of the Board and the District are hereby authorized and 
directed to take all actions necessary or desirable in connection with the issuance and 
delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds and the consummation of all transactions in 
connection therewith, including the execution of all certificates, documents, papers, 
and agreements necessary to the undertaking and fulfillment of all transactions 
referred to in or contemplated by the Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum, 
the Limited Offering Memorandum, the Indenture, this Resolution, the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement and the Purchase Agreement, in all cases within the 
Parameters. 

The Vice Chairman is hereby authorized to act in the stead of the Chairman in 
any undertaking authorized or required of the Chairman hereunder and any 
Assistant Secretary is hereby authorized to act in the stead of the Secretary in any 
undertaking authorized or required of the Secretary hereunder.  

9. Deposits to Funds and Accounts.  The Trustee is hereby authorized 
and directed to apply the proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds in the amounts and in 
the manner set forth in Section 402 of the Supplemental Indenture.  

10. Refunding of the Refunded Bonds; Undertaking of the Series 
2021 Project; Execution and Delivery of Other Instruments.  The Board hereby 
authorizes and approves the refunding of the Refunded Bonds.  The Board hereby 
authorizes the undertaking of the Series 2021 Project and authorizes and directs the 
District staff and Consulting Engineer to proceed with due diligence to the completion 
thereof in accordance with the Indenture. 



 

 

 
6 

The Board hereby authorizes the Chairman and the Secretary to execute and 
deliver, receive or enter into such agreements, contracts, documents, instruments, 
certificates and proceedings incident thereto or necessary in order to effect the 
refunding of the Refunded Bonds, the undertaking of the Series 2021 Project and the 
issuance, sale and delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds, including but not limited to the 
execution and delivery of the DTC Letter of Representation. 

11. Approval of Prior Actions.  All actions taken to date by the members 
of the Board and the officers, agents and consultants of the District in furtherance of 
the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds are hereby approved, confirmed and ratified. 

12. Severability.  If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this 
Resolution shall be held to be invalid or ineffective for any reason, the remainder of 
this Resolution shall continue in full force and effect, it being expressly hereby found 
and declared that the remainder of this Resolution would have been adopted despite 
the invalidity or ineffectiveness of such section, paragraph, clause or provision. 

13. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its 
adoption. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

  



 

 

 
7 

PASSED in Public Session of the Board of Supervisors of Rolling Hills 
Community Development District, this 12th day of October, 2021. 
 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

Attest: 
 
 
 
              
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chairman/Vice Chairman,  
       Board of Supervisors 
 
 
Exhibit A – Form of Purchase Agreement 
Exhibit B – Form of Supplemental Indenture 
Exhibit C – Form of Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum 
Exhibit D – Form of Continuing Disclosure Agreement 
 



 

 

SCHEDULE I 
PARAMETERS 

 
 
Maximum Principal Amount: Not to Exceed $9,500,000 in the aggregate for 

all Series to be allocated among Series based 
on market conditions 

 
Maximum Interest Rate: Maximum statutory rate 
 
Underwriting Discount: Maximum 2.0%  
 
Maturity Date: May 1, 2053 
  
Redemption Provisions: Each Series of the Series 2021 Bonds shall be 

subject to redemption as set forth in the forms 
of the respective Series of Series 2021 Bond 
attached to the form of Supplemental 
Indenture attached hereto and the Series 
2021A-1 Bonds shall be subject to optional 
redemption no later than May 1, 2033 at par. 



ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
(Clay County, Florida) 

 
$____________ 

Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 
 

and 
 

$____________ 
Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2 

 
 

_________ __, 2021 
 

 
BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

Rolling Hills Community Development District 
Clay County, Florida 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 

MBS Capital Markets, LLC (the “Underwriter”) offers to enter into this Bond Purchase 
Agreement with the Rolling Hills Community Development District (the “District” or the 
“Issuer”).  This offer is made subject to written acceptance hereof by the Issuer at or before 12:00 
midnight, New York time, on the date hereof.  If not so accepted, this offer will be subject to 
withdrawal by the Underwriter upon written notice delivered to the Issuer at any time prior to 
the acceptance hereof by the Issuer.  Capitalized terms that are not defined herein shall have the 
meaning ascribed to such terms in the Limited Offering Memorandum or the Indenture, as 
applicable, each as defined herein. 

1. Purchase and Sale.  Upon the terms and conditions and in reliance on the 
representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth herein, the Underwriter hereby 
agrees to purchase from the Issuer, and the Issuer hereby agrees to sell and deliver to the 
Underwriter, all (but not less than all) of its $____________ Rolling Hills Community 
Development District (Clay County, Florida) Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-
1 (the “Series 2021A-1 Bonds”) and $____________ Rolling Hills Community Development 
District (Clay County, Florida) Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 
2021A-2 (the “Series 2021A-2 Bonds” and, together with the Series 2021A-1 Bonds, the “Series 
2021 Bonds”).  The Series 2021 Bonds shall be dated as of the date of their delivery and shall be 
payable on the dates and principal amounts, bear such rates of interest and be subject to 
redemption, all as set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto.  Interest on the Series 2021 Bonds is 
payable semi-annually on May 1 and November 1 each year, commencing May 1, 2022.  The 



2 

aggregate purchase price for the Series 2021 Bonds shall be $____________ (representing the 
aggregate par amount of the Series 2021 Bonds of $____________, [less/plus] [net] original issue 
[discount/premium] of $_______, and less an Underwriter’s discount on the Series 2021 Bonds of 
$________). 

The disclosure statement required by Section 218.385, Florida Statutes, is attached hereto 
as Exhibit B.  

2. The Series 2021 Bonds.  The Series 2021 Bonds are authorized and issued pursuant 
to the Uniform Community Development District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as 
amended, and any successor statute thereto, the Florida Constitution, and other applicable 
provisions of law (collectively, the “Act”), and Ordinance No. 2006-9 enacted by the Board of 
County Commissioners of Clay County, Florida on March 14, 2006, and effective on March 21, 
2006.  The District was established for the purposes, among other things, of financing and 
managing the acquisition, construction, installation, maintenance and operation of the major 
infrastructure necessary for community development in Rolling Hills at Lake Asbury (the 
“Development”).  The Series 2021 Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Act and a Master Trust 
Indenture, dated as of November 1, 2006 (the “Master Indenture”), between the District and U.S. 
Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”), as supplemented by a Sixth Supplemental 
Trust Indenture (the “Sixth Supplemental Indenture,” and, together with the Master Indenture, 
the “Indenture”) by and between the District and the Trustee and dated as of November 1, 2021, 
and Resolution Nos. 2006-14 and 2022-__ adopted by the District on June 1, 2006 and on October 
12, 2021, respectively (collectively, the “Bond Resolutions”), authorizing the issuance of the Series 
2021 Bonds.  The Series 2021 Assessments comprising the Series 2021 Pledged Revenues will be 
levied by the Issuer on approximately eighty (80) acres of land located within Subphases 3B and 
3C of the Development and planned to include 247 residential units pursuant to resolutions duly 
adopted by the Board (collectively, the “Assessment Resolutions”).  The Series 2021 Bonds shall 
be as described in, and shall be issued and secured pursuant to, the provisions of the Indenture.  
The Issuer will also enter into:  

(a)  a continuing disclosure agreement with Governmental Management 
Services, LLC, as dissemination agent, and Garden Street Communities Southeast, LLC 
(the “Developer”) (the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”) dated November __, 2021;  

(b)  a True-Up Agreement with the Developer, dated November __, 2021 (the 
“True-Up Agreement”);  

(c)  an agreement with the Developer regarding the completion of certain 
improvements not funded with the Series 2021 Bonds dated November __, 2021 (the 
“Completion Agreement”);  

(d)  a Collateral Assignment and Assumption of Development Rights with the 
Developer dated November __, 2021 (the “Assignment Agreement”); and 

(f)  this Bond Purchase Agreement.   



3 

For purposes hereof, the Indenture and the documents described in (a) through (f) are 
collectively referred to herein as the “Financing Documents.”  

The Series 2021 Bonds are being issued to, together with other funds of the District (i) 
currently refund and redeem a portion of the District’s Capital Improvement Revenue Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2015A-3 (such refunded portion being referred to herein as the “Refunded Bonds”); 
(ii) finance a portion of the Cost of the Phase 3B/C Project, as more particularly described in the 
Limited Offering Memorandum (as defined herein); (iii) pay certain costs associated with the 
issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds; (iv) make a deposit into the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account to 
be held for the benefit of all of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds and into the Series 2021A-2 Reserve 
Account to be held for the benefit of all of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds; and (v) pay a portion of the 
interest to become due on the Series 2021 Bonds. 

The principal and interest on the Series 2021 Bonds are payable from and secured by the 
Series 2021 Trust Estate, which includes the Series 2021 Pledged Revenues and the Series 2021 
Pledged Funds.  The Series 2021 Pledged Revenues consist of the revenues derived by the District 
from the Series 2021 Assessments. 

3. Delivery of Limited Offering Memorandum and Other Documents.  (a) Prior to 
the date hereof, the Issuer provided to the Underwriter for its review the Preliminary Limited 
Offering Memorandum dated October __, 2021, (the “Preliminary Limited Offering 
Memorandum”), that the Issuer deemed final as of its date, except for certain permitted omissions 
(the “permitted omissions”), as contemplated by Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (the “Rule”) in connection with the pricing of the Series 2021 Bonds.  The Issuer 
hereby confirms that the Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum was deemed final as of its 
date, except for the permitted omissions. 

(b) The Issuer shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, at its expense, to the Underwriter 
within seven (7) business days after the date hereof or use good faith to deliver within such 
shorter period as may be requested by the Underwriter and at least three (3) business days prior 
to the date the Series 2021 Bonds are delivered to the Underwriter, or within such other period as 
the Underwriter may inform the Issuer which is necessary for the Underwriter to comply with 
regulations of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”) in order to accompany any 
confirmation that requests payment from any customer sufficient copies of the final Limited 
Offering Memorandum (“Limited Offering Memorandum”) to enable the Underwriter to fulfill 
its obligations pursuant to the securities laws of Florida and the United States, in form and 
substance satisfactory to the Underwriter.  In determining whether the number of copies to be 
delivered by the Issuer are reasonably necessary, at a minimum, the number shall be determined 
by the Underwriter and conveyed to the Issuer as shall be sufficient to enable the Underwriter to 
comply with the requirements of the Rule, all applicable rules of the MSRB, and to fulfill its duties 
and responsibilities under Florida and federal securities laws generally.  

The Underwriter agrees to file the Limited Offering Memorandum in accordance with 
applicable MSRB rules. 



4 

The Issuer authorizes, or ratifies as the case may be, the use and distribution of the 
Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum and the Limited Offering Memorandum in 
connection with the limited public offering and sale of the Series 2021 Bonds.  The Underwriter 
agrees that it will not confirm the sale of any Series 2021 Bonds unless the confirmation of sale 
requesting payment is accompanied or preceded by the delivery of a copy of the Limited Offering 
Memorandum.   

(c) From the date hereof until the earlier of (i) ninety (90) days from the “end of the 
underwriting period” (as defined in the Rule), or (ii) the time when the Limited Offering 
Memorandum is available to any person from the MSRB (but in no case less than 25 days 
following the end of the underwriting period), if the Issuer has knowledge of the occurrence of 
any event which may make it necessary to amend or supplement the Limited Offering 
Memorandum in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under 
which they were made, not misleading, the Issuer shall notify the Underwriter and if, in the 
reasonable opinion of the Issuer or the reasonable opinion of the Underwriter, such event requires 
the preparation and publication of an amendment or supplement to the Limited Offering 
Memorandum, the Issuer, at its expense (unless such event was caused by the Underwriter), shall 
promptly prepare an appropriate amendment or supplement thereto (and file or cause to be filed, 
the same with the MSRB, and mail such amendment or supplement to each record owner of Series 
2021 Bonds) so that the statements in the Limited Offering Memorandum as so amended or 
supplemented will not, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, be misleading, 
in a form and in a manner reasonably approved by the Underwriter.  The Issuer will promptly 
notify the Underwriter of the occurrence of any event of which it has knowledge, which, in its 
opinion, is an event described in the preceding sentence.   The amendments or supplements that 
may be authorized for use with respect to the Series 2021 Bonds are hereinafter included within 
the term “Limited Offering Memorandum.” 

4. Authority of the Underwriter.  The Underwriter is duly authorized to execute this 
Bond Purchase Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder.  The Underwriter hereby 
represents that neither it nor any “person” or “affiliate” has been on the “convicted vendor list” 
during the past 36 months, as all such terms are defined in Section 287.133, Florida Statutes, as 
amended. 

5. Offering and Sale of Series 2021 Bonds.  The Underwriter agrees to make a bona 
fide limited offering to “accredited investors” representing the general public (excluding bond 
houses, brokers or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of Underwriter or 
wholesalers) of all of the Series 2021 Bonds at not in excess of the initial public offering price or 
prices (or below the yield or yields) set forth in Exhibit A hereto; provided, however, that the 
Underwriter may (i) offer and sell the Series 2021 Bonds to certain bond houses, brokers or to 
similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers at prices 
lower than the public offering prices set forth in Exhibit A hereto, and (ii) change such initial 
offering prices (or yields) as the Underwriter deems necessary in connection with the marketing 
of the Series 2021 Bonds. The Underwriter agrees to assist the Issuer in establishing the issue price 
as provided in Section 20 hereof. 



5 

The Issuer hereby authorizes the Underwriter to use the Limited Offering Memorandum 
in connection with the limited public offering and sale of the Series 2021 Bonds and ratifies and 
confirms the distribution and use by the Underwriter prior to the date hereof of the Preliminary 
Limited Offering Memorandum in connection with such public offering and sale. 

6. Issuer Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Agreements.  The Issuer 
represents and warrants to and covenants and agrees with the Underwriter that, as of the date 
hereof and as of the date of the Closing (hereinafter defined): 

(a) The District is a local unit of special purpose government, duly organized and 
established and validly existing under the Act and the Constitution and laws of the State of 
Florida, with full legal right, power and authority to:  (i) adopt the Bond Resolutions and the 
Assessment Resolutions; (ii) enter into the Financing Documents; (iii) sell, issue and deliver the 
Series 2021 Bonds to the Underwriter as provided herein; (iv) apply the proceeds of the sale of 
the Series 2021 Bonds for the purposes described in the Limited Offering Memorandum; 
(v) authorize the distribution of the Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum and the 
execution of the Limited Offering Memorandum; (vi) carry out and consummate the transactions 
contemplated by the Bond Resolutions, the Assessment Resolutions, the Financing Documents 
and the Limited Offering Memorandum; (vii) undertake the completion or acquisition of the 
Series 2021 Project; and (viii) levy and collect the Series 2021 Assessments that will secure the 
Series 2021 Bonds.  The Issuer has complied, and at the Closing will be in compliance in all 
respects, with the terms of the Act and with the obligations on its part contained in the Financing 
Documents and the Series 2021 Bonds. 

(b) The District has complied, and at Closing will be in compliance in all respects, with 
the Bond Resolutions, the Assessment Resolutions, the Act, and the Constitution and laws of the 
State of Florida in all matters relating to the Financing Documents and the Series 2021 Bonds, and 
the imposition, levy and collection of the Series 2021 Assessments. 

(c) The District has duly authorized and approved (1) the execution and delivery, or 
adoption, as the case may be, and performance of the Financing Documents, the Bond 
Resolutions, the Assessment Resolutions, and the Series 2021 Bonds, (2) the use and distribution 
of the Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum and the delivery and distribution of the 
Limited Offering Memorandum, and (3) the taking of any and all such action as may be required 
on the part of the District to carry out, give effect to and consummate the transactions 
contemplated by the Financing Documents, the Bond Resolutions, the Assessment Resolutions, 
the Series 2021 Bonds and the Limited Offering Memorandum. 

(d) Each of the Financing Documents constitutes, or will at Closing constitute, a 
legally valid and binding obligation of the District enforceable in accordance with its terms, and, 
upon due authorization, execution and delivery hereof and thereof by the parties hereto and 
thereto, will constitute a legal, valid and binding obligation of the District enforceable in 
accordance with its terms. 



6 

(e) When delivered to and paid for by the Underwriter at the Closing in accordance 
with the provisions of this Bond Purchase Agreement, the Series 2021 Bonds will have been duly 
authorized, executed, authenticated, issued and delivered and will constitute legal, valid and 
binding special obligations of the District, conforming to the Act, and entitled to the benefit and 
security of the Indenture. 

(f) Upon the execution, authentication, issuance and delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds 
as aforesaid, the Indenture will provide, for the benefit of the holders from time to time of the 
Series 2021 Bonds, a legally valid and binding pledge of and a security interest in and to the Series 
2021 Trust Estate pledged to the Series 2021 Bonds, subject only to the provisions of the Indenture 
permitting the application of such Series 2021 Trust Estate for the purposes and on the terms and 
conditions set forth in the Indenture. 

(g) Other than any approvals that might be required under the securities laws of any 
state, no approval, permit, consent or authorization of, or registration or filing with, any 
governmental or public agency or authority or any other entity not already obtained or made, or 
to be made simultaneously with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, is required to be obtained 
by the District in connection with the issuance and sale of the Series 2021 Bonds, or the execution 
and delivery by the District of, or the due performance of its obligations under, the Financing 
Documents and the Series 2021 Bonds, and any such approvals, permits, consents or 
authorizations so obtained are in full force and effect. 

(h) Other than as disclosed in the Limited Offering Memorandum, the District is not 
in breach of or in default under any applicable constitutional provision, law or administrative 
regulation of the State of Florida or the United States, the Financing Documents, the Series 2021 
Bonds or any applicable judgment or decree or any other loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, 
resolution, agreement or other instrument to which the District is a party or to which the District 
or any of its property or assets is otherwise subject, that could have a materially adverse effect on 
the business or operations of the District, and no event of default by the District has occurred and 
is continuing under any such instrument. 

(i) The execution and delivery by the District of the Financing Documents, the Series 
2021 Bonds and any other instrument to which the District is a party and which is used or 
contemplated for use in conjunction with the transactions contemplated by the Financing 
Documents, the Series 2021 Bonds or the Limited Offering Memorandum, and the compliance 
with the provisions of each such instrument and the consummation of any transactions 
contemplated hereby and thereby, will not conflict with or constitute a breach of, or default under 
any indenture, contract, agreement, or other instrument to which the District is a party or by 
which it is bound, or to the best of its knowledge under any provision of the Constitution of the 
State of Florida or any existing law, rule, regulation, ordinance, judgment, order or decree to 
which the District (or any of its supervisors or officers in their respective capacities as such) or its 
properties is subject. 



7 

(j) Except as disclosed in the Limited Offering Memorandum, there is no action, suit, 
hearing, inquiry or investigation, at law or in equity, before or by any court, public board, agency 
or body, pending or, to the best knowledge of the District, threatened against or affecting the 
District or any of its supervisors in their respective capacities as such, in which an unfavorable 
decision, ruling or finding would, in any material way, adversely affect (1) the transactions 
contemplated by the Financing Documents, the Series 2021 Bonds or the proceedings relating to 
the Series 2021 Assessments, (2) the organization, existence or powers of the District or any of its 
supervisors or officers in their respective capacities as such, (3) the business, properties or assets 
or the condition, financial or otherwise, of the District, (4) the validity or enforceability of the 
Series 2021 Bonds, the Financing Documents, the Series 2021 Assessments or any other agreement 
or instrument to which the District is a party and which is used or contemplated for use in the 
transactions contemplated hereby or by the Limited Offering Memorandum or Indenture, (5) the 
exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the interest on the Series 2021 
Bonds, (6) the exemption under the Act of the Series 2021 Bonds and the interest thereon from 
taxation imposed by the State of Florida, (7) the legality of investment in the Series 2021 Bonds 
for certain investors as provided in the Act, (8) the issuance, sale or delivery of the Series 2021 
Bonds, or (9) the collection of the Series 2021 Assessments and the pledge thereof under the 
Indenture to pay the principal or premium, if any, or interest on the Series 2021 Bonds. 

(k) Except as disclosed in the Limited Offering Memorandum, the District has not 
issued, assumed or guaranteed any indebtedness, incurred any material liabilities, direct or 
contingent, or entered into any contract or arrangement of any kind payable from or secured by 
a pledge of the Series 2021 Trust Estate pledged to the Series 2021 Bonds with a lien thereon prior 
to or on a parity with the lien of the Series 2021 Bonds. 

(l) Between the date of this Bond Purchase Agreement and the date of the Closing, 
the District will not, without the prior written consent of the Underwriter, incur any material 
liabilities, direct or contingent, nor will there be any adverse change of a material nature in the 
financial position, results of operations or condition, financial or otherwise, of the District, other 
than (1) as contemplated by the Limited Offering Memorandum, or (2) in the ordinary course of 
business. 

(m) Any certificates signed by any official of the District authorized to do so shall be 
deemed a representation and warranty by the District to the Underwriter as to the statements 
made therein. 

(n) No representation or warranty by the District in this Bond Purchase Agreement 
nor any statement, certificate, document or exhibit furnished to or to be furnished by the District 
pursuant to this Bond Purchase Agreement or the Limited Offering Memorandum or in 
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby contains or will contain on the date of 
Closing any untrue statement of a material fact or omits or will omit a material fact necessary to 
make the statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were 
made, not misleading; provided, however, that no representation is made with respect to 
information concerning The Depository Trust Company or the Underwriter or concerning 



8 

information in the Limited Offering Memorandum under the captions “SUITABILITY FOR 
INVESTMENT,” “THE DISTRICT – District Manager and Other Consultants,” “THE 
DEVELOPER,” “THE DEVELOPMENT,” “DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS – Book-
Entry Only System,” “TAX MATTERS,” and “LITIGATION – The Developer.” 

(o) Other than as disclosed in the Limited Offering Memorandum, the District is not 
in default and has not been in default at any time after December 31, 1975, as to principal or 
interest with respect to any obligations issued or guaranteed by the District. 

7. The Closing.  At 12:00 noon, New York time, on November __, 2021, or at such 
earlier or later time or date to which the Issuer and the Underwriter may mutually agree, the 
Issuer will, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, deliver the Series 2021 Bonds to the 
Underwriter in full book-entry form, duly executed, together with the other documents 
hereinafter mentioned, and, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Underwriter will 
accept such delivery and pay the aggregate purchase price of the Series 2021 Bonds as set forth in 
Paragraph 1 hereof (such delivery of and payment for the Series 2021 Bonds is herein called the 
“Closing”).  The Issuer shall cause CUSIP identification numbers to be printed on the Series 2021 
Bonds, but neither the failure to print such number on any Series 2021 Bond nor any error with 
respect thereto shall constitute cause for a failure or refusal by the Underwriter to accept delivery 
of and pay for the Series 2021 Bonds in accordance with the terms of this Bond Purchase 
Agreement.  The Closing shall occur at the offices of the Issuer, or such other place to which the 
Issuer and the Underwriter shall have mutually agreed.  The Series 2021 Bonds shall be prepared 
and delivered as fully registered bonds in such authorized denominations and registered in full 
book-entry form in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New 
York, New York (“DTC”) and shall be delivered to DTC during the business day prior to the 
Closing for purposes of inspection, unless the DTC “F.A.S.T.” procedure is used which requires 
the Registrar to retain possession of the Series 2021 Bonds. 

8. Closing Conditions.  The Underwriter has entered into this Bond Purchase 
Agreement in reliance upon the representations, warranties and agreements of the District 
contained herein and contained in the documents and instruments delivered at the Closing, and 
upon the performance by the District of its obligations hereunder, as of the date of the Closing.  
Accordingly, the Underwriter’s obligations under this Bond Purchase Agreement to cause the 
purchase, acceptance of delivery and payment for the Series 2021 Bonds shall be subject to the 
performance by the District of its obligations to be performed hereunder and under such 
documents and instruments at or prior to the Closing, and shall also be subject to the following 
conditions: 

(a) The representations and warranties of the District contained herein shall be true, 
complete and correct on and as of the date of the Closing, the statements made in all certificates 
and other documents delivered to the Underwriter at the Closing shall be true, complete and 
correct as of the date of Closing, and the District shall be in compliance with each of the 
agreements made by it in this Bond Purchase Agreement and the Indenture as of the date of 
Closing; 



9 

(b) At the Closing, (1) the Financing Documents, the Bond Resolutions and the 
Assessment Resolutions shall be in full force and effect and shall not have been amended, 
modified or supplemented, except as may have been agreed to in writing by the Underwriter, 
and the District shall have adopted and there shall be in full force and effect such additional 
agreements therewith and in connection with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds all such action 
as in the reasonable opinion of Bond Counsel, shall be necessary in connection with the 
transactions contemplated hereby, (2) the Limited Offering Memorandum shall not have been 
amended, modified or supplemented, except as may have been agreed to in writing by the 
Underwriter, (3) there shall not have occurred any event that causes the Limited Offering 
Memorandum or any amendment or supplement thereto to contain an untrue or misleading 
statement of fact that in the opinion of the Underwriter or its counsel is material or omits to state 
a fact that in the opinion of the Underwriter or its counsel is material and necessary to make the 
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, 
(4) the District shall perform or shall have performed all of its obligations under or specified in 
the Financing Documents to be performed at or prior to the Closing, and (5) the Series 2021 Bonds 
shall have been duly authorized, executed, authenticated and delivered; 

(c) At or prior to the Closing, the Underwriter and the District shall have received 
executed or certified copies of the following documents: 

(1) Certificates, dated the date of Closing, regarding the Limited Offering 
Memorandum and no default; 

(2) The Bond Resolutions and the Assessment Resolutions, certified by an 
authorized officer of the District under its seal as true and correct copies and as having 
been adopted with only such amendments, modifications or supplements as may have 
been approved by the Underwriter; 

(3) The Indenture and the proceedings relating to the levy of the Series 2021 
Assessments, certified by authorized officers of the District as true and correct copies; 

(4) The delivery of the Limited Offering Memorandum, and each supplement 
or amendment, if any, thereto; 

(5) A certificate of the District, dated the date of Closing, signed on its behalf 
by officers authorized by the Bond Resolutions, in substantially the form of Exhibit C 
hereto; 

(6) An opinion, dated the date of Closing, of Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A., 
Tampa, Florida, Bond Counsel, substantially in the form attached as an Appendix to the 
Limited Offering Memorandum; 

(7) A supplemental opinion, dated the date of Closing, of Bond Counsel to the 
effect that (i) the Underwriter may rely on the approving opinion of Bond Counsel as 
though such opinion were addressed to them; (ii) the Series 2021 Bonds are exempt 



10 

securities within the meaning of Section 3(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended 
(the “1933 Act”), and Section 304(a)(4) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the 
“1939 Act”) and it is not necessary in connection with the sale of the Series 2021 Bonds to 
the public to register the Series 2021 Bonds under the 1933 Act, or to qualify the Indenture 
under the 1939 Act; and (iii) Bond Counsel has reviewed the statements contained in the 
Limited Offering Memorandum under the sections captioned “DESCRIPTION OF THE 
SERIES 2021 BONDS” (other than the portion thereof captioned “Book-Entry Only 
System” and other than any information therein relating to DTC or the book-entry system, 
as to which no opinion is expressed), “SECURITY FOR AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT OF 
SERIES 2021 BONDS” (other than the portions thereof captioned “Agreement for 
Assignment of Development Rights,” “Completion Agreement,” and “True-Up 
Agreement” as to all of which no opinion will be expressed), and are of the opinion that 
insofar as such statements purport to be summaries of certain provisions of the Series 2021 
Bonds, the Act, and the Indenture, that such statements fairly represent the documents 
purported to be summarized therein. Bond Counsel has also reviewed the statements 
contained in the Limited Offering Memorandum on the cover relating to Bond Counsel's 
opinion and under the caption “TAX MATTERS” and are of the opinion that insofar as 
such sections purport to summarize the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 
as amended (the “Code”), and applicable laws of the State of Florida, such sections are 
correct as to matters therein set forth; 

(8) An opinion, dated the date of Closing, of Hopping Green & Sams, P.A., 
Tallahassee, Florida, District Counsel, in substantially the form of Exhibit D hereto; 

(9) A copy of the [Final Numbers Supplemental Special Assessment 
Methodology Report for the Series 2021 Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding 
Bonds dated _________ __, 2021] prepared by Governmental Management Services, LLC 
and a certificate from such firm in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit E; 

(10) An opinion, dated the date of Closing, of Bryant Miller Olive P.A., Orlando, 
Florida, Counsel to the Underwriter (the “Underwriter's Counsel”), in form and substance 
satisfactory to the Underwriter; 

(11) An opinion, dated the date of Closing and addressed to the Underwriter 
and the Issuer, of counsel to the Trustee, in form and substance acceptable to the 
Underwriter and Issuer and a customary authorization and incumbency certificate, dated 
the date of Closing, signed by authorized officers of the Trustee; 

(12) A certificate of the Developer, in substantially the form of the certificate 
included herein as Exhibit F, and opinion(s) of counsel to the Developer addressed to the 
District and the Underwriter, in substantially the form included herein as Exhibit G 
(which may be addressed to such parties in one or more separate opinions); 



11 

(13) A copy of the Rolling Hills Community Development District Fourth 
Supplemental Engineer's Report dated _________ __, 2021 (the “Engineer's Report”), and 
a certificate from the Issuer's Consulting Engineer, in substantially the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit H dated the date of Closing and addressed to the Issuer and the 
Underwriter; 

(14) A certificate, dated the date of Closing, of the authorized officers of the 
District to the effect that, on the basis of the facts, estimates and circumstances in effect on 
the date of Closing, it is not expected that the proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds will be 
used in a manner that would cause the Series 2021 Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds” within 
the meaning of Section 148 of Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended; 

(15) Specimen copies of the Series 2021 Bonds; 

(16) A copy of the executed DTC Blanket Issuer Letter of Representations 
between the District and The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York; 

(17) A Declaration of Consent to Jurisdiction of Rolling Hills Community 
Development District and to Imposition of Special Assessments (the “Declaration of 
Consent”) executed and delivered by each owner of real property within the District 
which is subject to the Series 2021 Assessments; 

(18) Executed Financing Documents; 

(19) Evidence of compliance with the requirements of Section 189.051 and 
Section 215.84, Florida Statutes; and 

(20) Such additional legal opinions, certificates (including such certificates as 
may be required by regulations of the Internal Revenue Service in order to establish the 
tax exempt character of the Series 2021 Bonds, which certificates shall be satisfactory in 
form and substance to Bond Counsel), and other evidence as the Underwriter, Bond 
Counsel or Underwriter’s Counsel may deem necessary to evidence the truth and 
accuracy as of the Closing of the representations and warranties of the District herein 
contained and of the information contained in the Limited Offering Memorandum and 
the due performance and satisfaction by the District at or prior to such time of all 
agreements then to be performed and all conditions then to be satisfied by it. 

All of the opinions, letters, certificates, instruments and other documents mentioned 
above or elsewhere in this Bond Purchase Agreement shall be deemed to be in compliance with 
the provisions hereof if, but only if, they are in form and substance as set forth herein or as 
described herein or as otherwise satisfactory to the Underwriter.  Receipt of, and payment for, 
the Series 2021 Bonds shall constitute evidence of the satisfactory nature of such as to the 
Underwriter.  The performance of any and all obligations of the District hereunder and the 
performance of any and all conditions herein for the benefit of the Underwriter may be waived 
by the Underwriter in its sole discretion. 



12 

If the District shall be unable to satisfy the conditions to the obligations of the Underwriter 
to cause the purchase, acceptance of delivery and payment for the Series 2021 Bonds contained 
in this Bond Purchase Agreement, or if the obligations of the Underwriter to cause the purchase, 
acceptance of delivery and payment for the Series 2021 Bonds shall be terminated for any reason 
permitted by this Bond Purchase Agreement, this Bond Purchase Agreement shall terminate, and 
neither the Underwriter nor the District shall be under any further obligation hereunder, but the 
respective obligations of the Underwriter and the District set forth in Section 9 hereof shall 
continue in full force and effect. 

9. Termination.  The Underwriter may terminate this Bond Purchase Agreement by 
written notice to the Issuer in the event that between the date hereof and the Closing: 

(a) the marketability of the Series 2021 Bonds or the market price thereof, in the 
reasonable opinion of the Underwriter, has been materially adversely affected by an amendment 
to the Constitution of the United States or by any legislation (other than any actions taken by 
either House of Congress on or prior to the date hereof) (i) enacted or adopted by the United 
States, (ii) recommended to the Congress or otherwise endorsed for passage, by press release, 
other form of notice or otherwise, by the President of the United States, the Chair or ranking 
minority member of the Committee on Finance of the United States Senate or the Committee on 
Ways and Means of the United States House of Representatives, the Treasury Department of the 
United States or the Internal Revenue Service, or (iii) favorably reported out of the appropriate 
Committee for passage to either House of the Congress by any full Committee of such House to 
which such legislation has been referred for consideration, or by any decision of any court of the 
United States or by any order, rule or regulation (final, temporary or proposed) on behalf of the 
Treasury Department of the United States, the Internal Revenue Service or any other authority or 
regulatory body of the United States, or by a release or announcement or communication issued 
or sent by the Treasury Department or the Internal Revenue Service of the United States, or any 
comparable legislative, judicial or administrative development affecting the federal tax status of 
the Issuer, its property or income, obligations of the general character of the Series 2021 Bonds, 
as contemplated hereby, or the interest thereon; or 

(b) any legislation, rule, or regulations shall be introduced in, or be enacted or adopted 
in the State of Florida, or a decision by any court of competent jurisdiction within the State of 
Florida shall be rendered which, in the reasonable opinion of the Underwriter, materially 
adversely affects the market for the Series 2021 Bonds or the sale, at the contemplated offering 
prices, by the Underwriter of the Series 2021 Bonds to be purchased by them; or 

(c) any amendment to the Limited Offering Memorandum is proposed by the Issuer 
or deemed necessary by Bond Counsel or the Underwriter which, in the reasonable opinion of 
the Underwriter, materially adversely affects the market for the Series 2021 Bonds or the sale, at 
the contemplated offering prices, by the Underwriter of the Series 2021 Bonds to be purchased by 
them; or 



13 

(d) there shall have occurred any outbreak or escalation of hostility, declaration by the 
United States of a national emergency or war or other calamity or crisis the effect of which on 
financial markets is such as to make it, in the sole judgment of the Underwriter, impractical or 
inadvisable to proceed with the offering or delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds as contemplated by 
the Limited Offering Memorandum (exclusive of any amendment or supplement thereto); or 

(e) legislation shall be enacted or adopted, or any action shall be taken by, or on behalf 
of, the Securities and Exchange Commission which, in the reasonable opinion of Bond Counsel, 
has the effect of requiring the contemplated distribution of the Series 2021 Bonds to be registered 
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Indenture to be qualified under the Trust 
Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or any laws analogous thereto relating to governmental 
bodies, and compliance therewith cannot be accomplished prior to the Closing; or 

(f) legislation shall be introduced by amendment or otherwise in or be enacted by, 
the House of Representatives or the Senate of the Congress of the United States, or a decision by 
a Court of the United States of America shall be rendered, or a stop order, ruling, release, 
regulation, official statement or no-action letter by or on behalf of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission or any other governmental authority having jurisdiction of the subject matter of the 
Series 2021 Bonds shall have been proposed, issued or made (which is beyond the control of the 
Underwriter or the Issuer to prevent or avoid) to the effect that the issuance, offering or sale of 
the Series 2021 Bonds as contemplated hereby or by the Limited Offering Memorandum, or any 
document relating to the issuance, offering or sale of the Series 2021 Bonds is or would be in 
violation of any of the federal securities laws at Closing, including the 1933 Act, as amended and 
then in effect, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and then in effect, or the 1939 Act, 
as amended and then in effect, or with the purpose or effect of otherwise prohibiting the offering 
and sale of obligations of the general character of the Series 2021 Bonds, or the Series 2021 Bonds, 
as contemplated hereby; or 

(g) there shall have occurred, after the signing hereof, either a financial crisis or a 
default with respect to the debt obligations of the Issuer or proceedings under the federal or State 
of Florida bankruptcy laws shall have been instituted by the Issuer, in either case the effect of 
which, in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter, is such as to materially and adversely 
affect (i) the market price or the marketability of the Series 2021 Bonds, or (ii) the ability of the 
Underwriter to enforce contracts for the sale of the Series 2021 Bonds; or 

(h) a general banking moratorium shall have been declared by the United States, New 
York or Florida authorities, which in the reasonable opinion of the Underwriter, materially 
adversely affects the market for the Series 2021 Bonds or the sale, at the contemplated offering 
prices, by the Underwriter of the Series 2021 Bonds to be purchased by them; or 

(i) any national securities exchange, or any governmental authority, shall impose, as 
to the Series 2021 Bonds or obligations of the general character of the Series 2021 Bonds, any 
material restrictions not now in force, or increase materially those now in force, with respect to 
the establishment of material restrictions upon trading of securities, including limited or 



14 

minimum prices, by any governmental authority or by any national securities exchange, which 
in the reasonable opinion of the Underwriter, materially adversely affects the market for the 
Series 2021 Bonds or the sale, at the contemplated offering prices, by the Underwriter of the Series 
2021 Bonds to be purchased by it; or 

(j) legal action shall have been filed against the Issuer wherein an adverse ruling 
would materially adversely affect the transactions contemplated hereby or by the Limited 
Offering Memorandum or the validity of the Series 2021 Bonds, the Bond Resolutions, the 
Assessment Resolutions, the Indenture, this Bond Purchase Agreement, or any other Financing 
Documents; provided, however, that as to any such litigation, the Issuer may request and the 
Underwriter may accept an opinion by Bond Counsel, or of other counsel acceptable to the 
Underwriter, that in such counsel’s opinion the issues raised by any such litigation or proceeding 
are without substance or that the contentions of any plaintiffs therein are without merit; or 

(k) there shall have occurred or any notice shall have been given of any intended 
review, downgrading, suspension, withdrawal, or negative change in credit watch status by any 
national rating service to any of the Issuer’s obligations; or 

(l) any information shall have become known which, in the Underwriter’s reasonable 
opinion, makes untrue, incorrect or misleading in any material respect any statement or 
information contained in the Limited Offering Memorandum, as the information contained 
therein has been supplemented or amended by other information, or causes the Limited Offering 
Memorandum, as so supplemented or amended, to contain an untrue, incorrect or misleading 
statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary to be stated therein in 
order to make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were 
made, not misleading and upon the receipt of notice of same by the Issuer, the Issuer fails to 
promptly amend or supplement the Limited Offering Memorandum; or 

(m) an event occurs as a result of which the Limited Offering Memorandum, as then 
amended or supplemented, would include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 
any material fact which is necessary to be stated therein in order to make the statements made 
therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading which, in the 
reasonable opinion of the Underwriter, requires an amendment or supplement to the Limited 
Offering Memorandum and, in the reasonable opinion of the Underwriter, materially adversely 
affects the marketability of the Series 2021 Bonds or the contemplated offering prices thereof and 
upon the receipt of notice by the Issuer, the Issuer fails to promptly amend or supplement the 
Limited Offering Memorandum. 

(n) the Internal Revenue Service makes a determination with respect to any special 
purpose development district formed under state law (referred to herein as a “Special District”) 
deeming that all or certain of such Special Districts are not a “political subdivision” for purposes 
of Section 103(a) of the Code, and such determination, in the reasonable opinion of the 
Underwriter, materially adversely affects the federal tax status of the District, the tax exempt 
character or marketability of the Series 2021 Bonds or the contemplated offering prices thereof. 



15 

10. Expenses.   

(a) The District agrees to pay from the proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds, and the 
Underwriter shall be under no obligation to pay, all expenses incident to the performance of the 
District's obligations hereunder, including but not limited to (1) the cost of the preparation, 
printing or other reproduction (for distribution prior to, on or after the date of acceptance of this 
Bond Purchase Agreement) of a reasonable number of copies of the Preliminary Limited Offering 
Memorandum and the Limited Offering Memorandum; (2) the fees and disbursements of Bond 
Counsel, District Counsel, Governmental Management Services, LLC, as Methodology 
Consultant, Alliant Engineering, Inc., as Consulting Engineer, and any other experts or 
consultants retained by the District, including, but not limited to, the fees and expenses of the 
District Manager; (3) the fees and disbursements of Underwriter's Counsel, (4) the fees and 
disbursements of the Trustee, Bond Registrar and Paying Agent under the Indenture; and (5) out-
of-pocket expenses of the District. 

(b) The Underwriter shall pay (1) the cost of qualifying the Series 2021 Bonds for sale 
in various states chosen by the Underwriter and the cost of preparing or printing any Blue Sky 
and legal investment memoranda to be used in connection with such sale; and (2) out-of-pocket 
expenses, including advertising, incurred by them in connection with their offering and 
distribution of the Series 2021 Bonds. 

(c) In the event that either the District or the Underwriter shall have paid obligations 
of the other as set forth in this Section, adjustment shall be made at or prior to Closing. 

11. No Advisory or Fiduciary Role.  The District acknowledges and agrees that (i) the 
purchase and sale of the Series 2021 Bonds pursuant to this Bond Purchase Agreement is an arm’s-
length commercial transaction between the District and the Underwriter, (ii) in connection 
therewith and with the discussions, undertakings and procedures leading up to the 
consummation of such transaction, the Underwriter is and has been acting solely as a principal 
and is not acting as an advisor (including, without limitation, a Municipal Advisor (as such term 
is defined in Section 975(e) of the Dodd Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act), 
agent or fiduciary of the District, (iii) the Underwriter has not assumed an advisory or fiduciary 
responsibility in favor of the District with respect to the offering contemplated hereby or the 
discussions, undertakings and procedures leading thereto (irrespective of whether the 
Underwriter or any affiliate of the Underwriter has provided other services or is currently 
providing other services to the District on other matters) and the Underwriter has no obligation 
to the District with respect to the offering contemplated hereby except the obligations expressly 
set forth in this Bond Purchase Agreement, (iv) the District has consulted its own legal, financial 
and other advisors to the extent it has deemed appropriate in connection with the offering of the 
Series 2021 Bonds, (v) the Underwriter has financial and other interests that differ from those of 
the District, and (vi) the District has received the Underwriter’s G-17 Disclosure Letter. 

12. Notices.  All notices, demands and formal actions hereunder shall be in writing 
and mailed, electronically mailed or delivered to: 



16 

The Underwriter: MBS Capital Markets, LLC 
152 Lincoln Avenue 
Winter Park, Florida  32789 
Attn:  Brett Sealy 
Email:  brett@mbscapitalmarkets.com 

The District: 
 

Rolling Hills Community Development District 
c/o District Manager 
Governmental Management Services, LLC 
475 West Town Place 
Suite 114 
St. Augustine, Florida 32092 
Attention:  Jim Oliver 
Email: joliver@gmsnf.com 
 

Copy to: Katie Buchanan, Esq. 
Hopping Green & Sams, P.A. 
119 S. Monroe Street, Suite 300 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
Email:  katieb@hgslaw.com 
 

13. Parties in Interest.  This Bond Purchase Agreement is made solely for the benefit 
of the Issuer and the Underwriter (including the successors or assignees of the Issuer or the 
Underwriter) and no other party or person shall acquire or have any right hereunder or by virtue 
hereof.  All representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in this Bond Purchase 
Agreement shall remain operative and in full force and effect, regardless of: (i) any investigations 
made by or on behalf of the Underwriter; (ii) the delivery of and payment for the Series 2021 
Bonds pursuant to this Bond Purchase Agreement; or (iii) any termination of this Bond Purchase 
Agreement but only to the extent provided by the last paragraph of Section 8 hereof. 

14. Waiver.  Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the performance 
of any and all obligations of the Issuer hereunder and the performance of any and all conditions 
contained herein for the benefit of the Underwriter may be waived by the Underwriter, in its sole 
discretion. 

15. Effectiveness.  This Bond Purchase Agreement shall become effective upon the 
execution of the acceptance hereof by the Chair or Vice Chair of the District and shall be valid 
and enforceable at the time of such acceptance. 

16. Counterparts.  This Bond Purchase Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be regarded as an original and all of which shall constitute one 
and the same document. 

17. Headings.  The headings of the sections of this Bond Purchase Agreement are 
inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to be a part hereof. 



17 

18. Florida Law Governs.  The validity, interpretation and performance of this Bond 
Purchase Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Florida. 

19. Truth In Bonding Statement.  Pursuant to the provisions of Section 218.385(2) and 
(3), Florida Statutes, as amended, the Underwriter provides the following truth-in-bonding 
statement: 

(a) The Issuer is proposing to issue the Series 2021 Bonds in the aggregate principal 
amount of $____________ for the purposes described in Section 2 hereof.  The Series 2021A-1 
Bonds are expected to be repaid over a period of approximately _____ (__) years.  The Series 
2021A-2 Bonds are expected to be repaid over a period of approximately _____ (__) years.  At a 
true interest cost of approximately ______%, total interest paid over the life of the Series 2021 
Bonds will be approximately $____________. 

(b) The source of repayment or security for the Series 2021 Bonds is the Series 2021 
Trust Estate described in Section 2 hereof.  Authorizing the Series 2021A-1 Bonds will result in an 
average of approximately $____________ not being available to finance other services of the Issuer 
every year for approximately _____ (__).  Authorizing the Series 2021A-2 Bonds will result in an 
average of approximately $____________ not being available to finance other services of the Issuer 
every year for approximately _____ (__). 

20. Establishment of Issue Price.   

(a) The Underwriter agrees to assist the Issuer in establishing the issue price of the 
Series 2021 Bonds and shall execute and deliver to the Issuer at Closing an “issue price” or similar 
certificate, together with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent communications, 
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit I, with such modifications as may be 
appropriate or necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter, the Issuer and Bond 
Counsel, to accurately reflect, as applicable, the sales price or prices or the initial offering price or 
prices to the public of the Series 2021 Bonds.  

(b) Except as otherwise set forth in Schedule A to Exhibit I attached hereto, the Issuer 
will treat the first price at which 10% of each maturity of the Series 2021 Bonds (the “10% test”) is 
sold to the public as the issue price of that maturity (if different interest rates apply within a 
maturity, each separate CUSIP number within that maturity will be subject to the 10% test).  At 
or promptly after the execution of this Bond Purchase Agreement, the Underwriter shall report 
to the Issuer the price or prices at which it has sold to the public each maturity of Series 2021 
Bonds.  If at that time the 10% test has not been satisfied as to any maturity of the Series 2021 
Bonds, the Underwriter agrees to promptly report to the Issuer the prices at which it sells the 
unsold Series 2021 Bonds of that maturity to the public.  That reporting obligation shall continue, 
whether or not the Closing has occurred, until the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Series 2021 
Bonds of that maturity or until all Series 2021 Bonds of that maturity have been sold to the public.   

(c) The Underwriter confirms that it has offered the Series 2021 Bonds to the public 
on or before the date of this Bond Purchase Agreement at the offering price or prices (the “initial 



18 

offering price”), or at the corresponding yield or yields, set forth in Schedule A to Exhibit I 
attached hereto, except as otherwise set forth therein.  Schedule A to Exhibit I also sets forth, as 
of the date of this Bond Purchase Agreement, the maturities, if any, of the Series 2021 Bonds for 
which the 10% test has not been satisfied and for which the Issuer and the Underwriter agree that 
the restrictions set forth in the next sentence shall apply, which will allow the Issuer to treat the 
initial offering price to the public of each such maturity as of the sale date as the issue price of 
that maturity (the “hold-the-offering-price rule”).  So long as the hold-the-offering-price rule 
remains applicable to any maturity of the Series 2021 Bonds, the Underwriter will neither offer 
nor sell unsold Series 2021 Bonds of that maturity to any person at a price that is higher than the 
initial offering price to the public during the period starting on the sale date and ending on the 
earlier of the following: 

(1) the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the sale date; or 

(2) the date on which the Underwriter has sold at least 10% of that maturity of the 
Series 2021 Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price to the 
public.   

The Underwriter shall promptly advise the Issuer when it has sold 10% of that maturity 
of the Series 2021 Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price to 
the public, if that occurs prior to the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the sale date.     

(d) The Underwriter confirms that any selling group agreement and any retail 
distribution agreement relating to the initial sale of the Series 2021 Bonds to the public, together 
with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each dealer who is a 
member of the selling group and each broker-dealer that is a party to such retail distribution 
agreement, as applicable, to (A) report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Series 
2021 Bonds of each maturity allotted to it until it is notified by the Underwriter that either the 
10% test has been satisfied as to the Series 2021 Bonds of that maturity or all Series 2021 Bonds of 
that maturity have been sold to the public and (B) comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, 
if applicable, in each case if and for so long as directed by the Underwriter.  The Issuer 
acknowledges that, in making the representation set forth in this subsection, the Underwriter will 
rely on (i) in the event a selling group has been created in connection with the initial sale of the 
Series 2021 Bonds to the public, the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling 
group to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, as set forth in a selling group 
agreement and the related pricing wires, and (ii) in the event that a retail distribution agreement 
was employed in connection with the initial sale of the Series 2021 Bonds to the public, the 
agreement of each broker-dealer that is a party to such agreement to comply with the hold-the-
offering-price rule, if applicable, as set forth in the retail distribution agreement and the related 
pricing wires.  The Issuer further acknowledges that the Underwriter shall not be liable for the 
failure of any dealer who is a member of a selling group, or of any broker-dealer that is a party to 
a retail distribution agreement, to comply with its corresponding agreement regarding the hold-
the-offering-price rule as applicable to the Series 2021 Bonds.   



19 

(e) The Underwriter acknowledges that sales of any Series 2021 Bonds to any person 
that is a related party to the Underwriter shall not constitute sales to the public for purposes of 
this section.  Further, for purposes of this section: 

(i) “public” means any person other than an underwriter or a related party,  

(ii) “underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written 
contract with the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) 
to participate in the initial sale of the Series 2021 Bonds to the public and (B) any person 
that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in 
clause (A) to participate in the initial sale of the Series 2021 Bonds to the public (including 
a member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in 
the initial sale of the Series 2021 Bonds to the public),  

(iii) a purchaser of any of the Series 2021 Bonds is a “related party” to an 
underwriter if the underwriter and the purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly, to (i) 
at least 50% common ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if 
both entities are corporations (including direct ownership by one corporation of another), 
(ii) more than 50% common ownership of their capital interests or profits interests, if both 
entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one partnership of another), or 
(iii) more than 50% common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the 
corporation or the capital interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if 
one entity is a corporation and the other entity is a partnership (including direct 
ownership of the applicable stock or interests by one entity of the other), and 

(iv) “sale date” means the date of execution of this Bond Purchase Agreement 
by all parties. 

 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 



 

21. Entire Agreement.  This Bond Purchase Agreement when accepted by you in 
writing as heretofore specified shall constitute the entire agreement between us and is made 
solely for the benefit of the Issuer and the Underwriter (including the successors or assigns of the 
Issuer or the Underwriter).  No other person shall acquire or have any right hereunder or by 
virtue hereof. 

Very truly yours, 

MBS CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC 
 
 
By:       
Name: Brett Sealy 
Title: Managing Partner 

Accepted by: 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 
  DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

By:       
Name: Shannon Jordan 
Title: Chair 

[Signature page to Bond Purchase Agreement]



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

AMOUNTS, INTEREST RATES, MATURITIES AND YIELDS 
 

[TO COME] 
 

REDEMPTION PROVISIONS FOR THE SERIES 2021 BONDS 
 

[TO COME] 
 



 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

$____________ 
Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 

and 
$____________ 

Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2 
 
 

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

_________ __, 2021 

Rolling Hills Community Development District 
Clay County, Florida   
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Pursuant to Chapter 218.385, Florida Statutes, and with respect to the issuance of the 
above-referenced bonds (the “Series 2021 Bonds”), MBS Capital Markets, LLC (the 
“Underwriter”), having purchased the above-captioned Series 2021 Bonds pursuant to a Bond 
Purchase Agreement dated _________ __, 2021 (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”) between the 
Underwriter and Rolling Hills Community Development District (the “District”), makes the 
following disclosures in connection with the limited public offering and sale of the Series 2021 
Bonds: 

(a) The total underwriting discount paid to the Underwriter pursuant to the Bond 
Purchase Agreement is $____________ (___%). 

(b) The total amount of expenses estimated to be incurred by the Underwriter in 
connection with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds is $____________.  An itemization of these 
expenses is attached hereto as Schedule I. 

(c)  There are no “finders” as such term is used in Sections 218.385 and 218.386, Florida 
Statutes, in connection with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds. 

(d) The components of the Underwriter's discount are as follows: 

Management Fee: $____/$1,000 or $ 
Takedown: $____/$1,000 or $ 
Expenses: $____/$1,000 or $ 



 

B-2 

(e) There are no other fees, bonuses, or other compensation estimated to be paid by 
the Underwriter in connection with the Series 2021 Bonds to any person not regularly employed 
or retained by the Underwriter.  

(f) The name and address of the Underwriter is set forth below: 

MBS Capital Markets, LLC 
152 Lincoln Avenue 
Winter Park, Florida 32789 

We understand that you do not require any further disclosure from the Underwriter, 
pursuant to Section 218.385(6), Florida Statutes, as amended. 

       Very truly yours, 

MBS CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC 
 
 
By:      
Name: Brett Sealy 
Title: Managing Partner 



 

B-3 

SCHEDULE I 

ESTIMATED EXPENSES TO BE INCURRED BY UNDERWRITER 
 
 

Travel Expenses $ 
Communication  
Day Loan  
Clearance & Settlement Charges  
CUSIP / DTC  
Contingency  
Total $ 



 

C-1 

EXHIBIT C 
 

CERTIFICATE OF DISTRICT 
 
 

The undersigned, as Chair and Secretary, respectively, of the Board of Supervisors of 
Rolling Hills Community Development District (the “District”), a local unit of special-purpose 
government duly established and validly existing under and pursuant to the Constitution and 
laws of the State of Florida, particularly Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended (the “Act”), 
hereby certify to MBS Capital Markets, LLC (the “Underwriter”) in satisfaction of Section 8(c)(5) 
of the Bond Purchase Agreement, dated _________ __, 2021, with the District (the “Bond Purchase 
Agreement”) in connection with the issuance by the District of its $____________ Rolling Hills 
Community Development District (Clay County, Florida) Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2021A-1 and $____________ Rolling Hills Community Development District (Clay County, 
Florida) Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2 (together, the 
“Series 2021 Bonds”), as follows (terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the 
meanings ascribed to such terms in the Bond Purchase Agreement): 

1. Shannon Jordan is the duly appointed and acting Chair of, and James Oliver is the 
duly appointed and acting Secretary to the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”), 
authorized by resolution of the Board pursuant to the Act to be custodian of all documents and 
papers filed with the District and the official seal of the District. 

2. The following named persons are as of the date hereof the duly elected or 
appointed, qualified and acting members of the Board: 

 
Name 

 
Title 

 
Term Expires 

Shannon Jordan Chair November 2024 
John M. Miller Vice Chair November 2024 

Rose Bock Assistant Secretary November 2022 
David Church Assistant Secretary November 2022 

Vacant Assistant Secretary November 2024 

The following named persons are also appointed, qualified and acting officers to the 
Board, holding the office of appointment set forth opposite their names: 

Name Title 
James Oliver Secretary & Assistant Treasurer 
James Perry Treasuer & Assistant Secretary 
Patti Power Assistant Treasurer 
Rich Hans Assistant Secretary 

Ernesto Torres Assistant Secretary, Assistant Treasurer 
Marilee Giles Assistant Secretary, Assistant Treasurer 



 

C-2 

Each of said persons since his or her appointment or election as aforesaid has been and 
now is the duly designated and qualified officer of or to the Board holding the office set forth 
opposite his or her name, if required to file an oath of office, has done so, and if legally required 
to give a bond or undertaking has filed such bond or undertaking, in form and amount required 
by law. 

3. The seal, an impression of which appears below, was duly adopted by the District 
as its official seal and is the only legally adopted, proper and official seal of the District. 

4. The Board, at duly called and held meetings of the Board on June 1, 2006 and 
October 12, 2021, duly adopted Resolution Nos. 2006-14 and 2022-__, respectively, true and 
correct copies of which are attached hereto (collectively, the “Bond Resolutions”), which Bond 
Resolutions remain in full force and effect on the date hereof. 

5. The Board, at duly called and held meetings of the Board of Supervisors of the 
District on [September 17, 2015, September 17, 2015, December 9, 2015, and November __, 2021 
duly adopted Resolution Nos. 2015-08, 2015-09, 2016-02 and 2022-__], respectively, true and 
correct copies of which are attached hereto (collectively, the “Assessment Resolutions”), which 
Assessment Resolutions remain in full force and effect on the date hereof. 

6. The above referenced meetings of the Board at which the Bond Resolutions and 
Assessment Resolutions were adopted were duly called in accordance with applicable law, 
including but not limited to Executive Order 2020-69 issued by Governor DeSantis, as amended, 
extended and supplemented, and pursuant to Section 120.54(5)(b)2, Florida Statutes, and at said 
meetings a quorum was present and acting throughout.  All meetings of the Board at which the 
Board considered any matters related to the Bond Resolutions, the Assessment Resolutions, the 
Indenture, the Series 2021 Bonds or any documents related to the issuance of the Series 2021 
Bonds have been open to the public and held in accordance with the procedures required by 
Section 189.015 and Chapter 286, Florida Statutes, as amended, and all laws amendatory thereof 
and supplementary thereto, including Executive Order 2020-69 issued by Governor DeSantis, as 
amended, extended and supplemented, and pursuant to Section 120.54(5)(b)2, Florida Statutes. 

7. The District has complied with the provisions of Chapters 170, 190 and 197, Florida 
Statutes, related to the imposition, levy, collection and enforcement of the Series 2021 
Assessments. 

8. Upon authentication and delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds, the District will not be 
in default in the performance of the terms and provisions of the Bond Resolutions, the Assessment 
Resolutions or the Indenture. 

9. Each of the representations and warranties made by the District in the Bond 
Purchase Agreement is, to the best of our knowledge and belief, true and accurate on and as of 
this date. 



 

C-3 

10. The District has complied with all the agreements and satisfied all the conditions 
on its part to be complied with on or before the date hereof for delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds 
pursuant to the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Bond Resolutions, the Assessment Resolutions 
and the Indenture. 

11. To the best of our knowledge, since the date of the Limited Offering 
Memorandum, no material and adverse change has occurred in the business, properties, other 
assets and financial position of the District or results of operations of the District; and to the best 
of our knowledge, the District has not, since the date of the Limited Offering Memorandum, 
incurred any material liabilities other than as set forth in or contemplated by the Limited Offering 
Memorandum. 

12. To the best of our knowledge, the statements appearing in the Limited Offering 
Memorandum did not as of its date and do not as of the date hereof contain an untrue statement 
of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be included therein or necessary in 
order to make the statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances in which they were 
made, not misleading; provided, however, that no representation is made with respect to 
information concerning The Depository Trust Company or its book-entry only system or 
concerning information in the Limited Offering Memorandum under the captions “SUITABILITY 
FOR INVESTMENT,” “THE DISTRICT – District Manager and Other Consultants,” “THE 
DEVELOPER,” “THE DEVELOPMENT,” DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS – Book-
Entry Only System,” “TAX MATTERS,” and “LITIGATION – The Developer.”  Subject to the 
foregoing limitations, nothing has come to our attention which would lead us to believe that the 
Limited Offering Memorandum, as of its date or as of the date hereof contained an untrue 
statement of a material fact, or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or 
necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances in which they were made 
not misleading. 

13. Except as set forth in the Limited Offering Memorandum, no litigation or other 
proceedings are pending or to the knowledge of the District threatened in or before any agency, 
court or tribunal, state or federal, (a) restraining or enjoining or seeking to restrain or enjoin the 
issuance, sale, execution or delivery of any of the Series 2021 Bonds or the imposition, levy and 
collection of the Series 2021 Assessments or the pledge thereof to the payment of the principal of 
and premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2021 Bonds, (b) questioning or affecting the 
validity of any provision of the Series 2021 Bonds, the Bond Resolutions, the Assessment 
Resolutions, the Series 2021 Assessments or the Financing Documents, as those documents are 
defined in the Bond Purchase Agreement, (c) questioning or affecting the validity of any of the 
proceedings or the authority for the authorization, sale, execution or delivery of the Series 2021 
Bonds, (d) questioning or affecting the organization or existence of the District or the title of any 
of its officers to their respective offices or any powers of the District under the laws of the State 
of Florida, (e) contesting or affecting the Series 2021 Assessments, (f) contesting the accuracy or 
completeness of the Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum or the Limited Offering 
Memorandum, (g) contesting the exclusion of interest on the Series 2021 Bonds from federal 



 

C-4 

income taxation, or (h) contesting the exemption from taxation of the Series 2021 Bonds and the 
interest thereon under Florida law or the legality for investment therein. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunder set our hands this ____ day of November, 
2021. 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

By:  
Shannon Jordan, 
Chair, Board of Supervisors 

By:   
James Oliver,  
Secretary to Board of Supervisors 



 

D-1 

EXHIBIT D 

FORM OF DISTRICT COUNSEL OPINION 

November __, 2021 

 

Rolling Hills Community Development District 
Clay County, Florida 
 
MBS Capital Markets, LLC 
Winter Park, Florida 

U.S. Bank, National Association, as Trustee  
Orlando, Florida 
(solely for reliance upon Sections C.1. and C.3.) 

 
Re: $____________ Rolling Hills Community Development District Capital 

Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1; and  
$____________ Rolling Hills Community Development District Capital 
Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2  

Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 

We serve as counsel to the Rolling Hills Community Development District (“District”), a 
local unit of special-purpose government established pursuant to the laws of the State of Florida, 
in connection with the sale by the District of its $____________ Rolling Hills Community 
Development District Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 (“Series 2021A-1 
Bonds”) and $____________ Rolling Hills Community Development District Capital 
Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2 (“Series 2021A-2 Bonds” and, 
together with Series 2021A-1 Bonds, the “Bonds”).  This letter is delivered to you pursuant to 
Section 207 of the Master Indenture (defined below), Section 207 of the Sixth Supplemental Trust 
Indenture (defined below), and Section 8(c) of the Bond Purchase Agreement (referenced below) 
and is effective as of the date first written above.  Each capitalized term not otherwise defined 
herein has the meaning given to it in the Indenture (defined herein). 

 
A. DOCUMENTS EXAMINED 

 
In rendering the opinions set forth below, we have examined and/or relied upon the 

following documents and have made such examination of law as we have deemed necessary or 
appropriate: 



Rolling Hills Community Development District  
MBS Capital Markets, LLC 
November __, 2021 
Page 2 of 7 
 
 

D-2 

1. Ordinance 2006-9, enacted by the County Commission of the Clay County, Florida, 
which was effective as of March 21, 2006 (“Establishment Ordinance”);  

2. the Master Trust Indenture, dated as of November 1, 2006 (“Master Indenture”), as 
supplemented by the Sixth Supplemental Trust Indenture, dated as of November 1, 
2021 (“Supplemental Trust Indenture,” and together with the Master Indenture, 
“Indenture”), each by and between the District and U.S. Bank National 
Association, as trustee (“Trustee”); 

3. Resolutions Nos. 2006-14 and 2022-__ adopted by the District on June 1, 2006, and 
October 12, 2021, respectively (collectively, “Bond Resolution”);  

4. Fourth Supplemental Engineer’s Report dated __________ __, 2021 (“Engineer’s 
Report”), which describes among other things, the “Project;”   

5. Supplemental Special Assessment Methodology Report for Series 2021, Capital 
Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds dated __________ __, 2021 (collectively, 
“Assessment Methodology”); 

6. Resolution Nos. 2006-12, 2006-13, 2006-18, [2015-08, 2015-09, 2016-02 and 2022-__] 
(collectively, “Assessment Resolution”), establishing the debt service special 
assessments (“Debt Assessments”) securing the Bonds; 

7. the Final Judgment issued on September 11, 2006 and by the Circuit Court for the 
Fourth Judicial Circuit in and for Clay County, Florid, the appeal period for which 
expired with no appeal having been taken;  

8. the Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum dated October __, 2021 
(“PLOM”) and Limited Offering Memorandum dated _________ __, 2021 
(“LOM”); 

9. certain certifications by MBS Capital Markets, LLC (“Underwriter”), as 
underwriter to the sale of the Bonds;  

10. certain certifications of Alliant Engineering, Inc., as “District Engineer”;  
11. certain certifications of Governmental Management Services, LLC, as “District 

Manager” and “Assessment Consultant”;  
12. general and closing certificate of the District; 
13. an opinion of Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A. (“Bond Counsel”) issued to the 

District in connection with the sale and issuance of the Bonds;  
14. an opinion of Holland & Knight LLP (“Trustee Counsel”) issued to the District 

and Underwriter in connection with the sale and issuance of the Bonds;  
15. an opinion of in-house counsel to the Developer (defined herein), issued to the 

District and the Underwriter in connection with the sale and issuance of the Bonds;  
16. the following agreements (collectively, “Bond Agreements”): 

(a) the Continuing Disclosure Agreement dated November __, 2021, by and 
among the District, Garden Street Communities Southeast, LLC (“Developer”) 
and a dissemination agent;  



Rolling Hills Community Development District  
MBS Capital Markets, LLC 
November __, 2021 
Page 3 of 7 
 
 

D-3 

(b) the Bond Purchase Agreement between Underwriter and the District and 
dated _________ __, 2021 (“BPA”);  

(c) the Acquisition Agreement between the District and the Developer and dated 
November __, 2021;  

(d) the Completion Agreement between the District and the Developer and dated 
November __, 2021; 

(e) the True-Up Agreement between the District and the Developer and dated 
November __, 2021; and 

(f) the Collateral Assignment and Assumption Agreement between the District 
and the Developer and dated November __, 2021;  

17. a Declaration of Consent to Jurisdiction executed by the Developer; 
18. The following Executive Orders of Governor DeSantis of the State of Florida: 2020-

52 issued March 9, 2020 and 2020-69 issued March 20, 2020, as amended, extended 
and supplemented, respectively; and 

19. such other documents as we have deemed necessary or appropriate in rendering 
the opinions set forth below. 

We have also attended various meetings of the District and have participated in 
conferences from time to time with representatives of the District, the District Engineer, the 
District Manager and Assessment Consultant, the Underwriter, Bond Counsel, counsel to the 
Underwriter, the Developer, counsel to the Developer, and others relative to the LOM and the 
related documents described herein. 

B. RELIANCE  

This opinion is solely for the benefit of (i) the District; (ii) the Underwriter; and (iii) the 
Trustee; however, the Trustee may only rely on this opinion for the limited purposes of the 
opinions stated in Sections C.1 and C.3. This opinion may not be relied on by any other party or 
for any other purpose without our prior written consent.   

C. OPINIONS 

Based on the foregoing, and subject to the qualifications and assumptions set forth herein, 
we are of the opinion that: 

 
1. Authority – Under the Florida Constitution and laws of the State, the District has 

been duly established and validly exists as a local unit of special purpose government and a 
community development district under Chapter 190, Florida Statutes (“Act”), with such powers 
as set forth in the Act, and with good, right and lawful authority:  (a) to enter into and to 
consummate the transactions contemplated by the Bond Resolution, the Assessment Resolution, 
the Indenture, the Bonds and the Bond Agreements; (b) to issue the Bonds for the purposes for 



Rolling Hills Community Development District  
MBS Capital Markets, LLC 
November __, 2021 
Page 4 of 7 
 
 

D-4 

which they are issued; (c) to impose, levy, collect and enforce the Debt Assessments and pledge 
the Pledged Revenues to secure the Bonds as provided in the Indenture; (d) to adopt the Bond 
Resolution and the Assessment Resolution; and (e) to perform its obligations under the terms and 
conditions of the Bond Resolution, the Assessment Resolution, the Bond Agreements, the Bonds 
and the Indenture. 

2. Assessments – The proceedings by the District with respect to the Debt 
Assessments have been in accordance with Florida law.  The District has taken all action necessary 
to authorize and execute the Assessment Resolution and to levy and impose the Debt 
Assessments, as set forth in the Assessment Resolution, Assessment Methodology, and/or other 
applicable documents.  The Debt Assessments constitute legal, valid, binding and enforceable 
first liens upon the property against which such Debt Assessments are assessed, co-equal with 
the lien of all state, county, district and municipal taxes and assessments, and superior in dignity 
to all other liens, titles and claims, until paid.  

3. Agreements – The (a) Bond Resolution, (b) Bonds, (c) Indenture, and (d) Bond 
Agreements (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery of documents (b) – (d) listed 
herein by any parties thereto other than the District) have been duly and validly authorized, 
executed and delivered by the District, have been duly approved and adopted and/or issued by 
the District, are in full force and effect, constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the 
District, and are enforceable against the District in accordance with their respective terms.  All 
conditions prescribed in the Indenture as precedent to the issuance of the Bonds have been 
fulfilled. 

4. Validation – The Bonds have been validated by a final judgment of the Circuit 
Court in and for Clay County, Florida, of which no timely appeal was filed. 

5. Governmental Approvals –As of the date hereof, all necessary consents, approvals, 
waivers or other actions by or filings with any governmental authority or other entity that are 
required for:  (a) the adoption of the Bond Resolution and the Assessment Resolution; (b) the 
issuance, sale, execution and delivery of the Bonds upon the terms set forth in the BPA, PLOM, 
and LOM; (c) the execution and delivery of the Indenture and Bond Agreements; and (d) the 
performance by the District of the transactions required hereby, have been duly obtained or made 
and are in full force and effect. 

6.  PLOM and LOM – The District has duly authorized the execution, delivery and 
distribution by the Underwriter of the PLOM and LOM. To our knowledge, and based upon our 
review of the PLOM and LOM and without having undertaken to determine independently the 
accuracy, completeness or fairness of the statements contained in the PLOM and LOM, and as of 
the date of their respective issuances, and with respect to the PLOM, the date of the BPA, and 
with respect to the LOM, the date hereof, nothing has come to our attention which would lead us 



Rolling Hills Community Development District  
MBS Capital Markets, LLC 
November __, 2021 
Page 5 of 7 
 
 

D-5 

to believe that the PLOM and LOM contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 
a material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances 
under which they were made, not misleading, provided however that the opinions stated herein 
extend only to the following provisions of the PLOM and LOM: “THE DISTRICT” (excluding the 
sub-caption “District Manager and Other Consultants”), “ENFORCEMENT OF ASSESSMENT 
COLLECTIONS,” “VALIDATION,” “LITIGATION – The District,” “CONTINUING 
DISCLOSURE” (as it relates to the District only) and “AGREEMENT BY THE STATE” and further 
provided however that the opinions stated herein do not extend to any  statements that constitute 
descriptions of the Bonds or the Indenture.  No information or opinion is offered as to any 
remaining provisions of the PLOM or LOM. 

7. Litigation – Based on our serving as the District’s Registered Agent for service of 
process and the fact that we have not been served with notice, there is no litigation pending or, 
to the best of our knowledge, threatened against the District:  (a) seeking to restrain or enjoin the 
issuance or delivery of the Bonds or the application of the proceeds thereof, or the imposition, 
levy or collection of the Debt Assessments or the Pledged Revenues pledged for the payment of 
the debt service on the Bonds; (b) contesting or affecting the authority for the Debt Assessments, 
the authority for the issuance of the Bonds or the validity or enforceability of the Bonds, the 
Indenture, the Bond Agreements or the transactions contemplated thereunder; (c) contesting or 
affecting the establishment or existence of the District or any of its Supervisors, officers or 
employees, its assets, property or condition, financial or otherwise, or contesting or affecting any 
of the powers of the District, including its power to enter into the Indenture or the Bond 
Agreements, or its power to determine, assess, levy, collect and pledge the Debt Assessments for 
the payment of the debt service on the Bonds; or (d) specifically contesting the exclusion from 
federal gross income of interest on the Bonds. 

8. Compliance with Laws – To the best of our knowledge, the District is not, in any 
manner material to the issuance of the Bonds or the Debt Assessments, in breach of or default 
under any applicable provision of the Act or constitutional provision, statute, or administrative 
regulation of the State of Florida, or any applicable judgment or decree, any loan agreement, 
indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreement (including the Bond Agreements and Indenture), or 
any other material instrument to which the District is a party or to which the District or any of its 
property or assets is otherwise subject, and to the best of our knowledge, no event has occurred 
and is continuing which with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute 
a material default or event of default by the District under any such instrument; provided, 
however, that no opinion is expressed as to compliance with any state or federal tax or securities 
laws. 

9. Authority to Undertake the Project - The District has good right and lawful 
authority under the Act to undertake, finance, acquire, construct, own, and operate the Project, 



Rolling Hills Community Development District  
MBS Capital Markets, LLC 
November __, 2021 
Page 6 of 7 
 
 

D-6 

subject to obtaining such licenses, orders or other authorizations as are, at the date of such 
opinion, required to be obtained from any agency or regulatory body. 

D. CERTAIN ASSUMPTIONS  

In rendering the foregoing opinions, we have assumed the following: (1) that all public 
records, certifications, agreements and other documents examined by us that have been executed 
or certified by public officials acting within the scope of their official capacities are authentic, 
truthful and accurate; (2) that copies of such public records, certifications, agreements, and other 
documents furnished to us are authentic and conform to the originals; (3) that all signatures on 
executed public records, certifications, agreements and other documents are genuine; and (4) that 
all public records, certifications, agreements and other documents have been properly authorized 
and are binding on each of the other parties thereto.  Such assumptions do not apply to District 
documents. We have also assumed the legality and validity of the following Executive Orders of 
Governor DeSantis of the State of Florida: 2020-52 issued March 9, 2020 and 2020-69 issued March 
20, 2020, as amended, extended and supplemented, respectively. 
 

E. CERTAIN QUALIFICATIONS 

The foregoing opinions are subject to the following qualifications: 

1. The opinions or statements expressed above are based solely on the laws of Florida 
in effect at the time of issuance of the Bonds.   Accordingly, we express no opinion nor make any 
statement regarding the effect or application of the laws of the federal government (including but 
not limited to the Internal Revenue Code or any proposed changes thereto), or any other state or 
other jurisdiction.   

 

2. Our opinion as to enforceability of any document is subject to limitations imposed 
by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, liquidation, readjustment of debt, or 
similar laws, relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally and general principles of equity 
(regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law), and 
to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases, including the fact that specific 
performance and other equitable remedies are granted only in the discretion of a court.   

 
3. Nothing herein shall be construed as an opinion regarding the possible 

applicability of state securities or “blue sky” laws or federal securities laws, as to which no 
opinion is expressed.   

 
4. We further express no opinion as to the necessity for an interest rate waiver under 

Florida law, or the applicability of any provision or section of the Internal Revenue Code. 



Rolling Hills Community Development District  
MBS Capital Markets, LLC 
November __, 2021 
Page 7 of 7 
 
 

D-7 

 
5. We express no opinion and make no representations with regard to financial, 

project, statistical or other similar information or data. We express no opinion as to compliance 
with any state or federal tax laws.  

 
6. We have not reviewed, and therefore express no opinion, regarding any land use, 

real property or other related items, including but not limited to whether the Developer is able to 
convey good and marketable title to any particular real property or interest therein and related 
to the Project. 

 

7. With respect to any of the opinions set forth in this letter which are based on or 
qualified by the phrase “to our knowledge,” the words “to our knowledge” signify that, in the 
course of our representation of the District, no facts have come to our attention that would give 
us actual knowledge that any such opinions or other matters are not accurate.  Except to the extent 
expressly set forth herein, we have not undertaken any independent investigation to determine 
the existence or absence of any such facts, and no inference as to our knowledge of the existence 
of such facts should be drawn from the fact of our representation of District. 

 
8. The opinions set forth herein are based on factual representations made to us as of 

the date hereof.  We assume no duty to update or supplement our opinions to reflect any facts or 
circumstances that may thereafter come to our attention, or to reflect any changes in law that may 
thereafter occur or become effective.  Moreover, our opinions are not a guarantee of a particular 
result, and are not binding on the courts or any other entity; rather, our opinions represent our 
professional judgment based on our review of existing law, and in reliance on the representations 
and covenants that we deem relevant to such opinions. 

Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
HOPPING GREEN & SAMS, P.A. 

 
 



 

E-1 

EXHIBIT E 
 

CERTIFICATE OF GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, LLC 
 
 

I, ____________________, __________ of Governmental Management Services, LLC, do 
hereby certify to Rolling Hills Community Development District (the “District”) and MBS Capital 
Markets, LLC (the “Underwriter”) in connection with the issuance, sale and delivery by the 
District on this date of its $____________ Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 
and $____________ Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2 
(together, the “Series 2021 Bonds”), as follows (terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall 
have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Limited Offering Memorandum dated _________ 
__, 2021 (the “Limited Offering Memorandum”) of the District relating to the Series 2021 Bonds): 

(i)  Governmental Management Services, LLC, has acted as district manager and 
methodology consultant to the District in connection with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds 
and has been retained by the District to prepare the Final Numbers Supplemental Special 
Assessment Methodology Report for Series 2021 Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding 
Bonds dated _________ __, 2021, comprising a part of the proceedings related to the Series 2021 
Assessments (the “Report”); 

(ii) The Series 2021 Assessments, as initially levied, and as may be reallocated from 
time to time as permitted by resolutions adopted by the District with respect to the Series 2021 
Assessments, are sufficient to enable the District to pay the debt service on the Series 2021 Bonds 
through the final maturity thereof; 

(iii) Governmental Management Services, LLC consents to the use of the Report 
included as Appendix B to the Limited Offering Memorandum;  

(iv) Governmental Management Services, LLC consents to the references to the firm in 
the Limited Offering Memorandum;  

(v) the Report was prepared in accordance with all applicable provisions of Florida 
law; 

(vi) as District Manager, nothing has come to our attention that would lead us to 
believe that the Limited Offering Memoranda, as they relate to the District, the Series 2021 Project, 
or any information provided by us, and the Report, as of their date and as of this date, contained 
or contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted or omits to state a material fact 
necessary to be stated therein in order to make the statements made therein, in light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; 

(vii) the information contained in the Limited Offering Memorandum under the 
heading “ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY,” is true and correct in all material respects, and, such 
information does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any fact 



 

E-2 

necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they 
were made not misleading;  

(viii) except as disclosed in the Limited Offering Memorandum, the firm knows of no 
material change in the matters described in the Report and is of the opinion that the 
considerations and assumptions used in compiling the Report are reasonable;  

(ix) the information contained in the Report did not, and does not, contain any untrue 
statement of a material fact and did not, and does not, omit to state a material fact necessary to 
be stated therein in order to make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances 
under which they were made, not misleading;  

(x) as District Manager, we are not aware of any litigation pending or, to the best of 
our knowledge, threatened against the District restraining or enjoining the issuance, sale, 
execution or delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity 
of the Series 2021 Bonds or any proceedings of the District taken with respect to the issuance or 
sale thereof, or the pledge or application of any moneys or security provided for the payment of 
the Series 2021 Bonds, or the existence or powers of the District;  

(xi) the benefit from the Series 2006 Project and the Series 2021 Project to the lands 
subject to the Series 2021 Assessments equal or exceed the amount of the Series 2021 Assessments 
and the Series 2021 Assessments are fairly and reasonably allocated across all such benefitted 
properties; and 

(xii) Governmental Management Services, LLC does not represent the Rolling Hills 
Community Development District as a Municipal Advisor or Securities Broker nor is 
Governmental Management Services, LLC registered to provide such services as described in 
Section 15B of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Similarly, Governmental 
Management Services, LLC does not provide the Rolling Hills Community Development District 
with financial advisory services or offer investment advice in any form. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has set his hand this ____ day of November, 
2021. 

GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, 
LLC 

By:  
Name:  
Title:  
 



 

F-1 

EXHIBIT F 
 

FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF DEVELOPER 
 
 

The undersigned, a duly authorized representative of Garden Street Communities 
Southeast, LLC (the “Developer”), the owner and developer of the lands comprising Subphases 
3B and 3C (the “Series 2021 Assessment Area”) within the Rolling Hills Community Development 
District (the “District”), does hereby certify to the District and MBS Capital Markets, LLC (the 
“Underwriter”) that: 

1. This certificate is delivered by the Developer pursuant to Section 8(12) of the Bond 
Purchase Agreement, dated _________ __, 2021 between the Underwriter and the District (the 
“Bond Purchase Agreement”) relating to the offering and sale by the District of its $____________ 
Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 and $____________ Capital Improvement 
Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2 (together, the “Series 2021 Bonds”).  Capitalized 
terms that are used in this certificate and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings assigned 
to such terms in the Limited Offering Memorandum, dated _________ __, 2021 (the “Limited 
Offering Memorandum”) and the Bond Purchase Agreement. 

2. The Developer is a Florida limited liability company organized and existing under 
the laws of the State of Florida that was formed for the purpose of developing the Series 2021 
Assessment Area and is the owner of the entitlements granted in the development order 
governing the Series 2021 Assessment Area. 

3. Representatives of the Developer have provided information to the District and 
the Underwriter to be used in connection with the offering by the District of its Series 2021 Bonds 
pursuant to the Limited Offering Memorandum. 

4. As of the date hereof, there has been no material adverse change in the business, 
properties, assets or financial condition of the Developer which has not been disclosed in the 
Limited Offering Memorandum and/or in all other information provided by the Developer to the 
Underwriter or the District. 

5. The Developer hereby acknowledges the levy of the Series 2021 Assessments on 
the lands in the Series 2021 Assessment Area owned by it. The levy of the Series 2021 Assessments 
on the lands in the Series 2021 Assessment Area will not conflict with or constitute a breach of or 
default under any agreement, mortgage, lien or other instrument to which the Developer is a 
party or to which its property or assets are subject. 

6. The Developer has not made an assignment for the benefit of creditors, filed a 
petition in bankruptcy, petitioned or applied to any tribunal for the appointment of a custodian, 
receiver or any trustee or commenced any proceeding under any bankruptcy, reorganization, 
arrangement, readjustment of debt, dissolution or liquidation law or statute of any jurisdiction. 
The Developer has not indicated its consent to, or approval of, or failed to object timely to, any 



 

F-2 

petition in bankruptcy, application or proceeding or order for relief or the appointment of a 
custodian, receiver or any trustee. 

7. The Developer acknowledges that the Series 2021 Bonds have the debt service 
requirements set forth in the Limited Offering Memorandum and that the Series 2021 
Assessments will be levied by the District at times, and in amounts, sufficient to enable the 
District to pay debt service on the Series 2021 Bonds when due. 

8. The information contained in the Limited Offering Memorandum under the 
headings “THE DEVELOPER” and, as it pertains to the Developer and its interests in the Series 
2021 Assessment Area, under the headings “INTRODUCTION,” “THE PHASE 3B/C PROJECT 
AND SERIES 2021 PROJECT,” “THE DEVELOPMENT” and “LITIGATION – The Developer,” 
contains no untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact required to be 
stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading as of the date of the Limited Offering 
Memorandum and as of the date hereof. 

9. There has been no action taken by or omitted by the Developer that impairs the 
contemplated transactions by the District with respect to the Series 2021 Bonds, including:  (a) the 
issuance and sale of the Series 2021 Bonds upon the terms set forth in the Bond Purchase 
Agreement; (b) the approval of the Limited Offering Memorandum and the signing of the Limited 
Offering Memorandum by a duly authorized officer of the District; (c) the acquisition and 
construction of the Phase 3B/C Project (as described in the Limited Offering Memorandum); and 
(d) the execution, delivery and receipt of the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Series 2021 Bonds, 
the Financing Documents, and any and all such other agreements or documents as may be 
required to be executed, delivered and received by the District in order to carry out, give effect 
to, and consummate the transactions contemplated by the Limited Offering Memorandum and 
the Indenture.  The Developer acknowledges and consents to those provisions of the Bond 
Purchase Agreement which reference it.   

10. The consummation of the transactions described in the Limited Offering 
Memorandum does not on the date hereof and will not at the time of such consummation, conflict 
with or constitute on the part of the Developer a breach or violation of the terms and provisions 
of, or constitute a default under any existing agreement or indenture, mortgage, lease, deed of 
trust, note or other instrument, to which the Developer is subject or by which it or its properties 
are or may be bound.  The consummation of the transactions described in the Limited Offering 
Memorandum does not, on the date hereof, and will not at the time of such consummation, to the 
best of the Developer’s knowledge, conflict with or constitute on the part of the Developer a 
breach or violation of the terms and provisions of, or constitute a default under any existing 
constitution, laws, court or administrative rule or regulations, to which it is subject, or any decree, 
order or judgment to which it is a party or by which it is bound in force and effect on the date 
hereof, which would have a material adverse effect on the Series 2021 Bonds or the Series 2021 
Assessment Area. 



 

F-3 

11. The Developer is not in default under any resolution, agreement or indenture, 
mortgage, lease, deed of trust, note or other instrument to which the Developer is subject, or by 
which it or its properties are or may be bound, which would have a material adverse effect on the 
Series 2021 Bonds or the Series 2021 Assessment Area. 

12. There is no action, suit or proceeding at law or in equity by or before any court or 
public board or body pending or, to the best of the Developer’s knowledge, threatened, against 
the Developer: (a) seeking to restrain or enjoin the issuance or delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds 
or the application of the proceeds thereof, or the levy or collection of the Series 2021 Assessments, 
(b) contesting or affecting the authority for the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds or the validity 
or enforceability of the Series 2021 Bonds, the Indenture, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the 
Financing Documents, or the transactions contemplated thereunder, (c) contesting or affecting 
the establishment or existence, of the Developer or any of its officers or employees, its assets, 
property or conditions, financial or otherwise, or contesting or affecting any of the powers of the 
Developer, including its power to develop the Series 2021 Assessment Area. 

13. The Developer is complying in all material respects with all provisions of 
applicable law in all material matters relating to the Development and the District and its 
undertaking as described in the Limited Offering Memorandum and the Indenture including 
applying for all necessary permits.  The Developer hereby certifies that:  (a) it has the appropriate 
land use and zoning approvals under the Comprehensive Plan for Clay County and the Land 
Development Code approved by Clay County to permit the development of the Series 2021 
Assessment Area and the construction of the improvements as described in the Limited Offering 
Memorandum under the heading of “THE DEVELOPMENT,” (b) the Developer is not in default 
of any zoning condition, permit or development agreement which would adversely affect the 
District’s ability to complete development of the Phase 3B/C Project (as described in the Limited 
Offering Memorandum) or the Developer’s ability to complete the Phase 3B/C Project as 
described in the Limited Offering Memorandum and all appendices thereto, and (c) assuming 
compliance by the Developer with the material conditions of the Comprehensive Plan for Clay 
County, the Clay County Land Development Code and zoning requirements, all of which 
conditions are within the control of the Developer (subject to applicable future permitting 
requirements and certain right of way acquisitions as identified in the Limited Offering 
Memorandum) and upon issuance of applicable future permits, the Series 2021 Assessment Area 
will be able to be developed as described in the Limited Offering Memorandum. 

14. That portion of the District property securing Series 2021 Assessments for the 
Series 2021 Bonds is free and clear of any commercial mortgage encumbrance (i.e., non single-
family home mortgages obtained by homeowners) other than those set forth in the Limited 
Offering Memorandum. 

15. The Developer acknowledges that it will have no rights under Chapter 170, Florida 
Statutes, as amended, to prepay, without interest, the Series 2021 Assessments imposed on lands 
in the District owned by it within thirty (30) days following completion of the Phase 3B/C Project 
and acceptance thereof by the District. 



 

F-4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereunto set our hands for and on behalf 
of the Developer as of this ____ day of November, 2021. 

GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES 
SOUTHEAST, LLC, a Florida limited liability 
company 
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  



 

G-1 

EXHIBIT G 
 

FORM OF OPINION OF COUNSEL TO DEVELOPER 
 

 
November __, 2021 

 
 
Rolling Hills Community Development District 
Clay County, Florida 
 
MBS Capital Markets, LLC  
Winter Park, Florida 
 
Re: Rolling Hills Community Development District  
 $____________ Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 (the “Series 

2021A-1 Bonds”) 
 $____________ Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-

2 (the “Series 2021A-2 Bonds” and together with the Series 2021A-1 Bond, the “2021 
Bonds”)    

 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 

We have acted as counsel to Garden Street Communities Southeast, LLC, a Florida limited 
liability company (the “Developer”), in connection with its development of the property located 
within  Subphase 3B and Subphase 3C  (collectively, the “Property”) within the Rolling Hills 
Community Development District (the “District”)  located in Clay County, Florida described in 
the Limited Offering Memorandum, dated _________ __, 2021, relating to the 2021 Bonds issued 
by the District (the “Limited Offering Memorandum”).  The transaction associated with the 
issuance of the 2021 Bonds as described in the Limited Offering Memorandum is hereinafter 
referred to as the “Transaction.”  As of the date of this opinion, the Developer is the owner of the 
Property, as described in the Title Report (defined below).  Unless otherwise defined herein, 
capitalized terms used herein have the respective meanings assigned to such terms in the Bond 
Purchase Agreement, dated _________ __, 2021, between the District and MBS Capital Markets, 
LLC, or in the Master Trust Indenture, dated as of November 1, 2006, as amended and 
supplemented by a Sixth Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of November 1, 2021, each by 
and between the District and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. 

This opinion letter has been prepared and is to be construed in accordance with the 
“Report on Third-Party Legal Opinion Customary Practice in Florida, dated December 3, 2011” 
(the “Report”).  The Report is incorporated by reference into this opinion letter. 

In our capacity as counsel to the Developer, we have examined and are familiar with the 
following documents, all dated as of the date of this opinion unless stated otherwise: 



 

G-2 

(i) Agreement By and Between the District and the Developer Regarding the True-
Up and Payment of Series 2021 Assessments; 

(ii) Declaration of Consent to Jurisdiction of District and to Imposition of Special 
Assessments (Series 2021); 

(iii) Continuing Disclosure Agreement; 

(iv) Acquisition Agreement; 

(v) Collateral Assignment and Assumption of Development Rights; and 

(vi) Agreement Between the District and the Developer Regarding the Completion of 
Certain Improvements. 

The documents listed in items (i) through (vi) above are hereinafter collectively referred to as the 
“Developer Agreements.”   

Also, we have examined the following organizational documents (collectively, the 
“Developer Organizational Documents”): 

(a) Articles of Organization of the Developer, filed with the Florida Secretary of State 
on ____________ __, 20__; 

(b) On-line confirmation through the Florida Department of State Division of 
Corporations of the active status of Developer in the State of Florida; and 

(c) [Certified copy of Action by Written Consent of the Board of Directors of the 
Developer dated ____________ __, 2021.] 

We have made such examination of laws as we have deemed necessary or appropriate in 
rendering the opinions set forth below.  We have further relied upon certificates and 
representations made by the Developer, the Developer’s representatives and the parties to the 
Transaction. 

In rendering the opinions set forth herein, we have relied, without investigation, on each 
of the following assumptions: (a) the legal capacity of each natural person to take all actions 
required of each such natural person in connection with the Transaction; (b) with the exception 
of the Developer, the legal existence of each party to the Transaction; (c) the power of each party 
to the Transaction other than the Developer to execute, deliver and perform all Developer 
Agreements executed and delivered by such party and to do each other act done or to be done by 
such party; (d) the authorization, execution and delivery by each party other than the Developer 
of each of the Developer Agreements executed and delivered or to be executed and delivered by 
such party; (e) the validity, binding effect and enforceability as to each party other than the 
Developer of each of the Developer Agreements executed and delivered by such party or to be 
executed and delivered and of each other act done or to be done by such party; (f) there have been 



 

G-3 

no undisclosed modifications of any provision of any document reviewed by us in connection 
with the rendering of this opinion letter and no undisclosed prior waiver of any right or remedy 
contained in any of the Developer Agreements; (g) the genuineness of each signature, the 
completeness of each document submitted to us, the authenticity of each document reviewed by 
us as an original, the conformity to the original of each document reviewed by us as a copy and 
the authenticity of the original of each document reviewed by us as a copy; (h) the truthfulness 
of each statement as to all factual matters otherwise not known to us to be untruthful or unreliable 
contained in any document encompassed within the diligence review undertaken by us; (i) each 
certificate or other document issued by a public authority is accurate, complete and authentic as 
of the date of the opinion letter, and all official public records (including their proper indexing 
and filing) are accurate and complete; (j) each recipient of the opinion letter has acted in good 
faith, without notice of any defense against enforcement of rights created by, or adverse claim to 
any property or security interest transferred or created as part of, the Transaction, and has 
complied with all laws applicable to it that affect the Transaction; (k) the Transaction and the 
conduct of the parties to the Transaction comply with any requirement of good faith, fair dealing 
and conscionability; (l) agreements (other than the Developer Agreements as to which opinions 
are being rendered) and judgments, decrees and orders reviewed in connection with rendering 
the opinions will be enforced as written; (m) there are no agreements or understandings among 
the parties, written or oral, and there is no usage of trade or course of prior dealing among the 
parties that would, in either case, define, supplement, modify or qualify the terms of the 
Developer Agreements or the rights of the parties thereunder; (n) the payment of all required 
documentary stamp taxes, intangible taxes and other taxes and fees imposed upon the execution, 
filing or recording of documents, except to the extent expressly set forth in this opinion letter; and 
(o) with respect to the Transaction and the Developer Agreements, including the inducement of 
the parties to enter into and perform their respective obligations thereunder, there has been no 
mutual mistake of fact or undue influence and there exists no fraud or duress. 

When used in this opinion letter, the phrases “to our knowledge,” “known to us” or the 
like means the conscious awareness of the lawyers in the “primary lawyer group” (as defined 
below) of factual matters such lawyers recognize as being relevant to the opinion or confirmation 
so qualified.  Such phrases do not imply that we have undertaken any independent investigation 
within our firm, with the Developer or with any third party to determine the existence or absence 
of any facts or circumstances, and no inference should be drawn merely from our past or current 
representation of the Developer.  Where any opinion or confirmation is qualified by the phrase 
“to our knowledge,” “known to us” or the like, it means that the lawyers in the “primary lawyer 
group” are without any actual knowledge or conscious awareness that the opinion or 
confirmation is untrue in any respect material to the opinion or confirmation.  For purposes of 
this opinion letter, “primary lawyer group” means (i) the lawyer who signs his name or the name 
of the firm to this opinion letter, (ii) the lawyers currently in the firm who are actively involved 
in preparing or negotiating this opinion letter, specifically _____________, and (iii) the lawyers in 
the firm who are actively involved in negotiating or documenting the Transaction or the 
Developer Agreements on behalf of the Developer. 

Based upon the foregoing, and subject to the qualifications set forth herein, we are of the 
opinion that: 



 

G-4 

1. The Developer is a limited liability company, duly organized and validly existing 
under the laws of the State of Florida.   

2. The Developer has the power and authority to conduct its business and undertake 
the Phase 3B/C Project as described in the Limited Offering Memorandum. 

3. The execution, delivery and performance by the Developer of the Developer 
Agreements are within the powers of the Developer and have been duly authorized by all 
required corporate action.  The Developer Agreements are the legal, valid and binding obligations 
of the Developer, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms and do not violate the 
Developer’s Organizational Documents.  To the best of our knowledge, the Developer 
Agreements are in full force and effect as of the date hereof, and we are not aware of any event 
occurring which, with the passage of time or giving of notice or both, would constitute an event 
of default by the Developer thereunder.    

4. Based on a review of that certain Owner’s Policy of Title Insurance (Policy Number 
______________) issued by [____________] and having an Effective Date of ____________ __, 2021 
(collectively, the “Title Report”), and without independent inquiry, fee simple title to the 
Property is held by the Developer and is subject only to the liens, encumbrances, easements and 
agreements set forth in the Title Report. The opinion in this paragraph is given as of the date of 
the Title Report, and we disclaim any obligation to advise you of any change which thereafter 
may have been brought to our attention.  We offer no opinion as to the correctness of the Title 
Report, and have not undertaken any independent verification as to the title of the Property; 
however, nothing has come to our attention that would lead us to believe that the Title Report is 
incorrect. 

5. To our knowledge, the levy of the Series 2021 Assessments on the Property will 
not conflict with or constitute a breach of or default under any agreement, indenture or other 
instrument to which the Developer is a party or to which its property or assets is subject. 

6. There is no litigation pending or, to our knowledge, threatened against the 
Developer or the Property which would prevent or prohibit the development of the Phase 3B/C 
Project in accordance with the description thereof in the Limited Offering Memorandum relating 
to the 2021 Bonds. 

7. The Developer has not made an assignment for the benefit of creditors, filed a 
petition in bankruptcy, petitioned or applied to any tribunal for the appointment of a custodian, 
receiver or any trustee or commenced any proceeding under any bankruptcy, reorganization, 
arrangement, readjustment of debt, dissolution or liquidation law or statute in the State of Florida.  
To our knowledge, based on representations made to us by the Developer, the Developer has not 
indicated its consent to, or approval of, or failed to object timely to, any petition in bankruptcy, 
application or proceeding or order for relief or the appointment of a custodian, receiver or any 
trustee. 



 

G-5 

8. Based upon a certificate of the Developer as to agreements to which the Developer 
is a party, the Developer is not in default under any mortgage, trust indenture, lease or other 
instrument to which it or any of its assets is subject, which default would have a material adverse 
effect on the 2021 Bonds or the Phase 3B/C Project.   

9. Nothing has come to our attention that would lead us to believe that the 
information contained under the captions "THE PHASE 3B/C PROJECT AND SERIES 2021 
PROJECT," “THE DEVELOPER,” “THE DEVELOPMENT,” and “LITIGATION – The Developer” 
in the Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum, dated __________ __, 2021 (the “Preliminary 
Offering Memorandum” and together with the Limited Offering Memorandum, the “Limited 
Offering Memoranda”), and the Limited Offering Memorandum is not true and correct in any 
material respect, or contains any untrue statement of a material fact, or omits to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, 
not misleading, as of the respective dates of the Limited Offering Memoranda and as of the date 
hereof. 

10. Based upon our review of the published Clay County, Florida tax records, all 
[2021] and prior years taxes relating to the Property have been paid and there are no real estate 
taxes currently due which are unpaid. 

11. Based on our review of the development approvals, we are of the opinion that the 
Property is zoned and properly designated in the Clay County Comprehensive Plan to permit the 
development of the Property as described in the Limited Offering Memorandum.  Except as 
disclosed in the Limited Offering Memorandum, to our actual knowledge, there is no default by 
the Developer of any zoning condition, permit or development agreement which would 
adversely affect the Developer's ability to complete development of the Property as described in 
the Limited Offering Memorandum.   

The foregoing opinions are subject to the following exceptions, qualifications and limitations: 

1. We express no opinion as to any consent, approval, authorization or other action 
or filing necessary for the ongoing operation of the Developer’s business. 

2. The opinions regarding enforceability of the Developer Agreements contained in 
this opinion letter are limited by: (i) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, 
fraudulent conveyance and transfer, and similar law affecting the rights and remedies of creditors 
generally; and (ii) general principles of equity, regardless of whether such enforceability is 
considered in a proceeding at law or in equity.   

3. When used in this opinion letter, the term "Applicable Laws" means the Florida 
laws, rules and regulations that a Florida counsel exercising customary professional diligence 
would reasonably be expected to recognize as being applicable to the Developer, the Developer 
Agreements or the Transaction, but excluding the laws, rules and regulations set forth below: 

All federal laws, rules and regulations and the following Florida laws, rules and 
regulations are expressly excluded from the scope of this opinion letter: (a) securities laws, 



 

G-6 

rules and regulations; (b) laws, rules and regulations regulating banks and other financial 
institutions, insurance companies and investment companies; (c) pension and employee 
benefit laws, rules and regulations; (d) labor laws, rules and regulations, including laws 
on occupational safety and health; (e) antitrust and unfair competition laws, rules and 
regulations; (f) laws, rules and regulations concerning compliance with fiduciary 
requirements; (g) laws, rules and regulations concerning the creation, attachment, 
perfection or priority of any lien or security interest; (h) laws, rules and regulations 
relating to taxation; (i) bankruptcy, fraudulent conveyance, fraudulent transfer and other 
insolvency laws; (j) environmental laws, rules and regulations; (k) laws, rules and 
regulations relating to patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and other intellectual 
property; (l) criminal and state forfeiture laws and any racketeering laws, rules or 
regulations; (m) other statutes of general application to the extent that they provide for 
criminal prosecution; (n) laws relating to terrorism or money laundering; (o) laws, 
regulations and policies concerning national and local emergency and possible judicial 
deference to acts of sovereign states; (p) filing or consent requirements under any of the 
foregoing excluded laws; and (q) judicial and administrative decisions to the extent they 
deal with any of the foregoing excluded laws. 

4. No opinion is expressed herein with respect to any provision of the Developer 
Agreements that: (a) purports to excuse a party from liability for the party’s own acts; (b) purports 
to make void any act done in contravention thereof; (c) purports to authorize a party to act in the 
party’s sole discretion or purports to provide that determination by a party is conclusive; (d) 
requires waivers or amendments to be made only in writing; (e) purports to effect waivers of: (i) 
constitutional, statutory or equitable rights, (ii) the effect of Applicable Laws, (iii) any statute of 
limitations, (iv) broadly or vaguely stated rights, (v) unknown future defenses, or (vi) rights to 
damages; (f) purports to limit or alter laws requiring mitigation of damages; (g) concerns choice 
of forum, consent or submission to the personal or subject matter jurisdiction of courts, venue of 
actions, means of service of process, waivers of rights to jury trials, and agreements regarding 
arbitration; (h) purports to require a party thereto pay or reimburse attorneys’ fees; (i) enumerates 
that remedies are not exclusive or that a party has the right to pursue multiple remedies without 
regard to other remedies elected or that all remedies are cumulative; (j) constitutes severability 
provisions; (k) permits the exercise, under certain conditions, of rights without notice or without 
providing opportunity to cure failures to perform; or (l) purports to entitle any party to specific 
performance of any provisions thereof. 

5. We do not express any opinion as to the laws of any jurisdiction other than the 
State of Florida. 

6. This opinion letter is furnished to you solely for your benefit in connection with 
the Transaction and may not be relied upon by any other party without our prior written consent 
in each instance.   

7. This opinion letter speaks only as of the date hereof.  We assume no obligation to 
update or supplement this opinion letter if any Applicable Laws change after the date of this 
opinion letter or if we become aware after the date of this opinion letter of any facts or other 



 

G-7 

developments, whether existing before or first arising after the date hereof, that might change the 
opinions expressed above. 

8. This opinion letter is provided as a legal opinion only and not as a guaranty or 
warranty of the matters discussed herein or in documents referred to herein.  No opinion may be 
inferred or implied beyond the matters expressly stated herein.   

Very truly yours, 
 



 

H-1 

EXHIBIT H 
 

CERTIFICATE OF ENGINEER 
 
 

November __, 2021 

Board of Supervisors 
Rolling Hills Community Development District 
Clay County, Florida 
 

 

MBS Capital Markets, LLC 
Winter Park, Florida  
 

 

Re: Rolling Hills Community Development District Capital 
Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 and Capital 
Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2 
(together, the “Series 2021 Bonds”) 

 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 

The undersigned serves as the Consulting Engineer to the Rolling Hills Community 
Development District (the “District”).  This Certificate is furnished pursuant to Section 8 of the 
Bond Purchase Agreement dated _________ __, 2021 between the District and MBS Capital 
Markets, LLC (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”) relating to the sale of the Series 2021 Bonds.  
Terms used herein in capitalized form and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning 
ascribed thereto in said Bond Purchase Agreement or in the Limited Offering Memorandum 
dated _________ __, 2021 relating to the Series 2021 Bonds (the “Limited Offering 
Memorandum”). 

 
1. Alliant Engineering, Inc. (the “Firm”) has been retained by the District to 

serve as the Consulting Engineer and to prepare the Fourth Supplemental Engineer’s 
Report (the “Report”) included as an appendix to the Limited Offering Memorandum.  
Consent is hereby given to the references to the Firm and the Report in the Limited 
Offering Memorandum and to the inclusion of the Report as an appendix to the Limited 
Offering Memorandum. 
 

2. The Report was prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
engineering practices. 
 

3. In connection with the preparation of the Report personnel of the Firm 
participated in meetings with representatives of the District and its counsel, Bond 
Counsel, the Underwriter and its counsel and others in regard to the Series 2021 Project.  
The Series 2021 Project consists solely of infrastructure and other improvements set forth 



 

H-2 

in the Act.  Nothing has come to the attention of the Firm in relation to our engagement 
as described in this paragraph which would cause us to believe that the Report was, as of 
its date, or is as of the date hereof, or any of the statements in the Limited Offering 
Memorandum specifically attributed to the Firm were, as of the date of the Limited 
Offering Memorandum, or are as of the date hereof, inaccurate in any material respect. 
 

4. The information contained in the Limited Offering Memorandum under 
the heading “THE PHASE 3B/C PROJECT AND SERIES 2021 PROJECT,” “THE 
DEVELOPMENT – Permitting,” and in Appendix ”A” to the Limited Offering 
Memorandum are accurate statements and fairly present the information purported to be 
shown, and nothing has come to the attention of the Firm that would lead it to believe that 
such section and appendix contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 
a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make such statements, in light 
of the circumstances in which they were made, not misleading. 
 

5. Except as described in the Report, all permits, consents or licenses, and all 
notices to or filings with governmental agencies necessary for the construction and 
acquisition of the Series 2021 Project as described in the Limited Offering Memorandum 
required to be obtained or made have been obtained or it is reasonable to believe that they 
will be obtained or made when required.  There is no reason to believe that any permits, 
consents, licenses or governmental approvals required to complete any portion of the 
Series 2021 Project as described in the Limited Offering Memorandum will not be 
obtained as required.  There is no reason to believe that the necessary water and sewer 
capacity will not be available when needed to permit the development of the 
Development as described in the Limited Offering Memorandum.  
 
 

ALLIANT ENGINEERING, INC. 

By:  
Name:  
Title:  



 

I-1 

EXHIBIT I 
 

$___________ 
ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

(Clay County, Florida)  
Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 and  

Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2 
 

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 
 

The undersigned, on behalf of MBS CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC (“MBS”), hereby certifies 
as set forth below with respect to the sale and issuance of the above-captioned obligations (the 
“Bonds”).  Capitalized terms shall have the meaning ascribed in Section 3 hereof. 

The Underwriter and the District entered into a Bond Purchase Agreement on the Sale 
Date in connection with the sale of the Bonds (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”).  Pursuant to the 
terms of the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Underwriter made a bona fide limited offering of all 
of the Bonds to a portion of the Public representing accredited investors as required by Florida 
law at the prices or yields for each such maturity as shown on the cover page of the Limited 
Offering Memorandum, dated _________ __, 2021, relating to the Bonds. 

1. Sale of the General Rule Maturities.  As of the date of this certificate, for each 
Maturity of the General Rule Maturities, if any, the first price at which at least 10% of such 
Maturity was sold to the Public is the respective price listed in Schedule A-1. 

2. Initial Offering Price of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.  (a) The 
Underwriter offered the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities, if any, to the Public for purchase at 
the respective initial offering prices listed in Schedule A-2 (the “Initial Offering Prices”) on or 
before the Sale Date.  A copy of the pricing wire or equivalent communication for the Bonds is 
attached to this certificate as Schedule B. 

(b) As set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Underwriter has agreed in 
writing that, for each Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities, it would neither offer 
nor sell any of the Bonds of such Maturity to any person at a price that is higher than the Initial 
Offering Price for such Maturity during the Holding Period for such Maturity (the “hold-the-
offering-price rule”).  Pursuant to such agreement, the Underwriter has not offered or sold any 
Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities at a price that is higher than the respective 
Initial Offering Price for that Maturity of the Bonds during the Holding Period. 

(c) The Maturities set forth on Schedules A-1 and A-2 are all of the Maturities of the 
Bonds. 

3. Defined Terms.  (a) General Rule Maturities means those Maturities, if any, of the 
Bonds listed in Schedule A-1 hereto as the “General Rule Maturities.” 



 

I-2 

(b) Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities means those Maturities, if any, of the Bonds 
listed in Schedule A-2 hereto as the “Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.” 

(c) Holding Period means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity, the 
period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the close of the fifth business day 
after the Sale Date (_________ __, 2021), or (ii) the date on which the Underwriter has sold at least 
10% of such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity to the Public at prices that are no higher than the 
Initial Offering Price for such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity. 

(d) District means Rolling Hills Community Development District. 

(e) Maturity means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms.  Bonds with 
different maturity dates, or Bonds with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates, 
are treated as separate maturities. 

(f) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, 
association, company, or corporation) other than a Statutory Underwriter or a related party to a 
Statutory Underwriter.  The term “related party” for purposes of this certificate generally means 
any two or more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or 
indirectly. 

(g) Sale Date means the first day on which there is a binding contract in writing for the 
sale of a Maturity of the Bonds.  The Sale Date of the Bonds is _________ __, 2021. 

(h) Statutory Underwriter means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written 
contract with the District  to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (ii) any 
person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in 
clause (i) of this paragraph to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a 
member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial 
sale of the Bonds to the Public). 

4. Reserve Accounts. The Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account and the Series 2021A-2 
Reserve Account in amounts equal to the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account Requirement and Series 
2021A-2 Reserve Account Requirement, respectively, was necessary in order to market and sell 
the Bonds given the nature of the Bonds which are secured by special assessments and the 
delinquent assessment collection procedures related thereto. 

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only.  Nothing 
in this certificate represents the Underwriter’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically 
Sections 103 and 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury 
Regulations thereunder.  The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be 
relied upon by the District with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax 
Certificate executed by the District in connection with the issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds 
and with respect to compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by 
Bond Counsel in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Bonds is excluded 



 

I-3 

from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal Revenue 
Service Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the District from 
time to time relating to the Bonds. 

MBS CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC 

By:  
Brett Sealy, Managing Partner 

 
Dated:  November __, 2021 
 



 

Schedule A-1 

SCHEDULE A-1 

SALE PRICES OF THE GENERAL RULE MATURITIES 

 
 



 

Schedule A-2 

SCHEDULE A-2 

INITIAL OFFERING PRICES OF THE HOLD-THE-OFFERING-PRICE MATURITIES 

 

[None] 



 

Schedule B 

SCHEDULE B 

PRICING WIRE OR EQUIVALENT COMMUNICATION 

 



 

Schedule B 

FORM 8038G STATISTICS 

(Attached) 



 

____________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________ 

 

SIXTH SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE 

 

 

ROLLING HILLS 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 

TO 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,  

AS TRUSTEE 

 

 

Dated as of November 1, 2021 

 

____________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________ 



 

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

This Table of Contents is incorporated herein for ease of reference only and 
shall not be deemed a part of this Sixth Supplemental Trust Indenture. 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

Section 101. Definitions ............................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE II 
AUTHORIZATION, ISSUANCE AND PROVISIONS OF SERIES 2021 BONDS 

Section 201. Authorization of Series 2021 Bonds; Separate Series Designations 
for Certain Limited Purposes; Book-Entry Only Form ..................... 10 

Section 202. Terms ..................................................................................................... 12 
Section 203. Dating; Interest Accrual ....................................................................... 12 
Section 204. Denominations ...................................................................................... 13 
Section 205. Paying Agent ......................................................................................... 13 
Section 206. Bond Registrar ...................................................................................... 13 
Section 207. Conditions Precedent to Issuance of Series 2021 Bonds .................... 13 

ARTICLE III 
REDEMPTION OF SERIES 2021 BONDS 

Section 301. Bonds Subject to Redemption .............................................................. 14 
Section 302. Conditional Notice ................................................................................ 14 

ARTICLE IV 
DEPOSIT OF SERIES 2021 BOND PROCEEDS AND APPLICATION 
THEREOF; ESTABLISHMENT OF ACCOUNTS AND OPERATION 

THEREOF 

Section 401. Establishment of Accounts ................................................................... 14 
Section 402. Use of Series 2021 Bond Proceeds ....................................................... 15 
Section 403. Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account; Series 2021 

Costs of Issuance Account .................................................................. 16 
Section 404. Series 2021A-1 Capitalized Interest Account; Series 2021A-2 

Capitalized Interest Account .............................................................. 17 
Section 405. Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account; Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account .. 17 
Section 406. Amortization Installments; Selection of Bonds for Redemption ........ 19 
Section 407. Tax Covenants ...................................................................................... 19 
Section 408. Series 2021 Revenue Account; Application of Revenues and 

Investment Earnings .......................................................................... 19 

 
 
 



 

ii 

ARTICLE V 
CONCERNING THE TRUSTEE 

Section 501. Acceptance by Trustee .......................................................................... 24 
Section 502. Limitation of Trustee's Responsibility ................................................ 24 
Section 503. Trustee's Duties .................................................................................... 24 

ARTICLE VI 
ADDITIONAL BONDS 

Section 601. No Parity Bonds; Limitation on Parity Assessments ......................... 24 

ARTICLE VII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 701. Confirmation of Master Indenture ...................................................... 24 
Section 702. Continuing Disclosure Agreement ....................................................... 25 
Section 703. Additional Covenant Regarding Assessments .................................... 25 
Section 704. Collection of Assessments .................................................................... 25 
Section 705. Foreclosure of Assessment Lien ........................................................... 25 
Section 706. Owner Direction and Consent with Respect to Series 2021 

Acquisition and Construction Account Upon Occurrence of Event 
of Default ............................................................................................. 26 

Section 707. Assignment of District's Rights Under Collateral Assignment ......... 27 
Section 708. Enforcement of True-Up Agreement and Completion Agreement ..... 27 
Section 709. Payment of Rebate Amount ................................................................. 27 
Section 710. Provisions Relating to Bankruptcy or Insolvency of Landowner ....... 27 
Section 711. Additional Events of Default ................................................................ 29 
Section 712. Enforcement of Remedies ..................................................................... 30 
Section 713. Requisite Owners for Direction or Consent ........................................ 30 
Section 714. No Duty to File Annual Report ............................................................ 31 
Section 715. Brokerage Statements .......................................................................... 31 
Section 716. Patriot Act Requirements of the Trustee ............................................ 31 

 
 
Exhibit A – Description of Series 2021 Project  
Exhibit B – Forms of Series 2021 Bonds 
Exhibit C – Form of Requisition for Series 2021 Project 
 



 

SIXTH SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE 

THIS SIXTH SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE (this "Sixth 
Supplemental Indenture") is dated as of November 1, 2021, from ROLLING HILLS 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT (the "District") to U.S. BANK 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as trustee (the "Trustee"), a national banking 
association, authorized to accept and execute trusts of the character herein set forth, 
with its designated corporate trust office located at 225 East Robinson Street, Suite 
250, Orlando, Florida 32801, Attention: Corporate Trust Department. 

WHEREAS, the District entered into a Master Trust Indenture, dated as of 
November 1, 2006 (the "Master Indenture" and together with this Sixth 
Supplemental Indenture, the "Indenture") with the Trustee to secure the issuance of 
its Rolling Hills Community Development District Capital Improvement Revenue 
Bonds (the "Bonds"), issuable in one or more Series from time to time; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 2006-14, adopted by the Governing 
Body of the District on June 1, 2006, the District authorized the issuance, sale and 
delivery of not to exceed $42,000,000 of Bonds, to be issued in one or more Series of 
Bonds as authorized under the Master Indenture, which Bonds were validated by 
final judgment of the Fourth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Clay County on 
September 11, 2006, the appeal period for which expired with no appeal having been 
taken; and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body of the District duly adopted Resolution No. 
2015-08, on September 17, 2015, providing for the acquisition, construction and 
installation of assessable capital improvements (the "Capital Improvement 
Program"), providing estimated Costs of the Capital Improvement Program, defining 
assessable property to be benefited by the Capital Improvement Program, defining 
the portion of the Costs of the Capital Improvement Program with respect to which 
Assessments will be imposed and the manner in which such Assessments shall be 
levied against such benefited property within the District, directing the preparation 
of an assessment roll, and stating the intent of the District to issue Bonds of the 
District secured by such Assessments to finance the Costs of the acquisition, 
construction and installation of the Capital Improvement Program and the Governing 
Body of the District duly adopted Resolution No. 2016-02, on December 9, 2015, 
following a public hearing conducted in accordance with the Act, to fix and establish 
the Assessments and the benefited property; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 2016-01, adopted by the Governing 
Body of the District on December 9, 2015, the District authorized, issued and sold, 
among other things, its $3,850,000 Rolling Hills Community Development District 
Capital Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A-3 (the "Series 2015A-
3 Bonds"), as an issue of Bonds under the Master Indenture, and ratified and 
confirmed the Master Indenture and authorized the execution and delivery of a 



 

2 

Fourth Supplemental Trust Indenture, dated as of November 1, 2015  (the "Fourth 
Supplemental Indenture"), from the District to the Trustee to secure the issuance of 
the Series 2015A-3 Bonds and to set forth the terms of the Series 2015A-3 Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the Series 2015A-3 Bonds are currently Outstanding in the 
aggregate principal amount of $2,295,000; and 

WHEREAS, the Series 2015A-3 Bonds were issued in exchange for and to 
restructure a portion of the District's Outstanding Capital Improvement Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2006A and Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2006B, which 
were issued to finance a portion of the Costs of the acquisition, construction and 
equipping of certain assessable improvements (the "Series 2006 Project"); and 

WHEREAS, the Series 2015A-3 Bonds are payable from and secured in part 
by revenues derived from Assessments imposed, levied and collected by the District 
with respect to property specially benefited by the Series 2006 Project (the "Series 
2015A-3 Assessments"), which, together with the Series 2015A-3 Pledged Funds and 
Accounts (as defined in the Fourth Supplemental Indenture) comprise the Series 
2015A-3 Trust Estate (as defined in the Fourth Supplemental Indenture); and 

WHEREAS, the District has determined that under existing market 
conditions, it would be in the best financial interest of the District to currently refund 
and redeem a portion of the Series 2015A-3 Bonds (such portion hereinafter referred 
to as the "Refunded Bonds") and to finance a portion of the Cost of the Series 2021 
Project (as defined herein); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 2022-[__], adopted by the Governing 
Body of the District on October 12, 2021, the District has authorized the issuance, 
sale and delivery of, among other things, its $[Bond Amount] Rolling Hills 
Community Development District Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2021 (the "Series 2021 Bonds"), further designated as Rolling Hills 
Community Development District Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 
2021A-1, in the aggregate principal amount of $[A-1 Amount] (the "Series 2021A-1 
Bonds") and Rolling Hills Community Development District Capital Improvement 
Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2, in the aggregate principal amount of 
$[A-2 Amount] (the "Series 2021A-2 Bonds"), which are issued hereunder as one and 
the same Series of Bonds under the Master Indenture, and has ratified and confirmed 
the Master Indenture and authorized the execution and delivery of this Sixth 
Supplemental Indenture to secure the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds and to set 
forth the terms of the Series 2021 Bonds; and  

WHEREAS, the District will apply the proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds, 
together with other funds of the District, to (i) currently refund and redeem all of the 
Refunded Bonds, (ii) finance a portion of the Costs of acquiring, constructing and 
equipping assessable improvements comprising the Series 2021 Project, (iii) pay 



 

3 

certain costs associated with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, (iv) make a 
deposit into the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account to be held for the benefit of all of the 
Series 2021A-1 Bonds and into the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account to be held for the 
benefit of all of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds, and (v) pay a portion of the interest to 
become due on the Series 2021 Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the Series 2021 Bonds will be payable from and secured in part 
by revenues derived from Assessments imposed, levied and collected by the District 
with respect to property specially benefited by the Series 2006 Project and the Series 
2021 Project (the "Series 2021 Assessments"); and 

WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds and of this 
Sixth Supplemental Indenture have been duly authorized by the Governing Body of 
the District and all things necessary to make the Series 2021 Bonds, when executed 
by the District and authenticated by the Trustee, valid and binding legal obligations 
of the District and to make this Sixth Supplemental Indenture a valid and binding 
agreement and, together with the Master Indenture, a valid and binding lien on the 
Series 2021 Trust Estate (hereinafter defined) have been done; 

NOW THEREFORE, KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, THIS 
SIXTH SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE WITNESSETH: 

That the District, in consideration of the premises, the acceptance by the 
Trustee of the trusts hereby created, the mutual covenants herein contained, the 
purchase and acceptance of the Series 2021 Bonds by the purchaser or purchasers 
thereof, and other good and valuable consideration, receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged, and in order to further secure the payment of the principal and 
Redemption Price of, and interest on, all Series 2021 Bonds Outstanding from time 
to time, according to their tenor and effect, and such other payments required to be 
made under the Master Indenture or hereunder, and to further secure the observance 
and performance by the District of all the covenants, expressed or implied in the 
Master Indenture, in this Sixth Supplemental Indenture and in the Series 2021 
Bonds (a) has executed and delivered this Sixth Supplemental Indenture and (b) does 
hereby, in confirmation of the Master Indenture, grant, bargain, sell, convey, 
transfer, assign and pledge unto the Trustee, and unto its successors in the trusts 
established under the Master Indenture, and to them and their successors and 
assigns forever, all right, title and interest of the District, in, to and under, subject to 
the terms and conditions of the Master Indenture and the provisions of the Master 
Indenture pertaining to the application thereof for or to the purposes and on the 
terms set forth in the Master Indenture, the revenues derived by the District from 
the Series 2021 Assessments (the "Series 2021 Pledged Revenues") and the Funds 
and Accounts (except for the Series 2021 Rebate Account and, with respect to the 
Series 2021A-1 Bonds, the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account and with respect to the 
Series 2021A-2 Bonds, the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account) established hereby (the 



 

4 

"Series 2021 Pledged Funds") which shall constitute the Trust Estate securing the 
Series 2021 Bonds (the "Series 2021 Trust Estate"); 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD all the same by the Master Indenture granted, 
bargained, sold, conveyed, transferred, assigned and pledged, or agreed or intended 
so to be, to the Trustee and its successors in said trust and to it and its assigns forever; 

IN TRUST NEVERTHELESS, except as in each such case may otherwise be 
provided in the Master Indenture, upon the terms and trusts in the Indenture set 
forth for the equal and proportionate benefit, security and protection of all and 
singular the present and future Owners of the Series 2021 Bonds issued or to be 
issued under and secured by this Sixth Supplemental Indenture, without preference, 
priority or distinction as to lien or otherwise, of any one Series 2021 Bond over any 
other Series 2021 Bond by reason of priority in their issue, sale or execution; 

PROVIDED HOWEVER, that if the District, its successors or assigns, shall 
well and truly pay, or cause to be paid, or make due provision for the payment of the 
principal and Redemption Price of the Series 2021 Bonds or any Series 2021 Bond of 
a particular maturity issued, secured and Outstanding under this Sixth 
Supplemental Indenture and the interest due or to become due thereon, at the times 
and in the manner mentioned in the Series 2021 Bonds and this Sixth Supplemental 
Indenture, according to the true intent and meaning thereof, and shall well and truly 
keep, perform and observe all the covenants and conditions pursuant to the terms of 
the Master Indenture and this Sixth Supplemental Indenture to be kept, performed 
and observed by it, and shall pay or cause to be paid to the Trustee all sums of money 
due or to become due to it in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Master 
Indenture and this Sixth Supplemental Indenture, then upon such final payments, 
this Sixth Supplemental Indenture and the rights hereby granted shall cease and 
terminate, with respect to all Series 2021 Bonds or any Series 2021 Bond of a 
particular maturity, otherwise this Sixth Supplemental Indenture shall remain in 
full force and effect; 

THIS SIXTH SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE FURTHER 
WITNESSETH, and it is expressly declared, that all Series 2021 Bonds issued and 
secured hereunder are to be issued, authenticated and delivered and all of the rights 
and property pledged to the payment thereof are to be dealt with and disposed of 
under, upon and subject to the terms, conditions, stipulations, covenants, 
agreements, trusts, uses and purposes as expressed in the Master Indenture (except 
as amended directly or by implication by this Sixth Supplemental Indenture) and this 
Sixth Supplemental Indenture, and the District has agreed and covenanted, and does 
hereby agree and covenant, with the Trustee and with the respective Owners, from 
time to time, of the Series 2021 Bonds, as follows: 

 



 

5 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

Section 101. Definitions.  All terms used herein that are defined in the 
recitals hereto are used with the same meaning herein unless the context clearly 
requires otherwise.  All terms used herein that are defined in the Master Indenture 
are used with the same meaning herein (including the use of such terms in the 
recitals hereto and the granting clauses hereof) unless (a) expressly given a different 
meaning herein or (b) the context clearly requires otherwise.  In addition, unless the 
context clearly requires otherwise, the following terms used herein shall have the 
following meanings: 

"Arbitrage Certificate" shall mean the Certificate as to Arbitrage and 
Certain Other Tax Matters of the District dated as of [Closing Date]. 

"Assessment Methodology" shall mean the [Supplemental Special 
Assessment Methodology Report], dated [____________], 2021, prepared by the 
Methodology Consultant. 

"Beneficial Owners" shall have the meaning given such term by DTC so long 
as it is the registered Owner through its Nominee, Cede & Co., of the Series 2021 
Bonds as to which such reference is made to enable such Series 2021 Bonds to be held 
in book-entry only form, and shall otherwise mean the registered Owner on the 
registration books of the District maintained by the Bond Registrar. 

"Bond Depository" shall mean the securities depository from time to time 
under Section 201 hereof, which may be the District. 

"Bond Participants" shall mean those broker-dealers, banks and other 
financial institutions from time to time for which the Bond Depository holds Series 
2021 Bonds as securities depository. 

"Collateral Assignment" shall mean the [Collateral Assignment] between 
the District and the Developer, dated as of [Closing Date]. 

"Completion Agreement" shall mean the [Completion Agreement] between 
the District and the Developer, dated as of [Closing Date]. 

"Conditions for Reduction of Reserve Account Requirement" shall mean, 
collectively, that (i) all lots subject to Series 2021 Assessments have been developed 
and platted, (ii) all lots subject to Series 2021 Assessments have been sold by the 
Developer to builders and all such sales have closed, (iii) there are no Events of 
Default occurring or continuing under the Indenture with respect to the Series 2021 
Bonds and (iv) the Series 2021A-2 Bonds are no longer Outstanding.  The District 
Engineer shall provide a written certification to the District and the Trustee 
certifying that the event in clause (i) has occurred and the District Manager shall 



 

6 

provide a written certification to the District and the Trustee certifying that the 
events in clauses (ii) and (iv) have occurred and affirming clause (iii), on which 
certifications the Trustee may conclusively rely. 

"Continuing Disclosure Agreement" shall mean the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement, by and among the District, the Developer and Governmental 
Management Services, LLC, as dissemination agent, dated as of [Closing Date]. 

"Delinquent Assessment Interest" shall mean Series 2021A-1 Assessment 
Interest or Series 2021A-2 Assessment Interest deposited by the District with the 
Trustee on or after May 1 of the year in which such Series 2021A-1 Assessment 
Interest or Series 2021A-2 Assessment Interest has, or would have, become 
delinquent under State law or the Series 2021 Assessment Proceedings applicable 
thereto. 

"Delinquent Assessment Principal" shall mean Series 2021A-1 Assessment 
Principal or Series 2021A-2 Assessment Principal deposited by the District with the 
Trustee on or after May 1 of the year in which such Series 2021A-1 Assessment 
Principal or Series 2021A-2 Assessment Principal has, or would have, become 
delinquent under State law or the Series 2021 Assessment Proceedings applicable 
thereto. 

"Delinquent Assessments" shall mean, collectively, Delinquent Assessment 
Principal and Delinquent Assessment Interest. 

"Developer" shall mean Waltham Development Co., a Florida corporation. 

"Direct Billed" shall mean Assessments or Operation and Maintenance 
Assessments, as applicable within the context in which such reference is made, which 
are billed directly by the District rather than collected on the tax bill using the 
Uniform Method. 

"DTC" shall mean The Depository Trust Company, and its successors and 
assigns. 

"Engineer's Report" shall mean the [Fourth Supplemental Engineer's 
Report], dated [June 3], 2021, prepared by Alliant Engineering, Inc., a copy of which 
is attached hereto as Exhibit A.  

"Government Obligations" shall mean direct obligations of, or obligations 
the timely payment of principal of and interest on which are unconditionally 
guaranteed by, the United States of America. 

"Interest Payment Date" shall mean each May 1 and November 1, 
commencing May 1, 2022. 



 

7 

"Majority Owners" shall mean the Beneficial Owners of more than fifty 
percent (50%) in principal amount of the Outstanding Series 2021 Bonds. 

"Methodology Consultant" shall mean Governmental Management Services, 
LLC. 

"Nominee" shall mean the nominee of the Bond Depository, which may be the 
Bond Depository, as determined from time to time pursuant to this Sixth 
Supplemental Indenture. 

"On a pro rata basis" shall mean the Outstanding principal amount of each 
of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds and Series 2021A-2 Bonds, respectively, divided by the 
total Outstanding principal amount of the Series 2021 Bonds.  

"Operation and Maintenance Assessments" shall mean assessments 
described in Section 190.021(3) of the Act, for the maintenance of District facilities or 
the operations of the District. 

"Quarterly Redemption Date" shall mean each February 1, May 1, August 
1 and November 1. 

"Redemption Date" shall mean a Quarterly Redemption Date in the case of a 
partial redemption of Outstanding Series 2021 Bonds, or any date in the case of the 
redemption of all of the Outstanding Series 2021 Bonds. 

"Series 2021 Assessment Area" shall mean the approximately eighty (80) 
gross acres within the District, consisting of Phases 3B and 3C, planned to include 
247 residential units, as more fully described in the Engineer's Report and 
Assessment Methodology. 

"Series 2021 Assessment Proceedings" shall mean the proceedings of the 
District with respect to the establishment, levy and collection of the Series 2021 
Assessments which include Resolution Nos. 2015-08, 2015-09, 2016-02 and 2022-[__], 
adopted by the Governing Body of the District, and any supplemental proceedings 
undertaken by the District with respect to the Series 2021 Assessments and the 
Assessment Methodology as approved thereby. 

"Series 2021 Assessments" shall mean the Series 2021A-1 Assessments and 
the Series 2021A-2 Assessments. 

"Series 2021A-1 Assessments" shall mean the principal and interest of 
Assessments received by the District which corresponds to a proportionate amount of 
the principal and interest of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds.  

"Series 2021A-1 Assessment Interest" shall mean the interest on the 
Series 2021A-1 Assessments which is pledged to the Series 2021A-1 Bonds. 



 

8 

"Series 2021A-1 Assessment Principal" shall mean the principal amount of 
Series 2021A-1 Assessments received by the District which represents a 
proportionate amount of the principal of and Amortization Installments of the Series 
2021A-1 Bonds, other than applicable Delinquent Assessment Principal and Series 
2021A-1 Prepayments. 

"Series 2021A-1 Assessment Revenues" shall mean all revenues derived by 
the District from the Series 2021A-1 Assessments, including Delinquent 
Assessments, proceeds from any foreclosure of the lien of Delinquent Assessments 
and any statutory interest on the Delinquent Assessments collected by the District 
in excess of the rate of interest on the Series 2021A-1 Bonds. 

"Series 2021A-2 Assessments" shall mean the principal and interest of 
Assessments received by the District which corresponds to a proportionate amount of 
the principal and interest of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds. 

"Series 2021A-2 Assessment Interest" shall mean the interest on the 
Series 2021A-2 Assessments which is pledged to the Series 2021A-2 Bonds. 

"Series 2021A-2 Assessment Principal" shall mean the principal amount of 
Series 2021A-2 Assessments received by the District which represents a 
proportionate amount of the principal of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds, other than 
applicable Delinquent Assessment Principal and Series 2021A-2 Prepayments. 

"Series 2021A-2 Assessment Revenues" shall mean all revenues derived by 
the District from the Series 2021A-2 Assessments, including Delinquent 
Assessments, proceeds from any foreclosure of the lien of Delinquent Assessments 
and any statutory interest on the Delinquent Assessments collected by the District 
in excess of the rate of interest on the Series 2021A-2 Bonds. 

"Series 2021 Investment Obligations" shall mean and includes any of the 
following securities, if and to the extent that such securities are legal investments for 
funds of the District: 

(a) Government Obligations; 

(b) Bonds, debentures, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued by 
any of the following agencies or such other government - sponsored agencies which 
may presently exist or be hereafter created; provided that, such bonds, debentures, 
notes or other evidences of indebtedness are fully guaranteed as to both principal and 
interest by the Government National Mortgage Association (including participation 
certificates issued by such association); Fannie Mae (including participation 
certificates issued by such entity); Federal Home Loan Banks; Federal Farm Credit 
Banks; Tennessee Valley Authority; Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation and 
repurchase agreements secured by such obligations, which funds are rated in the 
highest categories for such funds by both Moody's and S&P at the time of purchase; 



 

9 

(c) Both (i) shares of a diversified open-end management investment 
company (as defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940) or a regulated 
investment  company (as defined in Section 851(a) of the Code) that is a money 
market fund that is rated in the highest rating category for such funds by Moody's 
and S&P, and (ii) shares of money market mutual funds that invest only in the 
obligations described in (a) and (b) above;  

(d) Money market deposit accounts, time deposits, and certificates of 
deposits issued by commercial banks, savings and loan associations or mutual 
savings banks whose short-term obligations are rated, at the time of purchase, in one 
of the two highest rating categories, without regard to gradation, by Moody's and 
S&P; and  

(e) Commercial paper (having maturities of not more than 270 days) rated, 
at the time of purchase, in one of the two highest rating categories, without regard to 
gradation, by Moody's and S&P. 

Under all circumstances, the Trustee shall be entitled to conclusively rely that 
any investment directed in writing by an Authorized Officer of the District is 
permitted under the Indenture and is a legal investment for funds of the District. 

"Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Interest" shall mean the interest on the 
Series 2021A-1 Prepayments received by the District. 

"Series 2021A-2 Prepayment Interest" shall mean the interest on the 
Series 2021A-2 Prepayments received by the District. 

"Series 2021A-1 Prepayments" shall mean the excess amount of Series 
2021A-1 Assessment Principal received by the District over the Series 2021A-1 
Assessment Principal included within a Series 2021A-1 Assessment appearing on any 
outstanding and unpaid tax bill or direct collect invoice, whether or not mandated to 
be prepaid in accordance with the Series 2021 Assessment Proceedings.  Anything 
herein or in the Master Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the term Series 
2021A-1 Prepayments shall not mean the proceeds of any Refunding Bonds or other 
borrowing of the District. 

"Series 2021A-2 Prepayments" shall mean the excess amount of Series 
2021A-2 Assessment Principal received by the District over the Series 2021A-2 
Assessment Principal included within a Series 2021A-2 Assessment appearing on any 
outstanding and unpaid tax bill or direct collect invoice, whether or not mandated to 
be prepaid in accordance with the Series 2021 Assessment Proceedings.  Anything 
herein or in the Master Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the term Series 
2021A-2 Prepayments shall not mean the proceeds of any Refunding Bonds or other 
borrowing of the District. 



 

10 

"Series 2021 Project" shall mean that portion of the Capital Improvement 
Program to be financed in part with the proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds on deposit 
in the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account, as more particularly 
described in the Engineer's Report. 

"Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account Requirement" shall mean an amount 
equal to the Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirement for all Outstanding Series 
2021A-1 Bonds, as of the time of any such calculation, until such time as the 
Conditions for Reduction of Reserve Account Requirement are met, at which time and 
thereafter the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account Requirement shall be an amount 
equal to fifty percent (50)% of the Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirement for 
all Outstanding Series 2021A-1 Bonds, as of the time of any such calculation. On the 
date of initial issuance of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds, the Series 2021A-1 Reserve 
Account Requirement shall be $[2021A-1 RAR]. 

"Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account Requirement" shall mean an amount 
equal the maximum annual interest requirement for the Series 2021A-2 Bonds, as 
calculated from time to time, which amount on the date of initial issuance is $[2021A-
2 RAR] 

"Substantially Absorbed" shall mean the date on which the principal 
amount of the Series 2021A-1 Assessments equaling ninety percent (90%) of the then 
Outstanding principal amount of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds is levied on tax parcels 
within the Series 2021 Assessment Area with respect to which a certificate of 
occupancy has been issued for a structure thereon and are owned by end users, as 
certified by an Authorized Officer and upon which the Trustee may conclusively rely. 

"True-Up Agreement" shall mean the [True-Up Agreement] between the 
District and the Developer, dated as of [Closing Date]. 

"Uniform Method" shall mean the uniform method for the levy, collection and 
enforcement of Assessments afforded by Sections 197.3631, 197.3632 and 197.3635, 
Florida Statutes, or any successor statutes. 

 

ARTICLE II 
AUTHORIZATION, ISSUANCE AND PROVISIONS OF SERIES 

2021 BONDS 

Section 201. Authorization of Series 2021 Bonds; Separate Series 
Designations for Certain Limited Purposes; Book-Entry Only Form.  The 
Series 2021 Bonds are hereby authorized to be issued for the purposes enumerated 
in the recitals hereto in one Series but designated "$[A-1 Amount] Rolling Hills 
Community Development District Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 
2021A-1" and "$[A-2 Amount] Rolling Hills Community Development District Capital 



 

11 

Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2."  The Series 2021 
Bonds are for all purposes under the Indenture one and the same Series of Bonds.  
The Series 2021 Bonds shall be substantially in the forms attached hereto as Exhibit 
B.  Each Series 2021A-1 Bond shall bear the designation "2021A-1R" and shall be 
numbered consecutively from 1 upwards and each Series 2021A-2 Bond shall bear 
the designation "2021A-2R" and shall be numbered consecutively from 1 upwards. 

The Series 2021 Bonds shall be initially issued in the form of a separate single 
certificated fully registered Series 2021 Bond for each Series and maturity thereof.  
Upon initial issuance, the ownership of each such Series 2021 Bond shall be 
registered in the registration books kept by the Bond Registrar in the name of Cede 
& Co., as Nominee of DTC, the initial Bond Depository.  Except as provided in this 
Section 201, all of the Outstanding Series 2021 Bonds shall be registered in the 
registration books kept by the Bond Registrar in the name of Cede & Co., as Nominee 
of DTC. 

With respect to Series 2021 Bonds registered in the registration books kept by 
the Bond Registrar in the name of Cede & Co., as Nominee of DTC, the District, the 
Trustee, the Bond Registrar and the Paying Agent shall have no responsibility or 
obligation to any such Bond Participant or to any indirect Bond Participant.  Without 
limiting the immediately preceding sentence, the District, the Trustee, the Bond 
Registrar and the Paying Agent shall have no responsibility or obligation with respect 
to (i) the accuracy of the records of DTC, Cede & Co., or any Bond Participant with 
respect to any ownership interest in the Series 2021 Bonds, (ii) the delivery to any 
Bond Participant or any other person other than an Owner, as shown in the 
registration books kept by the Bond Registrar, of any notice with respect to the Series 
2021 Bonds, including any notice of redemption, or (iii) the payment to any Bond 
Participant or any other person, other than an Owner, as shown in the registration 
books kept by the Bond Registrar, of any amount with respect to principal of, 
premium, if any, or interest on the Series 2021 Bonds.  The District, the Trustee, the 
Bond Registrar and the Paying Agent shall treat and consider the person in whose 
name each Series 2021 Bond is registered in the registration books kept by the Bond 
Registrar as the absolute Owner of such Series 2021 Bond for the purpose of payment 
of principal, premium and interest with respect to such Series 2021 Bond, for the 
purpose of giving notices of redemption and other matters with respect to such Series 
2021 Bond, for the purpose of registering transfers with respect to such Series 2021 
Bond, and for all other purposes whatsoever.  The Paying Agent shall pay all principal 
of, premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2021 Bonds only to or upon the order 
of the respective Owners, as shown in the registration books kept by the Bond 
Registrar, or their respective attorneys duly authorized in writing, as provided herein 
and all such payments shall be valid and effective to fully satisfy and discharge the 
District's obligations with respect to payment of principal of, premium, if any, and 
interest on the Series 2021 Bonds to the extent of the sum or sums so paid.  No person 
other than an Owner, as shown in the registration books kept by the Bond Registrar, 
shall receive a certificated Series 2021 Bond evidencing the obligation of the District 



 

12 

to make payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest pursuant to the 
provisions hereof.  Upon delivery by DTC to the District of written notice to the effect 
that DTC has determined to substitute a new Nominee in place of Cede & Co., and 
subject to the provisions herein with respect to Record Dates, the words "Cede & Co." 
in this Sixth Supplemental Indenture shall refer to such new Nominee of DTC, and 
upon receipt of such a notice the District shall promptly deliver a copy of the same to 
the Trustee, the Bond Registrar and the Paying Agent. 

Upon receipt by the Trustee or the District of written notice from DTC 
(i) confirming that DTC has received written notice from the District to the effect that 
a continuation of the requirement that all of the Outstanding Series 2021 Bonds be 
registered in the registration books kept by the Bond Registrar in the name of Cede 
& Co., as Nominee of DTC, is not in the best interest of the Beneficial Owners of the 
Series 2021 Bonds, or (ii) to the effect that DTC is unable or unwilling to discharge 
its responsibilities and no substitute Bond Depository willing to undertake the 
functions of DTC hereunder can be found which is willing and able to undertake such 
functions upon reasonable and customary terms, the Series 2021 Bonds shall no 
longer be restricted to being registered in the registration books kept by the Bond 
Registrar in the name of Cede & Co., as Nominee of DTC, but may be registered in 
whatever name or names Owners transferring or exchanging the Series 2021 Bonds 
shall designate, in accordance with the provisions hereof. 

Section 202. Terms.  The Series 2021 Bonds shall be issued as [___] ([__]) 
Term Bonds, shall be dated as of the date of their issuance and delivery to the initial 
purchasers thereof, shall bear interest at the fixed interest rates per annum and shall 
mature in the amounts and on the dates set forth below: 

Number Principal Amount Maturity Date Interest Rate CUSIP 
     
     
     
     

Section 203. Dating; Interest Accrual.  Each Series 2021 Bond shall be 
dated [Closing Date].  Each Series 2021 Bond shall also bear its date of 
authentication.  Each Series 2021 Bond shall bear interest from the Interest Payment 
Date to which interest has been paid next preceding the date of its authentication, 
unless the date of its authentication (i) is an Interest Payment Date to which interest 
on such Series 2021 Bond has been paid, in which event such Series 2021 Bond shall 
bear interest from its date of authentication, or (ii) is prior to the first Interest 
Payment Date for the Series 2021 Bonds, in which event such Series 2021 Bond shall 
bear interest from its date.  Interest on the Series 2021 Bonds shall be due and 
payable on each May 1 and November 1, commencing May 1, 2022, and shall be 
computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve (12) thirty (30) day 
months.  



 

13 

Section 204. Denominations.  The Series 2021 Bonds shall be issued in 
Authorized Denominations; provided, however, that the Series 2021 Bonds shall be 
delivered to the initial purchasers thereof only in aggregate principal amounts of 
$100,000 or integral multiples of Authorized Denominations in excess of $100,000. 

Section 205. Paying Agent.  The District appoints the Trustee as Paying 
Agent for the Series 2021 Bonds. 

Section 206. Bond Registrar.  The District appoints the Trustee as Bond 
Registrar for the Series 2021 Bonds. 

Section 207. Conditions Precedent to Issuance of Series 2021 Bonds.  
In addition to complying with the requirements set forth in the Master Indenture in 
connection with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, all the Series 2021 Bonds shall 
be executed by the District for delivery to the Trustee and thereupon shall be 
authenticated by the Trustee and delivered to the District or upon its order, but only 
upon the further receipt by the Trustee of: 

(a) certified copies of the Series 2021 Assessment Proceedings; 

(b) executed copies of the Master Indenture and this Sixth Supplemental 
Indenture; 

(c) a customary Bond Counsel opinion; 

(d) the District Counsel opinion required by the Master Indenture; 

(e) a certificate of an Authorized Officer to the effect that, upon the 
authentication and delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds, the District will not be in 
default in the performance of the terms and provisions of the Master Indenture or 
this Sixth Supplemental Indenture; 

(f) an Engineer's Certificate and a copy of the Engineer's Report, which sets 
forth the estimated Costs of the Series 2021 Project; 

(g) a certificate of the Methodology Consultant addressing the validity of 
the Series 2021 Assessments;  

(h) a certified copy of the final judgment of validation in respect of the Bonds 
together with a certificate of no appeal; and 

(i) an executed Collateral Assignment, Completion Agreement and True-
Up Agreement. 

Payment to the Trustee of the net proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds in the 
amount of $[NP] shall conclusively evidence that the foregoing conditions precedent 
have been met to the satisfaction of the District and the underwriter. 



 

14 

ARTICLE III 
REDEMPTION OF SERIES 2021 BONDS 

Section 301. Bonds Subject to Redemption.  The Series 2021 Bonds are 
subject to redemption prior to maturity as provided in the respective forms thereof 
attached hereto as Exhibit B.  Interest on Series 2021A-1 Bonds which are called for 
redemption shall be paid on the date of redemption from the Series 2021A-1 Interest 
Account or from the Series 2021 Revenue Account to the extent moneys in the Series 
2021A-1 Interest Account are insufficient for such purpose.  Interest on Series 2021A-
2 Bonds which are called for redemption shall be paid on the date of redemption from 
the Series 2021A-2 Interest Account or from the Series 2021 Revenue Account to the 
extent moneys in the Series 2021A-2 Interest Account are insufficient for such 
purpose.  Moneys in the Series 2021A-1 Optional Redemption Subaccount shall be 
applied in accordance with Section 506 of the Master Indenture to the optional 
redemption of Series 2021A-1 Bonds. 

Section 302. Conditional Notice.  Notwithstanding anything in the 
Master Indenture or this Sixth Supplemental Indenture to the contrary, notice of 
optional redemption may be conditioned upon the occurrence or non-occurrence of 
such event or events or upon the later deposit of moneys therefor as shall be specified 
in such notice of optional redemption and may also be subject to rescission by the 
District if expressly set forth in such notice. 

 

ARTICLE IV 
DEPOSIT OF SERIES 2021 BOND PROCEEDS AND 

APPLICATION THEREOF; ESTABLISHMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
AND OPERATION THEREOF 

Section 401. Establishment of Accounts.  There are hereby established, 
as needed, the following Accounts: 

(a) within the Acquisition and Construction Fund held by the Trustee: (i) a 
Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account; and (ii) a Series 2021 Costs of 
Issuance Account; 

(b) within the Debt Service Fund held by the Trustee: (i) a Series 2021 Debt 
Service Account and therein a Series 2021A-1 Sinking Fund Account, a Series 2021A-
1 Interest Account, a Series 2021A-1 Capitalized Interest Account, a Series 2021A-2 
Principal Account, a Series 2021A-2 Interest Account and a Series 2021A-2 
Capitalized Interest Account; and (ii) a Series 2021 Redemption Account and therein 
a Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount, a Series 2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount 
and a Series 2021A-1 Optional Redemption Subaccount; 



 

15 

(c) within the Reserve Fund held by the Trustee: (i) a Series 2021A-1 
Reserve Account, which shall be held for the benefit of all of the Series 2021A-1 
Bonds, without distinction as to Series 2021A-1 Bonds and without privilege or 
priority of one Series 2021A-1 Bond over another; and (ii) a Series 2021A-2 Reserve 
Account, which shall be held for the benefit of all of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds, without 
distinction as to Series 2021A-2 Bonds and without privilege or priority of one 
Series 2021A-2 Bond over another; 

(d) within the Revenue Fund held by the Trustee a Series 2021 Revenue 
Account; and 

(e) within the Rebate Fund held by the Trustee a Series 2021 Rebate 
Account. 

Section 402. Use of Series 2021 Bond Proceeds.  The net proceeds of sale 
of the Series 2021 Bonds in the amount of $[NP] (consisting of $[Bond Amount].00 
principal amount of Series 2021 Bonds [less/plus] [net] original issue 
[discount/premium] in the amount of $[OID/OIP] and less underwriter's discount in 
the amount of $[UD]), plus $[OM] of other moneys (the "Other Moneys") (consisting 
of $[________] transferred from the Series 2015A-3 Reserve Account), for a grand total 
of $[_________], shall as soon as practicable upon the delivery thereof to the Trustee 
by the District pursuant to Section 207 of the Master Indenture, be applied as follows: 

(a) $[2021A-1 RAR] from the proceeds of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds, 
representing the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account Requirement at the time of 
issuance of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds, shall be deposited to the credit of the Series 
2021A-1 Reserve Account and $[2021A-2 RAR] from the proceeds of the Series 2021A-
2 Bonds, representing the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account Requirement at the time 
of issuance of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds, shall be deposited to the credit of the Series 
2021A-2 Reserve Account; 

(b) $[COI] from the proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds, representing the 
costs of issuance relating to the Series 2021 Bonds, shall be deposited to the credit of 
the Series 2021 Costs of Issuance Account;  

(c) $[2021A-1 CAPI] from the proceeds of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds, 
representing Capitalized Interest on the Series 2021A-1 Bonds through and including 
November 1, 2022, shall be deposited to the credit of the Series 2021A-1 Capitalized 
Interest Account and $[2021A-2 CAPI] from the proceeds of the Series 2021A-2 
Bonds, representing Capitalized Interest on the Series 2021A-2 Bonds through and 
including November 1, 2022, shall be deposited to the credit of the Series 2021A-2 
Capitalized Interest Account; 

(d) $[CD] from the proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds shall be deposited to 
the credit of the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account; and 



 

16 

(e) the balance of the proceeds of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds, $[ED Proceeds], 
plus the Other Moneys for a total of $[Total ED], shall be deposited to the Series 
2015A-3 Optional Redemption Subaccount of the Series 2015A-3 Redemption Account 
established pursuant to the Fourth Supplemental Indenture and used to refund and 
redeem the Refunded Bonds on [Redemption Date]. 

Section 403. Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account; 
Series 2021 Costs of Issuance Account.   

(a)  Amounts on deposit in the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction 
Account shall be applied to pay Costs of the Series 2021 Project upon compliance with 
the requisition provisions set forth in Section 503(b) of the Master Indenture and on 
the form attached hereto as Exhibit C.  The Trustee shall have no duty to verify that 
any requested disbursement from the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction 
Account is for a Cost of the Series 2021 Project.  The Consulting Engineer shall 
establish a Date of Completion for the Series 2021 Project, and any balance remaining 
in the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account after such Date of 
Completion (taking into account the moneys then on deposit therein to pay any 
accrued but unpaid Costs of the Series 2021 Project which are required to be reserved 
in the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account in accordance with the 
certificate of the Consulting Engineer delivered to the District and the Trustee 
establishing such Date of Completion), shall be transferred first to the Series 2021A-
2 Prepayment Subaccount and applied to the extraordinary mandatory redemption 
of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds until such Series 2021A-2 Bonds are no longer 
Outstanding and then to the Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount and applied to 
the extraordinary mandatory redemption of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds in accordance 
with Section 301 hereof and in the manner prescribed in the respective forms of Series 
2021 Bonds attached hereto as Exhibit B.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District 
shall not establish a Date of Completion until after the Conditions for Reduction of 
Reserve Account Requirement have been satisfied and moneys have been transferred 
from the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account to the Series 2021 Acquisition and 
Construction Account as a result of such satisfaction pursuant to Section 405 hereof.  
At such time as there are no amounts on deposit in the Series 2021 Acquisition and 
Construction Account, such Account shall be closed. 

(b) The amount deposited in the Series 2021 Costs of Issuance Account 
shall, at the written direction of an Authorized Officer to the Trustee, be used to pay 
the costs of issuance relating to the Series 2021 Bonds.  On the earlier to occur of (x) 
the written direction of an Authorized Officer or (y) six months from the date of 
issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, any amounts deposited in the Series 2021 Costs 
of Issuance Account for which the Trustee has not received a requisition to pay such 
costs shall be transferred over and deposited into the Series 2021 Acquisition and 
Construction Account and used for the purposes permitted therefor.  Any deficiency 
in the amount allocated to pay the costs of issuance relating to the Series 2021 Bonds 
shall be paid from excess moneys on deposit in the Series 2021 Revenue Account 



 

17 

pursuant to Section 408(d) hereof.  When such deficiency has been satisfied and no 
moneys remain therein, the Series 2021 Costs of Issuance Account shall be closed. 

Section 404. Series 2021A-1 Capitalized Interest Account; Series 
2021A-2 Capitalized Interest Account.  Amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-
1 Capitalized Interest Account shall, until and including November 1, 2022, be 
transferred into the Series 2021A-1 Interest Account and applied to the payment of 
interest first coming due on the Series 2021A-1 Bonds in accordance with Section 
408(d) hereof, and thereafter transferred into the Series 2021 Acquisition and 
Construction Account, whereupon the Series 2021A-1 Capitalized Interest Account 
shall be closed. 

Amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Capitalized Interest Account shall, 
until and including November 1, 2022, be transferred into the Series 2021A-2 Interest 
Account and applied to the payment of interest first coming due on the Series 2021A-
2 Bonds in accordance with Section 408(d) hereof, and thereafter transferred into the 
Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account, whereupon the Series 2021A-2 
Capitalized Interest Account shall be closed. 

Section 405. Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account; Series 2021A-2 
Reserve Account.  The Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account shall be funded and 
maintained at all times in an amount equal to the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account 
Requirement.  Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Master Indenture, 
amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account shall be used only for the 
purpose of making payments into the Series 2021A-1 Interest Account and the Series 
2021A-1 Sinking Fund Account to pay Debt Service on the Series 2021A-1 Bonds, 
when due, without distinction as to Series 2021A-1 Bonds and without privilege or 
priority of one Series 2021A-1 Bond over another, to the extent the moneys on deposit 
in such Accounts available therefor are insufficient and for no other purpose.  The 
Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account shall consist only of cash and Series 2021 
Investment Obligations. 

Anything herein or in the Master Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, 
on the forty-fifth (45th) day preceding each Quarterly Redemption Date (or, if such 
forty-fifth (45th) day is not a Business Day, on the first Business Day preceding such 
forty-fifth (45th) day), the Trustee is hereby authorized and directed to recalculate 
the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account Requirement and to transfer any excess on 
deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account (i) resulting from Prepayments of 
Series 2021A-1 Assessments into the Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount and 
applied to the extraordinary mandatory redemption of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds, (ii) 
resulting from a reduction of the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account Requirement as the 
result of the Conditions for Reduction of Reserve Account Requirement being met into 
the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account and used for the purposes of 
such Account, or (iii) resulting from investment earnings as provided in Section 408(f) 
hereof.  



 

18 

On the earliest date on which there is on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve 
Account sufficient moneys, after taking into account other moneys available therefor, 
to pay and redeem all of the Outstanding Series 2021A-1 Bonds, together with 
accrued interest and redemption premium, if any, on such Series 2021A-1 Bonds to 
the earliest Redemption Date permitted therein and herein, then the Trustee shall 
transfer the amount on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account into the Series 
2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount to pay and redeem all of the Outstanding Series 
2021A-1 Bonds on the earliest Redemption Date permitted for redemption therein 
and herein. 

The Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account shall be funded and maintained at all 
times in an amount equal to the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account Requirement.  
Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Master Indenture, amounts on deposit 
in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account shall be used only for the purpose of making 
payments into the Series 2021A-2 Interest Account and the Series 2021A-2 Principal 
Account to pay Debt Service on the Series 2021A-2 Bonds, when due, without 
distinction as to Series 2021A-2 Bonds and without privilege or priority of one Series 
2021A-2 Bond over another, to the extent the moneys on deposit in such Accounts 
available therefor are insufficient and for no other purpose.  The Series 2021A-2 
Reserve Account shall consist only of cash and Series 2021 Investment Obligations. 

Anything herein or in the Master Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, 
on the forty-fifth (45th) day preceding each Quarterly Redemption Date (or, if such 
forty-fifth (45th) day is not a Business Day, on the first Business Day preceding such 
forty-fifth (45th) day), the Trustee is hereby authorized and directed to recalculate 
the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account Requirement and to transfer any excess on 
deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account (other than excess resulting from 
investments, which shall be governed by Section 408(f) hereof) into the Series 2021A-
2 Prepayment Subaccount and applied to the extraordinary mandatory redemption 
of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds. 

On the earliest date on which there is on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve 
Account sufficient moneys, after taking into account other moneys available therefor, 
to pay and redeem all of the Outstanding Series 2021A-2 Bonds, together with 
accrued interest and redemption premium, if any, on such Series 2021A-2 Bonds to 
the earliest Redemption Date permitted therein and herein, then the Trustee shall 
transfer the amount on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account into the Series 
2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount to pay and redeem all of the Outstanding Series 
2021A-2 Bonds on the earliest Redemption Date permitted for redemption therein 
and herein. 

Anything herein or in the Master Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, 
amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account and the Series 2021A-2 
Reserve Account shall, upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default, 



 

19 

be subject to a first charge by the Trustee for its fees and expenses, including fees and 
expenses of collection of Delinquent Assessments. 

Section 406. Amortization Installments; Selection of Bonds for 
Redemption.  (a)  The Amortization Installments established for the Series 2021A-
1 Bonds shall be as set forth in the form of Series 2021A-1 Bonds attached hereto.  No 
Amortization Installments are established for the Series 2021A-2 Bonds.   

(b) Upon any redemption of Series 2021A-1 Bonds (other than Series 
2021A-1 Bonds redeemed in accordance with scheduled Amortization Installments 
and other than Series 2021A-1 Bonds redeemed at the direction of the District 
accompanied by a cash flow certificate as required by Section 506(b) of the Master 
Indenture), the Trustee shall cause Series 2021A-1 Bonds to be redeemed in such 
amounts and having such maturities so as to result in Amortization Installments 
recalculated, which recalculation shall be performed by the District, in such manner 
as shall amortize all the Outstanding Series 2021A-1 Bonds of all of the terms in 
substantially equal annual installments of principal and interest (subject to rounding 
to Authorized Denominations of principal) over the remaining terms of all of the 
Series 2021A-1 Bonds.  

Section 407. Tax Covenants.  The District shall comply with the Arbitrage 
Certificate, including but not limited to the Tax Regulatory Covenants set forth as an 
exhibit to the Arbitrage Certificate, as amended and supplemented from time to time 
in accordance with their terms. 

Section 408. Series 2021 Revenue Account; Application of Revenues 
and Investment Earnings.  (a)  The Trustee is hereby authorized and directed to 
deposit any and all amounts required to be deposited in the Series 2021 Revenue 
Account by this Section 408 or by any other provision of the Master Indenture or this 
Sixth Supplemental Indenture, and any other amounts or payments specifically 
designated by the District pursuant to a written direction or by a Supplemental 
Indenture for said purpose.  The Series 2021 Revenue Account shall be held by the 
Trustee separate and apart from all other Funds and Accounts held under the 
Indenture and from all other moneys of the Trustee. 

(b) The Trustee shall deposit into the Series 2021 Revenue Account (i) 
Series 2021A-1 Assessment Revenues other than Series 2021A-1 Prepayments (which 
Series 2021A-1 Prepayments shall be identified by the District to the Trustee as such 
in writing upon deposit, upon which certification the Trustee may conclusively rely, 
and which shall be deposited into the Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount), (ii) 
Series 2021A-2 Assessment Revenues other than Series 2021A-2 Prepayments (which 
Series 2021A-2 Prepayments shall be identified by the District to the Trustee as such 
in writing upon deposit, upon which certification the Trustee may conclusively rely, 
and which shall be deposited into the Series 2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount), (iii) 
Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Interest and Series 2021A-2 Prepayment Interest, and 



 

20 

(iv) any other revenues required by other provisions of the Indenture to be deposited 
into the Series 2021 Revenue Account. 

(c) (i) On the forty-fifth (45th) day preceding each Quarterly 
Redemption Date (or if such forty-fifth (45th) day is not a Business Day, on the 
Business Day preceding such forty-fifth (45th) day), the Trustee shall determine the 
amount on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount and, if the balance 
therein is greater than zero, shall, upon written direction from the District, transfer 
from the Series 2021 Revenue Account for deposit into the Series 2021A-1 
Prepayment Subaccount an amount sufficient to increase the amount on deposit 
therein to the nearest integral multiple of $5,000 (provided that there are sufficient 
funds remaining in the Series 2021 Revenue Account to pay Debt Service coming due 
on the Series 2021 Bonds on the next succeeding Interest Payment Date), and shall 
thereupon give notice and cause the extraordinary mandatory redemption of the 
Series 2021A-1 Bonds on the next succeeding Redemption Date in the maximum 
aggregate principal amount for which moneys are then on deposit in the Series 
2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount in accordance with the provisions for extraordinary 
mandatory redemption of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds set forth in the form of Series 
2021A-1 Bonds attached hereto, Section 301 hereof, and Article III of the Master 
Indenture. 

(ii) On the forty-fifth (45th) day preceding each Quarterly 
Redemption Date (or if such forty-fifth (45th) day is not a Business Day, on the 
Business Day preceding such forty-fifth (45th) day), the Trustee shall determine the 
amount on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount and, if the balance 
therein is greater than zero, shall, upon written direction from the District, transfer 
from the Series 2021 Revenue Account for deposit into the Series 2021A-2 
Prepayment Subaccount an amount sufficient to increase the amount on deposit 
therein to the nearest integral multiple of $5,000 (provided that there are sufficient 
funds remaining in the Series 2021 Revenue Account to pay Debt Service coming due 
on the Series 2021 Bonds on the next succeeding Interest Payment Date), and shall 
thereupon give notice and cause the extraordinary mandatory redemption of the 
Series 2021A-2 Bonds on the next succeeding Redemption Date in the maximum 
aggregate principal amount for which moneys are then on deposit in the Series 
2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount in accordance with the provisions for extraordinary 
mandatory redemption of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds set forth in the form of Series 
2021A-2 Bonds attached hereto, Section 301 hereof, and Article III of the Master 
Indenture. 

(d) On May 1 and November 1 (or if such May 1 or November 1 is not a 
Business Day, on the Business Day preceding such May 1 or November 1), the Trustee 
shall first transfer (i) from the Series 2021A-1 Capitalized Interest Account to the 
Series 2021A-1 Interest Account the lesser of (x) the amount of interest coming due 
on the Series 2021A-1 Bonds on such May 1 or November 1, less the amount already 
on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Interest Account, or (y) the amount remaining in the 



 

21 

Series 2021A-1 Capitalized Interest Account and (ii) from the Series 2021A-2 
Capitalized Interest Account to the Series 2021A-2 Interest Account the lesser of (x) 
the amount of interest coming due on the Series 2021A-2 Bonds on such May 1 or 
November 1, less the amount already on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Interest 
Account, or (y) the amount remaining in the Series 2021A-2 Capitalized Interest 
Account.   

Following the foregoing transfers, on such May 1 or November 1 (or if such 
May 1 or November 1 is not a Business Day, on the Business Day preceding such May 
1 or November 1), the Trustee shall then transfer amounts on deposit in the Series 
2021 Revenue Account to the Accounts designated below in the following amounts 
and in the following order of priority: 

FIRST, to the Series 2021A-1 Interest Account, the amount, if any, equal to 
the difference between the amount of interest payable on all Series 2021A-1 Bonds 
then Outstanding on such May 1 or November 1, and (i) the amount transferred from 
the Series 2021A-1 Capitalized Interest Account in accordance with this Section 
408(d) and (ii) the amount already on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Interest Account 
not previously credited, and to the Series 2021A-2 Interest Account, the amount, if 
any, equal to the difference between the amount of interest payable on all Series 
2021A-2 Bonds then Outstanding on such May 1 or November 1, and (i) the amount 
transferred from the Series 2021A-2 Capitalized Interest Account in accordance with 
this Section 408(d) and (ii) the amount already on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 
Interest Account not previously credited; 

SECOND, on May 1, 20[__] and on each May 1 thereafter, to the Series 2021A-
1 Sinking Fund Account, the amount, if any, equal to the difference between the 
Amortization Installments of all Series 2021A-1 Bonds subject to mandatory sinking 
fund redemption on such May 1 and the amount already on deposit in the 
Series 2021A-1 Sinking Fund Account not previously credited and on May 1, 20[__], 
to the Series 2021A-2 Principal Account, the amount, if any, equal to the difference 
between the principal of all Series 2021A-2 Bonds maturing on such May 1, and the 
amount already on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Principal Account not previously 
credited; 

THIRD, to the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account, the amount, if any, which is 
necessary to make the amount on deposit therein equal to the Series 2021A-1 Reserve 
Account Requirement with respect to the Series 2021A-1 Bonds, and to the Series 
2021A-2  Reserve Account, the amount, if any, which is necessary to make the amount 
on deposit therein equal to the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account Requirement with 
respect to the Series 2021A-2 Bonds; and 

FOURTH, the balance shall first be deposited into the Series 2021 Costs of 
Issuance Account to fund any deficiencies in the amount allocated to pay the costs of 



 

22 

issuance relating to the Series 2021 Bonds, and then the balance shall be retained in 
the Series 2021 Revenue Account. 

In the event that the amounts to be applied pursuant to clauses FIRST through 
THIRD above shall be insufficient to satisfy the requirements of any such clause, the 
moneys available to be applied to satisfy the requirements of such clause shall be 
applied on a pro rata basis in the order provided above. 

(e) On any date required by the Arbitrage Certificate, the District shall give 
the Trustee written direction to, and the Trustee shall, transfer from the Series 2021 
Revenue Account to the Series 2021 Rebate Account the amount due and owing to the 
United States, which amount shall be paid to the United States when due in 
accordance with such Arbitrage Certificate. 

(f) Anything herein or in the Master Indenture to the contrary 
notwithstanding, moneys on deposit in all of the Funds and Accounts held as security 
for the Series 2021 Bonds shall be invested only in Series 2021 Investment 
Obligations.  Earnings on investments in the Series 2021 Acquisition and 
Construction Account, the Series 2021A-1 Interest Account, the Series 2021A-1 
Capitalized Interest Account, the Series 2021A-2 Interest Account and the Series 
2021A-2 Capitalized Interest Account shall be retained, as realized, in such Accounts 
and used for the purpose of such Accounts.  Earnings on investments in the Funds 
and Accounts other than the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account and the Series 2021A-
2 Reserve Account, and other than as set forth above, shall be deposited, as realized, 
to the credit of the Series 2021 Revenue Account and used for the purpose of such 
Account. 

Earnings on investments in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account shall be 
disposed of as follows: 

(i) if there was no deficiency (as defined in Section 509 of the Master 
Indenture) in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account as of the most recent date on which 
amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account were valued by the 
Trustee, and if no withdrawals have been made from the Series 2021A-1 Reserve 
Account since such date which have created a deficiency, then earnings on 
investments in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account shall be deposited into the Series 
2021A-1 Capitalized Interest Account through November 1, 2022, and thereafter 
shall be deposited into the Series 2021 Revenue Account and used for the purpose of 
such Account; or 

(ii) if there was a deficiency (as defined in Section 509 of the Master 
Indenture) in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account as of the most recent date on which 
amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account were valued by the 
Trustee, or if after such date withdrawals have been made from the Series 2021A-1 
Reserve Account and have created such a deficiency, then earnings on investments 



 

23 

in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account shall be retained in the Series 2021A-1 
Reserve Account until the amount on deposit therein is equal to the Series 2021A-1 
Reserve Account Requirement, and then earnings on investments in the Series 
2021A-1 Reserve Account shall be deposited into the Series 2021A-1 Capitalized 
Interest Account through November 1, 2022, and thereafter shall be deposited into 
the Series 2021 Revenue Account and used for the purpose of such Account. 

The foregoing determination and disbursement shall be made prior to any 
recalculation and transfer of excess amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve 
Account made pursuant to Section 405 hereof. 

Earnings on investments in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account shall be 
disposed of as follows: 

(i) if there was no deficiency (as defined in Section 509 of the Master 
Indenture) in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account as of the most recent date on which 
amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account were valued by the 
Trustee, and if no withdrawals have been made from the Series 2021A-2 Reserve 
Account since such date which have created a deficiency, then earnings on 
investments in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account shall be deposited into the Series 
2021A-2 Capitalized Interest Account through November 1, 2022, and thereafter 
shall be deposited into the Series 2021 Revenue Account and used for the purpose of 
such Account; or 

(ii) if there was a deficiency (as defined in Section 509 of the Master 
Indenture) in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account as of the most recent date on which 
amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account were valued by the 
Trustee, or if after such date withdrawals have been made from the Series 2021A-2 
Reserve Account and have created such a deficiency, then earnings on investments 
in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account shall be retained in the Series 2021A-2 
Reserve Account until the amount on deposit therein is equal to the Series 2021A-2 
Reserve Account Requirement, and then earnings on investments in the Series 
2021A-2 Reserve Account shall be deposited into the Series 2021A-2 Capitalized 
Interest Account through November 1, 2022, and thereafter shall be deposited into 
the Series 2021 Revenue Account and used for the purpose of such Account. 

The foregoing determination and disbursement shall be made prior to any 
recalculation and transfer of excess amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve 
Account made pursuant to Section 405 hereof. 

 



 

24 

ARTICLE V 
CONCERNING THE TRUSTEE 

Section 501. Acceptance by Trustee.  The Trustee accepts the trusts 
declared and provided in this Sixth Supplemental Indenture and agrees to perform 
such trusts upon the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Master 
Indenture. 

Section 502. Limitation of Trustee's Responsibility.  The Trustee shall 
not be responsible in any manner for the due execution of this Sixth Supplemental 
Indenture by the District or for the recitals contained herein, all of which are made 
solely by the District. 

Section 503. Trustee's Duties.  Nothing contained herein shall limit the 
rights, benefits, privileges, protection and entitlements inuring to the Trustee under 
the Master Indenture, including, particularly, Article VI thereof. 

 

ARTICLE VI 
ADDITIONAL BONDS 

Section 601. No Parity Bonds; Limitation on Parity Assessments.  
Other than Refunding Bonds issued to refund the then Outstanding Series 2021 
Bonds, the issuance of which results in net present value Debt Service savings, the 
District shall not, while any Series 2021 Bonds are Outstanding, issue or incur any 
debt payable in whole or in part from the Series 2021 Trust Estate.  The District 
further covenants and agrees that so long as the Series 2021A-1 Assessments have 
not been Substantially Absorbed and the Series 2021A-2 Bonds are Outstanding, it 
will not impose Assessments for capital projects on any lands subject to the Series 
2021 Assessments without the written consent of the Majority Owners.  
Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, the District may impose 
Assessments on property subject to the Series 2021 Assessments which are necessary 
for health, safety or welfare reasons, or to remediate a natural disaster, or to effect 
repairs to or replacement of property, facilities or equipment of the District without 
the consent of the Majority Owners. 

 

ARTICLE VII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 701. Confirmation of Master Indenture.  As supplemented by 
this Sixth Supplemental Indenture, the Master Indenture is in all respects ratified 
and confirmed, and this Sixth Supplemental Indenture shall be read, taken and 
construed as a part of the Master Indenture so that all of the rights, remedies, terms, 



 

25 

conditions, covenants and agreements of the Master Indenture, except insofar as 
modified herein, shall apply and remain in full force and effect with respect to this 
Sixth Supplemental Indenture and to the Series 2021 Bonds issued hereunder. 

Section 702. Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  Contemporaneously 
with the execution and delivery hereof, the District has executed and delivered the 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement in order to comply with the requirements of Rule 
15c2-12 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  The District 
covenants and agrees to comply with the provisions of the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement.  However, as set forth therein, failure to so comply shall not constitute 
an Event of Default hereunder, but instead shall be enforceable as provided in the 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement. 

Section 703. Additional Covenant Regarding Assessments.  In 
addition to, and not in limitation of, the covenants contained elsewhere in this Sixth 
Supplemental Indenture and in the Master Indenture, the District covenants to 
comply with the terms of the Series 2021 Assessment Proceedings heretofore adopted 
with respect to the Series 2021 Assessments, including the Assessment Methodology, 
and to levy the Series 2021 Assessments and any required true-up payments set forth 
in the Assessment Methodology in such manner as will generate funds sufficient to 
pay the principal of and interest on the Series 2021 Bonds, when due.  The 
Assessment Methodology shall not be materially amended without prior written 
consent of the Majority Owners. 

Section 704. Collection of Assessments.  (a) Anything herein or in the 
Master Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, Series 2021A-1 Assessments 
levied on unplatted lands and pledged hereunder to secure the Series 2021A-1 Bonds 
shall be collected directly by the District pursuant to the Act and Chapters 170 and 
197, Florida Statutes, and Series 2021A-1 Assessments levied on platted lots and 
pledged hereunder to secure the Series 2021A-1 Bonds shall be collected pursuant to 
the Uniform Method.  Anything herein or in the Master Indenture to the contrary 
notwithstanding, Series 2021A-2 Assessments whether levied on unplatted lands or 
platted lots and pledged hereunder to secure the Series 2021A-2 Bonds shall be 
collected directly by the District pursuant to the Act and Chapters 170 and 197, 
Florida Statutes and not pursuant to the Uniform Method, unless otherwise directed 
by the Trustee acting at the direction of the Majority Owners. 

(b) All Series 2021 Assessments that are collected directly by the District 
and not via the Uniform Method shall be due and payable by the applicable 
landowner no later than thirty (30) days prior to each Interest Payment Date. 

Section 705. Foreclosure of Assessment Lien.  Notwithstanding Section 
814 of the Master Indenture or any other provision of the Indenture to the contrary, 
the following provisions shall apply with respect to the Series 2021 Assessments and 
Series 2021 Bonds.   



 

26 

If any property shall be offered for sale for the nonpayment of any Series 2021 
Assessments and no person or persons shall purchase such property for an amount 
equal to the full amount due on the Series 2021 Assessments (principal, interest, 
penalties and costs, plus attorneys' fees, if any), the property may then be purchased 
by the District for an amount less than or equal to the balance due on the Series 2021 
Assessments (principal, interest, penalties and costs, plus attorneys' fees, if any), 
from any legally available funds of the District and the District shall receive, in its 
corporate name or in the name of a special purpose entity, title to the property for the 
benefit of the Owners of the Series 2021 Bonds; provided that the Trustee shall have 
the right acting at the direction of the Majority Owners, but shall not be obligated, to 
direct the District with respect to any action taken pursuant to this Section 705. The 
District, either through its own actions or actions caused to be taken through the 
Trustee, shall have the power to lease or sell such property, and deposit all of the net 
proceeds of any such lease or sale into the Series 2021 Revenue Account.  The District, 
either through its own actions or actions caused to be taken through the Trustee, 
agrees that it shall, after being provided assurances satisfactory to it of payment of 
its fees, costs and expenses for doing so, be required to take the measures provided 
by law for listing for sale of property acquired by it as trustee for the benefit of the 
Owners of the Series 2021 Bonds within sixty (60) days after the receipt of the request 
therefor signed by the Trustee or the Majority Owners. The Trustee may, upon 
direction from the Majority Owners, pay costs associated with any actions taken by 
District pursuant to this paragraph from any moneys legally available for such 
purpose held under the Indenture. 

Section 706. Owner Direction and Consent with Respect to Series 
2021 Acquisition and Construction Account Upon Occurrence of Event of 
Default.  In accordance with the provisions of the Indenture, the Series 2021 Bonds 
are payable solely from the Series 2021 Pledged Revenues and the Series 2021 
Pledged Funds held by the Trustee under the Indenture for such purpose.  Anything 
in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the District hereby acknowledges 
that (i) the Series 2021 Pledged Funds includes, without limitation, all amounts on 
deposit in the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account then held by the 
Trustee, (ii) upon the occurrence of an Event of Default with respect to the Series 
2021 Bonds, the Series 2021 Pledged Funds may not be used by the District (whether 
to pay Costs of the Series 2021 Project or otherwise) without the consent of the 
Majority Owners, except to the extent that prior to the Trustee notifying the District 
of such declared Event of Default the District had incurred a binding obligation with 
third parties for work on the Series 2021 Project and payment is for such work, and 
(iii) upon the occurrence of an Event of Default with respect to the Series 2021 Bonds, 
the Series 2021 Pledged Funds may be used by the Trustee, at the direction or with 
the approval of the Majority Owners, to pay the reasonable costs and expenses 
incurred in connection with the pursuit of remedies under the Indenture.  The District 
shall not enter into any binding agreement with respect to the Series 2021 Project 
that will cause the expenditure of additional funds from the Series 2021 Trust Estate 



 

27 

after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default unless 
authorized in writing by the Majority Owners. 

Section 707. Assignment of District's Rights Under Collateral 
Assignment.  Subject to the terms of the Collateral Assignment, the District hereby 
assigns its rights under the Collateral Assignment to the Trustee for the benefit of 
the Owners, from time to time, of the Series 2021 Bonds.  The Trustee shall not be 
deemed to have accepted any obligation under the Collateral Assignment by virtue of 
such assignment. 

Section 708. Enforcement of True-Up Agreement and Completion 
Agreement.  The District, either through its own actions, or actions caused to be 
taken through the Trustee, covenants that it shall strictly enforce all of the provisions 
of the True-Up Agreement and the Completion Agreement and, upon the occurrence 
and continuance of a default under either or both of such Agreements, the District 
covenants and agrees that the Trustee, at the direction of the Majority Owners, shall 
act on behalf of and in the District's stead to enforce the provisions of such 
Agreements and to pursue all available remedies under applicable law or in equity.  
Anything herein or in the Master Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, failure 
of the District to enforce, or permit the Trustee to enforce in its stead, all of the 
provisions of the True-Up Agreement and the Completion Agreement upon demand 
of the Majority Owners, or the Trustee at the direction of the Majority Owners, shall 
constitute an Event of Default under the Indenture, provided, however, that the 
District shall have a reasonable opportunity to cure. 

Section 709. Payment of Rebate Amount.  Anything herein or in the 
Master Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the District shall cause a Rebate 
Analyst to determine the Rebate Amount, if any, at the times and in the manner 
provided in the Tax Regulatory Covenants attached as an exhibit to the Arbitrage 
Certificate.  If a Rebate Amount shall be due, the District shall deliver to the Trustee 
the written direction of an Authorized Officer to pay from the Series 2021 Rebate 
Account, or from any other available funds as shall be provided in such written 
direction, the Rebate Amount to the District for remittance to the Internal Revenue 
Service.  The Trustee may conclusively rely on such written direction and shall have 
no responsibility for the calculation or payment of the Rebate Amount, if any.  The 
District shall not be required to provide the report of the Rebate Analyst to the 
Trustee. 

Section 710. Provisions Relating to Bankruptcy or Insolvency of 
Landowner.  (a)  The provisions of this Section 710 shall be applicable both before 
and after the commencement, whether voluntary or involuntary, of any case, 
proceeding or other action by or against any owner of any tax parcel, or tax parcels 
which are in the aggregate, subject to at least five percent (5%) of the Series 2021 
Assessments pledged to the Series 2021 Bonds (an "Insolvent Taxpayer") under any 
existing or future law of any jurisdiction relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, 



 

28 

reorganization, assignment for the benefit of creditors, or relief of debtors (a 
"Proceeding"). 

(b) The District acknowledges and agrees that, although the Series 2021 
Bonds were issued by the District, the Owners of the Series 2021 Bonds are 
categorically the party with the ultimate financial stake in the transaction and, 
consequently, the party with a vested and pecuniary interest in a Proceeding.  In the 
event of any Proceeding involving an Insolvent Taxpayer:  

(i) the District hereby agrees that it shall seek to secure the written 
consent of the Trustee, acting at the direction of the Majority Owners of the 
Series 2021 Bonds then Outstanding, prior to making any election, giving any 
consent, commencing any action or filing any motion, claim, obligation, notice 
or application or in taking any other action or position in any Proceeding or in 
any action related to a Proceeding that affects, either directly or indirectly, the 
Series 2021 Assessments, the Series 2021 Bonds then Outstanding or any 
rights of the Trustee under the Indenture (provided, however, the Trustee shall 
be deemed to have consented, on behalf of the Majority Owners of the Series 
2021 Bonds then Outstanding, to the proposed action if the District does not 
receive a written response from the Trustee within sixty (60) days following 
request for consent);  

(ii) the District hereby agrees that it shall not make any election, give 
any consent, commence any action or file any motion, claim, obligation, notice 
or application or take any other action or position in any Proceeding or in any 
action related to a Proceeding that affects, either directly or indirectly, the 
Series 2021 Assessments, the Series 2021 Bonds then Outstanding or any 
rights of the Trustee under the Indenture that are inconsistent with any 
written consent received (or deemed received) from the Trustee;  

(iii) the District hereby agrees that it shall seek the written consent 
of the Trustee prior to filing and voting in any such Proceeding (provided, 
however, the Trustee shall be deemed to have consented, on behalf of the 
Majority Owners of the Series 2021 Bonds then Outstanding, to the proposed 
action if the District does not receive a written response from the Trustee 
within sixty (60) days following request for consent);  

(iv) the Trustee shall have the right, by interpleader or otherwise, to 
seek or oppose any relief in any such Proceeding that the District, as claimant 
with respect to the Series 2021 Assessments, would have the right to pursue, 
and, if the Trustee chooses to exercise any such rights, the District shall not 
oppose the Trustee in seeking to exercise any and all rights and taking any and 
all actions available to the District in connection with any Proceeding of any 
Insolvent Taxpayer, including, without limitation, the right to file and/or 
prosecute and/or defend any claims and proofs of claims, to vote to accept or 



 

29 

reject a plan, to seek dismissal of the Proceeding, to seek stay relief to 
commence or continue foreclosure or pursue any other available remedies as to 
the Series 2021 Assessments, to seek substantive consolidation, to seek to 
shorten the Insolvent Taxpayer's exclusivity periods or to oppose any motion 
to extend such exclusivity periods, to oppose any motion for use of cash 
collateral or for authority to obtain financing, to oppose any sale procedures 
motion or any sale motion, to propose a competing plan of reorganization or 
liquidation, or to make any election under Section 1111(b) of the Bankruptcy 
Code; and  

(v) the District shall not challenge the validity or amount of any 
claim submitted in good faith in such Proceeding by the Trustee or any 
valuations of the lands owned by any Insolvent Taxpayer submitted in good 
faith by the Trustee in such Proceeding or take any other action in such 
Proceeding, which is adverse to the Trustee's enforcement of the District's 
claim and rights with respect to the Series 2021 Assessments or receipt of 
adequate protection (as that term is defined in the Bankruptcy Code).  Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the District agrees that the Trustee 
shall have the right to (A) file a proof of claim with respect to the Series 2021 
Assessments, (B) deliver to the District a copy thereof, together with evidence 
of the filing with the appropriate court or other authority, and (C) defend any 
objection filed to said proof of claim.  

The District acknowledges and agrees that it shall not be a defense to a 
breach of the foregoing covenants that it has acted on advice of counsel in not 
complying with the foregoing covenants. 

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (b) above, nothing in this 
Section 710 shall preclude the District from becoming a party to a Proceeding in order 
to enforce a claim for Operation and Maintenance Assessments, and the District shall 
be free to pursue such a claim in such manner as it shall deem appropriate in its sole 
and absolute discretion.  Any actions taken by the District in pursuance of its claim 
for Operation and Maintenance Assessments in any Proceeding shall not be 
considered an action adverse or inconsistent with the Trustee's rights or consents 
with respect to the Series 2021 Assessments whether such claim is pursued by the 
District or the Trustee; provided, however, that the District shall not oppose any relief 
sought by the Trustee under the authority granted to the Trustee in clause (b)(iv) 
above. 

Section 711. Additional Events of Default.  Section 902 of the Master 
Indenture is hereby amended with respect to the Series 2021 Bonds by inserting at 
the conclusion thereof the following paragraph: 

"(h) More than twenty-five percent (25%) of the Series 2021 Assessments 
shall have become Delinquent Assessments and remain delinquent for more than 



 

30 

ninety (90) days and the Indenture provides for the Trustee to withdraw funds from 
the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account or the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account to pay 
Debt Service on the Series 2021A-1 Bonds or Series 2021A-2 Bonds, as applicable 
(regardless of whether the Trustee does or does not, per the direction of the Majority 
Owners, actually withdraw such funds from the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account or 
the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account to pay Debt Service on the Series 2021A-1 Bonds 
or the Series 2021A-2 Bonds, as applicable); 

(i) Breach by the District of any covenant made by it in the Indenture, 
whether or not notice of such breach has been given and without the necessity for the 
passage of time; and 

(j) More than twenty percent (20%) of the Operation and Maintenance 
Assessments levied by the District on the lands within the Series 2021 Assessment 
Area have not been paid, when due, and remain delinquent for more than sixty (60) 
days." 

Section 712. Enforcement of Remedies.  Anything herein or in the 
Master Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the District covenants and agrees 
that it will take such actions to enforce the remedial provisions of the Indenture, the 
provisions for the collection of Delinquent Assessments, including delinquent Direct 
Billed Operation and Maintenance Assessments, the provisions for the foreclosure of 
liens of Delinquent Assessments, including delinquent Direct Billed Operation and 
Maintenance Assessments, and will take such other appropriate remedial actions as 
shall be directed by the Trustee acting at the direction of, and on behalf of, the 
Majority Owners. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, and unless 
otherwise directed by the Majority Owners and allowed pursuant to Federal or State 
law, the District acknowledges and agrees that (i) upon failure of any property owner 
to pay an installment of Series 2021 Assessments collected directly by the District 
when due, that the entire Series 2021 Assessment on the tax parcel as to which such 
Delinquent Assessment appertains, with interest and penalties thereon, shall 
immediately become due and payable as provided by applicable law and the District 
shall promptly cause to be brought the necessary legal proceedings for the foreclosure 
of liens of Delinquent Assessments, including interest and penalties with respect to 
such tax parcel and (ii) the foreclosure proceedings shall be prosecuted to a sale and 
conveyance of the property involved in said proceedings as now provided by law in 
suits to foreclose mortgages. 

Section 713. Requisite Owners for Direction or Consent.  Anything in 
the Master Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, any direction or consent or 
similar provision which requires fifty-one percent (51%) of the Owners, shall in each 
case be deemed to refer to, and shall mean, the Majority Owners.  



 

31 

Section 714. No Duty to File Annual Report.  Anything in Section 808(a) 
of the Master Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the District shall not be 
required to file an annual report with the Trustee.  

Section 715. Brokerage Statements.  The District acknowledges that to 
the extent regulations of the Comptroller of the Currency or other applicable 
regulatory entity grant the District the right to receive individual confirmations of 
security transactions at no additional cost, as they occur, the District specifically 
waives receipt of such confirmations to the extent permitted by law.  The Trustee will 
furnish the District periodic cash transaction statements that include detail for all 
investment transactions made by the Trustee hereunder.  

Section 716. Patriot Act Requirements of the Trustee.  To help the 
government fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering activities, federal 
law requires all financial institutions to obtain, verify, and record information that 
identifies each person who opens an account.  For a non-individual person such as a 
business entity, a charity, a trust, or other legal entity, the Trustee will ask for 
documentation to verify such non-individual person's formation and existence as a 
legal entity.  The Trustee may also ask to see financial statements, licenses, 
identification and authorization documents from individuals claiming authority to 
represent the entity or other relevant documentation.  

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 



 

32 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Rolling Hills Community Development District 
has caused this Sixth Supplemental Indenture to be signed in its name and on its 
behalf by its Chairman, and its official seal to be hereunto affixed and attested by its 
Secretary, thereunto duly authorized, and to evidence its acceptance of the trusts 
hereby created, the Trustee has caused this Sixth Supplemental Indenture to be 
signed in its name and on its behalf by its duly authorized Vice President. 

 
(SEAL) 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

Attest: 
 
 
      By:___________________________________ 
Secretary Chairman, Board of Supervisors 
 

 
 
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,  
 as Trustee  

 
 
 

By:____________________________________ 
 Vice President 



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

DESCRIPTION OF SERIES 2021 PROJECT 

[See Report of District Engineer Attached Hereto] 



 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

FORMS OF SERIES 2021 BONDS 

[FORM OF SERIES 2021A-1 BOND] 

 
No. 2021A-1R- $[__] 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF FLORIDA 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT REVENUE BOND,  

SERIES 2021A-1 
 

Interest Rate Maturity Date Dated Date CUSIP 
% May 1, 20[__] [Closing Date]  

 
Registered Owner:   CEDE & CO. 

Principal Amount:   

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a 
community development district duly established and existing pursuant to Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes (the "District"), for value received, hereby promises to pay (but 
only out of the sources hereinafter mentioned) to the registered Owner set forth 
above, or registered assigns, on the maturity date shown hereon, unless this Bond 
shall have been called for redemption in whole or in part and payment of the 
Redemption Price (as defined in the Indenture hereinafter mentioned) shall have 
been duly made or provided for, the principal amount shown above and to pay (but 
only out of the sources hereinafter mentioned) interest on the outstanding principal 
amount hereof from the most recent Interest Payment Date to which interest has 
been paid or provided for or, if no interest has been paid, from the Dated Date shown 
above on May 1 and November 1 of each year (each, an "Interest Payment Date"), 
commencing on May 1, 2022, until payment of said principal sum has been made or 
provided for, at the rate per annum set forth above.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
if any Interest Payment Date is not a Business Day (as defined in the Indenture 
hereinafter mentioned), then all amounts due on such Interest Payment Date shall 
be payable on the first Business Day succeeding such Interest Payment Date, but 
shall be deemed paid on such Interest Payment Date.  The interest so payable, and 
punctually paid or duly provided for, on any Interest Payment Date will, as provided 
in the Indenture (hereinafter defined), be paid to the registered Owner hereof at the 
close of business on the regular Record Date for such interest, which shall be the 
fifteenth (15th) day of the calendar month preceding such Interest Payment Date or, 
if such day is not a Business Day, on the Business Day immediately preceding such 
day; provided, however, that on or after the occurrence and continuance of an Event 



 

B-2 

of Default under clause (a) of Section 902 of the Master Indenture (hereinafter 
defined), the payment of interest and principal or Redemption Price or Amortization 
Installments shall be made by the Paying Agent (hereinafter defined) to such person 
who, on a special record date which is fixed by the Trustee, which shall be not more 
than fifteen (15) and not less than ten (10) days prior to the date of such proposed 
payment, appears on the registration books of the Bond Registrar as the registered 
Owner of this Bond.  Any payment of principal, Amortization Installment or 
Redemption Price shall be made only upon presentation hereof at the designated 
corporate trust office of U.S. Bank National Association, located in Orlando, Florida, 
or any alternate or successor paying agent (collectively, the "Paying Agent"), unless 
the Bonds are held in the book-entry system in which case presentation shall not be 
required.  Payment of interest shall be made by check or draft (or by wire transfer to 
the registered Owner set forth above if such Owner requests such method of payment 
in writing on or prior to the regular Record Date for the respective interest payment 
to such account as shall be specified in such request, but only if the registered Owner 
set forth above owns not less than $1,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of the 
Series 2021 Bonds, as defined below).  Interest on this Bond will be computed on the 
basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve (12) thirty (30) day months.  During any 
period that this Bond is registered in the name of Cede & Co., as Nominee of DTC, 
the provisions of the Supplemental Indenture (hereinafter defined) relating to the 
book-entry only system shall apply, including the payment provisions thereof.  
Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the same 
meaning as set forth in the hereinafter defined Indenture. 

This Bond is one of a duly authorized issue of Bonds of the District designated 
"$[A-1 Amount] Rolling Hills Community Development District Capital Improvement 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1" and "$[A-2 Amount] Rolling Hills Community 
Development District Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 
2021A-2" (collectively, the "Series 2021 Bonds") issued as one Series under a Master 
Trust Indenture, dated as of November 1, 2006 (the "Master Indenture"), between the 
District and U.S. Bank National Association, Orlando, Florida, as trustee (the 
"Trustee"), as amended and supplemented by a Sixth Supplemental Trust Indenture, 
dated as of November 1, 2021 (the "Supplemental Indenture" and together with the 
Master Indenture, the "Indenture"), between the District and the Trustee (the Series 
2021 Bonds together with any other Bonds issued under and governed by the terms 
of the Master Indenture are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Bonds").  The 
District will apply the proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds, together with other funds 
of the District, to (i) currently refund and redeem a portion of the District's Capital 
Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A-3, (ii) finance a portion of the 
Cost of acquiring, constructing and equipping assessable improvements comprising 
the Series 2021 Project, (iii) pay certain costs associated with the issuance of the 
Series 2021 Bonds, (iv) make a deposit into the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account to be 
held for the benefit of all of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds and into the Series 2021A-2 
Reserve Account to be held for the benefit of all of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds, and (v) 
pay a portion of the interest to become due on the Series 2021 Bonds.  



 

B-3 

NEITHER THIS BOND NOR THE INTEREST AND PREMIUM, IF ANY, 
PAYABLE HEREON SHALL CONSTITUTE A GENERAL OBLIGATION OR 
GENERAL INDEBTEDNESS OF THE DISTRICT WITHIN THE MEANING OF 
THE CONSTITUTION AND LAWS OF FLORIDA.  THIS BOND AND THE SERIES 
OF WHICH IT IS A PART AND THE INTEREST AND PREMIUM, IF ANY, 
PAYABLE HEREON AND THEREON DO NOT CONSTITUTE EITHER A PLEDGE 
OF THE FULL FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE DISTRICT OR A LIEN UPON ANY 
PROPERTY OF THE DISTRICT OTHER THAN AS PROVIDED IN THE 
INDENTURE.  NO OWNER OR ANY OTHER PERSON SHALL EVER HAVE THE 
RIGHT TO COMPEL THE EXERCISE OF ANY AD VALOREM TAXING POWER 
OF THE DISTRICT OR ANY OTHER PUBLIC AUTHORITY OR GOVERNMENTAL 
BODY TO PAY DEBT SERVICE OR TO PAY ANY OTHER AMOUNTS REQUIRED 
TO BE PAID PURSUANT TO THE INDENTURE OR THE TERMS HEREOF.  
RATHER, DEBT SERVICE AND ANY OTHER AMOUNTS REQUIRED TO BE 
PAID PURSUANT TO THE INDENTURE OR THE TERMS HEREOF SHALL BE 
PAYABLE SOLELY FROM, AND SHALL BE SECURED SOLELY BY, THE SERIES 
2021 PLEDGED REVENUES AND THE SERIES 2021 PLEDGED FUNDS 
PLEDGED TO THE SERIES 2021 BONDS, ALL AS PROVIDED HEREIN AND IN 
THE INDENTURE. 

This Bond is issued under and pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the 
State of Florida, particularly Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, and other applicable 
provisions of law and pursuant to the Indenture, executed counterparts of which 
Indenture are on file at the corporate trust office of the Trustee.  Reference is hereby 
made to the Indenture for the provisions, among others, with respect to the custody 
and application of the proceeds of Series 2021 Bonds issued under the Indenture, the 
collection and disposition of revenues and the funds charged with and pledged to the 
payment of the principal, Amortization Installments and Redemption Price of, and 
the interest on, the Series 2021 Bonds, the nature and extent of the security thereby 
created, the covenants of the District with respect to the levy and collection of Series 
2021 Assessments, the terms and conditions under which the Series 2021 Bonds are 
or may be issued, the rights, duties, obligations and immunities of the District and 
the Trustee under the Indenture and the rights of the Owners of the Series 2021 
Bonds and, by the acceptance of this Bond, the Owner hereof assents to all of the 
provisions of the Indenture.  The Series 2021 Bonds are equally and ratably secured 
by the Series 2021 Trust Estate, without preference or priority of one Series 2021 
Bond over another.  The Supplemental Indenture does not authorize the issuance of 
any Additional Bonds ranking on parity with the Series 2021 Bonds as to the lien and 
pledge of the Series 2021 Trust Estate except, under certain circumstances, 
Refunding Bonds, and the Supplemental Indenture contains provisions limiting the 
imposition of capital Assessments on property subject to the Series 2021 
Assessments.   

The Series 2021 Bonds are issuable only as registered bonds without coupons 
in current interest form in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof 



 

B-4 

(an "Authorized Denomination"); provided, however, that the Series 2021 Bonds shall 
be delivered to the initial purchasers thereof only in aggregate principal amounts of 
$100,000 or integral multiples of Authorized Denominations in excess of $100,000.  
This Bond is transferable by the registered Owner hereof or his duly authorized 
attorney at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee in Orlando, Florida, 
as Bond Registrar (the "Bond Registrar"), upon surrender of this Bond, accompanied 
by a duly executed instrument of transfer in form and with guaranty of signature 
reasonably satisfactory to the Bond Registrar, subject to such reasonable regulations 
as the District or the Bond Registrar may prescribe, and upon payment of any taxes 
or other governmental charges incident to such transfer.  Upon any such transfer a 
new Bond or Bonds, in the same aggregate principal amount as the Bond or Bonds 
transferred, will be issued to the transferee.  At the corporate trust office of the Bond 
Registrar in Orlando, Florida, in the manner and subject to the limitations and 
conditions provided in the Master Indenture and without cost, except for any tax or 
other governmental charge, Bonds may be exchanged for an equal aggregate principal 
amount of Bonds of the same maturity, of Authorized Denominations and bearing 
interest at the same rate or rates. 

The Series 2021A-1 Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the 
option of the District in whole or in part on any date on or after May 1, 20[__], at the 
Redemption Price of the principal amount of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds or portions 
thereof to be redeemed together with accrued interest to the date of redemption. 

 
The Series 2021A-1 Bonds maturing May 1, 20[__], are subject to mandatory 

redemption in part by the District by lot prior to their scheduled maturity from 
moneys in the Series 2021A-1 Sinking Fund Account established under the 
Supplemental Indenture in satisfaction of applicable Amortization Installments at 
the Redemption Price of the principal amount thereof, without premium, together 
with accrued interest to the date of redemption on May 1 of the years and in the 
principal amounts set forth below: 

May 1  
of the Year 

Amortization 
Installment 

May 1  
of the Year 

Amortization 
Installment 

    
    
    

  
* Final maturity 

The Series 2021A-1 Bonds maturing May 1, 20[__], are subject to mandatory 
redemption in part by the District by lot prior to their scheduled maturity from 
moneys in the Series 2021A-1 Sinking Fund Account established under the 
Supplemental Indenture in satisfaction of applicable Amortization Installments at 
the Redemption Price of the principal amount thereof, without premium, together 



 

B-5 

with accrued interest to the date of redemption on May 1 of the years and in the 
principal amounts set forth below: 

May 1  
of the Year 

Amortization 
Installment 

May 1  
of the Year 

Amortization 
Installment 

    
    
    

  
* Final maturity 

The Series 2021A-1 Bonds maturing May 1, 20[__], are subject to mandatory 
redemption in part by the District by lot prior to their scheduled maturity from 
moneys in the Series 2021A-1 Sinking Fund Account established under the 
Supplemental Indenture in satisfaction of applicable Amortization Installments at 
the Redemption Price of the principal amount thereof, without premium, together 
with accrued interest to the date of redemption on May 1 of the years and in the 
principal amounts set forth below: 

May 1  
of the Year 

Amortization 
Installment 

May 1  
of the Year 

Amortization 
Installment 

    
    
    

  
* Final maturity 

The Series 2021A-1 Bonds maturing May 1, 20[__], are subject to mandatory 
redemption in part by the District by lot prior to their scheduled maturity from 
moneys in the Series 2021A-1 Sinking Fund Account established under the 
Supplemental Indenture in satisfaction of applicable Amortization Installments at 
the Redemption Price of the principal amount thereof, without premium, together 
with accrued interest to the date of redemption on May 1 of the years and in the 
principal amounts set forth below: 

May 1  
of the Year 

Amortization 
Installment 

May 1  
of the Year 

Amortization 
Installment 

    
    
    

  
* Final maturity 

As more particularly set forth in the Indenture, any Series 2021A-1 Bonds that 
are purchased by the District with amounts held to pay an Amortization Installment 



 

B-6 

will be cancelled and the principal amount so purchased will be applied as a credit 
against the applicable Amortization Installment of Series 2021A-1 Bonds.  
Amortization Installments are also subject to recalculation, as provided in the 
Supplemental Indenture, as the result of the redemption of Series 2021A-1 Bonds 
other than from scheduled Amortization Installments so as to reamortize the 
remaining Outstanding principal balance of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds as set forth in 
the Supplemental Indenture. 

The Series 2021A-1 Bonds are subject to extraordinary mandatory redemption 
prior to maturity in whole or in part on any Redemption Date at the Redemption 
Price of one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount thereof, without 
premium, together with accrued interest to the Redemption Date, if and to the extent 
that any one or more of the following shall have occurred: 

(a) after there are no longer Series 2021A-2 Bonds Outstanding, on or after 
the Date of Completion of the Series 2021 Project, by application of moneys 
transferred from the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account to the Series 
2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount as provided for in the Indenture; or 

(b) from amounts, including Series 2021A-1 Prepayments, required by the 
Indenture to be deposited into the Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount; or 

(c) from amounts transferred from the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account to 
the Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount resulting from a reduction in the Series 
2021A-1 Reserve Account Requirement resulting from Prepayments of Series 2021A-
1 Assessments as provided for in the Indenture; or 

(d) on the date on which the amount on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 
Reserve Account, together with other moneys available therefor, are sufficient to pay 
and redeem all of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds then Outstanding, including accrued 
interest thereon. 

If less than all of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds shall be called for redemption, the 
particular Series 2021A-1 Bonds or portions of Series 2021A-1 Bonds to be redeemed 
shall be selected by lot by the Bond Registrar as provided in the Indenture, or as 
provided or directed by DTC. 

Notice of each redemption of Series 2021 Bonds is required to be mailed by the 
Bond Registrar, postage prepaid, not less than thirty (30) nor more than forty-five 
(45) days prior to the date of redemption to each registered Owner of Series 2021 
Bonds to be redeemed at the address of such registered Owner recorded on the bond 
register maintained by the Bond Registrar.  On the date designated for redemption, 
notice having been given and money for the payment of the Redemption Price being 
held by the Paying Agent, all as provided in the Indenture, the Series 2021 Bonds or 
such portions thereof so called for redemption shall become and be due and payable 
at the Redemption Price provided for the redemption of such Series 2021 Bonds or 



 

B-7 

such portions thereof on such date, interest on such Series 2021 Bonds or such 
portions thereof so called for redemption shall cease to accrue, such Series 2021 Bonds 
or such portions thereof so called for redemption shall cease to be entitled to any 
benefit or security under the Indenture and the Owners thereof shall have no rights 
in respect of such Series 2021 Bonds or such portions thereof so called for redemption 
except to receive payments of the Redemption Price thereof so held by the Paying 
Agent.  Further notice of redemption shall be given by the Bond Registrar to certain 
registered securities depositories and information services as set forth in the 
Indenture, but no defect in said further notice nor any failure to give all or any portion 
of such further notice shall in any manner defeat the effectiveness of a call for 
redemption if notice thereof is given as above prescribed. 

Pursuant to the Indenture, notice of optional redemption may be conditioned 
upon the occurrence or non-occurrence of such event or events or upon the later 
deposit of moneys therefor as shall be specified in such notice of optional redemption 
and may also be subject to rescission by the District if expressly set forth in such 
notice. 

The Owner of this Bond shall have no right to enforce the provisions of the 
Indenture or to institute an action to enforce the covenants therein, or to take any 
action with respect to any Event of Default under the Indenture, or to institute, 
appear in or defend any suit or other proceeding with respect thereto, except as 
provided in the Indenture. 

In certain events, on the conditions, in the manner and with the effect set forth 
in the Indenture, the principal of all the Series 2021 Bonds then Outstanding under 
the Indenture may become and may be declared due and payable before the stated 
maturities thereof, with the interest accrued thereon. 

Modifications or alterations of the Master Indenture or of any indenture 
supplemental thereto may be made only to the extent and in the circumstances 
permitted by the Master Indenture. 

Any moneys held by the Trustee or any Paying Agent in trust for the payment 
and discharge of any Bond which remain unclaimed for two (2) years after the date 
when such Bond has become due and payable, either at its stated maturity date or by 
call for earlier redemption, if such moneys were held by the Trustee or any Paying 
Agent at such date, or for two (2) years after the date of deposit of such moneys if 
deposited with the Trustee or Paying Agent after the date when such Bond became 
due and payable, shall be paid to the District, and thereupon and thereafter no 
claimant shall have any rights against the Paying Agent to or in respect of such 
moneys. 

If the District deposits or causes to be deposited with the Trustee cash or 
Federal Securities sufficient to pay the principal or Redemption Price of any 



 

B-8 

Series 2021 Bonds becoming due at maturity or by call for redemption in the manner 
set forth in the Indenture, together with the interest accrued to the due date, the lien 
of the Series 2021 Bonds as to the Series 2021 Trust Estate shall be discharged, 
except for the rights of the Owners thereof with respect to the funds so deposited as 
provided in the Indenture. 

This Bond shall have all the qualities and incidents, including negotiability, of 
investment securities within the meaning and for all the purposes of the Uniform 
Commercial Code of the State of Florida. 

This Bond is issued with the intent that the laws of the State of Florida shall 
govern its construction. 

All acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution and laws of the 
State of Florida and the resolutions of the District to happen, exist and be performed 
precedent to and in the issuance of this Bond and the execution of the Indenture, have 
happened, exist and have been performed as so required.  This Bond shall not be valid 
or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any benefit or security under 
the Indenture until it shall have been authenticated by the execution by the Trustee 
of the Certificate of Authentication endorsed hereon. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 



 

B-9 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Rolling Hills Community Development District 
has caused this Bond to bear the signature of the Chairman of its Board of 
Supervisors and the official seal of the District to be impressed or imprinted hereon 
and attested by the signature of the Secretary to the Board of Supervisors. 

Attest: ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
 
  By:  
Secretary Chairman, Board of Supervisors 

 

(SEAL) 

 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This Bond is one of the Bonds of the Series designated herein, described in the 
within-mentioned Indenture. 

 U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,  
 as Trustee 
 
Date of Authentication: 
 By:  
[Closing Date]   Vice President 

 

CERTIFICATE OF VALIDATION 

This Bond is one of a Series of Bonds which were validated by judgment of the 
Fourth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Clay County entered on September 11, 
2006. 

 

   
 Chairman, Board of Supervisors, 
 Rolling Hills  
 Community Development District 



 

B-10 

[FORM OF ABBREVIATIONS] 

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face of the 
within Bond, shall be construed as though they were written out in full according to 
applicable laws or regulations. 

TEN COM as tenants in common 

TEN ENT as tenants by the entireties 

JT TEN as joint tenants with the right of survivorship and not as tenants in 
common 

UNIFORM TRANSFER MIN ACT - __________ Custodian __________ under 
Uniform Transfer to Minors Act __________ (Cust.) (Minor) 

 (State) 

Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in the above list. 

 

[FORM OF ASSIGNMENT] 

For value received, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto 
_____________________ the within Bond and all rights thereunder, and hereby 
irrevocably constitutes and appoints _________________________________, attorney to 
transfer the said Bond on the books of the District, with full power of substitution in 
the premises. 

Dated: 

Social Security Number or Employer: 

Identification Number of Transferee: 

Signature guaranteed: 

NOTICE: Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an institution which is a 
participant in the Securities Transfer Agent Medallion Program (STAMP) or similar 
program. 

NOTICE:  The assignor's signature to this Assignment must correspond with 
the name as it appears on the face of the within Bond in every particular without 
alteration or any change whatsoever. 

  



 

B-11 

[FORM OF SERIES 2021A-2 BOND] 

 
No. 2021A-2R- $[__] 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF FLORIDA 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT REVENUE AND REFUNDING BOND,  

SERIES 2021A-2 
 

Interest Rate Maturity Date Dated Date CUSIP 
% May 1, 20[__] [Closing Date]  

 
Registered Owner:   CEDE & CO. 

Principal Amount:   

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a 
community development district duly established and existing pursuant to Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes (the "District"), for value received, hereby promises to pay (but 
only out of the sources hereinafter mentioned) to the registered Owner set forth 
above, or registered assigns, on the maturity date shown hereon, unless this Bond 
shall have been called for redemption in whole or in part and payment of the 
Redemption Price (as defined in the Indenture hereinafter mentioned) shall have 
been duly made or provided for, the principal amount shown above and to pay (but 
only out of the sources hereinafter mentioned) interest on the outstanding principal 
amount hereof from the most recent Interest Payment Date to which interest has 
been paid or provided for or, if no interest has been paid, from the Dated Date shown 
above on May 1 and November 1 of each year (each, an "Interest Payment Date"), 
commencing on May 1, 2022, until payment of said principal sum has been made or 
provided for, at the rate per annum set forth above.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
if any Interest Payment Date is not a Business Day (as defined in the Indenture 
hereinafter mentioned), then all amounts due on such Interest Payment Date shall 
be payable on the first Business Day succeeding such Interest Payment Date, but 
shall be deemed paid on such Interest Payment Date.  The interest so payable, and 
punctually paid or duly provided for, on any Interest Payment Date will, as provided 
in the Indenture (hereinafter defined), be paid to the registered Owner hereof at the 
close of business on the regular Record Date for such interest, which shall be the 
fifteenth (15th) day of the calendar month preceding such Interest Payment Date or, 
if such day is not a Business Day, on the Business Day immediately preceding such 
day; provided, however, that on or after the occurrence and continuance of an Event 
of Default under clause (a) of Section 902 of the Master Indenture (hereinafter 
defined), the payment of interest and principal or Redemption Price shall be made by 
the Paying Agent (hereinafter defined) to such person who, on a special record date 



 

B-12 

which is fixed by the Trustee, which shall be not more than fifteen (15) and not less 
than ten (10) days prior to the date of such proposed payment, appears on the 
registration books of the Bond Registrar as the registered Owner of this Bond.  Any 
payment of principal or Redemption Price shall be made only upon presentation 
hereof at the designated corporate trust office of U.S. Bank National Association, 
located in Orlando, Florida, or any alternate or successor paying agent (collectively, 
the "Paying Agent"), unless the Bonds are held in the book-entry system in which 
case presentation shall not be required.  Payment of interest shall be made by check 
or draft (or by wire transfer to the registered Owner set forth above if such Owner 
requests such method of payment in writing on or prior to the regular Record Date 
for the respective interest payment to such account as shall be specified in such 
request, but only if the registered Owner set forth above owns not less than 
$1,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2021 Bonds, as defined 
below).  Interest on this Bond will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year 
comprised of twelve (12) thirty (30) day months.  During any period that this Bond is 
registered in the name of Cede & Co., as Nominee of DTC, the provisions of the 
Supplemental Indenture (hereinafter defined) relating to the book-entry only system 
shall apply, including the payment provisions thereof.  Capitalized terms used herein 
and not otherwise defined shall have the same meaning as set forth in the hereinafter 
defined Indenture. 

This Bond is one of a duly authorized issue of Bonds of the District designated 
"$[A-1 Amount] Rolling Hills Community Development District Capital Improvement 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1" and "$[A-2 Amount] Rolling Hills Community 
Development District Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 
2021A-2" (collectively, the "Series 2021 Bonds") issued as one Series under a Master 
Trust Indenture, dated as of November 1, 2006 (the "Master Indenture"), between the 
District and U.S. Bank National Association, Orlando, Florida, as trustee (the 
"Trustee"), as amended and supplemented by a Sixth Supplemental Trust Indenture, 
dated as of November 1, 2021 (the "Supplemental Indenture" and together with the 
Master Indenture, the "Indenture"), between the District and the Trustee (the Series 
2021 Bonds together with any other Bonds issued under and governed by the terms 
of the Master Indenture are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Bonds").  The 
District will apply the proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds, together with other funds 
of the District, to (i) currently refund and redeem a portion of the District's Capital 
Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A-3, (ii) finance a portion of the 
Cost of acquiring, constructing and equipping assessable improvements comprising 
the Series 2021 Project, (iii) pay certain costs associated with the issuance of the 
Series 2021 Bonds, (iv) make a deposit into the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account to be 
held for the benefit of all of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds and into the Series 2021A-2 
Reserve Account to be held for the benefit of all of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds, and (v) 
pay a portion of the interest to become due on the Series 2021 Bonds.  

NEITHER THIS BOND NOR THE INTEREST AND PREMIUM, IF ANY, 
PAYABLE HEREON SHALL CONSTITUTE A GENERAL OBLIGATION OR 



 

B-13 

GENERAL INDEBTEDNESS OF THE DISTRICT WITHIN THE MEANING OF 
THE CONSTITUTION AND LAWS OF FLORIDA.  THIS BOND AND THE SERIES 
OF WHICH IT IS A PART AND THE INTEREST AND PREMIUM, IF ANY, 
PAYABLE HEREON AND THEREON DO NOT CONSTITUTE EITHER A PLEDGE 
OF THE FULL FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE DISTRICT OR A LIEN UPON ANY 
PROPERTY OF THE DISTRICT OTHER THAN AS PROVIDED IN THE 
INDENTURE.  NO OWNER OR ANY OTHER PERSON SHALL EVER HAVE THE 
RIGHT TO COMPEL THE EXERCISE OF ANY AD VALOREM TAXING POWER 
OF THE DISTRICT OR ANY OTHER PUBLIC AUTHORITY OR GOVERNMENTAL 
BODY TO PAY DEBT SERVICE OR TO PAY ANY OTHER AMOUNTS REQUIRED 
TO BE PAID PURSUANT TO THE INDENTURE OR THE TERMS HEREOF.  
RATHER, DEBT SERVICE AND ANY OTHER AMOUNTS REQUIRED TO BE 
PAID PURSUANT TO THE INDENTURE OR THE TERMS HEREOF SHALL BE 
PAYABLE SOLELY FROM, AND SHALL BE SECURED SOLELY BY, THE SERIES 
2021 PLEDGED REVENUES AND THE SERIES 2021 PLEDGED FUNDS 
PLEDGED TO THE SERIES 2021 BONDS, ALL AS PROVIDED HEREIN AND IN 
THE INDENTURE. 

This Bond is issued under and pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the 
State of Florida, particularly Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, and other applicable 
provisions of law and pursuant to the Indenture, executed counterparts of which 
Indenture are on file at the corporate trust office of the Trustee.  Reference is hereby 
made to the Indenture for the provisions, among others, with respect to the custody 
and application of the proceeds of Series 2021 Bonds issued under the Indenture, the 
collection and disposition of revenues and the funds charged with and pledged to the 
payment of the principal, Amortization Installments and Redemption Price of, and 
the interest on, the Series 2021 Bonds, the nature and extent of the security thereby 
created, the covenants of the District with respect to the levy and collection of Series 
2021 Assessments, the terms and conditions under which the Series 2021 Bonds are 
or may be issued, the rights, duties, obligations and immunities of the District and 
the Trustee under the Indenture and the rights of the Owners of the Series 2021 
Bonds and, by the acceptance of this Bond, the Owner hereof assents to all of the 
provisions of the Indenture.  The Series 2021 Bonds are equally and ratably secured 
by the Series 2021 Trust Estate, without preference or priority of one Series 2021 
Bond over another.  The Supplemental Indenture does not authorize the issuance of 
any Additional Bonds ranking on parity with the Series 2021 Bonds as to the lien and 
pledge of the Series 2021 Trust Estate except, under certain circumstances, 
Refunding Bonds, and the Supplemental Indenture contains provisions limiting the 
imposition of capital Assessments on property subject to the Series 2021 
Assessments.   

The Series 2021 Bonds are issuable only as registered bonds without coupons 
in current interest form in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof 
(an "Authorized Denomination"); provided, however, that the Series 2021 Bonds shall 
be delivered to the initial purchasers thereof only in aggregate principal amounts of 



 

B-14 

$100,000 or integral multiples of Authorized Denominations in excess of $100,000.  
This Bond is transferable by the registered Owner hereof or his duly authorized 
attorney at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee in Orlando, Florida, 
as Bond Registrar (the "Bond Registrar"), upon surrender of this Bond, accompanied 
by a duly executed instrument of transfer in form and with guaranty of signature 
reasonably satisfactory to the Bond Registrar, subject to such reasonable regulations 
as the District or the Bond Registrar may prescribe, and upon payment of any taxes 
or other governmental charges incident to such transfer.  Upon any such transfer a 
new Bond or Bonds, in the same aggregate principal amount as the Bond or Bonds 
transferred, will be issued to the transferee.  At the corporate trust office of the Bond 
Registrar in Orlando, Florida, in the manner and subject to the limitations and 
conditions provided in the Master Indenture and without cost, except for any tax or 
other governmental charge, Bonds may be exchanged for an equal aggregate principal 
amount of Bonds of the same maturity, of Authorized Denominations and bearing 
interest at the same rate or rates. 

The Series 2021A-2 Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to maturity at 
the option of the District.  

The Series 2021A-2 Bonds are subject to extraordinary mandatory redemption 
prior to maturity in whole or in part on any Redemption Date at the Redemption 
Price of one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount thereof, without 
premium, together with accrued interest to the Redemption Date, if and to the extent 
that any one or more of the following shall have occurred: 

(a) on or after the Date of Completion of the Series 2021 Project, by 
application of moneys transferred from the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction 
Account to the Series 2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount as provided for in the 
Indenture; or 

(b) from amounts, including Series 2021A-2 Prepayments, required by the 
Indenture to be deposited into the Series 2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount; or 

(c) from amounts transferred from the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account to 
the Series 2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount resulting from a reduction in the Series 
2021A-2 Reserve Account Requirement resulting from Prepayments of Series 2021A-
2 Assessments as provided for in the Indenture; or 

(d) on the date on which the amount on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 
Reserve Account, together with other moneys available therefor, are sufficient to pay 
and redeem all of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds then Outstanding, including accrued 
interest thereon. 

If less than all of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds shall be called for redemption, the 
particular Series 2021A-2 Bonds or portions of Series 2021A-2 Bonds to be redeemed 



 

B-15 

shall be selected by lot by the Bond Registrar as provided in the Indenture, or as 
provided or directed by DTC. 

Notice of each redemption of Series 2021 Bonds is required to be mailed by the 
Bond Registrar, postage prepaid, not less than thirty (30) nor more than forty-five 
(45) days prior to the date of redemption to each registered Owner of Series 2021 
Bonds to be redeemed at the address of such registered Owner recorded on the bond 
register maintained by the Bond Registrar.  On the date designated for redemption, 
notice having been given and money for the payment of the Redemption Price being 
held by the Paying Agent, all as provided in the Indenture, the Series 2021 Bonds or 
such portions thereof so called for redemption shall become and be due and payable 
at the Redemption Price provided for the redemption of such Series 2021 Bonds or 
such portions thereof on such date, interest on such Series 2021 Bonds or such 
portions thereof so called for redemption shall cease to accrue, such Series 2021 Bonds 
or such portions thereof so called for redemption shall cease to be entitled to any 
benefit or security under the Indenture and the Owners thereof shall have no rights 
in respect of such Series 2021 Bonds or such portions thereof so called for redemption 
except to receive payments of the Redemption Price thereof so held by the Paying 
Agent.  Further notice of redemption shall be given by the Bond Registrar to certain 
registered securities depositories and information services as set forth in the 
Indenture, but no defect in said further notice nor any failure to give all or any portion 
of such further notice shall in any manner defeat the effectiveness of a call for 
redemption if notice thereof is given as above prescribed. 

The Owner of this Bond shall have no right to enforce the provisions of the 
Indenture or to institute an action to enforce the covenants therein, or to take any 
action with respect to any Event of Default under the Indenture, or to institute, 
appear in or defend any suit or other proceeding with respect thereto, except as 
provided in the Indenture. 

In certain events, on the conditions, in the manner and with the effect set forth 
in the Indenture, the principal of all the Series 2021 Bonds then Outstanding under 
the Indenture may become and may be declared due and payable before the stated 
maturities thereof, with the interest accrued thereon. 

Modifications or alterations of the Master Indenture or of any indenture 
supplemental thereto may be made only to the extent and in the circumstances 
permitted by the Master Indenture. 

Any moneys held by the Trustee or any Paying Agent in trust for the payment 
and discharge of any Bond which remain unclaimed for two (2) years after the date 
when such Bond has become due and payable, either at its stated maturity date or by 
call for earlier redemption, if such moneys were held by the Trustee or any Paying 
Agent at such date, or for two (2) years after the date of deposit of such moneys if 
deposited with the Trustee or Paying Agent after the date when such Bond became 



 

B-16 

due and payable, shall be paid to the District, and thereupon and thereafter no 
claimant shall have any rights against the Paying Agent to or in respect of such 
moneys. 

If the District deposits or causes to be deposited with the Trustee cash or 
Federal Securities sufficient to pay the principal or Redemption Price of any 
Series 2021 Bonds becoming due at maturity or by call for redemption in the manner 
set forth in the Indenture, together with the interest accrued to the due date, the lien 
of the Series 2021 Bonds as to the Series 2021 Trust Estate shall be discharged, 
except for the rights of the Owners thereof with respect to the funds so deposited as 
provided in the Indenture. 

This Bond shall have all the qualities and incidents, including negotiability, of 
investment securities within the meaning and for all the purposes of the Uniform 
Commercial Code of the State of Florida. 

This Bond is issued with the intent that the laws of the State of Florida shall 
govern its construction. 

All acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution and laws of the 
State of Florida and the resolutions of the District to happen, exist and be performed 
precedent to and in the issuance of this Bond and the execution of the Indenture, have 
happened, exist and have been performed as so required.  This Bond shall not be valid 
or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any benefit or security under 
the Indenture until it shall have been authenticated by the execution by the Trustee 
of the Certificate of Authentication endorsed hereon. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 



 

B-17 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Rolling Hills Community Development District 
has caused this Bond to bear the signature of the Chairman of its Board of 
Supervisors and the official seal of the District to be impressed or imprinted hereon 
and attested by the signature of the Secretary to the Board of Supervisors. 

Attest: ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
 
  By:  
Secretary Chairman, Board of Supervisors 

 

(SEAL) 

 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This Bond is one of the Bonds of the Series designated herein, described in the 
within-mentioned Indenture. 

 U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,  
 as Trustee 
 
Date of Authentication: 
 By:  
[Closing Date]   Vice President 

 

CERTIFICATE OF VALIDATION 

This Bond is one of a Series of Bonds which were validated by judgment of the 
Fourth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Clay County entered on September 11, 
2006. 

 

   
 Chairman, Board of Supervisors, 
 Rolling Hills  
 Community Development District 



 

B-18 

[FORM OF ABBREVIATIONS] 

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face of the 
within Bond, shall be construed as though they were written out in full according to 
applicable laws or regulations. 

TEN COM as tenants in common 

TEN ENT as tenants by the entireties 

JT TEN as joint tenants with the right of survivorship and not as tenants in 
common 

UNIFORM TRANSFER MIN ACT - __________ Custodian __________ under 
Uniform Transfer to Minors Act __________ (Cust.) (Minor) 

 (State) 

Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in the above list. 

 

[FORM OF ASSIGNMENT] 

For value received, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto 
_____________________ the within Bond and all rights thereunder, and hereby 
irrevocably constitutes and appoints _________________________________, attorney to 
transfer the said Bond on the books of the District, with full power of substitution in 
the premises. 

Dated: 

Social Security Number or Employer: 

Identification Number of Transferee: 

Signature guaranteed: 

NOTICE: Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an institution which is a 
participant in the Securities Transfer Agent Medallion Program (STAMP) or similar 
program. 

NOTICE:  The assignor's signature to this Assignment must correspond with 
the name as it appears on the face of the within Bond in every particular without 
alteration or any change whatsoever. 

 



 

C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

FORM OF REQUISITION FOR SERIES 2021 PROJECT 

The undersigned, an Authorized Officer of Rolling Hills Community 
Development District (the "District") hereby submits the following requisition for 
disbursement under and pursuant to the terms of the Master Trust Indenture from 
the District to U.S. Bank National Association, Orlando, Florida, as trustee (the 
"Trustee"), dated as of November 1, 2006 (the "Master Indenture"), as supplemented 
by the Sixth Supplemental Trust Indenture from the District to the Trustee, dated as 
of November 1, 2021 (the "Supplemental Indenture" and together with the Master 
Indenture, the "Indenture") (all capitalized terms used herein shall have the meaning 
ascribed to such term in the Indenture): 

(A) Requisition Number: 

(B) Name of Payee: 

(C) Amount Payable: 

(D) Purpose for which paid or incurred (refer also to specific contract if 
amount is due and payable pursuant to a contract involving progress payments or 
state Costs of Issuance, if applicable): 

(E) Fund or Account and subaccount, if any, from which disbursement to be 
made: 

The undersigned hereby certifies that: 

 obligations in the stated amount set forth above have been incurred by 
the District, that each disbursement set forth above is a proper charge against the 
Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account referenced above, that each 
disbursement set forth above was incurred in connection with the acquisition and/or 
construction of the Series 2021 Project and each represents a Cost of the Series 2021 
Project, and has not previously been paid out of such Account;  

OR  

  this requisition is for costs of issuance payable from the Series 2021 
Costs of Issuance Account that has not previously been paid out of such Account. 

The undersigned hereby further certifies that there has not been filed with or 
served upon the District notice of any lien, right to lien, or attachment upon, or claim 
affecting the right to receive payment of, any of the moneys payable to the Payee set 
forth above, which has not been released or will not be released simultaneously with 
the payment hereof. 

 

 



 

C-2 

The undersigned hereby further certifies that such requisition contains no item 
representing payment on account of any retained percentage which the District is at 
the date of such certificate entitled to retain. 

Originals or copies of the invoice(s) from the vendor of the property acquired 
or services rendered with respect to which disbursement is hereby requested are on 
file with the District. 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 

 

By:   
 Authorized Officer 

 

CONSULTING ENGINEER'S APPROVAL FOR  
NON-COST OF ISSUANCE REQUESTS ONLY 

If this requisition is for a disbursement from other than the Series 2021 Costs 
of Issuance Account, the undersigned Consulting Engineer hereby certifies that this 
disbursement is for a Cost of the Series 2021 Project and is consistent with (i) the 
applicable acquisition or construction contract, (ii) the plans and specifications for the 
portion of the Series 2021 Project with respect to which such disbursement is being 
made, and (iii) the report of the Consulting Engineer attached as an exhibit to the 
Supplemental Indenture, as such report shall have been amended or modified on the 
date hereof. 

 

______________________________ 
Consulting Engineer 

 



 

 

PRELIMINARY LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM DATED OCTOBER __, 2021 

NEW ISSUE - BOOK-ENTRY ONLY NOT RATED 

In the opinion of Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A., Tampa, Florida, Bond Counsel, under existing statutes, 
regulations, rulings and court decisions and subject to the conditions described herein under “TAX MATTERS,” 
interest on the Series 2021 Bonds is (a) excludable from gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax 
purposes, except as otherwise described herein under the caption “TAX MATTERS” and (b) not an item of tax 
preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax.  Such interest also may be subject to other federal 
income tax consequences referred to herein under “TAX MATTERS.”  See “TAX MATTERS” herein for a general 
discussion of Bond Counsel’s opinion and other tax considerations. 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
(Clay County, Florida) 

 
$____________* Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 

$____________* Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2 

Dated:  Date of delivery Due:  May 1, as shown below 

The $____________* Rolling Hills Community Development District (Clay County, Florida) 
Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 (the “Series 2021A-1 Bonds”) and $____________* 
Rolling Hills Community Development District (Clay County, Florida) Capital Improvement Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2 (the “Series 2021A-2 Bonds” and, together with the Series 2021A-1 
Bonds, the “Series 2021 Bonds”) are being issued by the Rolling Hills Community Development District 
(the “District”) pursuant to a Master Trust Indenture dated as of November 1, 2006 (the “Master 
Indenture”) from the District to U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”), as 
supplemented by a Sixth Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of November 1, 2021 (the “Sixth 
Supplement,” and, together with the Master Indenture, the “Indenture”) from the District to the Trustee.  
The Series 2021 Bonds are being issued only in fully registered form, in denominations of $5,000 or any 
integral multiple thereof; provided, however, that the Series 2021 Bonds shall be delivered to the initial 
purchasers thereof only in [minimum] aggregate principal amounts of $100,000 [and] integral multiples of 
$5,000 in excess of $100,000.  The District was created pursuant to the Uniform Community Development 
District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended, the Florida Constitution, and other 
applicable provisions of law (collectively, the “Act”), and Ordinance No. 2006-9 enacted by the Board of 
County Commissioners of Clay County, Florida on March 14, 2006, and effective on March 21, 2006. 

The Series 2021 Bonds are payable from and secured by the Series 2021 Trust Estate, which includes 
the Series 2021 Pledged Revenues and the Series 2021 Pledged Funds.  The Series 2021 Pledged Revenues 
consist of the revenues derived by the District from the Series 2021 Assessments (as defined in this Limited 
Offering Memorandum).  The Series 2021 Pledged Funds include all of the Funds and Accounts (except 
for the Series 2021 Rebate Account) established by the Indenture.  See “SECURITY FOR AND SOURCE 
OF PAYMENT OF SERIES 2021 BONDS.” 

The Series 2021 Bonds, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as the owner 
and nominee for The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York.  Purchases of beneficial 
interests in the Series 2021 Bonds will be made in book-entry only form.  Accordingly, principal of and 
interest on the Series 2021 Bonds will be paid from the sources provided below by the Trustee directly to 
Cede & Co. as the nominee of DTC and the registered owner thereof.  Disbursements of such payments to 



 

 

the DTC Participants is the responsibility of DTC and disbursements of such payments to the beneficial 
owners is the responsibility of DTC Participants and the Indirect Participants, as more fully described 
herein.  Any purchaser as a beneficial owner of a Series 2021 Bond must maintain an account with a broker 
or dealer who is, or acts through, a DTC Participant to receive payment of the principal of and interest on 
such Series 2021 Bond.  See “DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS - Book-Entry Only System” 
herein.  The Series 2021 Bonds will bear interest at the fixed rates set forth herein, calculated on the basis 
of a 360-day year comprised of twelve (12) thirty (30) day months.  Interest on the Series 2021 Bonds is 
payable semi-annually on each May 1 and November 1, commencing May 1, 2022. 

Some or all of the Series 2021 Bonds are subject to optional, mandatory and extraordinary 
mandatory redemption at the times, in the amounts, and at the redemption prices as more fully described 
herein.   

The Series 2021 Bonds are being issued to, together with other funds of the District: (i) currently 
refund and redeem a portion of the District’s Capital Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 
2015A-3; (ii) finance a portion of the Cost of the acquiring, constructing and equipping assessable 
improvements comprising the Phase 3B/C Project, as more particularly described herein; (iii) pay certain 
costs associated with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds; (iv) make a deposit into the Series 2021A-1 
Reserve Account to be held for the benefit of all of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds and into the Series 2021A-2 
Reserve Account to be held for the benefit of all of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds; and (v) pay a portion of the 
interest to become due on the Series 2021 Bonds. 

THE SERIES 2021 BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE DISTRICT PAYABLE SOLELY 
OUT OF THE SERIES 2021 TRUST ESTATE PLEDGED THEREFOR UNDER THE INDENTURE AND 
NEITHER THE PROPERTY, THE FULL FAITH AND CREDIT, NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE 
DISTRICT, CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, NOR ANY OTHER POLITICAL 
SUBDIVISION THEREOF, IS PLEDGED AS SECURITY FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2021 
BONDS, EXCEPT THAT THE DISTRICT IS OBLIGATED UNDER THE INDENTURE TO LEVY AND TO 
EVIDENCE AND CERTIFY, OR CAUSE TO BE CERTIFIED, FOR COLLECTION, ASSESSMENTS (AS 
DEFINED HEREIN) TO SECURE AND PAY THE SERIES 2021 BONDS.  THE SERIES 2021 BONDS DO 
NOT CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE DISTRICT, CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA, THE STATE 
OF FLORIDA, NOR ANY OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF WITHIN THE MEANING OF 
ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY LIMITATION. 

THE SERIES 2021 BONDS INVOLVE A DEGREE OF RISK (SEE “BONDOWNERS’ RISKS” 
HEREIN) AND ARE NOT SUITABLE FOR ALL INVESTORS.  PURSUANT TO APPLICABLE FLORIDA 
LAW, THE UNDERWRITER IS LIMITING THIS INITIAL OFFERING OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS TO 
ACCREDITED INVESTORS WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE RULES OF THE FLORIDA 
DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL SERVICES.  THE LIMITATION ON THE INITIAL OFFERING TO 
ACCREDITED INVESTORS DOES NOT DENOTE RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER IN ANY 
SECONDARY MARKET FOR THE SERIES 2021 BONDS.  THE SERIES 2021 BONDS ARE NOT RATED 
OR CREDIT ENHANCED AND NO APPLICATION HAS BEEN MADE FOR A RATING OR CREDIT 
ENHANCEMENT WITH RESPECT TO THE SERIES 2021 BONDS. SEE “SUITABILITY FOR 
INVESTMENT” AND “BONDOWNERS’ RISKS” HEREIN. 

This cover page contains information for quick reference only.  It is not a summary of the Series 
2021 Bonds.  Investors must read the entire Limited Offering Memorandum to obtain information essential 
to the making of an informed investment decision. 

  



 

 

AMOUNTS, INTEREST RATES, MATURITIES, YIELDS, PRICES AND INITIAL CUSIP NUMBERS† 
$________ _____% Series 2021A-1 Term Bond Due May 1, 20___ - Yield: ____% - Price: _____ - CUSIP No. ______† 
$________ _____% Series 2021A-1 Term Bond Due May 1, 20___ - Yield: ____% - Price: _____ - CUSIP No. ______† 
$________ _____% Series 2021A-1 Term Bond Due May 1, 20___ - Yield: ____% - Price: _____ - CUSIP No. ______† 
$________ _____% Series 2021A-1 Term Bond Due May 1, 20___ - Yield: ____% - Price: _____ - CUSIP No. ______† 
$________ _____% Series 2021A-2 Term Bond Due May 1, 20___ - Yield: ____% - Price: _____ - CUSIP No. ______† 

 
The Series 2021 Bonds are offered for delivery when, as and if issued by the District and accepted by MBS 

Capital Markets, LLC, the Underwriter, subject to prior sale, withdrawal or modification of the offer without notice 
and the receipt of the opinion of Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A., Tampa, Florida, Bond Counsel, as to the validity 
of the Series 2021 Bonds and the excludability of interest thereon from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  
Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the District by its counsel, Hopping Green & Sams, P.A., Tallahassee, 
Florida, for the Developer by its in-house counsel, for the Trustee by its counsel, Holland & Knight LLP, Miami, 
Florida, and for the Underwriter by its counsel, Bryant Miller Olive P.A., Orlando, Florida.  It is expected that the 
Series 2021 Bonds will be available for delivery through the facilities of The Depository Trust Company in New York, 
New York on or about November __, 2021. 

MBS CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC 

Dated:  __________, 2021 
 
     
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
† The District is not responsible for the use of CUSIP numbers, nor is any representation made as to their correctness.  They are 

included solely for the convenience of the readers of this Limited Offering Memorandum. 
 



 

 

RED HERRING LANGUAGE: 
 
This Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum and the information contained herein are subject to completion or 

amendment.  Under no circumstances shall this Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum constitute an offer to sell or a 
solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Series 2021 Bonds in any jurisdiction in which such an offer, 
solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration, qualification or exemption under the securities laws of such 
jurisdiction.  The District has deemed this Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum “final,” except for certain permitted 
omissions, within the contemplation of Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission. 



 

 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Shannon Jordan, Chair 

John M. Miller, Vice Chair 
Rose Bock**, Supervisor 

David Church, Supervisor 
Vacant, Supervisor 

 
DISTRICT MANAGER AND METHODOLOGY CONSULTANT 

 
Governmental Management Services, LLC 

St. Augustine, Florida 
 

DISTRICT COUNSEL 
 

Hopping Green & Sams, P.A. 
Tallahassee, Florida 

 
DISTRICT ENGINEER 

 
Alliant Engineering, Inc. 

Jacksonville, Florida 
 

BOND COUNSEL 
 

Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A. 
Tampa, Florida 

 
COUNSEL TO THE UNDERWRITER 

 
Bryant Miller Olive P.A. 

Orlando, Florida 

 
* Affiliate, employee or appointee of Waltham Development Co. 



 

 

REGARDING USE OF THIS LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM 

No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the District, the State 
of Florida or the Underwriter to give any information or to make any representations other than 
those contained in this Limited Offering Memorandum, and, if given or made, such other 
information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the 
foregoing.  This Limited Offering Memorandum does not constitute an offer to sell or the 
solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Series 2021 Bonds by any person 
in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.  
The information set forth herein has been obtained from the District, the District Manager, the 
Developer, the District Engineer, the Methodology Consultant, and other sources that are 
believed by the Underwriter to be reliable.  The District, the District Manager, the Developer, the 
District Engineer and the Methodology Consultant will, at closing, deliver certificates certifying 
that certain of the information each supplied does not contain any untrue statement of a material 
fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated herein or necessary to make the statements 
herein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.  The 
information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither 
the delivery of this Limited Offering Memorandum nor any sale made hereunder shall, under 
any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change with respect to the 
matters described herein since the date hereof. 

The information set forth herein has been obtained from public documents, records and 
other sources, including the District and the Developer, which are believed to be reliable, but it is 
not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by, and is not to be construed as a representation 
of, the Underwriter.  The Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this 
Limited Offering Memorandum.  The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Limited 
Offering Memorandum in accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities to investors under 
the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the 
Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information. 

Statements contained herein that are not purely historical, are forward-looking 
statements, including statements regarding the District’s and the Developer’s expectations, 
hopes, intentions, or strategies regarding the future.  Readers should not place undue reliance on 
forward-looking statements.  All forward-looking statements included herein are based on 
information available on the date hereof, and the District assumes no obligation to update any 
such forward-looking statements.  Such forward-looking statements are necessarily based on 
various assumptions and estimates and are inherently subject to various risks and uncertainties, 
including risks and uncertainties relating to the possible invalidity of the underlying assumptions 
and estimates and possible changes or developments in social, economic, business, industry, 
market, legal, and regulatory circumstances and conditions and actions taken or omitted to be 
taken by third parties.  Assumptions related to the foregoing involve judgments with respect to, 
among other things, future economic, competitive, and market conditions and future business 
decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and many of which are 
beyond the control of the District and the Developer.  Actual results could differ materially from 



 

 

those discussed in such forward-looking statements and, therefore, there can be no assurance that 
the forward-looking statements included herein will prove to be accurate. 

THE UNDERWRITER IS LIMITING THIS OFFERING TO ACCREDITED INVESTORS 
WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE RULES OF THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL 
SERVICES.  HOWEVER, THE LIMITATION ON THE INITIAL OFFERING TO ACCREDITED 
INVESTORS DOES NOT DENOTE RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER IN ANY SECONDARY 
MARKET FOR THE SERIES 2021 BONDS. 

THE SERIES 2021 BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE SECURITIES 
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, 
NOR HAS THE INDENTURE BEEN QUALIFIED UNDER THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 
1939, AS AMENDED, IN RELIANCE UPON CERTAIN EXEMPTIONS SET FORTH IN SUCH 
ACTS.  THE REGISTRATION, QUALIFICATION OR EXEMPTION OF THE SERIES 2021 
BONDS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAW PROVISIONS OF 
ANY JURISDICTIONS WHEREIN THESE SECURITIES HAVE BEEN OR WILL BE 
REGISTERED, QUALIFIED OR EXEMPTED SHOULD NOT BE REGARDED AS A 
RECOMMENDATION THEREOF BY SUCH JURISDICTIONS.  NEITHER THE DISTRICT, 
CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA, THE STATE OF FLORIDA NOR ANY OTHER POLITICAL 
SUBDIVISION OR AGENCY THEREOF HAS GUARANTEED OR PASSED UPON THE MERITS 
OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS OR UPON THE PROBABILITY OF ANY EARNINGS THEREON.  
OTHER THAN THE DISTRICT, NEITHER CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA, THE STATE OF 
FLORIDA, NOR ANY OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF HAS PASSED UPON THE 
ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM. 

THE ORDER AND PLACEMENT OF MATERIALS IN THIS LIMITED OFFERING 
MEMORANDUM, INCLUDING THE APPENDICES, ARE NOT TO BE DEEMED A 
DETERMINATION OF RELEVANCE, MATERIALITY OR IMPORTANCE, AND THIS LIMITED 
OFFERING MEMORANDUM, INCLUDING THE APPENDICES, MUST BE CONSIDERED IN 
ITS ENTIRETY.  THE CAPTIONS AND HEADINGS IN THIS LIMITED OFFERING 
MEMORANDUM ARE FOR CONVENIENCE OF REFERENCE ONLY AND IN NO WAY 
DEFINE, LIMIT OR DESCRIBE THE SCOPE OR INTENT, OR AFFECT THE MEANING OR 
CONSTRUCTION, OF ANY PROVISIONS OR SECTION IN THIS LIMITED OFFERING 
MEMORANDUM. 

THIS LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM IS BEING PROVIDED TO PROSPECTIVE 
PURCHASERS EITHER IN BOUND PRINTED FORM (“ORIGINAL BOUND FORMAT”) OR IN 
ELECTRONIC FORMAT ON THE FOLLOWING WEBSITES: WWW.MUNIOS.COM AND 
WWW.EMMA.MSRB.ORG.  THIS LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM MAY BE RELIED 
UPON ONLY IF IT IS IN ITS ORIGINAL BOUND FORMAT OR AS PRINTED IN ITS ENTIRETY 
DIRECTLY FROM SUCH WEBSITE. 

REFERENCES TO WEBSITE ADDRESSES PRESENTED HEREIN, INCLUDING THE 
DISTRICT’S WEBSITE OR ANY OTHER WEBSITE CONTAINING INFORMATION ABOUT 



 

 

THE DISTRICT, THE DEVELOPMENT OR THE DEVELOPER, ARE FOR INFORMATIONAL 
PURPOSES ONLY AND MAY BE IN THE FORM OF A HYPERLINK SOLELY FOR THE 
READER’S CONVENIENCE.  UNLESS SPECIFIED OTHERWISE, SUCH WEBSITES AND THE 
INFORMATION OR LINKS CONTAINED THEREIN ARE NOT INCORPORATED INTO, AND 
ARE NOT PART OF, THIS LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM FOR ANY PURPOSE 
INCLUDING FOR PURPOSES OF RULE 15C2-12 PROMULGATED BY THE SECURITIES AND 
EXCHANGE COMMISSION. 

THIS LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM IS NOT, AND SHALL NOT BE DEEMED 
TO CONSTITUTE, AN OFFER TO SELL, OR THE SOLICITATION OF AN OFFER TO BUY, 
REAL ESTATE, WHICH MAY ONLY BE MADE PURSUANT TO OFFERING DOCUMENTS 
SATISFYING APPLICABLE FEDERAL AND STATE LAWS RELATING TO THE OFFER AND 
SALE OF REAL ESTATE. 



 

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Page 

INTRODUCTION ..................................................................................................................................... 1 
SUITABILITY FOR INVESTMENT ...................................................................................................... 3 
THE DISTRICT ......................................................................................................................................... 4 

General ..................................................................................................................................................... 4 
Legal Powers and Authority ................................................................................................................ 4 
Board of Supervisors .............................................................................................................................. 5 
District Manager and Other Consultants ........................................................................................... 7 

DISTRICT INDEBTEDNESS AND PRIOR DEFAULT HISTORY ................................................ 7 
PLAN OF REFUNDING ........................................................................................................................ 11 
THE PHASE 3B/C PROJECT AND SERIES 2021 PROJECT ........................................................... 11 
ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY ...................................................................................................... 12 
THE DEVELOPER .................................................................................................................................. 13 
THE DEVELOPMENT ........................................................................................................................... 14 

Land Acquisition/Development Financing ...................................................................................... 15 
Environmental ...................................................................................................................................... 16 
Land Use ................................................................................................................................................ 16 
Product Type/Phasing Plan ................................................................................................................ 16 
Existing Development/Sales Activity ................................................................................................ 17 
Permitting .............................................................................................................................................. 17 
Builder Contract ................................................................................................................................... 18 
Projected Absorption ........................................................................................................................... 18 
Residential Product Offerings ............................................................................................................ 18 
Assessment Area .................................................................................................................................. 19 
Recreational Amenities ........................................................................................................................ 19 
Utility Agreement ................................................................................................................................ 19 
Utilities ................................................................................................................................................... 20 
Education ............................................................................................................................................... 20 
Marketing .............................................................................................................................................. 20 
Fees and Assessments .......................................................................................................................... 20 
Competition .......................................................................................................................................... 22 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS ................................................................................ 23 
General Description ............................................................................................................................. 23 
Redemption Provisions for Series 2021 Bonds ................................................................................. 24 
Notice and Effect of Redemption ....................................................................................................... 27 
Book-Entry Only System ..................................................................................................................... 28 

SECURITY FOR AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT OF SERIES 2021 BONDS ............................... 31 
General ................................................................................................................................................... 31 
Funds and Accounts ............................................................................................................................ 32 
Acquisition and Construction Account ............................................................................................ 32 
Reserve Accounts and Reserve Account Requirements ................................................................. 33 
Flow of Funds ....................................................................................................................................... 35 



 

ii 

Investments ........................................................................................................................................... 37 
Agreement for Assignment of Development Rights ....................................................................... 39 
Owner Direction and Consent with Respect to Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction 
Account Upon Occurrence of Event of Default ............................................................................... 39 
Completion Agreement ....................................................................................................................... 40 
True-Up Agreement ............................................................................................................................. 40 
Enforcement and Collection of Series 2021 Assessments ............................................................... 40 
Covenants with Regard to Enforcement and Collection of Delinquent Assessments ............... 41 
Additional Covenants Regarding Series 2021 Assessments .......................................................... 41 
No Parity Bonds; Limitation on Parity Assessments ...................................................................... 41 
Events of Default .................................................................................................................................. 42 
Enforcement of Remedies ................................................................................................................... 43 
Provisions Relating to Bankruptcy or Insolvency of Landowner ................................................. 44 
Re-Assessment ...................................................................................................................................... 46 

ENFORCEMENT OF ASSESSMENT COLLECTIONS ................................................................... 46 
General ................................................................................................................................................... 46 
Direct Billing & Foreclosure Procedure ............................................................................................ 47 
Uniform Method Procedure ............................................................................................................... 47 

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF BOND PROCEEDS ...................................................... 52 
DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS .................................................................................................... 53 
BONDOWNERS’ RISKS ....................................................................................................................... 54 

Limited Pledge ...................................................................................................................................... 54 
Bankruptcy and Related Risks ........................................................................................................... 54 
Delay and Discretion Regarding Remedies ..................................................................................... 55 
Limitation on Funds Available to Exercise Remedies .................................................................... 55 
Determination of Land Value upon Default .................................................................................... 55 
Landowner Challenge of Assessed Valuation ................................................................................. 56 
Failure to Comply with Assessment Proceedings ........................................................................... 56 
Other Taxes ........................................................................................................................................... 56 
Inadequacy of Reserve Accounts ....................................................................................................... 57 
Economic Conditions ........................................................................................................................... 57 
Concentration of Land Ownership .................................................................................................... 58 
Undeveloped Land .............................................................................................................................. 58 
Change in Development Plans ........................................................................................................... 58 
Bulk Sale of Land in the Series 2021 Assessment Area ................................................................... 58 
Completion of Phase 3B/C Project ..................................................................................................... 59 
Regulatory and Environmental Risks ............................................................................................... 60 
District May Not be Able to Obtain Permits .................................................................................... 60 
Cybersecurity ........................................................................................................................................ 60 
Infectious Viruses and/or Diseases .................................................................................................... 61 
Damage to District from Natural Disasters ...................................................................................... 61 
Limited Secondary Market ................................................................................................................. 61 
Interest Rate Risk; No Rate Adjustment for Taxability .................................................................. 62 



 

iii 

IRS Audit and Examination Risk ....................................................................................................... 62 
Florida Village Center CDD TAM ..................................................................................................... 63 
Legislative Proposals and State Tax Reform .................................................................................... 64 
Loss of Exemption from Securities Registration .............................................................................. 64 
Performance of District Professionals ............................................................................................... 65 
Mortgage Default and FDIC ............................................................................................................... 65 

TAX MATTERS ....................................................................................................................................... 65 
Opinion of Bond Counsel .................................................................................................................... 65 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 .......................................................................................................... 66 
Collateral Tax Consequences .............................................................................................................. 66 
Florida Taxes ......................................................................................................................................... 66 
Other Tax Matters ................................................................................................................................ 66 
[Original Issue Discount ...................................................................................................................... 67 
[Bond Premium .................................................................................................................................... 68 

DISCLOSURE REQUIRED BY FLORIDA BLUE SKY REGULATIONS .................................... 68 
NO RATING OR CREDIT ENHANCEMENT .................................................................................. 68 
VALIDATION ......................................................................................................................................... 68 
LITIGATION ........................................................................................................................................... 69 

The District ............................................................................................................................................ 69 
The Developer ....................................................................................................................................... 69 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE ............................................................................................................ 69 
Continuing Compliance ...................................................................................................................... 70 

UNDERWRITING .................................................................................................................................. 70 
LEGAL MATTERS .................................................................................................................................. 71 
AGREEMENT BY THE STATE ............................................................................................................ 71 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ................................................................................................................ 71 
EXPERTS AND CONSULTANTS ....................................................................................................... 71 
CONTINGENT AND OTHER FEES ................................................................................................... 72 
MISCELLANEOUS ................................................................................................................................. 72 
 
APPENDICES: 
APPENDIX A –  ENGINEER’S REPORT 
APPENDIX B –  ASSESSMENT REPORT 
APPENDIX C –  COPY OF THE MASTER INDENTURE AND FORM OF THE SIXTH 

SUPPLEMENT 
APPENDIX D –  FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL 
APPENDIX E –  FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 
APPENDIX F -- AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE DISTRICT FOR THE 

FISCAL YEAR ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2020 



 

 

LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM 
 

relating to 
 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
(Clay County, Florida) 

 
$____________ Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 

 
$____________ Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2 

 

INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this Limited Offering Memorandum, including the cover page and 
appendices hereto, is to set forth certain information concerning the Rolling Hills Community 
Development District (the “District”), in connection with the offering and issuance by the District 
of its Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 (the “Series 2021A-1 Bonds”) and its 
Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2 (the “Series 2021A-2 Bonds” 
and, together with the Series 2021A-1 Bonds, the “Series 2021 Bonds”).  The District was created 
pursuant to the Uniform Community Development District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, as amended, the Florida Constitution, and other applicable provisions of law 
(collectively, the “Act”) and Ordinance No. 2006-9 enacted by the Board of County 
Commissioners of Clay County, Florida on March 14, 2006, and effective on March 21, 2006 (the 
“Ordinance”).  The Series 2021 Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Act and a Master Trust 
Indenture dated as of November 1, 2006 (the “Master Indenture”) from the District to U.S. Bank 
National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”), as supplemented by a Sixth Supplemental Trust 
Indenture dated as of November 1, 2021 (the “Sixth Supplement” and, together with the Master 
Indenture, the “Indenture”) from the District to the Trustee, and resolutions of the District 
authorizing the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds.  All capitalized terms used in this Limited 
Offering Memorandum that are defined in the Indenture and not defined herein shall have the 
respective meanings set forth in the copy of the Master Indenture and the form of the Sixth 
Supplement, both of which appear as composite APPENDIX C attached hereto.  The information 
contained in this Introduction is part of this Limited Offering Memorandum and is subject in all 
respects to the more complete information contained in or incorporated into this Limited Offering 
Memorandum.  This Introduction should not be considered a complete statement of the facts 
material to making an investment decision. 

THE SERIES 2021 BONDS ARE NOT RATED OR CREDIT ENHANCED, AND ARE NOT 
A SUITABLE INVESTMENT FOR ALL INVESTORS (SEE “SUITABILITY FOR INVESTMENT” 
AND “BONDOWNERS’ RISKS” HEREIN). 

PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS MAY REQUEST SUCH ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
AND ARRANGE TO VISIT THE DISTRICT AS DESCRIBED HEREIN UNDER THE CAPTION 



 

2 

“SUITABILITY FOR INVESTMENT.”  THEREFORE, PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD 
RELY UPON THE INFORMATION APPEARING IN THIS LIMITED OFFERING 
MEMORANDUM WITHIN THE CONTEXT OF THE AVAILABILITY OF SUCH ADDITIONAL 
INFORMATION AND THE SOURCES THEREOF.   

The District was established for the purposes, among other things, of financing and 
managing the planning, acquisition, construction, maintenance and operation of the 
infrastructure necessary for community development in Rolling Hills at Lake Asbury (the 
“Development”).  The Act authorizes the District to issue bonds for the purpose, among others, 
of financing, funding, planning, establishing, acquiring, constructing or reconstructing, enlarging 
or extending, equipping, operating and maintaining water management, water supply, sewer 
and wastewater management, bridges or culverts, district roads, street lights and other basic 
infrastructure projects within or without the boundaries of the District, as provided in the Act. 

Consistent with the requirements of the Indenture and the Act, the Series 2021 Bonds are 
being issued to, together with other funds of the District, refund a portion of the District’s 
outstanding Capital Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A-3 (such refunded 
portion is referred to herein as the “Refunded Bonds”), pay a portion of the costs of certain capital 
improvements, as more fully described herein, pay certain costs associated with the issuance of 
the Series 2021 Bonds, make a deposit into the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account for the benefit of 
all of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds, make a deposit into the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account to be 
held for the benefit of all of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds, and pay a portion of the interest to become 
due on the Series 2021 Bonds.   

The Series 2021 Bonds are payable from and secured by the revenues derived by the 
District from the Series 2021 Assessments (as defined in the Indenture) and amounts in the Funds 
and Accounts (except for the Series 2021 Rebate Account) established by the Indenture.  Series 
2021 Assessments will be levied and collected on the approximately eighty (80) acres of land 
consisting of Subphases 3B and 3C of the Development and anticipated to be platted into 247 
residential units (the “Series 2021 Assessment Area”). 

The Series 2021 Assessments represent an allocation of a portion of the costs of the Series 
2006 Project and the Series 2021 Project, including bond financing costs, to the Series 2021 
Assessment Area in accordance with the Master Special Assessment Methodology Report for 
Phase 3B/C Project, dated June 22, 2021 (the "Master Report") and the Supplemental Special 
Assessment Methodology Report dated [X, 2021] (the “Supplemental Report” and, together with 
the Master Report, the "Assessment Report"), prepared by Governmental Management Services, 
LLC, St. Augustine, Florida.  The Assessment Report is attached hereto as APPENDIX B. 

“Assessments” is defined in the Master Indenture to mean all assessments levied and 
collected by or on behalf of the District pursuant to Section 190.022 of the Act, as amended from 
time to time, together with the interest specified by resolution adopted by the Governing Body, 
the interest specified in Chapter 170, Florida Statutes, as amended, if any such interest is collected 
by or on behalf of the Governing Body, and any applicable penalties collected by or on behalf of 



 

3 

the District, together with any and all amounts received by the District from the sale of tax 
certificates or otherwise from the collection of Delinquent Assessments and which are referred to 
as such and pledged to a Series of Bonds pursuant to the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the 
issuance of such Series of Bonds. 

The District covenants and agrees in the Indenture that, other than Refunding Bonds 
issued to refund the then Outstanding Series 2021 Bonds, the issuance of which results in net 
present value Debt Service savings, the District shall not, while any Series 2021 Bonds are 
Outstanding, issue or incur any debt payable in whole or in part from the Series 2021 Trust Estate.  
The District further covenants and agrees in the Indenture that so long as the Series 2021A-1 
Assessments have not been Substantially Absorbed and the Series 2021A-2 Bonds are 
Outstanding, it will not impose Assessments for capital projects on any lands subject to the Series 
2021 Assessments without the written consent of the Majority Owners.  Notwithstanding the 
immediately preceding sentence, the District may impose Assessments on property subject to the 
Series 2021 Assessments which are necessary for health, safety or welfare reasons, or to remediate 
a natural disaster, or to effect repairs to or replacement of property, facilities or equipment of the 
District without the consent of the Majority Owners.  Substantially Absorbed is defined in the 
Indenture to mean the date on which the principal amount of the Series 2021A-1 Assessments 
equaling ninety percent (90%) of the then-Outstanding principal amount of the Series 2021A-1 
Bonds is levied on tax parcels within the Series 2021 Assessment Area with respect to which a 
certificate of occupancy has been issued for a structure thereon and are owned by end users, as 
certified by an Authorized Officer and upon which the Trustee may conclusively rely. 

There follows in this Limited Offering Memorandum a brief description of the District, 
the Phase 3B/C Project (as hereinafter defined and of which the Series 2021 Project is a part) and 
the components thereof, the Development and the Developer, together with summaries of the 
terms of the Indenture, the Series 2021 Bonds and certain provisions of the Act.  All references 
herein to the Indenture and the Act are qualified in their entirety by reference to such documents 
and statutes and all references to the Series 2021 Bonds are qualified by reference to the definitive 
form thereof and the information with respect thereto contained in the Indenture.  A copy of the 
Master Indenture and the form of the Sixth Supplement are attached hereto as composite 
APPENDIX C.  The information herein under the caption “THE DEVELOPMENT” and “THE 
DEVELOPER” has been furnished by the Developer and has been included herein without 
independent investigation by the District or District Counsel or the Underwriter or its counsel, 
and the Underwriter makes no representation or warranty concerning the accuracy or 
completeness of such information. 

SUITABILITY FOR INVESTMENT 

While the Series 2021 Bonds are not subject to registration under the Securities Act of 1933, 
as amended (the “Securities Act”), the Underwriter has determined that the Series 2021 Bonds 
are not suitable for investment by persons other than, and, as required by Chapter 189, Florida 
Statutes, will offer the Series 2021 Bonds only to, “accredited investors,” within the meaning of 
Chapter 517, Florida Statutes, and the rules promulgated thereunder.  However, the limitation of 



 

4 

the initial offering to accredited investors does not denote restrictions on transfers in any 
secondary market for the Series 2021 Bonds.  Prospective investors in the Series 2021 Bonds 
should have such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters to be capable of 
evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in the Series 2021 Bonds and should have the 
ability to bear the economic risks of such prospective investment, including a complete loss of 
such investment.   

Investment in the Series 2021 Bonds poses certain economic risks.  No dealer, broker, 
salesman or other person has been authorized by the District or the Underwriter to give any 
information or make any representations, other than those contained in this Limited Offering 
Memorandum.  Additional information will be made available to each prospective investor, 
including the benefit of a site visit to the District, and the opportunity to ask questions of the 
District, as such prospective investor deems necessary in order to make an informed decision 
with respect to the purchase of the Series 2021 Bonds.  Prospective investors are encouraged to 
request such additional information, visit the District and ask such questions.  Such requests 
should be directed to: 

Brett Sealy 
MBS Capital Markets, LLC 

152 Lincoln Avenue 
Winter Park, Florida 32789 

(407) 808-0685 
 

THE DISTRICT 

General 

The District was established pursuant to the Ordinance.  The District consists of 
approximately 562.32 acres of land located in unincorporated Clay County, Florida (the 
“County”).  

Legal Powers and Authority 

The District is an independent local unit of special-purpose government created in 
accordance with the Act.  The Act provides a uniform method for the establishment of 
independent districts to manage and finance basic community development services, including 
capital infrastructure required for community developments throughout the State of Florida (the 
“State”). The Act provides legal authority for community development districts (such as the 
District) to finance the acquisition, construction, operation and maintenance of certain 
infrastructure for community development.  

The Act provides that community development districts have the power to issue general 
obligation, revenue, and special assessment revenue debt obligations in any combination to pay 
all or part of the cost of infrastructure improvements authorized under the Act.  The Act further 
provides that community development districts have the power under certain conditions to levy 



 

5 

and assess ad valorem taxes or non-ad valorem assessments, including the Series 2021 
Assessments, on all taxable property within their boundaries to pay the principal of and interest 
on debt obligations issued and to provide for any sinking or other funds established in connection 
with any such debt obligation issues.  Pursuant to the Act, such assessments may be collected and 
enforced in the same manner and time as county property taxes. 

Among other provisions and powers, the Act gives the District’s Board of Supervisors the 
authority to (a) finance, fund, plan, establish, acquire, construct or reconstruct, enlarge or extend, 
equip, operate and maintain systems and facilities for: (i) water management and control for 
lands within the District and to connect any of such facilities with roads and bridges; (ii) water 
supply, sewer and wastewater management reclamation and re-use systems or any combination 
thereof, and to construct and operate connecting intercept or outlet sewers and sewer mains and 
pipes and water mains, conduits, or pipelines in, along, and under any street, alley, highway, or 
other public place or ways, and to dispose of any effluent, residue, or other byproducts of such 
system or sewer system; (iii) District roads equal to or exceeding the applicable specifications of 
the county in which such District roads are located; roads and improvements to existing roads 
that are owned by or conveyed to the local general-purpose government, the state, or the federal 
government; street lights; alleys; landscaping; hardscaping; and the undergrounding of electric 
utility lines; buses, trolleys, transit shelters, ridesharing facilities and services, parking 
improvements, and related signage; (iv) conservation areas, mitigation areas, and wildlife habitat, 
including the maintenance of any plant or animal species, and any related interest in real or 
personal property; (v) any other project, facility or service required by a development approval, 
interlocal agreement, zoning condition, or permit issued by a governmental authority with 
jurisdiction in the District; and with the consent of the local general-purpose government within 
the jurisdiction of which the power is to be exercised, parks and facilities for indoor and outdoor 
recreational uses; and security, including, but not limited to, guardhouses, fences and gates, 
electronic intrusion-detection systems; (b) borrow money and issue bonds of the District; (c) levy, 
collect and enforce special assessments; (d) impose and foreclose special assessment liens as 
provided in the Act; and (e) exercise all other powers, necessary, convenient, incidental or proper 
in connection with any of the powers or duties of the District authorized by the Act. 

The Act does not empower the District to adopt and enforce land use plans or zoning 
ordinances, and the Act does not empower the District to grant building permits. These functions 
are collectively performed by the County and their departments of government. 

The Act exempts all property of the District from levy and sale by virtue of an execution 
and from judgment liens on the District’s property or revenues, but does not limit the right of any 
owner of bonds of the District to pursue any remedy for enforcement of any lien or pledge of the 
District in connection with such bonds, including the Series 2021 Bonds. 

Board of Supervisors 

The governing body of the District is the Board of Supervisors, which is composed of five 
Supervisors (the “Supervisors”).  The Act provides that, at a meeting of the landowners held 



 

6 

within ninety (90) days of establishment of the District, Supervisors must be elected by the 
landowners with the two Supervisors receiving the highest number of votes to serve for four 
years and the remaining Supervisors to serve for a two-year term.  Three of the five Supervisors 
are elected to the Board every two years in November.  At such election the two Supervisors 
receiving the highest number of votes are elected to four-year terms and the remaining Supervisor 
is elected to a two-year term.  Ownership of the land within the District entitles the owner to one 
vote per acre (with fractions thereof rounded upward to the nearest whole number).  Upon the 
later of six (6) years after the initial appointment of Supervisors and the year in which there are 
at least 250 qualified electors in the District, or such earlier time as the Board may decide to 
exercise its ad valorem taxing power, the Supervisors are elected (as their terms expire) by vote 
of the qualified electors of the District.  A qualified elector is a registered voter, a resident of the 
District and the State of Florida and a citizen of the United States.  At the election where 
Supervisors are first elected by qualified electors, two Supervisors must be qualified electors and 
be elected by qualified electors to four-year terms.  The other Supervisor will be elected by 
landowners for a four-year term and is not required to be a qualified elector.  Thereafter, as terms 
expire, all Supervisors must be qualified electors and are elected to serve staggered four-year 
terms. If there is a vacancy on the Board, the remaining Board members are to fill such vacancy 
for the unexpired term. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time the Board proposes to exercise its ad 
valorem taxing power, prior to the exercise of such power, it shall call an election at which all 
Supervisors shall be qualified electors and shall be elected by qualified electors in the District. 
Elections subsequent to such decision shall be held in a manner such that the Supervisors will 
serve four-year terms with staggered expiration dates in the manner set forth in the Act.   

The Act provides that it shall not be an impermissible conflict of interest under Florida 
law governing public officials for a Supervisor to be a stockholder, officer or employee of a 
landowner or of any entity affiliated with a landowner.  The current members of the Board and 
the expiration of the term of each member are set forth below:   

The current members of the Board and their respective term expiration dates are set forth 
below.   

 
Name 

 
Title 

 
Term Expires 

Shannon Jordan Chair November 2024 
John M. Miller Vice Chair November 2024 

Rose Bock* Vice Chair November 2022 
David Church Supervisor November 2022 

[To be filled on 10/12] Supervisor November 2024 
    
* Affiliate, employee or appointee of Waltham Development Co. (as  

hereinafter defined) 



 

7 

The Act empowers the Board of Supervisors to adopt administrative rules and regulations 
with respect to any projects of the District, and to enforce penalties for the violation of such rules 
and regulations.  The Act permits the Board of Supervisors to levy taxes under certain conditions, 
and to levy special assessments, and to charge, collect and enforce fees and user charges for use 
of District facilities. 

A majority of the members of the Board constitutes a quorum for the purposes of 
conducting its business and exercising its powers and for all other purposes.  Action taken by the 
District shall be upon a vote of a majority of the members present unless general law or a rule of 
the District requires a greater number.  All meetings of the Board are open to the public under 
Florida’s open meeting or “Sunshine” law.   

District Manager and Other Consultants 

The Act requires the Board to hire a District Manager as the chief administrative official 
of the District.  The Act provides that the District Manager shall have charge and supervision of 
the works of the District and shall be responsible for (i) preserving and maintaining any 
improvement or facility constructed or erected pursuant to the provisions of the Act, (ii) 
maintaining and operating the equipment owned by the District, and (iii) performing such other 
duties as may be prescribed by the Board. 

The District has hired Governmental Management Services, LLC (the “District Manager”) 
to serve as District Manager.  The District Manager’s office is located at 475 West Town Place, 
Suite 114, St. Augustine, Florida 32092 and its telephone number is (904) 940-5850. 

The District Manager’s typical responsibilities can briefly be summarized as overseeing 
directly and coordinating the planning, financing, purchasing, staffing, reporting and 
governmental liaison for the District.  The District Manager’s responsibilities include 
requisitioning moneys to pay construction contracts and the related accounting and reporting 
that is required by the Indenture. 

The Act further authorizes the Board to hire such employees and agents as it deems 
necessary.  Thus, the District has employed the services of Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A., 
Tampa, Florida, as Bond Counsel; Hopping Green & Sams, P.A., Tallahassee, Florida, as District 
Counsel; Alliant Engineering, Inc., Jacksonville, Florida, as District Engineer; and Governmental 
Management Services, LLC, St. Augustine, Florida, as Methodology Consultant to prepare the 
Assessment Report for the Series 2021 Bonds.  Governmental Management Services, LLC has not 
been engaged to provide advice regarding the structuring or pricing of the Series 2021 Bonds. 

DISTRICT INDEBTEDNESS AND PRIOR DEFAULT HISTORY 

On November 21, 2006, the District previously issued its $14,805,000 Capital Improvement 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2006A (the “Series 2006A Bonds”) and its $11,330,000 Capital 
Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2006B (the “Series 2006B Bonds” and, together with the 
Series 2006A Bonds, the “Series 2006 Bonds”) pursuant to the Master Indenture, as supplemented 



 

8 

by the First Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of November 1, 2006, from the District to the 
Trustee, for the primary purpose of financing the acquisition and construction of certain 
infrastructure improvements within the District, including roadway and transportation 
improvements; water, sewer, and reuse water facilities; stormwater management facilities; entry 
features, landscaping and signage; recreational improvements, including the amenity center, 
boardwalks, paths, and parks.  

The Series 2006 Bonds were initially secured by special assessments levied on all of the 
lands within the District.  At the time of issuance of the Series 2006 Bonds, the special assessments 
securing the Series 2006A Bonds (the “Series 2006A Assessments”) were anticipated to be 
allocated to all 761 residential units originally planned within the District and the special 
assessments securing the Series 2006B Bonds (the “Series 2006B Assessments” and, together with 
the Series 2006A Assessments, the “Series 2006 Assessments”) were anticipated to be allocated to 
the same 761 residential units originally planned within the District; provided that the Series 
2006B Assessments were anticipated to be prepaid by builder(s) at the time of closing of each 
residential unit with an end user.  

The original landowner and developer of the lands within the District was Rolling Hills 
Venture, LLC (the “Original Developer”), a Virginia limited liability company and an affiliated 
entity of the East West Partners Group.  Due to non-payment of certain Series 2006 Assessments 
by the Original Developer, the District did not collect sufficient revenues to pay the total debt 
service due on the Series 2006 Bonds beginning with the May 1, 2011 debt service payment.  
Following subsequent insufficient collections for the November 1, 2011 and May 1, 2012 debt 
service payment dates, the District declared an Event of Default for all of the Series 2006 Bonds 
pursuant to the Master Indenture.  The Original Developer also failed to pay the District operation 
and maintenance assessments (the “O&M Assessments”). 

At the time of default, Wachovia Bank, now Wells Fargo and Company, held a mortgage 
on the lands within the District.  In February 2013, Common Bond Capital Partners, LLC 
(“Common Bond”), a California limited liability company, acquired a minority interest in the 
defaulted Series 2006 Bonds through negotiations with Wachovia Bank and the holders of the 
Series 2006 Bonds.  Such negotiations included CBCP Rolling Hills Landco, LLC (“CBCP 
Landco”), a Delaware limited liability company whose sole member is Common Bond, acquiring 
the remaining unsold developed lots and undeveloped lands in the District from the Original 
Developer.  Such lands were purchased in February 2013 and included ninety-three (93) lots in 
Phase 1, 129 lots in Subphase 2A and 439 lots within Subphase 2B and Phase 3 (collectively, the 
“Delinquent Lands”).  The total purchase price for the Delinquent Lands was $700,000 (inclusive 
of payment of delinquent real estate taxes).  

The acquisition of the Delinquent Lands by CBCP Landco was conditioned on the District, 
the Trustee (acting on behalf of the holders of the Series 2006 Bonds) and CBCP Landco entering 
into a Forbearance Agreement dated February 1, 2013, as amended on March 12, 2015 (the 
“Forbearance Agreement”).  The Forbearance Agreement provided for conditional forbearance 
of CBCP Landco’s obligation to pay the Series 2006 Assessments as follows: 



 

9 

Phase 1 Lands: CBCP Landco was required to bring all ad valorem and non-ad valorem 
assessments current on Phase 1 lands within forty-five (45) days of the execution of 
the Forbearance Agreement and further timely pay all property taxes, O&M 
Assessments and the Series 2006A Assessments while the District agreed to forbear in 
the collection of the Series 2006B Assessments until the earlier of a lot sale to a builder 
or November 1, 2015; and 
 
Subphase 2A, Subphase 2B and Phase 3 Lands: CBCP Landco was required to timely pay 
all property taxes and O&M Assessments while the District agreed to forbear in the 
collection of the Series 2006 Assessments until the earlier of a lot sale to a retail buyer 
or November 1, 2015.    
 

Additionally, pursuant to the Forbearance Agreement, the Delinquent Lands were subject 
to a Mortgage Agreement, whereby upon an occurrence of a default under the Forbearance 
Agreement, the Trustee (at the direction of the majority holders of the Series 2006 Bonds), could 
foreclose the mortgage or accept deed in lieu of foreclosure with respect to the Delinquent Lands.  
The Mortgage Agreement was secured by $500,000 and upon the sale of a lot to a retail buyer, 
such lot would be released from the security lien of the Mortgage Agreement. 

On December 10, 2015, CBCP Landco, holders of the Series 2006 Bonds and the District 
entered into a Settlement Agreement to effectuate an exchange of the Series 2006 Bonds for four 
(4) sub-series of Series 2015 Bonds (the “2015 Restructuring”).  The Series 2006A Bonds then 
outstanding in the par amount of $8,470,000 and the Series 2006B Bonds then outstanding in the 
par amount of $3,025,000 were exchanged for the District’s $2,500,000 Capital Improvement 
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A-1 (the “Series 2015A-1 Bonds”), $1,930,000 Capital 
Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A-2 (the “Series 2015A-2 Bonds”), $3,850,000 
Capital Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A-3 (the “Series 2015A-3 Bonds”) 
and $2,245,000 Capital Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015B (the “Series 2015B 
Bonds” and, together with the Series 2015A-1 Bonds, the Series 2015A-2 Bonds and the Series 
2015A-3 Bonds, the “Series 2015 Bonds”).  The 2015 Restructuring required, among other things, 
for CBCP Landco to pay an amount sufficient to satisfy the respective debt service reserve fund 
requirements for the Series 2015A-1 Bonds and the Series 2015A-2 Bonds, and to pay all cost of 
issuance expenses not otherwise paid from available funds.  Also, in connection with the 2015 
Restructuring, $190,000 in aggregate principal of the Series 2006A Bonds and $780,000 in 
aggregate principal of the Series 2006B Bonds were cancelled. 

The Series 2015A-1 Bonds were issued pursuant to the Master Indenture, as supplemented 
by a Second Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of November 1, 2015.  The Series 2015A-1 
Bonds are secured by special assessments (the “Series 2015A-1 Assessments”) that are currently 
levied on 145 developed residential lots located within Phase 1 and Subphase 2A.  The Series 
2015A-1 Bonds are currently outstanding in the par amount of $1,830,000. 

The Series 2015A-2 Bonds and the Series 2015B Bonds were issued pursuant to the Master 
Indenture, as supplemented by a Third Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of November 1, 



 

10 

2015.  The Series 2015A-2 Bonds are secured by special assessments (the “Series 2015A-2 
Assessments”) that are currently levied on 114 developed residential lots located within Phase 1 
and Subphase 2A.  The Series 2015B Bonds were secured by special assessments levied over the 
same lots and the Series 2015B Bonds were subordinate to the Series 2015A-2 Bonds.  The Series 
2015B Bonds have been paid in full.  The Series 2015A-2 Bonds are currently outstanding in the 
par amount of $1,445,000. 

The Series 2015A-3 Bonds were issued pursuant to the Master Indenture, as supplemented 
by a Fourth Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of November 1, 2015.  The Series 2015A-3 
Bonds are currently secured by special assessments (the “Series 2015A-3 Assessments”) that are 
levied on lands within Subphases 2B, Subphase 3B and Subphase 3C planned for 300 residential 
lots.  The owners of the Series 2015A-3 Bonds, which consists of Common Bond and certain of its 
members, provided its consent to the Trustee to ensure all debt service payments required by 
CBCP Landco as the landowner of the lands subject to the Series 2015A-3 Assessments to remain 
current as to payment of the debt service on the Series 2015A-3 Bonds, even if a draw on the debt 
service reserve fund was required.  In May 2020, a draw on the Series 2015A-3 Reserve Account 
was made to make a portion of the May 1, 2020 debt service payment.  Common Bond and certain 
of its members, as bondholder, provided consent to the Trustee to reduce the debt service reserve 
requirement on the Series 2015A-3 Bonds.  CBCP Landco subsequently paid their delinquent 
assessments in full. 

On July 29, 2020, CBCP Landco sold the lands constituting Subphase 3A within the 
Development planned for 139 residential units to Waltham Development Co., a Florida 
corporation (“Waltham Development”) whose shareholders include four (4) of the five (5) key 
principals of Common Bond.  As a result of such sale, the landowner and developer of the lands 
constituting Subphase 3A within the Development planned for 139 residential units is Waltham 
Development.  On October 20, 2020, the District issued its $2,625,000 Capital Improvement 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2020A-1 (the “Series 2020A-1 Bonds”) and its $1,840,000 Capital 
Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2020A-2 (the “Series 2020A-2 Bonds” and, together with the 
Series 2020A-1 Bonds, the “Series 2020 Bonds”) to refund that portion of the then outstanding 
Series 2015A-3 Bonds levied on Subphase 3A within the Development and to fund neighborhood 
infrastructure costs allocable to such subphase. The Series 2020 Bonds are secured by the Series 
2020 Assessments levied on the approximately fifty-six (56) acres of undeveloped lands 
constituting Subphase 3A of the Development that is planned for 139 residential lots. The Series 
2020 Bonds are currently outstanding in the par amount of $4,425,000. 

As discussed further herein, CBCP Landco sold the lands constituting Subphase 3B and 
Subphase 3C within the Development planned for 247 residential units (defined further herein as 
the Series 2021 Assessment Area) to Garden Street Communities Southeast, LLC (“Garden Street 
Communities”). 

The Series 2015A-3 Bonds are currently outstanding in the par amount of $2,295,000 and 
will be partially refunded by the Series 2021A-2 Bonds.  Such portion of the Series 2015A-3 Bonds 
to be refunded corresponds to the Series 2015A-3 Assessments levied on the Series 2021 



 

11 

Assessment Area which lien will be extinguished upon the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds. The 
remaining Series 2015A-3 Assessments do not overlap with the Series 2015A-1 Assessments, the 
Series 2015A-2 Assessments, and the Series 2020 Assessments and will not overlap with the Series 
2021 Assessments. 

PLAN OF REFUNDING 

The District issued the Series 2015A-3 Bonds pursuant to the 2015 Restructuring.  See 
“DISTRICT INDEBTEDNESS AND PRIOR DEFAULT HISTORY” herein.  The Series 2015A-3 
Bonds are secured by the Series 2015A-3 Assessments levied over lands comprising Subphases 
2B, Subphase 3B and Subphase 3C of the District planned for 300 lots that are in various stages of 
development (the “Series 2015A-3 Assessment Area”).  The Series 2015A-3 Assessments are 
allocated upon development completion and platting.  The Series 2015A-3 Assessment Area 
currently includes fifty-three (53) platted residential units within Subphase 2B and undeveloped 
lands within Subphase 3B and Subphase 3C on which the remaining portion of the Series 2015A-
3 Assessments are levied and yet to be assigned.  The Series 2015A-3 Bonds are currently 
outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $2,295,000 with a final maturity of May 1, 2037, 
and an average fixed interest rate of 6.7%. 

The portion of the Series 2015A-3 Bonds in the principal amount of $1,890,000 being 
refunded with proceeds of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds is secured by the Series 2015A-3 Assessments 
levied on approximately eighty (80) acres of undeveloped lands constituting Subphases 3B and 
3C of the Development that is planned for 247 residential lots. 

THE PHASE 3B/C PROJECT AND SERIES 2021 PROJECT 

The District Engineer has prepared a Fourth Supplemental Engineer's Report dated June 
3, 2021 (the "Engineer's Report") which is included herein as "APPENDIX A – ENGINEER'S 
REPORT."  The information herein is qualified in its entirety by reference to such Engineer's 
Report, which should be read in its entirety.  

The Phase 3B/C Project described in the Engineer’s Report is estimated to cost 
approximately $7.7 million and includes neighborhood infrastructure costs allocable to the Series 
2021 Assessment Area consisting of water and sewer facilities, potable and reuse water, certain 
roadways, stormwater management system, landscaping and engineering, softs costs and 
contingency.  Enumeration of the estimated costs of the Phase 3B/C Project are provided in the 
table below.  

Infrastructure 
Phase 3B/C 

Project Costs 
Pond | Excavation, seed, and mulch $470,000 
Roads | Earthwork, underdrain, asphalt, curbs $1,400,000 
Drainage | Inlets, pipes, and control structure $1,800,000 
Sanitary Sewer | Pipes, manholes, and laterals $1,030,000 
Potable Water | Pipes, valves, fire hydrants, joints, and laterals  $560,000 



 

12 

Reuse Water | Pipes, valves, joints and laterals  $470,000 
Common Areas | Landscaping and engineering $50,000 
Soft Costs | Engineering and architecture  $50,000 
Mobilization,  $583,000 
Contingency $1,282,600  
Total  $7,695,600 

Proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds will be utilized to acquire and/or construct a portion of 
the Phase 3B/C Project in the estimated amount of $5.0 (such funded portion being referred to 
herein as the “Series 2021 Project”).  The District does not intend to issue any additional Series of 
Bonds to fund additional portions of the Phase 3B/C Project.  The remainder of the Phase 3B/C 
Project not funded with proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds is expected to be funded by the 
Developer (as hereinafter defined).  The Developer estimates that as of October 1, 2021, it has 
expended approximately [$X] in development related expenditures towards the Series 2021 
Assessment Area. 

The Developer will enter into a Completion Agreement whereby the Developer will agree 
to complete those portions of the Phase 3B/C Project not funded with proceeds of the Series 2021 
Bonds.  The District cannot make any representation that the Developer will have sufficient funds 
to complete the Phase 3B/C Project. 

ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY 

The Methodology Consultant has prepared the Master Special Assessment Methodology 
Report for Phase 3B/C Project, dated June 22, 2021 (the "Master Report") and the Supplemental 
Special Assessment Methodology Report dated [X, 2021] (the “Supplemental Report” and, 
together with the Master Report, the "Assessment Report") attached hereto as composite 
APPENDIX B that allocates the total benefit derived from the District’s Phase 3B/C Project, 
including financing costs, to the benefitted lands in Subphase 3B and Subphase 3C of the District.  
As previously stated, such lands consist of approximately eighty (80) acres planned for 247 
residential units and are herein referred to as the Series 2021 Assessment Area.  

Initially, the Series 2021A-1 Assessments securing the Series 2021A-1 Bonds will be levied 
on an equal per acre basis on the Series 2021 Assessment Area.  Pursuant to the allocation 
methodology set forth in the Assessment Report, the Series 2021A-1 Assessments levied in 
connection with the Series 2021A-1 Bonds will then be allocated on a per lot basis upon platting 
of the units within the Series 2021 Assessment Area.  The Series 2021A-1 Bonds were sized to 
correspond to the collection of Series 2021A-1 Assessments from the 247 residential lots planned 
within the Series 2021 Assessment Area.  

The Series 2021A-2 Assessments levied in connection with the Series 2021A-2 Bonds will 
initially be allocated over all acreage within the Series 2021 Assessment Area on an equal per acre 
basis.  The Series 2021A-2 Assessments will then be assigned upon platting of lots within the 
Series 2021 Assessment Area. 



 

13 

The Series 2021A-1 Assessments are expected to be paid annually over a thirty (30) year 
period.  The Series 2021A-2 Assessments are expected to be prepaid by the Developer at the time 
of a lot closing with a builder but no later than at home closing with a retail buyer, but nonetheless 
mature in approximately ten (10) years.  The table below presents estimated principal and annual 
amounts of the Series 2021 Assessments that will be levied on the lands within the Series 2021 
Assessment Area in connection with the Series 2021 Bonds. 

Product Type # Units 

Est. Series 
2021A-1 Bonds 
Principal Per 

Unit 

Est. Series 2021A-1 
Bonds Gross Annual 

Debt Service 
Per Unit* 

Est. Series 
2021A-2 Bonds 
Principal Per 

Unit 

Est. Series 2021A-2 
Bonds Net Annual 

Debt Service 
Per Unit** 

Est. Total 
Series 2021A 

Debt Per 
Unit 

Single-Family 50’ 200 $22,955 $1,500 $8,674 $390 $31,630 

Single-Family 60’ 47 $22,955 $1,500 $15,003 $675 $37,958 

Total 247      
*Grossed up for early payment discount and County collection fees (6%) 
**The Series 2021A-2 Assessments will be direct billed and collected by the District.  

THE DEVELOPER 

The following information appearing under the captions "THE DEVELOPER" and "THE 
DEVELOPMENT" has been furnished by the Developer for inclusion in this Limited Offering 
Memorandum as a means for the prospective Bondholders to understand the anticipated development plan 
and risks associated with the Development and the provision of infrastructure to the real property within 
the District.  Although believed to be reliable, such information has not been independently verified by the 
District or its counsel, the Underwriter or its counsel, or Bond Counsel, and no persons other than the 
Developer, subject to certain qualifications and limitations, makes any representation or warranty as to the 
accuracy or completeness of such information.  At the time of the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, the 
Developer will represent in writing that the information herein under the captions "THE DEVELOPER," 
"THE DEVELOPMENT" and "LITIGATION – Developer" does not contain any untrue statement of a 
material fact and does not omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements made 
herein, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading.   

To the extent it owns land subject to the Series 2021 Assessments, the Developer's obligation to 
pay the Series 2021 Assessments is limited solely to the obligation of any landowner within the District.  
The Developer is not a guarantor of payment on any property within the District and the recourse for the 
Developer’s failure to pay or otherwise comply with its obligations to the District is limited to its ownership 
interest in the land subject to the Series 2021 Assessments. 

Garden Street Communities Southeast, LLC (“Garden Street Communities” or the 
“Developer”), a Florida limited liability company, is the developer of the lands within Subphase 
3B and Subphase 3C of the Development which lands constitute the Series 2021 Assessment Area.  
The manager of the Developer is Bryan Adams, the president of Adams Homes and the only 
active homebuilder within the Series 2021 Assessment Area.  Garden Street Communities was 
founded in September 2016 and has since developed and sold 551 lots with an additional 1,700 



 

14 

lots currently under development. Below is a list of recent Garden Street Communities projects 
in Florida:  

Project 
Year 

Commenced # Lots Location 
Tanglewood 2017 45 Pensacola, Florida 
Sea Grass 2017 53 Pensacola, Florida 
Heritage Park 2017 46 Lakeland, Florida 
Sunset Pines 2018 39 Pensacola, Florida 
Hamilton Crossing 2018 92 Pensacola, Florida 
Belmont 2019 48 Pensacola, Florida 
Charleston Place 2019 88 Crestview, Florida 
Embers 2020 62 Pensacola, Florida 
Krenson Bay 2019 78 Lakeland, Florida 
Lake Juliana 2020 194 Lakeland, Florida 
Abbey Glen 2020 107 Tampa, Florida 
Hampton Chase 2020 106 Pensacola, Florida 
Ridgeway Landing 2020 70 Crestview, Florida 
Sunset Landing 2019 68 Spring Hill, Florida 
Summerglen 2020 209 Jacksonville, Florida 

THE DEVELOPMENT 

The following information appearing under the caption "THE DEVELOPMENT" has been 
furnished by the Developer for inclusion in this Limited Offering Memorandum as a means for the 
prospective Beneficial Owners of the Series 2021 Bonds to understand the anticipated development plan 
and risks associated with the Development and the provision of infrastructure to the real property within 
the District.  Although believed to be reliable, such information has not been independently verified by the 
District or its counsel, the Underwriter or its counsel, or Bond Counsel, and no person other than the 
Developer, subject to certain qualifications and limitations, makes any representation or warranty as to the 
accuracy or completeness of such information.  At the time of the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, the 
Developer will represent in writing that the information herein under the caption "THE 
DEVELOPMENT" does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state any 
material fact necessary in order to make the statements made herein, in light of the circumstances under 
which they are made, not misleading.  

Rolling Hills at Lake Asbury (the “Development”) is located along County Road 739B in 
an area known as Lake Asbury, approximately thirty (30) miles southwest of downtown 
Jacksonville and thirty-five (35) miles northwest of the historical St. Augustine.  The Development 
is situated approximately six (6) miles east of the City of Middleburg and seven (7) miles west of 
US Highway 17.  US Highway 17 is a major north-south roadway connecting Green Cove Springs 
to the Cities of Orange Park and Jacksonville and to Interstate 95.  Further, the First Coast 
Expressway located just east of the Development is a multi-lane, limited access toll road that, once 
completed, will cross parts of Duval, Clay, and St. Johns counties. 



 

15 

The Jacksonville International Airport is approximately forty-five (45) miles northeast of 
the Development via the First Coast Expressway and Interstate 295 and the St. Augustine and St. 
Johns County Airport, a general aviation airport, is approximately thirty-five (35) miles southeast 
of the Development.   

The Development is located in close proximity to recreational opportunities, shopping 
and restaurants as well as medical facilities.  The St. Johns River is located approximately five (5) 
miles east of the Development providing for various water-oriented recreational activities.  The 
Asbury Commons Shopping Mall featuring a Winn-Dixie is located approximately two (2) miles 
west of the Development.  Big box retail such as Home Depot, Walmart Supercenter, Michaels 
and Kohl’s, along with additional retail and restaurants, are located at County Road 220 and US 
Highway 17 approximately eleven (11) miles northeast of the Development.  In addition, medical 
care can be obtained at Kindred Hospital or Baptist and Wolfson Clay Emergency Room located 
within ten (10) miles southeast and northeast of the Development, respectively.   

The current development plan for the lands within the District include 761 residential 
units and a clubhouse featuring a state-of-the art fitness center.  Additional existing amenities 
within the Development include zero-entry pool with lap lanes, splash features and a water slide, 
six (6) tennis courts, sand volleyball courts, walking trails and playgrounds. 

As discussed in further detail herein, the Development is planned for three (3) primary 
development phases (Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3) with Subphase 2A and Subphase 2B within 
Phase 2 and Subphase 3A, Subphase 3B and Subphase 3C within Phase 3.  Phase 1 and Subphase 
2A consisting of 322 units have been constructed and sold to end-users.  Development work for 
the fifty-three (53) residential lots within Subphase 2B is complete and all fifty-three (53) homes 
have been sold to end-users by Richmond American Homes.  Development activities in Subphase 
3A consisting of the 139 residential lots planned within the Development is currently underway 
by Waltham Development with completion anticipated to occur in [X] quarter of 2022.  
Development activities in the remaining subphases in Phase 3, Subphases 3B and 3C, is 
anticipated to commence in the fourth quarter of 2021 with completion anticipated in the fourth 
quarter of 2022.  

The Series 2021 Assessments levied in connection with the Series 2021 Bonds are levied 
on the lands comprising the Series 2021 Assessment Area which consists of approximately eighty 
(80) acres planned for 247 residential units within Subphases 3B and 3C of the Development.  

Land Acquisition/Development Financing 

On _____, 2021, the Developer acquired the approximately eighty (80) undeveloped acres 
constituting the Series 2021 Assessment Area for $6,175,000 in cash. In addition to the purchase 
price, the Developer purchased 247 Equivalent Residential Connection (ERC) credits at a price of 
$2,300/lot that are applicable towards permit/tap costs that a homebuilder would normally pay 
to secure a single-family residential building permit.  



 

16 

Proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds will be used to acquire/construct certain improvements 
constituting the Phase 3B/C Project in the approximate amount of $5.0 million.  The District 
currently does not intend to issue any additional Series of Bonds to fund additional portions of 
the Phase 3B/C Project.  As such, the Developer anticipates using equity to fund the remaining 
portions of the Phase 3B/C Project not funded with proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds.  As 
discussed further herein, development activities in the Series 2021 Assessment Area is anticipated 
to commence in December 2021.  As of October 1, 2021, the Developer estimates it has expended 
[$X] in development-related expenditures to-date pertaining to the design, engineering and 
permitting of Subphase 3B and Subphase 3C. 

Environmental 

In conjunction with the Developer’s purchase of the land constituting the Series 2021 
Assessment Area, the Developer commissioned a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment, dated 
July 12, 2021 (the "Phase I ESA") from Universal Engineering Sciences.  The Phase I ESA revealed 
no evidence of on-site environmentally recognized conditions.  

Land Use 

The Development received zoning approval from the County as a planned unit 
development with an overall density of up to 790 single-family units (the "Rolling Hills PUD").  
The Rolling Hills PUD consists of approximately 563 acres and is coterminous with the 
boundaries of the District.  The 2021 Assessment Area will be developed pursuant to the 
conditions set forth in the Rolling Hills PUD.   

Product Type/Phasing Plan 

As previously stated, the Development is planned to be developed in three (3) phases with 
subphases therein for the development of approximately 761 residential units.  The first two (2) 
phases of the Development have been fully developed and include 375 residential lots ranging 
from 50’ to 80’ feet in width.  Subphase 3A, planned for 139 residential units is currently under 
development by Waltham Development with completion anticipated in the [X] quarter of 2022. 
The information in the table below depicts the number of units by product type for the remaining 
planned development phases consisting of Subphase 3B and Subphase 3C and constituting the 
Series 2021 Assessment Area, which information is subject to change. 

  Series 2021 Assessment Area  
Product- Type  Subphase 3B Subphase 3C Total 
Single-Family 50’    200 
Single-Family 60’    47 
Total    247 

 



 

17 

Existing Development/Sales Activity 

Development activities in the Development initially commenced in 2006 but were halted 
due to adverse conditions in the real estate market.  At such time, development activities within 
Phase 1 and Subphase 2A consisting of 322 residential lots were complete and the 439 lots planned 
within Subphase 2B and Phase 3 remained undeveloped.  Further, approximately forty-five (45) 
homes had been built.  Following acquisition of the finished lots and undeveloped lands by CBCP 
Landco in 2013, finished lot sales to builders and home sales activity commenced shortly 
thereafter in late 2013 and early 2014, respectively.  Development activities subsequently 
recommenced with Subphase 2B upon the sale of such lands to Richmond American Homes for 
development of finished lots and home construction thereon.  As of September 15, 2021, 
development of all 375 lots in Phase 1, Subphase 2A and Subphase 2B were complete and had 
been sold to end-users.  

Waltham Development, the landowner and developer of Subphase 3A, commenced 
development activities in such subphase in the fourth quarter of 2020 and anticipates completion 
in [X] quarter of 2022. Further, LGI Homes – Florida, LLC (“LGI Homes”), a Florida limited 
liability company, has entered into a purchase and sale contract with Waltham Development for 
the purchase of 111 single-family 50’ lots planned within Subphase 3A. LGI Homes has had a 
previous presence in the Development with the purchase of 167 developed lots in Phase 1 and 
Subphase 2A of the Development. It is anticipated that the product offerings within Subphase 3A 
will include similar product offerings to what LGI Homes has previously offered. Home sales 
activities in such subphase are anticipated to commence in [X] quarter of 202[X].  

Permitting activities for Subphases 3B and 3C are underway with approval of each 
anticipated in late October 2021. Development activities in Subphases 3B and 3C are expected to 
commence in December 2021 with completion anticipated within the fourth quarter of 2022. 

Permitting 

As described in further detail in the Engineer’s Report, permits from St. Johns River Water 
Management District (“SJRWMD”) and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (“USACE”) for 
stormwater management and wetland mitigation for the entire Development have been obtained.  
Further, all jurisdictional wetland impacts and mitigation costs were included in prior phases and 
do not impact the Series 2021 Assessment Area. A SJRWMD Environmental Resource Permit 
(“ERP”) is required for each subphase in order to commence development therein.  A SJRWMD 
ERP for Subphase 3B and Subphase 3C of the Development planned for 247 residential units has 
been submitted for approval and is anticipated to be obtained in late October 2021. Further, the 
Developer has applied for all necessary permits and approvals including Clay County 
development permits for the infrastructure to serve Subphase 3B and Subphase 3B of the 
Development planned for 247 single-family units and anticipates County approval in late 
October.  



 

18 

The Engineer's Report attached hereto as APPENDIX A provides information regarding 
those permits that have been obtained and those that are required to be obtained to complete the 
Phase 3B/C Project.  Upon issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, the District Engineer will certify that 
any permits and approvals necessary for the Phase 3B/C Project that have not previously been 
obtained are expected to be obtained in the ordinary course of business. 

Builder Contract 

[INSERT BUILDER CONTRACT] 
 

Adams Homes was founded in 1991, initially constructing homes for homebuyers in 
Pensacola, Florida.  Throughout the 1990’s and early 2000’s, the company grew into markets 
throughout Florida, Alabama, and Mississippi.  Since 2005, Adams Homes has expanded into 
markets in North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, and most recently, in Texas. As one of the 
largest privately held home builders in the country, Adams Homes has built and sold over 50,000 
homes across twenty-eight (28) individual divisions.  Bryan Adams has served as the president 
of Adams Homes since 2014 and is the manager of the Developer.  Adams Homes has constructed 
homes within numerous community development districts (“CDD”) some of which include 
Aviary at Rutland Ranch CDD, Waterstone CDD, Hammock Bay CDD and Highland Meadows 
CDD. Adams Homes maintains a website at www.adamshomes.com. 

Projected Absorption 

It is the intent of the Developer to sell finished lots within the Series 2021 Assessment Area 
to Adams Homes for home construction thereon. As previously discussed herein, [X] residential 
units planned within the Series 2021 Assessment Area are currently under contract for purchase 
by Adams Homes.  Homes sales activities is anticipated to commence in [X] quarter of 202[X]. 
The following table sets forth the Developer’s anticipated pace of finished lot sales to Adams 
Homes in the Series 2021 Assessment Area.  

Product-Type 2021 2022 2023 Total 
Single-Family 50’    200 
Single-Family 60’    47 
Total    247 

The projections in the table above are based upon estimates and assumptions that are 
inherently uncertain, though considered reasonable, and are subject to significant business, 
economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies, all of which are difficult to predict.  
As a result, there can be no assurance that such projections will occur or be realized in the time 
frames anticipated.  See "BONDOWNERS' RISKS" herein. 

Residential Product Offerings 

The Series 2021 Assessment Area is intended to be a continuation of similar product-
offerings in the existing phases within the Development.  The Developer anticipates that the 



 

19 

product offerings will include single-family homes ranging from approximately 1,300 to 2,700 
square feet of living space with home prices ranging from $310,000 to $390,000. Adams Homes 
plans to construct one (1) model home within the Series 2021 Assessment Area with construction 
on such model home anticipated to commence in the [fourth] quarter of [2022]. 

Assessment Area 

The Phase 3B/C Project is estimated to cost approximately $7.7 million and includes 
neighborhood infrastructure costs allocable to the Series 2021 Assessment Area consisting of 
water and sewer facilities, potable and reuse water, certain roadways, stormwater management 
system, landscaping, softs costs and contingency.  As previously discussed under the heading 
“THE PHASE 3B/C PROJECT AND SERIES 2021 PROJECT,” a portion of the Phase 3B/C Project 
will be financed with proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds in the approximate amount of $5.0 million 
and such funded portion is referred to herein as the Series 2021 Project.  

As more fully described under the heading “ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY,” the 
Assessment Report initially allocates the Series 2021 Assessments over the gross acreage in the 
Series 2021 Assessment Area.  As such acreage is developed and platted, the Series 2021 
Assessments will be allocated to each unit based on the amounts set forth in the Assessment 
Report and as detailed herein under the heading “Annual Taxes, Fees and Assessments.” The 
Series 2021A-1 Assessments are expected to be paid annually over a thirty (30) year period while 
the Series 2021A-2 Assessments are expected to be prepaid at the time of lot closing with a builder 
but no later than home closing with a retail buyer.  

Recreational Amenities 

The Development features a clubhouse with a fitness center, a zero-entry pool with lap 
lanes, splash features and a water slide, six (6) tennis courts, sand volleyball courts, hiking trails 
and playgrounds.  Construction of the amenities is complete and was funded through proceeds 
from the District’s Series 2006 Bonds.  The recreational facilities are owned and operated by the 
District.   

Utility Agreement 

The predecessors to the Original Developer and Waltham Development, as successor to 
the Developer’s Agreement, have entered into a Developer’s Agreement with the Clay County 
Utility Authority whereby the Clay County Utility Authority will provide potable water, 
wastewater and reclaimed water services to the Development conditioned on Waltham 
Development meeting its obligations under the Developer’s Agreement.  Capacity was initially 
reserved upon execution of the Developer’s Agreement in August 2006 through payment of 
service availability charges totaling $576,853.  Certain on-site infrastructure has been constructed 
and conveyed to the Clay County Utility Authority, including one (1) wastewater pumping 
station and associated force mains.  Further, Waltham Development will construct one (1) 
additional wastewater pumping station and associated force mains that have been oversized to 
provide excess capacity for surrounding developments with the anticipation that such costs will 



 

20 

be reimbursed by the Clay County Utility Authority upon collection of the pro-rata share costs 
from future developers.  Construction on such infrastructure has commenced and is anticipated 
to be complete by the [X] quarter of 202[X]. 

Utilities 

The Development is located within the franchise/service areas of the County which 
provides water, sewer and re-use services.  The Clay Electric Co-Op provides electrical power to 
the Development.  Comcast provides phone, internet and cable services to the Development. 

Education 

Based upon current school zoning, children residing in the Development would generally 
attend Lake Asbury Elementary School, Lake Asbury Jr. High School and Clay County High 
School.  Lake Asbury Jr. High School and Clay County High School both received a ‘B' rating for 
2019 according to the Florida Department of Education (“FDOE”).  Lake Asbury Elementary 
School received an ‘A’ rating for 2019 according to FDOE, which are the most recent grades 
available.  

Marketing 

It is anticipated that Adams Homes will undertake their own efforts towards the 
marketing of their specific offerings in the Development, including, without limitation, branded 
content, social media, workshops, events, frontage and signage, and public relations.  

Fees and Assessments 

Each homeowner residing in the Series 2021 Assessment Area will pay annual taxes, 
assessments and fees on an ongoing basis as a result of their ownership of property within the 
District, including ad valorem property taxes, Series 2021 Assessments, HOA fees, and 
administrative, operation and maintenance assessments levied by the District as described in 
more detail below. 

Property Taxes 

The 2020 millage rate for the area of the County where the Development is located is 
approximately 15.6047.  Accordingly, by way of example, the annual property taxes for a $250,000 
taxable value home would be approximately $3,901. 

Homeowner's Association Fee 

All homeowners within the Series 2021 Assessment Area will be subject to annual 
homeowner's association ("HOA") fees for operation and maintenance of the HOA-owned 
facilities located within the Development as well as architectural review and deed restriction 



 

21 

enforcement.  The HOA fees are currently [$120 per year ($30 per quarter)] for each product-type 
and will vary annually based on the adopted budget by the HOA for a particular year. 

District Special Assessments 

All homeowners residing in the Series 2021 Assessment Area will be subject to the Series 
2021A-1 Assessments levied in connection with the Series 2021A-1 Bonds.  In addition to the 
Series 2021A-1 Assessments, all homeowners within the Series 2021 Assessment Area will be 
subject to annual operation and maintenance assessments ("O&M Assessments") levied by the 
District which are derived from the District's annual budget and are subject to change each year.  
The table below illustrates the annual Series 2021A-1 Assessments and estimated O&M 
Assessments for FY2022/2023 that will be levied by the District for each respective product type 
within the Series 2021 Assessment Area. 

Product Type # of Lots 

Annual  
Series 2021A-1 Gross 

Assessments Per 
Unit* 

Annual FY2022/2023 
Gross O&M 

Assessments Per 
Unit** 

Single-Family 50' 200 $1,500 $1,093 
Single-Family 60' 47 $1,500 $1,093 
Total 247   

_________________ 
* Grossed up early payment discounts and County collection costs (6%) 
**O&M Assessments are initially levied on a planned but not yet platted basis.  The estimated gross 

annual FY22/23 O&M Assessments per undeveloped lot is $820. 

All lots in the Series 2021 Assessment Area will also be subject to the Series 2021A-2 
Assessments levied in connection with the Series 2021A-2 Bonds.  The Series 2021A-2 
Assessments are expected to be prepaid upon the closing of a lot to a builder but no later than 
home closing with a retail buyer.  The table below illustrates the Series 2021A-2 Assessments that 
will be levied by the District on each of the respective product-types within the Series 2021 
Assessment Area.  

Product Type # of Lots 

Est. Series  
2021A-2 Bonds  

Principal Per Unit 

Est. Annual  
Series 2021A-2 Net 

Assessments* 

Single-Family 50' 200 $8,674 $390 
Single-Family 60' 47 $15,003 $675 
Total 247   

*Excludes early payment discounts and County collection costs. 



 

22 

Competition 

Based upon the location of the Development, it is anticipated that competition for the 
Series 2021 Assessment Area will primarily come from the active developments referenced below.  
The information appearing below was obtained from publicly available sources. 

Granary Park (Sandridge CDD) encompasses approximately 291 acres and is located just 
east of the Development off of Sandridge Road. Granary Park is planned to include 771 residential 
units to be developed in three (3) phases.  Construction on the first phase of the development 
which is intended to be developed with 238 single-family units commenced in January 2021 with 
completion anticipated to occur in the fourth quarter of 2021. Lennar Homes is currently 
anticipated to be the sole builder in the first phase with homes ranging in size from 1,600 to 3,200 
square feet and average home prices starting in the $250,000 range. Recreational facilities are 
anticipated to include a clubhouse featuring a state-of-the-art fitness center, a large resort-style 
pool, playgrounds, gazebos, open playing fields and dog parks. Granary Park is located within 
the Sandridge Community Development District.  For more information on the Sandridge 
Community Development District please visit www.emma.msrb.org. 

Cross Creek (Cross Creek North CDD) is an approximately 970-acre community located 
approximately two (2) mile east of the Development.  Cross Creek is planned for 1,167 residential 
homes and is being developed by DR Horton.  The initial phase of development consisting of 416 
residential units is currently under way with lot sizes ranging from 40 to 70 feet in width.  Single-
family homes are currently being offered from approximately 1,400 to 4,200 square feet, ranging 
in price from the high $100,000s to the high $200,000s.  Amenities planned include an 
approximately 4,097 square foot clubhouse, a pool and water park, a spa, and access to a lake 
dock.  Cross Creek is located within the Cross Creek North Community Development District.  
For more information on the Cross Creek North Community Development District please visit 
www.emma.msrb.org. 

Anabelle Island (Anabelle Island CDD) encompasses approximately 164 acres and is located 
just north of Sandridge Road in close proximity to the intersection of Sandridge Road and Russell 
Road. The landowner and developer of the development is an affiliate of KB Home. The 
development is intended to be developed in two (2) primary phases with sub-phases therein. 
Horizontal infrastructure in the first sub-phase of the development is currently underway with 
home sales expected to commence in late 2021 in conjunction with the grand opening.  Anabelle 
Island is designed to include homes ranging in size from 1,342 to 2,716 square feet and is planned 
to feature a clubhouse, a large resort-style pool, splash pad, playgrounds, open playing fields and 
a tot lot. Anabelle Island is located within the Anabelle Island Community Development District.  
For more information on the Anabelle Island Community Development District please visit 
www.emma.msrb.org. 

Edgewater Landing, located five (5) miles southeast of the Development, is a gated, 
waterfront community spanning 114 acres on the southern banks of Peter’s Creek.  Planned for 
171 residential homes, this development includes homes being offered by DR Horton and Adams 



 

23 

Homes ranging in size from 1,540 square feet to 3,000 square feet with home prices starting in the 
high $200,000s. Amenities include a waterfront park featuring a playground, picnic pavilion and 
a raised walkway to the 120-foot-long dock.   

Azalea Ridge is a DR Horton Express Homes community located approximately eleven (11) 
miles northwest of the Development planned for 698 residential units.  This development features 
homes ranging in size from 1,490 square feet to 2,499 square feet with prices starting from the low 
$200s.  

Willow Springs is a DR Horton Express Homes community located approximately seven 
(7) miles southeast of the Development and planned for 379 residential units.  This development 
features homes ranging in size from 1,490 square feet to 2,499 square feet with prices starting 
from the low $200s.  

This section does not purport to summarize all of the existing or planned communities in 
the area of the Development, but rather provide a description of those that the Developer feels 
pose primary competition to the Series 2021 Assessment Area. 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS 

General Description 

The Series 2021 Bonds are issuable as fully registered bonds, without coupons, in the 
Authorized Denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof; provided, however, that 
the Series 2021 Bonds shall be delivered to the initial purchasers thereof only in [minimum] 
aggregate principal amounts of $100,000 [and] integral multiples of $5,000 in excess of $100,000. 

The Series 2021 Bonds will be dated as of their date of issuance and will bear interest 
payable on each May 1 and November 1, commencing May 1, 2022 (each, an “Interest Payment 
Date”), which interest shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve (12) 
thirty (30) day months.  The Series 2021 Bonds will mature on such dates, in such amounts and at 
such rates as set forth on the cover page of this Limited Offering Memorandum. 

The interest payable on each Series 2021 Bond, and punctually paid or duly provided for, 
on any Interest Payment Date will, as provided in the Indenture, be paid to the registered Owner 
thereof at the close of business on the regular Record Date for such interest, which shall be the 
fifteenth (15th) day of the calendar month preceding such Interest Payment Date or, if such day 
is not a Business Day, on the Business Day immediately preceding such day; provided, however, 
that on or after the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default under clause (a) of Section 
902 of the Master Indenture, the payment of interest and principal or Redemption Price or 
Amortization Installments shall be made by the Paying Agent to such person, who, on a special 
record date which is fixed by the Trustee, which shall be not more than fifteen (15) and not less 
than ten (10) days prior to the date of such proposed payment, appears on the registration books 
of the Bond Registrar as the registered Owner of any Series 2021 Bond.  Any payment of principal, 
Amortization Installment or Redemption Price shall be made only upon presentation at the 



 

24 

designated corporate trust office of U.S. Bank National Association, located in Orlando, Florida, 
or any alternate or successor paying agent, unless the Series 2021 Bonds are held in the book-
entry system, in which case presentation shall not be required.  Payment of interest shall be made 
by check or draft (or by wire transfer to the registered Owner if such Owner requests such method 
of payment in writing on or prior to the regular Record Date for the respective interest payment 
to such account as shall be specified in such request, but only if the registered Owner owns not 
less than $1,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2021 Bonds).   

The Series 2021 Bonds will initially be registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee 
for The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), which will act initially as securities depository for 
the Series 2021 Bonds and, so long as the Series 2021 Bonds are held in book-entry only form, 
Cede & Co. will be considered the registered owner for all purposes hereof.  See “--Book-Entry 
Only System” below for more information about DTC and its book-entry only system. 

Redemption Provisions for Series 2021 Bonds 

Optional Redemption.  The Series 2021A-1 Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity 
at the option of the District in whole, or in part on any date on or after May 1, 20__, at the 
Redemption Price of the principal amount of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds or portions thereof to be 
redeemed together with accrued interest to the date of redemption. 

The Series 2021A-2 Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of 
the District. 

Mandatory Redemption in Part of Series 2021A-1 Bonds.  The Series 2021A-1 Bonds maturing 
May 1, 20__ are subject to mandatory redemption in part by the District by lot prior to their 
scheduled maturity from moneys in the Series 2021A-1 Sinking Fund Account established under 
the Sixth Supplement in satisfaction of applicable Amortization Installments at the Redemption 
Price of the principal amount thereof, without premium, together with accrued interest to the 
date of redemption on May 1 of the years and in the principal amounts set forth below: 

May 1 of the 
Year 

Amortization 
Installment 

 $ 
  
  
  
*  

____________ 
*Maturity 
 

The Series 2021A-1 Bonds maturing May 1, 20__ are subject to mandatory redemption in 
part by the District by lot prior to their scheduled maturity from moneys in the Series 2021A-1 
Sinking Fund Account established under the Sixth Supplement in satisfaction of applicable 



 

25 

Amortization Installments at the Redemption Price of the principal amount thereof, without 
premium, together with accrued interest to the date of redemption on May 1 of the years and in 
the principal amounts set forth below: 

May 1 of the 
Year 

Amortization 
Installment 

 $ 
  
  
  
*  

____________ 
*Maturity 

 
The Series 2021A-1 Bonds maturing May 1, 20__ are subject to mandatory redemption in 

part by the District by lot prior to their scheduled maturity from moneys in the Series 2021A-1 
Sinking Fund Account established under the Sixth Supplement in satisfaction of applicable 
Amortization Installments at the Redemption Price of the principal amount thereof, without 
premium, together with accrued interest to the date of redemption on May 1 of the years and in 
the principal amounts set forth below: 

May 1 of the 
Year 

Amortization 
Installment 

 $ 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
*  

____________ 
*Maturity 
 

The Series 2021A-1 Bonds maturing May 1, 20__ are subject to mandatory redemption in 
part by the District by lot prior to their scheduled maturity from moneys in the Series 2021A-1 
Sinking Fund Account established under the Sixth Supplement in satisfaction of applicable 
Amortization Installments at the Redemption Price of the principal amount thereof, without 
premium, together with accrued interest to the date of redemption on May 1 of the years and in 
the principal amounts set forth below: 



 

26 

May 1 of the 
Year 

Amortization 
Installment 

 $ 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
*  

____________ 
*Maturity 

 
As more particularly set forth in the Indenture, any Series 2021A-1 Bonds that are 

purchased by the District with amounts held to pay an Amortization Installment will be cancelled 
and the principal amount so purchased will be applied as a credit against the applicable 
Amortization Installment of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds.  Amortization Installments are also subject 
to recalculation, as provided in the Indenture, as the result of the redemption of Series 2021A-1 
Bonds other than from scheduled Amortization Installments so as to reamortize the remaining 
Outstanding principal balance of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds as set forth in the Indenture. 

Extraordinary Mandatory Redemption in Whole or in Part.  The Series 2021A-1 Bonds are 
subject to extraordinary mandatory redemption prior to maturity in whole or in part on any 
Redemption Date at the Redemption Price of one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount 
thereof, without premium, together with accrued interest to the Redemption Date, if and to the 
extent that any one or more of the following shall have occurred: 

(a) after there are no longer Series 2021A-2 Bonds Outstanding, on or after the Date 
of Completion of the Series 2021 Project, by application of moneys transferred from the Series 
2021 Acquisition and Construction Account to the Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount as 
provided for in the Indenture; or 

(b) from amounts, including Series 2021A-1 Prepayments, required by the Indenture 
to be deposited into the Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount; or 

(c) from amounts transferred from the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account to the Series 
2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount resulting from a reduction in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve 
Account Requirement resulting from Prepayments of Series 2021A-1 Assessments as provided 
for in the Indenture; or 



 

27 

(d) on the date on which the amount on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve 
Account, together with other moneys available therefor, are sufficient to pay and redeem all of 
the Series 2021A-1 Bonds then Outstanding including accrued interest thereon. 

If less than all of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds shall be called for redemption, the particular 
Series 2021A-1 Bonds or portions of Series 2021A-1 Bonds to be redeemed shall be selected by lot 
by the Bond Registrar as provided in the Indenture. 

The Series 2021A-2 Bonds are subject to extraordinary mandatory redemption prior to 
maturity in whole or in part on any Redemption Date at the Redemption Price of one hundred 
percent (100%) of the principal amount thereof, without premium, together with accrued interest 
to the Redemption Date, if and to the extent that any one or more of the following shall have 
occurred: 

(a) on or after the Date of Completion of the Series 2021 Project, by application of 
moneys transferred from the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account to the Series 
2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount as provided for in the Indenture; or 

(b) from amounts, including Series 2021A-2 Prepayments, required by the Indenture 
to be deposited into the Series 2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount; or 

(c) from amounts transferred from the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account to the Series 
2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount resulting from a reduction in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve 
Account Requirement resulting from Prepayments of Series 2021A-2 Assessments as provided 
for in the Indenture; or 

(d) on the date on which the amount on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve 
Account, together with other moneys available therefor, are sufficient to pay and redeem all of 
the Series 2021A-2 Bonds then Outstanding, including accrued interest thereon. 

If less than all of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds shall be called for redemption, the particular 
Series 2021A-2 Bonds or portions of Series 2021A-2 Bonds to be redeemed shall be selected by lot 
by the Bond Registrar as provided in the Indenture. 

Notice and Effect of Redemption 

Notice of each redemption of Series 2021 Bonds is required to be mailed by the Bond 
Registrar, postage prepaid, not less than thirty (30) nor more than forty-five (45) days prior to the 
date of redemption to each registered Owner of Series 2021 Bonds to be redeemed at the address 
of such registered Owner recorded on the bond register maintained by the Bond Registrar.  On 
the date designated for redemption, notice having been given and money for the payment of the 
Redemption Price being held by the Paying Agent, all as provided in the Indenture, the Series 
2021 Bonds or such portions thereof so called for redemption shall become and be due and 
payable at the Redemption Price provided for the redemption of such Series 2021 Bonds or such 
portions thereof on such date, interest on such Series 2021 Bonds or such portions thereof so called 



 

28 

for redemption shall cease to accrue, such Series 2021 Bonds or such portions thereof so called for 
redemption shall cease to be entitled to any benefit or security under the Indenture and the 
Owners thereof shall have no rights in respect of such Series 2021 Bonds or such portions thereof 
so called for redemption except to receive payments of the Redemption Price thereof so held by 
the Paying Agent.  Further notice of redemption shall be given by the Bond Registrar to certain 
registered securities depositories and information services as set forth in the Indenture, but no 
defect in said further notice nor any failure to give all or any portion of such further notice shall 
in any manner defeat the effectiveness of a call for redemption if notice thereof is given as above 
prescribed. 

Pursuant to the Indenture, notice of optional redemption may be conditioned upon the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of such event or events or upon the later deposit of moneys therefor 
as shall be specified in such notice of optional redemption and may also be subject to rescission 
by the District if expressly set forth in such notice. 

Book-Entry Only System 

THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION CONCERNING DTC AND DTC’S BOOK-ENTRY 
ONLY SYSTEM HAS BEEN OBTAINED FROM SOURCES THAT THE DISTRICT BELIEVES TO 
BE RELIABLE, BUT THE DISTRICT TAKES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURACY 
THEREOF. 

SO LONG AS CEDE & CO. IS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS, 
AS NOMINEE OF DTC, CERTAIN REFERENCES IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO THE 
SERIES 2021 BONDHOLDERS OR REGISTERED OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS 
SHALL MEAN CEDE & CO. AND SHALL NOT MEAN THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF THE 
SERIES 2021 BONDS.  THE DESCRIPTION WHICH FOLLOWS OF THE PROCEDURES AND 
RECORD KEEPING WITH RESPECT TO BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN THE 
SERIES 2021 BONDS, PAYMENT OF INTEREST AND PRINCIPAL ON THE SERIES 2021 
BONDS TO DIRECT PARTICIPANTS (AS HEREINAFTER DEFINED) OR BENEFICIAL 
OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS, CONFIRMATION AND TRANSFER OF BENEFICIAL 
OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN THE SERIES 2021 BONDS, AND OTHER RELATED 
TRANSACTIONS BY AND BETWEEN DTC, THE DIRECT PARTICIPANTS AND BENEFICIAL 
OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS IS BASED SOLELY ON INFORMATION FURNISHED 
BY DTC.  ACCORDINGLY, THE DISTRICT NEITHER MAKES NOR CAN MAKE ANY 
REPRESENTATIONS CONCERNING THESE MATTERS. 

DTC will act as securities depository for the Series 2021 Bonds.  The Series 2021 Bonds will 
be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership 
nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  One 
fully-registered Series 2021 Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Series 2021 
Bonds as set forth in the inside cover of this Official Statement, each in the aggregate principal 
amount of such maturity and will be deposited with DTC.  



 

29 

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company 
organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of 
the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” 
within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” 
registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC 
holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, 
corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) 
that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC.  DTC also facilitates the 
post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in 
deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between 
Direct Participants’ accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities 
certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 
banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations.  DTC is a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is 
the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income 
Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned by the users 
of its regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both 
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing 
corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, 
either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”).  The Direct Participants and the Indirect 
Participants are collectively referred to herein as the “DTC Participants.”  DTC has a 
Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+.  The DTC Rules applicable to its DTC Participants are on file 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  More information about DTC can be found at 
www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of Series 2021 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct 
Participants, which will receive a credit for the Series 2021 Bonds on DTC’s records.  The 
ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Series 2021 Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in 
turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records.  Beneficial Owners will not 
receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase.  Beneficial Owners are, however, 
expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic 
statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial 
Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the Series 2021 Bonds are 
to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on 
behalf of Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their 
ownership interests in the Series 2021 Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system 
for the Series 2021 Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2021 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants 
with DTC are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other 
name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of the Series 2021 
Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do 
not affect any change in beneficial ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial 
Owners of the Series 2021 Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants 



 

30 

to whose accounts such Series 2021 Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial 
Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their 
holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to 
Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or 
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners of Series 2021 
Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant 
events with respect to the Series 2021 Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and 
proposed amendments to the security documents.  For example, Beneficial Owners of Series 2021 
Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Series 2021 Bonds for their benefit has 
agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners.  In the alternative, Beneficial Owners 
may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices 
be provided directly to them. 

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Series 2021 Bonds within 
a series or maturity of a series are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the 
amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such series or maturity to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with 
respect to Series 2021 Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s 
MMI procedures.  Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the District as 
soon as possible after the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or 
voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Series 2021 Bonds are credited on 
the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

Redemption proceeds, distributions and dividend payments on the Series 2021 Bonds will 
be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized 
representative of DTC.  DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s 
receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the District or the paying agent, on 
the payment date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records.  
Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and 
customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer 
form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of 
DTC, the Paying Agent, or the District, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as 
may be in effect from time to time.  Payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest on the 
Series 2021 Bonds, as applicable, to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by 
an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the District and/or the Paying Agent, 
disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and 
disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and 
Indirect Participants. 



 

31 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 2021 
Bonds at any time by giving reasonable notice to the District or the Paying Agent.  Under such 
circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, the Series 2021 Bond 
certificates are required to be printed and delivered. 

The District may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers 
through DTC (or a successor securities depository).  In that event, the Series 2021 Bond certificates 
will be printed and delivered to DTC. 

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been 
obtained from sources that the District believes to be reliable, but the District takes no 
responsibility for the accuracy thereof. 

SECURITY FOR AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT OF SERIES 2021 BONDS 

General 

The Series 2021 Bonds are payable from and secured by the revenues derived by the 
District from the Series 2021 Assessments and amounts in the Funds and Accounts (except for the 
Series 2021 Rebate Account) established by the Indenture.  Series 2021 Assessments will be levied 
and collected on the approximately eighty (80) acres of land consisting of Subphases 3B and 3C 
of the Development that are planned to be platted into 247 residential units (the “Series 2021 
Assessment Area”). 

The Series 2021 Assessments represent an allocation of a portion of the costs of the Series 
2006 Project and Series 2021 Project, including bond financing costs, to the Series 2021 Assessment 
Area in accordance with the Assessment Report attached hereto as APPENDIX B. 

“Assessments” is defined in the Master Indenture to mean all assessments levied and 
collected by or on behalf of the District pursuant to Section 190.022 of the Act, as amended from 
time to time, together with the interest specified by resolution adopted by the Governing Body, 
the interest specified in Chapter 170, Florida Statutes, as amended, if any such interest is collected 
by or on behalf of the Governing Body, and any applicable penalties collected by or on behalf of 
the District, together with any and all amounts received by the District from the sale of tax 
certificates or otherwise from the collection of Delinquent Assessments and which are referred to 
as such and pledged to a Series of Bonds pursuant to the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the 
issuance of such Series of Bonds. 

“Delinquent Assessments” is defined in the Sixth Supplement to mean, collectively, 
Delinquent Assessment Principal and Delinquent Assessment Interest.  “Delinquent Assessment 
Principal” means Series 2021A-1 Assessment Principal or Series 2021A-2 Assessment Principal 
deposited by the District with the Trustee on or after May 1 of the year in which such Series 
2021A-1 Assessment Principal or Series 2021A-2 Assessment Principal has, or would have, 
become delinquent under State law or the Series 2021 Assessment Proceedings applicable thereto.  
“Delinquent Assessment Interest” means Series 2021A-1 Assessment Interest or Series 2021A-2 



 

32 

Assessment Interest deposited by the District with the Trustee on or after May 1 of the year in 
which such Series 2021A-1 Assessment Interest or Series 2021A-2 Assessment Interest has, or 
would have, become delinquent under State law or the Series 2021 Assessment Proceedings 
applicable thereto. 

NEITHER THE SERIES 2021 BONDS NOR THE INTEREST AND PREMIUM, IF ANY, 
PAYABLE THEREON SHALL CONSTITUTE A GENERAL OBLIGATION OR GENERAL 
INDEBTEDNESS OF THE DISTRICT WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE CONSTITUTION AND 
LAWS OF FLORIDA.  THE SERIES 2021 BONDS AND THE INTEREST AND PREMIUM, IF 
ANY, PAYABLE THEREON DO NOT CONSTITUTE EITHER A PLEDGE OF THE FULL FAITH 
AND CREDIT OF THE DISTRICT OR A LIEN UPON ANY PROPERTY OF THE DISTRICT 
OTHER THAN AS PROVIDED IN THE INDENTURE.  NO OWNER OR ANY OTHER PERSON 
SHALL EVER HAVE THE RIGHT TO COMPEL THE EXERCISE OF ANY AD VALOREM 
TAXING POWER OF THE DISTRICT OR ANY OTHER PUBLIC AUTHORITY OR 
GOVERNMENTAL BODY TO PAY DEBT SERVICE OR TO PAY ANY OTHER AMOUNTS 
REQUIRED TO BE PAID PURSUANT TO THE INDENTURE OR THE SERIES 2021 BONDS.  
RATHER, DEBT SERVICE AND ANY OTHER AMOUNTS REQUIRED TO BE PAID 
PURSUANT TO THE INDENTURE OR THE SERIES 2021 BONDS, SHALL BE PAYABLE 
SOLELY FROM, AND SHALL BE SECURED SOLELY BY, THE SERIES 2021 TRUST ESTATE 
PLEDGED TO THE SERIES 2021 BONDS, ALL AS PROVIDED IN THE INDENTURE. 

Funds and Accounts 

The Indenture establishes with the Trustee the following Funds and Accounts: 1) within 
the Acquisition and Construction Fund, a Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account and 
a Series 2021 Costs of Issuance Account; 2) within the Debt Service Fund, a Series 2021 Debt 
Service Account (and therein a Series 2021A-1 Sinking Fund Account, a Series 2021A-1 Interest 
Account, a Series 2021A-1 Capitalized Interest Account, a Series 2021A-2 Principal Account, a 
Series 2021A-2 Interest Account and a Series 2021A-2 Capitalized Interest Account); and a Series 
2021 Redemption Account (and therein a Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount, a Series 2021A-
2 Prepayment Subaccount and a Series 2021A-1 Optional Redemption Subaccount); 3) in the 
Reserve Fund, a Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account, which shall be held for the benefit of all of the 
Series 2021A-1 Bonds, without distinction as to Series 2021A-1 Bonds and without privilege or 
priority of one Series 2021A-1 Bond over another and a Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account, which 
shall be held for the benefit of all of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds, without distinction as to Series 
2021A-2 Bonds and without privilege or priority of one Series 2021A-2 Bond over another; 4) 
within the Revenue Fund, a Series 2021 Revenue Account; and 5) within the Rebate Fund, a Series 
2021 Rebate Account. 

Acquisition and Construction Account 

Amounts on deposit in the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account shall be 
applied to pay Costs of the Series 2021 Project upon compliance with the requisition provisions 
set forth in Indenture.  The Trustee shall have no duty to verify that any requested disbursement 



 

33 

from the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account is for a Cost of the Series 2021 Project.  
The Consulting Engineer shall establish a Date of Completion for the Series 2021 Project, and any 
balance remaining in the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account after such Date of 
Completion (taking into account the moneys then on deposit therein to pay any accrued but 
unpaid Costs of the Series 2021 Project which are required to be reserved in the Series 2021 
Acquisition and Construction Account in accordance with the certificate of the Consulting 
Engineer delivered to the District and the Trustee establishing such Date of Completion), shall be 
transferred first to the Series 2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount and applied to the extraordinary 
mandatory redemption of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds until such Series 2021A-2 Bonds are no longer 
Outstanding and then to the Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount and applied to the 
extraordinary mandatory redemption of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds in accordance with the Sixth 
Supplement and in the manner prescribed in the respective forms of Series 2021 Bonds set forth 
as Exhibit B to the Sixth Supplement. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District shall not establish a Date of Completion until 
after the Conditions for Reduction of Reserve Account Requirement have been satisfied and 
moneys have been transferred from the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account to the Series 2021 
Acquisition and Construction Account as a result of such satisfaction pursuant to the Sixth 
Supplement.  At such time as there are no amounts on deposit in the Series 2021 Acquisition and 
Construction Account, such Account shall be closed. 

Reserve Accounts and Reserve Account Requirements 

The Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account Requirement is equal to the Maximum Annual Debt 
Service Requirement for all Outstanding Series 2021A-1 Bonds, as of the time of any such 
calculation, until such time as the Conditions for Reduction of Reserve Account Requirement are 
met, at which time and thereafter the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account Requirement shall be an 
amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of the Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirement for all 
Outstanding Series 2021A-1 Bonds, as of the time of any such calculation.  On the date of initial 
issuance of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds, the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account Requirement is equal 
to $___________.  “Conditions for Reduction of Reserve Account Requirement” means, 
collectively, that (i) all lots subject to Series 2021 Assessments have been developed and platted, 
(ii) all lots subject to Series 2021 Assessments have been sold by the Developer to builders and all 
such sales have closed, (iii) there are no Events of Default occurring or continuing under the 
Indenture with respect to the Series 2021 Bonds and (iv) the Series 2021A-2 Bonds are no longer 
Outstanding.   

The Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account shall be funded and maintained at all times in an 
amount equal to the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account Requirement.  Except as otherwise provided 
in the Indenture, amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account shall be used only 
for the purpose of making payments into the Series 2021A-1 Interest Account and the Series 
2021A-1 Sinking Fund Account to pay Debt Service on the Series 2021A-1 Bonds, when due, 
without distinction as to Series 2021A-1 Bonds and without privilege or priority of one Series 
2021A-1 Bond over another, to the extent the moneys on deposit in such Accounts available 



 

34 

therefor are insufficient and for no other purpose.  The Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account shall 
consist only of cash and Series 2021 Investment Obligations. 

On the forty-fifth (45th) day preceding each Quarterly Redemption Date (or, if such forty-
fifth (45th) day is not a Business Day, on the first Business Day preceding such forty-fifth (45th) 
day), the Trustee is authorized and directed to recalculate the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account 
Requirement and to transfer any excess on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account 
(i) resulting from Prepayments of Series 2021A-1 Assessments into the Series 2021A-1 
Prepayment Subaccount and applied to the extraordinary mandatory redemption of the Series 
2021A-1 Bonds, (ii) resulting from a reduction of the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account 
Requirement as the result of the Conditions for Reduction of Reserve Account Requirement being 
met into the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account and used for the purposes of such 
Account, or (iii) resulting from investment earnings as provided in the Sixth Supplement. 

On the earliest date on which there is on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account 
sufficient moneys, after taking into account other moneys available therefor, to pay and redeem 
all of the Outstanding Series 2021A-1 Bonds, together with accrued interest and redemption 
premium, if any, on such Series 2021A-1 Bonds to the earliest Redemption Date permitted in the 
Indenture and Series 2021A-1  Bonds, then the Trustee shall transfer the amount on deposit in the 
Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account into the Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount to pay and 
redeem all of the Outstanding Series 2021A-1 Bonds on the earliest Redemption Date permitted 
for redemption in the Indenture and Series 2021A-1 Bonds. 

The Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account Requirement is equal to the maximum annual 
interest requirement for the Series 2021A-2 Bonds as calculated from time to time, which amount 
on the date of issuance is $___________. 

The Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account shall be funded and maintained at all times in an 
amount equal to the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account Requirement.  Except as otherwise provided 
in the Indenture, amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account shall be used only 
for the purpose of making payments into the Series 2021A-2 Interest Account and the Series 
2021A-2 Principal Account to pay Debt Service on the Series 2021A-2 Bonds, when due, without 
distinction as to Series 2021A-2 Bonds and without privilege or priority of one Series 2021A-2 
Bond over another, to the extent the moneys on deposit in such Accounts available therefor are 
insufficient and for no other purpose.  The Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account shall consist only of 
cash and Series 2021 Investment Obligations. 

On the forty-fifth (45th) day preceding each Quarterly Redemption Date (or, if such forty-
fifth (45th) day is not a Business Day, on the first Business Day preceding such forty-fifth (45th) 
day), the Trustee is authorized and directed by the Indenture to recalculate the Series 2021A-2 
Reserve Account Requirement and to transfer any excess on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve 
Account (other than excess resulting from investments which shall be governed as provided in 
the Sixth Supplement) into the Series 2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount and applied to the 
extraordinary mandatory redemption of Series 2021A-2 Bonds. 



 

35 

On the earliest date on which there is on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account 
sufficient moneys, after taking into account other moneys available therefor, to pay and redeem 
all of the Outstanding Series 2021A-2 Bonds, together with accrued interest and redemption 
premium, if any, on such Series 2021A-2 Bonds to the earliest Redemption Date permitted in the 
Indenture and Series 2021A-2 Bonds, then the Trustee shall transfer the amount on deposit in the 
Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account into the Series 2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount to pay and 
redeem all of the Outstanding Series 2021A-2 Bonds on the earliest Redemption Date permitted 
for redemption in the Indenture and Series 2021A-2 Bonds. 

Amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account and Series 2021A-2 Reserve 
Account shall, upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default, be subject to a first 
charge by the Trustee for its fees and expenses, including fees and expenses of collection of 
Delinquent Assessments. 

Flow of Funds 

(a) The Indenture authorizes and directs the Trustee to deposit any and all amounts 
required to be deposited in the Series 2021 Revenue Account by the Indenture, and any other 
amounts or payments specifically designated by the District pursuant to a written direction or by 
a Supplemental Indenture for said purpose.  The Series 2021 Revenue Account shall be held by 
the Trustee separate and apart from all other Funds and Accounts held under the Indenture and 
from all other moneys of the Trustee. 

(b) The Trustee shall deposit into the Series 2021 Revenue Account (i) Series 2021A-1 
Assessment Revenues other than Series 2021A-1 Prepayments (which Series 2021A-1 
Prepayments shall be identified by the District to the Trustee as such in writing upon deposit, 
upon which certification the Trustee may conclusively rely, and which shall be deposited into the 
Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount), (ii) Series 2021A-2 Assessment Revenues other than 
Series 2021A-2 Prepayments (which Series 2021A-2 Prepayments shall be identified by the 
District to the Trustee as such in writing upon deposit, upon which certification the Trustee may 
conclusively rely, and which shall be deposited into the Series 2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount), 
(iii) Series 2021A-1 Prepayment Interest and Series 2021A-2 Prepayment Interest, and (iv) any 
other revenues required by other provisions of the Indenture to be deposited into the Series 2021 
Revenue Account. 

(c) (i) On the forty-fifth (45th) day preceding each Quarterly Redemption Date (or if 
such forty-fifth (45th) day is not a Business Day, on the Business Day preceding such forty-fifth 
(45th) day), the Trustee shall determine the amount on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Prepayment 
Subaccount and, if the balance therein is greater than zero, shall, upon written direction from the 
District, transfer from the Series 2021 Revenue Account for deposit into the Series 2021A-1 
Prepayment Subaccount an amount sufficient to increase the amount on deposit therein to the 
nearest integral multiple of $5,000 (provided that there are sufficient funds remaining in the Series 
2021 Revenue Account to pay Debt Service coming due on the Series 2021A-1 Bonds on the next 
succeeding Interest Payment Date), and shall thereupon give notice and cause the extraordinary 



 

36 

mandatory redemption of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds on the next succeeding Redemption Date in 
the maximum aggregate principal amount for which moneys are then on deposit in the Series 
2021A-1 Prepayment Subaccount in accordance with the provisions for extraordinary mandatory 
redemption of the Series 2021A-1 Bonds set forth in the Series 2021A-1 Bonds and the Indenture. 

(ii) On the forty-fifth (45th) day preceding each Quarterly Redemption Date (or if 
such forty-fifth (45th) day is not a Business Day, on the Business Day preceding such forty-fifth 
(45th) day), the Trustee shall determine the amount on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Prepayment 
Subaccount and, if the balance therein is greater than zero, shall, upon written direction from the 
District, transfer from the Series 2021 Revenue Account for deposit into the Series 2021A-2 
Prepayment Subaccount an amount sufficient to increase the amount on deposit therein to the 
nearest integral multiple of $5,000 (provided that there are sufficient funds remaining in the Series 
2021 Revenue Account to pay Debt Service coming due on the Series 2021A-2 Bonds on the next 
succeeding Interest Payment Date), and shall thereupon give notice and cause the extraordinary 
mandatory redemption of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds on the next succeeding Redemption Date in 
the maximum aggregate principal amount for which moneys are then on deposit in the Series 
2021A-2 Prepayment Subaccount in accordance with the provisions for extraordinary mandatory 
redemption of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds set forth in the Series 2021A-2 Bonds and the Indenture. 

(d) On May 1 and November 1 (or if such May 1 or November 1 is not a Business Day, 
on the Business Day preceding such May 1 or November 1), the Trustee shall first transfer (i) from 
the Series 2021A-1 Capitalized Interest Account to the Series 2021A-1 Interest Account the lesser 
of (x) the amount of interest coming due on the Series 2021A-1 Bonds on such May 1 or November 
1, less the amount already on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Interest Account, or (y) the amount 
remaining in the Series 2021A-1 Capitalized Interest Account and (ii) from the Series 2021A-2 
Capitalized Interest Account to the Series 2021A-2 Interest Account the lesser of (x) the amount 
of interest coming due on the Series 2021A-2 Bonds on such May 1 or November 1, less the 
amount already on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Interest Account, or (y) the amount remaining 
in the Series 2021A-2 Capitalized Interest Account.  Following the foregoing transfers, on such 
May 1 or November 1 (or if such May 1 or November 1 is not a Business Day, on the Business 
Day preceding such May 1 or November 1), the Trustee shall then transfer amounts on deposit in 
the Series 2021 Revenue Account to the Accounts designated below in the following amounts and 
in the following order of priority: 

FIRST, to the Series 2021A-1 Interest Account, the amount, if any, equal to the difference 
between the amount of interest payable on all Series 2021A-1 Bonds then Outstanding on such 
May 1 or November 1, and (i) the amount transferred from the Series 2021A-1 Capitalized Interest 
Account in accordance with Section 408(d) of the Sixth Supplement and (ii) the amount already 
on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Interest Account not previously credited, and to the Series 2021A-
2 Interest Account, the amount, if any, equal to the difference between the amount of interest 
payable on all Series 2021A-2 Bonds then Outstanding on such May 1 or November 1, and (i) the 
amount transferred from the Series 2021A-2 Capitalized Interest Account in accordance with 
Section 408(d) of the Sixth Supplement and (ii) the amount already on deposit in the Series 2021A-
2 Interest Account not previously credited; 



 

37 

SECOND, on May 1, 20__, and on each May 1 thereafter, to the Series 2021A-1 Sinking 
Fund Account, the amount, if any, equal to the difference between the Amortization Installments 
of all Series 2021A-1 Bonds subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on such May 1 and 
the amount already on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Sinking Fund Account not previously 
credited and on May 1, 20__, to the Series 2021A-2 Principal Account, the amount, if any, equal 
to the difference between the principal of all Series 2021A-2 Bonds maturing on such May 1, and 
the amount already on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Principal Account not previously credited; 

THIRD, to the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account, the amount, if any, which is necessary to 
make the amount on deposit therein equal to the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account Requirement 
with respect to the Series 2021A-1 Bonds, and to the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account, the amount, 
if any, which is necessary to make the amount on deposit therein equal to the Series 2021A-2 
Reserve Account Requirement with respect to the Series 2021A-2 Bonds; and 

FOURTH, the balance shall first be deposited into the Series 2021 Costs of Issuance 
Account to fund any deficiencies in the amount allocated to pay the costs of issuance relating to 
the Series 2021 Bonds, and then the balance shall be retained in the Series 2021 Revenue Account. 

In the event that the amounts to be applied pursuant to clauses FIRST through THIRD 
above shall be insufficient to satisfy the requirements of any such clause, the moneys available to 
be applied to satisfied the requirements of such clause shall be applied on a pro rata basis in the 
order provided above. 

(e) On any date required by the Arbitrage Certificate, the District shall give the 
Trustee written direction to, and the Trustee shall, transfer from the Series 2021 Revenue Account 
to the Series 2021 Rebate Account the amount due and owing to the United States, which amount 
shall be paid to the United States when due in accordance with such Arbitrage Certificate. 

Investments 

Moneys on deposit in all of the Funds and Accounts held as security for the Series 2021 
Bonds shall be invested only in Series 2021 Investment Obligations.  Earnings on investments in 
the Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account, the Series 2021A-1 Interest Account, the 
Series 2021A-1 Capitalized Interest Account, the Series 2021A-2 Interest Account and the Series 
2021A-2 Capitalized Interest Account shall be retained, as realized, in such Accounts and used 
for the purpose of such Accounts.  Earnings on investments in the Funds and Accounts other than 
the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account and the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account, and other than as 
set forth above, shall be deposited, as realized, to the credit of the Series 2021 Revenue Account 
and used for the purpose of such Account. 

Earnings on investments in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account shall be disposed of as 
follows: 

(i) if there was no deficiency (as defined in Section 509 of the Master 
Indenture) in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account as of the most recent date on which 



 

38 

amounts on deposit in such Reserve Account were valued by the Trustee, and if no 
withdrawals have been made from the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account since such date 
which have created a deficiency, then earnings on investments in the Series 2021A-1 
Reserve Account shall be deposited into the Series 2021 Capitalized Interest Account 
through November 1, 2022, and thereafter shall be deposited into the Series 2021 Revenue 
Account and used for the purpose of such Account; or 

(ii) if there was a deficiency (as defined in Section 509 of the Master Indenture) 
in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account as of the most recent date on which amounts on 
deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account were valued by the Trustee, or if after such 
date withdrawals have been made from the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account and have 
created such a deficiency, then earnings on investments in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve 
Account shall be retained in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account until the amount on 
deposit therein is equal to the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account Requirement, and then 
earnings on investments in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account shall be deposited into the 
Series 2021A-1 Capitalized Interest Account through November 1, 2022, and thereafter 
shall be deposited into the Series 2021 Revenue Account and used for the purpose of such 
Account. 

The foregoing determination and disbursement shall be made prior to any recalculation 
and transfer of excess amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account made pursuant 
to Section 405 of the Sixth Supplement. 

Earnings on investments in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account shall be disposed of as 
follows: 

(i) if there was no deficiency (as defined in Section 509 of the Master 
Indenture) in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account as of the most recent date on which 
amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account were valued by the Trustee, 
and if no withdrawals have been made from the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account since 
such date which have created a deficiency, then earnings on investments in the Series 
2021A-2 Reserve Account shall be deposited into the Series 2021A-2 Capitalized Interest 
Account through November 1, 2022, and thereafter shall be deposited into the Series 2021 
Revenue Account and used for the purpose of such Account; or 

(ii) if there was a deficiency (as defined in Section 509 of the Master Indenture) 
in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account as of the most recent date on which amounts on 
deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account were valued by the Trustee, or if after such 
date withdrawals have been made from the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account and have 
created such a deficiency, then earnings on investments in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve 
Account shall be retained in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account until the amount on 
deposit therein is equal to the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account Requirement, and then 
earnings on investments in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account shall be deposited into the 
Series 2021A-2 Capitalized Interest Account through November 1, 2022, and thereafter 



 

39 

shall be deposited into the Series 2021 Revenue Account and used for the purpose of such 
Account. 

The foregoing determination and disbursement shall be made prior to any recalculation 
and transfer of excess amounts on deposit in the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account made pursuant 
to Section 405 of the Sixth Supplement. 

Agreement for Assignment of Development Rights 

Contemporaneously with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, the Developer and the 
District will enter into a Collateral Assignment Agreement relating to the Phase 3B/C Project (the 
“Assignment Agreement”) in order to provide certain remedies with respect to the Development 
& Contract Rights (as defined below) in order to allow the District to complete development of 
the Series 2021 Assessment Area, including, without limitation, the Phase 3B/C Project.  Pursuant 
to the Assignment Agreement, the Developer will collaterally assign or cause to be assigned to 
the District, to the extent assignable and to the extent that they are solely owned or controlled by 
the Developer or any related entity of the Developer, at the execution of the Assignment 
Agreement or acquired in the future, all of the Developer’s development rights and contract 
rights relating to the Phase 3B/C Project and the Series 2021 Assessment Area (the “Development 
& Contract Rights”) as security for the Developer’s payment and performance and discharge of 
its obligations to pay the Series 2021 Assessments levied against the lands within the Series 2021 
Assessment Area owned by the Developer.  The assignment becomes effective and absolute upon 
failure of the Developer to pay the Series 2021 Assessments.  Such Development & Contract 
Rights specifically exclude any such portion of the Development & Contract Rights which are 
subject to a Prior Transfer (as defined in the Assignment Agreement).  Pursuant to the Indenture, 
the District will collaterally assign its rights under the Assignment Agreement to the Trustee for 
the benefit of the Owners, from time to time, of the Series 2021 Bonds. 

Owner Direction and Consent with Respect to Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction 
Account Upon Occurrence of Event of Default 

In accordance with the provisions of the Indenture, the Series 2021 Bonds are payable 
solely from the Series 2021 Pledged Revenues and the Series 2021 Pledged Funds held by the 
Trustee under the Indenture for such purpose.  Anything in the Indenture to the contrary 
notwithstanding, the District acknowledges in the Indenture that (i) the Series 2021 Pledged 
Funds includes, without limitation, all amounts on deposit in the Series 2021 Acquisition and 
Construction Account then held by the Trustee, (ii)  upon the occurrence of an Event of Default 
with respect to the Series 2021 Bonds, the Series 2021 Pledged Funds may not be used by the 
District (whether to pay Costs of the Series 2021 Project or otherwise) without the consent of the 
Majority Owners, except to the extent that prior to the Trustee notifying the District of such 
declared Event of Default the District had incurred a binding obligation with third parties for 
work on the Series 2021 Project and payment is for such work and (iii) upon the occurrence of an 
Event of Default with respect to the Series 2021 Bonds, the Series 2021 Pledged Funds may be 
used by the Trustee, at the direction or with the approval of the Majority Owners, to pay the 



 

40 

reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection with the pursuit of remedies under the 
Indenture.  The District shall not enter into any binding agreement with respect to the Series 2021 
Project that will cause the expenditure of additional funds from the Series 2021 Trust Estate after 
the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default unless authorized in writing 
by the Majority Owners. 

Completion Agreement 

In connection with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, the District and the Developer 
will enter into an agreement (the “Completion Agreement”) pursuant to which the Developer 
will agree to provide funds to complete the Phase 3B/C Project to the extent that proceeds of the 
Series 2021 Bonds and any other debt of the District are insufficient therefor.  Remedies for a 
default under the Completion Agreement include damages and/or specific performance. 

True-Up Agreement 

In connection with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, the District will enter into a True-
Up Agreement with the Developer.  The True-Up Agreement provides that if the District 
Manager determines that, as a result of any true-up calculation as required by the True-Up 
Agreement and Assessment Report a true-up obligation exists as to the property owned by the 
Developer, then such property owner shall make payment in the amount of such true-up 
obligation in accordance with the terms of the True-Up Agreement and Assessment Report. 

Enforcement and Collection of Series 2021 Assessments 

The primary source of payment for the Series 2021 Bonds are the Series 2021 Assessments 
imposed on the lands within the District which are specially benefited by the Series 2021 Project, 
all in accordance with the Series 2021 Assessment Proceedings related to the Series 2021 
Assessments.  At the time of issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, the Developer owns all of such 
lands.  To the extent that the Developer or any other landowner, or any successor landowners, 
fail to pay such Series 2021 Assessments, delay payments, or are unable to pay Series 2021 
Assessments, the successful pursuit of collection procedures available to the District is essential 
to continued payment of principal of and interest on the Series 2021 Bonds.  The Act provides for 
various methods of collection of delinquent taxes by reference to other provisions of the Florida 
Statutes.  See “ENFORCEMENT OF ASSESSMENT COLLECTIONS” herein for a summary of 
payment and collection procedures relating to the Series 2021 Assessments appearing in the 
Florida Statutes. 

Series 2021A-1 Assessments levied on unplatted lands and pledged under the Indenture 
to secure the Series 2021A-1 Bonds shall be collected directly by the District pursuant to the Act 
and Chapters 170 and 197, Florida Statutes, and Series 2021A-1 Assessments levied on platted 
lots and pledged under the Indenture to secure the Series 2021A-1 Bonds shall be collected 
pursuant to the Uniform Method (hereinafter defined).  Series 2021A-2 Assessments whether 
levied on unplatted lands or platted lots and pledged under the Indenture to secure the Series 
2021A-2 Bonds shall be collected directly by the District pursuant to the Act and Chapters 170 



 

41 

and 197, Florida Statutes, and not pursuant to the Uniform Method, unless otherwise directed by 
the Trustee acting at the direction of the Majority Owners. 

All Series 2021 Assessments that are collected directly by the District and not via the 
Uniform Method shall be due and payable by the applicable landowner no later than thirty (30) 
days prior to each Interest Payment Date. 

Covenants with Regard to Enforcement and Collection of Delinquent Assessments 

If any property shall be offered for sale for the nonpayment of any Series 2021 
Assessments and no person or persons shall purchase such property for an amount equal to the 
full amount due on the Series 2021 Assessments (principal, interest, penalties and costs, plus 
attorneys’ fees, if any), the property may then be purchased by the District for an amount less 
than or equal to the balance due on the Series 2021 Assessments (principal, interest, penalties and 
costs, plus attorneys’ fees, if any), from any legally available funds of the District and the District 
shall receive, in its corporate name or in the name of a special purpose entity, title to the property 
for the benefit of the Owners of the Series 2021 Bonds; provided that the Trustee shall have the 
right acting at the direction of the Majority Owners, but shall not be obligated, to direct the 
District with respect to any action taken pursuant to this paragraph.  The District, either through 
its own actions or actions caused to be taken through the Trustee, shall have the power to lease 
or sell such property, and deposit all of the net proceeds of any such lease or sale into the Series 
2021 Revenue Account.  The District, either through its own actions or actions caused to be taken 
through the Trustee, agrees in the Indenture that it shall, after being provided assurances 
satisfactory to it of payment of its fees, costs and expenses for doing so, be required to take the 
measures provided by law for listing for sale of property acquired by it as trustee for the benefit 
of the Owners of the Series 2021 Bonds within sixty (60) days after the receipt of the request 
therefor signed by the Trustee or the Majority Owners.  The Trustee may, upon direction from 
the Majority Owners, pay costs associated with any actions taken by District pursuant to this 
paragraph from any moneys legally available for such purpose held under the Indenture. 

Additional Covenants Regarding Series 2021 Assessments 

The District covenants in the Indenture to comply with the terms of the Series 2021 
Assessment Proceedings heretofore adopted with respect to the Series 2021 Assessments, 
including the Assessment Methodology, and to levy the Series 2021 Assessments and any 
required true-up payments set forth in the Assessment Methodology in such manner as will 
generate funds sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Series 2021 Bonds, when due.  
The Assessment Methodology shall not be materially amended without prior written consent of 
the Majority Owners. 

No Parity Bonds; Limitation on Parity Assessments 

Other than Refunding Bonds issued to refund the then Outstanding Series 2021 Bonds, 
the issuance of which results in net present value Debt Service savings, the District shall not, 
while any Series 2021 Bonds are Outstanding, issue or incur any debt payable in whole or in part 



 

42 

from the Series 2021 Trust Estate.  The District further covenants and agrees in the Indenture that 
so long as the Series 2021A-1 Assessments have not been Substantially Absorbed and the Series 
2021A-2 Bonds are Outstanding, it will not impose Assessments for capital projects on any lands 
subject to the Series 2021 Assessments without the written consent of the Majority Owners.  
Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, the District may impose Assessments on 
property subject to the Series 2021 Assessments which are necessary for health, safety or welfare 
reasons, or to remediate a natural disaster, or to effect repairs to or replacement of property, 
facilities or equipment of the District without the consent of the Majority Owners. 

Events of Default 

Each of the following events is an Event of Default with respect to the Series 2021 Bonds: 

(a) any payment of Debt Service on the Series 2021 Bonds is not made when due; 

(b) the District shall for any reason be rendered incapable of fulfilling its obligations 
under the Indenture; 

(c) the District admits in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become 
due, or files a petition in bankruptcy or makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors or 
consents to the appointment of a receiver or trustee for itself or for the whole or any part of the 
Series 2006 Project or the Series 2021 Project; 

(d) the District is adjudged insolvent by a court of competent jurisdiction, or is 
adjudged a bankrupt on a petition in bankruptcy filed against the District, or an order, judgment 
or decree be entered by any court of competent jurisdiction appointing, without the consent of 
the District, a receiver or trustee of the District or of the whole or any part of its property and if 
the aforesaid adjudications, orders, judgments or decrees shall not be vacated or set aside or 
stayed within ninety (90) days from the date of entry thereof; 

(e) the District shall file a petition or answer seeking reorganization or any 
arrangement under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law or statute of the 
United States of America or any state thereof; 

(f) under the provisions of any other law for the relief or aid of debtors, any court of 
competent jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of the District’s assets or any part thereof, 
and such custody or control shall not be terminated within ninety (90) days from the date of 
assumption of such custody or control;  

(g) the District shall default in the due and punctual performance of any of the 
material covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions contained in the Series 2021 Bonds or 
in the Indenture on the part of the District to be performed (other than a default in the payment 
of Debt Service on the Series 2021 Bonds when due, which is an Event of Default under subsection 
(a) above) and such default shall continue for thirty (30) days after written notice specifying such 
default and requiring same to be remedied shall have been given to the District by the Trustee or, 



 

43 

if the Trustee is unwilling or unable to act, by Owners of not less than ten percent (10%) in 
aggregate principal amount of the Series 2021 Bonds then Outstanding and affected by such 
default;  

(h) more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the Series 2021 Assessments shall have 
become Delinquent Assessments and remain delinquent for more than ninety (90) days and the 
Indenture provides for the Trustee to withdraw funds from the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account 
or the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account to pay Debt Service on the Series 2021A-1 Bonds or Series 
2021A-2 Bonds, as applicable (regardless of whether the Trustee does or does not, per the 
direction of the Majority Owners, actually withdraw such funds from the Series 2021A-1 Reserve 
Account or the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account to pay Debt Service on the Series 2021A-1 Bonds 
or the Series 2021A-2 Bonds, as applicable);  

(i) breach by the District of any covenant made by it in the Indenture, whether or not 
notice of such breach has been given and without the necessity for the passage of time; or 

(j) more than twenty percent (20%) of the Operation and Maintenance Assessments 
levied by the District have not been paid, when due, and remain delinquent for more than sixty 
(60) days. 

Enforcement of Remedies 

Upon the happening and continuance of any Event of Default specified above, the Trustee 
or, if the Trustee is unwilling or unable to act, the Owners of not less than fifty-one percent (51%) 
in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2021 Bonds then Outstanding may protect and enforce 
the rights of the Owners of the Series 2021 Bonds under Florida law, and under the Indenture and 
the Series 2021 Bonds, by such proceedings in equity or at law, either for the specific performance 
of any covenant or agreement contained in the Indenture or in aid or execution of any power in 
the Indenture granted or for the enforcement of any proper legal or equitable remedy, as the 
Trustee or the Owners of Series 2021 Bonds, as the case may be, shall deem most effectual to 
protect and enforce such rights. 

The District covenants and agrees in the Indenture that it will take such actions to enforce 
the remedial provisions of the Indenture, the provisions for the collection of Delinquent 
Assessments, including Delinquent Direct Billed Operation and Maintenance Assessments, the 
provisions for the foreclosure of liens of Delinquent Assessments, including Delinquent Direct 
Billed Operation and Maintenance Assessments, and will take such other appropriate remedial 
actions as shall be directed by the Trustee acting at the direction of, and on behalf of, the Majority 
Owners.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Sixth Supplement and, unless 
otherwise directed by the Majority Owners and allowed pursuant to federal or State law, the 
District acknowledges and agrees in the Indenture that (i) upon failure of any property owner to 
pay an installment of Series 2021 Assessments collected directly by the District when due, that 
the entire Series 2021 Assessment on the tax parcel as to which such Delinquent Assessment 
appertains, with interest and penalties thereon, shall immediately become due and payable as 



 

44 

provided by applicable law and the District shall promptly cause to be brought the necessary 
legal proceedings for the foreclosure of liens of Delinquent Assessments, including interest and 
penalties with respect to such tax parcel and (ii) the foreclosure proceedings shall be prosecuted 
to a sale and conveyance of the property involved in said proceedings as now provided by law 
in suits to foreclose mortgages. 

Provisions Relating to Bankruptcy or Insolvency of Landowner 

(a) The provisions of this section shall be applicable both before and after the 
commencement, whether voluntary or involuntary, of any case, proceeding or other action by or 
against any owner of any tax parcel, or tax parcels which are in the aggregate, subject to at least 
five percent (5%) of the Series 2021 Assessments pledged to the Series 2021 Bonds (an "Insolvent 
Taxpayer") under any existing or future law of any jurisdiction relating to bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization, assignment for the benefit of creditors, or relief of debtors (a 
"Proceeding"). 

(b) The District acknowledges and agrees that, although the Series 2021 Bonds were 
issued by the District, the Owners of the Series 2021 Bonds are categorically the party with the 
ultimate financial stake in the transaction and, consequently, the party with a vested and 
pecuniary interest in a Proceeding.  In the event of any Proceeding involving an Insolvent 
Taxpayer:  

(i) the District agrees in the Indenture that it shall seek to secure the written 
consent of the Trustee, acting at the direction of the Majority Owners of the Series 2021 
Bonds then Outstanding, prior to making any election, giving any consent, commencing 
any action or filing any motion, claim, obligation, notice or application or in taking any 
other action or position in any Proceeding or in any action related to a Proceeding that 
affects, either directly or indirectly, the Series 2021 Assessments, the Series 2021 Bonds 
then Outstanding or any rights of the Trustee under the Indenture (provided, however, 
the Trustee shall be deemed to have consented, on behalf of the Majority Owners of the 
Series 2021 Bonds then Outstanding, to the proposed action if the District does not receive 
a written response from the Trustee within sixty (60) days following request for consent);  

(ii) the District agrees in the Indenture that it shall not make any election, give 
any consent, commence any action or file any motion, claim, obligation, notice or 
application or take any other action or position in any Proceeding or in any action related 
to a Proceeding that affects, either directly or indirectly, the Series 2021 Assessments, the 
Series 2021 Bonds then Outstanding or any rights of the Trustee under the Indenture that 
are inconsistent with any written consent received (or deemed received) from the Trustee;  

(iii) the District agrees in the Indenture that it shall seek the written consent of 
the Trustee prior to filing and voting in any such Proceeding (provided, however, the 
Trustee shall be deemed to have consented, on behalf of the Majority Owners of the Series 



 

45 

2021 Bonds then Outstanding, to the proposed action if the District does not receive a 
written response from the Trustee within sixty (60) days following request for consent);  

(iv) the Trustee shall have the right, by interpleader or otherwise, to seek or 
oppose any relief in any such Proceeding that the District, as claimant with respect to the 
Series 2021 Assessments, would have the right to pursue, and, if the Trustee chooses to 
exercise any such rights, the District shall not oppose the Trustee in seeking to exercise 
any and all rights and taking any and all actions available to the District in connection 
with any Proceeding of any Insolvent Taxpayer, including, without limitation, the right 
to file and/or prosecute and/or defend any claims and proofs of claims, to vote to accept 
or reject a plan, to seek dismissal of the Proceeding, to seek stay relief to commence or 
continue foreclosure or pursue any other available remedies as to the Series 2021 
Assessments, to seek substantive consolidation, to seek to shorten the Insolvent 
Taxpayer's exclusivity periods or to oppose any motion to extend such exclusivity 
periods, to oppose any motion for use of cash collateral or for authority to obtain 
financing, to oppose any sale procedures motion or any sale motion, to propose a 
competing plan of reorganization or liquidation, or to make any election under Section 
1111(b) of the Bankruptcy Code; and  

(v) the District shall not challenge the validity or amount of any claim 
submitted in good faith in such Proceeding by the Trustee or any valuations of the lands 
owned by any Insolvent Taxpayer submitted in good faith by the Trustee in such 
Proceeding or take any other action in such Proceeding, which is adverse to the Trustee's 
enforcement of the District's claim and rights with respect to the Series 2021 Assessments 
or receipt of adequate protection (as that term is defined in the Bankruptcy Code).  
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the District agrees in the Indenture that 
the Trustee shall have the right to (A) file a proof of claim with respect to the Series 2021 
Assessments, (B) deliver to the District a copy thereof, together with evidence of the filing 
with the appropriate court or other authority, and (C) defend any objection filed to said 
proof of claim.  

The District acknowledges and agrees that it shall not be a defense to a breach of 
the foregoing covenants that it has acted on advice of counsel in not complying with the 
foregoing covenants. 

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (b) above, nothing in this Section 
shall preclude the District from becoming a party to a Proceeding in order to enforce a claim for 
Operation and Maintenance Assessments, and the District shall be free to pursue such a claim in 
such manner as it shall deem appropriate in its sole and absolute discretion.  Any actions taken 
by the District in pursuance of its claim for Operation and Maintenance Assessments in any 
Proceeding shall not be considered an action adverse or inconsistent with the Trustee's rights or 
consents with respect to the Series 2021 Assessments whether such claim is pursued by the 
District or the Trustee; provided, however, that the District shall not oppose any relief sought by 
the Trustee under the authority granted to the Trustee in clause (b)(iv) above. 



 

46 

Re-Assessment 

If any Assessments shall be either in whole or in part annulled, vacated or set aside by the 
judgment of any court, or the District shall be satisfied that any such Assessments is so irregular 
or defective that it cannot be enforced or collected, or if the District shall have omitted to make 
such Assessments when it might have done so, the District shall either: (i) take all necessary steps 
to cause a new Assessment to be made for the whole or any part of such improvement or against 
any property benefited by such improvement; or (ii) in its sole discretion, make up the amount of 
such Assessment from legally available moneys, which moneys shall be deposited into the related 
Series Revenue Account. In case any such subsequent Assessment shall also be annulled, the 
District shall obtain and make other Assessments until a valid Assessment shall be made. 

ENFORCEMENT OF ASSESSMENT COLLECTIONS 

General 

The primary source of payment for the Series 2021 Bonds is the collection of Series 2021 
Assessments (“Special Assessments”) imposed on certain lands in the District specially benefited 
by the Series 2006 Project and the Series 2021 Project pursuant to the Series 2021 Assessment 
Proceedings.  See “ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY” herein and “APPENDIX B - ASSESSMENT 
REPORT.” 

The imposition, levy, and collection of Special Assessments must be done in compliance 
with the provisions of Florida law.  Failure by the District, the Clay County Tax Collector (“Tax 
Collector”) or the Clay County Property Appraiser (“Property Appraiser”) to comply with such 
requirements could result in delay in the collection of, or the complete inability to collect, Special 
Assessments during any year.  Such delays in the collection of Special Assessments, or complete 
inability to collect the Special Assessments, would have a material adverse effect on the ability of 
the District to make full or punctual payment of the debt service requirements on the Series 2021 
Bonds.  See “BONDOWNERS’ RISKS” herein. To the extent that landowners fail to pay the 
Special Assessments, delay payments, or are unable to pay the same, the successful pursuance of 
collection procedures available to the District is essential to continued payment of principal of 
and interest on the Series 2021 Bonds.   

For the Special Assessments to be valid, the Special Assessments must meet two 
requirements:  (1) the benefit from the Series 2006 Project and the Series 2021 Project to the lands 
subject to the Special Assessments must exceed or equal the amount of the Special Assessments, 
and (2) the Special Assessments must be fairly and reasonably allocated across all such benefitted 
properties.  The Certificate of the Methodology Consultant to be provided at the time of issuance 
of the Series 2021 Bonds will certify that these requirements have been met with respect to the 
Special Assessments.  In the event that the Special Assessments are levied based on the 
assumptions that future contributions will be made, or that future assessments may be levied to 
secure future bond issuances, the Special Assessments may need to be reallocated in the event 
such contributions are not made and/or future assessments and bonds are not levied and issued. 



 

47 

Pursuant to the Act and the Series 2021 Assessment Proceedings, the District may collect 
the Special Assessments through a variety of methods.  See “BONDOWNERS’ RISKS” herein.  
With respect to the Series 2021A-2 Assessment and the Series 2021A-1 Assessment levied on 
undeveloped properties owned by the Developer and subsequent landowners, the District will 
directly issue annual bills to landowners requiring payment of the Special Assessments, and will 
enforce that bill through foreclosure proceedings.  See “ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY” herein 
and “APPENDIX B: ASSESSMENT REPORT” hereto.  As lands within the Series 2021 Assessment 
Area are platted, the Series 2021A-1 Assessments will be added to the County tax roll and 
collected pursuant to the Uniform Method of Collection provided by State law (the “Uniform 
Method”).  The following is a description of certain statutory provisions relating to each of these 
collection methods.  Such description is not intended to be exhaustive and is qualified in its 
entirety by reference to such statutes. 

Direct Billing & Foreclosure Procedure 

As noted above, and pursuant to Chapters 170 and 190 of the Florida Statutes, the District 
may directly levy, collect and enforce the Special Assessments.  In this context, Section 170.10, 
Florida Statutes, provides that upon the failure of any property owner to timely pay all or any 
part of its annual installment of principal and/or interest of a special assessment due, including 
the Special Assessments, the whole assessment, with the interest and penalties thereon, shall 
immediately become due and payable and subject to foreclosure.  Generally stated, the governing 
body of the entity levying the special assessment, in this case the District, may foreclose by 
commencing a foreclosure proceeding in the same manner as the foreclosure of a real estate 
mortgage, or, alternatively, by commencing an action under Chapter 173, Florida Statutes, which 
relates to foreclosure of municipal tax and special assessment liens. Such proceedings are in rem, 
meaning that the action would be brought against the land, and not against the landowner.  In 
light of the one year tolling period required before the District may commence a foreclosure action 
under Chapter 173, Florida Statutes, it is likely the District would commence an action to foreclose 
in the same manner as the foreclosure of a real estate mortgage rather than proceeding under 
Chapter 173, Florida Statutes.   

Enforcement of the obligation to pay the Special Assessments and the ability to foreclose 
the lien of such Special Assessments upon the failure to pay such Special Assessments may not 
be readily available or may be limited because enforcement is dependent upon judicial action 
which is often subject to discretion and delay.  Additionally, there is no guarantee that there will 
be demand for any foreclosed lands sufficient to repay the Special Assessments.  See 
“BONDOWNERS’ RISKS” herein.   

Uniform Method Procedure  

Subject to certain conditions, and for platted lands subject to the lien of the Series 2021A-
1 Assessments (as described above), the District may alternatively elect to collect the Special 
Assessments using the Uniform Method.  The Uniform Method is available only in the event the 
District complies with statutory and regulatory requirements and enters into agreements with 



 

48 

the Tax Collector and Property Appraiser providing for the Special Assessments to be levied and 
then collected in this manner.   

If the Uniform Method is used, the Special Assessments will be collected together with 
County, school, special district, and other ad valorem taxes and non-ad valorem assessments 
(together, “Taxes and Assessments”), all of which will appear on the tax bill (also referred to as a 
“tax notice”) issued to each landowner in the District.  The statutes relating to enforcement of 
Taxes and Assessments provide that such Taxes and Assessments become due and payable on 
November 1 of the year when assessed, or as soon thereafter as the certified tax roll is received 
by the Tax Collector, and constitute a lien upon the land from January 1 of such year until paid 
or barred by operation of law.  Such Taxes and Assessments – including the Special Assessments 
– are to be billed, and landowners in the District are required to pay, all Taxes and Assessments 
without preference in payment of any particular increment of the tax bill, such as the increment 
owing for the Special Assessments.   

All Taxes and Assessments are payable at one time, except for partial payment schedules 
as may be provided by Florida law such as Sections 197.374 and 197.222, Florida Statutes.  Partial 
payments made pursuant to Sections 197.374 and 197.222, Florida Statutes, are distributed in 
equal proportion to all taxing districts and levying authorities applicable to that account.  If a 
taxpayer does not make complete payment of the total amount, he or she cannot designate 
specific line items on his or her tax bill as deemed paid in full.  Therefore, in the event the Special 
Assessments are to be collected pursuant to the Uniform Method, any failure to pay any one line 
item, would cause the Special Assessments to not be collected to that extent, which could have a 
significant adverse effect on the ability of the District to make full or punctual payment of the 
debt service requirements on the Series 2021 Bonds. 

Under the Uniform Method, if the Special Assessments are paid during November when 
due or during the following three (3) months, the taxpayer is granted a variable discount equal 
to four percent (4%) in November and decreasing one percentage point per month to one percent 
(1%) in February. All unpaid Taxes and Assessments become delinquent on April 1 of the year 
following assessment.  

The Tax Collector is required to collect the Taxes and Assessments on the tax bill prior to 
April 1 and, after that date, to institute statutory procedures upon delinquency to collect such 
Taxes and Assessments through the sale of “tax certificates,” as discussed below.  Delay in the 
mailing of tax notices to taxpayers may result in a delay throughout this process.  Neither the 
District nor the Underwriter can give any assurance to the holders of the Series 2021 Bonds that 
(1) the past experience of the Tax Collector with regard to tax and special assessment 
delinquencies is applicable in any way to the Special Assessments, (2) future landowners and 
taxpayers in the District will pay such Special Assessments, (3) a market may exist in the future 
for tax certificates in the event of sale of such certificates for taxable units within the District, and 
(4) the eventual sale of tax certificates for real property within the District, if any, will be for an 
amount sufficient to pay amounts due under the Series 2021 Assessment Proceedings to discharge 
the lien of the Special Assessments and all other liens that are coequal therewith. 



 

49 

Collection of delinquent Special Assessments under the Uniform Method is, in essence, 
based upon the sale by the Tax Collector of “tax certificates” and remittance of the proceeds of 
such sale to the District for payment of the Special Assessments due.  Prior to the sale of tax 
certificates, the landowner may bring current the delinquent Taxes and Assessments and cancel 
the tax certificate process by paying the total amount of delinquent Taxes and Assessments plus 
all applicable interest, costs and charges.  If the landowner does not act, the Tax Collector is 
required to attempt to sell tax certificates by public bid to the person who pays the delinquent 
Taxes and Assessments owing, and any applicable interest, costs and charges, and who accepts 
the lowest interest rate per annum to be borne by the certificates (but not more than eighteen 
percent (18%)).   

If there are no bidders, the tax certificate is issued to the County.  The County is to hold, 
but not pay for, the tax certificate with respect to the property, bearing interest at the maximum 
legal rate of interest, which is currently eighteen percent (18%).  The Tax Collector does not collect 
any money if tax certificates are issued, or struck off, to the County.  The County may sell such 
certificates to the public at any time after issuance, but before a tax deed application is made, at 
the face amount thereof plus interest at the rate of not more than eighteen percent (18%) per 
annum, costs and charges.  Proceeds from the sale of tax certificates are required to be used to 
pay Taxes and Assessments (including the Special Assessments), interest, costs and charges on 
the real property described in the certificate.  

Any tax certificate in the hands of a person other than the County may be redeemed and 
canceled, in whole or in part (under certain circumstances), at any time before a tax deed is issued 
(unless full payment for a tax deed is made to the clerk of court, including documentary stamps 
and recording fees), at a price equal to the face amount of the certificate or portion thereof together 
with all interest, costs, and charges due. Regardless of the interest rate actually borne by the 
certificates, persons redeeming tax certificates must pay a minimum interest rate of five percent 
(5%), unless the rate borne by the certificates is zero percent (0%).  The proceeds of such a 
redemption are paid to the Tax Collector who transmits to the holder of the tax certificate such 
proceeds less service charges, and the certificate is canceled.  Redemption of tax certificates held 
by the County is effected by purchase of such certificates from the County, as described above. 

Any holder, other than the County, of a tax certificate that has not been redeemed has 
seven (7) years from the date of issuance of the tax certificate during which to act against the land 
that is the subject of the tax certificate. After an initial period ending two (2) years from April 1 of 
the year of issuance of a certificate, during which period actions against the land are held in 
abeyance to allow for sales and redemptions of tax certificates, and before the expiration of seven 
years from the date of issuance, the holder of a certificate may apply for a tax deed to the subject 
land. The applicant is required to pay to the Tax Collector at the time of application all amounts 
required to redeem or purchase all other outstanding tax certificates covering the land, plus 
interest, any omitted taxes or delinquent taxes and interest, and current taxes, if due (as well as 
any costs of resale, if applicable).  If the County holds a tax certificate on property valued at $5,000 
or more and has not succeeded in selling it, the County must apply for a tax deed two years after 
April 1 of the year of issuance of the certificate or as soon thereafter as is reasonable. The County 



 

50 

pays costs and fees to the Tax Collector but not any amount to redeem any other outstanding 
certificates covering the land.  Thereafter, the property is advertised for public sale. 

In any such public sale conducted by the Clerk of the Circuit Court, the private holder of 
the tax certificate who is seeking a tax deed for non-homestead property is deemed to submit a 
minimum bid equal to the amount required to redeem the tax certificate, charges for the cost of 
sale, including costs incurred for the service of notice required by statute, redemption of other tax 
certificates on the land, and all other costs to the applicant for the tax deed, plus interest thereon. 
In the case of homestead property, the minimum bid is also deemed to include, in addition to the 
amount of money required for the minimum bid on non-homestead property, an amount equal 
to one-half of the latest assessed value of the homestead. If there are no higher bids, the holder 
receives title to the land, and the amounts paid for the certificate and in applying for a tax deed 
are credited toward the purchase price.  The holder is also responsible for payment of any 
amounts included in the bid not already paid, including but not limited to, documentary stamp 
tax, recording fees, and, if property is homestead property, the moneys to cover the one-half value 
of the homestead.  If there are other bids, the holder may enter the bidding. The highest bidder is 
awarded title to the land. The portion of proceeds of such sale needed to redeem the tax certificate, 
together with all subsequent unpaid taxes plus the costs and expenses of the application for deed, 
with interest on the total of such sums, are forwarded to the holder thereof or credited to such 
holder if such holder is the successful bidder.  Excess proceeds are distributed first to satisfy 
governmental liens against the land and then to the former title holder of the property (less 
service charges), lienholder of record, mortgagees of record, vendees of recorded contracts for 
deeds, and other lienholders and any other person to whom the land was last assessed on the tax 
roll for the year in which the land was assessed, all as their interest may appear.  If the property 
is purchased for an amount in excess of the statutory bid of the certificate holder, but such excess 
is not sufficient to pay all governmental liens of record, the excess shall be paid to each 
governmental unit pro rata. 

Except for certain governmental liens and certain restrictive covenants and restrictions, 
no right, interest, restriction or other covenant survives the issuance of a tax deed. Thus, for 
example, outstanding mortgages on property subject to a tax deed would be extinguished. 

If there are no bidders at the public sale, the clerk shall enter the land on a list entitled 
“lands available for taxes” and shall immediately notify the County Commission that the 
property is available.  At any time within ninety (90) days from the date the property is placed 
on the list, the County may purchase the land for the opening bid or may waive its rights to 
purchase the property. Thereafter, and without further notice or advertising, any person, the 
County or any other governmental unit may purchase the land by paying the amount of the 
opening bid.  Ad valorem taxes and non-ad valorem assessments accruing after the date of public 
sale do not require repetition of the bidding process but are added to the minimum bid.  Three 
(3) years from the date the property was offered for sale, unsold lands escheat to the County in 
which they are located, free and clear, and all tax certificates and liens against the property are 
canceled and a deed is executed vesting title in the governing board of such County. 



 

51 

There can be no guarantee that the Uniform Method will result in the payment of Special 
Assessments.  For example, the demand for tax certificates is dependent upon various factors, 
which include the rate of interest that can be earned by ownership of such certificates and the 
underlying value of the land that is the subject of such certificates and which may be subject to 
sale at the demand of the certificate holder.  Therefore, the underlying market value of the 
property within the District may affect the demand for certificates and the successful collection 
of the Special Assessments, which are the primary source of payment of the Series 2021 Bonds.  
Additionally, legal proceedings under federal bankruptcy law brought by or against a landowner 
who has not yet paid his or her property taxes or assessments would likely result in a delay in 
the sale of tax certificates.  See “BONDOWNERS’ RISKS” herein. 

 
 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 



 

52 

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF BOND PROCEEDS 

Sources:    
 Par Amount of Series 2021 Bonds  $ 
 [Less/Plus] [Net] Original Issue [Discount/Premium]   
 Funds from Series 2015A-3 Revenue Account   
  Total Sources  $ 
    

Uses:    
 Payment of redemption price for the Refunded Bonds  $ 
 Deposit to Series 2021 Acquisition and Construction Account   
 Deposit to Series 2021 Costs of Issuance Account   
 Deposit to Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account   
 Deposit to Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account   
 Deposit to Series 2021A-1 Capitalized Interest Account*   
 Deposit to Series 2021A-2 Capitalized Interest Account*   
 Underwriter’s Discount   
  Total Uses  $ 

 
 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

 
* To be used to pay interest on the Series 2021 Bonds through November 1, 2022. 



 

53 

DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 

The following table sets forth the scheduled debt service on the Series 2021 Bonds: 

Period 
Ending 

November 1 

Series 
2021 

Principal 
Series 2021 

Interest 
Total Debt 

Service 
2022 $ $ $ 
2023    
2024    
2025    
2026    
2027    
2028    
2029    
2030    
2031    
2032    
2033    
2034    
2035    
2036    
2037    
2038    
2039    
2040    
2041    
2042    
2043    
2044    
2045    
2046    
2047    
2048    
2049    
2050    
2051    
2052    
Total $ $ $ 



 

54 

BONDOWNERS’ RISKS 

There are certain risks inherent in an investment in bonds secured by special assessments 
issued by a public authority or governmental body in the State.  Certain of such risks are 
associated with the Series 2021 Bonds offered hereby and are set forth below.  This section does 
not purport to summarize all risks that may be associated with purchasing or owning the Series 
2021 Bonds and prospective purchasers are advised to read this Limited Offering Memorandum, 
including all appendices hereto, in its entirety to identify investment considerations relating to 
the Series 2021 Bonds.  Prospective investors in the Series 2021 Bonds should have such 
knowledge and experience in financial and business matters to be capable of evaluating the merits 
and risks of an investment in the Series 2021 Bonds and have the ability to bear the economic risks 
of such prospective investment, including a complete loss of such investment. 

Limited Pledge 

The principal security for the payment of the principal of and interest on the Series 2021 
Bonds is the timely collection of the Series 2021 Assessments. Recourse for the failure of any 
landowner to pay the Series 2021 Assessments, or otherwise fail to comply with its obligations, is 
limited to the collection proceedings against the land, which proceedings differ depending on 
whether the Series 2021 Assessments are being collected pursuant to the Uniform Method or 
directly by the District.  The Series 2021 Assessments do not constitute a personal indebtedness 
of the landowners, but are secured only by a lien on the land subject to the Series 2021 
Assessments.  The District has not granted, and may not grant under Florida law, a mortgage or 
security interest on any land subject to the Series 2021 Assessments.  Furthermore, the District 
has not pledged the revenues, if any, from the operation of any portion of the Series 2006 Project 
or the Series 2021 Project as security for, or a source of payment of, the Series 2021 Bonds.  The 
Developer is not a guarantor of payment of any Series 2021 Assessments and the recourse for the 
Developer’s failure to pay the Series 2021 Assessments on any land owned by the Developer in 
the Series 2021 Assessment Area, like any landowner, is limited to the collection proceedings 
against such land.  Several mortgage lenders have in the past, raised legal challenges to the 
primacy of liens similar to those of the Series 2021 Assessments in relation to the liens of 
mortgages burdening the same real property.  There can be no assurance that mortgage lenders 
will not challenge the priority of the lien status of the Series 2021 Assessments in the event that 
actions are taken to foreclose on any property in the Series 2021 Assessment Area. 

Bankruptcy and Related Risks 

The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Series 
2021 Bonds (including Bond Counsel’s approving opinion) will be qualified as to the 
enforceability of the various legal instruments by limitations imposed by bankruptcy, 
reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors enacted before or 
after such delivery.  Under existing constitutional and statutory law and judicial decisions, in the 
event of the institution of bankruptcy or similar proceedings with respect to any landowner, 
including the Developer, if applicable, the remedies specified by federal, state and local law and 



 

55 

in the Indenture and the Series 2021 Bonds, including, without limitation, enforcement of the 
obligation to pay the Series 2021 Assessments, may not be readily available or may be limited.  
Bankruptcy can also affect the ability of (1) any landowner being able to pay the Series 2021 
Assessments, (2) the Tax Collector being able to sell tax certificates related to land owned by a 
landowner in bankruptcy, to the extent the Uniform Method is being utilized for collecting the 
Series 2021 Assessments, and (3) the inability of the District to foreclose the lien of the Series 2021 
Assessments not being collected by the Uniform Method.  Any such adverse effect, either partially 
or fully, on the ability to enforce such remedies, could have a material adverse effect on the 
District’s ability to make the full or punctual payment of debt service on the Series 2021 Bonds. 

Delay and Discretion Regarding Remedies 

The remedies available to the owners of the Series 2021 Bonds are in many respects 
dependent upon judicial actions which are often subject to discretion and delay. In addition to 
legal delays that could result from bankruptcy, the ability of the District to enforce collection of 
Delinquent Assessments will be dependent upon various factors, including the delay inherent in 
any judicial proceeding and the value of the land which is the subject of such proceedings and 
which may be subject to sale.  In addition, if the District commences a foreclosure action against 
a landowner for nonpayment of Series 2021 Assessments, such landowner might raise affirmative 
defenses to such foreclosure action, which affirmative defenses could result in delays in 
completing the foreclosure action.   

Limitation on Funds Available to Exercise Remedies 

In the event of a default by a landowner in payment of Series 2021 Assessments, if the 
Series 2021 Assessments are not collected under the Uniform Method, the District is required 
under the Indenture to fund the costs of foreclosure.  It is possible that the District will not have 
sufficient funds therefor and will be compelled to request the owners of the Series 2021 Bonds to 
allow funds on deposit under the Indenture to be used to pay such costs.  Under the Code 
(hereinafter defined), there are limitations on the amount of the Series 2021 Bond proceeds that 
can be used for such purposes.  As a result, there may be insufficient funds for the exercise of 
remedies. 

Determination of Land Value upon Default 

To the extent that any portion of the Series 2021 Assessments are being collected by the 
Uniform Method, the ability of the Tax Collector to sell tax certificates, and to the extent that any 
portion of the Series 2021 Assessments are not being collected by the Uniform Method, the ability 
of the District to sell land upon foreclosure, both will be dependent upon various factors, 
including the interest rate which can be earned by ownership of such certificates and the value of 
the land which is the subject of such certificates and which may be subject to sale at the demand 
of the certificate holder after two years.  The determination of the benefits to be received by the 
benefitted land within the District as a result of implementation and development of the Series 
2006 Project and the Series 2021 Project is not indicative of the realizable or market value of the 



 

56 

land, which value may actually be higher or lower than the assessment of benefits.  In other 
words, the value of the land could potentially be ultimately less than the debt secured by the 
Series 2021 Assessments associated with it.  To the extent that the realizable or market value of 
the land is lower than the assessment of benefits, the ability of the Tax Collector to sell tax 
certificates relating to such land, or the District to sell such land upon foreclosure, may be 
adversely affected.  Such adverse effect could render the District unable to collect delinquent 
Series 2021 Assessments, if any, and could negatively impact the ability of the District to make 
the full or punctual payment of debt service on the Series 2021 Bonds.   

Landowner Challenge of Assessed Valuation 

Florida law provides a procedure whereby a taxpayer may contest a “tax assessment.”  It 
is unclear whether this procedure applies to non-ad valorem assessments such as the Series 2021 
Assessments and there are judicial decisions that support both views.  Under the procedure, a 
taxpayer may bring suit to contest a “tax assessment” if the taxpayer pays the amount of “tax” 
that the taxpayer admits to owing. Upon the making of such payment, all procedures for the 
collection of the unpaid taxes are suspended until the suit is resolved.  If it is determined that the 
procedure applies to non-ad valorem assessments such as the Series 2021 Assessments, it is 
possible that such a challenge could result in collection procedures for delinquent Series 2021 
Assessments being held in abeyance until the challenge is resolved.  This would result in a delay 
in the collection of the Series 2021 Assessments which could have a material adverse effect upon 
the ability of the District to make full or punctual payment of debt service on the Series 2021 
Bonds.  If the Series 2021 Assessments are being collected along with ad valorem taxes pursuant 
to the Uniform Method, tax certificates will not be sold while the challenge is pending with 
respect to the Series 2021 Assessments even if the landowner is not contesting the amount of such 
special assessments. 

Failure to Comply with Assessment Proceedings 

The District is required to comply with statutory procedures in levying the Series 2021 
Assessments.  Failure of the District to follow these procedures could result in the Series 2021 
Assessments not being levied or potential future challenges to such levy.   

Other Taxes 

The willingness and/or ability of a landowner within the Series 2021 Assessment Area to 
pay the Series 2021 Assessments could be affected by the existence of other taxes and assessments 
imposed upon the property.  Public entities whose boundaries overlap those of the District, such 
as a county, a school board, a municipality and other special districts, could, without the consent 
of the owners of the land within the Series 2021 Assessment Area, impose additional taxes or 
assessments on the property within the Series 2021 Assessment Area. County, municipal, school 
and special district taxes and assessments, including the Series 2021 Assessments, and voter-
approved ad valorem taxes levied to pay principal of and interest on bonds, are payable at the 
same time when collected under the Uniform Method.  If a taxpayer does not make complete 



 

57 

payment, the taxpayer cannot designate specific line items on the tax bill as deemed paid in full.  
In such case, the Tax Collector does not accept partial payment.  Therefore, any failure by a 
landowner to pay any one line item, whether or not it is the Series 2021 Assessments, would result 
in such landowner’s assessments to not be collected, which could have a significant adverse 
impact on the District’s ability to make full or punctual payment of debt service on the Series 2021 
Bonds.   

The District may also impose additional assessments which could encumber the property 
burdened by the Series 2021 Assessments.  The District anticipates imposing operation and 
maintenance assessments encumbering the same property encumbered by the Series 2021 
Assessments.  In addition, lands within the District may also be subject to assessments by 
property and home owner associations. 

Inadequacy of Reserve Accounts 

Some of the risk factors described herein, which, if materialized, could result in a delay in 
the collection of the Series 2021 Assessments or a failure to collect the Series 2021 Assessments, 
but may not affect the timely payment of Debt Service on the Series 2021 Bonds because of the 
Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account and the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account (together, the “Reserve 
Accounts”) established by the District for the Series 2021A-1 Bonds and the Series 2021A-2 Bonds, 
respectively.  However, the ability of the District to fund deficiencies caused by delinquent or 
delayed Series 2021 Assessments is dependent upon the amount, duration and frequency of such 
deficiencies or delays.  If the District has difficulty in collecting the Series 2021 Assessments, the 
Reserve Accounts could be rapidly depleted and the ability of the District to pay Debt Service 
could be materially adversely affected.  Owners should note that although the Indenture contains 
the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account Requirement for the Series 2021A-1 Reserve Account and the 
Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account Requirement for the Series 2021A-2 Reserve Account, and a 
corresponding obligation on the part of the District to replenish the Reserve Accounts to the 
respective Reserve Account Requirement, the District does not have a designated revenue source 
for replenishing the Reserve Accounts.  Moreover, the District will not be permitted to re-assess 
real property then burdened by the Series 2021 Assessments in order to provide for the 
replenishment of the Reserve Accounts.   

Moneys on deposit in the Reserve Accounts may only be invested in certain obligations 
permitted under the Indenture.  Fluctuations in interest rates and other market factors could 
affect the amount of moneys available in the Reserve Accounts to make up deficiencies or delays 
in collection of Series 2021 Assessments. 

Economic Conditions 

The proposed Development may be affected by changes in general economic conditions, 
fluctuations in the real estate market and other factors beyond the control of the landowners or 
the District.  Although the Developer expects to develop lots and sell such lots to builders, there 
can be no assurance that such sales will occur or be realized in the manner currently anticipated.   



 

58 

Concentration of Land Ownership 

Until further development and home closings take place in the Series 2021 Assessment 
Area, payment of the Series 2021 Assessments is dependent upon their timely payment by the 
Developer. At closing of the sale of the Series 2021 Bonds it is expected that all of the Series 2021 
Assessment Area will continue to be owned either directly or indirectly by the Developer.  In the 
event of the institution of bankruptcy or similar proceedings with respect to the Developer or any 
other subsequent significant owner of property within the Series 2021 Assessment Area, delays 
could most likely occur in the payment of Debt Service on the Series 2021 Bonds.  Such bankruptcy 
could negatively impact the ability of: (i) the Developer or other landowner being able to pay the 
Series 2021 Assessments; (ii) the Tax Collector to sell tax certificates in relation to such property 
with respect to the Series 2021 Assessments being collected pursuant to the Uniform Method; and 
(iii) the District to foreclose the lien of any Series 2021 Assessments not being collected pursuant 
to the Uniform Method.  The Uniform Method will not be used (a) with respect to Series 2021 
Assessments levied with respect to the Series 2021A-2 Bonds and any assessable lands in the 
Series 2021 Assessment Area which are unplatted until such time as lots are platted unless, in an 
Event of Default, a majority of the owners of the Series 2021 Bonds Outstanding directs the 
District to use the Uniform Method, (b) where the timing for using the Uniform Method will not 
yet allow for using such method, or (c) if the District determines that it is not in its best interest 
to do so. 

Undeveloped Land 

Certain of the planned residential units in the Series 2021 Assessment Area and 
encumbered by the Series 2021 Assessments are undeveloped and vacant.  Additionally, certain 
of the remaining lands in the Development are also undeveloped and vacant.  The ultimate 
successful development of the remaining vacant lots depends on several factors discussed herein.  
There is no assurance that the developers/builders and other landowners will be successful in 
developing part or all of the vacant lots.  While additional infrastructure is necessary to develop 
the remaining vacant property, none of the landowners are obligated to complete such 
improvements other than the obligation of the Developer pursuant to the Completion Agreement.  

Change in Development Plans 

The Developer has the right to modify or change plans for development of property 
within the Series 2021 Assessment Area, from time to time, including, without limitation, land 
use changes, changes in the overall land and phasing plans, and changes to the type, mix, size 
and number of units to be developed, and may seek in the future, in accordance with, and subject 
to the provisions of the Act, to contract or expand the boundaries of the District. 

Bulk Sale of Land in the Series 2021 Assessment Area 

The Developer and related landowner entities may make bulk sales of all or a portion of 
the Series 2021 Assessment Area at any time.  Bulk sale agreements may be canceled or amended 
without the consent of the District or any other party.  Such changes could affect the purchase 



 

59 

price of, delivery timing and/or development of lots within the Series 2021 Assessment Area that 
is otherwise described herein.   

Completion of Phase 3B/C Project 

The Series 2021 Bond proceeds will not be sufficient to finance the completion of the Phase 
3B/C Project.  The portion of the Phase 3B/C Project not funded with proceeds of the Series 2021 
Bonds have been, and are expected to continue to be, funded with contributions from the 
Developer.  There is no assurance that the Developer will be able to pay for the cost of any of 
these improvements.  Upon issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, the Developer will enter into the 
Completion Agreement with respect to any portion of the Phase 3B/C Project not funded with the 
proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds.  See “THE DEVELOPMENT – Land Acquisition/Development 
Financing” and “SECURITY FOR AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT OF SERIES 2021 BONDS – 
Completion Agreement” herein. 

However, there can be no assurance, that the District will have sufficient moneys on hand 
to complete the Phase 3B/C Project or that the District will be able to raise through the issuance 
of bonds, or otherwise, the moneys necessary to complete the Phase 3B/C Project.  The District 
does not anticipate issuing additional Bonds for the purpose of funding the Phase 3B/C Project.  
Pursuant to the Indenture, other than Refunding Bonds issued to refund the then Outstanding 
Series 2021 Bonds, the issuance of which results in net present value Debt Service savings, the 
District shall not, while any Series 2021 Bonds are Outstanding, issue or incur any debt payable 
in whole or in part from the Series 2021 Trust Estate.  The District further covenants and agrees 
in the Indenture that so long as the Series 2021A-1 Assessments have not been Substantially 
Absorbed and the Series 2021A-2 Bonds are Outstanding, it will not impose Assessments for 
capital projects on any lands subject to the Series 2021 Assessments without the written consent 
of the Majority Owners.  Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, the District may 
impose Assessments on property subject to the Series 2021 Assessments which are necessary for 
health, safety or welfare reasons, or to remediate a natural disaster, or to effect repairs to or 
replacement of property, facilities or equipment of the District without the consent of the Majority 
Owners.  Undeveloped or partially developed land is inherently less valuable than developed 
land and provides less security to the owners of the Series 2021 Bonds should it be necessary to 
institute proceedings due to the nonpayment of the Series 2021 Assessments.  Failure to complete 
or substantial delays in the completion of the Phase 3B/C Project due to litigation or other causes 
may reduce the value of the lands in the Series 2021 Assessment Area and increase the length of 
time during which Series 2021 Assessments will be payable from undeveloped property and may 
affect the willingness and ability of the landowners to pay the Series 2021 Assessments when due 
and likewise the ability of the District to make full or punctual payment of Debt Service on the 
Series 2021 Bonds.  Upon issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, the Developer will also execute and 
deliver to the District the Collateral Assignment, pursuant to which the Developer will 
collaterally assign to the District, to the extent assignable and to the extent that they are solely 
owned or controlled by the Developer, all of its development rights relating to the Phase 3B/C 
Project and the Series 2021 Assessment Area as security for the Developer’s payment and 
performance and discharge of its obligation to pay the Series 2021 Assessments. 



 

60 

Regulatory and Environmental Risks 

The Development is subject to comprehensive federal, state and local regulations and 
future changes to such regulations.  Approval is required from various public agencies in 
connection with, among other things, the design, nature and extent of planned improvements, 
both public and private, and construction of the infrastructure in accordance with applicable 
zoning, land use and environmental regulations.  Although all such approvals required to date 
have been received and any further approvals are anticipated to be received as needed, failure to 
obtain any such approvals in a timely manner could delay or adversely affect the completion of 
the development of the District lands. 

The value of the land within the District, the ability to complete the Phase 3B/C Project, or 
to develop the Development and the likelihood of timely payment of Debt Service on the Series 
2021 Bonds could be affected by environmental factors with respect to the lands in the District, 
such as contamination by hazardous materials.  No assurance can be given that unknown 
hazardous materials, protected animals or vegetative species, etc., do not currently exist or may 
not develop in the future whether originating within the District or from surrounding property, 
and what effect such may have on the development of the District lands. The District has not 
performed, nor has the District requested that there be performed on its behalf, any independent 
assessment of the environmental conditions within the District. 

District May Not be Able to Obtain Permits 

In connection with a foreclosure of the lien of the assessments prior to completion of a 
development, the Circuit Court in and for Lake County, Florida concluded that a community 
development district had no right, title or interest in any permits and approvals owned by the 
owner of the parcels so foreclosed.  As discussed above, the District and the Developer will enter 
into the Assignment Agreement upon issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds in which the Developer 
collaterally assigns to the District all of Developer’s development rights and contract rights 
relating to the Phase 3B/C Project as to the Series 2021 Assessment Area.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, in the event that the District forecloses on the property subject to the lien of the Series 
2021 Assessments, to enforce payment thereof, the District may not have the right, title or interest 
in the permits and approvals owned by the landowner and failure to obtain any such permits or 
approvals in a timely manner could delay or adversely affect the completion of the development 
of the District lands.  

Cybersecurity 

The District relies on a technological environment to conduct its operations.  The District, 
its agents and other third parties the District does business with or otherwise relies upon are 
subject to cyber threats including, but not limited to, hacking, viruses, malware and other attacks 
on computer and other sensitive digital networks and systems.  Entities or individuals may 
attempt to gain unauthorized access to such parties’ digital systems for the purposes of 
misappropriating assets or information or causing operational disruption and damage.  No 



 

61 

assurance can be given that any such attack(s) will not materially impact the operations or 
finances of the District, which could impact the timely payment of debt service on the Series 2021 
Bonds. 

Infectious Viruses and/or Diseases 

A novel coronavirus outbreak first identified in 2019 is causing coronavirus disease 2019 
(“COVID-19”), which was characterized by the World Health Organization on March 11, 2020, as 
a pandemic.  Responses to COVID-19 have varied at the local, state and national levels.  On March 
13, 2020, then President Trump declared a national emergency in response to COVID-19.  Both 
prior and subsequent to the President’s declaration, a variety of federal agencies, along with state 
and local governments, have implemented efforts designed to limit the spread of COVID-19.  
Since the pandemic declaration, COVID-19 has negatively affected travel, commerce, and 
financial markets globally, and is widely expected to continue to negatively affect economic 
growth and financial markets worldwide, including within Florida.  How long this negative 
impact will last cannot be determined at this time; however, these negative impacts could reduce 
property values, slow or cease development and sales within the Development and/or otherwise 
have a negative financial impact on the Developer or subsequent landowners.  While the 
foregoing describes certain risks related to the current outbreak of COVID-19, the same risks may 
be associated with any contagious epidemic or pandemic or disease. 

Damage to District from Natural Disasters 

The value of the lands subject to the Series 2021 Assessments could be adversely affected 
by flooding or wind damage caused by hurricanes, tropical storms, or other catastrophic events.  
In addition to potential damage or destruction to any existing development or construction in or 
near the District, such catastrophic events could potentially render the District lands unable to 
support the development and construction of the Phase 3B/C Project.  The occurrence of any such 
events could materially adversely affect the District’s ability to collect Series 2021 Assessments 
and pay Debt Service on the Series 2021 Bonds.  The Series 2021 Bonds are not insured and the 
District’s casualty insurance policies do not insure against losses incurred on private lands within 
its boundaries. 

Limited Secondary Market 

The Series 2021 Bonds may not constitute a liquid investment, and there is no assurance 
that a liquid secondary market will exist for the Series 2021 Bonds in the event an owner thereof 
determines to solicit purchasers of the Series 2021 Bonds.  Even if a liquid secondary market 
exists, there can be no assurance as to the price for which the Series 2021 Bonds may be sold.  Such 
price may be lower than that paid by the current owner of the Series 2021 Bonds, depending on 
the progress of the Development, existing market conditions and other factors.   



 

62 

Interest Rate Risk; No Rate Adjustment for Taxability 

The interest rate borne by the Series 2021 Bonds is, in general, higher than interest rates 
borne by other bonds of political subdivisions that do not involve the same degree of risk as 
investment in the Series 2021 Bonds.  These higher interest rates are intended to compensate 
investors in the Series 2021 Bonds for the risk inherent in the purchase of the Series 2021 Bonds.  
However, such higher interest rates, in and of themselves, increase the amount of Series 2021 
Assessments that the District must levy in order to provide for payment of Debt Service on the 
Series 2021 Bonds, and, in turn, may increase the burden of landowners within the Series 2021 
Assessment Area, thereby possibly increasing the likelihood of non-payment or delinquency in 
payment of such Series 2021 Assessments. 

The Indenture does not contain an adjustment of the interest rate on the Series 2021 Bonds 
in the event of a determination of taxability of the interest thereon.  Such a change could occur as 
a result of the District’s failure to comply with tax covenants contained in the Indenture or the 
tax certificate signed by the District upon issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds or due to a change in 
the United States income tax laws.  Should interest on the Series 2021 Bonds become includable 
in gross income for federal income tax purposes, owners of the Series 2021 Bonds will be required 
to pay income taxes on the interest received on such Series 2021 Bonds and related penalties.  
Because the interest rate on such Series 2021 Bonds will not be adequate to compensate owners 
of the Series 2021 Bonds for the income taxes due on such interest, the value of the Series 2021 
Bonds may decline.  Prospective purchasers of the Series 2021 Bonds should evaluate whether 
they can own the Series 2021 Bonds in the event that the interest on the Series 2021 Bonds becomes 
taxable and/or the District is ever determined to not be a political subdivision for purposes of the 
Code and/or Securities Act. 

IRS Audit and Examination Risk 

The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) routinely examines bonds issued by state and 
local governments, including bonds issued by community development districts.  There is no 
assurance that an audit by the IRS of the Series 2021 Bonds will not be commenced.  The District 
has no reason to believe that any such audit will be commenced, or that any such audit, if 
commenced, would result in a conclusion of noncompliance with any applicable state or federal 
law.  Owners of the Series 2021 Bonds are advised that, if the IRS does audit the Series 2021 Bonds, 
under its current procedures, at least during the early stages of an audit, the IRS will treat the 
District as the taxpayer, and the owners of the Series 2021 Bonds may have limited rights to 
participate in such procedure.*  The commencement of such an audit could adversely affect the 
market value and liquidity of the Series 2021 Bonds until the audit is concluded, regardless of the 
ultimate outcome.  In addition, in the event of an adverse determination by the IRS with respect 
to the tax-exempt status of interest on the Series 2021 Bonds, it is unlikely the District will have 
available revenues to enable it to contest such determination or enter into a voluntary financial 

 
* Owners of the Series 2021 Bonds are advised to consult with their own tax advisors regarding their 

rights (if any) with respect to such audit. 



 

63 

settlement with the IRS.  An adverse determination by the IRS with respect to the tax-exempt 
status of interest on the Series 2021 Bonds may adversely impact any secondary market for the 
Series 2021 Bonds, and, if a secondary market exists, will likely adversely impact the price for 
which the Series 2021 Bonds may be sold.  

It has been reported that the IRS has closed audits of other community development 
districts in Florida with no change to such districts’ bonds’ tax exempt status, but has advised 
such districts that such districts must have public electors within five years of the issuance of tax-
exempt bonds or their bonds may be determined to be taxable retroactive to the date of issuance.  
Pursuant to the Act, general elections are not held until the later of six years from the date of 
establishment of the community development district or the time at which there are at least 250 
qualified electors in the district.  The District was formed with the intent that it will contain a 
sufficient number of residents to allow for a transition to control by a general electorate.  
Currently, only two of the members of the Board of the District are qualified electors elected or 
appointed by qualified electors.  There can be no assurance that an audit by the IRS of the Series 
2021 Bonds will not be commenced.   

Florida Village Center CDD TAM 

In 2016, the IRS concluded its lengthy examination of certain issues of bonds (for purposes 
of this paragraph, the “Audited Bonds”) issued by Village Center Community Development 
District (the “Village Center CDD”).  During the course of the audit of the Audited Bonds, Village 
Center CDD  received a ruling dated May 30, 2013, in the form of a non-precedential technical 
advice memorandum (“TAM”) concluding that Village Center CDD is not a political subdivision 
for purposes of Section 103(a) of the Code because Village Center CDD was organized and 
operated to perpetuate private control and avoid indefinitely responsibility to an electorate, either 
directly or through another elected state or local government body.  Such a conclusion could lead 
to the further conclusion that the interest on the Audited Bonds was not excludable from gross 
income of the owners of such bonds for federal income tax purposes.  Village Center CDD 
received a second TAM dated June 17, 2015, which granted relief to Village Center CDD from 
retroactive application of the IRS’s conclusion regarding its failure to qualify as a political 
subdivision. Prior to the conclusion of the audits, the Audited Bonds were all refunded with 
taxable bonds.  The audit of the Audited Bonds that were issued for utility improvements were 
closed without change to the tax exempt status of those Audited Bonds on April 25, 2016, and the 
audit of the remainder of the Audited Bonds (which funded recreational amenity acquisitions 
from entities related to the principal landowner in the Village Center CDD) was closed on July 
14, 2016, without the IRS making a final determination that the interest on the Audited Bonds in 
question was required to be included in gross income.  However, the IRS letter to the Village 
Center CDD with respect to this second set of Audited Bonds noted that the Agency found that 
the Village Center CDD was not a “proper issuer of tax-exempt bonds” and that those Audited 
Bonds were private-activity bonds that did not fall in any of the categories that qualify for tax-
exemption. Although the TAMs and the letters to the Village Center CDD from the IRS referred 
to above are addressed to, and binding only on, the IRS and Village Center CDD in connection 
with the Audited Bonds, they reflect the audit position of the IRS, and there can be no assurance 



 

64 

that the IRS would not commence additional audits of bonds issued by other community 
development districts raising issues similar to the issues raised in the case of the Audited Bonds 
based on the analysis set forth in the first TAM or on the related concerns addressed in the July 
14, 2016 letter to the Village Center CDD.   

Legislative Proposals and State Tax Reform 

During recent years, legislative proposals have been introduced in Congress, and in some 
cases enacted, that altered certain federal tax consequences resulting from the ownership of 
obligations that are similar to the Series 2021 Bonds.  In some cases, these proposals have 
contained provisions that altered these consequences on a retroactive basis.  Such alteration of 
federal tax consequences may have affected the market value of obligations similar to the Series 
2021 Bonds.  From time to time, legislative proposals are pending which could have an effect on 
both the federal tax consequences resulting from ownership of the Series 2021 Bonds and their 
market value.  No assurance can be given that legislative proposals will not be enacted that would 
apply to, or have an adverse effect upon, the Series 2021 Bonds.  In addition, the IRS may, in the 
future, issue rulings that have the effect of changing the interpretation of existing tax laws.  For 
example, in connection with federal deficit reduction, job creation and tax law reform 
efforts, proposals have been made and others are likely to be made that could significantly reduce 
the benefit of, or otherwise affect, the exclusion from gross income of interest on obligations like 
the Series 2021 Bonds.  There can be no assurance that any such legislation or proposal will be 
enacted, and if enacted, what form it may take.  The introduction or enactment of any such 
legislative proposals may affect, perhaps significantly, the market price for, or marketability of 
the Series 2021 Bonds. 

It is impossible to predict what new proposals may be presented regarding ad valorem 
tax reform and/or community development districts during upcoming legislative sessions, 
whether such new proposals or any previous proposals regarding the same will be adopted by 
the Florida Senate and House of Representatives and signed by the Governor of the State, and, if 
adopted, the form thereof.  It is impossible to predict with certainty the impact that any pending 
or future legislation will or may have on the security for the Series 2021 Bonds.  

Loss of Exemption from Securities Registration 

Since the Series 2021 Bonds have not been, and will not be, registered under the Securities 
Act, or any state securities laws, because of the exemption for political subdivisions and 
regardless of any potential IRS determination that the District is not a political subdivision for 
purposes of the Code, it is possible that federal or state regulatory authorities could 
independently determine that the District is not a political subdivision for purposes of the federal 
and state securities laws.  Accordingly, the District and purchasers of the Series 2021 Bonds may 
not be able to rely on the exemption from registration relating to securities issued by political 
subdivisions.  In that event, the owners of the Series 2021 Bonds would need to ensure that 
subsequent transfers of the Series 2021 Bonds are made pursuant to a transaction that is not 
subject to the registration requirements of the Securities Act. 



 

65 

Performance of District Professionals 

The District has represented to the Underwriter that it has selected its District Manager, 
District Counsel, District Engineer, Methodology Consultant, Trustee and other professionals 
with the appropriate due diligence and care.  While the foregoing professionals have each 
represented that they have the respective requisite experience to accurately and timely perform 
the duties assigned to them in such roles, the District does not guarantee the performance of such 
professionals. 

Mortgage Default and FDIC 

In the event a bank forecloses on a property in the Series 2021 Assessment Area because 
of a default on a mortgage with respect thereto and then the bank itself fails, the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”), as receiver, will then become the fee owner of such property.  
In such event, the FDIC will not, pursuant to its own rules and regulations, likely be liable to pay 
the Series 2021 Assessments.  In addition, the District would be required to obtain the consent of 
the FDIC prior to commencing a foreclosure action on such property for failure to pay Series 2021 
Assessments. 

The risks described under this “BONDOWNERS’ RISKS” section does not purport to 
summarize all risks that may be associated with purchasing or owning the Series 2021 Bonds and 
prospective purchasers are advised to read this Limited Offering Memorandum in its entirety, 
and to ask questions of representatives of the District to obtain a more complete description of 
investment considerations relating to the Series 2021 Bonds. 

TAX MATTERS 

Opinion of Bond Counsel 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, the form of which is included as APPENDIX D hereto, 
the interest on the Series 2021 Bonds is excludable from gross income of the owners thereof for 
federal income tax purposes and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal 
alternative minimum tax under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and court decisions.  Failure 
by the District to comply subsequently to the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds with certain 
requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), including but not 
limited to requirements regarding the use, expenditure and investment of Series 2021 Bond 
proceeds and the timely payment of certain investment earnings to the Treasury of the United 
States, may cause interest on the Series 2021 Bonds to become includable in gross income for 
federal income tax purposes retroactive to their date of issuance.  The District has covenanted to 
comply with all provisions of the Code necessary to, among other things, maintain the exclusion 
from gross income of interest on the Series 2021 Bonds for purposes of federal income taxation.  
In rendering its opinion, Bond Counsel has assumed continuing compliance with such covenants. 



 

66 

Internal Revenue Code of 1986 

The Code contains a number of provisions that apply to the Series 2021 Bonds, including, 
among other things, restrictions relating to the use or investment of the proceeds of the Series 
2021 Bonds and the payment of certain arbitrage earnings in excess of the “yield” on the Series 
2021 Bonds to the Treasury of the United States.  Noncompliance with such provisions may result 
in interest on the Series 2021 Bonds being included in gross income for federal income tax 
purposes retroactive to their date of issuance. 

Collateral Tax Consequences 

Except as described above, Bond Counsel will express no opinion regarding the federal 
income tax consequences resulting from the ownership of, receipt or accrual of interest on, or 
disposition of, the Series 2021 Bonds.  Prospective purchasers of the Series 2021 Bonds should be 
aware that the ownership of the Series 2021 Bonds may result in other collateral federal tax 
consequences.  For example, ownership of the Series 2021 Bonds may result in collateral tax 
consequences to various types of corporations relating to (1) denial of interest deduction to 
purchase or carry such Series 2021 Bonds, (2) the branch profits tax, and (3) the inclusion of 
interest on the Series 2021 Bonds in passive income for certain Subchapter S corporations.  In 
addition, the interest on the Series 2021 Bonds may be included in gross income by recipients of 
certain Social Security and Railroad Retirement benefits. 

PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP, SALE OR DISPOSITION OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS AND 
THE RECEIPT OR ACCRUAL OF THE INTEREST THEREON MAY HAVE ADVERSE FEDERAL 
TAX CONSEQUENCES FOR CERTAIN INDIVIDUAL AND CORPORATE BONDHOLDERS, 
INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE CONSEQUENCES DESCRIBED ABOVE.  
PROSPECTIVE SERIES 2021 BONDHOLDERS SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR TAX 
SPECIALISTS FOR INFORMATION IN THAT REGARD. 

Florida Taxes 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, the Series 2021 Bonds and interest thereon are exempt 
from taxation under the laws of the State, except as to estate taxes and taxes imposed by Chapter 
220, Florida Statutes, on interest, income or profits on debt obligations owned by corporations, as 
defined in said Chapter 220. 

Other Tax Matters 

Interest on the Series 2021 Bonds may be subject to state or local income taxation under 
applicable state or local laws in other jurisdictions.  Purchasers of the Series 2021 Bonds should 
consult their tax advisors as to the income tax status of interest on the Series 2021 Bonds in their 
particular state or local jurisdictions. 

During recent years, legislative proposals have been introduced in Congress, and in some 
cases enacted, that altered certain federal tax consequences resulting from the ownership of 



 

67 

obligations that are similar to the Series 2021 Bonds.  In some cases these proposals have 
contained provisions that altered these consequences on a retroactive basis.  Such alteration of 
federal tax consequences may have affected the market value of obligations similar to the Series 
2021 Bonds.  From time to time, legislative proposals are pending which could have an effect on 
both the federal tax consequences resulting from ownership of the Series 2021 Bonds and their 
market value.  No assurance can be given that additional legislative proposals will not be 
introduced or enacted that would or might apply to, or have an adverse effect upon, the Series 
2021 Bonds. 

On February 23, 2016, the Internal Revenue Service issued a notice of proposed 
rulemaking (the “Proposed Regulations”) and notice of public hearing containing proposed 
regulations that provided guidance regarding the definition of political subdivision for purposes 
of the rules for tax-exempt bonds, including determinations of entities that are valid issuers of 
tax-exempt bonds.  On October 4, 2017, the Treasury Department (“Treasury”) announced that it 
would withdraw the proposed regulations, stating that, “while Treasury and the IRS continue to 
study the legal issues relating to political subdivisions, Treasury and the IRS currently believe 
that these proposed regulations should be withdrawn in their entirety, and plan to publish a 
withdrawal of the proposed regulations shortly in the Federal Register.  Treasury and the IRS 
may propose more targeted guidance in the future after further study of the relevant legal issues.”  
The Proposed Regulations were officially withdrawn on October 20, 2017.  See also 
“BONDOWNERS’ RISKS” herein. 

[Original Issue Discount 

Certain of the Series 2021 Bonds (the “Discount Bonds”) may be offered and sold to the 
public at an original issue discount, which is the excess of the principal amount of the Discount 
Bonds over the initial offering price to the public, excluding bond houses, brokers or similar 
persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers, at which price a 
substantial amount of the Discount Bonds of the same maturity was sold.  Original issue discount 
represents interest which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes to the 
same extent as interest on the Series 2021 Bonds.  Original issue discount will accrue over the 
term of a Discount Bond at a constant interest rate compounded semi-annually.  A purchaser who 
acquires a Discount Bond at the initial offering price thereof to the public will be treated as 
receiving an amount of interest excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes 
equal to the original issue discount accruing during the period such purchaser holds such 
Discount Bond and will increase its adjusted basis in such Discount Bond by the amount of such 
accruing discount for purposes of determining taxable gain or loss on the sale or other disposition 
of such Discount Bond.  The federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and 
prepayment, sale or other disposition of Discount Bonds which are not purchased in the initial 
offering at the initial offering price may be determined according to rules which differ from those 
above.  Owners of Discount Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the 
precise determination for federal income tax purposes of interest accrued upon sale, prepayment 
or other disposition of such Discount Bonds and with respect to the state and local tax 
consequences of owning and disposing of such Discount Bonds.] 



 

68 

[Bond Premium 

Certain of the Series 2021 Bonds (the “Premium Bonds”) may be offered and sold to the 
public at a price in excess of the principal amount of such Premium Bond, which excess 
constitutes to an initial purchaser amortizable bond premium which is not deductible from gross 
income for Federal income tax purposes.  The amount of amortizable bond premium for a taxable 
year is determined actuarially on a constant interest rate basis over the term of the Premium 
Bonds which term ends on the earlier of the maturity or call date for each Premium Bond which 
minimizes the yield on said Premium Bonds to the purchaser.  For purposes of determining gain 
or loss on the sale or other disposition of a Premium Bond, an initial purchaser who acquires such 
obligation in the initial offering to the public at the initial offering price is required to decrease 
such purchaser’s adjusted basis in such Premium Bond annually by the amount of amortizable 
bond premium for the taxable year.  The amortization of bond premium may be taken into 
account as a reduction in the amount of tax-exempt income for purposes of determining various 
other tax consequences of owning such Premium Bonds.  The federal income tax consequences 
of the purchase, ownership and sale or other disposition of Premium Bonds which are not 
purchased in the initial offering at the initial offering price may be determined according to rules 
which differ from those described above.  Owners of the Premium Bonds are advised that they 
should consult with their own advisors with respect to the state and local tax consequences of 
owning such Premium Bonds.] 

DISCLOSURE REQUIRED BY FLORIDA BLUE SKY REGULATIONS 

Section 517.051, Florida Statutes, and the regulations promulgated thereunder (the 
“Disclosure Act”) requires that the District make a full and fair disclosure of any bonds or other 
debt obligations that it has issued or guaranteed and that are or have been in default as to 
principal or interest at any time after December 31, 1975.  The District has previously defaulted 
on the payment of principal and interest on certain of the Prior Bonds.  See “DISTRICT 
INDEBTEDNESS AND PRIOR DEFAULT HISTORY” herein for additional information.   

NO RATING OR CREDIT ENHANCEMENT 

The Series 2021 Bonds are neither rated nor credit enhanced.  No application for a rating 
or credit enhancement with respect to the Series 2021 Bonds was made. 

VALIDATION 

The Bonds issued pursuant to the terms of the Master Indenture were validated by a Final 
Judgment of the Fourth Judicial Circuit In and For Clay County, Florida, entered September 11, 
2006.  The appeal period from such final judgment expired with no appeal being filed.   



 

69 

LITIGATION 

The District 

There is no pending or, to the knowledge of the District, any threatened litigation against 
the District of any nature whatsoever which in any way questions or affects the validity of the 
Series 2021 Bonds, or any proceedings or transactions relating to their issuance, sale, execution, 
or delivery, or the execution of the Indenture.  Neither the creation, organization or existence, nor 
the title of the present members of the Board of Supervisors or the District Manager is being 
contested in any pending or threatened litigation. 

From time to time, the District expects to experience routine litigation and claims 
incidental to the conduct of its affairs.  In connection with the issuance and sale of the Series 2021 
Bonds, District Counsel will represent to the District that there are no actions presently pending 
or to the knowledge of the District threatened against the District, the adverse outcome of which 
could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the availability of the Series 
2021 Trust Estate or the ability of the District to pay the Series 2021 Bonds from the Series 2021 
Trust Estate. 

The Developer 

In connection with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, the Developer will represent to 
the District that there is no litigation of any nature now pending or, to the knowledge of the 
Developer, threatened, which could reasonably be expected to have a material and adverse effect 
upon the ability of the Developer to complete the Development as described herein or materially 
and adversely affect the ability of the Developer to perform its various obligations described in 
this Limited Offering Memorandum. 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

In order to comply with the continuing disclosure requirements of Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC Rule”), the District, the Developer, and 
Governmental Management Services, LLC, as Dissemination Agent, will enter into a Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement (the “Disclosure Agreement”), the form of which is attached hereto as 
APPENDIX E.  Pursuant to the Disclosure Agreement, the District has covenanted for the benefit 
of Bondholders to provide to the Dissemination Agent certain financial information and 
operating data relating to the District and the Series 2021 Bonds in each year (the “District Annual 
Report”), and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated material events.  Such 
covenant by the District shall only apply so long as the Series 2021 Bonds remain outstanding 
under the Indenture. 

Pursuant to the Disclosure Agreement, the Developer has covenanted for the benefit of 
Bondholders to provide to the District and the Dissemination Agent, certain financial information 
and operating data relating to the Developer and the Development on a quarterly basis (the 
“Developer Report”) and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated material 



 

70 

events.  Such covenant by the Developer will apply only until the Developer is no longer an 
Obligated Person (as defined in the Disclosure Agreement).  Further, the Developer has 
covenanted and agreed with the District that such covenant will run with the land to the extent 
that any successor in interest which holds the land for development shall assume the continuing 
disclosure obligations of the Developer. 

The District Annual Report and the Developer Report (collectively, the “Reports”) will 
each be filed by the Dissemination Agent with the Municipal Security Rulemaking Board’s 
Electronic Municipal Markets Access (“EMMA”) repository as described in the form of the 
Disclosure Agreement attached hereto as APPENDIX E.  The notices of material events will also 
be filed by the District with EMMA.  The specific nature of the information to be contained in the 
Reports and the notices of material events are described in APPENDIX E.  The Disclosure 
Agreement will be executed by the District, the Developer and the Dissemination Agent at the 
time of issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds.  The foregoing covenants have been made in order to 
assist the Underwriter in complying with the SEC Rule.   

Continuing Compliance 

The District previously entered into continuing disclosure agreements in conjunction with 
the issuance of its Series 2015 Bonds (the “2015 Undertaking”) and its Series 2020 Bonds (the “2020 
Undertaking”).  For the last five years, the Annual Reports required by the 2015 Undertaking and 
the 2020 Undertaking have been timely filed. However, the Audited Financials for fiscal years 
2017, 2018 and 2020 were filed approximately six (6) months, one (1) day and one (1) day late, 
respectively, with no failure to file notice having been filed or timely filed.  Within the last five 
years, the Developer has not been a party to any continuing disclosure undertakings.     

UNDERWRITING 

The Underwriter will agree, pursuant to a contract to be entered into with the District, 
subject to certain conditions, to purchase the Series 2021 Bonds from the District at an aggregate 
purchase price of $__________ (which is the par amount of the Series 2021 Bonds, [less/plus] [net] 
original issue [discount/premium] in the amount of $__________ and less an Underwriter’s 
discount of $__________).  See “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF BOND PROCEEDS” 
herein.  The Underwriter’s obligations are subject to certain conditions precedent and the 
Underwriter will be obligated to purchase all of the Series 2021 Bonds if any Series 2021 Bonds 
are purchased. 

The Underwriter intends to offer the Series 2021 Bonds to accredited investors at the 
offering prices set forth on the cover page of this Limited Offering Memorandum, which may 
subsequently change without prior notice. The Underwriter may offer and sell the Series 2021 
Bonds to certain dealers (including dealers depositing the Series 2021 Bonds into investment 
trusts) at prices lower than the initial offering prices and such initial offering prices may be 
changed from time to time by the Underwriter.  The Series 2021 Bonds are expected to be offered 
and may be sold to the Developer and/or its affiliates. 



 

71 

LEGAL MATTERS 

The Series 2021 Bonds are offered for delivery when, as and if issued by the District and 
accepted by the Underwriter, subject to prior sale, withdrawal or modification of the offer without 
notice and the receipt of the opinion of Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A., Tampa, Florida, Bond 
Counsel, as to the validity of the Series 2021 Bonds and the excludability of interest thereon from 
gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the 
District by its counsel, Hopping Green & Sams, P.A., Tallahassee, Florida, for the Developer by 
its in-house counsel, for the Trustee by its counsel, Holland & Knight LLP, Miami, Florida and 
for the Underwriter by its counsel, Bryant Miller Olive P.A., Orlando, Florida.   

AGREEMENT BY THE STATE 

Under the Act, the State pledges to the holders of any bonds issued thereunder, including 
the Series 2021 Bonds, that it will not limit or alter the rights of the issuer of such bonds to own, 
acquire, construct, reconstruct, improve, maintain, operate or furnish the projects subject to the 
Act or to levy and collect taxes, assessments, rentals, rates, fees, and other charges provided for 
in the Act and to fulfill the terms of any agreement made with the holders of such bonds and that 
it will not in any way impair the rights or remedies of such holders. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The District has covenanted in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement set forth in 
APPENDIX E hereto to provide its annual audited financial statements to the EMMA as described 
in APPENDIX E.  The audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020 
are attached hereto as APPENDIX F.  Such statements speak only as of September 30, 2020.  The 
consent of the District’s auditor to include in this Limited Offering Memorandum the 
aforementioned report was not requested, and the general purpose financial statements of the 
District are provided only as publicly available documents.  The auditor was not requested nor 
did they perform any procedures with respect to the preparation of this Limited Offering 
Memorandum or the information presented herein. 

EXPERTS AND CONSULTANTS 

The references herein to Alliant Engineering, Inc., as the District Engineer have been 
approved by said firm.  The Engineer’s Report prepared by such firm relating to the Phase 3B/C 
Project has been included as APPENDIX A attached hereto in reliance upon such firm as an expert 
in engineering.  References to and excerpts herein from such Engineer’s Report do not purport to 
be adequate summaries of the Phase 3B/C Project or complete in all respects.  Such Engineer’s 
Report is an integral part of this Limited Offering Memorandum and should be read in its entirety 
for complete information with respect to the subjects discussed therein.   

The references herein to Governmental Management Services, LLC, as Methodology 
Consultant have been approved by said firm. The Assessment Report prepared by such firm 
relating to the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds has been included as composite APPENDIX B 



 

72 

attached hereto in reliance upon such firm as an expert in developing assessment methodologies.  
References to and excerpts herein from such reports do not purport to be adequate summaries of 
such report or complete in all respects.  Such reports are an integral part of this Limited Offering 
Memorandum and should be read in its entirety for complete information with respect to the 
subjects discussed therein.   

CONTINGENT AND OTHER FEES 

The District has retained Bond Counsel, District Counsel, the Methodology Consultant, 
the Underwriter (who has retained Underwriter’s Counsel) and the Trustee (who has retained 
Trustee’s Counsel), with respect to the authorization, sale, execution and delivery of the Series 
2021 Bonds.  Payment of the fees of such professionals, except for the payment of fees to District 
Counsel and the Methodology Consultant, is contingent upon the issuance of the Series 2021 
Bonds. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Any statements made in this Limited Offering Memorandum involving matters of 
opinion or of estimates, whether or not so expressly stated, are set forth as such and not as 
representations of fact, and no representation is made that any of the estimates will be realized. 
Neither this Limited Offering Memorandum nor any statement that may have been made 
verbally or in writing is to be construed as a contract with the holders of the Series 2021 Bonds. 

The information contained in this Limited Offering Memorandum has been compiled 
from official and other sources deemed to be reliable, and is believed to be correct as of the date 
of this Limited Offering Memorandum, but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by, 
and is not to be construed as a representation by, the Underwriter.  The Underwriter listed on the 
cover page hereof has reviewed the information in this Limited Offering Memorandum in 
accordance with and as part of its responsibility to investors under the federal securities laws as 
applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee 
the accuracy or completeness of such information.   

The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice 
and neither the delivery of this Limited Offering Memorandum nor any sale made hereunder is 
to create, under any circumstances, any implication that there has been no change in the affairs 
of the District from the date hereof.  However, certain parties to the transaction, including the 
District, will, on the closing date of the Series 2021 Bonds, deliver certificates to the effect that 
nothing has come to their attention that would lead them to believe that applicable portions of 
this Limited Offering Memorandum contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 
a material fact that should be included herein for the purpose for which this Limited Offering 
Memorandum is intended to be used, or that is necessary to make the statements contained 
herein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading and to the effect 
that from the date of this Limited Offering Memorandum to the date of closing of the Series 2021 
Bonds that there has been no material adverse change in the information provided. 



 

73 

This Limited Offering Memorandum is submitted in connection with the sale of the 
securities referred to herein and may not be reproduced or used, as a whole or in part, for any 
other purpose. The appendices hereof are integral parts of this Limited Offering Memorandum 
and must be read in their entirety together with all of the foregoing statements. 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
By:        
Its:  Chair



 

 

APPENDIX A 
 

ENGINEER’S REPORT 



 

 

APPENDIX B 
 

ASSESSMENT REPORT 



 

 

APPENDIX C 
 

COPY OF THE MASTER INDENTURE AND FORM OF THE SIXTH SUPPLEMENT 



 

D 

APPENDIX D 
 

FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL 



 

 

APPENDIX E 
 

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 



 

 

APPENDIX F 
 

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE DISTRICT 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2020 



 

 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 
 

This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (this "Disclosure Agreement") dated November 
__, 2021, is executed and delivered by the ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT (the "Issuer"), GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES SOUTHEAST, LLC (the 
"Developer") and GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES, LLC, as Dissemination 
Agent (the "Dissemination Agent") in connection with the issuance by the Issuer of its 
$___________ aggregate principal amount of Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 
2021A-1 (the "Series 2021A-1 Bonds") and its $___________ aggregate principal amount of 
Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2 (the “Series 2021A-2 
Bonds” and, together with the Series 2021A-1 Bonds, the “Series 2021 Bonds”).  The Series 2021 
Bonds are being issued pursuant to a Master Trust Indenture dated as of November 1, 2006 (the 
"Master Indenture") by and between the Issuer and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee 
(the "Trustee"), as amended and supplemented from time to time, and as particularly amended 
and supplemented by a Sixth Supplemental Trust Indenture by and between the Issuer and the 
Trustee, dated as of November 1, 2021 (the "Sixth Supplemental Indenture" and, together with 
the Master Indenture, the "Indenture").  The Issuer, the Developer and the Dissemination Agent 
covenant and agree as follows: 

1. Purpose of this Disclosure Agreement.  This Disclosure Agreement is being 
executed and delivered by the Issuer, the Developer, and the Dissemination Agent for the 
benefit of the Beneficial Owners of the Series 2021 Bonds and to assist the Participating 
Underwriter in complying with the continuing disclosure requirements of Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) 
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") pursuant to the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time (the "Rule").   

The provisions of this Disclosure Agreement are supplemental and in addition to the 
provisions of the Indenture with respect to reports, filings and notifications provided for 
therein, and do not in any way relieve the Issuer, the Trustee or any other person of any 
covenant, agreement or obligation under the Indenture (or remove any of the benefits thereof) 
nor shall anything herein prohibit the Issuer, the Trustee or any other person from making any 
reports, filings or notifications required by the Indenture or any applicable law. 

2. Definitions.  In addition to the definitions set forth in the Indenture and the 
Limited Offering Memorandum, which apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure 
Agreement unless otherwise defined herein, the following capitalized terms shall have the 
following meanings: 

"Annual Report" shall mean any Annual Report provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and 
as described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Agreement. 

"Assessments" shall mean the non-ad valorem special assessments pledged to the 
payment of the Series 2021 Bonds pursuant to the Indenture. 



 

2 

"Beneficial Owner" shall mean any person which (a) has the power, directly or 
indirectly, to vote or consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any Series 2021 
Bonds (including persons holding Series 2021 Bonds through nominees, depositories or other 
intermediaries), or (b) is treated as the owner of any Series 2021 Bonds for federal income tax 
purposes. 

"Business Day" shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which 
the Trustee is required, or authorized or not prohibited by law (including executive orders), to 
close and is closed, or on any day on which the New York Stock Exchange is closed. 

"County Tax Collector" shall mean the Clay County Tax Collector. 

"Developer Report" shall mean any Developer Report provided by the Developer, its 
successors or assigns, pursuant to, and as described in, Sections 5 and 6 of this Disclosure 
Agreement. 

"Dissemination Agent" shall mean, initially, Governmental Management Services, LLC, 
acting in its capacity as Dissemination Agent hereunder, or any successor Dissemination Agent 
designated in writing by the Issuer and which has filed with the Issuer and Trustee a written 
acceptance of such designation. 

"District Manager" shall mean Governmental Management Services, LLC, or a successor 
District Manager. 

"Event of Bankruptcy" shall be considered to have occurred when any of the following 
occur:  the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for an Obligated Person in a 
proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal 
law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all 
of the assets or business of the Obligated Person, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by 
leaving the existing governmental body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the 
supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order 
confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental 
authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the 
Obligated Person. 

"Fiscal Year" shall mean the period commencing on October 1 and ending on 
September 30 of the next succeeding year, or such other period of time provided by applicable 
law. 

"Issuer Disclosure Representative" shall mean the District Manager of the Issuer or 
his/her/its designee, or such other officer or employee as the Issuer shall designate in writing to 
the Trustee and the Dissemination Agent from time to time. 

"Limited Offering Memorandum" shall mean the final offering document relating to the 
Series 2021 Bonds. 



 

3 

"Listed Events" shall mean any of the events listed in Section 7(a) of this Disclosure 
Agreement. 

"Obligated Person" shall mean any person, including the Issuer and the Developer, and 
its successors and assigns, who is either generally or through an enterprise, fund, or account of 
such person committed by contract or other arrangement to support payment of all or part 
(twenty percent (20%) or more) of the obligations on the Series 2021 Bonds (other than 
providers of municipal bond insurance, letters of credit, or other liquidity facilities). 

"Participating Underwriter" shall mean the original underwriter of the Series 2021 
Bonds required to comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the Series 2021 Bonds. 

"Repository" shall mean each entity authorized and approved by the SEC from time to 
time to act as a repository for purposes of complying with the Rule.  The Repositories currently 
approved by the SEC may be found by visiting the SEC’s website at 
"http://www.sec.gov/info/municipal/nrmsir.htm."  As of the date hereof, the Repository 
recognized by the SEC for such purpose is the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, which 
currently accepts continuing disclosure submissions through its Electronic Municipal Market 
Access ("EMMA") web portal at "http://emma.msrb.org." 

"Series 2021 Assessment Area" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Limited 
Offering Memorandum. 

"State" shall mean the State of Florida. 

3. Provision of Annual Reports. 

(a) The Issuer shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, by April 1 of 
the calendar year following the end of each Fiscal Year of the Issuer (the "Annual Filing Date"), 
beginning April 1, 2022 with respect to the report for the 2021 Fiscal Year, provide to any 
Repository in electronic format as prescribed by such Repository an Annual Report which is 
consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement.  The Annual Report 
may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a package, and 
may cross-reference other information as provided in Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement; 
provided that the audited financial statements of the Issuer may be submitted separately from 
the balance of the Annual Report and later than the date required above, but in no event later 
than the date required to be filed with the State pursuant to applicable State law (currently 
within nine (9) months of the end of the Issuer’s Fiscal Year), for the filing of the Annual Report 
if they are not available by that date.  If the Issuer’s Fiscal Year changes, the Issuer shall give 
notice of such change in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 7(a). 

(b) If on the fifteenth (15th) day prior to each Annual Filing Date the 
Dissemination Agent has not received a copy of the Annual Report, the Dissemination Agent 
shall contact the Issuer Disclosure Representative by telephone and in writing (which may be by 
e-mail) to remind the Issuer of its undertaking to provide the Annual Report pursuant to 



 

4 

Section 3(a) above.  Upon such reminder, the Issuer Disclosure Representative, shall either (i) 
provide the Dissemination Agent with an electronic copy of the Annual Report in accordance 
with Section 3(a) above, or (ii) instruct the Dissemination Agent in writing that the Issuer, will 
not be able to file the Annual Report within the time required under this Disclosure Agreement, 
state the date by which the Annual Report for such year will be provided and instruct the 
Dissemination Agent that a Listed Event as described in Section 7(a)(17) has occurred and to 
immediately send a notice to any Repository in electronic format as required by such 
Repository in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A hereto. 

(c) The Dissemination Agent shall: 

(i) determine each year prior to the date for providing the Annual 
Report the name, address and filing requirements of any Repository; and 

(ii) within five (5) Business Days of filing the Annual Report, file a 
notice with the Issuer certifying that the Annual Report has been provided pursuant to this 
Disclosure Agreement, stating the date(s) it was provided and listing any Repository to which it 
was provided. 

4. Content of Issuer’s Annual Report.   

(a) The Issuer’s Annual Report shall contain or incorporate by reference the 
following, which includes an update of the financial and operating data of the Issuer to the 
extent presented in the Limited Offering Memorandum.  All information in the Annual Report 
shall be presented for the immediately preceding Fiscal Year and, to the extent available, the 
current Fiscal Year: 

(i) The amount of Assessments levied. 

(ii) The amount of Assessments collected from property owners. 

(iii) If available, the amount of delinquencies greater than 150 days, 
and, in the event that delinquencies amount to more than ten percent (10%) of 
the amounts of Assessments due in any year, a list of delinquent property 
owners with respect to Assessments billed and collected directly by the Issuer 
and with respect to Assessments collected by the County Tax Collector, unless 
such information is not available from the County Tax Collector. 

(iv) The amount of tax certificates sold, if any, and the balance, if any, 
remaining for sale. 

(v) All fund balances in all Funds and Accounts for the Series 2021 
Bonds.  Upon request, the Issuer shall provide any Beneficial Owners and the 
Dissemination Agent with this information more frequently than annually and, 



 

5 

in such case, shall provide such information within thirty (30) days of the written 
request of the Beneficial Owners. 

(vi) The total amount of Series 2021 Bonds Outstanding. 

(vii) The amount of principal and interest due on the Series 2021 
Bonds. 

(viii) The most recent audited financial statements of the Issuer which 
shall be prepared in accordance with governmental accounting standards 
promulgated by the Government Accounting Standards Board. 

(ix) Any amendment or waiver of the provisions hereof as described 
in Section 11 hereof. 

 To the extent any of the items set forth in subsections (i) through (vii) 
above are included in the audited financial statements referred to in subsection (viii) above, 
they do not have to be separately set forth.   

 The Issuer represents and warrants that it will supply, in a timely fashion, 
any information available to the Issuer and reasonably requested by the Dissemination Agent 
that is necessary in order for the Dissemination Agent to carry out its duties under this 
Disclosure Agreement.  The Issuer acknowledges and agrees that the information to be collected 
and disseminated by the Dissemination Agent will be provided by the Issuer and others.  The 
Dissemination Agent’s duties do not include authorship or production of any materials, and the 
Dissemination Agent shall have no responsibility hereunder for the content of the information 
provided to it by the Issuer or others as thereafter disseminated by the Dissemination Agent. 

  The information provided under this Section 4 may be included by specific 
reference to documents, including official statements of debt issues of the Issuer or related 
public entities, which are available to the public on EMMA (or any successor Repository’s 
website) or filed with the SEC.  The Issuer shall clearly identify each such other document so 
incorporated by reference. 

  The Issuer reserves the right to modify from time to time the specific types of 
information provided in its Annual Report or the format of the presentation of such 
information, to the extent necessary or appropriate in the judgment of the Issuer; provided that 
the Issuer agrees that any such modification will be done in a manner consistent with the Rule. 

5. Provision of Developer Report. 

 The Developer shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, for the 
quarter ending: (i) March 31, each May l; (ii) June 30, each August 1; (iii) September 30, each 
November 1; and (iv) December 31, each February 1 of the following year (the "Quarterly Filing 
Date"), beginning with the quarter ending March 31, 2022, provide to any Repository in 



 

6 

electronic format as prescribed by such Repository a Developer Report which is consistent with 
the requirements of Section 6(b) of this Disclosure Agreement. 

(b) If on the fifteenth (15th) day prior to each Quarterly Filing Date the 
Dissemination Agent has not received a copy of the Developer Report due on such Quarterly 
Filing Date, the Dissemination Agent shall contact the Developer by telephone and in writing 
(which may be by e-mail) to remind the Developer of its undertaking to provide the Developer 
Report pursuant to this Section 5.  Upon such reminder, the Developer shall either (i) provide 
the Dissemination Agent with an electronic copy of the Developer Report in accordance with 
Section 5(a) above, or (ii) instruct the Dissemination Agent in writing that the Developer will 
not be able to file the Developer Report within the time required under this Disclosure 
Agreement and state the date by which such Developer Report will be provided. 

(c) If the Dissemination Agent has not received a Developer Report that 
contains the information in Section 6(b) of this Disclosure Agreement by 12:00 noon on the first 
Business Day following each Quarterly Filing Date, a Listed Event described in Section 7(a)(17) 
shall have occurred and the Issuer and the Developer hereby direct the Dissemination Agent to 
send a notice to each Repository in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A hereto, with a 
copy to the Issuer.  The Dissemination Agent shall file such notice no later than ten (10) days 
following the applicable Quarterly Filing Date.   

(d) The Dissemination Agent shall: 

(i) determine prior to each Quarterly Filing Date the name and 
address of each Repository; and 

(ii) promptly upon fulfilling its obligations under subsection (a) 
above, file a notice with the Developer and the Issuer stating that the Developer 
Report has been provided pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement and stating the 
date(s) it was provided. 

6. Content of Developer Report. 

 The Developer, so long as it is an Obligated Person for purposes of this 
Disclosure Agreement, shall file, or cause to be filed by the Dissemination Agent, a Developer 
Report no later than the Quarterly Filing Date.  At such time as the Developer is no longer an 
Obligated Person, Developer will no longer be obligated to prepare any quarterly Developer 
Report pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement; provided, however, if the Developer was an 
Obligated Person at any time during a quarter, the Developer shall report for the remainder of 
that quarter indicating in such report the date that the Developer ceased being an Obligated 
Person. 

 Each quarterly Developer Report shall contain the following information: 



 

7 

(i) Any change in the chart included in the Limited Offering 
Memorandum under the subsection "THE DEVELOPMENT – Product 
Type/Phasing Plan," with the same qualifiers; 

(ii) Any change in the table included in the Limited Offering 
Memorandum in the subsection "THE DEVELOPMENT – Projected Absorption," 
with the same qualifiers;  

(iii) A description of the infrastructure improvements needed for the 
Series 2021 Assessment Area that have been completed and that are currently 
under construction, including infrastructure financed by the Series 2021 Bonds; 

(iv) The percentage of the infrastructure financed by the Series 2021 
Bonds that has been completed; 

(v) The number of assessable units planned on property subject to the 
Assessments; 

(vi) The number of assessable units closed with retail end users; 

(vii) The number of assessable units under contract with retail end 
users; 

(viii) If assessable units are being built by builders other than the 
Developer or one of its affiliates, the number of lots under contract with builders, 
together with the name of each builder, as applicable; 

(ix) If assessable units are being built by builders other than the 
Developer or one of its affiliates, the number of lots closed with builders, 
together with the name of each builder, as applicable; 

(x) The estimated date of complete build-out of assessable units in the 
Series 2021 Assessment Area; 

(xi) Whether the Developer has made any bulk sale of the land subject 
to the Assessments; 

(xii) The status of development approvals for the Development; 

(xiii) Materially adverse changes or determinations to 
permits/approvals/entitlements for the Series 2021 Assessment Area which 
necessitate changes to the Developer's land-use or other plans for the Series 2021 
Assessment Area; 

(xiv) Any material update to the plan of finance for the Series 2021 
Assessment Area as described in the Limited Offering Memorandum; and 



 

8 

(xv) Any event that would have a material adverse impact on the 
implementation of the Development as described in the Limited Offering 
Memorandum or on the Developer's ability to undertake the Development as 
described in the Limited Offering Memorandum. 

 Any of the items listed in subsection (b) above may be incorporated by 
reference from other documents which have been submitted to each of the Repository or the 
SEC.  The Developer shall clearly identify each such other document so incorporated by 
reference. 

 If the Developer sells, assigns or otherwise transfers ownership of real 
property in the Development to a third party, which will in turn be an Obligated Person for 
purposes of this Disclosure Agreement as a result thereof (a "Transfer"), the Developer hereby 
agrees to require such third party to comply with the disclosure obligations of the Developer 
hereunder for so long as such third party is an Obligated Person hereunder, to the same extent 
as if such third party were a party to this Disclosure Agreement.  The Developer involved in 
such Transfer shall promptly notify the Issuer and the Dissemination Agent in writing of the 
Transfer.  For purposes of Sections 5, 6, 7 and 9 hereof, the term "Developer" shall be deemed to 
include the Developer and any third party that becomes an Obligated Person hereunder as a 
result of a Transfer.  In the event that the Developer remains an Obligated Person hereunder 
following any Transfer, nothing herein shall be construed to relieve the Developer from its 
obligations hereunder. 

7. Reporting of Listed Events. 

 Pursuant to the provisions of this Section 7, the Issuer shall give, or cause 
to be given, notice of the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Series 
2021 Bonds and the Developer shall give, or cause to be given, notice of the occurrence of 
subsections 10, 12, 13, 15, 16, 17 and 18 of the following events as they pertain to the Developer 
(and the Issuer shall not be responsible therefor), to the Dissemination Agent in writing in 
sufficient time in order to allow the Dissemination Agent to file notice of the occurrence of such 
Listed Event in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) Business Days after the occurrence of 
the event, with the exception of the event described in subsection 17 below, which notice shall 
be given in a timely manner: 

1. principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

2. non-payment related defaults, if material; 

3. unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial 
difficulties; 

4. unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial 
difficulties; 



 

9 

5. substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

6. adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of 
proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue 
(IRS Form 5701 TEB) or other material notices or determinations with 
respect to the tax status of the Series 2021 Bonds, or other material events 
affecting the tax status of the Series 2021 Bonds; 

7. modifications to rights of the holders of the Series 2021 Bonds, if material; 

8. bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

9. defeasances; 

10. release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Series 
2021 Bonds, if material (sale of individual lots by developers or 
homeowners to end users shall not be material for purposes of this 
Disclosure Agreement); 

11. ratings changes;   

12. an Event of Bankruptcy or similar event of an Obligated Person; 

13. the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an 
Obligated Person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the 
Obligated Person, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry 
into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination 
of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than 
pursuant to its terms, if material;  

14. appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of 
a trustee, if material;  

15. incurrence of a financial obligation (as defined by the Rule) of the Issuer 
or an Obligated Person, if material, or agreement to covenants, events of 
default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a financial 
obligation of the Issuer or an Obligated Person, any of which affect 
security holders, if material;  

16. default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or 
other similar events under the terms of the financial obligation of the 
Issuer or an Obligated Person, any of which reflect financial difficulties; 



 

10 

17. notice of any failure on the part of the Issuer to meet the requirements of 
Section 3 hereof or of the Developer to meet the requirements of Section 5 
hereof; and 

18. the termination of the Issuer’s or the Developer's obligations under this 
Disclosure Agreement prior to the final maturity of the Series 2021 Bonds, 
pursuant to Section 9 hereof. 

 The notice required to be given in subsection 7(a) above shall be filed 
with any Repository, in electronic format as prescribed by such Repository. 

8. Identifying Information.  In accordance with the Rule, all disclosure filings 
submitted pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement to any Repository must be accompanied by 
identifying information as prescribed by the Repository.  Such information may include, but 
shall not be limited to: 

(a) the category of information being provided; 

(b) the period covered by any annual financial information, financial 
statement or other financial information or operation data; 

(c) the issues or specific securities to which such documents are related 
(including CUSIPs, issuer name, state, issue description/securities name, 
dated date, maturity date, and/or coupon rate); 

(d) the name of any Obligated Person other than the Issuer; 

(e) the name and date of the document being submitted; and 

(f) contact information for the submitter. 

9. Termination of Disclosure Agreement.  The Issuer’s obligations and the 
Developer’s obligations under this Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the legal 
defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Series 2021 Bonds, so long as there 
is no remaining liability of the Issuer, or if the Rule is repealed or no longer in effect.  
Furthermore, the Developer’s obligations shall terminate at such time as the Developer is no 
longer an Obligated Person.  If any such termination occurs prior to the final maturity of the 
Series 2021 Bonds, the Issuer and/or the Developer shall give notice of such termination in the 
same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 7 hereof. 

10. Dissemination Agent.  The Issuer may, from time to time, appoint or engage a 
Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement, 
and may discharge any such Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor 
Dissemination Agent.  If at any time there is not any other designated Dissemination Agent, the 
Issuer shall be the Dissemination Agent.  The initial Dissemination Agent shall be 



 

11 

Governmental Management Services, LLC.  The Dissemination Agent shall not be responsible 
in any manner for the content of any notice or report prepared by the Issuer pursuant to this 
Disclosure Agreement.   

11. Amendment.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure 
Agreement, the Issuer, the Developer and the Dissemination Agent (if the Dissemination Agent 
is not the Issuer) may amend this Disclosure Agreement, and any provision of this Disclosure 
Agreement may be waived, provided that the following conditions are satisfied: 

 The amendment may only be made in connection with a change in 
circumstances that arises from a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the 
identity, nature or status of the Issuer and/or the Developer, or the type of business conducted; 

 The undertaking, as amended, would have complied with the 
requirements of the Rule at the time of the primary offering of the Series 2021 Bonds, after 
taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in 
circumstances; and 

 The amendment does not materially impair the interests of the holders, as 
determined either (i) by parties unaffiliated with the Issuer (such as the trustee or Bond 
Counsel), or (ii) by the approving vote of bondholders pursuant to the terms of the Indenture at 
the time of the amendment. 

  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer, the Developer and the Dissemination 
Agent shall have the right to adopt amendments to this Disclosure Agreement necessary to 
comply with modifications to and interpretations of the provisions of the Rule as announced by 
the SEC from time to time.   

  In the event of any amendment or waiver of a provision of this Disclosure 
Agreement, the Issuer and the Developer shall describe such amendment in its next Annual 
Report or Developer Report, as applicable, and shall include, as applicable, a narrative 
explanation of the reason for the amendment or waiver and its impact on the type (or in the case 
of a change of accounting principles, on the presentation) of financial information or operating 
data being presented by the Issuer or the Developer, as applicable. In addition, if the 
amendment relates to the accounting principles to be followed in preparing financial statements 
of the Issuer, (i) notice of such change shall be given in the same manner as for a Listed Event 
under Section 7(b), and (ii) the Annual Report for the year in which the change is made should 
present a comparison (in narrative form and also, if feasible, in quantitative form) between the 
financial statements as prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those 
prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles. 

  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein requiring consent of the 
Developer, the Issuer may amend this Disclosure Agreement without the consent of the 
Developer with respect to any provision hereof that does not affect the Developer. 



 

12 

12. Additional Information.  Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed 
to prevent the Issuer or the Developer from disseminating any other information, using the 
means of dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of 
communication, or including any other information in any Annual Report or Developer Report 
or notice of occurrence of Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure 
Agreement.  If the Issuer or the Developer chooses to include any information in any Annual 
Report or Developer Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is 
specifically required by this Disclosure Agreement, the Issuer or the Developer shall have no 
obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update such information or include it in any 
future Annual Report or Developer Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event. 

13. Default.  In the event of a failure of the Issuer, the Developer, the Issuer 
Disclosure Representative or a Dissemination Agent to comply with any provision of this 
Disclosure Agreement, the Trustee may (and, at the request of any Participating Underwriter or 
the Owners of more than 50% aggregate principal amount of outstanding Series 2021 Bonds and 
receipt of indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee, shall), or any Beneficial Owner of a Series 2021 
Bond may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate 
or specific performance by court order, to cause the Issuer, the Developer, the Issuer Disclosure 
Representative or a Dissemination Agent, as the case may be, to comply with its obligations 
under this Disclosure Agreement.  No default hereunder shall be deemed an Event of Default 
under the Indenture, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Agreement in the event of any 
failure of the Issuer, the Developer, the Issuer Disclosure Representative or a Dissemination 
Agent, to comply with this Disclosure Agreement shall be an action to compel performance. 

14. Duties of Dissemination Agent.  The Dissemination Agent shall have only such 
duties as are specifically set forth in this Disclosure Agreement. 

15. Beneficiaries.  This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of the 
Issuer, the Developer, the Dissemination Agent, the Trustee, the Participating Underwriter and 
Beneficial Owners of the Series 2021 Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or 
entity. 

16. Counterparts.  This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the 
same instrument. 

17. Governing Law.  This Disclosure Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the 
State and federal law. 

18. Trustee Cooperation.  The Issuer represents that the Dissemination Agent is a 
bona fide agent of the Issuer and directs the Trustee to deliver to the Dissemination Agent at the 
expense of the Issuer, any information or reports that are in the possession of and readily 
available to the Trustee that the Dissemination Agent requests that the Issuer has a right to 
request from the Trustee (inclusive of balances, payments, etc.). 



 

[Signature page to Continuing Disclosure Agreement] 
S-1 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Disclosure Agreement as 
of the date and year set forth above. 

 
[SEAL] 
 
 
 
CONSENTED TO AND AGREED TO BY: 
 
GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT 
SERVICES, LLC, and its successors and assigns, 
as Issuer Disclosure Representative 

By:       
Name:  James Perry 
Title:  Managing Director 
 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, as Issuer 

By:       
 Chair, Board of Supervisors 

JOINED BY U.S. BANK NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, as Trustee, FOR PURPOSES OF 
SECTIONS 13, 15 AND 18 ONLY 

By:       
Name:  Stacey L. Johnson 
Title:  Vice President 
 

 

 GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES 
SOUTHEAST, LLC, a Florida limited liability 
company, as Developer 

By:       
Name:       
Title:       
 



 

[Signature page to Continuing Disclosure Agreement] 
S-2 

 GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT 
SERVICES, LLC, as Dissemination Agent 

By:         
Name:  James Perry 
Title:  Managing Director 



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

NOTICE TO REPOSITORIES 
OF FAILURE TO FILE [ANNUAL][DEVELOPER] REPORT 

 
Name of Issuer:  Rolling Hills Community Development District 
 
Name of Bond Issue: $___________ Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-

1 and $___________ Capital Improvement Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2 
 

Date of Issuance:  November __, 2021 
 
Obligated Persons:  Rolling Hills Community Development District 
    Garden Street Communities Southeast, LLC 
 
CUSIPS:    
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the [Issuer] [Developer] has not provided an [Annual 
Report] [Developer Report] with respect to the above-named Series 2021 Bonds as required by 
[Section 3] [Section 5] of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement dated November __, 2021, 
among the Issuer, the Developer and the Dissemination Agent named therein.  The [Issuer] 
[Developer] has advised the undersigned that it anticipates that the [Annual Report] [Developer 
Report] will be filed by ______________, 20____. 

 
 
Dated: ____________________    ________________, Dissemination Agent 
 
 
cc: [Issuer] [Developer] 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

D. 

















 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

E. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

1. 



 

Collateral Assignment (Series 2021) 1 
 

 
This instrument was prepared by and  
upon recording should be returned to: 
 
Katie S. Buchanan, Esq. 
HOPPING GREEN & SAMS, P.A. 
119 South Monroe Street, Suite 300 
Tallahassee, Florida 32301 

(This space reserved for Clerk) 

  
COLLATERAL ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 

 
 This Collateral Assignment and Assumption of Development Rights (“Assignment”) is 
made and entered by and between: 
 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special-
purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, and 
located in Clay County, Florida whose mailing address is 475 West Town Place, 
Suite 114, St. Augustine, Florida 32092 (“District”); and 
 
GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES SOUTHEAST, LLC, a Florida limited liability 
company, whose mailing address is 3000 Gulf Breeze Parkway, Gulf Breeze, Florida 
32563 (“Developer”). 
 

RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, the District was established by ordinance of the Board of County 
Commissioners in and for Clay County, Florida, pursuant to the Uniform Community 
Development District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended (“Act”), and is 
validly existing under the constitution and laws of the State of Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Act authorizes the District to issue bonds for the purpose, among others, of 
planning, financing, constructing, installing, operating, and/or maintaining certain infrastructure 
within or without the boundaries of the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer is currently the primary landowner and developer of lands within 
the boundaries of the District known as Phase 3B and 3C planned for 247 residential lots and 
related improvements, which lands are further described in the attached Exhibit A; and 

WHEREAS, the District previously adopted an improvement plan to finance the planning, 
design, acquisition, construction, and installation of certain infrastructure improvements, facilities, 
and services (“Improvements”) within the District, as described in that certain Rolling Hills 
Community Development District Improvement Plan dated August 15, 2006 (“Capital  
Improvement Plan”), as amended, incorporated herein by this reference; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District previously financed a portion of the Capital Improvement Plan 

(“Series 2006 Project”) through the issuance of its Series 2006A and Series 2006B Capital 
Improvement Revenue Bonds (together, “Series 2006 Bonds”), which were secured by previously 



 

Collateral Assignment (Series 2021) 2 
 

imposed special assessments on the lands specially benefitted by the Series 2006 Project (“Series 
2006 Assessments”)1; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District previously adopted Resolution 2009-04, declaring the Series 2006 

Project complete and modifying the Capital Improvement Plan (“Revised Capital Improvement 
Plan”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the District previously issued its Series 2015A-1, Series 2015A-2 (Senior 

Lien), Series2015B (Subordinate Lien) and Series 2015A-3 (“Series 2015A-3 Bonds”) 
Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds, in exchange for and to refund a portion of the Series 
2006 Bonds and reallocated a portion of the Series 2006 Assessments (“Series 2015 
Assessments”)2; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District previously issued its Series 2020A-1 Capital Improvement 

Revenue Bonds (“Series 2020A-1 Bonds”) and Series 2020A-2 Capital Improvement Revenue 
and Refunding Bonds (“Series 2020A-2 Bonds” and together with the Series 2020A-1 Bonds, the 
“Series 2020 Bonds”), to finance a portion of the Revised Capital Improvement Plan known as 
Phase 3A (“Series 2020 Project”) and to refund a portion of the Series 2015A-3 Bonds (“Series 
2020 Assessments”)3; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District has determined that under existing market conditions, it would be 

in the best interests of the District to refinance the outstanding Series 2015A-3 Bonds (the 
"Refunded Bonds"), which is currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 
$1,953,315, and to finance a portion of the Revised Capital Improvement Plan known as Phase 3B 
and 3C (“Series 2021 Project”) as more particularly described in that Fourth Supplemental 
Engineer’s Report, dated June 3, 2021 (“Supplemental Engineer’s Report”), adopted by the 
Board on [August 10, 2021], and attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by this 
reference; and 
  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution 2022-02 adopted by the Board on October 12, 2021, 
(“2021 Delegation Resolution”), the District has determined to issue its Rolling Hills Community 
Development District Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1, in the aggregate 
principal amount of $_______________  (the “Series 2021A-1 Bonds”) to finance a portion of 
the costs of the Series 2021 Project and to issue its Rolling Hills Community Development District 
Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2, in the aggregate principal 
amount of $______________  (“Series 2021A-2 Bonds”, and together with Series 2021A-2 
Bonds, the “Series 2021 Bonds”) to redeem the Refunded Bonds and further finance a portion of 
the costs of the Series 2021 Project; and  

 

 
1 The Series 2006 Assessments were levied by Resolutions 2006-12, 2006-13, 2006-18 and 2007-02 
(“Series 2006 Assessment Resolutions”). 
2 The Series 2015 Assessments were levied by Resolutions 2015-08, 2015-09 and 2016-02 (“Series 2015 
Assessment Resolutions”). 
3 Series 2020 Assessments were levied by Resolution 2021-01. 



 

Collateral Assignment (Series 2021) 3 
 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Series 2006 Assessment Resolutions, the Series 2015 
Assessment Resolutions, and Resolutions 2021-07, 2021-08, 2021-12, 2021-13 and 2022-__ 
(collectively, “Assessment Resolutions”), the District adopted its Master Special Assessment 
Methodology Report for the Phase 3B and 3C Project, dated June 22, 2021, as supplemented by 
that Supplemental Special Assessment Methodology Report for the Series 2021 Refunding Capital 
Improvement Revenue Bonds for Phases 3B and 3C, dated June 22, 2021, as further supplemented 
buy that Supplemental Special Assessment Methodology Report for Capital Improvement Revenue 
and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021, dated __________, 2021 (collectively, “Assessment 
Methodology”), providing for the allocation of special assessments (“Series 2021 Assessments”) 
among the lands benefitting from the Series 2021 Project (“Series 2021 Assessment Area”), 
securing the Series 2021 Bonds; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Developer has acquired, or hereafter may acquire, certain rights 
(“Development and Contract Rights”) in, to, under, or by virtue of certain contracts, agreements, 
and other documents, which now or hereafter affect the Series 2021 Assessment Area and the 
Series 2021 Project (collectively, “Contract Documents”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the District and the Developer anticipate that (i) the Series 2021 Assessment 
Area will continue to be subdivided into single-family lots through the County’s approval of 
multiple subdivision plats, (ii) true-up payments, if any are due as to the Series 2021 Assessment 
Area, will be made pursuant to a separate true-up agreement being entered into between the District 
and the Developer concurrent herewith, and (iii) all of the Series 2021 Assessment Area, or lots 
therein, will be sold to unaffiliated homebuilders or homebuyers (“Development Completion”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the failure to achieve Development Completion may increase the likelihood 
that the purchasers of the Bonds will not receive the full benefit of their investment in the Series 
2021 Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, during the period in which the Series 2021 Assessment Area are being 
developed and the Series 2021 Project has yet to reach Development Completion, there is an 
increased likelihood that adverse changes to local or national economic conditions may result in a 
default in the payment of the Series 2021 Assessments securing the Series 2021 Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, in the event of default in the payment of the Series 2021 Assessments securing 
the Series 2021 Bonds, and the passage of any applicable cure period without cure being made, 
the District has certain remedies with respect to the lien of the Series 2021 Assessments as more 
particularly set forth herein, including certain foreclosure rights provided by Florida law 
(“Remedial Rights”); and 

WHEREAS, in the event the District exercises its Remedial Rights, the District will require 
the assignment of certain Development and Contract Rights, to complete development of the Series 
2021 Assessment Area to the extent that such Development and Contract Rights have not been 
previously assigned, transferred, or otherwise conveyed to a homebuilder resulting from the sale 
of certain Series 2021 Assessment Area in the ordinary course of business, Clay County, the 
District, any applicable homeowner’s association or other governing entity or association for the 
benefit of the Project (“Prior Transfer”); and  



 

Collateral Assignment (Series 2021) 4 
 

WHEREAS, this Assignment is not intended to impair or interfere with the development of 
the Series 2021 Project as anticipated by and at substantially the densities and intensities 
envisioned in the Engineer’s Report and the Assessment Methodology and shall only be inchoate 
and shall become an effective and absolute assignment and assumption of the Development and 
Contract Rights upon failure of the Developer to pay the Series 2021 Assessments levied against 
the Series 2021 Assessment Area, which failure is not cured within any applicable cure period; 
and 

WHEREAS, in the event of a transfer, conveyance or sale of any portion of the Series 2021 
Assessment Area, any and all affiliated entities or successors-in-interest to the Series 2021 
Assessment Area shall be subject to this Assignment, which shall be recorded in the Official 
Records of Clay County, Florida, except as set forth in this Assignment; and 

WHEREAS, the rights assigned to the District hereunder shall be exercised in a manner 
which will not materially affect the intended development of the  Series 2021 Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above recitals which the parties agree are true 
and correct and are hereby incorporated by reference and other good and valuable consideration, 
the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged, the District and the Developer agree as 
follows: 

SECTION 1.   INCORPORATION OF RECITALS. The recitals stated above are true and 
correct and by this reference are incorporated by reference as a material part of this Assignment. 

SECTION 2.  COLLATERAL ASSIGNMENT. 

A. The Developer hereby agrees to collaterally assign to the District or its 
designee, and to the extent assignable, and to the extent that they are owned or controlled by 
Developer or subsequently acquired by the Developer, all of its Development and Contract Rights 
as security for Developer’s payment and performance and discharge of its obligation to pay the 
Series 2021 Assessments levied against the Series 2021 Assessment Area; provided, however, that 
such assignment is and shall be non-exclusive to the extent that any of the Development and 
Contract Rights pertain to lands or entitlements other than those included within or attributable to 
the  Series 2021 Project or Series 2021 Assessment Area. Subject to the foregoing, the 
Development and Contract Rights shall include, but not be limited to, the following, but shall 
specifically exclude any portion of the Development and Contract Rights which are subject to a 
Prior Transfer: 

1. Any declaration of covenants of a homeowner’s association governing the 
Series 2021 Assessment Area, as recorded in the Official Records of Clay County, Florida, and as 
the same may be supplemented, amended and restated from time to time, including, without 
limitation, all of the right, title, interest, powers, privileges, benefits and options controlled by the 
Developer. 

2. Engineering and construction plans and specifications for grading, traffic 
capacity analyses, roadways, site drainage, storm water drainage, signage, water distribution, 
waste water collection, and other improvements to or affecting the Series 2021 Assessment Area. 



 

Collateral Assignment (Series 2021) 5 
 

3. Preliminary and final plats and/or site plans for the Series 2021 Assessment 
Area. 

4. Architectural plans and specifications for buildings and other 
improvements to the Series 2021 Assessment Area, other than those associated with homebuilding 
and home construction. 

5. Permits, approvals, agreements, resolutions, variances, licenses, and 
franchises and applications therefor whether approved or in process pending before or granted by 
governmental authorities, or any of their respective agencies, for or affecting the development of 
the Series 2021 Assessment Area or the  Series 2021 Project and construction of improvements 
thereon. 

6. Contracts with engineers, architects, land planners, landscape architects, 
consultants, contractors, and suppliers for or relating to the development of the Series 2021 
Assessment Area or the Series 2021 Project or the construction of improvements thereon (other 
than those associated with homebuilding or home construction), together with all warranties, 
guaranties and indemnities of any kind or nature associated therewith. 

7. Franchise or other agreements for the provision of utility services to the 
Series 2021 Project, including the lots, and all hookup fees and utility deposits paid by the 
Developer in connection therewith.   

8. Permit fees, deposits and other assessments and impositions paid by 
Developer to any governmental authority or utility and capacity reservations, impact fee credits 
and other credits due to Developer from any governmental authority or utility provider to the extent 
that the improvements for which such credits are granted were financed by the District, including 
credit for any dedication or contribution of Series 2021 Assessment Area by Developer in 
connection with the development of Series 2021 Assessment Area or the construction of 
improvements thereon. 

9. All future creations, changes, extensions, revisions, modifications, 
substitutions, and replacements of any of the foregoing and any guarantees of performance of 
obligations of Developer arising thereunder by any means, including, but not limited to, pursuant 
to governmental requirements, administrative or formal action by third parties, or written 
agreement with governmental authorities or third parties. 

B. This Assignment is not intended to and shall not impair or interfere with the 
development of Series 2021 Assessment Area, including, without limitation, any purchase and sale 
agreements for lots subject to a plat and/or site plan or land intended to be made subject to a plat 
and/or site plan (“Builder Contracts”), and shall only be inchoate and shall become an effective 
and absolute assignment and assumption of the Development and Contract Rights upon failure of 
the Developer to pay the Series 2021 Assessments levied against the Series 2021 Assessment Area, 
and the District, Trustee or their assignee acquires any Series 2021 Assessment Area as a result of 
the exercise of the Remedial Rights; provided, however, that such assignment shall only be 
effective and absolute to the extent that this Assignment has not been terminated earlier pursuant 
to the terms hereof. 



 

Collateral Assignment (Series 2021) 6 
 

C. If this Assignment has not become absolute, it shall automatically terminate 
upon the earliest to occur of the following events: (i) payment of the Series 2021 Bonds in full; (ii) 
Development Completion; or (iii) upon a Prior Transfer as to the portion of the Series 2021 
Assessment Area which are subject to the Prior Transfer (“Term”).  The portion of the Series 2021 
Assessment Area so transferred shall be deemed released automatically from the terms, scope and 
encumbrance of this Assignment, whether or not the Term has expired as to any other portion of 
the Series 2021 Assessment Area and without any written release or certification being required 
from the District or any other person or entity, and any transferee and title examiner may rely on 
the foregoing automatic release in insuring title to such portion of the Series 2021 Assessment 
Area so transferred without making exception for this Assignment.   

SECTION 3.   DEVELOPER WARRANTIES. The Developer represents and warrants to the 
District that, subject to the Builder Contracts now or hereafter executed by the Developer: 

A. Other than pursuant to the Builder Contracts, the Developer has made no 
assignment of the Development and Contract Rights to any person other than the District. 

B. To the actual knowledge of the Developer, the Developer has not done any 
act or omitted to do any act which will prevent the District from, or limit the District in, acting 
under any of the provisions hereof. 

C. To the actual knowledge of the Developer, there is no material default under 
the terms of the existing Contract Documents, subject to any notice and cure periods, and all such 
Contract Documents remain in full force and effect. 

D. The Developer is not prohibited under agreement with any other person or 
under any judgment or decree from the execution, delivery and performance of this Assignment. 

E. No action has been brought or threatened which would in any way interfere 
with the right of the Developer to execute this Assignment and perform all of its obligations herein 
contained. 

F. Any transfer, conveyance or sale of the Series 2021 Assessment Area (other 
than a Prior Transfer) shall subject any and all affiliated entities or successors-in-interest of the 
Developer to this Assignment. 

SECTION 4.  DEVELOPER COVENANTS. The Developer covenants with the District that 
during the Term: 

A. The Developer will use reasonable, good faith efforts to: (i) cause to be 
fulfilled, performed, and observed each and every material condition and covenant of the 
Developer relating to the Development and Contract Rights, including, but not limited to, any 
material changes in the Development and Contract Rights; and (ii) give notice to the District of 
any claim of material default relating to the Development and Contract Rights given to or by the 
Developer, together with a complete copy of any such claim. 



 

Collateral Assignment (Series 2021) 7 
 

B. The Development and Contract Rights include all of Developer’s right to 
modify the Development and Contract Rights, to terminate the Development and Contract Rights, 
and to waive or release the performance or observance of any obligation or condition of the 
Development and Contract Rights; provided that no such modification, termination, waiver or 
release affects any of the Development and Contract Rights which pertain to lands outside of the 
District not relating to development of the Series 2021 Assessment Area.  Upon an Event of 
Default, the rights as outlined within this Section 4(b) shall be included as part of the Development 
and Contract Rights assigned to the District.  

C. In the event of the institution of any involuntary bankruptcy, reorganization 
or insolvency proceedings against the Developer or the appointment of a receiver or a similar 
official with respect to all or a substantial part of the properties of the Developer, the Developer 
shall endeavor in good faith to have such proceedings dismissed or such appointment vacated 
within a period of one hundred and twenty (120) days. 

SECTION 5.  DISTRICT OBLIGATIONS.  Nothing herein shall be construed as an 
obligation on the part of the District to accept any liability for all or any portion of the Development 
and Contract Rights unless it chooses to do so in its sole discretion, nor shall any provision 
hereunder be construed to place any liability or obligation on the District for compliance with the 
terms and provisions of all or any portion of the Development and Contract Rights.   

SECTION 6.   EVENT(S) OF DEFAULT.  Any breach of the Developer’s warranties 
contained in Section 3 hereof or breach of covenants contained in Section 4 hereof, shall, after the 
giving of notice and an opportunity to cure (which cure period shall not be less than sixty (60) 
days, and shall not be construed to extend any other cure periods provided hereunder, unless the 
District, in its sole discretion, agrees to a longer cure period) constitute an event of default (“Event 
of Default”) under this Assignment. 

SECTION 7.  REMEDIES UPON EVENT(S) OF DEFAULT.   Upon an Event of Default, the 
District or the District’s designee may, as the District’s sole and exclusive remedies under this 
Assignment (and separate and apart from any Remedial Rights or other rights provided by law), 
take any or all of the following actions, at the District’s option: 

A. Perform any and all obligations of the Developer relating to the 
Development and Contract Rights and exercise any and all rights of the Developer therein as fully 
as Developer could;  

B. Initiate, appear in, or defend any action arising out of or affecting the 
Development and Contract Rights;  

C. Sue for, or otherwise collect and receive, monies due under the Contract 
Documents, including those past due and unpaid, and apply the same against all costs and expenses 
of collection and then against all costs and expenses of operation of the Series 2021 Assessment 
Area or the performance of the Developer’s obligations under the Contract Documents. Neither 
entry upon and taking possession of the Series 2021 Assessment Area nor the collection of monies 
due under the Contract Documents shall in any way operate to cure or waive any default under any 
instrument given by the Developer to the District, or prohibit the taking of any other action by 



 

Collateral Assignment (Series 2021) 8 
 

District under any such instrument, or at law or in equity, to enforce payment of the obligations 
secured hereby or to realize on any other security; and 

D. After the Developer’s receipt of a demand notice from the District following 
an Event of Default, the Developer will use reasonable, good faith efforts at the sole cost and 
expense of the Developer to (i) enforce the performance and observance of each and every material 
covenant and condition of the Contract Documents to be performed or observed; and (ii) appear in 
and defend any action involving the Contract Documents or the obligations or liabilities of the 
Developer or any guarantor thereunder.  Also to be effective upon the occurrence of an Event of 
Default, and after Developer’s receipt of a demand notice from the District following an Event of 
Default, the Developer will neither modify the terms of the Contract Documents in any material 
respect (unless required so to do by the terms thereof or to comply with documents executed in 
connection with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds) nor waive or release any person from the 
performance of any obligation to be performed under the terms of the Contract Documents or from 
liability on account of any warranty given by such person, without the prior consent of the District, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Developer will not at any time take any action (or omit to take any action) with 
respect to the Development and Contract Rights that materially and adversely affects the rights of 
the District and the holders of the Series 2021 Bonds. 

SECTION 8.  AUTHORIZATION.  Upon the occurrence of and during the continuation of 
an Event of Default, the Developer does hereby authorize and shall direct any party to any 
agreement relating to the Development and Contract Rights to tender performance thereunder to 
the District upon written notice and request from the District. Any such performance in favor of 
the District shall constitute a full release and discharge to the extent of such performance as fully 
as though made directly to the Developer. 

SECTION 9.  SECURITY AGREEMENT. Subject to the terms of this Assignment, this 
Assignment shall be a security agreement between the Developer, as the debtor, and the District, 
as the secured party, covering the Development and Contract Rights and Contract Documents that 
constitute personal property governed by the Florida Uniform Commercial Code (“Code”), and 
the Developer grants to the District a security interest in such Development and Contract Rights 
and Contract Documents.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District shall not be entitled to 
exercise any right as a secured party, including, without limitation, the filing of any and all 
financing statements, until the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder, subject to any 
applicable notice and cure period.  

SECTION 10.  AMENDMENTS.  This Assignment shall constitute the entire agreement 
between the parties regarding the subject matter hereof and may be modified in writing only by 
the mutual agreement of the parties hereto, which is duly executed. 

 
SECTION 11.  SUCCESSORS; THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Assignment is solely 

for the benefit of the District and the Developer and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon 
or by reason, to or for the benefit of any third party not a formal party to this Assignment.  Nothing 
in this Assignment expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person 
or corporation other than the District and the Developer any right, remedy, or claim under or by 
reason of this Assignment or any of the provisions or conditions of this Assignment; and all of the 



 

Collateral Assignment (Series 2021) 9 
 

provisions, representations, covenants, and conditions contained in this Assignment shall inure to 
the sole benefit of and shall be binding upon the District and the Developer and their respective 
representatives, successors, and assigns, subject to the provisions hereof regarding the automatic 
release of portions of the Series 2021 Assessment Area herefrom upon a Prior Transfer thereof.  
Also notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Trustee, on behalf of the holders of the 
Series 2021 Bonds, shall be a direct third party beneficiary of the terms and conditions of this 
Assignment and shall, acting at the direction of the holders owning a majority of the aggregate 
principal amount of the Series 2021 Bonds then outstanding, be entitled to cause the District to 
enforce the Developer’s obligations hereunder.  The Trustee has not assumed any obligations 
hereunder. 

SECTION 12. ENFORCEMENT.  In the event that either party is required to enforce this 
Assignment by court proceedings or otherwise, then the parties agree that the prevailing party shall 
be entitled to recover from the other all fees and costs incurred, including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and costs for trial, alternative dispute resolution, or appellate proceedings. 

SECTION 13.  AUTHORIZATION.  The execution of this Assignment has been duly 
authorized by the appropriate body or official of the District and the Developer; both the District 
and the Developer have complied with all the requirements of law with respect to the executors of 
this Assignment; and both the District and the Developer have full power and authority to comply 
with the terms and provisions of this instrument. 

SECTION 14.  NOTICES.  All notices, requests, consents and other communications under 
this Assignment (“Notices”) shall be in writing and shall be delivered, mailed by First Class Mail, 
postage prepaid, or overnight courier delivery service, to the parties, as follows: 

A. If to the District:  Rolling Hills Community  
Development District 
475 West Town Place, Suite 114 
St. Augustine, Florida 32092  
Attn: Jim Oliver, District Manager 

 
 With a copy to:  Hopping Green & Sams, P.A. 

119 South Monroe Street, Suite 300 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
Attn:  Katie S. Buchanan, District Counsel 

 
B. If to Developer:  Garden Street Communities Southeast, LLC 

3000 Gulf Breeze Parkway 
Gulf Breeze, Florida 32563 
Attn: Lucas R. Henderson, General Counsel 

 
 And also a copy to:  Hopping Green & Sams, P.A. 

119 South Monroe Street, Suite 300 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301   
Attn: Jason E. Merritt, Developer Counsel 

 



 

Collateral Assignment (Series 2021) 10 
 

 Except as otherwise provided in this Assignment, any Notice shall be deemed received 
only upon actual delivery at the address set forth above.  Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the 
place of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next business day.  If 
any time for giving Notice contained in this Assignment would otherwise expire on a non-business 
day, the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day.  Saturdays, Sundays, 
and legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be regarded as business 
days.  Counsel for the District and counsel for the Developer may deliver Notice on behalf of the 
District and the Developer.  Any party or other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied 
may notify the other parties and addressees of any change in name or address to which Notices 
shall be sent by providing the same on five (5) days written notice to the parties and addressees set 
forth herein. 
 

SECTION 15.  ARM’S LENGTH TRANSACTION.  This Assignment has been negotiated fully 
between the District and the Developer as an arm’s length transaction.  Both parties participated 
fully in the preparation of this Assignment and received the advice of counsel.  In the case of a 
dispute concerning the interpretation of any provision of this Assignment, both parties are deemed 
to have drafted, chosen, and selected the language, and the doubtful language will not be 
interpreted or construed against either the District or the Developer. 

 
SECTION 16.  APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE.  This Assignment and the provisions 

contained herein shall be construed, interpreted and controlled according to the laws of the State 
of Florida.  Each party consents that the exclusive venue for any litigation arising out of or related 
to this Assignment shall be in Clay County, Florida 
 

SECTION 17.  PUBLIC RECORDS.  The Developer understands and agrees that all 
documents of any kind provided to the District in connection with this Assignment may be public 
records and treated as such in accordance with Florida law. 
 

SECTION 18.  SEVERABILITY.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more 
provisions of this Assignment shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining 
portions of this Assignment, or any part of this Assignment not held to be invalid or unenforceable. 
 

SECTION 19.  LIMITATIONS ON GOVERNMENTAL LIABILITY.  Nothing in this 
Assignment shall be deemed as a waiver of immunity or limits of liability of the District beyond 
any statutory limited waiver of immunity or limits of liability which may have been adopted by 
the Florida Legislature in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, or other statute, and nothing in this 
Assignment shall inure to the benefit of any third party for the purpose of allowing any claim 
which would otherwise be barred by sovereign immunity or by other operation of law. 
 

SECTION 20.  CONSTRUCTION.  The descriptive headings in this Assignment are for 
convenience only and shall not control nor affect the meaning or construction of any of the 
provisions of this Assignment. 
 

SECTION 21.  COUNTERPARTS.  This Assignment may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original; however, all such 
counterparts together shall constitute, but one and the same instrument.  Signature and 



 

Collateral Assignment (Series 2021) 11 
 

acknowledgment pages, if any, may be detached from the counterparts and attached to a single 
copy of this document to physically form one document. 
 

SECTION 22.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Assignment shall be effective ____________, 
2021. 

 
 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
  



 

Collateral Assignment (Series 2021) 12 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Developer and the District have caused this Assignment to be 
executed. 
 
WITNESSES: 

 

 

      
Witness Signature     
Printed name:___________________ 
 
 
      
Witness Signature  
Printed name:___________________ 

GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES SOUTHEAST, 
LLC 
 
 
 
 

 _______________________________________ 
 By: William B. Adams, Sr. 

Its: Manager 
 

 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _________________ 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence 
or ▢ online notarization, this ___ day of _____________, 2021, by William B. Adams, Sr. as 
Manager of Garden Street Communities Southeast, LLC, on behalf of company.   
 
 
                           __________________________________________ 
                            Notary Public, State of Florida 
  
                           Personally Known                          
                       [notary seal]   OR Produced Identification                      

Type of Identification      
 
 



 

Collateral Assignment (Series 2021) 13 
 

WITNESSES:     ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY  
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
      
Witness Signature  
Printed name:___________________  ____________________________________ 

By: Shannon Jordan 
Its: Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
      
Witness Signature  
Printed name:___________________ 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _________________ 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence 
or ▢ online notarization, this ___ day of _____________, 2021, by Shannon Jordan, as 
Chairperson of the Board of Supervisors of the Rolling Hills Community Development District, 
on behalf of the District.   
 
 
                           __________________________________________ 
                            Notary Public, State of Florida 
  
                           Personally Known                          
                       [notary seal]   OR Produced Identification                      

Type of Identification      
 
 
 
Exhibit A: Legal Description of Series 2021 Assessment Area 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Collateral Assignment (Series 2021) 14 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description of Series 2021 Assessment Area 
 

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2. 



 

 
True-Up Agreement (Series 2021) 1 
 

This instrument was prepared by and  
upon recording should be returned to: 
 
Katie S. Buchanan, Esq. 
HOPPING GREEN & SAMS, P.A. 
119 South Monroe Street, Suite 300 
Tallahassee, Florida 32301 

(This space reserved for Clerk) 

 
AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AND GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES 
SOUTHEAST, LLC, REGARDING THE TRUE-UP AND PAYMENT OF  

SERIES 2021 ASSESSMENTS 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this ___ day of __________ 
2021, by and between: 
 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special-
purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, and 
located in Clay County, Florida whose mailing address is 475 West Town Place, 
Suite 114, St. Augustine, Florida 32092 (“District”); and 
 
GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES SOUTHEAST, LLC, a Florida limited liability 
company, whose mailing address is 3000 Gulf Breeze Parkway, Gulf Breeze, 
Florida 32563 (“Developer”). 
 

RECITALS 
 
 WHEREAS, the District was established by ordinance of the Board of County 
Commissioners in and for Clay County, Florida, pursuant to the Uniform Community 
Development District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended (“Act”), and is 
validly existing under the constitution and laws of the State of Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Act authorizes the District to issue bonds for the purpose, among others, 
of planning, financing, constructing, installing, operating, and/or maintaining certain 
infrastructure within or without the boundaries of the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer is currently the primary landowner and developer of lands 
within the boundaries of the District known as Phase 3B and 3C  planned for 247 residential lots 
and related improvements, which lands are further described in the attached Exhibit A; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District previously adopted an improvement plan to finance the planning, 
design, acquisition, construction, and installation of certain infrastructure improvements, 
facilities, and services within the District, as described in that certain Rolling Hills Community 
Development District Improvement Plan dated August 15, 2006 (“Capital Improvement 
Plan”), as amended, incorporated herein by this reference; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District previously financed a portion of the Capital Improvement Plan 

(“Series 2006 Project”) through the issuance of its Series 2006A and Series 2006B Capital 



 

 
True-Up Agreement (Series 2021) 2 
 

Improvement Revenue Bonds (together, “Series 2006 Bonds”), which were secured by 
previously imposed special assessments on the lands specially benefitted by the Series 2006 
Project (“Series 2006 Assessments”)1; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District previously adopted Resolution 2009-04, declaring the Series 2006 
Project complete and modifying the Capital Improvement Plan (“Revised Capital 
Improvement Plan”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the District previously issued its Series 2015A-1, Series 2015A-2 (Senior 

Lien), Series2015B (Subordinate Lien) and Series 2015A-3 (“Series 2015A-3 Bonds”) 
Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds, in exchange for and to refund a portion of the Series 
2006 Bonds and reallocated a portion of the Series 2006 Assessments (“Series 2015 
Assessments”)2; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District previously issued its Series 2020A-1 Capital Improvement 

Revenue Bonds (“Series 2020A-1 Bonds”) and Series 2020A-2 Capital Improvement Revenue 
and Refunding Bonds (“Series 2020A-2 Bonds” and together with the Series 2020A-1 Bonds, 
the “Series 2020 Bonds”), to finance a portion of the Revised Capital Improvement Plan known 
as Phase 3A (“Series 2020 Project”) and to refund a portion of the Series 2015A-3 Bonds 
(“Series 2020 Assessments”)3; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District has determined that under existing market conditions, it would be 

in the best interests of the District to refinance the outstanding Series 2015A-3 Bonds (the 
"Refunded Bonds"), which is currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 
$1,953,315, and to finance a portion of the Revised Capital Improvement Plan known as Phase 
3B and 3C (“Series 2021 Project”) as more particularly described in that Fourth Supplemental 
Engineer’s Report, dated June 3, 2021 (“Supplemental Engineer’s Report”), adopted by the 
Board on [August 10, 2021], and attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by this 
reference; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution 2022-02 adopted by the Board on October 12, 2021 

(“2021 Delegation Resolution”), the District has determined to issue its Rolling Hills 
Community Development District Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1, in the 
aggregate principal amount of $_______________  (the “Series 2021A-1 Bonds”) to finance a 
portion of the costs of the Series 2021 Project and to issue its Rolling Hills Community 
Development District Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2, in 
the aggregate principal amount of $______________  (“Series 2021A-2 Bonds”, and together 
with Series 2021A-2 Bonds, the “Series 2021 Bonds”) to redeem the Refunded Bonds and 
further finance a portion of the costs of the Series 2021 Project; and 
 

 
1 The Series 2006 Assessments were levied by Resolutions 2006-12, 2006-13, 2006-18 and 2007-02 
(“Series 2006 Assessment Resolutions”). 
2 The Series 2015 Assessments were levied by Resolutions 2015-08, 2015-09 and 2016-02 (“Series 2015 
Assessment Resolutions”). 
3 Series 2020 Assessments were levied by Resolution 2021-01. 



 

 
True-Up Agreement (Series 2021) 3 
 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Series 2006 Assessment Resolutions, the Series 2015 
Assessment Resolutions, and Resolutions 2021-07, 2021-08, 2021-12, 2021-13 and 2022-__ 
(collectively, “Assessment Resolutions”), the District adopted its Master Special Assessment 
Methodology Report for the Phase 3B and 3C Project, dated June 22, 2021, as supplemented by 
that Supplemental Special Assessment Methodology Report for the Series 2021 Refunding 
Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds for Phases 3B and 3C, dated June 22, 2021, as further 
supplemented buy that Supplemental Special Assessment Methodology Report for Capital 
Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021, dated __________, 2021 (collectively, 
“Assessment Methodology”), providing for the allocation of special assessments (“Series 2021 
Assessments”) among the lands benefitting from the Series 2021 Project (“Series 2021 
Assessment Area”), securing the Series 2021 Bonds; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Developer agrees that all of the Series 2021 Assessment Area including the 
Developer’s lands benefit from the timely design, construction, or acquisition of the 
improvements that make up the Series 2021 Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Developer agrees that the Series 2021 Assessments which were imposed on 
the Series 2021 Assessment Area have been validly imposed and constitute valid, legal and 
binding liens upon the Series 2021 Assessment Area, which Series 2021 Assessments remain 
unsatisfied; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to the extent permitted by law, Developer waives any defect in notice or 
publication or in the proceedings to levy, impose and collect the Series 2021 Assessments on the 
Series 2021 Assessment Area; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Assessment Methodology provides that as Series 2021 Assessment Area 
are platted, the allocation of the amounts assessed to and constituting a lien upon Series 2021 
Assessment Area would be calculated based upon certain density assumptions relating to the 
number of each type of single-family units to be constructed on Series 2021 Assessment Area, 
which assumptions were provided by Developer; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Developer intends that Series 2021 Assessment Area will be platted, planned 
and developed based on then-existing market conditions, and the actual densities developed may 
be at some density less than the densities assumed in the Assessment Methodology; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Assessment Methodology anticipates a mechanism by which certain 
payments will be made to the District in order to satisfy, in whole or in part, the assessments 
allocated and the liens imposed pursuant to the Assessment Resolutions, the amount of such 
payments being determined generally by a calculation of the remaining unallocated debt prior to 
the recording of the final plat or site plan for a parcel or tract, as described in the District’s 
Assessment Methodology (which payments shall collectively be referenced as “True-Up 
Payment”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, Developer and the District desire to enter into an agreement to confirm 
Developer’s intention and obligation, if required, to make or cause to be made the True-Up 
Payment related to the Series 2021 Assessments, subject to the terms and conditions contained 
herein. 



 

 
True-Up Agreement (Series 2021) 4 
 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, based upon good and valuable consideration and the mutual 

covenants of the parties, the receipt of which and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, 
the parties agree as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1. RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and correct and by this reference 
are incorporated into and form a material part of this Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 2. VALIDITY OF ASSESSMENTS.  Developer agrees that the Assessment 
Resolutions have been duly adopted by the District.  Developer further agrees that the Series 
2021 Assessments imposed as a lien by the District are legal, valid, and binding liens running 
with the land against which assessed until paid, coequal with the liens of all state, county, 
district, and municipal taxes, and superior in dignity to all other liens, titles, and claims.  
Developer hereby waives and relinquishes any rights it may have to challenge, object to or 
otherwise fail to pay such Series 2021 Assessments. 
 
 SECTION 3. PAYMENT OF ASSESSMENTS. 
 

A. Developer agrees and covenants to timely pay all such Series 2021 Assessments 
levied and imposed by the District pursuant to the Assessment Resolutions on assessable acres 
owned by Developer, whether the Series 2021 Assessments are collected by the Tax Collector 
pursuant to Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes, by the District, or by any other method allowable 
by law.   

 
B. Developer agrees that to the extent Developer fails to timely pay all Series 2021 

Assessments collected by mailed notice of the District, said unpaid Series 2021 Assessments 
(including True-Up Payments) may be placed on the tax roll by the District for collection by the 
Tax Collector pursuant to Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes, in any subsequent year or may be 
foreclosed on as provided for in Florida law. 

 
C. Developer agrees that the provisions of this Agreement shall constitute a covenant 

running with Series 2021 Assessment Area and shall remain in full force and effect and be 
binding upon Developer, its legal representatives, estates, successors, grantees, and assigns as to 
the Series 2021 Assessment Area until released pursuant to the terms herein. 
 
 SECTION 4. SPECIAL ASSESSMENT REALLOCATION. 

 
A.  Assumptions as to the Series 2021 Assessments.  As of the date of the execution of 

this Agreement, Developer has informed the District that Developer anticipates that a total of 
two hundred forty-seven (247) single-family residential dwelling units, as more specifically 
described by unit size/number in the Assessment Methodology, will be constructed within Series 
2021 Assessment Area. 

 
B. Process for Reallocation of Assessments.  The Series 2021 Assessments will 

initially be levied on a per acre basis in Series 2021 Assessment Area and will be reallocated as 
Series 2021 Assessment Area are platted into dwelling units (“Reallocation”).  In connection 
with such platting of acreage within Series 2021 Assessment Area, the Series 2021 Assessments 



 

 
True-Up Agreement (Series 2021) 5 
 

imposed on the acreage being platted will be allocated based upon the actual number of units 
within each product type being platted.  In furtherance thereof, at such time as acreage is to be 
platted, Developer covenants that such plat shall be presented to the District.  The District shall 
allocate the Series 2021 Assessments to the residential product types being platted and the 
remaining property in accordance with the Assessment Methodology and cause such 
Reallocation to be recorded in the District’s Improvement Lien Book. 
 

(i) It is an express condition of the lien established by the Assessment 
Resolutions that at the time of recording any and all plats containing any portion 
of the Series 2021 Assessment Area, as the District’s boundaries may be amended 
from time to time, shall be presented to the District for review, approval and 
allocation of the Series 2021 Assessments to the product types being platted and 
the remaining property in accordance with the Assessment Methodology.  
Developer covenants to comply, or cause others to comply, with this requirement 
for the Reallocation as to the Series 2021 Assessment Area.  The District agrees 
that no further action by the Board shall be required.  The District’s review of the 
plats shall be limited solely to the Reallocation of Series 2021 Assessments and 
enforcement of the District’s assessment lien.  Nothing herein shall in any way 
operate to or be construed as providing any other plat and plan approval or 
disapproval powers to the District. 
 
(ii) As acreage within Series 2021 Assessment Area is platted (each such date 
being a “True-Up Date”), the District shall determine if the debt per developable 
acre remaining on the unplatted Series 2021 Assessment Area within the Series 
2021 Assessment Area exceeds the maximum par debt per developable acre of 
$_______________ within Phases 3B and 3C (as identified in the Assessment 
Methodology) for the Series 2021 Assessments, and if it is, a debt reduction 
payment in the amount of such excess debt per developable acre (“True-Up 
Payment”) shall become immediately due and payable by Developer that tax year 
in accordance with the Assessment Methodology, in addition to the regular 
assessment installment payable for Series 2021 Assessment Area owned by the 
Developer.  The District will ensure collection of such amounts in a timely 
manner in order to meet its debt services obligations, and in all cases, Developer 
agrees that such payments shall be made in order to ensure the District’s timely 
payments of the debt services obligations on the Series 2021 Bonds. The District 
shall record all True-Up Payments in its Improvement Lien book. 

 
(iii) The foregoing is based on the District's understanding with Developer that 
the maximum par debt per developable acre for Series 2021 Assessment Area is 
$_______________ within Phases 3B and 3C (as identified in the Assessment 
Methodology) for the Series 2021 Assessments.  In no event shall the District 
collect Series 2021 Assessments pursuant to the Assessment Resolutions in excess 
of the total debt service related to the Series 2021 Project, including all costs of 
financing and interest.  The District, however, may collect Series 2021 
Assessments in excess of the annual debt service related to the Series 2021 
Project, including all costs of financing and interest, which shall be applied to 
prepay the Series 2021 Bonds. If the strict application of the true-up methodology 



 

 
True-Up Agreement (Series 2021) 6 
 

to any Reallocation for any plat pursuant to this section would result in 
assessments collected in excess of the District's total debt service obligation for 
the Series 2021 Bonds, the District agrees to take appropriate action by resolution 
to equitably reallocate the assessments. 

 
 SECTION 5. ENFORCEMENT.  This Agreement is intended to be a method of 
enforcement of Developer’s obligation to abide by the requirements of the Reallocation of Series 
2021 Assessments to platted units, including the making of the True-Up Payment, as set forth in 
the Assessment Resolutions.  A default by either party under this Agreement shall entitle the 
other party to all remedies available at law or in equity, which shall include, but not be limited 
to, the right of actual damages (but not consequential, special or punitive damages), injunctive 
relief, and specific performance. 
 

SECTION 6. ASSIGNMENT. 
 
A. Agreement Runs with Land – This Agreement shall constitute a covenant 

running with title to the Series 2021 Assessment Area, binding upon Developer and its 
successors and assigns as to the Series 2021 Assessment Area or portions thereof, and any 
transferee of any portion of the Series 2021 Assessment Area as set forth in this Section, except 
as permitted by subsection B., below, or subject to the conditions set forth in subsection C., 
below.   

 
B. Exceptions – Developer shall not transfer any portion of the Series 2021 

Assessment Area to any third party without complying with the terms of subsection C. below, 
other than:  
 

(i) Platted and fully developed lots to homebuilders restricted from re-
platting; 
 
(ii) Platted and fully developed lots to end users; and 
 
(iii) Portions of the Series 2021 Assessment Area which are exempt from 
assessments to the County, the District, a homeowners’ association, or other 
governmental agencies.   

 
Any transfer of any portion of the Series 2021 Assessment Area pursuant to 
subsections (i), (ii) or (iii) listed above shall constitute an automatic release of 
such portion of the Series 2021 Assessment Area from the scope and effect of this 
Agreement, provided however that any True-Up Payment owing is paid prior to 
such transfer. 

 
C. Transfer Conditions – Developer shall not transfer any portion of the Series 2021 

Assessment Area to any third party, except as permitted by subsection B. above, 
without satisfying any True-Up Payment that results from any true-up determinations made by 
the District incident to such transfer (“Transfer Condition”).  Any transfer that is consummated 
pursuant to this Section shall operate as a release of Developer from its obligations under this 
Agreement as to such portion of the Series 2021 Assessment Area only arising from and after the 



 

 
True-Up Agreement (Series 2021) 7 
 

date of such transfer and satisfaction of the Transfer Condition and the transferee, which by 
recording or causing to be recorded in the Official Records of the County, the deed transferring 
such portion to the transferee shall be deemed to assume Developer’s obligations in accordance 
herewith shall be deemed the “Developer” from and after such transfer for all purposes as to such 
portion of the Series 2021 Assessment Area so transferred.  Regardless of whether the condition 
of this subsection is met, any transferee, other than those specified in subsection B., above, shall 
take title subject to the terms of this Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 7. RECOVERY OF COSTS AND FEES.  In the event either party is required to 
enforce this Agreement by court proceedings or otherwise, then the prevailing party, as 
determined by the applicable court or other dispute resolution provider, shall be entitled to 
recover from the non-prevailing party all fees and costs incurred, including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and costs incurred prior to or during any litigation or other dispute resolution and including 
all fees and costs incurred in appellate proceedings. 
 
 
 SECTION 8. NOTICE.   All notices, requests, consents, and other communications 
hereunder (“Notices”) shall be in writing and shall be delivered, mailed by First Class Mail, 
postage prepaid, or telecopied or hand delivered to the parties, as follows: 
 

A. If to the District:  Rolling Hills Community  
Development District 
475 West Town Place, Suite 114 
St. Augustine, Florida 32092  
Attn: Jim Oliver, District Manager 

 
 With a copy to:  Hopping Green & Sams, P.A. 

119 South Monroe Street, Suite 300 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
Attn:  Katie S. Buchanan, District Counsel 

 
B. If to Developer:  Garden Street Communities Southeast, LLC 

3000 Gulf Breeze Parkway 
Gulf Breeze, Florida 32563 
Attn: Lucas R. Henderson, General Counsel 

 
 And also a copy to:  Hopping Green & Sams, P.A. 

119 South Monroe Street, Suite 300 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301   
Attn: Jason E. Merritt, Developer Counsel 

 
Except as otherwise provided herein, any Notice shall be deemed received only upon 

actual delivery at the address or telecopy number set forth herein.  If mailed as provided above, 
Notices shall be deemed delivered on the third business day unless actually received earlier.  
Notices hand delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the place of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall 
be deemed received on the next business day.  If any time for giving Notice contained in this 
Agreement would otherwise expire on a non-business day, the Notice period shall be extended to 



 

 
True-Up Agreement (Series 2021) 8 
 

the next succeeding business day.  Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays recognized by the 
United States government shall not be regarded as business days.  Counsel for the parties may 
deliver Notice on behalf of the parties.  Any party or other person to whom Notices are to be sent 
or copied may notify the other parties and addressees of any change in name, address or telecopy 
number to which Notices shall be sent by providing the same on five (5) days written notice to 
the parties and addressees set forth herein. 

 
  Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent Florida law requires notice to enforce the 

collection of assessments placed on property by the District, then the provision of such notice 
shall be in lieu of any additional notice required by this Agreement. 

 
 SECTION 9.  ASSIGNMENT.  No party may assign its rights, duties, or obligations under 
this Agreement or any monies to become due hereunder without the prior written consent of the 
other party, whose consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Any purported assignment by 
either party absent the prior written consent of the other party as required by this section shall be 
void and unenforceable.  

 
 SECTION 10. AMENDMENT.  This Agreement shall constitute the entire agreement 
between the parties as to the matters set forth herein and may be modified in writing only by the 
mutual agreement of the parties. 
 
 SECTION 11. TERMINATION.  This Agreement shall terminate automatically upon all 
Series 2021 Assessments having been allocated and the payment of any True-Up Payment 
having been determined to be due.     
 
 SECTION 12.  NEGOTIATION AT ARM’S LENGTH.  This Agreement has been negotiated 
fully between the parties as an arm’s length transaction.  The parties participated fully in the 
preparation of this Agreement and received the advice of counsel.  In the case of a dispute 
concerning the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, the parties are deemed to have 
drafted, chosen, and selected the language, and the doubtful language will not be interpreted or 
construed against either party. 
 
 SECTION 13. BENEFICIARIES.  Except as provided below, this Agreement is solely for 
the benefit of the formal parties herein, and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by 
reason hereof, to or for the benefit of any third party not a formal party hereto.  Except as 
provided below, nothing in this Agreement expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed 
to confer upon any person, corporation, or entity other than the parties hereto any right, remedy, 
or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any provisions or conditions hereof; and all of 
the provisions, representations, covenants, and conditions herein contained shall inure to the sole 
benefit of and shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective representatives, 
successors, and assigns.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee for the Series 2020 Bonds, 
on behalf of the Series 2020 Bondholders, shall be a direct third-party beneficiary of the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement and shall be entitled to cause the District to enforce the 
Developer's obligations hereunder.  The Trustee has not assumed any obligations hereunder. 

 
 SECTION 14. LIMITATIONS ON GOVERNMENTAL LIABILITY.  Nothing in this 
Agreement shall be deemed as a waiver of immunity or limits of liability of the District beyond 



 

 
True-Up Agreement (Series 2021) 9 
 

any statutory limited waiver of immunity or limits of liability which may have been adopted by 
the Florida Legislature in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, or other statute or law, and nothing in 
this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of any third party for the purpose of allowing any claim 
which would otherwise be barred under the Doctrine of Sovereign Immunity or by operation of 
law.  
 
 SECTION 15. APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE.  This Agreement shall be governed by the 
laws of the State of Florida.  The parties agree and consent that the exclusive venue for any 
dispute arising out of this Agreement, whether in or out of court, shall be in Clay County, 
Florida. 

 
SECTION 16. EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS.  This instrument may be executed in any 

number of counterparts, each of which, when executed and delivered, shall constitute an original, 
and such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  Signature and 
acknowledgment pages, if any, may be detached from the counterparts and attached to a single 
copy of this document to physically form one document. 
 
 SECTION 17. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Agreement shall be effective _______, 2021. 
 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
 



 

 
True-Up Agreement (Series 2021) 10 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Developer and the District have caused this Assignment to be 
executed. 
 
WITNESSES: 

 

 

      
Witness Signature     
Printed name:___________________ 
 
 
      
Witness Signature  
Printed name:___________________ 

GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES SOUTHEAST, 
LLC 
 
 
 
 

 _______________________________________ 
 By: William B. Adams, Sr. 

Its: Manager 
 

 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _________________ 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence 
or ▢ online notarization, this ___ day of _____________, 2021, by William B. Adams, Sr. as 
Manager of Garden Street Communities Southeast, LLC, on behalf of company.   
 
 
                           __________________________________________ 
                            Notary Public, State of Florida 
  
                           Personally Known                          
                       [notary seal]   OR Produced Identification                      

Type of Identification      
 



 

 
True-Up Agreement (Series 2021) 11 
 

 
WITNESSES:     ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
      
Witness Signature  
Printed name:___________________  ____________________________________ 

By: Shannon Jordan 
Its: Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
      
Witness Signature  
Printed name:___________________ 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _________________ 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence 
or ▢ online notarization, this ___ day of _____________, 2021, by Shannon Jordan, as 
Chairperson of the Board of Supervisors of the Rolling Hills Community Development District, 
on behalf of the District.   
 
 
                           __________________________________________ 
                            Notary Public, State of Florida 
  
                           Personally Known                          
                       [notary seal]   OR Produced Identification                      

Type of Identification      
 
 
 
 
 
Exhibit A:  Description of Series 2021 Assessment Area 
 
 



 

 
True-Up Agreement (Series 2021) 12 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description of Series 2021 Assessment Area 
 

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

3. 



 

Declaration of Consent – Series 2021 
 1 

 

This instrument was prepared by and  
upon recording should be returned to: 
 
 
Katie S. Buchanan, Esq. 
HOPPING GREEN & SAMS, P.A. 
Post Office Box 6526 
Tallahassee, Florida 32314 

 

 
DECLARATION OF CONSENT TO JURISDICTION OF  

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT  
AND TO IMPOSITION OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS (SERIES 2021) 

 
GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES SOUTHEAST, LLC, a Florida limited liability 

company (the “Landowner”), is the owner of certain lands within the boundaries of the District, 
which lands consist of approximately 79.84 gross acres representing Phase 3B and 3C of the 
development, planned for a total of 247 single-family lots as more particularly described in 
Exhibit A attached hereto and made part hereof (the “Series 2021 Assessment Area”), located 
within the boundaries of the Rolling Hills Community Development District (the “District”). The 
Landowner, intending that it and its successors in interest and assigns shall be legally bound by 
this Declaration, hereby declares, acknowledges and agrees as follows: 

1. The District is, and has been at all times, on and after March 21, 2006, a legally 
created, duly organized, and validly existing community development district under the 
provisions of Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended (the “Act”).  Without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing, the Landowner acknowledges that (a) the petition filed with the 
Board of County Commissioners of Clay County, Florida (“County”), relating to the creation of 
the District contained all matters required by the Act to be contained therein and was filed in the 
manner and by the persons required by the Act; (b) Ordinance 2006-9, effective as of March 21, 
2006, was duly and properly adopted by the County in compliance with all applicable 
requirements of law; (c) the members of the Board of Supervisors of the District were and are 
duly and properly designated and/or elected pursuant to the Act to serve in their official 
capacities and had the authority and right to authorize, approve and undertake all actions of the 
District approved and undertaken from March 21, 2006, to and including the date of this 
Declaration. 

2. The Landowner, for itself and its successors and assigns, hereby acknowledges 
and agrees, that the debt service special assessments on the Series 2021 Assessment Area (the 
“Series 2021 Assessments”) imposed by Resolution Nos. 2006-12, 2006-13, 2006-18, 2015-08, 
2015-09, 2016-02, 2021-07, 2021-08, 2021-12, 2021-13 and 2022-__ (collectively, the 
“Assessment Resolutions”), duly adopted by the Board, and all proceedings undertaken by the 
District as of the date hereof with respect to the Series 2021 Assessments have been in 
accordance with applicable Florida law, that the District has taken all actions necessary to levy 
and impose the Series 2021 Assessments, and the Series 2021 Assessments are legal, valid and 
binding first liens upon the Series 2021 Assessment Area co-equal with the lien of all state, 
county, district and municipal taxes, superior in dignity to all other liens, titles and claims, until 
paid. 



 

Declaration of Consent – Series 2021 
 2 

 

3. The Landowner, for itself and its successors and assigns, hereby waives the right 
granted in Chapter 170.09, Florida Statutes, to prepay the Series 2021 Assessments without 
interest within thirty (30) days after the improvements are completed, in consideration of the 
rights granted by the District to prepay the Series 2021 Assessments in full or in part, but with 
interest, under the circumstances set forth in the Assessment Resolutions of the District levying 
the Series 2021 Assessments. 

4. The Landowner hereby expressly acknowledges, represents and agrees that (i) the 
Series 2021 Assessments, the Assessment Resolutions, and the terms of the (a) Agreement by 
and between the District and Landowner Regarding the Acquisition of Work Product, 
Improvements and Real Property; (b) Agreement between the District and Landowner Regarding 
the Completion of Certain Improvements, (c) Agreement between the District and Landowner 
Regarding True Up and Payment of Series 2021 Assessments; and (d) Collateral Assignment and 
Assumption of Development Rights, all effective as of ___________ __, 2021  (documents (a) 
through (d) collectively referred to herein as the “Financing Documents”) as they relate to the 
District’s issuance of the Rolling Hills Community Development District Capital Improvement 
Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021 (the “Series 2021 Bonds”), or securing payment 
thereof, are valid and binding obligations enforceable under the laws of the State of Florida in 
accordance with their respective terms; (ii) there are no claims or offsets whatsoever against, or 
defenses or counterclaims whatsoever to, payments of the Series 2021 Assessments or claims of 
invalidity, deficiency or unenforceability of the Series 2021 Assessments and Financing 
Documents (and the Landowner hereby expressly waives any such claims, offsets, defenses or 
counterclaims) (iii) to the extent Landowner fails to timely pay any Series 2021 Assessments 
collected by mailed notice of the District, such unpaid Series 2021 Assessments and future Series 
2021 Assessments may be placed on the tax roll by the District for collection by the Tax 
Collector pursuant to Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes, in any subsequent year. 

5. The Landowner hereby expressly waives (i) any argument, claim or defense that 
foreclosure proceedings cannot be commenced until one (1) year after the date of the 
Landowner’s default and agrees that, immediate use of remedies in Chapter 170, Florida 
Statutes, is an appropriate and available remedy, notwithstanding the provisions of Section 
190.026, Florida Statutes, and (ii) any and all rights to challenge the validity of any argument, 
claim or defense resulting from any defect or omission of any and all District notices, meetings, 
workshops, public hearings and other proceedings in relation to the Series 2021 Assessments or 
the Series 2021 Bonds that were conducted on or prior to the date hereof whether pursuant to 
Florida law, including any extensions thereof. 

6. This Declaration shall represent a lien of record for purposes of Chapter 197, 
Florida Statutes, including, without limitation, Section 197.573, Florida Statutes. Other 
information regarding the Series 2021 Assessments is available from the District Manager, c/o 
Governmental Management Services, LLC (GMS), 475 West Town Place, Suite 114, St. 
Augustine, Florida 32092. 

THE DECLARATIONS, ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS AND AGREEMENTS 
CONTAINED HEREIN SHALL BE BINDING ON THE LANDOWNER AND ON ALL 
PERSONS (INCLUDING CORPORATIONS, ASSOCIATIONS, TRUSTS AND OTHER 
LEGAL ENTITIES) TAKING TITLE TO ALL OR ANY PART OF THE SERIES 2021 



 

Declaration of Consent – Series 2021 
 3 

 

ASSESSMENT AREA, AND THEIR SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST, WHETHER OR NOT 
THE SERIES 2021 ASSESSMENT AREA IS PLATTED AT SUCH TIME.  BY TAKING 
SUCH TITLE, SUCH PERSONS SHALL BE DEEMED TO HAVE CONSENTED AND 
AGREED TO THE PROVISIONS OF THIS DECLARATION TO THE SAME EXTENT AS IF 
THEY HAD EXECUTED IT AND BY TAKING SUCH TITLE, SUCH PERSONS SHALL BE 
ESTOPPED FROM CONTESTING, IN COURT OR OTHERWISE, THE VALIDITY, 
LEGALITY AND ENFORCEABILITY OF THIS DECLARATION. 

 EFFECTIVE THIS ____ day of ___________ 2021.  

 

[Signatures on the following page] 



 

Declaration of Consent – Series 2021 
 4 

 

 
WITNESSES: 

 

 

      
Witness Signature     
Printed name:___________________ 
 
 
      
Witness Signature  
Printed name:___________________ 

GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES SOUTHEAST, 
LLC 
 
 
 
 

 _______________________________________ 
 By: William B. Adams, Sr. 

Its: Manager 
 

 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _________________ 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence 
or ▢ online notarization, this ___ day of _____________, 2021, by William B. Adams, Sr. as 
Manager of Garden Street Communities Southeast, LLC, on behalf of company.   
 
 
                           __________________________________________ 
                            Notary Public, State of Florida 
  
                           Personally Known                          
                       [notary seal]   OR Produced Identification                      

Type of Identification      



 

Declaration of Consent – Series 2021 
 5 

 

 
EXHIBIT A – SERIES 2021 ASSESSMENT AREA 

 

 
 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

4. 



 

Acquisition Agreement (Series 2021) 1 
 

AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AND GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES SOUTHEAST, 

LLC, REGARDING THE ACQUISITIN OF WORK PRODUCT, IMPROVEMENTS 
AND REAL PROPERTY 

 
 THIS ACQUISITION AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this ___ day 
of _________ 2021, by and between: 
 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special-
purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, and 
located in Clay County, Florida whose mailing address is 475 West Town Place, 
Suite 114, St. Augustine, Florida 32092 (“District”); and 
 
GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES SOUTHEAST, LLC, a Florida limited liability 
company, whose mailing address is 3000 Gulf Breeze Parkway, Gulf Breeze, 
Florida 32563 (“Developer”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, the District was established by ordinance adopted by the Board of County 
Commissioners of Clay County, Florida, pursuant to the Uniform Community Development 
District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended (“Act”), and is validly existing 
under the Constitution and laws of the State of Florida; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Act authorizes the District to issue bonds for the purpose, among others, 
of planning, financing, constructing, operating and/or maintaining certain infrastructure within or 
without the boundaries of the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer is currently the primary landowner and developer of lands 
within the boundaries of the District known as “Phase 3B and 3C”  planned for 247 residential 
lots and related improvements, in Clay County, Florida (“County”), located within the 
boundaries of the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District presently intends to finance the planning, design, acquisition, 
construction, and installation of certain infrastructure improvements, facilities, and services 
located within Phase 3B and 3C as authorized by Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, and further 
described in the Fourth Supplemental Engineer’s Report, dated June 3, 2021, attached hereto as 
Exhibit A (“Project”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District intends to finance a portion of the Project through the use of 
proceeds from the anticipated sale of its Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds (“Future 
Bonds”); and  
 

WHEREAS, the District has not had sufficient monies on hand to allow the District to 
contract directly for: (i) the preparation of the surveys, testing, reports, drawings, plans, permits, 
specifications, and related documents necessary to complete the Project (“Work Product”); or 



 

Acquisition Agreement (Series 2021) 2 
 

(ii) construction and/or installation of the improvements comprising the Project 
(“Improvements”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the District acknowledges the Developer’s need to commence development of 
the lands within the District in an expeditious and timely manner; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to avoid a delay in the commencement of the development of the 
Work Product and/or the Improvements, the Developer has advanced, funded, commenced, and 
completed and/or will complete certain of the Work Product and/or Improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Developer and the District are entering into this Agreement to set forth 
the process by which the District may acquire the Work Product, the Improvements, and any 
related real property interests (“Real Property”) and in order to ensure the timely provision of 
the infrastructure and development. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, based upon good and valuable consideration and the mutual 
covenants of the parties, the receipt of which and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
the District and the Developer agree as follows: 
 

1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals stated above are true and correct 
and by this reference are incorporated as a material part of this Agreement. 

 
2. WORK PRODUCT AND IMPROVEMENTS.  The parties agree to cooperate and use 

good faith and best efforts to undertake and complete the acquisition process contemplated by 
this Agreement on such date or dates as the parties may jointly agree upon (“Acquisition Date”).  
Subject to any applicable legal requirements (e.g., but not limited to, those laws governing the 
use of proceeds from tax exempt bonds), and the requirements of this Agreement, the District 
agrees to acquire completed Work Product and Improvements that are part of the Project.   

 
a. Request for Conveyance and Supporting Documentation – When Work 

Product and/or Improvements are ready for conveyance by the Developer to 
the District, the Developer shall notify the District in writing, describing the 
nature of the Work Product and/or Improvements and estimated cost.  
Additionally, Developer agrees to provide, at or prior to the Acquisition Date, 
the following: (i) documentation of actual costs paid, (ii) instruments of 
conveyance such as bills of sale or such other instruments as may be requested 
by the District, and (iii) any other releases, warranties, indemnifications or 
documentation as may be reasonably requested by the District.   

 
b. Costs – Subject to any applicable legal requirements (e.g., but not limited to, 

those laws governing the use of proceeds from tax exempt bonds), the 
availability of proceeds from the Future Bonds, and the requirements of this 
Agreement, the District shall pay the lesser of (i) the actual cost 
creation/construction of the Work Product and/or Improvements, and (ii) the 
fair market value of the Work Product and/or Improvements.  The Developer 
shall provide copies of any and all invoices, bills, receipts, or other evidence 



 

Acquisition Agreement (Series 2021) 3 
 

of costs incurred by the Developer for any Work Product and/or 
Improvements.  The District Engineer shall review all evidence of cost and 
shall certify to the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”) whether the cost 
being paid is the lesser of (i) the actual cost of creation/construction of the 
Work Product and/or Improvements, and (ii) the fair market value of the 
Work Product and/or Improvements.  The District Engineer’s opinion as to 
cost shall be set forth in an Engineer’s Certificate which shall accompany the 
requisition for the funds from the District’s Trustee for the Future Bonds 
(“Trustee”).   

 
c. Conveyances on “As Is” Basis.  Unless otherwise agreed, all conveyances of 

Work Product and/or Improvements shall be on an “as is” basis.  That said, 
the Developer agrees to assign, transfer and convey to the District any and all 
rights against any and all firms or entities which may have caused any latent 
or patent defects, including, but not limited to, any and all warranties and 
other forms of indemnification. 
 

d. Right to Rely on Work Product and Releases – The Developer agrees to 
release to the District all right, title, and interest which the Developer may 
have in and to any Work Product conveyed hereunder, as well as all common 
law, statutory, and other reserved rights, including all copyrights in the Work 
Product and extensions and renewals thereof under United States law and 
throughout the world, and all publication rights and all subsidiary rights and 
other rights in and to the Work Product in all forms, mediums, and media, 
now known or hereinafter devised.  To the extent determined necessary by the 
District, the Developer shall reasonably obtain all releases from any 
professional providing services in connection with the Work Product to enable 
the District to use and rely upon the Work Product.  The District agrees to 
allow the Developer access to and use of the Work Product without the 
payment of any fee by the Developer.  However, to the extent the Developer’s 
access to and use of the Work Product causes the District to incur any cost or 
expense, such as copying costs, the Developer agrees to pay such cost or 
expense. 
 

e. Transfers to Third Party Governments; Payment for Transferred Property – 
If any item acquired is to be conveyed to a third party governmental body, 
then the Developer agrees to cooperate and provide such certifications, 
documents, bonds, warranties, and/or forms of security as may be required by 
that governmental body, if any.  Further, the District and the Developer agree 
that it can be difficult to timely effect the turnover of infrastructure from the 
Developer to the District and then to a third party governmental entity, and, 
accordingly, the District and the Developer recognize and agree that the 
parties shall make reasonable efforts to transfer such Work Product and/or 
Improvements to the District pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, 
however, subject to the terms of this Agreement, the District has the 
obligation to acquire all such Work Product and/or Improvements that is 



 

Acquisition Agreement (Series 2021) 4 
 

intended to be turned over to a third party governmental entity, and, in the 
event that the Developer transfers any such Work Product and/or 
Improvements to a third party governmental entity prior to the District’s 
acquisition of the Work Product and/or Improvements, the District shall be 
obligated to pay for such Work Product and/or Improvements, subject to the 
terms of this Agreement, and subject to ensuring that such acquisition and 
payment would not affect the tax-exempt status of the District’s bonds.  

 
f. Permits – The Developer agrees to cooperate fully in the transfer of any 

permits to the District or a governmental entity with maintenance obligations 
for any Improvements conveyed pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
g. Engineer’s Certification – The District shall accept any completed Work 

Product and/or Improvements where the District Engineer (or other consulting 
engineer reasonably acceptable to the District), in his/her professional 
opinion, is able to certify that, in addition to any other requirements of law:  
(i) the Work Product and/or Improvements are part of the Project; (ii) the 
price for such Work Product and/or Improvements did not exceed the lesser of 
the cost of the Work Product and/or Improvements or the fair market value of 
the Work Product and/or Improvements; (iii) as to Work Product, the Work 
Product is capable of being used for the purposes intended by the District, 
and, as to any Improvements, the Improvements were installed in accordance 
with their specifications, and are capable of performing the functions for 
which they were intended; and (iv) as to any Improvements, all known plans, 
permits and specifications necessary for the operation and maintenance of the 
Improvements are complete and on file with the District, and have been 
transferred, or are capable of being transferred, to the District for operations 
and maintenance responsibilities. 

 
3. CONVEYANCE OF REAL PROPERTY.  The Developer agrees that it will convey to 

the District at or prior to the Acquisition Date as determined solely by the District, by a special 
warranty deed or other instrument acceptable to the Board together with a metes and bounds or 
other description, the Real Property upon which any Improvements are constructed or which are 
necessary for the operation and maintenance of, and access to, the Improvements.  

 
a. Cost.  The parties agree that all Real Property shall be provided to the District 

at no cost.  The parties agree that the purchase price shall not include amounts 
attributable to the value of improvements on the Real Property and other 
improvements serving the Real Property that have been, or will be, funded by 
the District.   
 

b. Fee Title and Other Interests – The District may determine in its reasonable 
discretion that fee title for Real Property is not necessary and in such cases 
shall accept such other interest in the lands upon which the Improvements are 
constructed as the District deems acceptable.    

 



 

Acquisition Agreement (Series 2021) 5 
 

c. Developer Reservation – Any conveyance of Real Property hereunder by 
special warranty deed or other instrument shall be subject to a reservation by 
Developer of its right and privilege to use the area conveyed to construct any 
Improvements and any future improvements to such area for any related 
purposes (including, but not limited to, construction traffic relating to the 
construction of the Development) not inconsistent with the District’s use, 
occupation or enjoyment thereof.   

 
d. Fees, Taxes, Title Insurance – The Developer shall pay the cost for recording 

fees and documentary stamps required, if any, for the conveyance of the lands 
upon which the Improvements are constructed.  The Developer shall be 
responsible for all taxes and assessments levied on the lands upon which the 
Improvements are constructed until such time as the Developer conveys all 
said lands to the District.  At the time of conveyance, the Developer shall 
provide, at its expense, an owner’s title insurance policy or other evidence of 
title in a form satisfactory to the District.  

 
e. Boundary Adjustments – Developer and the District agree that reasonable 

future boundary adjustments may be made as deemed necessary by both 
parties in order to accurately describe lands conveyed to the District and lands 
which remain in Developer’s ownership.  The parties agree that any land 
transfers made to accommodate such adjustments shall be accomplished by 
donation.  However, the party requesting such adjustment shall pay any 
transaction costs resulting from the adjustment, including but not limited to 
taxes, title insurance, recording fees or other costs.  Developer agrees that if a 
court or other governmental entity determines that a re-platting of the lands 
within the District is necessary, Developer shall pay all costs and expenses 
associated with such actions.  

 
4. TAXES, ASSESSMENTS, AND COSTS. 
 

a. Taxes and Assessments on Property Being Acquired.  The District is an 
exempt governmental unit acquiring property pursuant to this Agreement for 
use exclusively for public purposes.  Accordingly, in accordance with Florida 
law, the Developer agrees to place in escrow with the County tax collector an 
amount equal to the current ad valorem taxes and non-ad valorem assessments 
(with the exception of those ad valorem taxes and non-ad valorem 
assessments levied by the District) prorated to the date of transfer of title, 
based upon the expected assessment and millage rates giving effect to the 
greatest discount available for early payment. 
 

i. If and only to the extent the property acquired by the District is subject 
to ad valorem taxes or non-ad valorem assessments, the Developer 
agrees to reimburse the District for payment, or pay on its behalf, any 
and all ad valorem taxes and non-ad valorem assessments imposed 
during the calendar year in which each parcel of property is conveyed.  



 

Acquisition Agreement (Series 2021) 6 
 

  
ii. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the District from asserting any 

rights to challenge any taxes or assessments imposed, if any, on any 
property of the District. 
 

b. Notice.  The parties agree to provide notice to the other within thirty (30) 
calendar days of receipt of any notice of potential or actual taxes, assessments, 
or costs, as a result of any transaction pursuant to this Agreement, or notice of 
any other taxes, assessments, or costs imposed on the property acquired by the 
District as described in subsection a. above.  The Developer covenants to 
make any payments due hereunder in a timely manner in accord with Florida 
law.  In the event that the Developer fails to make timely payment of any such 
taxes, assessments, or costs, the Developer acknowledges the District’s right 
to make such payment.  If the District makes such payment, the Developer 
agrees to reimburse the District within thirty (30) calendar days of receiving 
notice of such payment, and to include in such reimbursement any fees, costs, 
penalties, or other expenses which accrued to the District as a result of making 
such a payment, including interest at the maximum rate allowed by law from 
the date of the payment made by the District. 
 

c. Tax liability not created.  Nothing herein is intended to create or shall create 
any new or additional tax liability on behalf of the Developer or the District.  
Furthermore, the parties reserve all respective rights to challenge, pay under 
protest, contest or litigate the imposition of any tax, assessment, or cost in 
good faith they believe is unlawfully or inequitably imposed and agree to 
cooperate in good faith in the challenge of any such imposition. 

 
5. ACQUISITIONS AND BOND PROCEEDS.  The District shall in good faith pursue the 

issuance of the Future Bonds to finance a portion of the Project and may in the future, and in its 
sole discretion, elect to issue additional bonds.  In the event that the District issues the Future 
Bonds and has bond proceeds available to pay for any portion of the Project acquired by the 
District, and subject to the terms of the applicable documents relating to the Future Bonds, then 
the District shall promptly make payment for any such acquired Work Product, Improvements or 
Real Property pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; provided, however, that in the event the 
District’s bond counsel determines that any such acquisitions are not properly compensable for 
any reason, including, but not limited to federal tax restrictions imposed on tax-exempt 
financing, the District shall not be obligated to make payment for such acquisitions.  Interest 
shall not accrue on any amounts owed for any prior acquisitions.  In the event the District does 
not or cannot issue sufficient bonds within five (5) years from the date of this Agreement to pay 
for all acquisitions hereunder, and, thus does not make payment to the Developer for any 
unfunded acquisitions, then the parties agree that the District shall have no payment or 
reimbursement obligation whatsoever for those unfunded acquisitions.  The Developer 
acknowledges that the District may convey some or all of the Work Product and/or 
Improvements in the District’s adopted capital improvement plan to a general purpose unit of 
local government (e.g., the County) and consents to the District’s conveyance of such Work 
Product and/or Improvements prior to any payment being made by the District.   



 

Acquisition Agreement (Series 2021) 7 
 

 
6. CONTRIBUTION OF INFRASTRUCTURE.  In connection with the issuance of the 

Future Bonds, the District will levy debt service special assessments to secure the repayment of 
the Future Bonds.  If the Developer requests that such debt service special assessments be 
reduced for certain product types, the Developer agrees to provide a contribution of 
infrastructure comprising a portion of the Project and in the amounts set forth in the Assessment 
Report to accomplish any such requested reduction.   Such contribution shall not be eligible for 
payment hereunder. 

 
7. DEFAULT.  A default by either party under this Agreement shall entitle the other 

to all remedies available at law or in equity, which may include, but not be limited to, the right of 
damages and/or specific performance.   

 
8. ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS.  In the event that either party is required to 

enforce this Agreement by court proceedings or otherwise, then the parties agree that the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the other all fees and costs incurred, including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs for trial, alternative dispute resolution, or appellate 
proceedings. 

 
9. AMENDMENTS.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in this 

Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by both the District 
and the Developer.   
 

10. AUTHORIZATION.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly authorized by 
the appropriate body or official of the District and the Developer; both the District and the 
Developer have complied with all the requirements of law; and both the District and the 
Developer have full power and authority to comply with the terms and provisions of this 
instrument. 

 
11. NOTICES.  All notices, requests, consents and other communications under this 

Agreement (“Notices”) shall be in writing and shall be delivered, mailed by First Class Mail, 
postage prepaid, or overnight delivery service, to the parties, at the addresses first set forth above 
to the attention of: Lucas R. Henderson.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any 
Notice shall be deemed received only upon actual delivery at the address set forth above.  
Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the place of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be 
deemed received on the next business day.  If any time for giving Notice contained in this 
Agreement would otherwise expire on a non-business day, the Notice period shall be extended to 
the next succeeding business day.  Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays recognized by the 
United States government shall not be regarded as business days.  Counsel for the District and 
counsel for the Developer may deliver Notice on behalf of the District and the Developer, 
respectively.  Any party or other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may notify the 
other parties and addressees of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent by 
providing the same on five (5) days written notice to the parties and addressees set forth herein. 
 

12. ARM’S LENGTH TRANSACTION.  This Agreement has been negotiated fully 
between the District and the Developer as an arm’s length transaction.  Both parties participated 



 

Acquisition Agreement (Series 2021) 8 
 

fully in the preparation of this Agreement and received the advice of counsel.  In the case of a 
dispute concerning the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, both parties are deemed 
to have drafted, chosen, and selected the language, and the doubtful language will not be 
interpreted or construed against either the District or the Developer. 

 
13. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the 

District and the Developer and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason, to or 
for the benefit of any third party not a formal party to this Agreement.  Nothing in this 
Agreement expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person or 
corporation other than the District and the Developer any right, remedy, or claim under or by 
reason of this Agreement or any of the provisions or conditions of this Agreement; and all of the 
provisions, representations, covenants, and conditions contained in this Agreement shall inure to 
the sole benefit of and shall be binding upon the District and the Developer and their respective 
representatives, successors, and assigns.   
 

14. ASSIGNMENT.  Neither the District nor the Developer may assign this Agreement 
or any monies to become due hereunder without the prior written approval of the other and the 
Trustee and bondholders owning a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the Future 
Bonds outstanding, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Such consent shall not be 
required in the event of a sale of the majority of the lands within the District then owned by the 
Developer pursuant to which the unaffiliated purchaser agrees to assume any remaining 
obligations of the Developer under this Agreement, provided however that no such assignment 
shall be valid where the assignment is being made for the purpose of avoiding the Developer’s 
obligations hereunder. 

 
15. APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE.  This Agreement and the provisions contained 

herein shall be construed, interpreted and controlled according to the laws of the State of Florida.  
Each party consents that the exclusive venue for any litigation arising out of or related to this 
Agreement shall be in Clay County, Florida. 

 
16. PUBLIC RECORDS.  The Developer understands and agrees that all documents of 

any kind provided to the District in connection with this Agreement may be public records and 
treated as such in accordance with Florida law. 

 
17. SEVERABILITY.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more provisions 

of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining portions of this 
Agreement, or any part of this Agreement not held to be invalid or unenforceable. 

 
18. LIMITATIONS ON GOVERNMENTAL LIABILITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall 

be deemed as a waiver of immunity or limits of liability of the District beyond any statutory 
limited waiver of immunity or limits of liability which may have been adopted by the Florida 
Legislature in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, or other law, and nothing in this Agreement shall 
inure to the benefit of any third party for the purpose of allowing any claim which would 
otherwise be barred by sovereign immunity or by other operation of law. 

 



 

Acquisition Agreement (Series 2021) 9 
 

19. HEADINGS FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.  The descriptive headings in this 
Agreement are for convenience only and shall not control nor affect the meaning or construction 
of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 

 
20. COUNTERPARTS.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original; however, all such 
counterparts together shall constitute, but one and the same instrument.  Signature and 
acknowledgment pages, if any, may be detached from the counterparts and attached to a single 
copy of this document to physically form one document. 

 
21. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Agreement shall be effective _________ __, 2021. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[Remainder of this page intentionally left blank] 
 



 

Acquisition Agreement (Series 2021) 10 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties execute this Agreement on the date and year first 
written above. 
 
Attest:       ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 
       DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
____________________________          
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    By: Shannon Jordan 
       Its: Chairperson 
 

 
 
GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES 
SOUTHEAST, LLC 
 

 
___________________________          
Witness      By: William B. Adams, Sr. 
       Its: Manager 
 
 
 
Exhibit A Fourth Supplemental Engineer’s Report, dated June 3, 2021 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

5. 



 

Completion Agreement (Series 2021) 1 
 
 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AND GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES 
SOUTHEAST, LLC, REGARDING THE COMPLETION OF CERTAIN 

IMPROVEMENTS 
 

 THIS COMPLETION AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into on this ___ 
day of ___________ 2021, by and between: 
 

ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special-
purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, and 
located in Clay County, Florida whose mailing address is 475 West Town Place, 
Suite 114, St. Augustine, Florida 32092 (“District”); and 
 
GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES SOUTHEAST, LLC, a Florida limited liability 
company, whose mailing address is 3000 Gulf Breeze Parkway, Gulf Breeze, 
Florida 32563 (“Developer”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
WHEREAS, the District was established by ordinance of the Board of County 

Commissioners in and for Clay County, Florida, pursuant to the Uniform Community 
Development District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended (“Act”), and is 
validly existing under the constitution and laws of the State of Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Act authorizes the District to issue bonds for the purpose, among others, 
of planning, financing, constructing, installing, operating, and/or maintaining certain 
infrastructure within or without the boundaries of the District; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Developer is currently the primary landowner and developer of lands 
within the boundaries of the District known as Phase 3B and 3C  planned for 247 residential lots 
(“Series 2021 Assessment Area”) and related improvements, which lands are further described 
in the attached Exhibit A; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District previously adopted an improvement plan to finance the planning, 

design, acquisition, construction, and installation of certain infrastructure improvements, 
facilities, and services (“Improvements”) within the District, as described in that certain Rolling 
Hills Community Development District Improvement Plan dated August 15, 2006 (“Capital  
Improvement Plan”), as amended, incorporated herein by this reference; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District previously financed a portion of the Capital Improvement Plan 

(“Series 2006 Project”) through the issuance of its Series 2006A and Series 2006B Capital 
Improvement Revenue Bonds (together, “Series 2006 Bonds”), which were secured by 
previously imposed special assessments on the lands specially benefitted by the Series 2006 
Project (“Series 2006 Assessments”); and 

 



 

Completion Agreement (Series 2021) 2 
 
 

WHEREAS, the District previously adopted Resolution 2009-04, declaring the Series 2006 
Project complete and modifying the Capital Improvement Plan (“Revised Capital 
Improvement Plan”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the District previously issued its Series 2015A-1, Series 2015A-2 (Senior 

Lien), Series2015B (Subordinate Lien) and Series 2015A-3 (“Series 2015A-3 Bonds”) 
Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds, in exchange for and to refund a portion of the Series 
2006 Bonds and reallocated a portion of the Series 2006 Assessments; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District previously issued its Series 2020A-1 Capital Improvement 

Revenue Bonds (“Series 2020A-1 Bonds”) and Series 2020A-2 Capital Improvement Revenue 
and Refunding Bonds (“Series 2020A-2 Bonds” and together with the Series 2020A-1 Bonds, 
the “Series 2020 Bonds”), to finance a portion of the Revised Capital Improvement Plan known 
as Phase 3A (“Series 2020 Project”) and to refund a portion of the Series 2015A-3 Bonds; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District has determined that under existing market conditions, it would be 

in the best interests of the District to refinance the outstanding Series 2015A-3 Bonds (the 
"Refunded Bonds"), which is currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 
[$_______________], and to finance a portion of the Revised Capital Improvement Plan known 
as Phase 3B and 3C (“Series 2021 Project”) as more particularly described in that Fourth 
Supplemental Engineer’s Report, dated June 3, 2021 (“Supplemental Engineer’s Report”), 
adopted by the Board on August 10, 2021, and attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated 
herein by this reference; and 
  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution 2022-02 adopted by the Board on October 12, 2021 
(“2021 Delegation Resolution”), the District has determined to issue its Rolling Hills 
Community Development District Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1, in the 
aggregate principal amount of $_______________  (the “Series 2021A-1 Bonds”) to finance a 
portion of the costs of the Series 2021 Project and to issue its Rolling Hills Community 
Development District Capital Improvement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A-2, in 
the aggregate principal amount of $______________  (“Series 2021A-2 Bonds”, and together 
with Series 2021A-2 Bonds, the “Series 2021 Bonds”) to redeem the Refunded Bonds and 
further finance a portion of the costs of the Series 2021 Project; and  
 

WHEREAS, in order to ensure that the Series 2021 Project is completed and funded in a 
timely manner, the Developer and the District hereby agree that, in consideration for the District 
agreeing to use its proceeds from the issuance of Series 2021 Bonds, should the existing 
proceeds be insufficient to complete the Series 2021 Project, the Developer will make provision 
for any additional funds that may be needed for the completion of the Series 2021 Project 
including, but not limited to, all administrative, legal, warranty, engineering, permitting or other 
related soft costs. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, based upon good and valuable consideration and the mutual 
covenants of the parties, the receipt of which and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
the District and the Developer agree as follows: 



 

Completion Agreement (Series 2021) 3 
 
 

 
 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals stated above are true and correct 
and by this reference are incorporated by reference as a material part of this Agreement.  
 
 2. COMPLETION OF SERIES 2021 PROJECT.  The Developer and District agree that, 
as long as the District uses its net proceeds from the Series 2021 Bonds to construct the Series 
2021 Project, as may be amended from time to time, should the District be unable to complete 
the Series 2021 Project with its existing proceeds, the Developer agrees to complete, cause to be 
completed, provide funds or cause funds to be provided to the District in an amount sufficient to 
allow the District to complete or cause to be completed, those portions of the Series 2021 Project 
which remain unfunded including, but not limited to, all administrative, legal, warranty, 
engineering, permitting or other related soft costs (“Remaining Improvements”), whether 
pursuant to existing contracts, including change orders thereto, or future contracts.  The District 
and Developer hereby acknowledge and agree that this Agreement constitutes the manner and 
means by which the District has elected to provide any and all portions of the Remaining 
Improvements not funded by the District, whether by way of the Series 2021 Bonds or any 
Bonds issued in the future.  The Developer hereby acknowledges and agrees that the District is 
under no obligation to issue additional bonds in the future; provided, however, that Developer’s 
obligations under this Agreement are conditioned upon the District’s issuance of the Series 2021 
Bonds. 
 
  (a) When all or any portion of the Remaining Improvements are the subject of 

an existing District contract, the Developer shall provide funds or cause funds to be 
provided directly to the District in an amount sufficient to complete the Remaining 
Improvements pursuant to such contract, including change orders thereto. 

 
(b) When any portion of the Remaining Improvements is not the subject of an 

existing District contract, the Developer may choose to complete, cause to be completed, 
provide funds or cause funds to be provided to the District in an amount sufficient to 
allow the District to complete or cause to be completed, those Remaining Improvements, 
subject to a formal determination by the Board of Supervisors that the option selected by 
the Developer will not adversely impact the District, and is in the District’s best interests. 

 
(c) Should there be any disagreement between the District and the Developer 

regarding the extent of the Improvements making up the Series 2021 Project, the District 
and the Developer agree that the District Engineer shall make the final determination. 

 
(d) The District and Developer agree and acknowledge that any and all 

portions of the Remaining Improvements which are constructed, or caused to be 
constructed, by the Developer shall be conveyed to the District or such other appropriate 
unit of local government as is designated in the Supplemental Engineer’s Report or 
required by governmental regulation or development approval.  All conveyances to 
another governmental entity shall be in accordance with and in the same manner as 
provided in any agreement between the District and the appropriate unit of local 
government.  



 

Completion Agreement (Series 2021) 4 
 
 

 
(e) The District and the Developer agree and acknowledge that the exact 

location, size, configuration and composition of the Improvements may change from that 
described in the Supplemental Engineer’s Report, depending upon final design of the 
development, permitting or other regulatory requirements over time, or other factors.  
Material changes to the Improvements shall be made by a written amendment to the 
Supplemental Engineer’s Report, which shall include an estimate of the cost of the 
changes, and which material changes shall require Developer consent, which shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. Such consent is not necessary and the Developer must meet its 
completion obligations when the scope, configuration, size and/or composition of the 
Improvements are materially changed in response to a requirement imposed by a 
regulatory agency, provided, however, that the District agrees to give the Developer 
written notice of such material change and to reasonably cooperate with the Developer to 
minimize the impact thereof. Material changes must be approved by the Trustee acting at 
the direction of the Bondholders owning a majority of the aggregate principal amount of 
the Series 2021 Bonds then outstanding provided however, that changes required by a 
governmental agency may be made without prior consent. 

 
 3. DEFAULT AND PROTECTION AGAINST THIRD PARTY INTERFERENCE.  A default 
by either party under this Agreement shall entitle the other to all remedies available at law or in 
equity, which may include, but not be limited to, the right of actual damages and/or specific 
performance (but excluding punitive, special or consequential damages).  Except as expressly 
otherwise provided in this Agreement, the District shall be solely responsible for enforcing its 
rights under this Agreement against any interfering third party.  Except as expressly otherwise 
provided in this Agreement, nothing contained in this Agreement shall limit or impair the 
District’s right to protect its rights from interference by a third party to this Agreement.  
 
 4. ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT.  In the event that either party is required to 
enforce this Agreement by court proceedings or otherwise, then the parties agree that the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the other all fees and costs incurred, including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs for trial, alternative dispute resolution, or appellate 
proceedings. 
 
 5. AMENDMENTS.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in this 
Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by both the District 
and the Developer.   
 
 6. AUTHORIZATION.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly authorized by 
the appropriate body or official of the District and the Developer, both the District and the 
Developer have complied with all the requirements of law, and both the District and the 
Developer have full power and authority to comply with the terms and provisions of this 
instrument. 
 



 

Completion Agreement (Series 2021) 5 
 
 

 7. NOTICES.  All notices, requests, consents and other communications under this 
Agreement (“Notices”) shall be in writing and shall be delivered, mailed by First Class Mail, 
postage prepaid, or overnight delivery service, to the parties, as follows: 
 

 i. If to District:  Rolling Hills Community Development District 
      475 West Town Place, Suite 114 

St. Augustine, Florida 32092 
Attn: Jim Oliver, District Manager 

 
  With a copy to: Hopping Green & Sams, P.A. 

119 South Monroe Street, Suite 300 
     Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
     Attn: Katie S. Buchanan, District Counsel  
    
 ii. If to Developer: Garden Street Communities Southeast, LLC 

3000 Gulf Breeze Parkway 
Gulf Breeze, Florida 32563 
Attn: Lucas R. Henderson, General Counsel 

 
  And also a copy to: Hopping Green & Sams, P.A. 

119 South Monroe Street, Suite 300 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301   
Attn: Jason E. Merritt, Developer Counsel 

  
Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any Notice shall be deemed received 

only upon actual delivery at the address set forth above.  Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the 
place of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next business day.  
If any time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire on a non-
business day, the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day.  
Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be 
regarded as business days.  Counsel for the District and counsel for the Developer may deliver 
Notice on behalf of the District and the Developer.  Any party or other person to whom Notices 
are to be sent or copied may notify the other parties and addressees of any change in name or 
address to which Notices shall be sent by providing the same on five (5) days written notice to 
the parties and addressees set forth herein. 
 
 8. ARM’S LENGTH TRANSACTION.  This Agreement has been negotiated fully 
between the District and the Developer as an arm’s length transaction.  Both parties participated 
fully in the preparation of this Agreement and received the advice of counsel.  In the case of a 
dispute concerning the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, both parties are deemed 
to have drafted, chosen, and selected the language, and the doubtful language will not be 
interpreted or construed against either the District or the Developer. 
 
 9. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the 
District and the Developer and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason, to or 



 

Completion Agreement (Series 2021) 6 
 
 

for the benefit of any third party not a formal party to this Agreement.  Nothing in this 
Agreement expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person or 
corporation other than the District and the Developer any right, remedy, or claim under or by 
reason of this Agreement or any of the provisions or conditions of this Agreement; and all of the 
provisions, representations, covenants, and conditions contained in this Agreement shall inure to 
the sole benefit of and shall be binding upon the District and the Developer and their respective 
representatives, successors, and assigns.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee for the 
Series 2021 Bonds, on behalf of the Bondholders, shall be a direct third party beneficiary of the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement and shall be entitled to cause the District to enforce the 
Developer’s obligations hereunder.  The Trustee has not assumed any obligations hereunder. 
 
 10. ASSIGNMENT.  Neither the District nor the Developer may assign this Agreement 
or any monies to become due hereunder without the prior written approval of the other.   
 
 11. APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE.  This Agreement and the provisions contained 
herein shall be construed, interpreted and controlled according to the laws of the State of Florida.  
Each party consents that the exclusive venue for any litigation arising out of or related to this 
Agreement shall be in Clay County, Florida. 
 
 12. PUBLIC RECORDS.  The Developer understands and agrees that all documents of 
any kind provided to the District in connection with this Agreement may be public records and 
treated as such in accordance with Florida law. 
 
 13. SEVERABILITY.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more provisions 
of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining portions of this 
Agreement, or any part of this Agreement not held to be invalid or unenforceable. 
 
 14.  LIMITATIONS ON GOVERNMENTAL LIABILITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall 
be deemed as a waiver of immunity or limits of liability of the District beyond any statutory 
limited waiver of immunity or limits of liability which may have been adopted by the Florida 
Legislature in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, or other statute, and nothing in this Agreement 
shall inure to the benefit of any third party for the purpose of allowing any claim which would 
otherwise be barred under the Doctrine of Sovereign Immunity or by operation of law. 
 

 15. HEADINGS FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.  The descriptive headings in this Agreement 
are for convenience only and shall not control nor affect the meaning or construction of any of the 
provisions of this Agreement. 
 
 16. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 
each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original; however, all such counterparts 
together shall constitute, but one and the same instrument.  Signature and acknowledgment pages, 
if any, may be detached from the counterparts and attached to a single copy of this document to 
physically form one document. 
 

17.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Agreement shall be effective ____________ __, 2021. 



 

 
Completion Agreement (Series 2021) 7 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties execute this Agreement on the date and year first 
written above. 
 
Attest:       ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY 
       DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
____________________________          
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    By: Shannon Jordan 
       Its: Chairperson 
 

 
 
GARDEN STREET COMMUNITIES 
SOUTHEAST, LLC 
 

 
___________________________          
Witness      By: William B. Adams, Sr. 
       Its: Manager 

 
 
Exhibit A:   Legal Description of Series 2021 Assessment Area 
Exhibit B: Fourth Supplemental Engineer’s Report, dated June 3, 2021 
 



 

 
Completion Agreement (Series 2021) 8 
 

Exhibit A:  
Legal Description of Series 2021 Assessment Area 

 

 



 

 
Completion Agreement (Series 2021) 9 
 

Exhibit B: 
Fourth Supplemental Engineer’s Report, dated June 3, 2021 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  









 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

D. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

1. 



Rolling Hills Community Development District 
3212 Bradley Creek Parkway · Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 

	
 

Memorandum 
 
Date:             Oct 12th, 2021  
 
To:  Rich Whetsel, Operations Director 
 
From:  Freddie Oca, Facility Manager  
                        Brian Stephens, Operations Manager 
 
Re:  Rolling Hills CDD - Monthly Operations Report: August-September 
 
General 
 
● www.RollingHillsCDD.com website is up and running; documents such as annual audits, 

meeting minutes and annual budgets will be updated as they become available.	
● The	food	truck	Brochachos	was	here	on	August	24th.	
● The food Truck Jag Boilers was here on September 24th.	
● A	Rolling	Hills	Community	Yard	Sale	is	scheduled	for	Oct	2nd.	 	
● National Night out is scheduled for October 5th.	
● The food truck Nacho Bizness is scheduled for Oct 5th.	
● The food truck Brochachos is scheduled for Oct 19th.	
● A Halloween Event is scheduled for Oct 29th.	
● The food Truck Southern Country Kitchen is scheduled for Oct 29th.	
● Six (6) sets of access cards were issued.	
● An off-duty Police Officer is continuing to patrol Rolling Hills twice a week.	
 
 
 
Maintenance: 
       
● Orange	Environmental	Services	sprayed	around	the	amenity	for	wasp	nest.	
● Mechanical	Solutions	conducted	their	quarterly	inspection	on	the	AC	units	and	made	

the	needed	repairs.	
● Southeast	Fitness	performed	the	preventative	maintenance	and	made	repairs	of	the	

fitness	equipment.	
● Black	Creek	Electric	has	repaired	GFI’s	at	the	amphitheater.	
● Two	(2)	larger	boulders	have	been	re-installed	by	Tree	Amigos	at	the	entry	way	of	

Bradley	Creek.	
	
	
	 	
	

	



	
	 	
	

	
	Riverside	Management	Services	has	completed	the	following:		
	
	 	
● The	upstairs	of	the	amenity	center	has	been	repainted.	
● New	toilet	paper	dispensers	are	being	installed	throughout	the	amenity	center.	
● Multiple	areas	on	the	pool	deck	have	been	pressure	washed	as	needed.	
● We	are	continuing	to	pressure	wash	the	sidewalks	around	the	amenity	center	as	

needed.	
● New	street	signs	have	been	installed	throughout	the	community.	
● New	stop	signs	have	been	installed.	
● The	damaged	No	Parking	signs	have	been	replaced	along	Bradly	Creek	Pkwy.	
● All	of	the	posts	for	the	No	Parking	signs	have	been	repainted.	
● Holes	have	been	patched	and	repaired	at	the	pavilion.	
● The	damaged	boards	have	been	replaced	and	or	repaired	on	the	bridge.	
● The	damaged	tiles	on	the	stairwell	have	been	repaired.	
● Lights	have	been	replaced	throughout	the	amenity	center.	
● The	smoking	dispensers	have	been	replaced.	
● The	park	locations	are	being	policed	weekly	for	debris.	
● All	District	Lakes	are	being	inspected	and	cleaned	bi-weekly.	
● The	lake	out	fall	structures	are	inspected	and	cleaned	on	a	monthly	basis	to	ensure	

proper	water	flow.	
● An	inspection	of	the	Amenity	Center	lighting	was	performed.	
● Trash	can	liners	are	being	changed	on	a	weekly	basis.	
	
	
	
	
		
	
Rentals	Aug-Sept				
													12				
															
 
Resident Requests/Comments: 
 

Should you have any questions or comments regarding the above information, please feel 
free to contact Freddie at (904) 338-5723 or Rich at (904) 759-8923. 

	
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2. 





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TWELFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

A. 



Page 1

Governmental Fund Types  
  Debt Capital Totals
 General Capital Reserve Service Projects (Memorandum Only)

ASSETS:   

CASH - Operating $49,274 --- --- --- $49,274
STATE BOARD - Operating $256,070 --- --- $256,070
STATE BOARD - Capital Reserve --- $62,614 --- $62,614
INVESTMENTS  
Series 2015 A-1

Reserve --- --- $89,917 --- $89,917
Revenue  --- --- $56,638 --- $56,638
Prepayment A1 --- --- $130 --- $130

Series 2015 A-2
Reserve --- --- $100,000 --- $100,000
Revenue  --- --- $43,854 --- $43,854
Prepayment --- --- $0 --- $0

Series 2015 A-3  
Reserve --- --- $4,572 --- $4,572
Revenue  --- --- $22,548 --- $22,548
Prepayment --- --- $7,642 --- $7,642

Series 2020 A-1
Reserve --- --- $165,981 --- $165,981
Revenue  --- --- $12,753 --- $12,753
Construction --- --- --- $1,242,066 $1,242,066

Series 2020 A-2
Reserve --- --- $87,400 --- $87,400

TOTAL ASSETS $305,344 $62,614 $591,435 $1,242,066 $2,201,458

LIABILITIES:

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE $19,849 $0 --- --- $19,849
   
FUND BALANCES:

     RESTRICTED FOR CAPITAL PROJECTS --- --- $0 $1,242,066 $1,242,066
     RESTRICTED FOR DEBT SERVICE --- --- $591,435 --- $591,435
     UNASSIGNED $285,494 $62,614 --- --- $348,109

TOTAL LIABILITIES & FUND BALANCES $305,344 $62,614 $591,435 $1,242,066 $2,201,458

Rolling Hills
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

COMBINED BALANCE SHEET
August 31, 2021



ADOPTED PRORATED  
BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL

DESCRIPTION FY 2021 THRU 08/31/21  THRU 08/31/21 VARIANCE

REVENUES:
 
Assessments - Platted Lots (Tax Roll) $348,975 $348,975 $349,729 $754
Assessments - Platted Lots (Direct) $269,409 $269,409 $269,409 $0
Swim & Tennis Revenue $800 $0 $0 $0
Interest/Misc Income $0 $0 $613 $613
Facility Rental Fees $3,500 $3,208 $1,950 ($1,258)
Non-Resident Memberships $1,980 $1,815 $0 ($1,815)

  
TOTAL REVENUES $624,664 $623,407 $621,700  ($1,707)

EXPENDITURES:

ADMINISTRATIVE:
Supervisor Fees $6,000 $5,500 $5,600 ($100)
FICA Taxes $459 $421 $428 ($8)
Engineering Fees $5,000 $4,583 $688 $3,896
Arbitrage $1,200 $1,200 $1,200 $0
Dissemination Agent $3,500 $3,208 $4,458 ($1,250)
Assessment Roll $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $0
Attorney Fees $22,500 $20,625 $12,424 $8,201
Annual Audit $3,800 $3,800 $3,800 $0
Trustee $8,081 $8,081 $8,081 $0
Management Fees $41,200 $37,767 $37,767 $0
Computer Time $1,000 $917 $917 $0
Website Compliance $2,500 $2,292 $2,292 $0
Telephone $150 $138 $405 ($268)
Postage $500 $458 $337 $121
Printing & Binding $1,250 $1,146 $2,061 ($915)
Travel & Per Diem $100 $92 $0 $92
Insurance $8,427 $8,427 $8,639 ($212)
Legal Advertising $1,000 $917 $1,372 ($455)
Other Current Charges $1,500 $1,375 $830 $545
Office Supplies $100 $92 $234 ($142)
Dues, Licenses & Subscriptions $175 $175 $175 $0

TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE $113,442 $106,212 $96,708 $9,504

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
Rolling Hills

For the Period Ended August 31, 2021

GENERAL FUND

Page 2

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance



ADOPTED PRORATED  
BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL

DESCRIPTION FY 2021 THRU 08/31/21  THRU 08/31/21 VARIANCE

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
Rolling Hills

For the Period Ended August 31, 2021

GENERAL FUND
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

EXPENDITURES: (continued)

FIELD:
Operations Management $21,525 $19,731 $19,731 $0
Utilities - Irrigation & Streetlights $35,000 $32,083 $18,116 $13,967
Repairs & Maintenance $40,000 $36,667 $24,509 $12,157
Landscape  $74,800 $68,567 $58,757  $9,809
Landscape - Contingency $6,800 $6,233 $478 $5,755
Mulch $13,500 $12,375 $1,070 $11,305
Lake Maintenance $4,800 $4,400 $4,620 ($220)
Irrigation Repairs $7,500 $6,875 $945 $5,930
Miscellaneous $1,264 $1,159 $596 $563

TOTAL FIELD $205,189 $188,090 $128,823  $59,267

SWIM & TENNIS:
Facility Management $56,210 $51,526 $51,526 ($0)
Pool Attendants $35,000 $32,083 $15,876 $16,208
Refuse Service $8,300 $7,608 $11,404  ($3,795)
Security $15,000 $13,750 $11,248 $2,503
Utilities $45,000 $41,250 $40,592 $658
Recreation Passes $1,000 $917 $0 $917
Repairs & Maintenance $40,000 $36,667 $39,828  ($3,162)
Janitorial $12,840 $11,770 $10,700 $1,070
Pool Maintenance $13,650 $12,513 $12,513 $0
Special Events $6,000 $5,500 $2,429  $3,071
Operating Supplies $6,000 $5,500 $4,804  $696
Pool Chemicals $9,000 $8,250 $10,466 ($2,216)
Permit $375 $375 $375 $0
Insurance $23,121 $23,121 $24,949 ($1,828)
Capital Outlay $0 $0 $1,091 ($1,091)

TOTAL SWIM & TENNIS $271,496 $250,829 $237,800  $13,029

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $590,127 $545,132 $463,331  $81,800

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures $34,537 $78,275 $158,369 $80,094

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES/(USES)
Interfund Transfer In/(Out) ($34,537) ($34,537) ($34,537) $0

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING 
SOURCES/(USES) ($34,537) ($34,537) ($34,537) $0

Net change in Fund Balance $0 $43,738 $123,832 $80,094

FUND BALANCE - Beginning $0 $161,662

FUND BALANCE - Ending $0 $285,494

Page 3



9
ADOPTED PRORATED 

BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL
DESCRIPTION FY 2021 THRU 08/31/21  THRU 08/31/21 VARIANCE

REVENUES:
 
Interest Income $0 $0 $68 $68

    
TOTAL REVENUES $0 $0 $68 $68

EXPENDITURES:

Capital Outlay $0 $0 $10,250 ($10,250)

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $0 $0 $10,250 ($10,250)

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures $0 $0 ($10,182) ($10,182)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES/(USES)
Interfund Transfer In $34,537 $34,537 $34,537 $0

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING 
SOURCES/(USES) $34,537 $34,537 $34,537 $0

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE $34,537 $34,537 $24,355  ($10,182)

FUND BALANCE - Beginning $0 $38,260

FUND BALANCE - Ending $34,537 $62,614

Page 4

Rolling Hills
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

CAPITAL RESERVE
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For the Period Ended August 31, 2021



9
ADOPTED PRORATED 

BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL
DESCRIPTION FY 2021 THRU 08/31/21  THRU 08/31/21 VARIANCE

REVENUES:
 
Assessments  $174,001 $174,001 $174,376 $375
Interest Income $0 $0 $9 $9

    
TOTAL REVENUES $174,001 $174,001 $174,385 $384

EXPENDITURES:

Interest Expense - 11/1 $51,394 $51,394 $51,394 $0
Interest Expense - 5/1 $51,394 $51,394 $51,394 $0
Principal Expense - 5/1 $70,000 $70,000 $70,000 $0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $172,788 $172,788 $172,788 $0

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures $1,214 $1,214 $1,598 $384

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE $1,214 $1,214 $1,598  $384

FUND BALANCE - Beginning $58,614 $145,087

FUND BALANCE - Ending $59,828 $146,685

Page 5

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
Rolling Hills

DEBT SERVICE FUND 2015 A-1
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For the Period Ended August 31, 2021



9
ADOPTED PRORATED 

BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL
DESCRIPTION FY 2021 THRU 08/31/21  THRU 08/31/21 VARIANCE

REVENUES:
 
Assessments $136,800 $136,800 $137,096  $296
Interest Income $0 $0 $8 $8

    
TOTAL REVENUES $136,800 $136,800 $137,104 $304

EXPENDITURES:

Series 2015 A-2
Interest Expense 11/1 $40,731 $40,731 $40,594 $138
Special Call - 11/1 $0 $0 $0 $0
Principal Expense 5/1 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $0
Interest Expense 5/1 $40,731 $40,731 $40,594 $138
Special Call - 5/1 $0 $0 $5,000 ($5,000)

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $131,463 $131,463 $136,188 ($4,725)

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures $5,338 $5,338 $916  ($4,421)

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE $5,338 $5,338 $916  ($4,421)

FUND BALANCE - Beginning $42,693 $142,937

FUND BALANCE - Ending $48,031 $143,854

Page 6

Rolling Hills
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
DEBT SERVICE FUND 2015 A-2, 2015B

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
For the Period Ended August 31, 2021



9
ADOPTED PRORATED 

BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL
DESCRIPTION FY 2021 THRU 08/31/21  THRU 08/31/21 VARIANCE

REVENUES:
 
Assessment - Tax Roll $41,481 $41,481 $41,570 $88
Assessment - Direct $302,118 $215,327 $215,327 $0
Prepayments $0 $0 $7,642 $7,642
Interest Income $0 $0 $4 $4

    
TOTAL REVENUES $343,599 $256,808 $264,543 $7,735

EXPENDITURES:

Interest Expense - 10/20 $0 $0 $1,100,000 ($1,100,000)
Principal Expense - 10/20 $0 $0 $0 $0
Interest Expense - 11/1 $116,245 $116,245 $113,993 $2,252
Principal Expense - 5/1 $115,000 $115,000 $75,000 $40,000
Interest Expense - 5/1 $116,245 $116,245 $79,395 $36,850

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $347,490 $347,490 $1,368,388 $79,102

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures ($3,891) ($90,682) ($1,103,845)  $86,837

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES/(USES)

Interfund Transfer In $0 $0  $982,465 $982,465

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING 
SOURCES/(USES) $0 $0 $982,465 $982,465

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE ($3,891) ($90,682) ($121,380)  $1,069,302

FUND BALANCE - Beginning $128,383 $156,142

FUND BALANCE - Ending $124,492 $34,762

  

Page 7

Rolling Hills
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

DEBT SERVICE FUND 2015 A-3
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For the Period Ended August 31, 2021



9
PROPOSED PRORATED 

BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL
DESCRIPTION FY 2021 THRU 08/31/21  THRU 08/31/21 VARIANCE

REVENUES:
 
Direct Assessments $165,981 $165,981 $162,557 ($3,424)
Interest Income $0 $0 $11 $11

    
TOTAL REVENUES $165,981 $165,981 $162,568 ($3,413)

EXPENDITURES:

Series 2020 A1
Interest Expense - 11/1 $0 $0 $0 $0
Interest Expense - 5/1 $63,445 $63,445 $63,445 $0
Principal Expense - 5/1 $40,000 $40,000 $40,000 $0

Series 2020 A2
Interest Expense - 11/1 $0 $0 $0 $0
Interest Expense - 5/1 $46,371 $46,371 $46,371 $0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $149,815 $149,815 $149,815 $0

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures $16,166 $16,166 $12,753 ($3,413)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES/(USES)
Refunding Proceeds $1,235,847 $1,235,847 $1,235,847 $0
Interfund Transfer Out ($982,465) ($982,465) ($982,465) $0

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING 
SOURCES/(USES) $253,381 $253,381 $253,381 $0

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE $269,547 $269,547 $266,135  ($3,413)

FUND BALANCE - Beginning $0 $0

FUND BALANCE - Ending $269,547 $266,135

Page 8

Rolling Hills
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

DEBT SERVICE FUND 2020 A-1/A-2
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For the Period Ended August 31, 2021



9
ADOPTED PRORATED 

BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL
DESCRIPTION FY 2021 THRU 08/31/21  THRU 08/31/21 VARIANCE

REVENUES:
 
Interest Income $0 $0 $97 $97

    
TOTAL REVENUES $0 $0 $97 $97

EXPENDITURES:

Improvements $0 $0 $1,725,784 ($1,725,784)
Cost of Issuance $0 $0 $261,401 ($261,401)

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $0 $0 $1,987,185 ($1,987,185)

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures $0 $0 ($1,987,088) ($1,987,088)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES/(USES)
Refunding Proceeds $0 $0 $3,229,153 $3,229,153

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING 
SOURCES/(USES) $0 $0 $3,229,153 $3,229,153

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE $0 $0 $1,242,066  $1,242,066

FUND BALANCE - Beginning $63,176 $0

FUND BALANCE - Ending $63,176 $1,242,066

Page 9

Rolling Hills
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

CAPITAL PROJECTS SERIES 2020 A-1/A-2
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For the Period Ended August 31, 2021



I. Bond Issue: Series 2015 A-1 Capital Improvement Refunding Bonds
Original Issue Amount: $2,500,000
Interest Rate: 5.45%  
Maturity Date: May 1, 2037
Bonds outstanding -       12/10/2015 $2,500,000
Less: 5/1/16 ($65,000)

8/1/16 ($30,000)
11/1/16 ($130,000)

2/1/17 ($10,000)
5/1/17 ($60,000)
5/1/17 ($65,000)
8/1/17 ($30,000)
5/1/18 ($60,000)

11/1/18 ($5,000)
5/1/19 ($65,000)

11/1/19 ($5,000)
5/1/20 ($70,000)
8/1/20 ($5,000)
5/1/21 ($70,000)

Current Bonds Outstanding: $1,830,000

II. Bond Issue: Series 2015 A-2 Capital Improvement Refunding Bonds
Original Issue Amount: $1,930,000
Interest Rate: 5.44%  
Bonds outstanding -       12/10/2015 $1,930,000
Less: 5/1/17 ($50,000)

2/1/18 ($5,000)
5/1/18 ($55,000)
5/1/18 ($170,000)
5/1/19 ($45,000)

11/1/19 ($5,000)
5/1/20 ($55,000)
5/1/21 ($55,000) *Incl $5000 Special Call

Current Bonds Outstanding: $1,490,000

III. Bond Issue: Series 2015 A-3 Capital Improvement Refunding Bonds
Original Issue Amount: $3,850,000
Interest Rate: 6.70%  
Maturity Date: May 1, 2037
Bonds outstanding -       12/10/2015 $3,850,000
Less: 5/1/17 ($85,000)

5/1/18 ($90,000)
5/1/19 ($100,000)
5/1/20 ($105,000) *Tapped Reserve

10/20/20 ($1,100,000) **Refunded Series 2020
5/1/21 ($75,000)

Current Bonds Outstanding: $2,295,000

ROLLING HILLS
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

Long Term Debt Report



IV. Bond Issue: Series 2020 A-1 Capital Improvement Refunding Bonds
Original Issue Amount: $2,625,000
Reserve Fund Requirement:

Interest Rate: 3.375% $235,000.00
Maturity Date: May 1, 2025

Interest Rate: 3.875% $285,000.00
Maturity Date: May 1, 2030

Interest Rate: 4.625% $805,000.00
Maturity Date: May 1, 2040

Interest Rate: 4.875% $1,300,000.00
Maturity Date: May 1, 2050

Bonds outstanding -       10/20/2020 $2,625,000
Less: 5/1/21 ($40,000)

Current Bonds Outstanding: $2,585,000

V. Bond Issue: Series 2020 A-2 Capital Improvement Refunding Bonds
Original Issue Amount: $1,840,000
Reserve Fund Requirement:

Interest Rate: 4.75%  
Maturity Date: May 1, 2030

Bonds outstanding -       10/20/2020 $1,840,000
Less:  

Current Bonds Outstanding: $1,840,000

ROLLING HILLS
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

Long Term Debt Report

100% of MADS

100% of Annual Interest



Rolling Hills
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

GENERAL FUND
Statement of Revenues & Expenditures

For The Year Ending  
September 30, 2021

7
ADOPTED
BUDGET Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Total

REVENUES: 
Assessments - Platted Lots (Tax Roll) $348,975 $0 $11,210 $299,786 $29,248 $3,856 $0 $1,105 $1,038 $3,485 $0 $0 $0 $349,729  
Assessments - Platted Lots (Direct) $269,409 $0 $0 $86,197 $48,508 $0 $0 $67,352 $0 $0 $67,352 $0 $0 $269,409
Swim & Tennis Revenue $800 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Interest/Misc Income $0 $23 $14 $8 $22 $41 $40 $343 $29 $24 $47 $22 $0 $613  
Facility Rental Revenue $3,500 $0 $0 $0 $0 $450 $0 $0 $0 $850 $650 $0 $0 $1,950
Non-Resident Memberships $1,980 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
TOTAL  REVENUES $624,664 $23 $11,224 $385,991 $77,778 $4,347 $40 $68,801 $1,066 $4,360 $68,049 $22 $0 $621,700  

EXPENDITURES:

ADMINISTRATIVE:
Supervisor Fees $6,000 $1,000 $0 $1,000 $0 $1,000 $0 $1,000 $0 $800 $0 $800 $0 $5,600
FICA Taxes $459 $77 $0 $77 $0 $77 $0 $77 $0 $61 $0 $61 $0 $428
Engineering $5,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $688 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $688
Arbitrage $1,200 $0 $0 $0 $1,200 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,200
Dissemination Agent $3,500 $292 $417 $417 $417 $417 $417 $417 $417 $417 $417 $417 $0 $4,458
Assessment Roll $5,000 $5,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $5,000
Attorney Fees $22,500 $2,732 $456 $3,152 $1,265 $3,012 $256 $1,832 $712 $0 -$992 $0 $0 $12,424
Annual Audit $3,800 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $3,800 $0 $0 $3,800
Trustee $8,081 $0 $0 $0 $8,081 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $8,081
Management Fees $41,200 $3,433 $3,433 $3,433 $3,433 $3,433 $3,433 $3,433 $3,433 $3,433 $3,433 $3,433 $0 $37,767
Travel & Per Diem $1,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Computer Time $2,500 $83 $83 $83 $83 $83 $83 $83 $83 $83 $83 $83 $0 $917
Telephone $150 $11 $0 $0 $0 $69 $40 $74 $74 $51 $11 $76 $0 $405
Postage $500 $5 $134 $0 $130 $29 $0 $0 $10 $9 $11 $10 $0 $337
Printing & Binding $1,250 $89 $326 $174 $272 $28 $262 $22 $150 $89 $578 $72 $0 $2,061
Insurance $100 $8,639 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $8,639
Legal Advertising $8,427 $109 $111 $0 $108 $113 $180 $79 $151 $0 $0 $521 $0 $1,372
Other Current Charges $1,000 $52 $73 $179 $67 $26 $161 $63 $82 $60 $42 $26 $0 $830
Website Compliance $1,500 $208 $208 $208 $208 $208 $208 $208 $208 $208 $208 $208 $0 $2,292
Office Supplies $100 $27 $15 $0 $15 $87 $15 $0 $30 $3 $15 $26 $0 $234
Dues, Licenses & Subscriptions $175 $175 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $175
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENDITURES $113,442 $21,932 $5,256 $8,723 $15,278 $9,269 $5,055 $7,288 $5,350 $5,215 $7,607 $5,734 $0 $96,708  

FIELD
Operations Management $21,525 $1,794 $1,794 $1,794 $1,794 $1,794 $1,794 $1,794 $1,794 $1,794 $1,794 $1,794 $0 $19,731  
Utilities - Irrigation & Streetlights $35,000 $640 $3,097 $2,438 $1,309 $808 $2,290 $1,235 $1,258 $1,938 $1,496 $1,607 $0 $18,116  
Repairs & Maintenance $40,000 $4,274 $857 $2,995 $3,010 $2,286 $3,908 $1,567 $913 $401 $718 $3,580 $0 $24,509
Landscape  $74,800 $6,052 $4,346 $8,174 $6,072 $6,072 $6,072 $7,827 $6,072 $6,660 $1,410 $0 $0 $58,757
Landscape - Contingency $6,800 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $478 $0 $0 $0 $0 $478
Mulch $13,500 $0 $0 $0 $1,070 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,070
Lake Maintenance $4,800 $420 $420 $420 $420 $420 $420 $420 $420 $420 $420 $420 $0 $4,620
Irrigation Repairs $7,500 $0 $0 $0 $0 $145 $400 $0 $0 $400 $0 $0 $0 $945
Miscellaneous $1,264 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $103 $0 $493 $0 $0 $0 $596
FIELD EXPENDITURES $205,189 $13,180 $10,514 $15,821 $13,675 $11,524 $14,884 $12,946 $10,935 $12,105 $5,839 $7,401 $0 $128,823  



Rolling Hills
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

GENERAL FUND
Statement of Revenues & Expenditures

For The Year Ending  
September 30, 2021

7
ADOPTED
BUDGET Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Total  

SWIM & TENNIS

Facility Management $56,210 $4,684 $4,684 $4,684 $4,684 $4,684 $4,684 $4,684 $4,684 $4,684 $4,684 $4,684 $0 $51,526
Pool Attendants $35,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,732 $947 $2,050 $4,700 $6,446 $0 $0 $15,876
Refuse Service $8,300 $1,085 $2,308 $1,088 $1,088 $1,088 $1,088 $1,088 $1,088 $1,062 $36 $386 $0 $11,404
Security $15,000 $1,140 $1,095 $865 $1,080 $675 $515 $3,233 $755 $635 $775 $480 $0 $11,248
Utilities $45,000 $3,635 $3,340 $3,445 $3,733 $3,778 $3,076 $3,784 $3,669 $4,222 $4,126 $3,785 $0 $40,592
Recreation Passes $1,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Repairs & Maintenance $40,000 $554 $2,776 $3,924 $4,382 $2,989 $1,434 $5,385 $8,001 $2,320 $4,606 $3,458 $0 $39,828
Janitorial $12,840 $1,070 $1,070 $1,070 $1,070 $0 $1,070 $1,070 $1,070 $1,070 $1,070 $1,070 $0 $10,700
Pool Maintenance $13,650 $1,138 $1,138 $1,138 $1,138 $1,138 $1,138 $1,138 $1,138 $1,138 $1,138 $1,138 $0 $12,513
Special Events $6,000 $656 $0 $0 $268 $112 $0 $0 $400 $92 $902 $0 $0 $2,429
Operating Supplies $6,000 $597 $429 $476 $492 $463 $0 $840 $424 $67 $424 $592 $0 $4,804
Pool Chemicals $9,000 $249 $750 $809 $580 $516 $1,222 $519 $1,090 $1,698 $1,186 $1,848 $0 $10,466
Permit $375 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $375 $0 $0 $0 $0 $375
Insurance $23,121 $24,949 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $24,949
Capital Outlay $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,091 $0 $0 $1,091  
SWIM & TENNIS EXPENDITURES $271,496 $39,755 $17,590 $17,498 $18,514 $15,443 $15,959 $22,687 $24,743 $21,688 $26,483 $17,440 $0 $237,800  

TOTAL EXPENSES $590,127 $74,867 $33,360 $42,042 $47,467 $36,236 $35,899 $42,920 $41,028 $39,008 $39,929 $30,575 $0 $463,331  

Interfund Transfer Out - Cap Res ($34,537) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 -$34,537 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 ($34,537)

EXCESS REVENUES (EXPENDITURES) $0 ($74,845) ($22,136) $343,949 $30,311 ($31,889) ($35,859) ($8,656) ($39,962) ($34,648) $28,120 ($30,553) $0 $123,832

  
 
  

 

 



Page 1

1. Recap of Capital Project Fund Activity Through August 31, 2021
Opening Balance in Construction Account - Series 2020 $3,229,153.47

Source of Funds:    Interest Earned on Series 2020 $96.79
  

Use of Funds:
Disbursements:     

Cost of Issuance ($261,400.63)
Ponds $0.00
Roads ($859,493.44)
Drainage ($531,747.26)
Sanitary Sewer ($72,747.72)
Lift Stations & Force Mains $0.00
Contingency $0.00
Professional Fees ($242,695.54)

Adjusted Balance in Construction Account at August 31, 2021 $1,261,165.67

2. Funds Available For Construction at August 31, 2021
Book Balance of Construction Fund at August 31, 2021 $1,261,165.67  

Contracts in place at August 31, 2021

3. Investments - US Bank
August 31, 2021 Type Yield  Maturity Principal
Construction Fund: Overnight    $1,242,065.66

Due fom Developer $0.00
$0.00

 $1,242,065.66

Rolling Hills
Community Development District

Series 2020 A-1/A-2 Capital Improvement Refunding Bonds

ADJ: Outstanding Requisitions

 



Rolling HillsCommunity Development District
Series 2020

  

Page 2

REQ. # DATE CONTRACTOR
AMOUNT OF 

REQUISITION COI Fixed Assets

E
n
t
r
y Ponds Roads Drainage Sanitary Sewer

Lift Stations & 
Force Mains Water

Misc. 
Professional 

Fees
COI 10/20/20 Nabors Giblin $40,000.00 $40,000.00        
COI 10/20/20 Holland & Knight $6,500.00 $6,500.00
COI 10/20/20 Bryant Miller Olive $35,000.00 $35,000.00
COI 10/20/20 GMS, LLC $28,500.00 $28,500.00
COI 10/20/20 Hopping Green Sams $42,500.00 $42,500.00
COI 10/20/20 US Bank $5,925.00 $5,925.00
COI 10/20/20 Underwriters Disc $89,300.00 $89,300.00
COI 11/20/20 Imagemaster $1,500.00 $1,500.00
COI 12/18/20 Greenberg Traurig $8,439.65 $8,439.65
COI 12/18/20 Hadden Engineering $3,735.98 $3,735.98

1 Waltham Development $150,406.12 $150,406.12 $150,406.12
2 Hadden Engineering $1,264.02 $1,264.02 $1,264.02
3 Hadden Engineering $2,775.00 $2,775.00 $2,775.00
4 Hadden Engineering $5,962.54 $5,962.54 $5,962.54
5 Vallencourt Construction $69,671.01 $69,671.01 $69,671.01 $0.00
6 Vallencourt Construction $70,535.88 $70,535.88 $70,535.88
7 Vallencourt Construction $81,858.21 $81,858.21 $81,858.21
8 Core & Main $76,679.06 $76,679.06 $37,277.60 $39,401.46
9 Core & Main $26,453.36 $26,453.36 $18,722.00 $7,731.36
10 ETM $3,858.54 $3,858.54 $3,858.54
11 Hadden Engineering $2,625.00 $2,625.00 $2,625.00
12 Hadden Engineering $8,500.00 $8,500.00 $8,500.00
13 Hadden Engineering $1,100.00 $1,100.00 $1,100.00
14  
15 4/8/21 Vallencourt Construction $71,034.85 $71,034.85 $71,034.85
16 4/8/21 Eiland & Assoc $2,650.00 $2,650.00 $2,650.00
17 4/8/21 ETM $3,858.55 $3,858.55 $3,858.55
18 4/8/21 Hadden Engineering $7,365.93 $7,365.93 $7,365.93
19 5/5/21 Hadden Engineering $3,858.55 $3,858.64 $3,858.54
20 5/5/21 Vallencourt Construction $214,965.97 $214,965.97 $214,965.97
21 5/5/21 Hadden Engineering $6,322.85 $6,322.85 $6,322.85
22 5/5/21 Hadden Engineering $4,625.00 $4,625.00 $4,625.00
23 5/10/21 Forterra Pipe & Precast $7,288.96 $7,288.96 $7,288.96
24 5/14/21 Forterra Pipe & Precast $22,644.85 $22,644.85 $22,644.85
25 5/14/21 Forterra Pipe & Precast $19,022.15 $19,022.15 $19,022.15
26 6/2/21 Forterra Pipe & Precast $108,803.79 $108,803.79 $108,803.79
27 6/2/21 Forterra Pipe & Precast $5,337.60 $5,337.60 $5,337.60  
28 6/2/21 Core & Main $1,756.80 $1,756.80 $1,756.80
29 6/2/21 ETM $3,858.54 $3,858.54 $3,858.54
30 6/2/21 Hadden Engineering $2,625.00 $2,625.00 $2,625.00
31 6/16/21 Forterra Pipe & Precast $34,155.59 $34,155.59 $34,155.59
32 6/16/21 Vallencourt Construction $108,554.98 $108,554.98 $108,554.98
33 6/16/21 Forterra Pipe & Precast $3,758.40 $3,758.40 $3,758.40
34 6/21/21 Forterra Pipe & Precast $6,732.00 $6,732.00 $6,732.00
35 6/21/21 ETM $5,401.96 $5,401.96 $5,401.96
36 6/21/21 GMS, LLC $3,500.00 $3,500.00 $3,500.00
37 6/21/21 Forterra Pipe & Precast $3,366.00 $3,366.00 $3,366.00
38 Vallencourt Construction $148,443.86 $148,443.86 $85,456.01 $62,987.85
39 Hadden Engineering $2,937.40 $2,937.40 $2,937.40
40 Rolling Hills CDD $991.50 $991.50 $991.50
41 Hopping, Green & Sams $1,159.00 $1,159.00 $1,159.00
42 Vallencourt Construction $273,722.20 $273,722.20 $157,416.53 $90,690.77 $25,614.90
43 ETM $6,945.38 $6,945.38 $6,945.38
44 Hadden Engineering $3,187.50 $3,187.50 $3,187.50
45 Forterra Pipe & Precast $67,782.24 $67,782.24 $67,782.24
46 Forterra Pipe & Precast $32,192.37 $32,192.37 $32,192.37
47 Hopping Green Sams $743.50 $743.50 $743.50
48 Forterra Pipe & Precast $21,251.78 $21,251.78 $2,151.78
49 ETM $6,173.67 $6,173.67 $6,173.67
50 Forterra Pipe & Precast $7,076.51 $7,076.51 $7,076.51

Grand Total $1,987,184.60 $261,400.63 $1,725,784.06 $0.00 $859,493.44 $531,747.26 $72,747.72 $0.00 $0.00 $242,695.54

SUMMARY: INT REC'D ACQ COI
BOND PROCEEDS $3,229,153.47 Oct-20 $0.00 $0.00
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS $0.00 Nov-20 $4.87 $0.03
INT REC'D TO DATE $96.79 Dec-20 $12.16 $0.05
TRANS FROM DEBT SERVICE $0.00 Jan-21 $12.57 $0.01
LESS: REQ. PAID ($1,987,184.60) Feb-21 $12.25 $0.00
BALANCE $1,242,065.66 Mar-21 $10.45 $0.00

Apr-21 $10.46 $0.00
RECONCILIATION May-21 $9.87 $0.01
TRUST STATEMENT $1,242,065.66 Jun-21 $9.14 $0.01
O/S REQ. $0.00  Jul-21 $7.83 $0.00
ADJ BALANCE $1,242,065.66 Aug-21 $7.08 $0.00
VARIANCE $0.00 Sep-21 $0.00 $0.00

$96.68 $0.11



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

B. 



ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
Fiscal Year 2021 Assessments Receipts Summary

ASSESSED
# O&M UNITS 

ASSESSED
SERIES 2015A-1 
DEBT ASSESSED

SERIES 2015A-2 
DEBT ASSESSED

SERIES 2015A-3 
DEBT ASSESSED

SERIES 2020A-1 
DEBT ASSESSED

FY21 O&M 
ASSESSED TOTAL ASSESSED

CBCP LANDCO PH3 247                                -                                  -                193,323.92                                -              172,393.65             365,717.57 
WALTHAM DEV 139                                -                165,981.25               97,015.05             262,996.30 

TOTAL DIRECT INVOICES (1) (2) 386                                -                                  -                193,323.92              165,981.25            269,408.70             628,713.87 

ASSESSED REVENUE TAX ROLL 761              174,000.58              136,800.46                 41,480.02                                -              348,975.00             701,256.05 

TOTAL ASSESSED 1147              174,000.58              136,800.46              234,803.94              165,981.25            618,383.70         1,329,969.92 

DUE / RECEIVED BALANCE DUE
SERIES 2015A-1 
DEBT RECEIVED

SERIES 2015A-2 
DEBT RECEIVED

SERIES 2015A-3 
DEBT RECEIVED

SERIES 2020A-1 
DEBT RECEIVED  O&M RECEIVED TOTAL RECEIVED

CBCP LANDCO PH3                                 -                                  -                                  -                193,323.92                                -              172,393.65             365,717.57 
WALTHAM DEV                                 -                165,981.25               97,015.05             262,996.30 

TOTAL DIRECT RECEIVED                                 -                                  -                                  -                193,323.92              165,981.25            269,408.70             628,713.87 

TAX ROLL DUE / RECEIVED                   (1,514.46)              174,376.36              137,095.87                 41,569.60                                -              349,728.68             702,770.51 

TOTAL DUE / RECEIVED                   (1,514.46)              174,376.36              137,095.87              234,893.52              165,981.25            619,137.38         1,331,484.38 

(1) A-3 Direct Assessments are due: 35% due 12/1/20, 4/1/21 and 30% due 9/1/21
(2)  O&M is due 25% by 10/1/20, 1/1/21, 4/1/21, 7/1/21

SUMMARY OF TAX ROLL RECEIPTS

CLAY COUNTY DISTRIBUTION DATE RECEIVED
SERIES 2015A-1 
DEBT RECEIVED

SERIES 2015A-2 
DEBT RECEIVED

SERIES 2015A-3 
DEBT RECEIVED

SERIES 2020A-1 
DEBT RECEIVED O&M RECEIVED TOTAL RECEIVED

1 11/18/2020 5,589.41                 4,394.43                 1,332.46                 -                           11,210.10             22,526.40             
2 12/1/2020 12,880.32               10,126.59               3,070.54                 -                           25,832.72             51,910.17             
3 12/4/2020 136,594.37             107,391.43             32,562.75               -                           273,953.22           550,501.77           
4 12/17/2020 14,583.16               11,465.38               3,476.48                 -                           29,247.94             58,772.96             
5 1/14/2021 1,791.65                 1,408.61                 427.11                     -                           3,593.34               7,220.71                
6 2/19/2021 131.15                     103.11                     31.27                       -                           263.04                   528.57                   
7 3/19/2021 -                           -                           -                           -                           -                         -                          
8 4/12/2021 551.16                     433.32                     131.39                     -                           1,105.40               2,221.27                
9 5/11/2021 517.31                     406.71                     123.32                     -                           1,037.53               2,084.87                

10 6/5/2021 -                           -                           -                           -                           -                         -                          
TAX CERTIFICATES 6/11/2021 1,737.83                 1,366.29                 414.28                     -                           3,485.39               7,003.79                

-                           -                           -                           -                           -                         
-                           -                           -                           -                           -                         
-                           -                           -                           -                           -                         
-                           -                           -                           -                           -                         

-                           -                           -                           -                           -                         
-                           -                           -                           -                           -                         

TOTAL RECEIVED TAX ROLL              174,376.36              137,095.87                 41,569.60                                -              349,728.68             702,770.51 

PERCENT COLLECTED 2015A-1 2015A-2 2015A-3 2020 O&M TOTAL
%  COLLECTED DIRECT BILL 0.00% 0.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

% COLLECTED TAX ROLL 100.22% 100.22% 100.22% 0.00% 100.22% 100.22%
TOTAL PERCENT COLLECTED 100.22% 100.22% 100.04% 100.00% 100.12% 100.11%



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

C. 



Fund Date Check No.s Amount  

General Fund 7/1-7/31 2544-2563 46,201.13$         
6/1-6/30 2564-2576 33,297.10$         

Total  79,498.23$         

 
**FedEx invoices are available upon request

ROLLING HILLS

Summary of Invoices
October 12, 2021

Community Development District



AP300R                                YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER   RUN 10/01/21          PAGE   1
*** CHECK DATES 07/01/2021 - 07/31/2021 ***       ROLLING HILLS GENERAL FUND

BANK A ROLLING HILLS GF

  CHECK  VEND#  .....INVOICE..... ...EXPENSED TO...              VENDOR NAME             STATUS             AMOUNT    ....CHECK.....
   DATE           DATE   INVOICE   YRMO  DPT ACCT# SUB  SUBCLASS                                                      AMOUNT     #

 7/01/21 00071 6/28/21 143933   202106 330-57200-44000                                     *              492.72
RESIDENT MAILING

ADVANCED DIRECT MARKETING SERVICES                                492.72 002544
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/01/21 00101 4/12/21 76695    202104 330-57200-46000                                     *               99.00

REPAIR EXTERIOR LIGHTS
BLACK CREEK ELECTRICAL SERVICES                                    99.00 002545

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/01/21 00097 6/22/21 06222021 202106 330-57200-34500                                     *              120.00

SECURITY 6/22/21
6/27/21 06272021 202106 330-57200-34500                                     *              120.00

SECURITY 6/27/21
JEFFREY DEESE                                                     240.00 002546

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/01/21 00096 6/08/21 4962242  202106 330-57200-52100                                     *              212.00

CHEMICALS
6/17/21 4963001  202106 330-57200-52100                                     *              507.00

ULTRA CHLORINE
6/22/21 4966131  202106 330-57200-52100                                     *              177.00

ULTRA CHLORINE
HAWKINS, INC.                                                     896.00 002547

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/01/21 00060 6/15/21 364      202105 330-57200-46000                                     *            2,307.69

MAY 21-FACILITY MAINT/RPR
6/15/21 364      202105 320-53800-46000                                     *              912.87

MAY 21 - REPAIRS/MAINT
6/15/21 364      202105 330-57200-52000                                     *              423.88

MAY 21-OPERATING SUPPLIES
RIVERSIDE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.                             3,644.44 002548

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/01/21 00034 6/16/21 15427    202106 320-53800-46500                                     *              400.00

REPAIRED 4" MAINLINE
6/23/21 15481    202106 320-53800-46200                                     *              587.50

SOD REPLACE/MVD BOULDERS
6/28/21 15579    202106 320-53800-46200                                     *            6,072.15

JUNE 21 - LANDSCAPE MAINT
TREE AMIGOS                                                     7,059.65 002549

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/15/21 00016 6/30/21 JUN 21   202106 320-53800-43100                                     *            1,938.31

JUN 21 - WATER
6/30/21 JUN 21   202106 330-57200-43100                                     *              304.61

JUN 21 - WATER
CLAY COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY                                   2,242.92 002550

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/15/21 00120 7/16/21 07162021 202107 330-57200-49400                                     *              250.00

ENTERTAINMENT
MARK C JOHNS                                                      250.00 002551

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

ROLL ROLLING HILLS  PPOWERS   



AP300R                                YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER   RUN 10/01/21          PAGE   2
*** CHECK DATES 07/01/2021 - 07/31/2021 ***       ROLLING HILLS GENERAL FUND

BANK A ROLLING HILLS GF

  CHECK  VEND#  .....INVOICE..... ...EXPENSED TO...              VENDOR NAME             STATUS             AMOUNT    ....CHECK.....
   DATE           DATE   INVOICE   YRMO  DPT ACCT# SUB  SUBCLASS                                                      AMOUNT     #

 7/29/21 00143 7/30/21 073021   202107 330-57200-49400                                     *              495.00
MOVIE NIGHT

PROGRESSIVE ENTERTAINMENT                                         495.00 002552
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/29/21 00142 7/06/21 207969   202107 330-57200-46000                                     *              185.00

POOL GATE ACCESS REPAIR
ATLANTIC SECURITY                                                 185.00 002553

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/29/21 00026 7/15/21 SSI10166 202106 330-57200-34500                                     *              155.00

JUN 21 - SCHEDULING
CLAY COUNTY SHERIFFS OFFICE                                       155.00 002554

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/29/21 00061 7/04/21 1221031  202107 330-57200-41500                                     *              281.38

849574 123 1221031
COMCAST                                                           281.38 002555

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/29/21 00097 7/03/21 07302021 202107 330-57200-34500                                     *              120.00

SECURITY
7/14/21 071421   202107 330-57200-34500                                     *              120.00

SECURITY
7/16/21 071621   202107 330-57200-34500                                     *              120.00

SECURITY
7/25/21 072521   202107 330-57200-34500                                     *              120.00

SECURITY
JEFFREY DEESE                                                     480.00 002556

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/29/21 00147 6/21/21 UG-10366 202106 330-57200-34300                                     *            1,062.26

JUN 21 - REFUSE SERVICE
GFL ENVIRONMENTAL                                               1,062.26 002557

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/29/21 00003 7/01/21 220      202107 310-51300-34000                                     *            3,433.33

JUL 21 - MGMT FEES
7/01/21 220      202107 310-51300-35101                                     *              208.33

JUL 21 - WEBSITE ADMIN
7/01/21 220      202107 310-51300-35100                                     *               83.33

JUL 21 - IT
7/01/21 220      202107 310-51300-31300                                     *              416.67

JUL 21 - DISSEMINATION
7/01/21 220      202107 310-51300-51000                                     *               15.27

JUL 21 - SUPPLIES
7/01/21 220      202107 310-51300-42000                                     *               10.59

JUL 21 - POSTAGE
7/01/21 220      202107 310-51300-42500                                     *              578.25

JUL 21 - COPIES
7/01/21 220      202107 310-51300-41000                                     *               10.99

JUL 21 - TELEPHONE
GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES                                4,756.76 002558

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

ROLL ROLLING HILLS  PPOWERS   



AP300R                                YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER   RUN 10/01/21          PAGE   3
*** CHECK DATES 07/01/2021 - 07/31/2021 ***       ROLLING HILLS GENERAL FUND

BANK A ROLLING HILLS GF

  CHECK  VEND#  .....INVOICE..... ...EXPENSED TO...              VENDOR NAME             STATUS             AMOUNT    ....CHECK.....
   DATE           DATE   INVOICE   YRMO  DPT ACCT# SUB  SUBCLASS                                                      AMOUNT     #

 7/29/21 00096 6/30/21 4973721  202106 330-57200-52100                                     *              177.00
ULTRA CHLOR

7/08/21 4979984  202107 330-57200-52100                                     *              333.46
SODIUM BICARB, ULTRACHLOR

7/13/21 4982382  202107 330-57200-52100                                     *              284.25
ULTRA CHLOR

7/20/21 4987873  202107 330-57200-52100                                     *              375.00
ULTRA CHLOR

HAWKINS, INC.                                                   1,169.71 002559
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/29/21 00005 5/31/21 123736   202105 310-51300-31500                                     *              711.50

MAY 21 - GENERAL COUNSEL
HOPPING GREEN & SAMS                                              711.50 002560

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/29/21 00057 7/01/21 588648   202107 320-53800-46400                                     *              420.00

JUL 21 - WATER MGMT
THE LAKE DOCTORS, INC.                                            420.00 002561

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/29/21 00066 6/01/21 052102   202105 330-57200-46000                                     *            2,900.00

REPL COMPRESSOR SYS 3
6/01/21 052104   202105 330-57200-46000                                     *            1,616.96

SYS #3 NOT COOLING
7/07/21 072123   202107 330-57200-46000                                     *              777.50

50% ANNUAL MAINT CONTRACT
MECHANICAL SOLUTIONS LLC                                        5,294.46 002562

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 7/29/21 00060 6/30/21 366      202106 330-57200-49400                                     *               92.43

JUNE SUMMER BASH
6/30/21 367      202106 330-57200-34200                                     *            4,699.84

JUN 21 - POOL ATTENDANTS
7/01/21 365      202107 330-57200-46100                                     *            1,070.00

JUL 21 - JANITORIAL SVCS
7/01/21 365      202107 330-57200-46700                                     *            1,137.50

JUL 21 - POOL MAINT
7/01/21 365      202107 320-53800-34000                                     *            1,793.75

JUL 21 - CONTRACT ADMIN
7/01/21 365      202107 330-57200-34000                                     *            4,684.17

JUL 21 - FACILITY MAINT
7/13/21 368      202106 330-57200-46000                                     *            2,320.17

JUN 21 - FACILITY R&M
7/13/21 368      202106 320-53800-46000                                     *              400.60

JUN 21 - REPAIRS & MAINT
7/13/21 368      202106 330-57200-52000                                     *               66.87

JUN 21 - SUPPLIES
RIVERSIDE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.                            16,265.33 002563

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

TOTAL FOR BANK A                 46,201.13

ROLL ROLLING HILLS  PPOWERS   



AP300R                                YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER   RUN 10/01/21          PAGE   4
*** CHECK DATES 07/01/2021 - 07/31/2021 ***       ROLLING HILLS GENERAL FUND

BANK A ROLLING HILLS GF

  CHECK  VEND#  .....INVOICE..... ...EXPENSED TO...              VENDOR NAME             STATUS             AMOUNT    ....CHECK.....
   DATE           DATE   INVOICE   YRMO  DPT ACCT# SUB  SUBCLASS                                                      AMOUNT     #

TOTAL FOR REGISTER               46,201.13

ROLL ROLLING HILLS  PPOWERS   



AP300R                                YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER   RUN 10/01/21          PAGE   1
*** CHECK DATES 08/01/2021 - 08/31/2021 ***       ROLLING HILLS GENERAL FUND

BANK A ROLLING HILLS GF

  CHECK  VEND#  .....INVOICE..... ...EXPENSED TO...              VENDOR NAME             STATUS             AMOUNT    ....CHECK.....
   DATE           DATE   INVOICE   YRMO  DPT ACCT# SUB  SUBCLASS                                                      AMOUNT     #

 8/16/21 00044 6/28/21 354708   202106 310-51300-32200                                     *            3,800.00
AUDIT FEE FY 2020

BERGER, TOOMBS, ELAM, GAINES &                                  3,800.00 002564
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/16/21 00101 6/18/21 76821    202106 330-57200-46000                                     *              263.50

RPR EXIT BUTTON @ POOL
7/28/21 76878    202107 330-57200-46000                                     *              754.51

RELAMP SERERAL LIGHTS
BLACK CREEK ELECTRICAL SERVICES                                 1,018.01 002565

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/16/21 00016 7/31/21 JULY 21  202107 320-53800-43100                                     *            1,143.22

JULY 21 - WATER
7/31/21 JULY 21  202107 330-57200-43100                                     *              304.61

JULY 21 - WATER
CLAY COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY                                   1,447.83 002566

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/16/21 00027 7/31/21 JULY 21  202107 320-53800-43000                                     *              168.00

JULY 21 - ELECTRIC
7/31/21 JULY 21  202107 330-57200-43000                                     *            3,629.00

JULY 21 - ELECTRIC
CLAY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC                                  3,797.00 002567

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/16/21 00097 7/30/21 07302021 202107 330-57200-34500                                     *              120.00

SECURITY 7/30/21
8/09/21 08092021 202108 330-57200-34500                                     *              120.00

SECURITY 8/9/21
JEFFREY DEESE                                                     240.00 002568

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/16/21 00147 7/20/21 UG000002 202107 330-57200-34300                                     *            1,098.35

JULY 21 - REFUSE SERVICE
7/20/21 UG000002 202107 330-57200-34300                                     V            1,098.35-

JULY 21 - REFUSE SERVICE
GFL ENVIRONMENTAL                                                    .00 002569

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/16/21 00003 8/01/21 221      202108 310-51300-34000                                     *            3,433.33

AUG 21 - MGMT FEES
8/01/21 221      202108 310-51300-35101                                     *              208.33

AUG 21 - WEBSITE
8/01/21 221      202108 310-51300-35100                                     *               83.33

AUG 21 - I.T.
8/01/21 221      202108 310-51300-31300                                     *              416.67

AUG 21 - DISSEMINATION
8/01/21 221      202108 310-51300-42000                                     *               10.20

AUG 21 - POSTAGE
8/01/21 221      202108 310-51300-42500                                     *               71.85

AUG 21 - COPIES

ROLL ROLLING HILLS  PPOWERS   



AP300R                                YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER   RUN 10/01/21          PAGE   2
*** CHECK DATES 08/01/2021 - 08/31/2021 ***       ROLLING HILLS GENERAL FUND

BANK A ROLLING HILLS GF

  CHECK  VEND#  .....INVOICE..... ...EXPENSED TO...              VENDOR NAME             STATUS             AMOUNT    ....CHECK.....
   DATE           DATE   INVOICE   YRMO  DPT ACCT# SUB  SUBCLASS                                                      AMOUNT     #

8/01/21 221      202108 310-51300-41000                                     *               75.95
AUG 21 - TELEPHONE

GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES                                4,299.66 002570
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/16/21 00096 7/27/21 4994092  202107 330-57200-52100                                     *              193.50

ULTRA CHLOR
8/03/21 4999145  202108 330-57200-52100                                     *              267.00

POOL CHEMICALS
HAWKINS, INC.                                                     460.50 002571

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/16/21 00057 8/01/21 595239   202108 320-53800-46400                                     *              420.00

AUG 21 - WATER MGMT
THE LAKE DOCTORS, INC.                                            420.00 002572

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/16/21 00060 7/31/21 371      202107 330-57200-34200                                     *            6,445.76

JULY 21 - POOL ATTENDANTS
8/01/21 369      202108 330-57200-46100                                     *            1,070.00

AUG 21 - JANITORIAL SRVCS
8/01/21 369      202108 330-57200-46700                                     *            1,137.50

AUG 21 - POOL MAINTENANCE
8/01/21 369      202108 320-53800-34000                                     *            1,793.75

AUG 21 - CONTRACT ADMIN
8/01/21 369      202108 330-57200-34000                                     *            4,684.17

AUG 21 - FACILITY MGMT
8/02/21 370      202107 330-57200-49400                                     *               84.39

JULY SUMMER EVENT 7/1/21
8/11/21 372      202107 330-57200-49400                                     *               72.44

JULY SUMMER EVENT 7/30/21
RIVERSIDE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.                            15,288.01 002573

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/16/21 00082 7/28/21 072821RH 202107 330-57200-46000                                     *              300.00

REPAIRS SMALL/LARGE PADS
SOUTHEAST FITNESS REPAIR                                          300.00 002574

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/16/21 00034 7/26/21 15726    202107 320-53800-46200                                     *            1,170.00

POND BANK CLEAN-UP
7/26/21 15727    202107 320-53800-46200                                     *              240.00

SOD INSTL / RESET BOULDER
8/12/21 15860    202108 320-53800-46000                                     *              780.00

T/S WIRING-IRRIG SYSTEM
TREE AMIGOS                                                     2,190.00 002575

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/18/21 00147 7/20/21 UG24930  202107 330-57200-34300                                     *               36.09

JULY 21 - REFUSE SERVICE
GFL ENVIRONMENTAL                                                  36.09 002576

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

TOTAL FOR BANK A                 33,297.10

ROLL ROLLING HILLS  PPOWERS   



AP300R                                YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER   RUN 10/01/21          PAGE   3
*** CHECK DATES 08/01/2021 - 08/31/2021 ***       ROLLING HILLS GENERAL FUND

BANK A ROLLING HILLS GF

  CHECK  VEND#  .....INVOICE..... ...EXPENSED TO...              VENDOR NAME             STATUS             AMOUNT    ....CHECK.....
   DATE           DATE   INVOICE   YRMO  DPT ACCT# SUB  SUBCLASS                                                      AMOUNT     #

TOTAL FOR REGISTER               33,297.10

ROLL ROLLING HILLS  PPOWERS   



AdvancedDirectMarketim Services Invoice
3733. AdirolfRd.
Jacksonville, FL 32207-4719 date invoice #

(V) 904.396.3028 (F) 396.6328 6/28/2021 143933
E-mail jim@adm-service.com

BILL TO

ROLLING HILLSCDD
475 WESTTOWN PLACE STE 114
ST AUGUSTINE FI. 32092

,

P

P.O. NO, TERMS PROJECT

With Order

SERVICEDESCRIPTION QTY RATE AMOUNT

ROLLINGHILLS CDD

Load, read, convertfiles; CASSCertify addressesto enable automation basedpostage 374 0.12864 48.11
rates;'Create automation based sack/tray tags & postal documents; formatfor laser
imaging
Form.layoutand preparationfor merge imaging 1 37.50 37.50
Laser one sheetfront & back 374 0.215 80.41
Fold customer materials 374 0.04278 16.00
Customer single color#10 windowenvelopes 374 0.1738 65.00
Insertone piece into #10 envelope, seal, prep & deliver to BMEU JAX 374 0.10695 40.00

Postage 374 0,55 205.70
C

Thank you for your business.
Subtotal $492.72

Sales Tax (7.5%) $0.00

Total $492.72



BlackCreekElectricalServicesInc. / x
State Certified EC 13002742 InvoiceB(acktCveek
'°'°""' ""',&a:am&mc¶fs Qua Middlebury, FL 32050 4/12/2021

X ,0'

primed4/13/2021
Phorie: (904) 291-7941
Fax: (904) 291-7904
Web: WWW.Blackcreekelectric.com

G

\BillTo: Work Location:
Riverside Management Services Primary

Attn:Freddie Oca Riverside Management Services
3212 Bradley Creek Parkway Am: Freddie (lea
Green Cove Springs, Ft 32043 3212 Bradley Creek Parkway

Green CoveSprings, FL 32043

Work:(904)338-5723

phWeI: (904)338-5723

Terms.

Net 10

\ P'

IStart Date: 4/12/2021 Exterior lightsnotworkingproperly

Date Product/Service Description Price Qty Tax Amount

j
4/12/2021 Service Call Service call, local service call area, $99.00 0.00 $0.0[) $99.00

includes the first halfhourof labor

Subtotal: $99.00

Tax: $0.00
.K

·' Paid: $0.00

Total: $99.00

Thjljbl¢shotexterior lightsnot working properly,Theclockwas in manual,put the clockbackinto automatic.
Lightsare working properlynow.

Thankyou for your businessl

,

,..

r

Thank You for yourbusiness.It has been a pleasureservimyou! please pay Promptly. Terms are due upon recieptunlessnobed
otherwise.Alf balancesnotpaid within30 days are subjectto a fate fee

AllwoTkperformed comeswith a 1 year warrantyon parts and whichis 1.5% of thebalance due per month until the balance is paid in
labor (3 'yearson panels). Warrantyservicesare limitedto during full.
normal workinghours only. All afterhours calfs are subjectbO

additionalcharges.CUstomerprovided padsand fixturesare not
included in warrantyprovisions and are notcovered.

PleasePayFrom This Invoice



:"=:d'::|f
com c(:m Cn:!--:j4t)Lt { V Ifi V ,;i' I' f::

Middleburg,FL 32068

904-219-0579
iadeese@clayshenff,;om.

INVOICEDATE
DATE:6-22-21

TO: FOR:

Rolling Hills CommunityDevelopmentDistrict PropertyManager
3212 Bradley Creek Blvd.
Green Cove Springs, Ft 32043

DATE TIME
DESCRIPTION HOURS RATE AMOUNT

WORKED IN/OUT

6-22-21 NeighborhoodPatro1/ Security 0600-1000 4.0 30.00 120.00

Checked preserve area. '

Patrolledentire development

.
Checked Clubhouse, pool,and boardwalkarea.

..

Patrolledentire development.

Checked rearundevelopedarea.

,

DEPUTYSIGNATURE: TOTAL 120.00

Make all checks payable to JeffreyDeese

Thankyoufor your business!



=n'd":;lCou,t CCS·C) OI":TAjUTY 1NVC t ::E
Middleburg,FL 32068
904-219-0579
iadee$e@claysheliff.com,

INVOICEDATE
DATE:6-27-21

TO: FOR:

Rolling Hills CommunityDevelopmentDistrict PropertyManager
3212 Bradley Creek Blvd.
Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

DATE TIME
DESCRIPTION HOURS RATE AMOUNT

WORKED IN/OUT

6-27-21 NeighborhoodPatro1/ Security 0730-1130 4.0 30.00 120.00

Checked preserve area.

Patrolledentire development

Checked Clubhouse, pool, and boardwalkarea.

Patrolledentire development.

Checked rear undevelopedarea.

.

Removed 6 kids playingin rearundevelopedarea all under14 yrs old
.

Conducted 4 traffic stops (1equipmentviolation,3 traffic control)

DEPUTYSIGNATURE: TOTAL 120.00

Make all checks payable to JeffreyDeese

Thank youfor your business!



Original

ANNE )pzi'ji
a,,,

ib?!"'
,2,,00

hone: 6/2) 331-O' /(1 Invoice Nuniber 4962242

~ itivQiceDate 6/8/21

Sales Order Nttmber/Type 3512326 SO

Branch Plant 74

Shipment Number
'

4046378

Sold To: 293306 Ship To: 295740
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE ROLLINGHILLS ESTATESCOD
ROLLING HILLS ESTATESCOD 3212 BradleyCreek Pkwy
clo Patti Powers-GMS-SF,LLC Green Cove Springs FL 32043
5385 N Nob Hill Rd
SunriseFL 33351

Net Due Dale Terms FOB Description Ship via CustomerP,0.# P.O. Release Sales Agentdl

7/8/21 Net30 PPD Origin HAWKINSSOUTHEASTFLEET 874

item Namel Qty Trans Unit Price Weight Extencied
Line # Item Number DeseUptiori Tax Shipped UOM Price UOM Net/Gross Price

1.000 371404 CCH Granular (100#) N 1.0QOCl DR $200.0000 DR 100.0 LB $200.00
DRUM DNR (BLEACH, 1.0000 DR 105,0GW

1.010 Fuel Surcharge Freight N 1.0000 EA $12.0000 $12.00

"""""' Receive Your {nvniceVia Email"'"""""
Plea3e ccmtactour Accounts Receivable Departmentvia email at CrediUjept@liawkinslncmm

or cali 612-331-69'10to get It setup on youraccount.

P,xj C!j,ttm t' Ccj s

1, "3 30
.

.S"'7:k:)c)
_

SA la':'

:A,M,

«r,N>'E"f
C...m .,_

" '

_~ ,:,
t"'" '/9' t, /

Pagei cif1 Tax Rate Sales Tax |1nvotce
Total $212,00

0 % $0,00

H q Discwmson F:dghk 6¢ ¢qN3Trcty
lt&?oAtAHr:AbpKrckct$etc ¶Q:dvA'hvdvmmyGf baykkA 8mSM¢tsas¢¢s1va h-t |h¢"rwnttc¥tt. cl¢tertr.-.qe $d.U§j't7Of&v<kFr')Cucl$ I " $'Icethe'scmu$7, Seller¥,3(Te¥)!3Umaslg:jeck cU'medFryIF-SkwdeeWEftproducedin¢air¢t'atfct 1\2?6ihe raqL· Fcfr.£hL5 of be Fa"rLcbu H(/waul g 'hie.
sur,dmiAc; Gt jgjg, gs mcodcd Ccr,WnmEtc {c) be pa:.i FistX fii.-2 in $N-cscuf.er,tf RA t¢tun4m be R:GCt2p'rcr.pSy.µD"4dc# Pbease P, O, B ,

- 86tP63cmobers71Ta TtbT(!E6f0 cm:AQ! Writ of g)\'P)B¢QL Remh'gt*'?E¢A3fk¢Sto Kb p«ptij. Im uma'ntEs reMR?d mslbp the 60µ}9

jReniit

To:
r ,

(tl at
«jµg:lf $h"pµd, vi4 shut m 4¥tdu¥c2L¢sfcbumsst gze {ge pwpq5¢5at m mn int 4tc[aCdM oil§nM ccntmrs. $C'e( Sp«2Cd'/

X ' i'
k$,?41,3$md¥KdldEsbrvyvwirr»YalmEKhan:.7t;':tyxf3Cmiy1\AMfNycffbEsskk a pmtcu4cfWP96C. " ljt /nm'(lpO//SyMN 55486"0263

)

k'5 CLAIMSFORLOSS,OAtdAGEOR LEAKRGEALLOWEDAFTEROELWERYIS!,'ADELEI aocjuCQXOkTlQtf X .r·

This ¢wff&c{orand wbconKac(orkh3lt abide by the HqUiremenEsqf4f CFR§ZGQ-L4{%.O-31)8.G(a|arid S(h74f.6$9.?Fhyx regu{alions mcMhifdiaaimMieagabstquaiiked lMEciSGd1$based on lhMrsimsas peofec\e0
vomnsdt bdtMtaa1,t withd{Sabifd¥ts,and pEukibitd(stdmfnat5GAegµEnbfalt xidNIdQ8b based mi CMierace, Color,IellgioR, $¢k, nf natl¢rl3j oKglrs.htmwer, these tegumiQn5 require tmccuvcM prime curmuots amS

whconha«orsbkaM[umama¢(lpn to&rR?kyandad"ianc9nemplpymmt1MlMuaisBmout{egara (o race,CoioF,religion, ¥ex,momsoIlgb,pcoteaedYeleransims al cgj¥&t11FM,

www.hawk/n$lnc,cwt1 Job#1074154



P

Original

iU1@N Eii'i$",,,,,, !!!,!c!""
,,0,.00

P (i c: ,. R2'33/-69/) Invoice Number 4963001

Invoice Ik te 6/17/21
. ., ,, ,...

. .

Sales Order Niimber/Type 3506978 SO

Branch Plant 74

Shipment Number 4039242

Sold To: 293306 Ship To, 295740
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE ROLLING HILLS ESTATESCOD
ROLLING HILLS ESTATESCOD 3212 Bradley Creek Pkwy
clo Patti Powers-GMS-SF,LLC Green Cove Springs FL 32043
5385 N Nob Hill Rd
SunriseFL 33351

Net Due Date Terms FOB Description Ship Via Customer P,0.# P.O. Release Sates Agent1/

7/17/21 Ne\30
.

_
.

PPDOrigin. HAWK\NS8®THEA$TFLEE,T
.

874

Item Namel ".' '

Qty Trans Unit Price Weight Extended

Lirc# RemNumber Descripfion Tax Shippect uom Price UOM Net/Gross Price

1.000 43967 . ljlt(a-Chk)f(Sod. Hypo 12.5°/>) N 330.000{) GA $1.5000 GA 3,329.7 LB $495.00

;=k (Minl-Buik) 330.0000 GA 3,6JJ4.7GIN

1,010 Fuel Surcharge Freight N 1.0000 EA $12.0000 $12.00

""""'"' Receive Your 1R\/oiceViQ Emil """""
Please coatactour AccountsReceivable Department via email a! Credit,Depl@HawkinMm.com

orcall (312-331-6910to get it setupQn youraccount.

Pqo/ C km 1'(
c'\ lC

/1 33 D t
S" "7 JQO -' S8/ C' D

-='" .i c:' :-z) g" / Ul/^>I:!--¢j
,./

Page 1 of 1 Tax Rafe Sales Tax
i InvoiceTotal $507,00

0 % $0.00

Hq Dkccim:s qrRuiSMQTCQDtaker£ '
'

[ ( \\lfdPORXAttY;Rl FxcKlu:ts 2t8- Wei iGi"SX"j7v:c-'fmWof mv)3s8oAdFwcmcwrt%bjruiud'«utcs;S,6ctcFFr3.q*5Ui!i!t."Lyofsuchmduck '
Im {Fjek Dvm usg &e'l±rys2rRin{sThai atpvds qc:er*q kv\N5 lrUc4ce weesFlodut¢am ¢prr.f'3nceW:X UPie tgqtj"TG;rm1t¥ of ±#fa't 1Abc-f .

Z tWkulSg lnCr . ,

$mdar,kAcb Gf 1913,as anitncka, ¢cma!rms am Iq Nr PM kcm h% as icWQiC¢¢.6M M tahM vva b8 ma grcmp3'r.pmidc4 Please P, O, Box 860263
1

CcA6(3'A«b are ;E"atoed{C &gnaNut cu U'pm4RL RamKe:ght ch3(g*l to h Cjcpm. Tlie ccate'nua rtturrM[Fustbe U'c Fdm±
tRemitTo:

K , i,
i

q[ismaLYsi"jpcd,oM SP-Ucfed UUkweof dtu50, cx usc hr µurµsesethertm tn± sbragc M zhg'm?eomb<ts.Eefesspt<fts4 dj ' "
d,cla?mm4eu!Uck3elywa{(e(Nrdmtechaa¥¥%andmjvatraetydf*m {gr a NEw'zrµitµm. /L lmre(tt)ohs?N N 55486"0263,) '
ItO CLAI2\SS FORLOSS,[JAISAQEOR LEAKAGEALLOWEBAFTERDELWERYtsJUDE IN GWCFCCMWTjOH

.

INscotmecor#Rci sut~mctorYhrii aO!deby thp ¶q«irEmmtsof GS cpr Sk6MA(a),6oa¢0.${ii,}URd 60-74$.5\r].Ttma tegus.uivnsprghiOlt dhscsimhatlonuG3WsIqwliCedi%hfdcts1$hncd ¢1) their status as ptQtccted
veletans or QdiVtduak vMh SkxbllXics, and p(Qhlbkdwc&mat4oaagahs9 &It AdivldU&t5based o. their face, coioc, rdiglmi,sex, 0r natijnaforfgfn. ?toreover, thc$c regvktlon$teqatwUk31 cUYEIUdprimo ¢0Mcaaors and
sgbcon(TactUN tSSicdiirmatfca2;tio0la¥mMQ¥amS QCYb7B¢$hGmploymnlMi"adu.sksNiihaWKgatcllto race,color.tMigicrr, $rx, MtikBdioElgb,pmteiea¥:e{0mnstalus di d1£xiriSty.

www.kawk/nskmccm Job# 1078552



Original

'"" "hs :)jjii',":1,,t

,,
""°"'Total Invoice $177.00

Rc :5 " A z\' 55// 3
P t': (6/,?) 33/- ,' /0 Invoice Number 4966131

_
Invoice Date 6/22/21

Sales Order Number/Type 3512940 SO

Branch Plant 74

Shipment Number 4047167

Sold To: 293306 Ship To: 295740
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE ROLLING HILLS ESTATESCOD
ROLLING HILLS ESTATESCOD 3212 BradleyCreek Pkwy
clo Patti Powers-GMS-SF,LLC Green Cove Springs FL 32043
5385 N Nob Hill Rd
Sunrise FL 33351

Net Due DatE Tertn$ FOB Descriplion Ship Via Customer P.O.// P.O. Release Sates Agent#
7/22/21 Net30 ppd origin HAWKlldSS0UTKEA$TFLEET 874

Item Namel Qty Trans Uni! price Weight Extended
Line # Item NuiM:er Descsiµkm Tax Shipped UCN Price UOM Net/Gross Price

1-QUO 439(37 K±:"Ch!o,'j§od. Hypo 12.5%) N 110,0000 GA $1.5000 GA 1,109,9 LB $165.00
1 GA BLK (Mini-Bulk) 110.0000 GA 1,201.6 GW

11.010 Fuel Surcharge Freight N 1.0000 EA $12.0000 $12.00

""'"""' Receive Your Invoice vIa Email ""'"""'
Please coMa¢t our AccountsReceivable Department via email at CtedlUjept@Hawkinshmcom

Qr¢ai| 612-331-6910 [g get it setup on your account.

/)u
I "vlkgni: ( C ¢\\ S

i
- 3?p -

f)'? j)',sjc1
- !aj( c")""

,
kCP

i>"P pN""" '

<< · · ,,
C ,;t t;' ,:' /.^"'""'"-°';tj t >b

,.

Page 1 of 1 Tax Rate Sales Tax
invoice Total $177.00

0 % $Q.00

NoDiscounts gyeFrefgMAy Contmm " \!1QPOR7ANF:A'lµodjct50f?$4$!d»'"^c-y»;rmevof anyI'M cAd yupch3$Ef5vA.bi.
,
'Ec wm tc3cs, dcfewrmsUat.'.ty Qt sackprodma / -r / ' \

Ar 816forr;fge. $e"c(micam that a4 bQGJb cotcrcg by ik3 inw¶ceIp2reF&cedh cmy!ianca Bsh{tieFEBUUN,S ¢lm Fa""Le&r
i Law cuts; 111(%

52t)d3t,& Act Uf.{93&.as emmea. Ccr,WRER$ Uta fa ha pa'd kc a e'l q3 lm:m. amS ba tesmsd ¥E!b2 mkk p'utr'p$n ;wMa$ ! Please P.O, B A 860263 i¢-»La'AE¥5 aw re:uFnedEq Q?i!Nz{µc-XIUF Et"prsiehLRam[n NtSfit chargest7 be FdCPS'4 The cqrIc'aef5¥tkmed r,cziN lhE $z'n¢ i Remit Tq : u "
qnGRa?(sh'¥PaS-:rkS shu/irrig eacacsof ebuae,g? Lise fer µrµm C$f{Mnm 51F-t&g2OF vslg"sa1 tcntiCntr5. 8£';ecspecifc24 I

r
2 jr "Gsc'e'm3?nae¥tl: desah¥mt(2n¥dmachanubztyacid tug w?(r$«l,/Qf&3&5$kEBMtl'¢uktWspnw \ /LlnHe(i/)O/tsgNN J5486-0263)FLOGLAil/lSForLOS3,DAKLABEORLEAKAGEALLUWEQAFTER1)ELNERYiS 5'ADE1St(3000CQIJDMOH, W

This eemgractorzRci subconb/ador ahalt 3bjik by fltlt nzqul.rtmenk d at CFR? ¢¢-U(a},€04cO-E(a)and 60.Ul,Sta)-Theseegulj[hm$prohibit d{$¢flm|rwtiQnatplnstquaMcAiridkiduMsbjsttd¢n\ qh¢lfmkisos pro:eclcC
vetarans or Mivlduds wIsh disabif#i1$,am prohibitdSscnmlnziiw ASµin$tAt c{kicl0afshibSEd db tmsrEa?ej C<R91, reiiglon, »ex, or natiomjndgftn btmtni'er,ume regdaiboErequire {hA ¢0Y€TCG priirgccnnuacmsam
Su&onmctorsLaks aNirmatfteaction toempbyatidadimcememploynmIMPMtNlhmAhoWmard ¢3 vacc. CB{GT,Miqion,sex.n7!icndwIN,pTcif:cfed YEQerml sktnsqt<fmbihly.

www.hawkmsinc.ccm Job# 1092510



Riverside ManagementServices, Inc Invoice9656FloridaMiningBlvd.W,
Building300, Suite30S
jacksonville, FL 32257

Invoice #: 364

Invoke Date: 6/15/2021
Duo Date: 6/15/2021

Bill To: Case:

RolllngHills COD
P,0, Number:

475 WestTownPlace
Suite 114
St. Augustina,FL 32092

Description Hours/Qty Rate Amount
"Fqai[yMaintenanceMin%ay 31,'2021

" 2,523.15 2,523,15
MaintenanceSupplies 1,121,29 1,121,29

Fc,ci l"lj N";r\}eNg,^(RAQR,,S g cB 807,cq

i. 33o .
S")DOOl 'Krl7jj

mc(t"'/mci:n~gk^c& -fi'eQ $ qla.&7
1. 3(jl3 4 53goo ,

/dCcl)0

9PerEa;^OS-'pf)iieS g 'R3 .X
I A33'J

. S 73OO . Sdmjo

IN'

Total $3,644.44

Payments/Credlts $0.00
.

Balance Due $3,644.44
.,,,, ,,,, . .

(,, ) \'
')"\

/.' ' ·"1 '
t. ,A::':'"



RNS
tq:;"·.

- ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITYDEVELOPMENTDISTRICT
,

,·'·':;2'j
-,

" MAINTENANCEBILLABLE HOURS ""' """' ""'"
>- FOR THE MONTHOF MAY 2021 ·t..

Wtq t!gµk6 EmploVoe pasmptjan :

6/3/21 2 F.S, Remved debtisfrom 8RHl)t{ycbmbi,pod, common areas, µ1aygroundand tuadways,
changadhash ti3%ptac{88 '

5/6/21 6 L,F, Light lnspoclbn,chan9& llghlsh fltnass center, inspectod bowdwaik,lepakad tdmaroum
misnjrIn Mmss center, p8v(krapakonpoQt deck

5/7/21 2 L.F. Ejbw teavosand debrisoft pooldc¢k, removed dBbfis fFCjfTlamonlly¢'BMC1,pod,ccmmn
ams, ptaygtound and loadw&y$

6/7/2¶ 3 B,H, RamvMdebhs from amnltyenter,pool, common amas, playground andmadways,

changedtrash rac6ptad0$
5/10/21 2 L.F, Chang%kadi fecgpla¢fes,romovmdobds fromamanky center, pod, common

amas, µ1aygroundmdmdways
5/12/21 4 L.F. Replaced lightbulbslhrmghoufawmily enter,replacMb&llast8 In Mriass center 1lgh(s,

pick® up.supplle$,rigmovt3ddiobhslblrauehout mmmuMy
· 5/12/21 8 bjl chedcO md ¢hamgdcmtllghtbulbs around animltymnlec checked and changed oR

trash tecsptadas,remved debhs from anmfty enter,pod, common araag, playOlound$

aM roadways, blewlaavos and dcbd$ OH all commcmareas
5/17/21 2 L.F. Chanydlight fixtures, blewleaws and tkbdsoff puoldeck
5/·17/21 2 B.H. Remtjved dabds humammllyCRt8t,pod, commonaeas, playgmundand toadweys,

changM hash Tecgp[ac|gs
6/19/21 6,$ B.H. Vacuumed gym am, lobbyand dcwmstaksgrqa In aimnltycanter, moved debM

HomamnttyccRtct, pod, common ams, playground and roadways, checked andchangad
oil trash r8¢eptadg$, Blewleaves arid debds off all txxrmjnareas

5/21/21 8 L.F. Replaced all llghts In fltncss center, paver mpakonpoOldeck, TeplacM light fixture, repair®
bu¢k81h spray team,blowleaves Bnd debris offpoqjdeck,tannlsc<jUrts mid walkways,

mmovudebhsttumamnltycenter, pool, cxjmmonams, playgtoundand roadways, ,

chang® trash fc¢¶Mcl6s
5/24/21 4 L.F. Replaced Eghl tixlUf8s In upstahs Ntchen and bathmom, repaired dcxirhandksto mtal

room, lnslaRadno vaphg slgas, mµlaced light bulbs In NMal room, pIcked up suppks
5/28/21 7 B,H. Ptgssutcwashed nNopks,ramomddabhs around community, changedtrash recqHades
5/27/21 4 R.ht lnspeidedanddeamdlakesand outfallstmctures (Used Gator8Rd LacyTraM) ;

5/27/21 4 L,F, 1ncµctedand cleaned lskt3$and outfall struducas (Used Gatorand LamaTraikw) '

5/28/21 3 l.f. sltalghNnedpoolfumituze, romowdplaslkkids pool fromtake, blew10@vc$end debris ;

off ped deck mnoveddabh$ ftam anxmlfy center, pool, common areas, playqmindarid :

roadways, chsckedand changed ah (tash receptacles

TOTAL
,

67,6
,

MILES 361 'Mileageis reimbursable porE6¢thn 112.061 FloridaStatutesMilaage Rate 20094,445
k~jda~~mb

,
4

i

I
¶

1

I

;

I

i

t

f

ROLLING HILLS i

\



. L - ,..X . ;. . . ' ' 3-"µ'" : ' i -
, ., , ,C ·

- . . . . . ,

.,,. .. .-., ,
' X

" r '

N

;
I

MAINTENANCEBILLABLEf'URCflASES i

:
i

' PerlodEnding08/05/21

DI$TBICT DA,TE SUPPLjES PERIcE EMpLoYjiE
RH
ROLLING HILLS

5/1/21 sims Radio 64.38 f.o.
5/12/21 13W CFLBulbs(14) (1612 L.F.
5/12/21 6W LEDBulbs3pk (3) 24.05 L-F.
5/12/21 TB Baltast(2) 66,42 L.F.
6/12/21 Wireconnmors 30pk 3.12 L.F.
6,/18/21 Watar 14.93 F,0.

,

6/20/28 13WQuad(ubeBubei(2) 16.03 F.O.
,

5/20/21 ledLkjhis (6) 41.19 f.c).
5/20/21 tr LEDOrb SquaraL©ht8 (4) 160.86 F.O, i

5/20/21 32W4' TU Ligbtbuibs(2) 68,96 F.O.
i

5/24/21 Flat Washers(2) ·2.71 L.F.
5/24/21 9WLEDLightBulbs 1.12 L,F,
5/24/21 4'T8LightBulbs2pk (3) MAO L.F.
5/27/21 johnDem Gator and TrailerRental mo r.m. '
6/27/21 ContraotorTrash Bags 22,94 R,M. '

5/27/21 Gas Iot john DeareGator 9.Q(J R.M.
)

i
0/1/21 SklusRadio 64.38 F.O.
6/1/21 MedicineBalk for Gym 158.70 F.O. ,

6/3/21 Tablas(2) 114.85 F.O. i

6/3/21 Sharpies 14.93 F.O.
6/3/21 Pens &60 F.O. '

6/3/21 Paper 21,25 ED,
6/3/21 Garbag8Bags (2) 45,26 F.O, i

I

TOTAL, $1,121.29
L
L

I

C

i

:

i

I

I
,

;

r

1

¥

C

V

i
I
!

I
C



C Invoice* Tree Amigos 'nvoice""5'27
Date: 06/16/2021

Outdoor Services

BilledTo: Riverside Management Services project: 30247
9655 Florida Mining Blvd Rolling Hills COD O/S
Bldg 300 Suite 305 9655 FloridaMining Blvd
jacksonvilleFL Bldg 300 Suite 3(15

jacksonville FL

I r

Description Quantity Price Ext Price

Repajred 4" mainline 1.00 400-DO 400.00

Notes:
InvoiceTotal: $400.00

. ./1'"['"/j)c\-t\ '.)'"1
ra'.{j",\(---5

)
.

3,ao
.

i) :q{;;£)t) "1( Boo
)j" '"' jf:C7

, f
.
>7L ,.,w,,,m

J,C'""" <""
,:, :' /8 a )

5000-18 Highway 17 No. 235 Fleming Island, FL 32003 Office: (904) 778-1030 Fax: (904) 778-1045
P,g,

Email:ayan@treeamigosoutdoor,comWebsite: www.TreeAmjgQsoutdooi'.com 1 ofl



@1 Invoice
'

* Tree Amigos 'nvoice#:15481
· - ·

,
Date: 06/23/2021

Outdoor Services

Billed To: Riverside ManagementServices Project: 30247
%55 Florida Mining Blvd Rolling Hills COD O/S
Bldg 300 Suite 30S 9655 Florida MiningBlvd
jacksonvilleFL Bldg 300 Suite 305

JacksonvilleFL

Description Quantity Price Ext Price

Sod replacement and moving boulders

(250) Square feet Floratam St. Augustine Sod @ $.95 per foot 250.00 0.95 237.50
Laborand equipment to move boulders 1.00 350.00 350,00

Notes:
InvoiceTotal: $587.50

L" Kn:3 SCy"t,(kb F'\'":\(', i" (L/}(tf'i(.e7

'ij.o .

I") S-C:\c)(..]
.

(·(E,dlC) t")

,?

,.
'"""a

,..,,.

,,,;:vj ,5^ ' ("W
---:, >

t,)·-f; ,A I
~,~.1j" f

5000-18 Highway 17 No. 235 Fleming island, FL 32003 Ofike: (904) 778-1030 Fax: (904) 778-1045
P,g,

Email:cryan@treeamigosoutdooccom Website: wwwjieeAmigosOutdc)oLcQm 1 of1



@ Invoice* Tree Amigos '"°""":"'
,

- --- . - Date: 06/282021
Outdoor Services

Billed To: RiversideManagementScMces project: 20247
9655 Florida Mining Blvd Rolling Hills COD
Bldg 300 Suite 305 9655 Florida MiningBlvd
jacksonvilleFL Bldg 300 Suite305

JacksonvilleFL

Description Quantity Price Ext Price

juneMonthly Landscape Maintenance 1.00 6,072.15 6,072.15

Notes:
lnwjiceTotal: $6,072.15

""f tr\y:cg'-qk. (J\t".z'i "" i e[%1')(:,e
1

· 'Z,'X) .

':: "'N"()," a

(.-i' (,:)-O'""'

.,:a4'::
JrI' ,i, \ . '

.,
{,?:)-b" ';,j.-..

/
/....

5000-18 Highway 17 No. 235 Fleming Island, FL 32003 Ofhce: (904) 778-1030 Fax: (904) 778-1045
F,,g,

Emaim'an@treeamigosoutdoc}r.camWebsite: w\Nw.TreeAmigosOutdoot.com i of1



Rolling Hills
Utility Schedule

Clay County Utility Authority

Account# Service Address Jun-21

00244868 3212-1 Bradley Creek Pkwy-Relm $ 131.39

00244869 3212-2 Bradley Creek Pkwy- Rclm $ 608.06

00253042 3212-3 Bradley Creek Pkwy-Irr $ 1,065.04

00256584 3215-2 Bradley Creek Pkwy-Irr $ 133.82

00260347 3212-4 Bradley Creek Pkwy-Residents CIub $ 304.61

$ 2,242.92

Vendor#16

001.320.53800.43100 $ 1,938.31

001.330.57200.43100 $ 304.61

$ 2,242.92



Rolling Hills
Utility Schedule

Clay County Utility Authority

Account# Service Address Jun-21

00244868 3212-1 Bradley Creek Pkwy-Rclm $ 131.39

00244869 3212-2 Bradleyereek Pkwy-Rclm $ 608.06

00253042 3212-3 Bradley Creek Pkwy - Irr $ 1,065.04

00256584 3215-2 Bradley Creek Pkwy- Irr $ 133.82

00260347 3212-4 Bradley Creek Pkwy-Residents CIub $ 304.61

$ 2,242.92

Vendor#16

001.320.53800.43100 $ 1,938.31

001.330.57200.43100 $ 304.61

$ 2,242.92



3176 Old Jennings Road, Middleburg, Florida 32068
Please visit us on the web at www.clayutility.org

Hours: Monday - Friday, 8ani-5pm Phone: 904-272-5999

Customer Name: ROLLING HILLS CDD Bill Date: 07/09/2021 Customer #: 00244868

Service Address: 3212 -1 Bradley Creek Pkwy Reclaimed Irrigation Route #: MC13020732

'9////2//ek//AF///em///////F/l///Ie/-*6'/Am/me/*/B////////#W///W/%/12/*0/8/6//41/'/We are collecting school supply donations for Tools 4
Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current Clay Schools from June 1 -September 1. School supplies
Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usage are given to Clay County public school teachers for

students in need in their classrooms.

Base Charges (Prepaid) 07/09/21 to 08/05/21 $0.00

Consumption Charges Tier 1 O.0 X 0.00 $0.00

Proration Factor: 0,0000 Tier 2 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00
Tier 3 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00
Tier 4 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00

Drop off your donataions at our office or you can shop
their Amazon wish list: https:#smile.amazon.com/hz/
charitylist/ls/17L207RVHORLW/refsmi_ext_Ink_lcl_cl

Alternative Water Supply Surcharge $0,00
Need assistance paying your bill? Lend a Helping Hand
funds are available. Contact St Catherine's Catholic Church

1 "I, for assistance at 904-639-5839
Base Charges (Prepaid) $0.00

Consumption Charges 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 Please pay $131.39 by 7/30/2021 to avoid a $3.00 late fee,

*=04--amie-mekE-#=sm'74-1-/m'viv '/44/a# "4%-r*"*-3'1 Make checks payable to CLAY COUNTY UTILITY
Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current AUTHORITY.
Number SIze Date Billed Reading Reading Usage

68272411 2 07/05/21 34 73914 73914 O Your last payment of $131.39 was posted to your account on
Base Charges (Prepaid) $131.39 06/28/2021.
Consumption Charges Tier 1 0.0 X 0.81 $0.00

Proration Factor: 1.1333 Tler 2 0.0 X 1.59 $0.00
Tier 3 0.0 X 2.40 $0.00 i *4 + f * FR * * 9 7 +p » 0, +

1

' 4[ Other Charges ) 8

Administrative Fees (Prepaid) $0.00

Capacity Fees (Prepald) $0.00 Ed
Deposit Interest Refund $0.00 ty'

JUL 1 4 2021

j

Current Charges $131.39

Previous Balance $0.00

Late Charge (If Applicable) $O.00

TOTAL AMOUNT DUE $131.39

Please return this portion with payment 1=31=32% ..I-*I.*-..

k<¢10 Clay County Utility Authority Bill Date 07/09/21

3176 Old Jennings Road Current Charges $131.39

Middleburg, Florida 32068 Current Charges Past Due After 07/30/21

Lend A Helping Hand ( If Applicable) $O.00

Previous Balance $O.00

Total Amount Due $131.39

441:3 yritaitv

ROLLING HILLS CDD Customer #:00244868

Route #:MC13020732

3212 -1 Bradley Creek Pkwy Reclaimed Irrigation
Route Group:20

4-- -*ElfiEEEN-B-.33ii.----
AYC0708B
2000000985 59/1

ROLLING HILLS CDD

C/O GMS-SF, LLC
5385N NOB HILL ROAD

SUNRISE FL 33351-4761

1111'111111111,111111.111'111 lillill' 1.111111'11,11111'11.,11"111
CLAY COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY

3176 OLD JENNINGS ROAD

MIDDLEBURG, FL 32068

CCUA-1170-4 00244868 7 MC13020732 0000013139 0000000 07302021 0 0



44)jf,

3176 Oki Jennings Road, Middleburg, Florida 32068
Please visit us on the web at www.clayutility,org

Hours: Monday - Friday, Bam-5pm Phone: 904-272-5999

Customer Name: ROLLING HILLS CDD Bill Date: 07/09/2021 Customer #: 00244869

Service Address: 3212 -2 Bradley Creek Pkwy Reclaimed Irrigation Route #: MC13020734

.....*.....//...........*.....'/---Il-'-We are collecting school supply donations for Tools 4
Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current Clay Schools from June 1 -September 1. School supplies
Number SIze Date Billed Reading Reading Usage are given to Clay County public school teachers for

students in need in their classrooms.

Base Charges (Prepald) 07/09/21 to 08/05/21 $0.00

Consumption Charges Tier 1 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00

Proratlon Factor: 0.0000 Tier 2 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00
Tier 3 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00
Tier 4 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00

Drop off your donataions at our office or you can shop
their Amazon wish list: https:#smile.amazon.com/hz/
charitylist/ls/17L207RVHORLW/refsmi_ext-Ink_lcl_cl

Alternative Water Supply Surcharge $0.00
Need assistance paying your bill? Lend a Helping Hand
funds are available. Contact St Catherine's Catholic Church

6*%**2*%3.--i-%/%1---- for assistance at 904-639-5839

Base Charges (Prepald) $O.00

Consumption Charges 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 Please pay $608.06 by 7/30/2021 to avoid a $3.00 late fee.

IWI/alll/Z<IM/479*5/£MVBIVEW#*V#*/%//a#Idm,#/Asmavalllrmlil,lAIaInWILaweli 1%4/Make checks payableto CLAYCOUNTY UTILITY
Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current AUTHORITY.

Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usage

68272412 2 07/05/21 34 67634 67938 304 Your last payment of $316.40 was posted to your account on
Base Charges (Prepald) $131.39 06/28/2021.
Consumption Charges Tier 1 136.0 X 0.81 $110.16

Proration Factor: 1.1333 Tier 2 45.3 X 1.59 $72.03
Tier 3 122.7 X 2,40 $294.48

Other Charges J
Administrative Fees (Prepaid) $0.00

Capacity Fees (Prepald) $0.00 · 1 JUL 1 1 2UZI
Deposit Interest Refund $0.00

Current Charges $608.06

Previous Balance $O.00

Late Charge (If Applicable) $0.00

TOTAL AMOUNT DUE $608.06

l. ) 2

Please return this portion with payment
........"Ill'.......Velic£El/JILU#VI/"1'"Ill//....IN./.Il

<AN_ 1 01,9 «

€1X Clay County Utility Authority Bill Date 07/0W21

4 j 3176 Old Jennings Road Current Charges $608.06

49 Middleburg, Florida 32068 Current Charges Past Due After 07/30/21

'ff<7r 304§32 Lend A Helping Hand ( If Applicable) $O.00

Previous Balance $O.00

Total Amount Due $608.06

ROLLING HILLS CDD Customer #:00244869

Route #:MC13020734

3212-2 Bradley Creek Pkwy Reclaimed Irrigation
Route Group:20

AYC07088

2000000986 59/2 .Illil lil li 11.11'll i il Ill lili '11 lil li l illilli llill,1,1 li lli i.1

CLAY COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY

ROLLING HILLS CDD

C/O GMS-SF, LLC

3176 OLD JENNINGS ROAD

MIDDLEBURG, FL 32068
5385 N NOB HILL ROAD ,=4
SUNRISE FL 33351-4761

CCUA-1170-4 00244869 7 MC13020734 0000060806 0000000 07302021 0 0



3176 Old Jennings Road, Middleburg, Florida 32068
Please visit us on the web at www,claylitility,01·g

Hours: Monday - Villay, Bam-5pm Phone: 904-272-5999

Customer Name: ROLLING HILLS CDD BIll Date: 07/09/2021 Customer #: 00253042

Service Address: 3212-3 Bradley Creek Pkwy Irrigation Route #: MC13020736

I We are collecting school supply donations for Tools 4
Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current Clay Schools from June 1 ·September 1. School supplies
Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usage are given to Clay County public school teachers for
69667781 2 0W05/21 34 30364 30695 331 students in need in their classrooms.

ma

Base Charges (Prepaid) 07/09/21 to 08/05/21 $87.01

Consumption Charges Tier 1 90.7 X 1.50 $136.05

Proration Factor: 1.1333 Tier 2 136.0 X 3.10 $421.60
Tier 3 104.3 X 4.02 $419.29
Tier 4 0.0 X 5.16 $0.00

Drop off your donataions at our office or you can shop
their Amazon wish list: https:#smile.amazon.com/hzl
charitylistlls/17L207RVHORLW/refsmi_ext_Ink_lcl_cl

Alternative Water Supply Surcharge $1.09
Need assistance paying your bill? Lend a Helping Hand
funds are available. Contact St Catherine's Catholic Church

I....."In.imil- imt,ED*#68,1,".Il:la.,2.'291,--1.)..%,-#- forassistance at 904-639-5839
Base Charges (Prepald) $O.00

Consumption Charges 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 Please pay $1065.04 by 7/30/2021 to avoid a $3.00 late
:N- fee. Make checks payableto CLAYCOUNTY UTILITY

Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current AUTHORITY.

Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usage

Your last payment of $513.12 was posted to your account on
Base Charges (Prepaid) $0.00 06/28/2021.
Consumption Charges Tier 1 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00

Proration Factor: 0.0000 Tier 2 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00
Tier 3 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 Consumer Confidence and UCMR4 Reports are available

at our office and online at:

www.clayutility.org/ccr/LAG.pdf
[ Other Charges

Administrative Fees (Prepaid) $0.00

Capacity Fees (Prepald) $0.00

Deposit Interest Refund $0/00

Current Charges $1,065.04

Previous Balance $0.00 4 0 6. 6 ' 1 G.U 4. t '.
Late Charge (lf Applicable) $0.00

f
TOTAL AMOUNT DUE $1,065.04 4, 4

8. 14.

J

Please return this portion with payment .23%#***%5*ilEmfEE /: ..

1 .t#,41*44*,A©.'
fy «13
44 . 89
4. 9 .4,9
Ati, 269>/

Clay County Utility Authority Bill Date 07/0W21

3176 Old Jennings Road Current Charges $1,065.04

Middleburg, Florida 32068 Current Charges Past Due After 07/30/21

Lend A Helping Hand ( If Applicable) $O.00

Previous Balance $O.00

Total Amount Due $1,065.04

ROLLING HILLS CDD Customer #:00253042

Route #:MC13020736

3212-3 Bradley Creek Pkwy irrigation
Route Group:20

%-g-33---#li-**---2(--
AYC0708B

2000000987 59/3 11111111111111.11111111111111111111111,1111111111111,1,11,111,111
CLAY COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY

ROLLING HILLS CDD 3176 OLD JENNINGS ROAD

C/O GMS-SF, LLC IM. MlDDLEBURG, FL 32068
5385N NOB HILL ROAD k:,4
SUNRISE FL 33351-4761

CCUA-1170-4 00253042 2 MC13020736 0000106504 0000000 07302021 0 0



i'0{46' 3176 Old Jennings Road, Middleburg, Florida 32068

Please visit tls on ttie web at www,claytitility,org
Hours: Monday - Friday, 8ain·-5pm Phone: 904-272-5999

Customer Name: ROLLING HILLS CDD Bill Date: 07/09/2021 Customer #: 00256584

Service Address: 3215-2 Bradley Creek Pkwy Reclaimed Irrigationl Route #i MC13020730

1==%eill/la#ammi/Aw,424*Flma='4''=-We are collecting school supply donations for Tools 4
Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current Clay Schools from June 1 ·September 1. School supplies
Number Size Date Billed Reading Readlng Usage are given to Clay County public school teachers for

students in need In their classrooms.

Base Charges (Prepald) 07/09/21 to 08/05/21 $0.00

Consumption Charges Tier 1 O.0 X O.00 $0.00

Proration Factor: 0.0000 Tier 2 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00
Tier 3 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00
Tier 4 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00

Drop off your donataions at our office or you can shop
their Amazon wish list: https:#smile.amazon.com/hzl
charitylistlls/17L207RVHORLW/refsmi_ext_Ink_Icl_cl

Alternative Water Supply Surcharge $0,00
Need assistance paying your bill? Lend a Helping Hand
funds are available. Contact St Catherine's Catholic Church

@*%*%20*2*%***3%%*3%2.-/.*-..#.m%. --.-=.'#.%-1 for assistance at 904-639-5839

Base Charges (Prepaid) $0.00

Consumption Charges 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 Please pay $133.82 by 7/30/2021 to avoid a $3.00 late fee.

iI* 1*2 Make checks payable to CLAY COUNTY UTILITY
Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current AUTHORITY.

Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usage

58730024 2 07/05/21 34 19379 19382 3 Your last payment of $132,20 was posted to your account on
Base Charges (Prepald) $131.39 06/28/2021.
Consumption Charges Tier 1 3.0 X 0.81 $2.43

Proration Factor: 1.1333 Tier 2 0.0 X 1.59 $0.00
Tier 3 0.0 X 2.40 $0.00

[ Other Charges
Administrative Fees (Prepaid) $0.00

Capacity Fees (Prepald) $O.00

Deposit interest Refund $0.00
4 U .66

1 4
1%,=0

Current Charges $133.82

Previous Balance $O.00

Late Charge (If Applicable) $O.00

TOTAL AMOUNT DUE $133.82

Please return this portion with payment 1-----IESEI#.-*.---*..-

H¢j Clay County Utility Authority Bill Date 07/09/21

 1 3176 Old Jennings Road Current Charges $133.82

Aff Middleburg, Florida 32068 Current Charges Past Due After 07/30/21

*9/
Lend A Helping Hand ( If Applicable) $0.00

Previous Balance $O.00

Total Amount Due $133.82

ROLLING HILLS CDD Customer #:00256584

Route #:MC13020730

3215-2 Bradley Creek Pkwy Reclaimed Irrigation
Route Group:20

AYC0708B

2000000988 59/4 1111111111111111111,1,1111111111111111.111111111111111.11.111.111
CLAY COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY

ROLLING HILLS CDD
H:'® MIDI)LEBURG, FL 32068

3176 OLD JENNINGS ROAD

C/O GMS-SF, LLC
Kiwi5385N NOB HILL ROAD

SUNRISE FL 33351-4761

CCUA 1170-4 00256584 2 MC13020730 0000013382 0000000 07302021 0 0



3176 Old Jennings Road, Middleburg, Florida 32068

Please visit us 011 the web at www.<la>gitility,org
Hours: Monday - Friday, 8am-5pm Phone: 904-272 5999

Customer Name: ROLLING HILLS CDD Bill Date: 07/09/2021 Customer #: 00260347

Service Address: 3212-4 Bradley Creek Pkwy Resident's Club Route #: MC13020738

£*-%---&--*-&---*...*%'&-.&-*----*;&-'&-.*.-#.*.*%%. We are collecting school supply donations for Tools 4
Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current Clay Schools from June 1 -September 1. School supplies
Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usage are given to Clay County public school teachers for
70003704 2 07/05/21 34 72 75 3 students in need in their classrooms,

Base Charges (Prepald) 07/09/21 to 08/05/21 $87.01

Consumption Charges Tier 1 3.0 X 2.01 $6.03
Proration Factor: 1.1333 Tier 2 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00

Tier 3 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00
Tier 4 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00

Drop off your donataions at our office or you can shop
their Amazon wish list: https:#smile.amazon.com/hzl
charitylist/ls/17L207RVHORLW/refsmi_ext_Ink_Icl_cl

Alternative Water Supply Surcharge $1.09
Need assistance paying your bill? Lend a Helping Hand
funds are available. Contact St Catherine's Catholic Church

Ilill'1 for assistance at 904-639-5839
Base Charges (Prepaid) $197.04

Consumption Charges 3.0 X 4.48 $13.44 Please pay $304.61 by 7/30/2021 to avoid a $3.00 late fee.
Ii*EY*IIINIIIINIIIUII Make checks payable to CLAY COUNTY UTILITY

Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current AUTHORITY.
Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usage

Your last payment of $298.12 was posted to your account on
Base Charges (Prepaid) $0.00 06/28/2021.
Consumption Charges Tier 1 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00

Proration Factor: 0.0000 Tier 2 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00
Tier 3 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 Consumer Confidence and UCMR4 Reports are available

at our office and online at:

www.clayutility.org/ccr/LAG.pdf
{ Other Charges ]

Administrative Fees (Prepaid) $0,00 ... I. :I. I '...t'.MilCapacity Fees (Prepald) $0,00

Deposit Interest Refund $0,00
F ¥"

Current Charges $304.61

Previous Balance $0,00 .
4 JUL 1 4 2121

Late Charge (If Applicable) $0.00

1 4 i
TOTAL AMOUNT DUE $304.61

Please return this portion with payment )-i*---'----I--.--/---.--------

A -='«P-1

)32 .4)

Clay County Utility Authority Bill Date 07/09/21

3176 Old Jennings Road Current Charges $304.61

Middleburg, Florida 32068 Current Charges Past Due After 07/30/21

Lend A Helping Hand ( If Applicable) $O.00

Previous Balance $O.00

Total Amount Due $304.61

ROLLING HILLS CDD Customer #:00260347

Route #:MC13020738

3212-4 Bradley Creek Pkwy Resident's Club
Route Group:20

AYC0708B

2000000989 59/5 .1111111111111 " Ill l i l li l il li l il li l l'111 l il li 1111111,11111,1111,1

ROLLING HILLS CDD

C/O GMS-SF, LLC
5385 N NOB HILL ROAD

SUNRISE FL 33351-4761

CLAY COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY

3176 OLD JENNINGS ROAD

MIDDLEBURG, FL 32068

CCUA-1170-4 00260347 0 MC13020738 0000030461 0000000 07302021 0 0



Thursday, July 15, 2021 at 11:33:26 AM Eastern Daylight Time

Subject: Re: Check request.

Date: Thursday, July 15, 2021 at 8:02:19 AM Eastern Daylight Time

From: Rolling Hills

To: Patti Powers

Attachments: image001.png

Patti, I need a check made out of Mark John's for $250. You already have his info He is providing live music for
us this Friday. Please mail to Rolling Hills. Thanks. -

On Th'u, Jul 15, 2021 at 7:57 AM Patti Powers <pnowers®gmssf.com> wrote:

$ Freddie - I'm in the office today, what do you need?

 Patti Powers

GMS-SE LLC

1 5385 N Nob Hill Road

\ Sunrise, FL 33351

 (954) 721-8681 x202

2. (954) 721-9202

www.govnigtsvc.com

Rpowers@Emssf.coni

From: Rolling Hills <rhmanager@riversidemgtsve.com>

Date: Tuesday, July 13, 2021 at 10:13 AM
To: Patti Powers <ppowers@gmssf.com>

Subject: Re: Automatic reply: Check request.

Whom can I contact for a check request? Thanks

On Mon, Jul 12, 2021 at 3:22 PM Patti Powers <ppowers@Rmssf,com> wrote:

Page 1 of 2



Friday, July 23, 2021 at 3:44:09 PM Eastern Daylight Time

Subject: Check request for Rolling Hills

Date: Friday, July 23, 2021 at 3:43:43 PM Eastern Daylight Time

From: Rolling Hills

To: Patti Powers

Patti

I need a check made out to Progressive Entertainment for $495.00 please. This is for a movie event scheduled for
Friday July 3Oth. You should have all their info from last year. Please mail to Rolling Hills. Thanks

Freddie Oca

Rolling Hills

3212 Bradley Creek Parkway

Green Cove Springs, Fl. 32043

(904) 531-9238

RHmanager@riversidemwtsvc.com

Page 1 of 1



i ATLANTIC %

SMARTHOME.BIZ
SHART 110 ME 69<CIAI ISI S

Rolling HIlls At Lake Asbury

C/O Goverment Mgt Sves

9655 Florida Mining Blvd West
Bldg 300 Suite 305
Jacksonville FL 32257

A
SREC:UtR·,1 :11 V

PLEASE PAY BY

Site:

Site Address:

Job No.:

Job Name:

Order No.:

Tel. 904·743-8444

www. smarthorne.biz

sales@smarthome.biz

INVOICE DATE 
07/06/2021 ]

INVOICE NO. 207969

3212 Bradley Creek Pkwy Green

Cove Spri
3212 Bradley Creek Pkwy
Green Cove Springs FL 32043
65893

Description
POOL GATE ACCESS WILL READ ACCESS CARD BUT NOT UNLOCK THE GATE

07/06/2021 - Brent Touchet:

The job is complete.
Repaired wkes to gate tested gate need adjustedlf you have any further problems with your system please contact us.

Service - Security

Sub-Total ex Tax $185.00

Tax $0.00

Total $185,00

'Thank you-we really appreciate your business! Please send payment within 21 days of Sub-Total ex Tax $185,00
receiving this Invoice. Tax $0,00
IMPORTANT: Please remember to te51 yotlr system monthly. Total Inc Tax $185.00
Need automation for your home? Vistus onlineat www.smofillonts.blt

Amount Applied $0,00

Balance Due $185,00
There wilt be a 1.5% Into fost charge per month on late Invoices.

n

p <161;1.'i iMle Ora 7
14*

/



Remit To: Clay County Sheriffs Offjce

PO Box 548/901 N. Orange Ave

GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FL 32043 Invoice Number:

Invoice Date:

SSI10166

7/15/2021
(904) 284-7575

Page: 1

Attn: Fiscal - Accounts Receivable

Bill

To: ROLLING HILLS CDD
3212 BRADLEY CREEK PKWY

GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FL 32043
PATTI POWERS

Ship
To: ROLLING HILLS CDD

3212 BRADLEY CREEK PKWY

GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FL 32043
PATTI POWERS

Customer ID C0000125

P.0, Number
P.O. Date 7/15/2021

Due Date 7/30/2021 Our Order No

Terms Net 15 Days SalesPerson

Item/Description Unit Order Otv Quantitv Unit Price Total Price

Fees-2nd Employment Admin Fee®NE 2021 16 16 5,00 80.00

Fees-2nd Employment Scheduling 3 3 25,00 75.00

liLe,

Amount Subiect to Sales Tax USO Subtotal: 155.00

Amount Exempt from Sales Tax 155.00 Invoice Discount: 0.00

Tax: 0,00

Total USD: 155.00



UOUSUL

&

WE

5

TOTAL

HOURS*r

EVENT DATE

88 3§ 8g R gl
86 Ali33 8 11
€4 14 V, 44

4g

00-08,$

$80.00 SBC.00 $30.00 00·0ES

9I (21

OTAL: OTAL Avic

3010ANI

2 2
8 8
"1 .1

4

1 m
0

04
1 8

8

%8

0

0 R
1 k

INVOICE ROLUNG HILLS

R
8

8

C

3

§
2 4

=
0 2

e, N m



COMCAST Account Number Billing Date  Services From Page

BUSINESS 8495741231221031 Jul 04,2021  Jul 14,2021 to Aug 13,2021 lof4

Hello Rolling Hills Ameni Center,

Thanks for choosing Comcast Business.

2 ..J g e Your bill explained
8 . - 2. 8.. . a." . . 6 - I e

:'' e: e .2. 66@

Previous balance

Payment - thank you Jul 04

Credits Page 3

Balance forward

Regular monthly charges Page 3

Taxes, fees and other charges Page 3

New charges

$288.49

-$288.49

-$7.09

-$7.09

$283.90

$4.67

$288,47

• Any payments received or account activity after Jul 04,
2021 will show up on your next bill. View your most up-
to-date account balance at business.comcast.com/

myaccount.

• This page gives you a quick summary of your monthly
bill. A detailed breakdown of your charges begins on

page 3.

Need help?
Visit business.comcast.com/help or see page 2 for other ways
to contact us.

*f' 4.L%L  I I' 4 ,
,

9 % :,

tu ;4
b

 JUL 1 3 2021

i
Pdf.

Detach the bottom portion of this bill and enclose with your payment Please write your account number on your checl< or money order

Do not include correspondence with payment

COMCAST
Account number 8495 74 123 1221031

BUSINESS
Payment due Jul 25,2021

141 NW 16TH ST $281.38Please pay
POMPANO BEACH FL 33060-5250
98330310 NO RP 04 20210704 NNNNNNNY 0000711 0004

Amount enclosed $
ROLLING HILLS AMENI CENTER

6385 N NOE HILL RD

SUNRISE, FL 33351-4761
Make checks payable to Comcast

Do not send cash

lll,II,I,II,Illlll.Illll,,ill,llllil'll,llll,I,llllllllllllllllll Send payment to

COMCAST

POBOX 71211

CHARLOTTE NC 28272-1211

,lll,I,ll,,lllllllllllllllll,,Iillllll,llliilllll,llilllll,Illlll

849574123122103100281386

AMAnnin NO AP M 90218704 NNMNNNNY 0000711 onnt



COMCAST Account Number Billing Date Services From Page

BUSINESS 8495 74 123 1221031 Jul 04,2021 Jul 14, 2021 to Aug 13, 2021 3 of 4

2 - %Ilm%.B.B..#)I.I/B%#I...../.-I-*.%-BB*/I=.. Im*I#-I#.#I
Previous balance

Payment - thank you

Credits

Courtesy Sports - Adjustment

$288.49

Jul 04 $288.49

-$7.09

Jun 07 -$7.09

$56.20

$0.50

$38.75

$16,95

$32.90

$19.45

$2,00

$8.45

$3,00

What's included?

Comcast Business services $194.80 Internet: Fast, reliable internet on our Gig-

speed network

TV Standard $59.95

Business Video 1.
TV: Keep your employees informed and

Inck,rlas $ 16.00 fleivicn I)i'*:oint
customers entertained

Starter $69.95
B ./

€ 4)1 Voice Numbers: (904)531-9238
Business Internet

Static IP - 1 $19.95 Visit business.comcast.com/myaccount for more

Voice Une $39.95 details

Business Voice

Voice Mail Se,vice $5.00 Yoli'vo saved $35.45 t|tis month with your seivice

(liscollills.

Equipment & services

TV Adapter

lik.ludes $9.45 Sorvico DIscount

Service To Additional TV

With TV Adapter
Qty 5 @ $7,75 each
litch icies (411.(),) »vice 1)1,3<:c,id

Equipment Fee

Voice

Service fees

Broadcast TV Fee

Directory Usting Management Fee

Regional Sports Fee

Voice Network Investment

Other charges $4.57

Federal Universal Service Fund $3.16

Regulatory Cost Recovery $1.41

Additional information

Afn,1(Yln NO AP M 9n91070d NNMNAINNY 0000711 nand



Jeffrey Deese
4990 Windmill Court

Middleburg, FL 32068
904-219-0579

jadeese@clavsheriff.com

CCSO OFF"DUTY INVOICE

INVOICE DATE

DATE:7-3-21

TO:

Rolling Hills Community Development District

3212 Bradley Creek Blvd.

Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

FOR:

Property Manager

DATE
DESCRIPTION

WORKED

TIME
HOURS RATE AMOUNT

IN/OUT

7-3-21 Neighborhood Patrol/ Security

Checked preservearea.

Patrolled entire development

Checked Clubhouse, pool, and boardwalk area.

 Patrolled entire development.
Checked rear undeveloped area.

1000-1400 4.0 30.00 120.00

Conducted 2 traffic stops (1 equipment violation, 1 traffic control)

DEPUTYSIGNATURE: TOTAL 120.00

Make all checks payable to Jeffrey Deese

Thank you for your business!



Jeffrey Deese
4990 Windmill Court

Middleburg, FL 32068
904-219-0579

ladeese@claysheriff.com

CCSO OFF-DUTY INVOICE

INVOICE DATE

DATE:7-14-21

TO:

Rolling Hills Community Development District
3212 Bradley Creek Blvd.

Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

FOR:

Property Manager

DATE

WORKED
DESCRIPTION

TIME

IN/OUT
HOURS RATE AMOUNT

7-14-21 Neighborhood Patrol/ Security

Checked preserve area.

Patrolled entire development

Checked Clubhouse, pool, and boardwalk area.

Patrolled entire development.

Checked rear undeveloped area.

1600-2000 4.0 30.00 120.00

Conducted 3 traffic stops

DEPUTY SIGNATURE: TOTAL 120.00

Make all checks payable to Jeffrey Deese

Thank you for your business!



Jeffrey Deese
4990 Windmill Court

Middleburg, FL 32068
904-219-0579

iadeese@claysheriff.com

CCSO OFF-DUTY INVOICE

INVOICE DATE

DATE:7-16-21

TO:

Rolling Hills Community Development District

3212 Bradley Creek Blvd.
Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

FOR:

Property Manager

DATE TIME
DESCRIPTION

WORKED IN/OUT
HOURS RATE AMOUNT

7-16-21 Neighborhood Patrol/ Security 1300-1700 4.0 30.00 120.00

Checked preserve area.

Patrolled entire development

Checked Clubhouse, pool, and boardwalk area,

| Patrolled entire development.

Checked rear undeveloped area.

DEPUTY SIGNATURE: TOTAL 120.00

1«
Make all checks payable to jeffrey Deese

Thank you for your businessl



Jeffrey Deese
4990 Windmill Court

Middleburg, FL 32068
904-219-0579

ladeese@clavsheriff.com

CCSO OFF-DUTY INVOICE

INVOICE DATE

DATE:7-25-21

TO:

Rolling Hills Community Development District

3212 Bradley Creek Blvd.

Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

FOR:

Property Manager

DATE TIME
DESCRIPTION

WORKED IN/OUT
HOURS RATE AMOUNT

7-25-21 Neighborhood Patrol/ Security

Checked preservearea.

Patrolled entire development

Checked Clubhouse, pool, and boardwalk area.

Patrolled entire development,

Checked rear undeveloped area.

0800-1200 4.0 30.00 120.00

DEPUTYSIGNATURE: TOTAL 120.00

31/
Make all checks payable to Jeffrey Deese

Thank you for your businessl



GFL Environmental

P: (904) 760-5880
JacksonvilleFL@gflenv.com

ROLLING HILLS CDD

5385 N KNOB HILL RD

ROLLING HILLS

SUNRISE, FL 33351-4761

environmental

CUSTOMER NO.

INVOICE NO.

INVOICE DATE

DUE DATE
TOTAL AMOUNT DUE

REFERENCE NO.

AMOUNT OF REMITTANCE $

UG-103664

UG0000022453

06/21/2021

Due Upon Receipt
$1,062.26

00555193UG000002245300103664000000001195858

DATE DESCRIPTION REFERENCE RATE QTY. AMOUNT

(0000)

21 - Jun CLAY COUNTY FRAN FEE 14% at 14.000% on $6.50 $0,91

SITE TOTAL

(0001)
ROLLING HILLS CDD

3212 BRADLEY CREEK PKWY, GREEN COVE SPRINGS FL

$0.91

Se,v #001 COMM FRONTLOAD WASTE PERM 8YD

21 - Jun TRASH STANDARD SERVICE $777.05 1.00 $777.05

Jul 01/21 - Jul 31/21

21 - Jun ENERGY CHARGE $265.44

21 - Jun CLAY COUNTY FRAN FEE 14% at 14.000% on $1,042.49 $145.95

SITE TOTAL $1,1881,44
(0000)

21 -Jun C ADMIIN FEE $6.50

Due to increased costs, your next invoice may reflect a price increase.

SC45201

SITE TOTAL $6.50

Notes:

, n, 33.945 REMIT TO:
IL// 7 ,

GFL Environmental

PO BOX 555193

DETROIT MI 48255-5193

CURRENT 31 - 60 DAYS 61 - 90 DAYS i OVER 90 DAYS ' ACCOUNT TOTAL

$1,195.85 | $0.00 $0.00 | ($133.59)  $1,062.26 TOTALINVOICE $1,195.85

A

CUSTOMER NO UG-103664 INVOICE DATE 06/21/2021 INVOICE NO. UG0000022453

Page 1 of 1



Governmental Management Services, LLC
1001 Bradford Way
Kingston, TN 37763

Invoice

Bill To:

Rolling Hills ODD
475 West Town Place
Suite 114

St. Augustine, FL 32090

Invoice #: 220
Invoice Date: 7/1/21

Due Date: 7/1/21

Case:

P.O. Number:

Description Hours/Qty Rate Amount

Management Fees - July 2021 3,433.33 3,433.33

Website Administration -July 2021 208.33 208.33

Information Technology - July 2021 83.33 83.33

)Dissemination Agent Services - July 2021 ; 416.67 416.67
Office Supplies 15.27 15.27

rPostage 10.59 10.59

Copies 578.25 578.25

Telephone 10.99 10.99

9

Total $4,756.76

Payments/Credits $0.00

Balance Due $4,756.76



HAWKINs
Original

G.--

Hawkins, inc.
2381 Roxegme
Roseville, AIN 33113

Plimie: (612) 331-6910

INVOICE

lotal Invoice $177.00

Invoice Number 4973721

Invoice Date 6/30/21

Sales Order NumbeI/Type 3527081 SO

Branch Plant 74

Shipment Number 4085362

Sold To: 293306

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
ROLLING HILLS ESTATES CDD

c/o Patti Powers-GMS-SF, LLC
6385 N Nob Hill Rd

Sunrise FL 33351

Ship To: 298740

ROLLING HILLS ESTATES CDD

3212 Bradley Creek Pkwy
Green Cove Springs FL 32043

Net Due Date Terms FOB Description Ship Via Cuslooter P.O.# P.O. Release Sales Agent #

7/30/21 Net30 PPD Origin HAWKINS SOUTHEAST FLEET 874

Item Name/ Qty Trans Unit Price Welglit Extended

Line # · Item Number Description Tax Stiipped UOM PAce UOM Netigross Price

1.000 43967 Ultra·Chlor (Sod. Hypo 12.5%) N 110.0000 GA $1.5000 GA 1,109,9 1.3 $165.00

1 GA BO< (Minl·Billi<) 110.0000 GA 1,201.6 GW

1.010 Fuel Surcharge Freight N 1,0000 EA $12.0000 $12.00

*""-' Receive Your Invoice Via Email .'*444'Al

Please contact our Accounts Receivable Depallment via email at Credit.Dept@Hawkinslrc.com
or call 612-331·6910 to get It setup on your account.

:2/1051,63'0. 57+oe,. 54
.4

t

Tax Rat

0%

Page 1 Of 1 3 Sales Tax

$0.00
Invoice Total $177.00

III N.wn,#on r,elgl,lot e©nulne,i
IMPORTANi': Ai 03&,21* Me 40!d v.,Aivt w/,1/4 4 day tha ind twthi:ers Vi, by ther ov,n te:1$, dile.mon# su 1,13 4 01 su<h prod.Ils
hi thri *on uN. Sem wstiant, Ulal aleod; comed V #1¢$ krM¢e *no riod·,id Irt con·rance v. 9, Me i€q,bern,i•:; of the Fa'i Nbu
61„14,14*A#tof 1938.aimended Con'•heti a,etibepil<*FLit'i, 819,0!24d.Irdful „6nditlba radiverrf·V,rri,<tif
cont,he» ef, 1,6,mid M «g'n# P°Vt ¢1 *h,ment Retuin W,41 thuge, lo be r ep,63. lh. contan¢,8 ratulned musl be ¢, 0 8 0,
(40,34 8+JA)«1 and sho.v N e dena 01 Ate, 0, use ki ruff:*Se, AM thai b *Mge or ©4.9 'nal «dti,i€,i. S,·4, Moft/'57
• lt¥£ A en,1 04(Ked*$ uv %%113*n// 0/ine,charetablt, ord my,Md, 0 1 **f,i f©, a pal¢,u!/1 puip se
140 CLAIM6 FOR LOS S, DAMAGE OR LEAKAG E AU)%'AED A HER bEL[vERY 15 1,!ADE IN GOOD coNO mo N .

Please
Reinit To:

3Hawkins, Inc.
P.O. Box 860263 x

Minneapolis, MN 55486-0263 1
Tht$ <*niniter ind *ubcontiattor ihall abtdd by ba requlunwnli 4 41 CFR 4160·1.4(4 ¢0·300.414 •nd 50·74 1.64 Thike levulal!011% pnhibil d,le,imbill©n agabst quitdied Indklduili baied <·n their *tah,i as proledcdvelians o i Irldlyld,81$ M'h disabllitiks, and problbll discilmInatlen aphit ill [id;vldulls bi,id en t!„ ir jaig, co ot, iel DIon. se I, or n•liong i odg!•. Moieoyei. Re, e le gubu'on, (i qoilo 01,2 40 yeied prtnt* ¢ di/,10, 3 3,14
A ub¢onlia¢,on tike #infrni,Fi e a, Uen 1* employ an d ad iance In e mplowlent indi, Mu,13 wilhou, ag lid to i xi, co l or, 19£9! 0n, s e<, 13* Uon,1 o i l g' n, pic tict ed vi li t an * ta #, 0, di sibmly.

www.how*#ishic.cont Job# 1120580



Original

11 WKIN
morkins, Inc.

238/Rosegate
Roseville, MN 55113
Phone: (612) 331-6910

INVOICE

Total Invoice $333.46

Invoice Number 4979984

Invoice Date 7/8/21

Sales Order Nuinber/Type 3532456 SO

Branch Platit 74

Shipment Number 4072222

Sold TO: 293306
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

ROLLING HILLS ESTATES CDD

c/o Patti Powers-GMS„SF, LLC
6385 N Nob Hill Rd

Sunrise FL 33351

Ship To: 295740

ROLLING HILLS ESTATES CDD

3212 Bradley Creek Pkwy
Green Cove Springs FL 32043

Net Due Date Terms FOB Description Ship Via Customer P.O.# P.O. Release Sales Agent #

8/7/21 Net 30 PPD Origin HAWKINS SOUTHEAST FLEET B74

Item Name/ Qty Trans Unit Price Weight Extended

Line # Item Number Description Tax Price UOM NeVGross PficeShipped UOM

1.000 14420 Sodium Bicarbonate N 2.0000 BG $24.6069 BG 100.0 LB $4921

50 # BAG (POOL. GRADE) 2.0000 BG 102.0 GW

1,010 Fuel Surcharge Freight N 1.0000 EA $12.0000 $12.00

2.000 43967 U]tra Chlor (Sod. Hypo 12.5%) N 165.0000 GA St.6500 GA 1,684.9 LB $272.25

1 GA BLI< (Mini-Bulk) 165.0000 GA 1,802.3 GW

H ".RI„' Receive Your invoice Via Email *

Please contact our Accounts Recelvable Department via email at Credit.Dept@Hawkinslnc,com
or call 612-331-6910 to get it setup on youf account.

ft ni Ckim, rt.1 j\ €2

/, 3 30.57.400% 53/00 6 W

C

Se„,2 :I 4-3

Page 1 of 1 Tax Rate Sales Tax

0% $0.00
Invoice Total $333.46

NO 011¢©unls w Fi¢IUM of Co,italmrs
IMPORTA}IT: Mlf#j/<158'aO'4411'14·A4*1841,0184,14'entip,(011,$7,%»,Abitkele./nlest:.deknn'/esu!%!ry©fs..¢hfrof:.d,
for the:244.8 /.5. S t ter B a nar ts Iha l a'* Dood, cowred 4 4.$ Inwke *ere Hodwed h ¢otre ar.re w 3. Re telu t¢mert, 01 che Fa f l ak>; Hawkins, lue.
SDA:jaid; Ad of 19.8. 03 0rrended. Coata?ters #re to bared for h ful, 06 M«54. e.d rt'I relend v.,1 te mel, pron fily. fmv•led Please 1
6*'wfs are i,{i:m,3 to <4#al re'fit a Sh·FAVAL Rill,fn fied,11 Illarge, 1 ta ,repi'd. The contem mving>j moll te Re $ an» Remit'ro: PO. 8ar 860263
or*,5/ sh·prod. 09 ihei, 0 ovdtit<¢ 01 31110.0. us# foj fi#p#545 ©the( hdn 919 61**90 01 0fi•inal (©r#or·Ci$ SC¢# 6Ft<i<¢07/
d 1,4'ms 0 8,1 ex¢ 64 any #Marly ©f nwihird@Ely 044 1 ny M na rily Qf fae,$ fof a po Aid„ Pormo. Minneapolis, MN 55486-0263 w
No¢UWAS FOR lOSs, DAMAGE OR LEAKAGE AtioweD AFIER ORLIVERY Is MADEINGOOD CONDmON +

ims ionliactorandsubcon¢ri,tor *h, abidebyllip fiqui,ed*ntio!41 CFR,460.1.4(i) 40•300A{al antl60·741,5(41he,egulatiofti piohbite,$¢ilminallon«galn,IqualifiUMOMdia!*bawdontlifir,latuin, Nole¢led
vite,ins 0, in.JNWeals wilt,ditabililies, and piohibit dis¢dmimtton #•lmlall indMdudi based on fhelriate, coloi, fet,glon, $69, w mtlonaloilgin. Moreover, these reguld,lons requl,o thil cova.ed pilme tontia.io,9 and
subc©nihiciots like imimallve a¢,Ien to Impl67 and advanie In emp!*yment lndid¢u,Ii Mihout reird 14 race,Wof. 1¢*9!04 64*. n,tion,1 0,igin, p,Wo[ed vile,in ilitus or disal,lily.

w,vw. hawkims/ne.com Job# 1149771



Original

#AWKINf
Hmrkins, hic.

2381 Rosegate
Roseville, MN 55//3
Phone: 012) 331-6910

INVOICE

Total Invoice $284.25

Invoice Number 4982382

Invoice Date 7/13/21

Sales Order Number/Type 3543270 SO

Branch Plant 74

Shipment Number 4084867

Sold To: 293306
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

ROLLING HILLS ESTATES CDD

c/o Patti Powers-GMS-SF, LLC
5385 N Nob Hill Rd
Sunrise FL 33361

Ship To: 295740

ROLLING HILLS ESTATES CDD

3212 Bradley Creek Pkwy
Green Cove Springs FL 32043

Net Due Date Terms FOB De®fiption Ship Via customer P.O.# P.O. Release Sales Agent #

8/12/21 Net 30 PPD Origin HAWKINS SOUTHEAST FLEET B74

item Mainet Qty Trans Uflit Price Weight Extended

LIne # Item Nt}Inber Descriplion Tax Shipped UOM Pike UOM Net/Gross Price

1.000 43967 Ultra·Chlor (Sod, Hypo 12,5%) N 165.0000 GA $1.6500 GA 1,664.9 LB $272.26

1 GA BLK (Minl Bulk} 165.0000 GA 1,802.3 GW

1.010 Fuel Surcharge Freight N 1.0000 EA $12.0000 $12.00

Receive Your Invoice Via Email ..........

Please contact our Accounts Receivable Department via email at Credit.Dept@Hawkinslnc.com
or call 612-331-6910 toget it setup on your account.

19 ) .r Dof L < /N?/ 1 fi(1) 2

16
1. 330, 573'0(, . 54/00

- '31€/1 ,d-. 45/ f, , ",.* ri-)

Page 1 of 1 Tax Rate Sales Tax

0% $0,00
Invoice Total $284,25

No Disioubls on Fieigtitor Con!*Ing,3

I',,PORTANn Alip·»luc[5ar866'd,>louti.i,rt/olank¥·#Mfur¢Niei:1. bitte*Ank11$,d¢IMm'fiesu!*31,014#podom
17 Ule ·i ©An, 50. St'Ter *,1,00!, lhA a 3 00,45 ce·med bi, (84 Inwke viere f«od/ed M ©0#punce w.th une <6*emerili d Ine Fi r Laboi
Slatdards Act 01 1038, as Imad©! Coat#nats afe to 1,6 pa:d f©f in Zil. 06 Inv*!LO. 064 0 ¢efund %,1 te r.Ne f,10'rm. r,ovwed
«Mitie,3 afe {elwn¢4 10 069'nal F<, M ot sh:p:,om. Relurn figbM ¢b„U¢$ 10 bo pmed d. The te*m Reamed mit ta Ih8 inn·re
4%)*€41 04 show no ea¢n¢4 0, 054$0, 0, USD br 00*ose, ©lhar Mon Ine $'.Nee of Q* al (onto'a$s. Sel'er 5% ca'l,
<Avil ms aid ewArdes 807 9,vial,4 orme,©UntabM, a nd ar,y vialrirdy cMne 5& for a piN©jl# ioq)0 fe.
NO CLAIMS FOR LOSU, DAMAOE OR LEAKAGE ALLOWED AFTER DEUVERY M MADE IN GOOD CONDMON .

Please

Remit To:

Hawkins, Inc.
P.O. Box 860263 1

Minneapolis, MN 55486-0263 3
This c¢Al,A¢tor And whion#•COr sluM aWdi by th* rqul,ements 01 41 ¢FR §80·1.4(4, 60400.49) and 60·74 1.5#1. These legularlods prohtbit dii¢,imination a galmt quiririe(l Indi//duals basedon 11/Vs,acus /$ prote¢¢,4
vite:ing (>t In divIduals Hith dj„bUillos, and prohlbitdiscilmin tion 09*Init 011 lodtild/als based or thi ir //te, ¢ olor. le nglon. $,1.0, 1211*nal 64£,n. Morio·ier. Ihes e Mgglitions requlie ihat ¢ ove,ed prme tonila< Con and
sukofilia tor, ta e alfil malh,a aillon to empto, antl 0 11,ine, In ifilploymenl Imlivktuals vmhoul ngli,110 fate. Colowl HM* 6014 nalional crlotn, piolec¢ed ¥,teran s™us of d,5*114

imw.hawkins/ne.coin Job# 1159939



Original

11 WKIN
Hairkins, hic

2381 Rosegale
Roseville, MN 5511 3
Phone: (612) 331-6910

INVOICE

Total Invoice $375.00

Invoice Number 4987873

Invoice Date 7/20/21

Sales Order Number/Type 3551467 SO

Branch Plant 74

Shipment Number 4095182

Sold To: 293306

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

ROLLING HILLS ESTATES CDD

c/o Patti Powers-GMS-SF, LLC
5385 N Nob Hill Rd

Sunrise FL 33351

Ship To: 295740

ROLLING HILLS ESTATES CDD

3212 Bradley Creek Pkwy
Green Cove Springs FL 32043

Net Due Date Terms FOB Description Ship Via Customer P.O.# P.O. Release Sales Agent#

8/19/21 Net 30 PPD Origin HAWKINS SOUTHEAST FLEET B74

Item Name/ Qly · Trans Unit Price Weight Extended

Line # Item Number Description Tax Shipped UOM Price UOM NeUGross Price

1.000 43967 Ullra-Chlor (Sod. Hypo 12.654) N 220.0000 GA 81.6500 GA 2,219.8 LB $363.00

1 GA BLK (MIni·Bulk) 220.0000 GA 2,403,1 GW

1.010 Fuel Surcharge Freight N 1.0000 EA $12.0000 $12.00

Receive Your Invoice Via Email A..AR'..AA

Please contact our Accounts Receivable Department via email at Credit. Dept@HawkinsInc.com
or call 612·331-6910 to get it setup on your account.

A,) 01}vin,ch\5
1. '330.5 ./Aoo. galoo 9 l,

-4332 1

Page 1 of 1 Tax Rate Sales Tax
Invoice Total $375.00

0% $0.00

No Disiounti on Fulah,or Containeis
WPORTAI,n All,<auttieres*!d#MoOwifiant,of on,kidenapurrhaii,sa:1.4,he'f ginteils,del«m·asulal.'40(suchpicducts
Milhe*inuse. Gel'efwaliafilithitagoods<oveN.14thisiniokeweiarfodu¢¢dint©f:ancew'#,U,0,€14'iementiofth.*Finabor
$!andafd; Aa of 19 8, 3$ arranded. Cwl,hers me 20 be py lei In M. 2$ Inioked, 0,>i (u'l i€fund %%11 be m*10 pion·,bly, pio,+jed

¢©nWnm 8,8 relumed to ofig+1161 ptri, 0, sh·pm,rt Relum fre,ht chaige$ B be plera'·1 11,0 (088'Aus (etoin,4 munl N U:* sam,
or#·na:, sh·pped, ard shoN no *iden¢e of atow, or u,0 for purposes *Ule< than Lho Fle,age o f >rwn# conla'nen. SeN, *pe¢ilke
d:Wi'rra and edes any via,lanly of Ing«har,lablt,0nd any¥a,Atyof Mess for *paili,u'af pulpie.
NO CLAL,AS FOR LOSB, DAMAGE OR LEAKAOE ALLOWED AFTER DEUVERY IS MADE INGOODCOND,nON .

Please

Remit To:

Hawkins, Inc.
P.O. Box 860263

Minneapolis, MN 55486-0263

1hli ionliattor and tubcontia,tof shillah,da by the iequl<ements 0,41 CFR 4,50·1.4(al. ¢0·300.6{a),nd 10·74 1.Sta).lhoi, isoulation, piohibli dlit,Oninillon against quarmd Ind;Ilduils based on th, M status a, piol«ted
ve,ems of Ind#,duili nith dlibllill,$. and piohlblidIscilmliallon agalob, alrridtilduii b,ied on thelt me, coior, religion, six, of national 0,1,In. Moi,over, thise i,gulallon, iequlie thal cove,ed pilme iontfailor, and
sub¢Onlrattor, 1,4 alli, miti,a allon to, imploy and ad· ante In employmint Indtirlduili v.lthout i,gird lo iace, color, i,Ii,10,1, six. nillonal origin. piolitted vettian ilatui or dint,Wly.

www.hawkinshic.com Job# 1182750



Hopping Green & Sams
Attorneys and Counselors

119 S. Monroe Street Ste. 300
P.0. Box 6526

Tallahassee, FL 32314

850.222.7500

STATEMENT

June 30, 2021

Rolling Hills Community Development District
c/o Jim Oliver, District Manager
GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES

475 West Town Place, Suite 114
St. Augustine, FL 32092

Bill Number 123736

Billed through 05/31/2021

General Counsel/Monthly Meeting

RHCDD 00001 KSB

FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RENDERED

05/04/21 MKR Follow up with Bicker regarding Clay High School Swim Team agreement. 0.10 hrs

05/05/21 KSB Confer with district engineer. 0.30 hrs

05/10/21 MKR Follow up with McDougal, Oliver and Oca regarding swim team agreement. 0.10 hrs

05/20/21 MKR Prepare form of engineering agreement:. 1.00 hrs

05/24/21 MKR Follow-up with Clay County School Board attorney regarding swim team 0.10 hrs

agreement.

05/26/21 JLK Review proposed legislation; monitor committee activity and agendas; monitor 1.00 hrs

Amendment 12 implementation,

Total fees for this matter $711.50

MATTER SUMMARY

Kilinski, Jennifer L 1.00 hrs 295 /hr $295.00

Buchanan, Katie S. 0.30 hrs 305 /hr $91.50

Rigoni, Michelle K. 1.30 hrs 250 /hr $325.00

TOTAL FEES $711.50

TOTAL CHARGES FOR THIS MATTER $711.50

BILLING SUMMARY

Kilinski, Jennifer L. 1.00 hrs 295 /hr $295.00

Buchanan, Katie S. 0.30 hrs 305 /hr $91.50

Rigoni, Michelle K. 1.30 hrs 250 /hr $325.00

TOTAL FEES $711.50



Rolling Hills CDD - General Co Bill No. 123736 Page 2

TOTAL CHARGES FOR THIS BILL $711.50

Please include the bill number with your payment.



fhe Lake Doctors inc
Anultk MMAN<met Stike, ''

$42%**W#*BM#4

3543 State Road 419, Winter Springs, Fl. 32708
PIi: 800·666-5253

BIll To

ROLLING HILLS CDD

GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERV]CES, LLC
475 WEST TOWN PLACE

SUITE 1 14

ST AUGUSTINE, FL 32092

INVOICE

Invoice# 588648

Account # 718674

Invoice Date 7/1/2021

Due Date 781/2021

Rep MAS

Invoice Questions:
L.Likes@lakedoctots.coin

Payine,it Questions:
Payi),ents@lakecloctors.com

Purchase Order Number Terms

NET 30 DAYS

Invoice Date Reflects Alouth of

Sea·vice Provided

Item Description Amount

Monthly Water Matiagement Service (R) 420.00

4/3/

Customer Total Balance $420.00

Please confirmyout' bank bill payernmount mnlehesyourinvolee imolint 11'yon usen bnnkbill »
payersen·lce. Thank,0,11

Total Invoice  ' $420.00

To Itelpens#Ire prolitpt:Ind lieeurate crellit to yoltrile·count, pletise inclmle ,·our liecount 111,inbor and invoire mimberoilyotirrheck :ilid litivity.s
Include your r·emittance slub willi your paymenl.

Please visit www.takedoctors.com for yoin· local office con{Ref Inform:Ation,

PLEASE DETACH & RETURN THIS PORTION WITI I PAYMENT

Bill To Amount Enclosed Invoice# 588648

ROU,ING HILLS CDD

GOVERNMENTALMANAGEMENT SERVICES, LLC
473 WEST TOWN PLACE

SUITE 114

ST AUGUSTINE, FL 32092

Account # 718674

Date 7/1/2021

Go Green! Contact us nt Payments@Inkedoetors,coin to
have your invoices emailed,

For address ind contact updates, please entail tis at
Frontdesk@lakedoctors.com.

The Lake Doctors, Inc.
3543 State Road 419

Winter Springs, FL 32708

IF PAYING BY CREDIT CARD, FILL OUT BELOW

Maste,card Visa American Expiess
Card # "140. MICA 1,£*rion,
Card Veritication# i . 'g,Ac} . h ,<%(,(:. c«·.40:43
Exp. Dale #
I'rilit Name.

Billing Address: Cheek box itsame as above

. 441./..
Sigrlallir¢%'St":3,:' r,y,> \/% I )/1 (j fl }

t



Mechanical Solutions LLC

4249 Lazy Acres Road • Middleburg, Florida 32068
(904) 673-0016

Email: Ji®(ED,MechaiiicaISolutioilsl.LC.net

July 7, 2021

Riverside Management Services

9655 Florida Mining Boulevard, Bldg. 300

Jacksonville, FL 32257

INVOICE NUMBER: 072123

Location of Service: Rolling Hills Community Center

Work Performed: Maintenance Contract 2021 - 50% Final Bill

Perform scheduled maintenance on all HVAC equipment. Total annual
contract amount equals $1,555.

Term of contract is January 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021.

Total Due: $ 777.50

Tax Exempt Sale

@4, 53. 45(D

Thank you for the oppormnity to be your Mechanical Solution



Mechanical Solutions LLC

2360 Windswept Court · Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043
(904) 673-0016

Email: 1 njo@,MechanicaISolutionsLLC,net

June 1, 2021

Riverside Management Services

9655 Florida Mining Boulevard, Bldg, 300

Jacksonville, FL 32257 79 (490
tolD. 31"

INVOICE NUMBER: 052104

Location of Service: Rolling Hills Community Center

Work Performed: System #3 No Cooling - Tripping Breaker

05-03-21 Condenser fan bound up- free by rotating. Found bad fan capacitor,

replaced with 15 mfd from truck stock. System started and ran.
8 miles 1% hours

05-06-21 Main breaker for CU-3 tripped, checked forshorts toground. Reset

and it tripped again. Isolated compressors and condenser fan and

determined the fan was causing the trip, Removed fan from
condensing unit.

8 miles 1 hour

05-07-21 Pickup aftermarket condenser fan from supply house across the

river. Install with new 10 mfd capacitor and start up.
52 miles 3% hours

05-12-21 While replacing compressor on 3B noticed the aftermarket motor

stopping while compressor 3A was still running. Found it was

drawing over nameplate amperage. Tried adjusting blade up and

down on shaft with same result. Swapped fan from basement CU-1
which rarely runs onto CU-3. 114 hour

05-14-21 Install aftermarket motor into CU-1 and startup, overamps in this
unit too. Leave CU-1 off and order Aaon OEM motor. 1 hour

05-25-21 Install new OEM fan motor in CU-3, reinstall original motor back
into CU-1. 8 miles ' 2 hours

Thank youfor the opportunity to be your Mechanical Solution



Mechanical Solutions LLC

2360 Windswept Court • Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043
(904) 673-0016

Email: Infc,(20.Mecha,!ical SolujioitsLLC.net

Labor: 9% hours @ $90.00/hour $ 877.50

Materials: Aaon OEM condenser fan motor $ 606.00

Freight $ 76.00

Aftermarket condenser fan motor N/C

15 mfd capacitor $ 15.66

Mileage: 76 miles @ $0.55/mile $ 41.80

Total Due: $1,616.96

Tax Exempt Sale

Thank youfor the opportimity to be your Mechanical Solution



Mechanical Solutions LLC

2360 Windswept Court · Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043

(904) 673-0016
Email·. Infb@,MechanicaLS<lutioitsLLC.net

June 1, 2021

Riverside Management Services

9655 Florida Mining Boulevard, Bldg. 300

Jacksonville, FL 32257

INVOICE NUMBER:

Location of Service:

Work Performed :

052102

Rolling Hills Community Center

Replace Compressor System 3, Circuit 2

Quoted Compressor Replacement Job $ 2,900.00

Total Due: $ 2,900.00

Tax Exempt Sale

4102>
U g 64

Thank yoti for the opportunity to be your Mechanical Solution



Riverside Management Services, Inc:
9655 Florida Mining Blvd. W.
Bultdliig 300, Suite 305
Jacksonville, FL 32267

Invoice

Bill To:

Rolling HIlls CDD
475 West Town Place
Suite 114

St. Augustine, FL 32092

Invoice #: 365

Invoice Date: 7/1/2021

Due Date: 7/1/2021

Case:

P.O. Number:

Description Hours/Qty ! Rate Amount

Janitorlal Services - July 2021 36165'-la.. 4(01 0 1,070,00 1,070,00

IPool Maintenance Services - July 2021 359,0, 'fil l -, ' I (fil O 1,137.60 1,137.50
Contract Administration - July 2021 2:60.0. fl .3,21 , 2.31 % 2<j ( ) 1,793.78 1,793.75

1 Facility Management - Rolling Hills - July 2021 753 0,5 -1 0, 3'100 4,684,17 4,684.17

0 D

Total $8,685.42

Payments/Credits $O.00

Balance Due $8,685.42



Riverside Management Services, Inc
9655 Florida Mining Blvd. W.
Building 300, Suite 305
Jacksonville, FL 32267

Invoice

Bill To:

Rolling Hills CDD
475 West Town Place

Suite 114

St. Augustine, FL 32092

Invoice #: 366

Invoice Date: 6/30/2021

Due Date: 6/30/2021

Case:

P.O. Number:

Description Hours/Qty Rate Amount

June Summer Bash - 6/4/21 92,43 92.43

1 - (3 1 216 6.- b 3 0 - 11 Ct (_1 (.) C)

GD

Total $92.43

Payments/Credlts $0.00

Balance Due $92.43

1 13\9/ \
/

(Xhv



%

i

ERA

k

2tc

AR

Ul

?4#3:

C
r

00.00* EVZ 6$€t-'Zst'$

(1 5720030-49400)

Cy %02

in Gere Spj
TO %0

11=

0 4 IB&
Oi X 1-

cokehnater

$42.48 j

_x_YES

No

$400.00

snacks

$39.95 1

rd Band

Totals

$82.43

$400.00
/2- te.. W



Riverside Management Services, Inc
9656 Florida Mining Blvd, W.
Building 300, Suite 305
Jacksonville, FL 32267

Invoice

BIll To:

Rolling Hilts CDD
476 West Town Plaoe

Suite 114

St, Augustine, FL 32092

Invoice#: 367

Invoice Date: 6/30/2021

Due Date: 6/30/2021
Case:

P.O. Number:

Description Hours/Qty Rate Amount

Lifeguard Services through June 2021 293.74 16.00 4,699,84

'3 3(3. f, 1 3 . --3 1 1 0 00

lf>

Total $4,699.84

Payments/Credlts $0.00

Balance Due $4,699,84



ROLLING HILLS CDD

UFEGUARD INVOICE DETAIL

atiallklty na=dut[Qn Bate Amnunt

293,74 LIfeguardlng Services for ROLLING HILLS $ 16.00 $ 4,699.84

Covers JUNE 2021

LIFEGUARDS #330-572-34200

TOTAL DUE: $ 4,699.84-



ROLLING 1111.18 COAWUMITY DEVE LOPME NT Dle r m[ T
UNBOUARD ADECK MONITOR BILCAL,12 HOURS

FOR 7Hs MO!,TH oF JUNE 202 1

Rali HAMit Emglgig Ruglia!110

6/4/21 3.06 J.P, Llfeguaiding
6/4/21 7.70 S.8, LIfeouard/00
6/4/21 0,6D 1>.0, Llf¢guarding
(75/21 5.57 LE LINgwating
W5/21 5.73 8,1, ll(eguit,!Ing
615/21 5.63 E,D. LIfettoinitng
6/6/21 6.67 AF. LIfeguardlng
6/6/21 6,65 5,8, Lifiquatding
617/21 3.85 8.8, Lifeguirding
6/7/21 3.78 6,0, LIfequirding

6/7/21 4,13 0.8. lifeouard[ng
6/8/2 1 6,60 3.F. LIfegwardj,le
6/8/2 1 6.60 D.D. WequardIng
6/0/et 1.60 E.D. LIfi,guarding
6/9/21 1.02 B. S. LIfeou*rding
6/0/21 3.60 S.D. LIfeguPrding

6/9/21 4.18 D,8. 1.lfegl,Brdlng
6/10/21 5.63 J.F. LIfeguarding
6/10/21 5.63 9,8. Life,va,dIng
6/10/21 6.62 D.B. UNON¢ding
6/1/21 6.47 3,9, Ukgcurding
0/11/21 6.17 8,0. Ltleguaid<nil
6/12/21 4,05 JA tlfoguardIng
6/1421 3.73 AS. LIfeguardIng
6/13/21 4.08 .).F, ttlegowdIAL
6/0/21 3.95 8.6. Ltteouardlng
6/13/21 4.00 R,C. 1 fegoaniIng
6/14/21 1,32 0,5, i reguard ng
0/14/21 1.07 D.0. ileguord ng
6/14/21 1.17 R.¢, L feguard 4
6/1 5/21 4.92 j,F. L feguard 09
6/15/21 4.75 0.th L feguaid ng
6/15/21 3,50 E.D. 1 reDuard ng

6/16/21 5.75 D.B. Lfeguaid Ag
6/16/21 5,73 S.D. 1 feguard ng

6/16/22 5.40 R.C. 1 fegoard ng

6/1-7/2 1 6.73 1.F. L fegubcd ng
6/17/21 5.67 5.0, 1. (091»rd Ag
6/17/21 672 D.8. L fegvard ng
6/iW21 4.52 1.F. L /609,#ng
6/18/2£ 1.52 B.B, £ fequardng
6/18/21 4.52 E.D. L fcouafe no
6/19)21 6.88 J,f. L feguardng
6/19/21 6.87 S.B. 1 kgvard rig
6/19/21 5,65 D.B. feguard ng
6/21/Zt 3.35 8.8. feguaidng
0/21/21 3.10 D.B. _reouard ng
0/21/21 3,28 R. C, Lifeguardillg
6/22/ 2 t 1.43 S.0, lifeouarding
6/22/21 1.25 0,0. 1.lfeguardInD

6/2*21 0.75 E,D, Llfeguaiding
G/23/21 3.10 ).15, Lifegualdino
6/23/21 2.97 8,5. Liteguarding

6/23/21 185 0.0, LireguardIng

6/24/21 2.25 1,8 tlfeguarding
6/24/21 2.29 S.B. LIfeourding
6/24/21 2, D,B. Llfeouaiding6/25/11 3. J,F. 1.litaverd)ng
6/25/21 3.10 E.D, 1.lfeguirding
6/2 0/2 i 4,75 3,F. LIfeguarding
6/26,21 3,82 S. B, Ltfegua,ding
¢/2W21 1,65 B,5, t.ttegual·,Rng
¢/20/21 1,57 D.O. t.tteguanfIng

6/24/21 1.48 R.C. L{feguaiding
6/2W21 7.12 S.8. Lieg(,8/ding

6/29/21 6.90 D.B. ofeouar#Ing
6/30/21 125 3.F. illeguard,AD
0/3921 2.23 S.B. 1.INguarding
6/30/21 2./S D.B, UrevardIng

iMAND 7OTAL._221,24
LINguitding 293.74

De<k *tontti, 0.00

Ad<litIonal AllendhnULIfcouat<h
Gl Code: 3*572·342



Riverside Management Services, Inc
9655 Florida Mining Blvd. W.
Building 300, Suite 305
Jacksonville, FL 32257

Invoice

Bill To:

Rolling Hills CDD
475 West Town Place

Suite 114

St. Augustine, FL 32092

Involce#: 368

Invoice Date: 7/13/2021

Due Date: 7/13/2021
Case;

P.O. Number:

Description Hours/Qty Rate Amount

Facility Maintenance June 1 - June 30, 2021 1,977.09 1,977.09
Maintenance Supplies 810,65 810.65

FU'L»\ 1%·er<ir s r Apt,nA . 1\ ,» ·5dw.
1. 3 10 . 6 70&<, · t 1 60<,O

Reprirs I *<48 1 . /3,46,/5 'ty 4>(, ' 611
1 33,1 . 4;42(){) 1<(>f.)0(1

4tti 5901, If£ 5
L Wk>. 5 7100 - 51040

40

Total $2,787.64

Payments/Credits $0.00

Balance Due $2,787.64

1 117.11
(37'



-RMS ROLLING HILLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

MAINTENANCE BILLABLE HOURS

FOR TIle MONTH OF JUNE 2021

812 1!21!m Emulmmt Posorintlon

6/1/21 2 L.F. organized all pool furniture, rentovod debits from emenity center, common areas, pool, playground
and roadways, changed [mall recoplacles, blew leaves and debris off pool deck

0/2/21 0 B.H. Pressure washed canoptes In pool area, changed tfash receptaoles, removed debtlg from amently
center, pool, common areas, playground and madways

6fl/21 4 L.F, Repaired tile on stallway, ploked up supplies, Unlshed changing lights In litness center
6/8/21 8 L.F. Repaked pavemon pool deak, repaked door handle In litness conter, Inapected Olleetsigns, set

up for CDD meeting, removed debds fium amonlty center, common areas. pool, playoround
and modways, changed tmsh receptacles '

6/9/21 5 B.H. Removed deblis from emenlly renter pool, coinmon areas, playground and roadways,
changed tmsh receplacles, blew leaves and debrls off amently center, pool deck, playground,
parking lot anti common 8 1688 1

6/10/21 4 LF. Paver repair on pooldock, repaired toilet in women's bathroom, Inspooted lights, mmoved debils
throughout ¢on¥nunity

6/21/21 3 L.K Orgenked oll poot tumllum, removed dobils fromamently center, wmmon emas. pool, playground ,
and roadways, changed trash reppl«Cles, blew leaves and delnis off pool deck

6/23/21 8 1.,F, Replaced light timer on tennis coun, repaired and painted dlywalltn social room, Inspected elida,
canopy and playground for waspe, sprayed Waip kmaron all wasp nests, remomd debftS from

all bushes around pool, removed debils from timenity cent04 pool, compon (reao, playground :
tind roadways, checked and changed oll trash mcaptactes :

6/24/21 4 L.P. Picked up supplies, dfywall rapalf In {ltn059 center, patnted diywall repak, mmoved deblls ffom ,
amentty center, pool, common areas, playground and roadways, checked and changed ell Uash
teCeptaCIes

6/25/21 8 L,F. Ground down sidewalks, blew leaves and debfts off pooldeck and walkways, slia[ghtened poot
fumlture, lemoved debils from emenlly center, common arees, pool, playground and roadways,
checked and changed all trash moeptades

TOTAL 62

MILES , 353 'Mileage Is relmbumable per section 112.061 Flotda Stalutea Mleage Rate 2009,0,445

iROLLING HILLS 1



MAINTENANCE BILLABLE PURCHASES

Period Ending 07/00/21

p}STRICT DATE SUPPLIES
RH

ROLLING HILLS

211{SE EMPLOYEE

6/11/21 Swtlfer Cloaner 10.83 F.O.

5/11/21 Cleaner 2.28 F.0.

5/11121 Tolet Brush 10.21 F.O,

6/11/21 Swiffer Pads 13.77 F.O.
5/11/21 Wet Pads 10,32 F.O.

5/11/21 Febreeze (2) 10.25 F,O,

6/11/21 Paper Towels 17.22 F,0.

617121 Tile Morlar 9.18 LA

60/21 4* Somper 10.84 LF.

Om21 Trowd 6.73 L,F,

6/7/21 Wipes · 8.65 H.O.

6/7721 Paper Towets 17,22 F.0.

6/7/21 Cups 27.85 F,0.

017!21 Frebreeze 7,98 F.0.

6/8/21 Masks 9.17 F.O.

6/8/21 . Disinrectant Wipes 3.42 F.O.

6/8/21 Water 32.16 F.0,

6/9/21 Toilet Flush Kits (4) 165.39 TA

6/9/21 Zip Timer 28.73 LF.

6/14/21 Ink 61,72 F,0,

6/14/21 Copy Paper (2) -* 0.13 1,0.
6/18/21 poofTest Kit .0' 14.94 TA

6/20/21 Sam'$ Membership ., 26.65 P.O.

6/22/21 Locksmkh Repair ; 288.00 1.0,

6/24/21 Short Cut Brush ' 6.76 L,F.

6/24/21 Gldden Paint 13.20 L,F.

TOTAL 1=121

My.90·,/
I.Affil.--w SIt-?143



EEeq Berger, Toombs, Elam,

-e^ Gaines & Frank
CertifiedPublicAccountants PL

600 Citrus Avenue
Suite 200
Fort Pierce, Florida 34950

T72/461-6120
,

FAX: 772/468-9278

ROLLINGHILLS COMMNITYDEVELOPMENTD/STR/CT
5385 NNOB HILLROAD
SUNRISE, FL 33321

InvoiceNo, 354708
Date 06/28/2021
ClientNo. /9678

Servicesrendered in connection with the audit of the Basic FinancialStatements
as of and for the year ended September3"0, 2020.

Total InvoiceAmount $ 3,800,00

'"'
,
)""' ,!" 'i". ii'": " 7 'zj, jjr y'w))I: I.)' CA Q. ..S' )7 S"

'%J°""

(A J " )
jZGy ' Li

) ) g)))j ) ))))) ,.)

,,
»i O ""' ',i

/, t&
U"

"" E~ .7&µ"

Please enter clientnumber on your check,
Financechargesare calculated on balancesover 30 dayso|d at an annual percentage rate of 18%.

Fort Pierce / Stuart

Member AICPA Member AICPA Division For CPA Firms Member FICPA
PrivateCompaniesPracticeSection



BlackCreekElectricalServicesInc. " 1

\ State Certified EC 13002742 InvoiceB(a¢ktCreek
'° '°""' ""'

|mmhn3%meb&ea Middleburg,FL 32050
,

6/18/2021

,Printed 6/23/2021
Phone: (904) 291-7941
Fax: (904) 291-7904
Web: WWW.Blackcreekelectric.com

/ X
Bill To: Work Location:

RiversideManagement Services Primary

Attn: Freddie Oca Riverside Management Services

3212 Bradley Creek Parkway · Attn: Freddie Oca

Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 3212 Bradley Creek Parkway

Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

Work: (904)338-5723

Phone I: (904)338-5723

Terms

Net 10

\ J'

jstart Date: 6/17/2021 Repair EXIT button at thepool, Button is broken and will notactivate gate

Date Product/Service Description Price Qty Tax Amount

j
6/18/2021 Msc.Matl - Misc. Materials Seco Alarm Enforcer push to exit $39.50 L00 $0.00 $39.50

button,with builtin time delay

feature.
6/18/2021 Service Call Service call, local service call area, $99.00 0.00 $0.00 $99,00

includes the first halfhour of labor
6/18/2021 Labor rate T&M - commercia1/ Labor rate billed for misc, services, $125.00 1.00 $0.00 $125.00

industrial commercial and industrial work

r

.k

Subtotal: $263.50

Tax: $0,00

Paid: $0.00

Total: $263,50

Arriveat site, found button damagedbeyondrepair,tried to replacebuttonat poolgate with a button from anotherdoor
to restoregate operation,
Suggestedbutton was not correctfor that application.Orderednew buttonwith time delayand returnedto install.Checked
gatefor properoperation,
Notifiedcustomerof findingsso they couldactivatethe externalcard readerand put gate in service.
Workcompleted6/18/21

Thankyou for your business!

Thank You for yourbusiness.It has beena pleasure serving you! PleasePayPromptly. Terms are due upon reciept unless noted
otherwise.Alt balancesnotpaid within 30 days are subjectto a late fee

All workperformed comeswith a 1 year warrantyon parts and whichis 1,5% of the balancedue per month until the balance is paid in
labor (3 years on panels). Warrantyservicesare limitedto during full.
normal workinghours only. Alf afterhours calls are subjectto
additional charges. Customerprovided parts and fixturesare not
included in warrantyprovisions and are notcovered,

PleasePay FromThis Invoice



BlackCreekElectricalServicesInc. " x

State Certified EC 13002742 InvoiceB(aektCreek
'° '°""' ""'

s}a!atkjq} 'L%LdLF€F'q5:ua Middleburg, FL 32050
,

7/28/2021
,Printed 7/29/2021

Phone: (904) 291-7941
Fax: (904) 291-7904
Web: WWW.Blackcreekelectric.com

/ r
Bill To: Work Location:

Riverside Management Services Primary

Attn: Freddie Clea Riverside Management Services

3212 Bradley Creek Parkway Attn: Freddie Oca

Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 3212 Bradley Creek Parkway

Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

Work: (904) 338-5723

PhcmeI: (904) 338-5723
f

Terms

Net10
X I
(Start Date: 7/28/2021 Relamp several lights

Date Product/Service Description Price Qty Tax Amount

]

7/28/2021 Msc.Matl - Misc. Materials 1000 W Ballast $150.30 1.00 $0.00 $150.30

7/28/2021 Msc.Matl - MIsc. Materials 1000 W Lamps $36.48 2.00 $0.00 $72.96

7/28/2021 Labor rate T&M - commercia1/ Labor rate billed for misc. services, $125.00 4.25 $0.00 $531.25

industrial commercial and industrial work

1

! Subtotal: $754.51

Tax: $0.00

Paid: $0.00
,

Total: $754.51

Providedlift, laborand materialsto troubleshootand repairstreet lightsthatwereout. Replaced one 1000 Watt
ballast.andtwo 1000 Watt lampsas percustomer.

Thankyou for your business!

i

I

Thank You for yourbusiness.It has beena pleasure serving you! PleasePayPromptly. Terms are due upon recieptunless noted
otherwise.All balancesnotpaid within30 days are subjectto a late fee

All workperformed comes witha 1 year warrantyon parts and whichis 1.5%of the balancedue per month until thebalance is paid in
labor(3 yearson panels), Warranty services are limitedto during full,
normal workinghours only. All afterhours calls are subjectto
additionalcharges,Customerprovided parts and fixturesare not
included in warrantyprovisions and are notcovered,

' PleasePayFromThis Invoice



Rotting HMS

UtilitySchedule

Clay CountyUti/ityAuthority

Account# ServiceAddress jul-21
00244868 3212-l Bradley Creek Pkwy-Rclm $ 131.39
00244869 3212-2Bradley Creek Pkwy-Rclm $ 171.08
00253042 3212-3Bradley Creek Pkwy-lrr $ 709.36
00256584 3215-2Bradley Creek Pkwy-lrr $ 131.39
00260347 3212-4Bradley Creek Pkwy-ResidentsClub $ 304.61

$ 1,447.83

Vendor#16
001.320.53800.43100 $ 1,143.22
001.330.57200.43100 $ 304.61

$ 1,447.83



Rolting Hills
UtilitySchedule

Clay CountyUti/ityAuthority

Account# ServiceAddress Juf-21

00244868 3212-l Bradley Creek Pkwy-Rclm $ 131.39
00244869 3212-2 Bradley Creek Pkwy-Rclm $ 171.08
00253042 3212-3 BradleyCreekPkwy-lrr $ 709.36
00256584 3215-2BradleyCreek Pkwy-lrr $ 131.39
00260347 3212-4Bradley Creek Pkwy-ResidentsClub $ 304.61

$ 1,447.83

Vendor#16
001.320.53800.43100 $ 1,143.22
001.330.57200.43100 $ 304.61

$ 1,447.83



[1/5]

,,.J"y" '"""(":r}'),.,-, 3176 Old JenuZngs Road,Middiebui'g,Florida ,32068
i" .),,,, "'"")

,)1 Please Vift us €bie the vueb,a't w"%%'u',citzyEzEilgi"j.o£'2,

j'¢"1))7,,),

,,,,,,bj' Hom's: 7vlomay - fricfay, & m--5pen Pb.cme:g()./+-z72-j¢99

Customer Name: ROLLING HILLS COD Bill Date: 08/05/2021 Customer#: 00244868

Service Address: 3212 -1 Bradley Creek Pkwy Reclaimed Irrigation Route #: MC13020732
k tl*·'*kfk 4r ·4 # * 4 'lv t ~ % %tr'-h·—··—'h —a~ q 411

G m Clay CountyUtilityAuthoritywill hold a public rate
Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current hearing on Tuesday, September 7, 2021,at 7:00 PM, in
Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usag' CCUA'SBoard Room, located at 3176Old Jennings

Road, Middleburg, Florida.
Base Charges (Prepaid) 08/05/21 to 09/10/21 $0.00
Consumption Charges Tier1 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 Did you knowabouthalf of thewatermanyHoridians
Proration Factor: 0.0000 Tier2 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00

. . .
Tier3 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 use each day is sprinkledon their lawns?Take control of
Tier4 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 yourwateruse. Find out whatgrowsbest in your yard.

Alternative WaterSupply Surcharge $0.00 Visit the WaterwisePlant Databaseat sjrwmd.coml

·
m ~' · - - . .'· . - · ' '· ---- ¥y·=g · -m -'· Lg 7'· -/·W ··-- · - ·v - - · AM ·> ·- - ' ~ N ··

waterwise/search,jsp
%

' ' # 3 Ai "
,

Base Charges (Prepaid) $0.00 Please pay $131.39by 812612021to avoida $3.00 late fee.
Consumption Charges 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 Make checkspayable to CLAY COUNTYUTILITY

" - -
' " ' AUTHORITY.

Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current
Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usage Your last paymentof $131.39was posted to your accounton
68272411 2 08/02/21 28 73914 73914 0 07/16/2021,
Base Charges (Prepaid) $131.39
Consumption Charges Tier 1 0.0 X 0.81 $0.00
Proration Factor: 0.9333 Tier 2 0,0 X 1.59 $0.00

Tier 3 0.0 X 2.40 $0.00

N ," ;g ' "y

( Other Charges ) j "
'

Administrative Fees (Prepaid) $0.00 i)'-
3 ) I i) " % ,"j'j9CapacityFees (Prepaid) $0.00 :, j' ,'4¢jj' ) i =

%£

Depos't Interest Refund $0 00 )1 ),
,* ,,

Current Charges $131.39 ")J
Previous Balance $0.00
Late Charge (If Applicable) $0.00

TOTAL AMOUNT DUE $131.39
(—'·'~lr- 'IF ~1111% if 4 4

-
4r —mi--—-^-~

Please return this portionvvith payment 3
G

j)ji' ci}i),i'")'u,
Clay County Utikty Authority B'll Date 08/05/21

I) i)"

' { ') ,)J 3176 Old Jennings Road Current Charges $131.39
'""'") ) '

,jjjv' Middleburg, Florida 32068 CurrentChargesPast Due After 08/26/21""1")'."'"y-
,,,j'ii)'y '

Lend A Helping Hand ( If Applicable) $0.00

PreviousBalance $0.00

Total Amount Due $131.39

ROLLING HILLS COD Customer #:00244868

Route #:MC13020732
3212 -1 Bradley Creek Pkwy Reclaimed Irrigation

Route Group:20

' @ B 7 "
e . , ' " ' ' g

AYC0805A
2000000975 58/1 4hlµ[hµdmqMH%!'|MUNE[ud&6[0R{h[d

CLAYCOUNTY UTILITYAUTHORITY
rollinghills cdd wing 3176 old jenningsroad

@ ClO GMS-SF,LLC . MIDDLEBURG, FL 32068
5385NNOB HILL ROAD
SUNRISEFL 33351-4761

CCUA-1170-4 0024UOb8 4 HCJ30i20732 000001,313¶ 0CKID000 0&2hi2021, 0 D





[2/5]

y(ji.'"[."(/|,i,,.,, 3 176 Old Jennings Road, MiAdiebm"g, Florida 320614
',"

I ),
'j ') Please visit us on tbe vieb at vTm'vAtzy[itihUzox'g

'J" -i -" " -)1 Hours: Mimdav -
Fg-ichgy:2agn--5pE"n Phone: 9M-272--5999

qI{A'"
.

,\^'\C'y'""' '

Ill ·· 'b· "·ii~- 'r IF %

Customer Name: ROLLING HILLS COD Bill Date: 08/05/2021 Customer#: 00244869

Service Address: 3212 -2 Bradley Creek Pkwy Reclaimed Irrigation Route #: MC13020734
F==mrmm·'-'a^lth % h"· " - '-· "r====mFm==mp' · '— 41· ——· !1———·

m4r,'- - ·.- '—'
· fill '%qrm=m=m==m %-— — ' ·11-'-——4~4k===j

Clay CountyUtility Authoritywill hold a public rate
Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current hearing on Tuesday, September 7, 2021, at 7:00 PM, in
Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usage CCUA'SBoard Room, located at 3176Old Jennings

Road, Middleburg,Florida.
Base Charges (Prepaid) 08/05/21 to 09/10/21 $0.00
Consumption Charges Tier1 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 Did you knowabouthalf of the watermany Floridians
Proration Factor: 0.0000 Tier2 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00

. .
Tier3 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 use each day is sprinkledon their lawns?Take control of
Tier4 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 yourwateruse. Find outwhatgrowsbest in your yard.

AlternativeWaterSupply Surcharge $0.00 Visit the WaterwisePlantDatabaseat sjrwmd.coml
waterwise/search.jsp

.

Base Charges (Prepaid) $0.00 Please pay $171.08by 812612021to avoida $3.00 late fee.
Consumption Charges 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 Wake checkspayable to CLAY COUNTYUTILITY

" t> - AUTHORITY.

Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current
Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usage Your last paymentof $608,06was postedto your accounton
68272412 2 08/02/21 28 67938 67987 49 07/16/2021.
Base Charges (Prepaid) $131.39
Consumption Charges Tierl 49.0 X 0.81 $39.69
Proration Factor: 0.9333 Tier2 0,0 X 1.59 $0.00

Tier3 0.0 X 2.40 $0.00

( Other Charges )
,€, , y

Administrative Fees (Prepaid) $0.00 ) " M !' -'
,

" ,! "',,,,,
,

'
'

Capacity Fees (Prepaid) $0.00 i:' ). "

Depos't Interest Refund $0 00 ' '"'
µ , .

Sr" '.:; & ' " g '0 % ,1 p 2j S

"' · -'d U , i
Current Charges $171.08 ), -t:

g i'Si
Previous Balance $0.00 ) 7"

Late Charge (If Applicable) $0.00
1.7

:'""

TOTAL AMOUNT DUE $171.08
{ ffkt 4 ill-—*HI 41 Lh4r- -·-— .. ll—~ '"'fir- fkr"—-· ·- · -d -—

Please return this portionwith payment i: ,

,,

jg)j ii)i,!ilj))i
Clay County UfiliiyAuihority Bill Date 08/05/21

): il"

Z-
"

'))
" 31'76Old Jennings Road Current Charges $171.08

\{)ij,),)(,, I-j) J"
Middleburg, Florida 32(J68 CurrentChargesPast Due After 08/26/21

Lend A Helping Hand ( If Applicable) $0.00

PreviousBalance $0.00

Total AmountDue $171.08

ROLLING HILLS COD Customer #:00244869

Route #:MC13020734
3212 -2 Bradley Creek Pkwy Reclaimed Irrigation

Route Group:20

' @ u " ' L E k ' ' 0

AYC0805A
2000000976 58/2 ¶Qm%µdk44NMHMqMI[N'[HBht[RRthud

CLAYCOUNTY UTILITYAUTHORITY
ROLLING HILLS CDD 3176 OLD JENNINGSROAD
ClO GMS-SF,LLC

:N MIDDLEBURG, FL 32068
5385 N NOB HILL ROAD
SUNRISEFL 33351-4761

CCUA-1170-4 Dlj2'140b¶ D HCl3021j734 0000017100 0000000 0&2h2021 0 0





[3/5]

a-U '""'"-i""i'j).-., 3 176 (jhj Jennings Road., M](k|.jehKu"b3,Flm'kfa 3?Mi'
i" J ") '") i'ietzse visit us on ibc vA> at v/vvvjAayutE|it}ugk'Z

"I1) ,,ryi))" Hours: Mouchy--
Fi-iAzzy, &Un-5t)m Phcme: 9()4-272-5999

L- 4 Ik 'r-—·—" ·—~m

Customer Name: ROLLING HILLS COD Ejill Date: 08/05/2021 Customer#: 00253042

Service Address: 3212-3 Bradley Creek Pkwy Irrigation Route #: MC13020736
f=mµ=m~=w=¶T%m · '. · '· '. ii ' ft -·—flllfF'* fl · . -· " '"-''- f Hu' 'tP'· '·· ·' ii tl 4 I -k 4

Clay CountyUtility Authoritywill hold a public rate

Meter Meter Read Days
"

Previous Current "Current hearing on Tuesday, September 7, 2021, at 7:00 PM, in
Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usag' CCUA's Board Room, located at 3176 Old Jennings
69667781 2 08/02/21 28 30695 30922 227 Road, Middieburg,Florida.
Base Charges (Prepaid) 08/05/21 to 09/10/21 $87.01
Consumption Charges Tier1 74.7 X 1.50 $112.05 Did you knowabouthalf of thewatermany Floridians
Proration Factor: 0.9333 Tier2 112.0 X 3.10 $347.20 . . .

Tier3 40.3 X 4.02 $162.01 use each day is sprinkledon their lawns?Take control of
Tier4 0.0 X 5,16 $0.00 your water.use. Find out whatgrowsbest in your yard.

Alternative Water Supply Surcharge $1.09 Visit the \NaterwisePlantDatabaseat sjrwmd.coml

' - - - " " ' '"WP'" " - ""' " ' ' "L" "'" " " "'"m'"-' ' - G' -· ·' -· ·W/ - - --
waterwise/search.jsp

.g " .
.

""
, , . ml

Base Charges (Prepaid) $0.00 Please pay $709.36by 812612021to avoida $3.00 late fee.
Consumption Charges 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 Make checks payable to CLAY COUNTYUTILITY

" M - AUTHORITY.

Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current
Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usage Your last paymentof $1065.04was postedto your account

on 07/16/2021.
Base Charges (Prepaid) $0.00
Consumption Charges Tier1 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 . .
Proration Factor: 0.0000 Tier2 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 ConsumerConfidenceand UCMR4Reports are avadable

Tier3 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 at our office and onlineat:
MAM/.clayuti!ity.org/ccr/LAG.pdf

( Other Charges )
Administrative Fees (Prepaid) $0.00 -%:· - · ' .' "'H®

7

Capacity Fees (Prepaid) $0.00 I "' "

,.
'

"'
, ,,

"'
S' ""

Deposit Interest Refund $0.00 )'

Current Charges $709.36 j' Z Jz)tt) ) ) Jjgjj
Previous Balance $0,00 )' '")} r ':"

,«.
..'TB i ,·

Late Charge (If Applicable) $0.00 J? )"- l, -k·j

TOTAL AMOUNT DUE $709.36 ' --- -

1% * Ill r r'"- t

Please return this portionvvithpayment : ,

,,,,4j|ji [")n)j, Clay County Utility Authority Bil! Date 08/05/21
jj j'"" I ""') '),),

31 16 Old Jennings Road Current Charges $709 36

))),,)J)"' Middlebury,Florida 32068 CurrentChargesPast Due After 08/26/21

Lend A Helping Hand ( If Applicable) $0.00

PreviousBalance $0.00

Total Amount Due $709.36

ROLLING HILLS COD Customer #:00253042

Route #:MC13020736
3212-3 Bradley Creek Pkwy Irrigation

Route Group:20

' 0 @ " "
,

A '* h .' i9

AYC0805A
2000000977 58/3 44NM"4[[m4MUMh|qm[Eut'firh¶[U4hr[

CLAYCOUNTYUTILITYAUTHORITY
ROLLING HILLS CDD 3176 OLD JENNINGSROAD
ClO GMS-SF,LLC q* MIDDLEBURG, FL 32068
5385NNOB HILL ROAD ©SUNRISEFL 33351-4761

CCUA-1170-4 002530'412 4 NCI30120?3E, 0D00070¶3b 0000000 0&262021 0 0





[4/5]

,,,:,,ji' """tj\'}'j:,
,

5 176 Old fejv'i"gsMad, PAiAc.i|e(}urZ,E1oi",itj320Goo

g' ,""" "",) Please vzsEt us on the vieb at vv"nuvAayuteht"y.oKY
'))Ij)

,,,,j"J)))
Hoi'srs: Monday- Friday?auz-5pni Phone:9()4-272-:q9y)

Customer Name: ROLLING HILLS CDD '

Bill Date: 08/05/2021 Customer#: 00256584

Service Address: 3215-2 Bradley Creek Pkwy Reclaimed Irrigation Route #: MC13020730
@ tr tkl # VII ' 4 ii 'If t ~ t m- 'Ilk ^r· tl *

G - Clay CountyUtilityAuthoritywill hold a public rate
Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current hearing on Tuesday, September 7, 2021, at 7:00 PW, in
Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usage CCUA'SBoard Room, located at 3176 Old Jennings

Road, Middleburg,Florida.
Base Charges (Prepaid) 08/05/21 to 09/10/21 $0.00
Consumption Charges Tier1 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 Did you knowabout halfof thewatermanyFloridians
Proration Factor: 0.0000 Tier2 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00

. . .
Tier3 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 use each day fS sprinkledon their lawns?Take controlof
Tier4 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 your wateruse. Find out whatgrowsbest in your yard.

Alternative WaterSupply Surcharge $0.00 Visit the WaterwisePlant Databaseat sjrwmd,com/

.. -- Ww . . , YMW m. - W .. . W .
waterwise/search.jsp

qbuiT
.

"
. , a

Base Charges (Prepaid) $0.00 Please pay $131.39by 8/26/2021to avoida $3.00 late fee.
Consumption Charges 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 Make checkspayable to CLAY COUNTYUTILITY

" 3 -
'

AUTHORITY.

Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current
Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usage Your last paymentof $133.82was postedto your accounton
58730024 2 08/02/21 28 19382 19382 0 07/16/2021.
Base Charges (Prepaid) $131.39
Consumption Charges Tier1 0,0 X 0.81 $0.00
Proration Factor: 0.9333 Tier2 0.0 X 1.59 $0.00

Tier3 0.0 X 2.40 $0.00

1

Other Charges )

Administrative Fees (Prepaid) $0.00
Capacity Fees (Prepaid) $0.00 I -Deposit Interest Refund $0.00 }' )

, ¥'

Current Charges $131.39 ,."
, g ,9 u'" j ':"·' ' '

Previous Balance $0 00 ) ' µ' " ', j i " X qi«' '

Late Charge (If Applicable) $0.00 .j.
.-.-'t,

TOTAL AMOUNT DUE $131.39 .- .
'"

if' + IF '1%--"m-'fir P t' tm· ·'w'——mk~4+-———'——-—'— ·—~ ¥ tr~· -%- 'yn lh % 41

Please return thisportionvvith payment g
€

Iq)) 'ij '""j)llz") Clay County Utility Authority Bill Date 08/05/21
(i' ) , 7 ,,

'I) '))
3176 Old JenrmgsRoad Current Charges $131.39

lO 3 ,' -I -zj Middleburg, Florida 32068 CurrentChargesPast Due After 08/26/21"l!)'i'j',
,i, ,-'1 J-l"

Lend A Helping Hand ( if Applicable) $0.00

PreviousBalance $0.00

Total AmountDue $131.39

ROLLING HILLS CDD Customer #:00256584
Route #:MC13020730

3215-2 Bradley Creek Pkwy Reclaimed Irrigation
Route Group:20

k 0 B " ' ' t 0 A
. ©

AYC0805A
2000000978 58/4 4huH4hµd[mqOd^|q'fmt]r§HddlE4U'!d

CLAYCOUNTYUTILITYAUTHORITY
ROLLING HILLS CDD 3176 OLD JENNINGSROAD
ClO GMS-SF,LLC HE MIDDLEBURG, FL 32068
5385NNOB HILL ROAD
SUNRISEFL 33351-4761

CCUA-1170-4 01125&584 4 NC33020?3!J 000001313¶ 0000000 082b202j 0 0





[5/5]

AIJ '""'"",,jj,'-
,

317(1Old Jenninj;.sRoad,Midc.Rei.yur3,Florida 32068
"' z" "" ""' Pie&¶evisit us on the tveb at v^/vv/AhymLihtymrg

' \\ '" ' i
,,;j :,

!")y 4 " "

.,j l' Hours: MouchV - Ftiday, &un-5pmPhune: 9(M,-272-5999
""-{t"}n'- ,4¢:'|i|o,jy "

t tlh t P H 'k

CustomerName: ROLLING HILLS COD Bill Date: 08/05/2021 Customer #: 00260347

Service Address: 3212-4 Bradley Creek Pkwy Resident's Club Route #: MC13020738

S 3

'

Clay CountyUtilityAuthorityvvill hold a public rate
Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current hearingon Tuesday, September 7, 2021,at 7:00 PM, in
Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usag' CCUA'SBoard Room, located at 3176Old Jennings
70003704 2 08/02/21 28 75 78 3 Road, Middleburg, Florida.
Base Charges (Prepaid) 08/05/21 to 09/10/21 $87.01
Consumption Charges Tier1 3.0 X 2.01 $6.03 Did you knowabouthalf of the watermanyFloridians
Proration Factor: 0.9333 Tier2 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 . . .

Tier3 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 use each day is spnnkledon the[r lawns? Take control of
Tier4 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 your wateruse. Find outwhatgrowsbest in your yard.

Alternative Water Supply Surcharge $1.09 Visit the WaterwisePlant Databaseat sjrwmd.coml
waterwise/search.jsp

Base Charges (Prepaid) $197.04 Please pay $304.61 by 812612021to avoida $3.00 late fee.
Consumption Charges 3.0 X 4.48 $13.44 Make checks payable to CLAY COUNTYUTILITY

" - - AUTHORITY.

Meter Meter Read Days Previous Current Current
Number Size Date Billed Reading Reading Usage Your last paymentof $304,61 was postedto your accounton

07/16/2021,
Base Charges (Prepaid) $0.00
Consumption Charges Tier1 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00

.
Proration Factor: 0.0000 Tier2 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 ConsumerConfidenceand UCMR4Reports are available

Tier3 0.0 X 0.00 $0.00 at our officeand onlineat:
vvvv\ALclayuti|ity,org/ccr/LAG.pdf

( Other Charges )
AdministrativeFees (Prepaid) $0.00

,., , ,, , - - ' - ' "a,

Capacity Fees (Prepaid) $0.00 )"" ' ' ·4 m

Deposit Interest Refund $0.00 J ) '

*
aE

Current Charges $304.61 ')
"'-, ,)i i) q ]

)'8'$,'")

Previous Balance $0.00 ' "'
Z': I-,':

Late Charge (If Applicable) $0.00 ): I).

TOTAL AMOUNT DUE $304.61 '- __ -

t ·4 t—' -4 W--41·«-4f-·#'-— ~ % tr m%llll— ilk h —4' x-—%-·" ·'-+

Please returnthisportionvvith payment % -
¥

j)))|:Q ('(ji)"il) Clay County Uiili'tyAuthority Bill Date 08/05/21
I)' |j'

,-
")) )' 31 76 (Jid jennings Ruad Current Charges $304.61

'|'IA7 A' " ':

j'j' lviiddleburg, Florida 32068 CurrentChargesPast Due After 08/26/21
'<Syiii"" ,!,t\'|:j¢:?'

-- - ' - " Lend A Helping Hand ( If Applicable) $0.00

PreviousBalance $0.00

Total Amount Due $304.61

ROLLING HILLS COD Customer #:00260347
Route #:MC13020738

3212-4 Bradley Creek Pkwy Resident's Club
Route Group:20

Z @ !9 " % k " h ' ' &

AYC0805A
2000000979 58/5 4hdHM"h|k44MdqhfqmHhig']itEhIr¶brt

CLAYCOUNTY UTILITYAUTHORITY
ROLLINGHXLLS CDD 3176 OLD JENNINGSROAD
ClO GMS-SF,LLC MIDDLEBURG, FL 32068
5385 N NOB HILL ROAD ©
SUNRISEFL 33351-4761

CCUA-1170-4 002L,03U? 7 NC13020?3B 0000030UL,1 0000000 (JB2k2021 (I 0





Rotting Hills
UtilitySchedule

Clay ElectricCooperative

Account# ServiceAddress Jul-21

7182249 2404 RollingViewBlvd #1 S
···

7751951 3212 BradleyCreek Pkwy-AmenityCtr $ 3,629.00
7755259 3236 BradleyCreek Pwky-#1 $ 31.00
7755275 3314 RidgeviewDr#1 $ 29.00
7755283 2448 RollingViewBlvd $ 108.00

$ 3,797.00

Vendor#27
001.320.53800.43000 $ 168.00
001.330.57200.43000 $ 3,629.00

$ 3,797.00



Rolling Hills
UtilitySchedule

Clay ElectricCooperative

Account# ServiceAddress Jul-21

7182249 2404RollingViewBlvd #1 f) ..'

7751951 3212 BradleyCreek Pkwy-AmenityCtr $ 3,629.00
7755259 3236BradleyCreekPwky-#1 $ 31.00
7755275 3314Ridgeview Dr#1 $ 29.00
7755283 2448RollingViewBlvd $ 108.00

$ 3,797.00

Vendor#27
001.320.53800.43000 $ 168.00
001.330.57200,43000 $ 3,629.00

$ 3,797.00



YYNN

" MemberName ROLLINGHILLSCOD

ClayEl iC pri ,1 'lsit us online at CIayElectrlc.com Account # 7751951ectrc 00 e d VC tic, TollFme:(800)-224-4917 T,ustee District: 06
A TmchmncEnergy' ConperartveKk StatementDate: 07/28/2021

Current Bill DueDate: 08/18/2021

!mportantMessages
, e

P,eviousBalance $6,453.10
Payment Received 06/28/21 -$3,082.00

What temperature do you set your thermostat a Payment Received 07/28/21 -$3,539.66
during the hot summer months? We recommend Late Charge $168.56
the Energy Star standard of 78 degrees. For Current ChargesDue08/18/21 $3,629.00
every degree below 78, it can add 4 percent
onto yourelectric bill. For more energy saving
tips, visit www.ClayElectric.com. View your
energy use with MyClayElectric.

ServiceAddress: 3212 BRADLEYCREEK PKWY AMENITYCENTER

GENERALSERVICEDEMAND 1521929@, 06 23/21 07/26/21 8192 8594 8Q
_ .J a2,1.60

, ,

kWh MomyUse m W MonthlyHlgh0 MonthlyLow0 Temp
Access Charge 80.00

30®0 ,,
ii EnergyCharge 32,160 kWh @ 0.0600 $1,929.60

90
Power Cost Adjustment 32,160 kWh @ 0.0164 $527.42

"" " Demand Charge 84.800 KW @ 4.3500 $368.88
'0000 do lndlv. OutdoorLight-Large(Qty: 7) $72.45

16000 «
lndlv. OutdoorLight-Small (Qty: 15) $106.50
Individual Polo Charge (Qty: 22) $77.00

'm m Light PCA $13.82

sim 15 FLA Gross Receipts Tax $81.39
Florida State SalesTax $221.02

O I i I I I Q

&1 Aug Sep exit Nw Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr Mqy Jun m Florida State Sales Tax (6%) $4.62

2Q20 PleasevisitMyClayEiectricfor detailedusagehistory 2021 Clay County Sales Tax $48.86
Clay Co Public Ser UtilityTax $96.54

This Month Last Month This Month Avg DailyHigh o ,eratknR,oundUm.,._,,_ _
.90

Last Year ToOCurrentChargesfor this Location $3,629.00

© © © 0 r)E'"'$'u".'"'""
i i NJj q4 2Ui

El.-,, ._-_. ---_..Akeep
Billlngs notpaid In full will incura late charge of $5.00 or 5% of the delinquentamount (whichever Is great® thatwIll beaddedto youraccount.

V SEND

®ccou,nt,Nu!!!ber

__ _
, _. _ ,,nm,i

"
ClayEIectnc Cooperative,111c. Fu"en[a"anCeugN".8'2' 629.00

ATouchstoneEnergy' Cac>pcratlvcnR ,Iota!,A,m,o,u,nt,D,ue

_
_ __ , _ _

$3f29.00
PO Box308
KeystoneHeights,FL 32656-0308 Checks must be In U.S. fundsand drawnon a U.S. bank.

PAY YOUR BILL2417
ONLINE:Checkor credit/debitcard at ClayElectrlc.comor downloadthe mobile
'PP'

1 i
Ill ||||| I

r='= """,'m-Am CLAYELECTRIC COOPERATIVE
PO BOX308 18

7256 2 MB 0.450 5 7256
KEYSTONE HEIGHTS, FL 32656-0308

rolling hills cod c-27 I|II4lhIMlIhhI|m|n|lhm|TI'I|'|'|h|d||lIh|l|| ':5385 N NOB HILL RD · .
SUNRISE EL 33351-4761

|mlh|ld4m|hl|hq|4MM|lll|'|h'|lIImlI'IIlj

0775li¶56 0003b2¶003



" CONTACT US

"
ChyEkcfhcCooperative, Inc, ;'e°b=,:=' Mailing: PO Box 308

A TouchstoneEnergy"Cooperative Kk Keystone Heights, FL 32656

POWEROUTAGES:
DOWNLOADOUR APP,Steps to follow:

> Check yourfuses and breakers to ensure 4mmythe problem is not within yourelectricalsystem.
P" If the outage is not withinyoursystem, report I I ! '

it by calling 888-434-9844 MyCayE cc nc
> Always stay away from downedpowerlines.

" % »;ju:_'m "=:-
N

.F)

t,) ," ~lin;k:! iS'"! ;'"i

LINELIF,E '
>7%'&

I I' d ii 3 u ' i :, k :. .. g " .' 'iiE'
EST,'RLl"klt" "(ltd ,, ".?,sU ' "

"mmm' "
if you wish to contribute to the family

ofWilliam"Ziggy"Ziegenfelder, b!m.
,

please visit wwwjineiifefoundation.com
andput"Ziggy"in the notes. "2(n2 M}gj'm'hj?Appliea? j-gjj

Thankyou for your support. Ti9's'/ a'/a.ik)'bk'

DEF\N1TIONS:
Access Charge:The AccessCharge recovers some of the fixed coststhat comedirectly from serving an individual member, regardless
of how much electricityis used. These costs include the cost of the meter, wire and otherequipmentused to deliver electricityto the
home or buslnessi,as well as meter reading technologyand billing expenses. All utilities have sometype of an access charge.
PowerCost Adjustment: The Power CostAdjustmentreflects the increases/decreases in the co-op's cost of power purchased
wholesale fromSeminole Electric Cooperative. The fluctuationin the Power Cost Adjustmentis largely caused by changes in the cost of
fuel for generation.
OperationRoundUp: Operation Round Up is a program to generate and collectvoluntary donationsthat are used to benefit
organizatiomIn Clay Electric'sservice area for the purpose of improvingthe quality of life of our members and theircommunities.

(&"
,,,,,,,,

',7k=m(Ea=4""""?,,,,,,,,,,, |'%)=mb
'r~,> Free recurring ""<~~>" Freewith '%, *w Free with '"Y%~j $1.50service "' '&$ 3¢ Mail checkor

paymentsfrom checkingl ' checking/savings fee** cashpayments moneyorderto:
chacking/savings or savingsaccount,or account,or credit/debit only,Visit Clay Electric
from a credit/debit credit/debit card, card,Visit ClayElectric,com Cooperative
card, Enrollat Call (844)936-2704, ClayEIectric,com, for a list of authorized P,0. Box 308

ClayElectric.com, paystaUons. KeystoneHeights,
FL32656



YYNN

· u / VISit us onllne at CIayElectric.com " ·- .- . ," ',' f ,
:. '.> ',u'

"
CkyEIectncC00pedlve,gic Toll Free· (800)-224-4917 S

ATouchmncEnergy' Cnoperative rj> StatementDate: 07/28/2021

" Current Bill Due Date: 08/18/2021

"
-

' ' ' " '
' " , Previous Balance $67.00

,"" '
'

Total
.

"', Payment Received 06/28/21 -$31.00
What temperature do you set yourthermostat at ,

7

during the hot summer months? We recommend .'y" Amount Due - '. Payment Received 07/28/21 -$41.00
",'. Late Charge $5.00

the Energy Starstandard of 78 degrees. For ,,'
.

't" Current ChargesDue 08/18/21 $31.00
every degree below 78, it can add 4 percent '

onto yourelectricbill. Formore energy saving
j; $31 ,00 I)

tips, visitwww.CIayElectric.com. View your Iii
. .. . · ,',/

energy use with MyClayElectric. ',"' ' .'

Due Date: 'P"

" 08/18/2021
,

g"

. · 4 i ' '

, , " -, . d r., :- -, 7'±, E' 2(',S;",'"Y

" ,' Eiei,es,heduieDesaiOticm, '-.
',.-", '"H&;hj:U=y=")))k:==':ekj'"i'Mµ!ukIrej"jakuae:"."i

·' ·'1 ., " '· " " " a!. GENERALSERVICE-NONDEMAND 1518a9c!87 06/23/21 " _07/26/21, 768
,

.80§,
'

,1
,

38
.

.A

kWh MonthyUse rxl C":! MonthlyHtgh @1 MonthlyLow® Temp
f°Z"' C': "g"' :r'2 Et"¢urre E'"'":'"Ricitjlei4iI'|)E'::t":=:, .,]-! .-" '3

§ ACcessCharge '" """"' '" '"' ' ' "'$23'.00|
40 ~--±_-. ,

¥; .
:.' '

" '

.:'.sy --% I
Energy Charge 38 kWh @ 0.0813 $3.09 t

,,
' m" --%~4

,

C'"-? ' ':
g=_

r'"i ,.^ '° I
Power CostAdjustment 38 kWh @ 0 0164 $0 62

"

30 = ..=4k:.\.'E$tµZj"%, 7JH!qi3-:,:'4 " 'I FLA Gross Receipts Tax $0.69}

" -
.' :+_ .' r_"

. "
'. ,, .e , " i "'-L:·":'.»'y-'"' ',.. ~,

,:s3_ 60 1 Florida StateSalesTax $1.90 1

" f't" e)h): ".,.ker:Q)LtRE! '))µ::))f
" ="P=:,'U:|i,,TW :::::|

:: " ': j") ))7ij')u,|4,'-),! i')! )1':-i !))njin)...r '° i Operation Round Up
, ,

$0.269

_
t,".:_,> : " ,'

_
,' g_

,','. L_:.:.:,Lj':mz., a \m,%1
|31M Mr ,5 t Total CurrentChargesfor this Location $31.00 i

' ' ', ,', ,1 t.'"'T,"-' ·'"1 "m ,'"1
:"""1 -"; ':'z'! t,..'i7'i'"r

0
"

I ' I ' i ' i I ' I I I I I I I" I 0
JUl Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Fgb Mar APr May JUn Jul

2020 P 6' .F .'
t '"-A .. · . .,,,ri': T.,' CW' .: ,'

.
A ., , ,

2021

This Month Last Month This Month Avg DailyHigh
Last Year

"-

'-

'"

'. © 0 {"ji-z'-';.'i'i'Y. ';

J
BUS 94 2UZ1 ;j

Akeep
Billings riot paid In full will incur a late charge of $5.00 or 5% of tµedelinquentamount(whlchmeris gmt® thatwIll be addod to youraccount.

V SEND
qp

"
ClayEIectr|'cC00peratjve,Inc. ======A 70uchstomEnergy' CooperativeKti LTotalAmount Dye

_ _ __ , _ .

$31.00j
PO Box 308
KeystoneHeights,FL 32656-0308 Checks mustbe In U,S. fundsand drawn on a U.S. bank.

PAY YOUR BILL24/7
ONLINE: Check or credlt/debitcard at ClayElectric.com or downloadthe mobile

""- I

||||||||||||||||||ll|

== :'!%m CLAYELECTRIC COOPERATIVE
PO BOX308 18

ROLLING HILLS COD
KEYSTONE HEIGHTS, FL 32656-0308

5385 n nob hill rd IlIIlIlhIIHIIlhhlµlnhh4|||||TrI|'l'||I|j|l||l|I|l|I 'F
SUNRISE EL 33351-0000

hl|Ih|d|qh'qllHµq'l|lM|hd|||'|l'whhIUll'll

0775525¶ 000003J005



"' CONTACT US

"
ClayE|ectr]'cC00pelafl've, Inc, :=:::,=Mailing: PO Box 308

A TouchstoneEnergy"Cooperative BLZ*
Keystone Heights, FL 32656

POWEROUTAGES:
DOWNLOAD OUR APP,

Steps to follow:

> Checkyour fuses and breakers to ensure
the problem is notwithinyourelectrical system.

> If the outageis not withinyoursystem, report I r'it by calling 888-434-9844 MjCayElectlC
> Always stay away from downedpowerlines.

-

1,"jk... ,y:i;;'"lni
"< i

CO'""

fT#
LINELIFE

. ,, y'°"""""" V ""'"~JL>T'\U]bl.i'»7cie i g ·,' N '
,

"

'4mm" "3

If you wish to contribute to the family
ofWilliam"Ziggy"Ziegenfelder, bm

please visitwwwjinelifefoundation.com
and put"Ziggy"in the notes. 2(n2 5eh'gjMghjpl\py')k.afj9-f}
Thankyou forypur support. t) ")!t'/ a 'iMlzibk

DEFINITIONS:
Access Charge:The AccessCharge recovers some of the fixed coststhat comedirectlyfromsefving an individual member, regardless
of how much electricityis used. These costs include the cost of the meter, wire and other equipment used to deliver electricityto the
home or business, as well as meter reading technologyand billing expenses. All utilities have some type of an access charge.
Power Cost Adjustment: The Power Cost Adjustmentreflects the increases/decreasesin the co-op's cost of powerpurchased
wholesale from Seminole Electric Cooperative. The fluctuationIn the Power CostAdjustmentis largely caused by changes in the cost of
fuel for generation.
Operation RoundUp: Operation Round Up is a program to generate and collectvoluntary donationsthatare used to benefit
organizations in Clay Electric'sservice area for the purpose of improving the quality of life of our members and theircommunities.

Ei\ (":'> -F;a ("""=
. ,

,t-f':
'.,,,%%"'"µ% %

Auto Pay " ,b'2 · By Phone _9= Online K
"' -': ,"

Pay Stations '$"??'?b':s:.""
:'j ii

'

%~

_i" Free recurring K=? Freewith -%,,
,
='7 Freewith "Y%_

.J" $1,50 service '
"'%:»%g: ::i|checkor

paymentsfrom checkingl checking/savings fee" cash payments " " pioney order to:
checking/savings or savingsaccount,or account,or credit/debit only.Visit Clay Electric
from a credit/debit credit/debitcard, card.Visit ClayElectric,com Cooperative
card,Enrollat Call (844)936-2704, C\ayElectric,com, for a list of authorized P.O,Box308
CIayElectric,com. pay stations, KeystoneHeights,

FL32656



YYNN
'"" """ %S? "

' "W"" Clay E'|¢r¢;[':': {:%|7elaiiye,11!( :='=='7"""""
AT It C BY' Cooperative d" Statement Date: 07/28/2021

Current Bill Due Date: 08/18/2021
?'"," ' "lmponant Mess-?ges ,

'"':':'",; ' Previous Balance $63.00
Total Payment Received 06/28/21 -$29.00

What temperature do you set your thermostat at Amount Due Payment Received 07/28/21 -$39.00
during the hot summer months? We recommend Late Charge $5.00
the Energy Star standard of 78 degrees. For Current ChargesDue 08/18/21 $29.00
every degree below 78, it can add 4 percent
onto ,our electric bill. For more energy saving $29 00tips, visitwww.ClayElectric.com. View your ®

energy use with MyClayElectric.
Due Date:

08/18/2021

' ReadingDates '.,
"

' - Readings ',·
" Wultipdier"" "kwti tjsage 'I

,
RqteScheduleDescription

,
MeYr,No..,")

,
: '?' Froin-' '. ';'"."To

, .,' " ' PreviUs"" .'
.

PEeSent',. · · ,' · - ..,· Z" '- .I!
GENERALSE'RVICE-NONDEMAND 152012414 ' ' 06/23/21 ' 07/26/21

'

352 374 1 22 k

kWh MonthlyUse
' ,--1 "i" MonthlyHigh 83 MonthlyLow@ Temp i' '- '

" " '," " Current"SeMceD'eta ""
'

' "
'

",' "1

i
/\Ccess Charge $23.00 :

20 - ,, ,., .

: 1=~Xt'Z i Energy Charge 22 kWh @ 0.0813 $1.79 'i

'"-.
e

='€' '.,, 7,k? '° : Power Cost Adjustment 22 kWh @ 0 0164 $0 36 '' "'"--
, ,

.-""'""' W '. .· ,
i. " i 'Yig 75 i FLA Gross Receipts Tax $0.65 i

"""-'··.m
. ' .

' i ^Er ' y " d Florida State SalesTax $1.79 1

' 't i
1

. m- ,. '

:3 ': 'J%g
'° d

Clay County Sales Tax $0.39 i
iq ,

: :'- ., ' ^
§

. --"""" ,'µ , ,
, , ·. mil- 45 ,1 i

' ' ' '
.

'
i '". -'T"" " '

, , . ,. .; '"' ,' T'",
,1

Clay Co Public Ser UtllltyTax $0.99 ?

'i i' ' .
1 i j! i 1"|_' L,.,,j1'-} : i

1'"'"9 "g " ¢ Operation Round Up $0.03 '

' " : '1
i

j
:

'! }'"! : :

' ,) i i,'.; I'..; g,.: 16
k,
TotalCurrentChargesfor this Location

,
$29.00 ··

'
,

i '
,

I I
·

' "
I

'
: '

.

' '. ' i '.
I :S

} ""TZ
I } I

jul Aug Sap Oct Nov Dec Jan Nb Mar Apr May Jun Jul

2020 '. · .
' '. ,' .' ."" V; · · ' ' '

.
.' .'.. 2021

This Month Last Month This Month Avg DailyHigh
Last Year

© © 0 n{'"'":"'"j'::=n

N ft ^"" "" j.,;i

BY:

Akeep
Billings not paid In full will Incura late changeof $5.00or 5% of thedelinquentamount(whlchmeris greater) that wIll be added to youraccount.

V SEND
a'.

r E I AccountNumber

—"
CkyElectncCooperative,illC, CurrentChar es DueO8/1821 $29.00

A TouchsrcmeEnergy' CoqpcrntlveKr^ Total Amount Due $29.00

_.PO Box308
KeystoneHeights,FL 32656-0308 Checks mustbe In U.S. fundsand drawnon a U.S. bank.

PAY YOUR BILL24/7
ONLINE: Check or credit/debltcard at ClayElectric.com or downloadthe mobile

aj=)ma ||||||||||||||||||||||l|

_ "" CLAYELECTRIC COOPERATIVE
PO BOX 308 18

ROLLING HILLS COD
KEYSTONE HEIGHTS, FL 32656-0308

5385 N NOB HILL RD
SUNRISE FL 33351-0000

II[rµ|llII[IId4|IIlrqIh¶|||||TrI|'|'|hh||||I|l|lh ,&

hl|lh|d|qhu|IMhj44hldI¶|lhd|ll'|l'lj'hh|dl'll

077552?5 000002¶00¶



"' CONTACT US

"
ClayEkc!n'cCooperafive,Inc, ;'e°b?'i,:::|:c',:,::!:

Mailing: PO Box 308
A TouchstoneEnergy"Cooperative m

'
Keystone Heights, FL 32656

POWEROUTAGES:
DOWNLOADOUR APP,

Steps to follow:

> Chockyour fuses and breakers to ensure
the problem is notwithinyourelectrical system.

> If the outage is not withinyoursystem, report I I r'it by calling 888-434-9844 MjCayEect lC

> Always stay away from downed powerlines.

" {" "ja ,j!ii:)i'.;j::m
lIn'eµ|'°f':

jm,
l[i)3Q'|(j|, '\ z.-- ? :"y"*MM

Ifyou wish to contribute to the family
ofWilliam"Ziggy"Ziegenfelder, 'bm,

please visitwwwjinelifefoundation.com
andput"Ziggy"in the notes. 29'22 5Khgkjr3h'ig µ\pf3)'ktj?jgn
Thankyou for your support. ij9'n aytljkj^Qj2

DEFINITIONS;
Access Charge;The AccessCharge recovers some of the fixedcoststhat come directlyfromserving an individual member, regardless
of how much electricityis used. These costs include the cost of the meter, wire and other equipmentused to deliver electricity to the
home or business, as well as meter reading technologyand billtng expenses. All utilities have sometypeof an access charge.
Power Cost Adjustment: The Power Cost Adjustmentreflects the increases/decreases in the co-op's costof powerpurchased
wholesale from Seminole Electric Cooperative. The fluctuationin the Power Cost Adjustmentis largely caused by changes in the cost of
fuel for generation.
Operation RoundUp: Operation Round Up is a program to generate and collectvoluntary donationsthat are used to benefit
organizations In Clay ElectriCs service area for the purposeof improving the quality of life of our members and theircommunities,

e~""m% f"""% e"""> ^"^ & ?

("m
,,,,,,,

:))j"j;'",,,,,,, ckb
,,,,,,

" ') )"' '"' j=y:)ijj!,Mai|

'K%,j Free recurring K e
Free with "-%~~u Free with "X $1,50service yz±Z Mail check or

paymentsfrom checkingl checking/savings fee'* cashpayments " moneyorderto:
checking/savings or savingsaccount,or account,or credit/debit only,Visit Clay Electric
from a credit/debit credit/debit card, card.Visit ClayElectric,com Cooperative
card,Enrollat Call (844)936-2704, ClayElectnc,com, fora list of authorized P,O,Box308
ClayElectric.com. paystations, KeystoneHeights,

FL 32656



YYNN

,E"' 3%a@s"' "

4k7"«7 " Clav |?'|ecf'i(:' {:{iq!)?/-'u'fr',hit :3':'F'r::"(8:'0):::4:?::';"""°"
g k

AT hti E ,y'C i Li F-F StatementDate: 07/28/2021
Current Bill Due Date: 08/18/2021

· 1

:

? .

" !mtjonei"niMe$sages., -- "' ' Previous Balance $205.25
' ' "' '"' ' Total Payment Received 06/28/2 I -$105.00

What temperature do you set your thermostat at
during the hot summer month8 We recommend

Amount Due Payment Received 07/28/21 -$105.26
Late Charge $5.01

the Energy Star standard of 78 degrees. For
. Current ChargesDue 08/18/21 $108.00

every degree below 78, it can add 4 percent
on'oyou'e'ec'"cb'". 'o' mo'e ene'gysav'ng $1 08 00 :

tips, visit www.ClayElectric.com. View your ®

energy use with MyClayElectric.
Due Date:
08/18/2021

ReadingDates' '
. .

Readingii
,

' " '
:

Mu|tiplier
"

"kWh UsagC :
' RalteS¢hedujeDescmption

.
MeterNq·

mm' Tb' ' "- fr_eVkms-
' Present' ," " ,

' GENERALSERVICE-NONDEMAND 151840032 06/23/21 07/26/21 16295 17024
.,

1 729 "

kwh NonthlyUse i ! '.,' MonthlyHighG' MonthlyLow@ Temp .,
"

.

"" ", ¢urEent"'serviCeDetaii, '· :' ', ' ? "
.

-
'i

: Access Charge
' '

$23.00
';

"° " -' '- — .'. ' ' e _-.--%f,'
9

Energy Charge 729 kWh @ 0.0813 $59.27 ¢

,

_
; "'i,:»^"" ""'l" '° i

Power Cost Adjustment 729 kWh @ 0 0164 $11 96j
'°° %w'--.*'.'--jj-:,:' ,

'*'"-1G ;] ': '-str"7T"'':>1- q " ! FLA Gross Receipts Tax $2 42 i
450 -' . ',y ·'— "':>%%,: :'

.,
i—; :

· n " }±'t '" r",,.
,?l ?)" '° ,

Florida State Sales Tax $6.72 ,

,
i ' !

: '

' '
:

-
t' % ' ' ' ·-— ¢w"!' ' -'i ':' '

}- :i E'ri
4,

'! Clay County Sales Tax $1.45 !

,00 — _' ,_
· 'l- l-' :A 6"= "".— r-' ~1' ' X! ·' : .—iq ?:r

I Clay Co Public Ser UtilityTax $3.08
:1

' I '
L,

i' ' ·

_
,

i I' ! '" i :' .i
:'"I,:'LS'Fia '° i' Operation Round Up $0.10 J

'% — ,

,

' '
,

: .!
' i

. 't '":
'

" IT '-i ,.'"1 ',
i : '1 ±i;r " ".Total CurrentCh?rgesfor this Location $108.00 !

0 I I I I ' I I f I I I I I ' 'i' ' 0
Jul Aug Sep Qc! Nov Dec Jan Kb Mar Apr Mby Jun jul

2020 " ' · " '.. ,
' ' ,':.. ' 2021

This Month Last Month This Month Avg DailyHigh
Last Year

i"""'i L{:.:i2'i'j :i:n,© © 0 jj^;'°""' lj'
EY:

Akeep
Billings notpaid in full will incura late charge of $5.00 or5% of thedelinquentamount(whichever is greater) that wIll be added to youraccount,

V SEND

"I
I 1" r

'
"Account Number

_/
7755283

GayEectlC Coopealive, Inc,
CurrentChar es Due08/18 21 $108.00

ATc,ucbsroneEnergy' ChopcratlveNt^ Total Amount Due

_
,_ _

$108.00
PO Box308
KeystoneHeights,FL 32656-0308 Checksmust be In U,S. fundsand drawn on a U.S. bank.

PAY YOUR BILL24/7
ONLINE:CheckorcrediVdebitcardat ClayElectrlc.com or downloadthe mobile

&=mw
||||||||||||||||||||||||

,_
" CLAY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE

PO BOX308 18

ROLLING HTT,T,S COD
KEYSTONE HEIGHTS, FL 32656-0308

5385 n nob hill rd Il||vIll'Il!lIIlIvlBIltIIl"||I"I|||||'l'I'l|'|'||lll|||||
3unri3e el 33351-0000

lihh #
hlIIh|IllqhuhlIhhMlldI4|lh'I|||'|I'II'hh|IllIlI

07755263 000010B001



°" CONTACT US

"
CIayElectn'c C('I;'|jE:,E:'"}"'

,',
i)",ij., :'e°b:'i|::::::t:ic':'!:

4j
' Mailing: PO Box 308

A TouchstoneEnergy"'Cooperati"" [·"i!.. '
Keystone Heights, FL 32656

POWEROUTAGES:
DOWNLOADOUR APP,Steps to follow:

""' g ' %" ^,»,?
> Check your fuses and breakers to ensure &' ',ng Z?9'

the problem is notwithinyour electrical system. ¢?=t -s%"ms'
P" If theoutageis not withinyoursystem, report

/ " " "t"' ' ,-
it by calling 888-434-9844

jih€:yCk|L ,('{ 'wp

P" Alwaysstayaway from downedpower lines.

.
i L

, \ ..
y t \ ' ,

, .I' " ,.
? :' ¥' \'·.', h, ! '

,,' "' "
-A')," 'j'i ?,a\' :

¥

" k' ' ',3\" :
"

· F

dNuk: ^6
""""""' ' \ r '
LST,'2.1hi,ED 7Q?ii

f you wish to conuibuteto the famdy '" i
ofWilliam"Ziggy"Ziegenfelder, "^please visit wwwjinelifefoundatkm.c@m

and put"Ziggy"in the notes. /(jZ/ '.;'ljc/j.t['";llll)/-\:')l)!|C..l?jr)fl

Thankyou foryour 5uppcm\'0 f}')'/'/rl'/.|jl,l!)|"

DEFINITIONS:
Access Charge:The AccessCharge recovers some of the fixed costs that come directlyfrom servmg an individual member, regardless
of how much elec'tricity is used. These costs include the cost of the meter, wire and other equipment used to deliver electricityto the
home or business, as well as meter reading technologyand billing expenses. All utilities have some type of an access charge.
PowerCost Adjustment: The Power Cost Adjustmentreflects the increases/decreases in the co-op's cost of power purchased
wholesale from Seminole Electric Cooperative. The fluctuation in the Power Cost Adjustmentis largely caused by changes in the cost of
fuel for generation.
OperationRound Up: Operation Round Up is a program to generate and collect voluntary donationsthat are used to benefit
organizations in Clay Electric'sservice area for the purpose of improving the quality of life of our members and theircommunities.

" %%,

\,,ESa
,,,Pay

','J '",.2

By Phone

O!"r Li
Online Pay Stations Mail

%%~~,sg" Free recurring '"<:> Free with Free with $1,50 service Mailcheck or
paymentsfrom checkingl checking/savings fee"' cashpayments moneyorder to:
checking/savings or savingsaccount,or account,or credit/debit only,Visit Clay Electric
from a credit/debit credit/debit card, card.Visit ClayElectric,com Cooperative
card,Enrollat Call (844) 936-2704. ClayElectric,com, fora list of authorized P.0. Box 308
ClayElectric,com, paystations, KeystoneHeights,

FL 32656



NYNN

"
ClayElectric CoQpeldivetg(:. =','==',""""°" ,,. .

,.:.",',:

ATlmchsmeEi~Com)erdtive
I' ',. " c

,
"?5: "a.-. zi'i

StatementDate: 07/28/2021

-" ,,
"

'
.

Current Bill Due Date: 08/18/2021
Credit "" Previous Balance -$1,363.59

What temperature do you set yourthermostat at . ,"'

during the hot summer months? We recommend
,,.': Balance ',}'. No Payment Received $0.00
/"'

.

' ' ·" .
" '"A Balance Forward -$1,363.59

the Energy Star standard of 78 degrees. For ,' ,' ".
,\ Current ChargesDue 08/18/21 $40.00

everydegree below 78, it can add 4 percent :fonto yourelectricbill. Formoreenergy saving ;j "$10323·59 )')

tips, visit \Mww.CtayE[ectric.com.Viewyour 5\,
'"

' " '
'

' ..
,' :

energy use with MyClayElectric. Cl, -
E)/'

.,
No PaymentDue

'.'. .r\. C' .. : .'.:' " " 'i · Z4.?·'I ;"t"i' . ,"u:, ..'.:...%.' s'AM)

- 'Z- ,.-
Ra&.s,h'edu|:)D;f'¢-,i,'uoj',,"' ')' "^i6e;m==",)C=gy:::j:j)ih4"yeu.4,.,)' ijuibj|

' GENERALSERVICE-NONDEML\ND 151_840010 06/23/21
_

07/26/21 -
,.

3924, 4Q44 ',
.

1
. . .,

1¢?0
.

.:1

kwh NlonthlyUse i'"j eY MonthlyHigh ® MonthlyLow® Temp J" '.?3'&'7'ets:CWmit'"% icesDetail':"; gG",.yes$'?j-'.--#'&'-"'-'.i

j Accessaac""' ' """' ""' ' "' " '"-"" " "' """""""' '""'u3":00':1

"' """"" "q-~ ""'L
, ,

*""i
, ~ 90 i Energy Charge 120 kWh @ 0.0813 $9.76 i

'" i."' 1".'"".| :'z.'.k'"l|i'i,.' 4'F C Power Cost Adjustment 120 kWh @ 0.0164 $1.97 i
t25 - ~+¥', "' " ' — ' . ' ',.,

'j,±t 7' { FLA Gross Receipts Tax $0.89 }
_,.,{,,_,,,.'j i. ' '"i Zie

_
:_""' ,,$':¢

.

_, , , ,,
i

Florida State SalesTax $2.48 K

': y i)'u."t: .:t:,zyi ;:jj ;'";'
",,

:_dyi !'¶:"l
,,

I Clay CountySales Tax $0.5M
·'"'T'"y '"i }'"; ' :"!

i:"""j "-En'g; ?:L'"ELEt'iL:"!q jClayGo Public SerUtilityTax $1.28j

" _"' 7,',',. z':;" ,T""', jj)-f ':s·ni:'j ')'"1 1)."1 11A j.i': '° ? Operation Round Up $0.09
§

': ")h))!":')":')':Ti- :-'7:),)Ti.j'l ij! 'j !
i):jnjn)|f

,

':
t'

Ptai c!!rrent,Chargesf!u 'his,L9!2e'ion
,. . . ,. , ,.

$40.0!)j

jet Aug Sbp om Nqv Dm jan Fob Mar Apr May jun Jul

2020 $'".k
.

,:: ".'·C!'y..'c-.i "

,.,. .k ,., '.: s-.ac:je 'v"K">'y 2021

This Month Last Month This Month Avg DailyHigh
Last Year "I'}. i: "

." ' ".: : "

,. ")i Ze.,.,.'- 'y. S Sri £·.Q
p© © © 0 if Ays04'u'

,
g

L...
E'Y:

Akeep
Billings not paid in full will Incura late charge of $5.00 or 5% of theddinquentamount(whichever Is gmater) thatwIll be added to your account.

V SEND

"
ClayElectricCoopetative,Inc. ¢:e"d"j::a:a'n::"D'o

Not

Pa
-$::3=

ATouchsme Energy' Coopcrat(vcX3> Checksmust be in US. fundsand drawn on a U.S. bank.

PO Box 308
KeystoneHeights,FL 32656-0308

PAY YOUR BILL24/7
ONLINE: Check orcredit/debitcardat ClayEkcthc.comor downloadthe mobile
"PP"

_1 i

Ill Ill I

= . , , ..
DISCGNER__=dW CLAYELECTRIC COOPERATIVE

PO BOX308 18

7255 1 MB 0.450 5 7255 KEYSTONE HEIGHTS, FL 32656-0308
ROLLING HILLS VUZ'UKE LLC C-27
5385 N NOB HILL RD
sunrise fl 33351-476,

IIIllllhllIlI|lhhdIIjrqIhm|TrIlU|'||I|I||l|I|I|I|l W
'l'IIjII'l|I'llUll|llllIIIlII||lUIlllIlIlI|lIll'l'I'l'l|IlII|llIl

0768224¶ 0000000000



" CONTACT US

"
ClqEkc!rkCoopera!ive, Inc, ::°:"=:,=

Mailing: PO Box308
A TouchstoneEnergy"Cooperative KL".

Keystone Heights, FL 32656

POWEROUTAGES:
DOWNLOAD OUR APP,Steps to follow:

> Check your fuses and breakers to ensure
the problem is not withinyourelectrical system.

> If the outage is not within your system, report I I t '
it by calling 888-434-9844 MyCayEec nc

> Alwaysstayaway fromdownedpowerlines.

\ " " ,
"'":"-:u,'T" "' 'a '%}"!j =~,

' " W ua' ' ""£%2 s m % "n': ' ' '""%5'

_" ¶jj "' '"
'j;'

i ',,:i :u, :t.y-;ys

L
rN'EL|'FE

?Ek

10!lht'hliU'r, V',, )!Ua:'.

FSTAF3Lt$fiE[) 2CUC, ·nµ"'

° "4&'",-
Ifyou wish to contribute to the family

ofWilliam"Ziggy"Ziegenfelder, bm
pkasevisit wwwjinejifefoundation.com

andput"Ziggy"inthe notes. 2022 5£h9jM.jhjg /jQplieg-qjglj
Thankyou foryour support. xj9't'/ anilabk

DEFINITIONS:
Access Charge:The AccessCharge recovers some of the fixed coststhat come directlyfromserving an individual member, regardless
of how much electricityis used. These COSES include the cost of the meter, wire and otherequipment used to deliver e[eGtricityto the
home or business, as well as meterreading technologyand billing expenses. All utilities have some typeof an access charge.
PowerCost Adjustment: The Power Cost Adjustmentreflects the increases/decreases in the co-op's cost of powerpurchased
wholesale fromSeminole Electric Cooperative. The fluctuationin the Power CostAdjustmentis lalgelycaused by changes in the cost of
fuel for generation.
OperationRoundUp: Operation Round Up is a program to generate and collectvoluntary donationsthat are used to benefit
organizations in Clay Electric'sservice area for the purpose of improving the quality of life of our members and their communities.

"% ^r"""^ r""="""k e"~~k a,., ,,,

,
g "" 2%'"'

, - 1'| I ( I }"" ')'
,"%a

::)!A""'?"r@ JAuto Pay 3-

,).
."

'

Byphone
40

^ g Online \'" '

. PayStations \y'"")y Mail
%%,

W I
Free recurring "%% ,¶ Freewith .~~F-g-

Free with Y~j $1,50service Gu7%' ""' Mail checkor
paymentsfrom checkingl checking/savings fee** cashpayments " moneyorderto:
checking/savings or savingsaccount,or account,or credit/debit only,Visit ClayElectric
from a credit/debit credit/debit card. card.Visit ClayElectric.com Cooperative
card, Enrollat Call (844)936-2704, ClayElectric,com, for a list of authorized P.0. Box 308
ClayElectric.com, paystations, KeystoneHeights,

FL 32656



:'9f:7'3:,"d"::||
Court

(:"")[i',,:')'),!f")) )) :: :::,,,, 'I) i) ! i) )"' )) i) 1,))jjj i) i"" )'
Middleburg,FL 32068
904-219-0579
iadeese@c|aysheriff.com

INVOICEDATE
DATE:7-30-21

TO: FOR:

Rolling Hills CommunityDevelopmentDistrict PropertyManager
3212 Bradley Creek Blvd.

Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

TIMEDATE
DESCRIPTION HOURS RATE AMOUNT

WORKED IN/OUT

7-30-21 NeighborhoodPatro1/Security 0900-1100 4.0 30.00 120.00

Checked preserve area. 1200-1400

Patrolledentiredevelopment

Checked Clubhouse, pool, and boardwalkarea.

Patrolledentire development.

Checked rearundevelopedarea.

Had to leave for 1hr, returnedto finsh

DEPUTYSIGNATURE: TOTAL 120.00

Make all checks payable to Jeffrey Deese

Thank you for your business!



:"9f=:::!|
C,,rt

))'"1 j':j"p )J)I"' 1)"'·- I,")') )" ) )J '] yjjj"j ') """)(:::)

Middleburg,FL 32068

904-219-0579
ladeese@c|amher.iff£orn

INVOICEDATE
DATE:8-9-21

TO: ' FOR:

Rolling Hills CommunityDevelopmentDistrict PropertyManager
3212 Bradley Creek Blvd.
Green CoveSprings, FL 32043

DATE TIME
DESCRIPTION HOURS RATE AMOUNT

WORKED IN/OUT

8-9-21 NeighborhoodPatro1/Security 1800-2200 4.0 30.00 120.00

Checked preserve area.

,
Patrolledentire development

'

Checked Clubhouse, pool, and boardwalkarea.
t

Patrolledentire development.

Checked rear undevelopedarea.

DEPUTYSIGNATURE: TOTAL 120.00

Make all checks payable to JeffreyDeese

Thank you for your business!

,



GFL Environmental?5;'?%?

-" "ij P: (904) 760-5880
-

"
jacksonvilleFL@gflenv.com

g'a" »'z K!y

Z»"S

,,,
,- ( CUSTOMER NO. UG-103664

'""°'"""' INVOICE NO. ) UG0000024930

INVOICE DATE 07/20/2021
ROLLING HILLS COD 23 DUE DATE Due Upon Receipt V//
5385 N KNOB HILL RD TOTAL AMOUNTDUE $1,098.35
ROLLING HILLS REFERENCENO.
SUNRISE, FL 33351

AMOUNTOF REMZTTANCE $
|^mhjhF[4"l|r|1||l|Ill[|||hl||l'|I|IIIhlh['||'I] '

005S5l¶3UG00D0024¶3000lD3bh4000000000D3h0¶0

DATE DESCRIPTION REFERENCE RATE QTY. AMOUNT

(DODO)

20 -Jul CLAY COUNTY'FRANFEE 16.3% at 16.300% on $6.50 jj'1 $1.06

SITETOTAL $1.06
(0001)
ROLLINGHILLSCOD

3212 BRADLEY CREEK PKWY
,

GREEN COVE SPRINGS FL

Serv #001 COMM FRONTLOADWASTEPERM 8YD

20 -jul TRASHSTANDARDSERVICE $777.05 -0.42 ($325.89)

jul 19/21 -jul 31/21
20 -jul TRASHSTANDARDSERVICE $242.48 1.42 $344.18

,

jul 19/2! - Aug 31/21

20 -jul ENERGY CHARGE $6.24

20 -jul CLAY COUNTYFRAN FEE 16.3% at 16.300% on $24.53 $4.00

SITETOTAL $28.53
(0000)

20 -jul C ADMIN FEE SC5DC)39 $6.50

Notes:

Due to increased costs, yournext invoicemay reflecta price increase.

) j'j' 't' ' 4'
. ' CJ E@-

,

. REMIT TO:
,

)"' ) ))J )) I))') ' '

::'b%"x"'5':::9"3"'"'
¥

) ) W ,, DETROITMI 48255-5193
L'i

CURRENT 31 - 60 DAYS 61 - 90 DAYS OVER 90 DAYS ACCOUNT TOTAL

$1,231.94 $0.00 $0.00 ($133.59) $1,098.35 TOTAL INVOICE $36.09

S ·'3 :t-u ,2 ,, ' ' :,' , ""- ·-" t
? "34 A>

CUSTOMER NQ UG-103664 INVOICE DATE 0)/20/2021 INVOICE NO. UG0000024930
Page 1 of 2



PLEASE PRINTONLY NEWADDRESS INFORMATIONBELOW. THANK YOU.

AddressChange(s) OptionalPayment Methods

M/\l1 1ng /\1)L)lqls!, ON-Y['"] MAILINCAND SL,KVIC1a1)13resg
I I eBilling:

Invoices in an Instant! Enroll iii eEli||ing at
l%irte u'{yyt,m!e!N,c.o[n..an(jcl iek My /\ccot.ini

Nol'eesappigwhen !:)ayirl!:l 'thtnugli 'ij'iis,: l"il(',!tll()t|

Aclclti'ss ' md )'(')ui's'idernen'l" is': dwaysready! (':1'1('3(}";{"'1(')

' a A e

' enroll in aui:ornauc: paymenk:or pay on (|en'lat'](l.
Visa,Amei"ican Express,Madei t,mcj amCity Discoverare ac:cepied·

e:'

= TSlate '
· Zip Code ' Pay-By-Phone:

( )
- Call iht" nun'ibet"al the h"orit o'i' if ivuice aid have \,'1.){.ji'

PhorlF) Niimbet' E-mail Address cllg';l'()j"ne|' rind invoicenumber l(·z(:l(.|y, \/it"a, /\mei'ic't·'m
t:' >:press, Mask:r(:E}i'd md l)isc('"(.i' L'jjc) :"i(:{,c)r)i(!(i,

(::us3ton1erAccount Number

Remitto Address:
GFL ENV]RONMENTAL
PO BOX 555193
DETROZT Ml 48255-5193

Electronic FundsTransfer Notice
Billing Rights Summary If 'Iou pay by check, it will be (x)rl\/erte(:.| intu Eli) "L |e(:;u(")ni(;l"uods "'l'i dl is.,l'ei"'

ii' j'{ )1.' (h it ik your bill is ir)cc)j']'ecL, Ol' ii' you need more jrj'l'orr("lati(mahoui (f F'"1""),a |')r(}(,{'-}.3'·,in which 'j/c)1 ll" finm(':ial instiii |(i(")i')is ekctl'("jnica|lyinsh'ticied '1(")

i'he detail':of your bill, i")kas€)conkclus: at the nimiber listedon ilit'"' |[a'isli··)|' iiit ids': iiom V("j'ir a("'(:("){mit("') Ol li'S in Iieii (")f p|'('(;esssirlClthe c:heck I')','
iicmi: o i' your bill or email. sendingyoui c( ii i'ipleledt:l sedc io us, you au(hcji"ize u|::; to use "the a(:coul')i
V\/c-2must hear from you 110 laterthan60 days from the date of ycit.ii" bill il)k)lntaticm thetein to Gfedi,ean EFT tor thetam()uni inclicai:E?(j {)j1 the check.
ot) whichthe erroroccurred.Yourbill shall be deemedcoi'i"ec:t unless 11 the EFT camot be proces:sed for technicalor other reasons:, you authorizeus
disputedwithin60 clays h'oinreceipt. tcj pi"oces:s an imagereplacementd()cumerlt,di'aft, ot' copyof your check.

Electronic FundsTransfer Notice CancellationPolicy and Proration Policy
If y¢.}u pay by check, it will be c:onvertedintoan "ElectronicFuncls "i"he (:usbn"iel'must prcMcle wi'ilien rK)tice of (:ance|lai:iorlvia certified
Ti"ansi'et" (EFT), a pi'1)ccss in which your financialiristi'tution is i"nai1 at the addresson the 'ii"cm1of your bill. Therewill be no pruration
e|e(:i1'c})'lica||yirisi'rudeclto transferfundsfmrnyour aG(':c)Lli")tto ours (j]' billingand YOlk will noi be erili(ledto a i"cfuncl if scfvice is canceled
in lieu d' p1'o(;E)ssjnglhe check.By sertdingyour cnl7')|)lef.E;cl check io duringa billingcyc:le, You will rt,irnain responsiblelot' all charges:, kes
us, you au(horlzeus to use the account ink)rmati(:)l'i thereinto (.,lu},::lte and laxes throughthe end [}f the billingcycle (iric:luclingthe period
an t": FT I'(a' the ai'noun't indicatedon the check. Il' the EFT (:annc)i hc 1)( itwoc'iiiho il{")ti(.A' of terminationarid the encl of the Cl ll rentbill'ng
i)i'(}(:E)ss(g{l i'or i:ecl"mical or otherreasons,you authorizeus to cycle).This provisionwill not api:zly if it is c:onlraiy tt:: a current
[)i'cj(:ess; an image replacemenid(:kcljnlenl:, draft,or copy of your ii"anchiscagreement,muni(:jpa|'confract,Of' otherwiii:ten coni.tac:l
check. applicableto this acc(:)ut')tor is otheniviseprol'|j|:)ji'e{j by law,

Late Fees & Service Fees Insufficient Funds Notice
"'(c) avoid lat(-) K('s and sQi'iicccinieirup(iuns,pe\yr(k)rtts must 1)(4 1(' your check ii: i'eiurnedIo}' ins:u1'l'ic:ient c)1' uncn||(?dt:)d 'l'untk: (NSF),
)'ecei','ed by the due date exc:epi: as may be otherwiseprovic|e·(::i by your signatureon your checkgivesus pei"misi:sion to &bii your
wtiiien ccjnti'act. GFL Environmentali'eservesthe tight, to charge chec:kinq ac(;c}tlj)'ieledronicallyR")1'the mr:ollected e'll'j1c)llni, F'ayrnei'it
$(m/ict)···l'e]ate(jfees associatedwith but not limited to the f(:)ll(j\A!ing: by checkcms'ii'itjtesyour accej'tanceof' these tE?i'ms. Fo1' each
s"elup fees·:, '?a|'|'l l'ermlnaUon iet"zs, containerMurn I'ejcs,etc. 1"etumecichet:k a ke will be as:sessedon '/cj(.1{" l)'?Xi billingequal to the

maxirnum arnount perrnii:iecl by stale law.

I

¶



\ \ '

c) GFL Envlronmentah
A"

"':'
' P: (904) 760-5880

'" ' ?g jacksonvilleFL@gflenv.com
%µ 2'%

·b» :,; %y2 m'" J N "
CUSTOMER NO. UG-103664

'""°'"""' INVOICE NO. UG0000024930
INVOICE DATE 07/20/2021

ROLLING HILLS CDD 23 DUE DATE Due Upon Receipt

5385 N KNOB HILL RD TOTALAMOUNTDUE $1,098.35
'

ROLLING HILLS REFERENCENO.
SUNRISE, FL 33351 AMOUNTOF REMITTANCE $
I|IMrNl'|q4Mrh||lliµ||hIIµ'hll|lhjh|'||'ll

00555l¶3UG0D00024¶3000lD3hby000000DD003b0¶0
{g'u:z 2.8" "[.9""53'z'"""ce --'a'Z 'zzA "z"u.;j',7 3-k Iq7tc">"n g:'" ""' ""' '""" ·'i:cz 'una" u;:?"' "" '" '"-"-' i "' '":. "" " ' · ·' '"· '' " "'":":', H:.if,"," :"' ,:', '", ,y,' "":,', ,.- .. N-i^ r'..:tf"::!)i Z;x"F rvu,"iX il"i', ;.'i :))""3'",.::':,'# i" .,..,..,.ckb ".. ay mi^M.?n:n.zs Vz'U, ,2?#..Z. ..'zz. 'qj 3U~kuz.,A.hAl Ei¢.:µz3 ¢»d'C ?iu:. g??.,4Lu,.s.n 4·z-§2.. Ui" ,Eu:'3 U... ,U.-i,

DATE DESCRIPTION REFERENCE RATE QTY. AMOUNT

SITETOTAL $6.50

i

Notes:

Due to increased costs, yournext invoice may reflecta price increase.

REMFTTO:

GFL Environmental
PO BOX555193
DETROITMI 48255-5193

CURRENT 31- 60 DAYS 61 - 90 DAYS OVER 90 DAYS ACCOUNT TOTAL

$1,231.94 $0.00 $0.00 ($133.59) $1,098.35 TOTAL INVOICE $36.09

&
CUSTOMER NO UG-103664 INVOICE DATE 0)/20/2021 INVOICE NO. UG0000024930

Page2 of 2



PLEASE PRINT ONLY NEWADDRESS INFORMATIONBELOW. THANK YOU.

AddressChange(s) OptionalPaymentMethods

mni ing /\ddrlssoNLYj '] mni 1ng liND SL'"?VlC1" addklss
I' '"I eBilling:

lrivoic:es ii'j an lns(ari'i:! El"ji1)|1 in d:';il|ii'igal:

{.clttlt,
y!t!t[!2LAf|erlv,com arid c:lit:k My A(,;(.:{)|.jni.
No fees t:!l)|)|y when paying i 1"}1'd! igh ihit": I"["l{'·)'|"ll'"j('l

Address and your slaiement is always re(:t(.|yl (;hc)¢:.)se 1.()

enrull in au'i:otnaiic payirients (')1' pay ('ii ckgn'}ili"l('l,

, \/is:a, Ameri(';FlnExpress,Masle,l(.a[({ and
City l)js(::overare accepted k!¥!!' mE m
State Zip Code Pay-By-Phone:

,

( ) Call the rii.irnberat the front of' il"i\,'(")i(;{}anti haveyour
Phone Number E·.mai1 Acjdress (':ustomei'arid invoicenumber ready, Vi:,:a, /·\[l'l(:)li(':::i?j')

F xpress,Mastercardand l::)i5(':(}\'{3)i' are '"K:{:er)le(i,
Customer Accc)ur)tNumber

Remit ito Address:
GFL ENVURONMENTAL
PO BOX 555193
DETRO§TMI 48255-5193

Electronic FundsTransfer Notice
Billing Rights Summary ii' you pav by check, it will be (:(:}r)veiie(l jnt{:) al) "E|ecli'o|'lil:: Funds""rran$3[er
ii' you thiitk your bill is inc()r|Eci., or ii' you net,-td more in|c)mla(i{)l) about (EI"""] ), a pick'c"";"' in which yt::ut' nlld[l(,id|ins|:jil,.iti(mis electronicallyinsUructedto
the details' of your bill, pleat-:ti (:oni.a(31 us': at the number llslecl OIl the 'iiansi'ei' 1"uiicls ii'oii"i '/(')1.11'acc(.}(jnt 1c) oui's in lieu of pro(;e:3sing the check.By
ii'nnl n'i' \/cittl" bill or email s('?ll('lil)qyoi ii ('{")lnpk)kjd chc'c:'t 'io tis, you aljth(")ri7() tis 1() use) the account
We must hear l"i'(:)i'n you no laiei'than 6() days'fromthe dale oi" )'Ulj1'bill ink)n"[|a'[i{:ji| 1j|E·l'ejnto createan L:F I for the amouni:indicatedon the check,
cm which 'the erroroccurred.Yourbill shallbe deemedcoi'i'edunless If the EFT cmno(be pI"(jc:ess{%i for technical(.}j' olhet'reasons,you aiAhot'izeus
disputedwithin 60 claysfromreceipt, to procesis an image replacemenldo{':ument,draft,or copy of your check,

Electronic Funds Transfer Notice CancellationPolicy and Proration Policy
If yc"a1 pay bv check, it will he a"mvortedintoan "E|octk)ni(:: Funds: '"rhc) cuslomei'rnusfprcMdewritkm noticeof cance|jaii('nvia certified
Transfer"(EFT),a process in which your firiancialinstitutionis mail at the c'idch"ess:on (he frontof your hill, Therewill be no pl"omi'k)i')
dec;tt"(")ni(:a{{y lnsh"udedto transferfundsfrom your' e'c:cotmtFo olin ui billingandyon will noi be eriiiilcd U") a refund ii' scMceis c'anc:ded
iii lieu oi' 1)K,)(;essjrKjthe check. By senclinqyour conipletedcheckK) duringa billingcvde. Youwill remainresponsibleKj1' all charges,fees
(.is'\, you authorizeus to use the ac:count iniormaiion thoreinto create and laxes throughthe end of the billingcycle (inc:luclingthe period
art EF'I" for the amount indicatedon the check, If the EFT cannothe beM'eenthe mticeot' telminatic)l1 and the end ol' (tie c:urrent bitting
|)i'o(:essed foi"' i:echnic:alor other reasons,you authorizeu": to cycle).This pr(:)\/k;ion will not apply if it is c:ontrary to a current
pi'cx':ess an imagereplacernrmtdoc:unient, draft,or copy of your franchiseagreement,muni(:ipa| contract,or otherwrittencoriti'ac:t
(":hcck. applicablett:i this accountor is otherwiseprohibitedby law.

Late Fees & ServiceFees Insufficient Funds Notice
1'0 avoic! lato fc:es and servicointerruptions,paymontsmudbo If j'c)lj1'd"'eck is i'otui'red for insul'iicientor uncdlected funds (NSF'),
receiveciby the due date exceptas may be otherwiseprovideclby your £'ignauji'e on your checkgives us pem")issi(:)l'} to debit \'OLl1'
whiten (::{}r)i't'ad. GFL.. Erivironmentalreservesthe right to charge checkingacc(:)unte|ec.tror)i(:al|y for the uncollectedar'nouiiL' Payment
smvica i't'lak:d foes associatedwith but riot limilcid |(j lhct f('}l|o'Ning: by chock cnntj1i'tes youi'acceptant':o of theseterms. F(j1' (')ach

sdup fc:os;, erirly i'elmmaiionfees,containerrcUiinfees, etc. retttrnocjchecka lee will be as(jc=,(':(l Qr1 your next hillingequa' to thc
maxirnum amount pet'mitteclby state )aw.

,



Gavemmental ManagementServices, LLC fnvoice1001 BradfordWay
Kingston, TN 37763

Invoice #: 221

Invoice Date: 8/1/21
Due Date: 8/1/21

BiliTo: Case:

RollingHillsCOD
P.O. Number:

476 WestTown Place
Suite 114
St. Augustine,FL 32090

Description HourdQty Rate Amoune

ManagementFees - August2021
'

3,433,33 3,433.33
WebsiteAdministration- August2021 208,33 208.33
InformationTechnology- August2021 83.33 83.33
DisseminationAgentServices- August2021 416.67 416.67
Postage 10.20 10.20
Copies 71.85 71.85
Telephone \j\Sj 75.95 75.95

Total $4,299.66
. \

Payments/Credits $0.00

8afance Due $4,299.66



Original

,,,,
+=:=="==.—- —'--"=:Z"=~-W,

A NVUI(%%
/'/t'ni' 'ins, /iic:. ""'))J ))_j ))))))))l!t{,0

),(,jj)'))),,),"
t)t22

""""
invoiceD,te 7/27/21

Sales Ordei"Nun7bel"{ryl)e 3558284 SO

Branch Plant 74

ShipmentNumber 4103634

Sold To: 293306 ShipTo: 295740
ACCOUNTSPAYABLE ROLLING HILLS ESTATES COD
ROLLING HILLS ESTATES COD 3212 Bradley Creek Pkwy
clo Patti Powers-GMS-SF, LLC Green Cove Springs FL 32043
5385 N Nob Hill Rd
Sunrise FL 33351

Net Ijue Daie Terms FOB Descriµ(ion Ship Via CustomerP,CJ.# P.O, Release Salest\cjeri(il
8/26/21 Net 30 PPD Ofijjifl HAWKINS SOUTHEAST FLEET B74

Item Naniel Qty Trans Unit Piice Weight Exteuded
Line 1/ Item Number Description Tax Shipped (JONI Price UOM Net/Gross Price

1.000 439137 Ultra-Chlor(Sod.Hypo 1 2.5%) N 1'10,00UO GA S1.6500 GA 1,109.9 LB $181.50
1 GA BLK (MiM-Bulk) 110.0000 GA 1,201.6 GW

1,010 FuelSurcharge Freight N 1.0000 EA $12.0000 $12.00
1

'""""'**' Receive YourinvoiceVia Email*"""*"
PleasecontactourAccountsReceivableDepartmentvia emailat CreditDept@Hawklnslnc.com

or call 612-33'1-6910 to get it setupof) youraccount.

l't)::A:)|' ( '])-,i,,i"' "" ,\1'

I ":1 :')t'j I) ),'AC)(':' i) 1')4 1
::! ,R ;i )F S' ··· ',. .

,,,

,,..g"'
,,,,Sf"' 1'.,,,,

,, ... ' (: . ....,

' ?)
,!, 1.,//J. }

E,..-"' I . .r' 7

ml'FYA U_bt
G

Page1 of 1 Tax Rate Sales Tax
)

jlnVOiCe Total $193.50
0 % $0,00

Hu 0isc»unknn Freight ot¢cmtalms
r , t

""""""""""""""""''"""""

( A
" """"" """"\\

$:lgpakIAt·t"r:A'ifmxkMSare s'>:a \·i;mciwaranlyCTenyyaid emS p(jrsflz$¢i5\sf'(.by tiW(/¢1?,1\ (E$i5, fSEtCmin+5u:{a¢i"ty g /$UCti 'ccducfs ' H (jjl "ins; htc4
Ice W,C:t u,',nuse $E':l'{ mrratdsmi (y$qcvxls[8\'9tcULj {hiS 1Aw:¢ewerepie-ducalIq U3iRf"¢K"> \ ('t the fequ'm}iz'(|:5 of the Fa'r Lobar
$\mditMsAli cl I93Sj " c«:ci:d+d. CBi?WB€l3ue j:j be pa'j for In K?, 3$ h)p9!cm, 3ffti Mi rufiind yi"l L? mzda ptewgtly, jt' 'i d 1 Please P O B .

· 860263cc'rita"n'usarc [Qt[d[n¢·c Li) orig"mi fO"it f){ $n'Tr)l. R4ltmf|¢j1:P: [haf( es (g Pr pnR?aj, The tmk'nets mumed metb? }!:e'$zK.R ' RemitTo: ' ,
' (7\

aaj)3';"/S7r'PPZ'd. D?}::{ Bur ill) C¥.-Z?Me3m elysse, c·t tn* fix fnii{ (j$e$¢&U1mn cAtt $1¢:Faa M a';3;fjal c(tr,}a'£>ef5 Eel'u tp«itcMi y ' V
1

cl'm3'm3fi.i ¢..£udusznywarrzaty nfnir(¢nan:ai)".tyaMZWw:wQntyUf {,(nussCora parli'MM µ·tp>$c \ Mln/]e(l{)Ol/Syml ' N 55486A263/'tto CLAIMSFORLOSS,DAMAGEORLEAKAGEALLOWEDAFTERDELIVERY13 t,tAOElSf GOODCO}{YfUON

This ¢u{\{faRtc)/am subtmitizmrshill abida W the Fegul{e(n¢n{$of 4i CFR §f$0-1,4(al, tl0-3GU(a) aiiti U.74i.$µj. These ruguMkmspreRiblt dlsi(xllj\lR3tkin umt qua)l{M lndi'ciduais lasMon theirskates 2£4 ptatectcd
veteran3 q{ li$dl'!iaQM$si,'/$h di$abii;{/a$, nM prchfbitUlmiminatM egatnst all ,ndlvIUui)\$baseu Ltn their hi¢C, ¢Gi¢K,rdlgian,su, or natlQnGioilgin,1Aaraowzt,tmc regtbtatlGn&requkefhct ocwcM prime ¢oMcactcu$arid
sUk¢e[m¢tof$tak» MfitmtiwGc{|on{¢) ¢fl$µ{a?and aetvante 111gmp!¢kym¢ntiMlvlduak\t¢nhgntregard lu ka¢c,¢Hm retiqicn,sax, ruuiotsa$tMgfn, p(Gt2ctcdVUt¢fQ$1scamatdigzbMy,

www.hawki/)$mG,cQl}i Job#1205272



Original

jj|llli)j])jj)1))f,,,,, t)?,!"
,,,,,,

P on '.' (6/2) 33/-69/0 Invoice Number 4999145

invoiceDate 8/3/21

Sales OrderNumber/Type 3570276 SO

Branch Plant 74

ShipmentNumber 4118456

Sold To: 293306 Ship To: 295740
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE ROLLING HILLS ESTATES COD
ROLLING HILLS ESTATES COD 3212 Bradley Creek Pkwy
clo Patti Powers-GMS-SF, Ll-C Green Cove Springs FL 32043
5385 N Nob Hill Rd
Sunrise FL 33351

Net Due Date Terms FOB Description Ship Via CustomerP.0.# P.O. Release SalesAgenttl

9/2/21 Net 30 PPD Origin HAWKINSSOUTHEAST FLEET B74

Item Namel Qty Trans Unit Piice Weight Extended
Line # Item Number Description Tax Shipped UOM Price UOM Net/Gross Price

1.000 371404 CCH Granular(100#) N 1.0000 DR $200.0000 DR 100.0 LB $200,00
I

DRUMDNR(BLEACH, 1.0000 DR 105.0GW

1.010 Fuel Surcharge Freight N 1.0000 EA $12.0000 $12.00

3.000 42871 SulfuricAcid38-40% N 1.0000 DD $55.0000 DO 1(32.0 LB $55,00

15 GA DO 1.0000 DD 172.0 GW

*'***"'"" ReceiveYour Invoice Via Email"""*"'
PleasecontactourAccountsReceivableDepartmentvia emailat Credit.Dept@Hawkinslnc.com

or call 612-331-6910to get it setup on your account.

pc,,?
] (:jY')^;(',!c

1

,
IB .i' g

,
S 1A),') ,

-cit /()0
I

"'"1 ----:----.:(-:, (-g 6/j/
)

,m>'"U

.. .--
""""""

P

Page 1 of 1 Tax Rate Sales Tax
Invoice Total $267,00

0 % $0.00

No M$¢qur($on Freight orContainers
tMPORTA11T:All productsereSO:S v,ilhou1weirardyaf myk.[nd znd purchasers\\'ij,by theironn tests,deteriri'nesU:tab7:tyof suchpruducts / '
for ihe'r cii'muse. Selkrcvzrrzrdsthat e'j gcicdscwered by ih;qmvotcewere producedIn cQmpliancev,ilh the requ'remmsqCtlie FU Lebot ju([w.(l]ls! Ina
Slanducls Act gf 193$,as amended. Contatners3re to be µ!d for Ia fu'l, as irwufctd, and fu'l rcTundVi7i be mzda promptly.pm'ded Please P, O, B .

" 860263contalnsare relumd la «ig'na1 p'int CN sh'pmurt. Return frc'ght chiirges to H prepa"d. The uMa'ners retumdmust b» the sam

(em
it To:

r
O\

orig'nafy sh'pµd,btA shemno eczdcnceor abuse,cir use hr purposescther (hm the storegecjf orig'nai ujnk'ncrs. safer$µcifica1:y
F ' " '

cSisch'msand excfudesmywarrantyof m?f¢hmab",(y andanywasrarilyQfhtnessforapadicdarµrpose. jjl lnne(lpohs) MN 55486-0263
HOCLAIMSFORLOSS,DAKIAGEOR LEAKAGEALLO,?/EEJAFTERDEUVERYIShtADEIN GOODCOMDITIOtd.

Thf$ eontractorand subconwaaormu abide by the requirements of 41 CFR §f6C-l.4ta), 60·300.5{a)and 60·741.6(a),These tegulationsprohibitdiscrimtnalkmagainst qualified individwlsbqsed on (heirstatus as protected
veterans or 1Mlvldgdt$ with dfsabHitics, and prohibitdiscfiminatfQn against all ,ndivlduals based qc) their race, COtQf, rdigkn, sex, qc riatlonai cwIgin.h:oieQ\,'¢r,(he$g regulaticms require that coveted prime contradorsand
$ubcc)ntra¢tQr$teka afArmalivc action to employ and advance in employment indNiduals \\ilhQUl regard tQ race, color,cellglcm,sex, national origin, protected veteran status or disability,

www,hawkins/nc.cotn job# 1228852



INVOICE
I

!'

/
S1\ Invoice # 59523')

i

-
" TheLake Doctors, Inc, Account# 718674

I

' mµaucMj~~$cNke$ '
-" ' Invoice Date &/1/2021

35.13 Slate Road 'I I'), Winter Springs.FI. 3?7(N
PI I: 8()0-6665253

Due Date 8/3l/2lL!l

Bill To Rep Mi\S

ROLLING IIILI.S ('DL)
GO\'ERNMENJ}\1. MANAGIIMEN'ISERVICES.1,1 .(' InvoiceQuestions:
·175 WEST1'0\\ N place Lakes@kkedoctors.com
SUITE 11'1

.

SI' augijs I'INE. fl 320')2
Payment Questions: i

Paylnellts@lakedoctors.conl

PurchaseOrder Number """"I

_
Terms Invoice Dmc Refleds Momhof

NET30 DAYS

_._ _
I Sew"' '::':"'

--._

1

'

Item Description Amount

Monthly WalerManagementService(R) 420.00
!

,.
I

32 Sbb' 4c"f

Customer Total Balance $840.00
,Pleaseconfirmyour .mnk bill pnyer timount nintchesyour invoice mnountifyou use n bank bill '.Toiai:layoic'i"". ·'Sj,,,.::.'. ,,.':';.'."".:s,4z0:00...; '

·

payer service, Thankyou!

'
' ==u== '·· ·· '===_= ' " ··, ',k_

To help ensurepromptmd accuratecreditto your account,pleaseinclude youraccount number and invoice numberon yowcheck and always
include yourremittance stub with your payment.

Please visit wwwja|ce(loctor$,¢onl for yowlocal ofhce contact information.

PLEASEDETACH & RETURN THIS PORTIONWITHPAYMENT

Bill To ' t\inounl ;jjc o$c( Invoice tl 595239

:01 LINGHILLSCOD

\" """"
' " "'"" '""'"---'- -- ...-__. . .

1."1 .""I "'"A,,,,,t#

718674

" '"'

I N)\'ERNMENML M/\| 't\GEMEN1" SERVICES.IJ .C
475 WESTTOWN PLACE Date &/1/2()21

SUITE ]14
STAUGUSTINE, FI. 32092 Ci) Green!(bnlac1 ils al Payn)ultyqjake(h)dnrsu)n) Id

hare yom invoicesemailed.

""FOk 'a"cidress"and con"hictup(iates,please email us at if 1'i\YINGby credi1"card. Fll,1, du i" below
Miislarard Visa NneriuinEvpress

Front(ksk@klke(loetors,coln. Card1/ Lcj6 Py,'c\ l-tif·iq( c:
Card \'e|'ilicillh)nEl

.
.i ,...3AQ_.S 3&C'". 'l(:'(a)The Lake Doctors,Inc. Exp. Daleit

I
"

3543 State Road 419 l'rintNamc ,<m 'W ,= =,""YXZ>/ '

WinterSprings,FL 32708 BillingAddress:
.

('heck box iibncas 1l)l)\C

Signature



V
)

Riverside ManagementServices, Inc H
)

9655FloridaMining Blvd.W. jnvog©e )

Building300, Suite 305
Jacksonville,FL 32257 )

Invoice#: 371
)

,

Invoice Date: 7/31/2021
DueDate: 7/31/2021

Bill To: Case: 1

RollingHillsCDD
P.O. Number:

475West TownPlace
Suite 114
St. Augustine,FL 32092 )

Description Hours/Qty Rate Amount

LifeguardServicesthroughjuly 2021 402.86 16.00 6,445.76

"'";""") ("), t"j""| :) ,

"'9) '--i ,J- C) C)

Total $6,445.76
)

Payments/Credits $0.00
)

Balance Due $6,445,76

,,; \ 'Aj\ )

(Ig:" )

)



j

:
i

i

ROLLINGHELLSCDD
)

i

UFEGUARDINVOXCE DETAIL
i
/

" " " " I jJJ,
)

402.86 Ltfeguard ng Services for ROLLINGHILLS $ 16,® $ 6.445.X \JJ \"
1 0

Covers JULY202!
'

j6))J
"

1

LIFEGUARDS#330-572-34200 )

E

TOTAL DUE: '

$ 6,445.76
j

)

)

)

!

1

t

i
t
)

)

i
;

1

g

i

t

t
}
:
?

I1

S

)

I

i

i



i
:

!

I

ROLLINGHUSCOMUUhlITYDEVELOPUEHT 1J)STRJCT

i

t

LjFECjUARb& DECK jmlroRBILLABLEHOURS 1

FOR HIEMONTHOFJULY2021 i

W', Houn' Em~
7/j/ZI 3.53 J.F, ukgwr¢ing
7/1j21 3,05 S,B. UfeguMlnp
7/1/21 3.43 d,b, ul'egUBld|% s

7/Zl2i 3.16 J.F. UkguM% i

mm jab sb. ursuardim 1

7/2121 3.10 H.C, UteguMing !

7/3/2§ 6.63 J.F, Llkguard'ng 1

mm 6,65 S.0. LVepMing i

P7)3121 6.57 lj,C, ufeguam!m 1

7/5/21 5.9$ 8,$. uleguand;m }

7/S/U 5.50 d.b, LlfeµMing
7/S/2i 5,69 R,C. Uleguatding
7/6/21 41$ J,F, L4egcmding
7/¶21 3.37 D.B, UfeguMtrig
7/8/21 6.32 J,F. Lq{egu3ndjhg !

7/8/21 6.82 Ci.B. Ll{eguarding
7/9/21 4,57 J.F. LltegvMing i

7/9/21 4.20 BLC. ukgu3rding !

7/10/21 6.G0 J.F. U/eguarding
mom 6.5$ KLC. Ukguiding i

?

mm 4.52 IF, Lfkgvarding 1

7/11/2L 4.57 s,b, Lifmuard[m I

7/J1/2I 45fj bS.C, Ukgvarding 1

7/R/2L 575 8,$, Ls/E9Uardm
7/$2/2L 5.48 ao, LlfeguardTng
7/12/2L 5.53 R.C. L1(egvardtng

7/13/2L 6.67 J,F, Llkgerding
7/13/2L 6.50 d,b. Likgua©ing 1

7/13/2L 3.87 E,D, 1lteguar&ng i

7/14/Zt 6.72 B,S, Lllegvardlng '
I

7/14/21 6.42 SB, 1jfeguar¢ing
7/J4/21 6.50 DA U(ewarding
7/15/21 6.49 j.f, ufEgu&lum
7/!5/21 6.47 s,b, Ljfegvi3miml
7/15/2j 3.98 Ed. ufmu3ldin9
7/16/21 7A5 J.F. Ufeguwdwg
7/16/21 1,95 e.o. Ljfegumlm
7/15/21 7,47 flc, ufmvaldlng
7/17/21 6,60 j,f. Umu3((jln9
7/!7/21 6,78 SB. LjIeguMlng
7/18/21 3.87 J,F, Ufeguj{dlm

I

7/10/2i 3.65 S,5. LJfegu3{dng
!

'

7/18/21 3.87 e,d, LMegvarding !

7/!9/2! 2.55 0,5. tMegvmmg
7/59/2! 2,28 d.el U/egvMng

i7/19/21 0.60 R.C, (jfegv3rdln9
7/20/21 4,32 J,F. (j(eguadinq
7/20/21 4,83 DA LikgmdinO
7/20/21 3.93 e,d. ljkgcmdlng
7/21/21 6.75 B,S, Llkguatdkg
7/21/21 G.52 S.LL U(egvarding
7/21/21 6.43 d,b, Ltkgwtdfng 1

7/??/21 6.67 ),F'. Lfkgoirdtng !

7j22/21 6.65 SA. Llleuuardlng
!

7/22/21 4,02 E,D, Llkguatding i

7/&3/21 5.00 J,F, Uteguadlng
7/23/21 4.0(li ed, Lifeguarding !

7/?3/21 5.02 LLC, Li!Egusmng i

7/24/21 6.58 J,F, Llr%uMding i

7124121 6,60 E.D, Ukguatdlng i

7/24/21 6.60 ME, Llfegwrding 1

7/25/21 6.60 ),F. ureguard[ng
?

7/25/21 4.62 E.D. Likgoardfng I

7/25/21 6,63 M,C, L!kguMdjng i

7/26/21 4.03 J.F, UfeguaMing
7/26/21 3.43 B.S. ljfegwding
7/27/21 412 J,F, Llfeguardim
7/27/21 4,13 S.B. Llfeguard(ng
7/28/21 3,92 B.S. Llkguarding i

7/28/21 4.77 $,1l Ufegvarditig 1

7/28/21 'Li7 M,C, Ltfeguardbq !

7/29/21 4,25 j,f, L(f%uuanq !

7/29/21 4.25 S.B, Lll@wding 1

7/30/21 6.65 J,F. L{kgugrd% I

7/30/21 6.65 14C. Llfmmding i

7/31/21 6,62 J,F, Lt(eguarding 1

7/31/21 6.60 $.tj, u{eguj{dim i

7/3f/21 6.g2 KLC. Ureguafdjm
!

JRAHDYQTAJ: 402.8§',,, I

LlfeguMm 40L%
1

?

Deejc PMtei ORA

Additlona\AltendaNL({cQUMS
CL Coda: JJ0·5?2·342

i
I

i



jU

Hiverside |Vhmageiue$1[ Services, hie tuvoice9655 Florida Mining Blvd. W,
Building 300, Suite 305
Jacksonville,Ft. 32257

Invoice t!: 369
)nvok:e Date: 8/1/2021

DueDate: 8/1/2021

Ejill To: Case:

RollingHilts COD
P.O. Number:

475 Vilest TownPlace
Suite 114
St, Augustine,FL 32092

Descriptionyi) HoutdQty Rate Amount

janitorial Senjicess- August 2021 '"'fµj (:' , ",",' i *").
, q (.tn| ( ') 1,070.00 1,070,00

Pod MaintenanceServices - August2021 .' b "](", 'i
f

' } ( ,,). " i (u' i ( \ 1,137.50 1,137,50
Contract Admlnlsfration- August2021 "",'):A). '"':,'-', 7:| ,',"J' 1("'(,1 1,793.75 1,793.75
Facility Management- Rolling Hills - August 2021 '"^L )

(", ,' ,, I,."")
,

::'1/ i ('i {"'i 4,684.17 4,684,17

jj)"jO

Toial $8,685.42

PayineMs/Credits $0.00

Balancebue $8,685.42

,? ., ':j
..·e.ii

{ :(y'""'



Lp

Tetside ManagementServices, inc Mvuice9 755 Florida Mining Blvd, \N.
Building 300, Suite 305
jacksonville,FL 32257

Invoice it: 370
Invoice Date: 8/2/2021

Due Date: 8/212021

Bill To: Case:

RcllingHillsCOD PA, Number:

475WestT(jwfj Place
Suite 114
St. Augustina,FL 32092

Description HoursfQty Rate Amount

July SunimerEvent 84,39 84,39

i, ""';'j :") (\,("", "j'"")('), /|('jtl (j(}

Total $84.39

PaymcnYs/CrMits $0,00

BalanceDue $84.39

(f)\)\,))j

:J





Riverside ManagementServices, Inc hnvolce9655 Florida Mining Blvd. \N.
Building 300, Suite 305
jacksonville,FL 32257

invoice #: 372
Invoice Date: 8/11/2021

Due Date: 8/11/2021

Bill To: Case:

Rolling Hills COD
P.O, Number:

475 West Town Place
Suite 114
St. Augustine,Ft. 32092

Description Hours/Qty Rate Amount

july SummerEvent - 7/30/21 72,44 72.44

i
k °{ l::) ("('"j,'",'"">("'),"i(:jll'"|(")()

F

Total $72.44

Paymenfs/Credits $0.00

Balance Due $72.44
,,;j,,j\,".)





'jb

3MuiemFITNEs$
E"Z-F & Z Z

.
"

. -" ' EquipweaTRejiair a! IMMTenunce
.

km0i€emCi2/ Bil
' ··- ·· · -. ' ·.· '·'.. ·- · ·.. - =K~=~EW·

- i ¶4a7GEkmiPh=?nkbt SE=Z@[bwjackmm¶%FL322¶8
; m=:M&m.¶cima Fam9Ma%3.%M

Fad{uName: = ("j/ I!'

nj
/1" L) /5'

t_9
='"' 'I-: CC· .,3/

FacmgAd~:m,j?,Qj)ruj )/(j:emj "L,l ==""'°'='
BifiingAdckess:6t'am ttwc- >9r),ii :i it: jja j
Contact&Pbone, cj ul//",5"31"Qlu' '

ReasonTor Cdl:
—--—...==T " ' ====

/ 1ll,...c.l

' Desc%u"(Dn · PalrE# P=Cost QEy TofM

' jj"YYA ||,,J1!]-g)
U^y'

: lc"j £ Act i "

,
"15"° ' J Sj-""'

,

4 4y> sii lLgo
5 '"

.

.
; 6

i ,.'

7
«

8 -

_ I
9

¶0 "
M

G©mm@eusi "

pmsmas
! qo,c')Fj

, / , a " Ldmgr

Jj/'°
, iSji) Lat! cO- L /E'uit JJ!a'j(:,7,4,ml / Ara'mj ZS.'j'-'

'

'

/
/'""" ,)

" ' ' Shspµhg
,_

? ido
1&=

. Tax

Bdmeee ': (XJ, O c)
q m"_'"m~T>

p,
?

,
TechMdm:

" '"^ /t "k-l'

CusmmersWmu=umE€<mp[euoRoFmtk: X
)/'

jji in e' Jij S"")n "

i '



u
G gnvo[celjl Tree N111{}08

'nvo"e"""" 1

,
Date: 07/26/2021

Outdoor Services

Billed To: RiversideManagementServices Project: 30247
9655 Florida Mining Blvd RollingHills CDD O/S
Bldg 300 Suite 305 9655 Florida Mining Blvd
JacksonvilleFL Bldg 300 Suite 305 )

jacksonvilleFL '

i

F ii |1 ·· -- I

'
- --- - - - -- - I · --· - -- 1· · I · ||||

!

Description Quantity Price Ext Price
)

Laborfor Pond Bank Clean-up 1.00 1,170,00 1,170.00

Notes:
Invoice Total: $1,170.00 j

Aj/jj m 'joe:
I'l\(.,(("\\(.cz /")\--4'"C"'

)

\. Sd\(:)
-.

Cj33c)() ('"|C,)>O3
)

)

i

5000-18Highway17 No, 235 FlemingIsland, FL 32003 Office: (904) 778-1030 Fax: (904) 778-1045
Page )

Email:cryan@treeamigosoutdoor,comWebsite:www.TreeAmigosOutdoor.com 1 of 1



,

«
@

,
tnvmceI Tree jALnjlZOd
'"vo"e#"""

C ' S
Date: 07/26/2021

Outdoor LNervlc(!,

Billed To: Riverside ManagementServices project: 30247
9655 Florida Mining Blvd RollingHills COD O/S
Bldg 300 Suite 30S 9655 Florida Mining Blvd
JacksonvilleFL Bldg 300 Suite 305

jacksonvilleFL

Description Quantity Price Ext Price

Sod install and Re-set boulder

Labor 1.00 240.00 240.00

Notes:
invoice Total: $240.00

I-
1"J"'i' 1'/[ R 'i {, /'1

ti'7\< ;: C'

\ "\'

I
,

{:'A() .!' jjjf g;' .
'"( (,:A(".)',:)

.,,$

,,,
;:

":;) W%7

.,€"J'
C,.

,

, N ,, ,,

"j'?1/, 3(}'g:)r
i

" ., /

5000-18Highway 17 No. 235 Fleming Island, FL 32003 Office: (904) 778-1030 Fax: (904) 778-1045 P,g,
Emai|:cryarj@tteeamigosoutdoor.comWebsite:www,TreeAmigosOutdooLccn 1 of 1



i

I

?
¢

0 Invoice@ Tree Nnigos 'n'o'""""°
"

-- '- Z" --'" ' ', Date: 08/12/2021
OutdoorServices

BilledTo: RiversideManagementServices Project: 30247
)

9655 Florida MiningBlvd RollingHills CDD O/S
Bldg 300 Suite 305 9655FloridaMiningBlvd i

Jacksonville FL Bldg 300 Suite 305 '

jcdcsonville FL '

)

t

m P ·· ' 'f ' · KW· - ·f -.' 'f , '-· r·· ·M1 · -··· ¥ j
i

Description Quantity Price Ext Price

;,; '-. "t',:. /'T[9.u'b!e·shootwiringjQr--irrjgali!onsystem."'- :.: --j. .
;)<C-.f., ?,, .-, .

y,' ·.-'·.·'Y¥?'·"
.

· - : ,, ',-4
st >1

. ascS,:[i: ,?;4"';c;.:?,?:z:;:'??','.:.::''":

m,,..:,,, ,, . ,zzy,z.. 'uu 'j':-i': §"1,Z '2.,: Ar3'"it,.' ' ' ':· x..C:S '§·.,·z':'::sg%"3 :.uk :.;
.

.-:"''··
' " "' " iiiihjrs Labor 0'$45.00bet'hour " " " " 12.00 65,00 780.00

!

iNotes: i

invoiceTotal: $780.00
I

)

)

t I

L'anj c cucpc) t'\c,' m"
.

)

1

in 3 ac) -
E' 3tk>o

. lj Glx'd
)

1

=<ae"C=-6 g/'3h4)
)

i

)

!
1

i
?

1

5000-18 Highway17 No, 235 FlemingIsland, FL 32003 Office: (904) 778-1030 Fax: (904) 778-1045
Page

:

Email:cryan@treeamigosoutdoor.comWebsite:www.TreeAmigosOutdoDr.com 1 of 1 !

)

i




	Board Letter
	Agenda
	III. A.	Appointment of New Supervisor to Fill the Unexpired Term of Office 
	C.	Election of New Supervisor, Resolution 2021-01
	IV.	Approval of Minutes of the August 10, 2021 Meeting
	V. B. Ratification/Consideration of Requisitions (49-53) (54-56)
	VI. B.	Consideration of Qualifications for District Engineer Services
	C. Consideration of Delegated Award Resolution, 2022-02
	Exhibit A - Form of Purchase Agreement
	Exhibit B - Form of Supplemental Indenture
	Exhibit C - Form of Preliminary Limited Offering Memorandum
	Exhibit D - Form of Continuing Disclosure Agreement

	D. Document Transferring Responsibilities from CBCP to Garden Street 
	E.	Developer Agreement
	1.	Collateral Assignment Agreement
	2.	True-Up Agreement
	3.	Declaration of Consent
	4.	Acquisition Agreement
	5.	Completion Agreement

	VII.	Ratification of Water Management Agreement with The Lake Doctors
	IX. D. 1.	Report
	2.	Monthly Quality Inspection Report
	XII. A.	Balance Sheet & Income Statement
	B.	Assessment Receipt Schedule
	C.	Check Register



